
Legal & Governance Reform
DavidDavid  WilcockWilcock
HeadHead  ofof  LegalLegal  andand  GovernanceGovernance  ReformReform

Governance  & Committee Services
Floor 2, Number One Riverside, Smith Street,
Rochdale, OL16 1XU

Phone: 01706 647474
Website: www.rochdale.gov.uk

To:  All Members of the Planning and 
Licensing Committee

Enquiries to: Michael Garraway
Telephone: 01706924716
Date: 11th September 2015

Dear Councillor

Planning and Licensing Committee

You are requested to attend the meeting of the Planning and Licensing 
Committee to be held in Training and Conference Suite, First Floor, Number One 
Riverside, Smith Street, Rochdale, OL16 1XU on Monday, 21st September 2015 
commencing at 6.15 pm.

The agenda and supporting papers are attached. 

Viewing Agenda
2.30pm Meet Rochdale Town Hall (optional)
2.45pm Land at Tarnside Close, Smallbridge (meet outside 19 Tarnside Close)
3.10pm  Land at former Hill Top School, Hill Top Drive, Kirkholt
3.45pm Land at Hollin / Langley Lane, Middleton (meet St Anne’s Academy, 
Hollin Lane)

There will be a briefing at 5pm at the Training and Conference Suite, Floor 1, 
Number 1 Riverside to which all Members of the Committee are kindly requested 
to attend.

If you require advice on any agenda item involving a possible Declaration of 
Interest which could affect your right to speak and/or vote, please refer to the 
Code of Conduct or contact the Monitoring Officer or Deputies or staff in the 
Governance and Committee Services Team at least 24 hours in advance of the 
meeting. 

Yours Faithfully

David Wilcock
Head of Legal and Governance Reform

Planning and Licensing Committee Membership 2015/16
Councillor Allen Brett
Councillor Susan Emmott
Councillor Pat Greenall
Councillor Shaun O'Neill



Councillor Aasim Rashid
Councillor Peter Rush
Councillor Billy Sheerin
Councillor Ann Stott JP
Councillor Patricia Sullivan
Councillor Carol Wardle
Councillor June West



Rochdale Borough Council

PLANNING AND LICENSING COMMITTEE

21st September 2015 at 6.15 pm

Training and Conference Suite, First Floor, Number One Riverside, 
Smith Street, Rochdale, OL16 1XU

A G E N D A

Apologies for Absence
1.  Declarations of Interest 1 - 2

Members must indicate at this stage any items on the agenda in 
which they must declare an interest.  Members must verbally give 
notice of their interest at the meeting and complete the form attached 
with this agenda.  

Members are also advised to take advice with regard to any matter 
where there is potential bias or predetermination in any business to 
be considered at the meeting and whether they should take part in 
decision making at the meeting.

Members are reminded that, in accordance with the Localism Act 
2011 and the Council's adopted Code of Conduct, they must declare 
the nature of any discloseable pecuniary interest; personal interest 
and/or prejudicial interest required of them and, in the case of any 
discloseable pecuniary interest or prejudicial interest, withdraw from 
the meeting during consideration of the item, unless permitted 
otherwise within the Code of Conduct.

2.  Minutes 3 - 8

- To consider the minutes of the meetings held on 27th July 
and 17th August 2015.

3.  Submitted planning applications 9 - 391

4.  Fixed Odds Betting Terminals / request to support the 
introduction of a maximum stake 

392 - 412

5.  Hackney Carriage Intended Use Policy To Follow



DECLARATION OF INTERESTS

IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE CODE OF CONDUCT ADOPTED BY THE COUNCIL ON 25TH JULY 2012, MEMBERS ARE REQUIRED TO DECLARE DISCLOSABLE 
PECUNIARY INTERESTS, PERSONAL INTERESTS AND PREJUDICIAL INTERESTS (LISTED ON THEIR REGISTER OF INTERESTS).

MEMBERS SHOULD REFER TO THE CODE OF CONDUCT AND/OR THE MONITORING OFFICER AND/OR THEIR DECLARATION FOR FURTHER GUIDANCE

MEETING AND DATE

…………………………….

Agenda item

Indicate either
 Discloseable Pecuniary Interest OR
 Personal Interest OR
 Personal and Prejudicial interest

Nature of Interest

Signed…………………………………………………………………………………………        Please print name…………………………………………………………………………………………..

IF A MEMBER HAS A DISCLOSEABLE PECUNIARY INTEREST THAT HAS NOT BEEN INCLUDED ON THEIR REGISTER SUBMISSION, THEY ARE REQUIRED BY 
LAW TO UPDATE THEIR REGISTER ENTRY WITHIN 28 DAYS.  FAILURE TO PROVIDE PROPER NOTIFICATION IS A CRIMINAL OFFENCE.

THIS FORM, INCLUDING ‘NIL’ ENTRIES, MUST BE GIVEN TO THE GOVERNANCE AND COMMITTEE OFFICER NO LATER THAN AT THE END OF THE MEETING



Summary of discloseable pecuniary interests, personal interests and prejudicial interests.

Disclosable pecuniary interests
A ‘disclosable pecuniary interest’ is an interest of yourself, or of your partner if you are aware of your 
partner's interest, within the descriptions set out in the table below.  "Partner" means a spouse or civil 
partner, or a person with whom you are living as husband or wife, or a person with whom you are 
living as if you are civil partners.

Subject Description
Employment, office, 
trade, profession or 
vocation

Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on for profit 
or gain

Sponsorship Any payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other than from the 
Council) made or provided within the 12 month period prior to notification 
of the interest in respect of any expenses incurred by you in carrying out 
duties as a member, or towards your election expenses.  

Contracts Any contract made between you or your partner (or a body in which you or 
your partner has a beneficial interest) and the Council - 
(a) under which goods or services are to be provided or works are to be 
executed: and 
(b) which has not been fully discharged.

Land Any beneficial interest in land which is within the area of the Rochdale 
Metropolitan Borough Council.

Licences Any licence (alone or jointly with others) to occupy land in the area of the 
Borough for a month or longer.

Corporate Tenancies Any tenancy where (to your knowledge) - 
(a) the landlord is the Council: and
(b) the tenant is a body in which you or your partner has a beneficial 
interest.

Securities Any beneficial interest in securities of a body where -
(a) that body (to your knowledge) has a place of business or land in the 
area of the Borough; and
(b) either –
(i) the total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 or one 
hundredth of the total issued share capital of that body; or
(ii) if the share capital of that body is of more than one class, the total 
nominal value of the shares of any one class in which you or your partner 
has a beneficial interest exceeds one hundredth of the total issued share 
capital of that class.

Personal Interests
You have a personal interest in any business of the authority where it relates to or is likely to affect - 
(a) any body of which you are in a position of general control or management and to which you are 

appointed or nominated by your authority;
(b)  any body -

(i) exercising functions of a public nature;
(ii) directed to charitable purposes; or
(iii) one of whose principal purposes includes the influence of public opinion or policy 

(including any political party or trade union), 
of which you are in a position of general control or management;
(c) the interests of any person from whom you have received a gift or hospitality with an estimated 

value of at least £25.

Prejudicial Interests
Where you have a personal interest you also have a prejudicial interest in that business where the 
interest is one which a member of the public with knowledge of the relevant facts would reasonably 
regard as so significant that it is likely to prejudice your judgement of the public interest and where 
that business -
(a) Affects your financial position or the financial position of a person or body described above; or
 (b) Relates to the determining of any approval, consent, licence, permission or registration in relation 

to you or any person or body described above.

MEMBERS ARE ADVISED TO REFER TO THE FULL DESCRIPTIONS CONTAINED IN THE
COUNCIL’S CODE OF CONDUCT ADOPTED ON 25TH JULY 2012.



PLANNING AND LICENSING COMMITTEE

MINUTES OF MEETING
Monday, 27 July 2015

PRESENT:  Councillor Carol Wardle (Chair); Councillors Brett, Susan Emmott, 
Greenall, O'Neill, Rashid, Rush, Sheerin, Stott, Sullivan and West

OFFICERS:  R. Coley, D. Ripa and J. Gillighan (Economy & Environment Services); 

ALSO IN ATTENDANCE:  Councillor A. Dearnley; A. Jabbar and B. Fryer (Economy 
& Environment Services); and 18 members of public. 

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
8 There were no declarations of interest.

MINUTES
9 `DECIDED – That the minutes of the meetings held on 15th June, 25th 
June and 14th July 2015 be approved as correct records. 

OUTLINE APPLICATION (INCLUDING ACCESS ONLY) FOR UP TO 303 
DWELLINGS AND ASSOCIATED HIGHWAY, LANDSCAPING, PUBLIC OPEN 
SPACE AND INFRASTRUCTURE PROVISION ON LAND OFF DON STREET, 
MIDDLETON
10 The Director for Economy & Environment Service introduced planning 
application 14/00357 an outline application (including access only) for up to 303 
dwellings and associated highway, landscaping, public open space and infrastructure 
provision on land off Don Street, Middleton.

The Planning Officer advised the Committee of changes to the recommendations as 
detailed on page 65 within the submitted report.  The Planning Officer advised that 
the provision of open space and/or off-site contributions would be to Bowlee off-site 
Sports Centre.

The Committee considered the views of Mr T. Edwards, a local resident who 
addressed the Committee objecting to the application.  

The Committee considered the views of Mr R. Barton, an agent for the applicant, who 
addressed the Committee in relation to the application.

DECIDED – That (1) Committee is minded to grant planning permission subject 
to the conditions as detailed in the submitted report and subject to the 
completion of a planning obligation under section 106 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act to secure (subject to future assessment(s) of the scheme’s 
viability) the following:
a) The provision of open space on site and/or an off-site contribution 

towards a specific off-site recreational project at Bowlee School 
Sports Centre;

b) the provision of affordable housing on site and/or an off-site 
contribution in lieu of onsite provision;

c) a financial contribution towards the provision of new primary and 
secondary school places in the Middleton Township (£1,399,861.05, 
to be recalculated at appropriate phases of the development);



d) a financial contribution not exceeding £220,000 towards 
improvements at Mills Hill Railway station including: (i) the provision 
of two new platform shelters; (ii) additional platform seating; (iii) car 
park resurfacing and marking out; and (iv) a Transmission Voice 
Machine.

 (2) the Head of Planning be authorised to issue the decision notice on 
completion of the of the planning obligation to secure the above. 

ALTERATIONS TO AND REFURBISHMENT OF EXISTING PUB INCLUDING 
DEMOLITION OF THE EXISTING SIDE AND REAR SINGLE STOREY 
EXTENSIONS WITH ERECTION OF NEW PART SINGLE STOREY AND PART 
TWO STOREY SIDE EXTENSION AND TWO STOREY REAR EXTENSION TO 
FORM NEW BAR /RESTAURANT AT THE BIRD ITH HAND 239 BURY AND 
ROCHDALE OLD ROAD HEYWOOD ROCHDALE
11 The Director for Economy and Environment Service introduced planning 
application 15/00158 for alterations to and the refurbishment of existing pub including 
demolition of the existing side and rear single storey extensions, erection of new part 
single storey and part two storey side extension and two storey rear extension to 
form new bar /restaurant at the Bird Ith Hand 239 Bury And Rochdale Old Road, 
Heywood, Rochdale.

The Committee considered the views of the applicant Mr R. Nutter, who addressed 
the Committee in relation to the application.

In response to Members questions the Planning Officer informed the Committee that 
consideration of disabled access was a matter for Building Regulations’.

DECIDED – That planning permission be approved subject to the conditions as 
detailed within the submitted report.  

OUTLINE APPLICATION (INCLUDING ACCESS ONLY) FOR THE ERECTION OF 
167 DWELLINGS WITH ASSOCIATED CAR PARKING, LANDSCAPING/ OPEN 
SPACE, CHILDRENS PLAY FACILITIES,ATTENUATION PLANS AND 
EXTENSION OF EXISTING CANAL BRIDGE (AND ASSOCIATED ENGINEERING 
WORKS) TO PROVIDE ACCESS VIA MANCHESTER ROAD AT TRUB FARM, 
MANCHESTER ROAD, CASTLETON, ROCHDALE
12 The Director for Economy and Environmental Services introduced planning 
application 15/00312 outline application (including access only) for the erection of 
167 dwellings with associated car parking, landscaping/ open space, children’s play 
facilities, attenuation plans and extension of existing canal bridge (and associated 
engineering works) to provide access via Manchester Road at Trub Farm, 
Manchester Road, Castleton, Rochdale.

The Planning Officer advised the Committee of amendments to the 
recommendations as detailed from page 125 of the submitted report, namely that the 
financial contribution towards the provision of additional Primary and Secondary 
education facilities be named as Castleton Primary School and Matthew Moss 
School.

The Committee considered the views of Mr R. Gee, an agent for the applicant, who 
addressed the Committee in relation to the application.

DECIDED – That (1) the Committee is minded to grant planning permission 
subject to conditions as detailed within the submitted report and the 



completion of a planning obligation under Section 106 of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990, to secure

a) the future maintenance of on-site public open space;
b) a financial contribution towards the provisions of outdoor 

sports facilities, specifically a mini multi-use games area at 
Chesham Park, off Chesham Avenue;

c) an appropriate contribution to affordable housing;
d) a financial contribution towards implementing a scheme of 

maintenance and improvement works at the Castleton Railway 
Station;

e) a financial contribution towards implementing resurfacing 
works to the canal towpath along the east side of the Rochdale 
Canal;

f) a financial contribution towards the provision of additional 
primary and secondary education facilities at Castleton 
Primary School and Matthew Moss School;

 (2) the Head of Planning be authorised to issue the decision notice on 
completion of the Section 106 Agreement.

FULL PLANNING APPLICATION FOR THE CONSTRUCTION OF 42 
RESIDENTIAL UNITS (USE CLASS C3), WITH PARKING, NEW PEDESTRIAN 
AND VEHICULAR ACCESS, HIGHWAYS WORKS (FROM 942/944 EDENFIELD 
ROAD TO WHERE ACCESS ROAD TO FORMER RAINSHORE MILL MERGES 
ON OVER TOWN LANE, AND INCLUDING ACCESS ROAD UP TO FORMER MILL 
SITE), WEIR AND DRAINAGE INFRASTRUCTURE WORKS, GROUND AND 
LANDSCAPE WORKS, BOUNDARY TREATMENTS, PUBLIC OPEN SPACE AND 
SERVICING ON THE SITE OF THE FORMER RAINSHORE MILL OVER TOWN 
LANE ROCHDALE
13 The Director for Economy and Environment Service introduced planning 
application 15/00397 a full planning application for the construction of 42 residential 
units (Use Class C3), with parking, new pedestrian and vehicular access, highways 
works (from 942/944 Edenfield Road to where access road to former Rainshore Mill 
merges on Over Town Lane, and including access road up to former Mill site), weir 
and drainage infrastructure works, ground and landscape works, boundary 
treatments, public open space and servicing on the site of the former Rainshore Mill, 
Over Town Lane, Rochdale.

In introducing the application the Planning Officer referred to the site visit undertaken 
by Members of the Committee earlier in the day.  The Planning Officer informed the 
Committee two additional letters of objection had been received in relation to the 
application.  The Committee were informed that the identification of invasive species 
of plants on the site would require an additional condition for containment. 

The Committee consider the views of two residents of Edenfield Road who 
addressed the Committee objecting to the application.

The Committee considered the views of the agents for the application who addressed 
the Committee in relation to the application.

DECIDED – That planning permission be approved subject to conditions as 
detailed within the submitted report.



ERECTION OF 10 DETACHED DWELLINGS ON LAND AT HOLLAND STREET, 
WARDLE, ROCHDALE
14 The Director for Economy and Environment Service introduced planning 
application 15/00413 for the erection of 10 detached dwellings on land At Holland 
Street, Wardle, Rochdale.

DECIDED – That planning permission be approved subject to conditions as 
detailed within the submitted report.

INSTALLATION OF 5.0MW SOLAR FARM WITH ANCILLARY BUILDINGS, 
SECURITY FENCING ,CCTV, ACCESS TRACKS AND LANDSCAPING AT 
CHAMBER HOUSE FARM OFF ROCHDALE ROAD EAST HEYWOOD
15 The Director for Economy and Environment Services introduced planning 
application 15/00595 for the installation of 5.0MW solar farm with ancillary buildings, 
security fencing, CCTV, access tracks and landscaping at Chamber House Farm, Off 
Rochdale Road East, Heywood.

DECIDED – That planning permission be granted subject to conditions as 
detailed within the submitted report.



PLANNING AND LICENSING COMMITTEE

MINUTES OF MEETING
Monday, 17 August 2015

PRESENT:  Councillor Carol Wardle (Chair); Councillors Shakil Ahmed, 
Susan Emmott, O'Neill, Rush, Sheerin, Stott, Sullivan, West and Zaman

OFFICERS:  D. Ripa, R. Coley and J. Gillighan (Economy & Environment Service); 
N. Scanlon and M. Garraway (Customers and Corporate Services).

ALSO IN ATTENDANCE:  Councillors P. Burke and J. Hornby; 13 members of 
public.

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE: Councillor Brett, Councillor Greenall and Councillor 
Rashid

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
16 There were no declarations of interest.

DEVELOPMENT OF CONVENIENCE STORE, ATM AND ASSOCIATED CAR 
PARKING AT 231 HOLLIN LANE MIDDLETON MANCHESTER M24 5LU
17 The Director of Economy and Environment reported on submitted planning 
application 15/00208/FUL for the development of convenience store, ATM and 
associated car parking at 231 Hollin Lane, Middleton, Manchester.

The Planning Officer informed the Committee that comments had been received from 
Greater Manchester Police (GMP) in relation to the application.  The Committee were 
informed that the comments of GMP related to the security of the ATM and the 
stocking of the ATM and additional planning conditions were therefore recommended 
to be attached to the application.

The Committee considered verbal representations from Mr G. Tierney, a local 
resident who addressed the Committee objecting to the application. 

The Committee considered verbal representations from Mr T. Brown, an agent for the 
applicant who addressed the Committee in relation to the application.

The Committee considered the views of Councillor Phil Burke who addressed the 
Committee in relation to the application.

DECIDED – That planning permission be refused on the grounds that the 
proposal comprises poor design that would be out of character with the area. 
The proposal therefore fails to take the opportunities available for improving 
the character and quality of the area and the harm that would arise outweighs 
the benefits of the proposal.  As such, the proposal does not comprise 
sustainable development and would be contrary to Policy BE/2 of the Rochdale 
Unitary Development Plan and the National Planning Policy Framework.

CHANGE OF USE FROM INDUSTRIAL UNIT TO CANINE HYDROTHERAPY 
CENTRE AND GROOMING ROOM (INCLUDING RECEPTION AREA, WET ROOM 
AND CHANGING) UNIT 2 HARP INDUSTRIAL ESTATE QUEENSWAY 
ROCHDALE.
18 The Director of Economy and Environment introduced planning application 
16/00676/FUL for the change of use from industrial unit to canine hydrotherapy 



centre and grooming room (including reception area, wet room and changing) Unit 2, 
Harp Industrial Estate, Queensway, Rochdale.

DECIDED – That planning permission be approved subject to conditions as 
detailed within the submitted report.

CONSULTATION FROM ROSSENDALE BC IN REGARD TO - CONSTRUCTION 
AND OPERATION OF 16 WIND TURBINES (2 IN ROCHDALE) WITH A MAXIMUM 
HEIGHT TO THE TIP OF THE BLADE OF 115 METRES (ABOVE GROUND 
LEVEL) FOR A TEMPORARY PERIOD OF 25 YEARS ON LAND AT SCOUT 
MOOR AND NEAR EDENFIELD, ROSSENDALE
19 The Director of Economy and Environment introduced a consultation request 
from Rossendale Borough Council. The report was brought to the Planning and 
Licensing Committee as the relevant body where neighbouring Authorities are 
required to consult this Council on applications for ‘development likely to affect land’ 
in the Borough. The views of the Committee were sought on 14 wind turbines within 
the Rossendale boundary.

DECIDED – That the report be noted and the comments of Members be 
forwarded to Rossendale Borough Council to be taken into account when that 
authority determine the planning application before them.



Subject: Submitted Planning Applications Status:  For Publication

Report to:  Planning and Licensing 
Committee

Date:         21 September 2015 ^DS,DATEACTCOM.DCAPPL,21;   

Report of: Director of Economy and 
Environment

Author: See individual agenda reports

1. PURPOSE OF REPORT 

1.1 To provide recommendations to the Committee on planning applications or 
related consents submitted to the Council and requiring the consideration 
and/or determination of the Committee in accordance with the Council’s 
approved Scheme of Delegation.

1.2 To provide information on any other planning or development related 
matters which may affect the work of the Committee.

2. RECOMMENDATIONS

2.1 Recommendations in respect of individual planning applications are as 
detailed in the following papers.

3. STATUTORY IMPLICATIONS

3.1 The submitted applications on this agenda are to be determined in 
accordance with the provisions of relevant legislation, including the Town 
and Country Planning Act 1990, Planning (Listed Buildings and 
Conservation Areas) Act 1990, Planning and Compensation Act 1991, 
Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, Planning Act 2008, Localism 
Act 2011 and the Town and Country Planning (Development Management 
Procedure) (England) Order 2015 together with any Directions and 
Regulations which support that legislation.  

3.2 Planning law requires that applications be determined in accordance with 
the development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise.  
Where relevant, any such material considerations will be referred to in the 
report.

ITEM NO.



    The Development Plan

3.3 All planning applications referred to in this report have been assessed 
against the relevant policies and proposals of the development plan for 
the Borough (currently the adopted Rochdale Unitary Development Plan 
2006) and any Supplementary Planning Documents or Guidance adopted 
by the Council.  

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)

3.4 In addition, in assessing the submitted planning applications, there is a 
requirement to have regard to relevant national policies as set out within 
the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) the policies of which are a 
material consideration.  Where relevant, the provisions of the NPPF and 
any other relevant national guidance will be referred to in the report.

4. RISK ASSESSMENT IMPLICATIONS 

4.1 The Council has adopted a Code of Conduct for Members and Officers 
dealing with Planning Matters.  Members and Officers are required to have 
full regard to the Code in discharging their responsibilities and duties in 
relation to planning matters on behalf of the Council.  The Code seeks to 
ensure that all decision making is governed by an open and transparent 
process and represents a standard against which the conduct of Officers 
and Member sitting on the Committee will be judged.  

4.2 A Declaration of Member Interests Register is taken prior to the 
commencement of the Committee meeting.  Advice on whether any 
Member sitting on the Committee ought to declare any interest on any 
item on the submitted agenda should be obtained from the Head of Legal 
and Democratic Services or the Head of Planning.  

4.3 The Council’s Standards Committee will monitor the operation of this Code 
of Conduct.   

5. EQUALITIES IMPACTS

5.1 The above Acts require Local Planning Authorities to consider planning 
applications on their individual merits having regard to the development 
plan and other material planning considerations.

5.2 The Equality Act 2010 protects people from discrimination on the basis of 
certain characteristics which are known as protected characteristics.  
These protected characteristics are Age, Disability, Gender Reassignment, 
Marriage or Civil Partnership, Pregnancy and Maternity, Race, Religion or 
Belief, Sex (Gender), Sexual Orientation, socio-economic status and 
Carer.

5.3 In applying the Equality Act 2010, the Council is required to consider the 
effects of its decisions on different groups protected from discrimination, 
including a duty to make reasonable adjustments.  In taking account of all 



material planning considerations, including Council policy as set out in the 
Unitary Development Plan and the National Planning Policy Framework, 
the Director (Economy and Environment) has concluded all opportunities 
to promote equality through the planning process have been taken, or 
where adjustments cannot be made, these are justified on the basis of the 
planning merits of the development proposal.  

5.4 The Rochdale and District Disabled Access Working Group may comment 
on relevant planning applications. Where comments are received, these 
will be included within the reported to Committee.  Consideration is given 
in designing access when dealing with the planning applications. Where 
applicable, any issues relating to these matters or other equal opportunity 
matters will be referred to in individual planning application reports.

6.      Human Rights Act 1998 considerations

6.1   The submitted applications need to be considered against the provisions of 
the Human Rights Act 1998.  Under Article 6, the applications (and those 
third parties, including local residents, who have made representations) 
have the right to a fair hearing and to this end the Committee must give 
full consideration to their comments.

6.2 Article 8 and Protocol 1 Article 1 confer(s) a right of respect or a person’s 
home, other land and business assets.  In taking account of all material 
considerations, including Council policy as set out in the Unitary 
Development Plan, the Director (Economy and Environment) has 
concluded that some rights conferred by these Articles on the 
applicant(s)/objectors/residents and other occupiers and owners of nearby 
land that might be affected may be interfered with but that that 
interference is in accordance with the law and justified by being in the 
public interest and on the basis of the planning merits of the development 
proposal.  He believes that any restriction on these rights posed by 
approval of the application is proportionate to the wider benefits of 
approval and that such a decision falls within the margin of discretion 
afforded to the Council under the Town and Country Planning Acts.



Background Papers

      The background papers relevant to the planning applications to be considered on 
this agenda will include:-

1.  The Planning application file and its contents which will include:

i)  The planning application form and supporting information, together with 
scaled drawings/plans and relevant statutory certificates.

ii) Letters of response from statutory and other consultees who may have 
been consulted or commented on the planning application

iii) Letters and documents received from interested parties.
iv) Notes of telephone conversations, meetings and any information received 

and of relevance to the submitted proposal
 

2. For any previous planning application referred to in the agenda report or in the 
application file, the planning application forms and the decision on that proposal

3. Such other papers (if any) received after the preparation of individual reports 
on planning applications on this agenda (to be reported verbally at the meeting).

       4. Any other guidance or procedural documents adopted by the Council and of 
relevance to the recommendation and/or determination of any submitted 
planning applications or related consents

For further information about this report, or if you wish to see any background
papers please contact: Sharon Hill, Senior Business Support Officer, in Economy and 
Environment, Number One Riverside, Smith Street, Rochdale, OL16 1XU

Telephone (01706) 924305 or via the online planning services at: 
http://www.rochdale.gov.uk/planning

http://www.rochdale.gov.uk/planning


Application Number: 14/00849/OUT    Ward: Hopwood Hall     

Proposal: Outline application (including access only) for up to 205 dwellings (Use 
Class C3) and associated landscaping, open space, access arrangements and car 
parking provision. All matters reserved save for access.

Site Address: Land Off Hollin Lane Middleton   

Applicant: Mr Andrew Thorley
                  Taylor Wimpey UK Ltd

RECOMMENDATION: Granted subject to conditions

UPDATE

The application is one of three involved in the development of adjoining parcels of land in 
Middleton.  The Middleton Township Planning Sub Committee considered the applications at 
its meeting on 2nd September 2015 and resolved that it that it was minded to refer the 
applications to the Planning and Licensing Committee with a recommendation that planning 
permission be refused for all three applications.  In relation to this application, the following 
grounds for refusal were given: 



1. The proposed access into the development from Hollin Lane, in conjunction with that 
proposed under application 15/00358/OUT and being in close proximity to the 
junction of Hollin Lane and Hazelhurst Drive and access to St Anne’s Academy, with 
an existing pedestrian crossing point at the junction, would be harmful to highway 
and pedestrian safety in this location; 

2. The cumulative impact of this and other proposed developments in the area on the 
existing highway network and resultant congestion in the area; and

3. The inability of the existing local infrastructure, including schools, to cope with 
pressure from additional residents from these developments and in light of the Sport 
England objection.

Members of the Planning and Licensing Committee are advised that each applicant has 
considered the cumulative impact of all three developments, including the access 
arrangements, on the existing highway network.  Improvements to the existing network are 
proposed to mitigate the impact of each development and the local highway authority and 
Highways England have raised no objection on this basis.

Members are also advised that the applicant has agreed to enter into an s106 agreement to 
provide financial contributions towards off-site sports facilities to mitigate the impact of the 
development on sports facilities and officers recommend that Bowlee Playing Fields are 
identified as the specific project on which the contributions could be locally spent. Officers 
have advised Sport England that these improvements have been put forward by the 
applicants as mitigation and Sport England have withdrawn their objection to all three 
applications on this basis.  In addition, the applicant has agreed to enter into an s106 
agreement to provide financial contributions towards the provision of primary and secondary 
school places in the Borough to mitigate the impact of the development on schools and the 
scale of contributions put forward have been assessed by the Council’s Schools Service to 
be acceptable and appropriate in this case.  

The proposal represents a departure from the Rochdale Unitary Development Plan.  The 
Planning and Licencing Committee may approve or refuse the application on reasonable 
planning grounds.

SITE

The application relates to a circa 10.8 hectare area of land located to the east side of the 
A6046 (Hollin Lane) in Middleton. The site follows the boundaries of an area designated as 
Protected Open Land on the Rochdale Unitary Development Plan (UDP) Proposals Map 
running between Hazelhurst Drive (to the south) and Hatters Farm (to the north). Adjoining 
land flanking the northern boundary lies within the Green Belt, with a Secondary School (St 
Anne’s Academy) and associated playing fields falling within an adjoining area of Protected 
Open Land to the southeast. 

A public right of way (Stott Lane – MidRupp118) runs in a north-easterly direction through 
the site from its junction with Hazelhurst Drive up to Hatters Farm before merging with 
Oaken Bank Road further to the north. This bisecting right of way separates the site into two 
distinct land parcels to the west (circa 6.1 hectares) and east (circa 4.7 hectares) of the 
route. A pond lies to the northwest corner of the smaller (eastern) site.  A second public right 
of way (MidRupp117) borders the south-western tip of the site and runs in an easterly 
direction alongside the southern boundary of the school grounds from its junction with Hollin 
Lane into Hopwood Woods Nature Reserve. 

The site comprises of separate field parcels delineated by a combination of fencing, 
hedgerows and trees on the eastern side of Hollin Lane. With the exception of an initial dip 



alongside Hollin Lane to the southern part of the site where the site is set at a lower level to 
the road, the ground level rises generally to the north (towards Hatters Farm) and east 
(towards Stott Lane) across the site. With respect to the eastern parcel beyond Stott Lane, 
levels fall to the south east towards the adjacent school playing fields.

Surrounding land uses include open farmland, a cluster of buildings and a 
telecommunications mast, which form part of Hatters Farm located within the Green Belt to 
the north; a large expanse of farmland set on lower lying ground on the opposite side of Hollin 
Lane to the west (including a section to the southern end which falls within the designation of 
Protected Open Land); the secondary school of St Anne’s Academy and its associated 
playing fields to the east and south; and a combination of detached and semi-detached 
housing of moderate density off Hazelhurst Drive to the south. The school playing fields form 
an intervening buffer between the site and the Hopwood Woods nature reserve to the east.

PROPOSAL

The application seeks outline permission for a development of up to 205 dwellings. The 
application seeks approval of access only, with the layout, scale, landscaping and external 
appearance of the buildings being reserved for a later stage. The matter of access is defined 
in the Development Management Procedure Order 2015 as ‘the accessibility to and within 
the site, for vehicles, cycles and pedestrians in terms of the positioning and treatment of 
access and circulation routes and how these fit into the surrounding access network.”

A single access point to the site is proposed from Hollin Lane. The access would be situated 
some 150 metres to the north of the junction of Hollin Lane and Hazelhurst Drive, and 
directly opposite (though slightly offset in a southerly direction) the existing access to Dingle 
Farm. It is proposed to form dedicated right hand turning lanes and associated ‘ghost island’ 
approaches into the application site from Hollin Lane (35 metres long) and to Dingle Farm 
(15 metres long). These turning lanes would replace the existing refuge marked by hatching 
to the centre of the carriageway. The site access would form a bell-mouth junction with Hollin 
Lane, with give way ground markings and a curved kerb radius achieving visibility splays of 
2.4 metres x 84.8 metres (northbound) and 2.4 metres x 56.8 metres (southbound) with 
Hollin Lane. The access (achieving a maximum width of 26 metres at its junction with Hollin 
Lane) would merge into a 5.5 metre wide estate road flanked by 2 metre footways running 
into the site. This estate road would cross Stott Lane at a broadly central point along the 
road, providing access to the eastern parcel of the site.

An indicative parameters plan sets out a conceptual masterplan for the development of the 
site.  These parameters include the location of the housing, areas of public open space, 
main and emergency access points, footpath and cycle routes through the site, and size and 
location of landscape buffer zones. The application sets maximum parameters with respect 
to the number of dwellings (up to 205) and their scale (comprising a mix of bungalows, two-
storey dwellings and two and a half storey dwellings).  

The parameters plan shows two principal building locations within the site, with housing on 
the eastern parcel of the site beyond Stott Lane to the north of St Anne’s Academy and on 
the western parcel of the site to the north and south of the primary estate road merging with 
Hollin Lane.  

It is indicated that the proposed development would provide a range of two bedroom 
dwellings (comprising between 5-20% of the total dwellings); three bedroom dwellings (40–
55%); four bedroom dwellings (20-40%); and five bedroom dwellings (0-10% of the total 
dwellings).  

The application proposes a scheme of off-site highways works comprising the following:



• Alterations to the carriageway of Hollin Lane along a circa 365 metre stretch 
extending from the junction with Hazelhurst Drive alongside the eastern site 
boundary, including:

 The removal of an existing pedestrian refuge located in close proximity to the 
junction with Hazelhurst Drive and its replacement with a signalised 
pedestrian crossing 20 metres to the north of the existing crossing;

 The introduction of new northbound and southbound bus stops located 105 
metres and 55 metres to the north of the site access respectively;

 The introduction of an additional pedestrian refuge and crossing points to be 
positioned equidistantly (16 metres) between the two new bus stops;

 Traffic calming measures on the southbound approach to the site in the form 
of ‘dragon teeth’ to signal the approach to an existing 30 MPH zone;

 The provision of green corridors comprising a combination of landscaping and 
public open space to the perimeter of the site, including a large buffer 
alongside the northern boundary and incorporating a Locally Equipped Area 
for Play (LEAP);

 The provision of a new car park for St Anne’s Academy to the immediate 
north of the existing building, accessed through the school grounds.

In addition to the above, the application includes the following to be secured through the 
completion of a section 106 planning obligation and a section 278 highways act agreement 
as follows:

 The provision of affordable housing on-site and/or an off-site contribution in lieu of 
onsite provision in accordance with the provisions of UDP policy H/7 and its 
associated SPD: Affordable Housing;

 A financial contribution towards the provision of primary schools places in Middleton 
(current calculation of £628,320.51 for up to 205 dwellings);

 A financial contribution towards the provision of secondary school places in 
Middleton Township (current calculation of £323,400 for up to 205 dwellings);

 A financial contribution towards cycle lane improvements comprising new and 
renewed on carriageway cycle lanes along Hollin Lane from its junction with Langley 
Lane southeast to its junction with Rochdale Road;

 A financial contribution towards the provision of outdoor sport and recreation facilities 
at Bowlee Playing Fields (current calculation of £190,477.80);

 A financial contribution not exceeding £30,000 towards the provision of access 
improvements at Hopwood Woods Nature Reserve;

 A scheme for the provision, implementation and management of a Locally Equipped 
Area of Play (LEAP); and

 A landscape and public open space plan for the provision, implementation and 
management of the landscape open space within the site.

Taylor Wimpey has also confirmed their commitment to providing appropriate training, 
apprenticeships and utilising local labour as part of the development proposals.

Wider Hollin Lane Masterplan Area

This application forms part of a wider framework masterplan submitted by the applicant (the 
‘Hollin Lane Masterplan Area’) which comprises two further parcels of land to the west. One 
parcel comprises land to the north of Langley Lane, which is the subject of a concurrent 
planning application (application reference 14/00851/OUT) for the erection of up to 150 
dwellings and a potential primary school, and associated landscaping, open space, access 
arrangements and car parking. That application has been submitted by the same applicant 
and is similarly for outline planning permission with all matters reserved other than access.



Another parcel of land shown within the submitted Hollin Lane Masterplan Area to the east of 
this site indicates a potential future phase of development between these two sites, located 
to the west of Hollin Lane and north of Langley Lane. Part of this area of land is also the 
subject of a current application submitted by a separate applicant, reference number 
14/00358/OUT for up to 88 dwellings and which is also under consideration.

RELEVANT PLANNING POLICY

National Guidance:

National Planning Policy Framework 

The Department for Communities and Local Government published the National Planning 
Policy Framework (NPPF) on 27 March 2012.  The NPPF sets out the Government’s 
planning policies for England and how these are expected to be applied.  

National Planning Policy Guidance

The government published its National Planning Practice Guidance on 6 March 2014. This is 
intended to complement the National Planning Policy Framework and to provide a single 
resource for planning guidance, whilst rationalising and streamlining the material. Almost all 
previous planning Circulars and advice notes have been cancelled. Specific reference will be 
made to the NPPG or other national advice in the Analysis section of the report, where 
appropriate.

Core Strategy (Publication Submission 2013):

The Council’s Core Strategy Examination in Public hearing sessions reconvened in June 
2015 in respect of a single issue, that of housing need.  The Inspector’s report is currently 
awaited, however as the Core Strategy is not yet adopted and modifications may be 
recommended by the Inspector, the Core Strategy can only be afforded limited weight in 
decision making at the current time. It is anticipated that the Core Strategy may be adopted 
in late 2015/early 2016.

The following policies of the emerging Core Strategy (known more formally as the emerging 
Rochdale Publication Core Strategy) are relevant:- 

SO1 To deliver a more prosperous economy
SO2 To create successful and healthy communities
SO3 To improve design, image and quality of place
SO4 To promote a greener environment

SD1 Delivering sustainable development

SP3/M The Strategy for Middleton
G5 Managing Protected Open Land
C6 Improving health and well being
C8 Improving community, sport, leisure and cultural facilities

P2 Protecting and enhancing character, landscape and heritage
P3 Improving design of new development

G1 Tackling and adapting to climate change
G2 Energy and new development
G3 Renewable and low carbon energy developments



G7 Increasing the biodiversity and geodiversity
G8 Managing water resources and flood risk
G9 Reducing the impact of pollution 
G10 Managing mineral resources

T2 Improving accessibility
DM1 General development requirements
DM2 Delivering planning contributions and infrastructure

Unitary Development Plan:

G/D/1 Defined Urban Area
D/10 Protected Open Land

G/RE/1 Countryside and the Rural Economy
RE/2 Countryside Around Towns
RE/3 Development Involving Agricultural Land
RE/5 Access to the Countryside
RE/6 Recreational Rights of Way

G/G/1 Greenspace
G/2 Standards for Recreational Open Space
G/4 New Provision of Local Open Space

G/H/1 Housing
H/3 Residential Development Outside Allocated Areas
H/6 Provision of Recreational Open Space in New Housing Development
H/7 Affordable Housing

G/CF/1 Community Facilities and Public Service
CF/2 General Criteria for the Development of Local Community and Health 
Facilities

G/A/1 Accessibility
A/2 Accessibility Hierarchy
A/3 New Development – Access for Pedestrians and Disabled People
A/4 New Development – Access for Cyclists
A/5 New Development – Access for Bus Services
A/7 New Development – Access for Service Vehicles
A/8 New Development – Capacity of the Highway Network
A/9 New Development – Access for General Traffic
A/10 New Development – Provision of Parking
A/11 New Development – Transport Assessments
A/13 Local Walking Route Network

G/BE/1 Design Quality
BE/2 Design Criteria for New Development
BE/8 Landscaping in new Development

G/BE/9 Conservation of the Built Heritage
BE/10 Development Affecting Archaeological Sites and Ancient Monuments

G/EM/1 Environmental Protection and Pollution Control
EM/2 Pollution
EM/3 Noise and New Development



EM/4 Contaminated Land
EM/7 Development and Flood Risk
EM/8 Protection of Surface and Ground Water
EM/9 Development Involving Unstable Land

G/EM/12 Renewable Energy and Energy Conservation
EM/13 Energy Efficiency and New Development

G/NE/1 Nature Conservation
NE/2 Designated Sites of Ecological and Geological/Geomorphological Importance
NE/3 Biodiversity and Development
NE/4 Protected Species

G/NE/5 Landscape and Woodlands
NE/6 Landscape Protection and Enhancement
NE/8 Development Affecting Trees, Woodlands & Hedgerows

Greater Manchester Joint Minerals Plan (April 2013)

Policy 2 Key Planning and Environmental Criteria
Policy 8 Prior Extraction of Mineral Resources 

Supplementary Planning Guidance:
Oldham and Rochdale Residential Design Guide SPD
Guidelines and Standards for Residential Development SPG
Energy and New Development SPD
Provision of Recreational Open Space in New Housing SPD
Affordable Housing SPD

Rochdale Borough Transport Strategy (March 2014)

SITE HISTORY

• 12/D55272 – Removal of hedgerows at nine locations alongside the eastern 
and western frontages of Middleton Road and Hollin Lane (application under 
the hedgerows regulations 1997) – No objection.

• 14/00691/SO – Request for a screening opinion under The Town and Country 
Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulations 2011 in respect of 
a proposed development off Hollin Lane, Middleton – It was deduced that this 
does not constitute EIA development.

CONSULTATION RESPONSES

Highways and Engineering: - No objections. Comments as follows: 
• The impact of the development has been considered in conjunction with the planning 

applications for the development of adjacent land in this area. We have also 
considered the improvements to Junction 19 of the M62 and the South Heywood 
Development. 

• Inevitably this development will generate more traffic than the existing situation and 
even more so with the addition of the school site. The Transport Assessment 
submitted has been produced to the scope agreed with Rochdale Borough Council 
and has not revealed any step change from the current situation. Highways England 
has raised no objection.  I cannot therefore raise any objection to this application on 
the grounds that the local transport network would not support the additional traffic.

• I would however like to see some improvements made to the existing infrastructure at 



the junction of Langley Lane and Hollin Lane. 
• The applicant has indicated a fully permeable site for cyclists and pedestrians. The 

impression is that the development will provide a number of new routes through the 
site whilst preserving the existing rights of way.  This will be of benefit to residents 
and other network users travelling through this area.  I therefore think it is necessary 
to improve the connectivity by improving the crossing point for cyclists and 
pedestrians. 

• The applicant has indicated a number of emergency access points to be established. 
Given the size of the site it is sensible to provide emergency access points around 
the site. This is acceptable. 

• No Public Right of Way will be obstructed by this development.
• The following should be secured as part of the scheme, either through condition or 

planning obligation: (i) a programme of improvement works at the junction of Hollin 
Lane and Langley Lane, to include an additional lane for vehicles turning left from 
Langley Lane onto Hollin Lane. These should be implemented before any of the 
dwellings are first occupied; (ii) the provision of a toucan crossing across Hollin Lane 
to ensure the safe movement of pedestrians and cyclists across the carriageway; (iii) 
a contribution of £4000 towards the amendment of the TRO on Hollin Lane to extend 
the length of the 30 mph zone alongside the development site, to be introduced 
before any of the dwellings are first occupied; (iv) The entire development shall be 
subject to a self-enforcing 20mph zone.

Highways England: No objections. Comments as follows:
• Highways England have completed a review of the cumulative impact of the 

proposed developments on the strategic road network. Following this assessment, 
confirms that it has no objection to the granting of the applications.

• A condition should be imposed on any permission stating that none of the dwellings 
shall be first occupied until a travel plan has been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority and all the measures in the approved travel 
plan have been implemented.

Coal Authority: - No objections. Comments as follows:
• The site falls outside the defined Development High Risk Area and accordingly, 

would not normally require consultation with the Coal Authority under the agreed Risk 
Based Approach to Development Management.

• The site does, however, fall within a Minerals Safeguarding Area defined in the 
Greater Manchester Minerals Plan. The submitted Mineral Assessment Report has 
been informed by a review of available geological and mining information for the sites 
and follows the methodology of the British Geological Survey/Coal Authority 
publication Mineral Safeguarding in England: Good Practice Advice. Based on this 
review the report author concludes that the prior extraction of coal resources would 
not be viable as part of the development proposal.

• The applicant has addressed the requirements of Policy 8 of the adopted Greater 
Manchester Minerals Plan through the consideration of prior extraction of coal 
resources as part of the Mineral Assessment Reports submitted. Therefore, the Coal 
Authority has no objection to the planning application.

• An informative should be added to the decision notice to advise the applicant that the 
site lies within a coal mining area which may contain unrecorded coal mining related 
hazards. The applicant should contact the Coal Authority if any such features are 
encountered during the course of development.

Minerals and Waste Planning Unit: - Comments as follows:
• The site lies within a Mineral Safeguarding Area for coal and brick clay. In 

accordance with policy 8 of the Greater Manchester Minerals Plan, the submitted 
Minerals Assessment investigates the exceptions which would exempt the 



development from the requirements of prior mineral extraction. The report submitted 
by the applicant concludes that mineral extraction should be exempted in line with 
Policy 8 on the grounds that: 

• There is an overriding need for the residential development that outweighs 
the need to avoid sterilisation of the mineral resource; 

• The prior extraction of minerals cannot be carried out in an environmentally 
acceptable manner and would also conflict with policies 2 and 5. 

• Prior extraction is not economically viable due to the depth of the mineral and 
the environmental issues associated with quarrying. 

• The report indicates that Rochdale is currently not meeting its need for 5 year 
housing stock. If this is accurate then the conclusion in point 1 above is agreed and 
the development is exempted from prior mineral extraction requirements in 
accordance with policy 8 of the Joint Waste and Minerals Plan as, in these 
circumstances, the need for housing outweighs the need to avoid sterilisation.

• With respect to points 2 and 3: (2) it is not agreed that extraction could not be 
undertaken in an environmentally acceptable manner. The report mentions the close 
proximity of housing and a school. However, suitable planning conditions could be 
imposed to mitigate the impact of mineral extraction on the environment; (3) The 
Coal Authority report referred to in the Minerals Assessment would only indicate 
known worked seams of coal rather than coal seams underlying the site, as the 
report is aimed at identifying risks from coal mining. No information has been 
provided as to the depth of potential brick clay and so its potential for extraction is 
unknown. Therefore, insufficient information on the underlying geology at site has 
been provided to make a judgment on whether or not extraction would be economic.

• The proposed changes to the layout and design of the site would not affect the 
original comments. 

Contaminated Land Officer: - A condition should be attached to any permission requiring 
submission of an intrusive site investigation and remediation strategy before any 
development take place.

Environment Agency: - No objections. Standing advice for developments in flood zone 1 
(over 1 hectare in area) as follows:

• Proposals for surface water management should aim to ensure that run-off does not 
exceed existing (pre-development) rates and, where practicable, reduce the rate of 
runoff from the site as a result of the development (including information regarding 
how the proposed drainage design will perform under the increased frequency and 
intensity of rainfall that is predicted as a result of climate change). 

• Drainage from new developments must not increase flood risk either on site or 
elsewhere (NPPF paragraph 102) and should preferably reduce risk. Government 
policy strongly encourages a sustainable drainage system (SuDS) approach to 
achieve these objectives.

• Surface water run-off should be controlled as near to its source as possible through a 
sustainable drainage approach to surface water management (SuDS). SuDS seek to 
mimic natural drainage systems and retain water on or near to the site, when rain 
falls, in contrast to traditional drainage approaches, which tend to pipe water off site 
as quickly as possible. SuDS offer significant advantages over conventional piped 
drainage systems in reducing flood risk by reducing the quantity of surface water run-
off from a site and the speed at which it reaches water courses, promoting 
groundwater recharge, and improving water quality and amenity. 

• Run-off from previously-developed sites should be compared with existing rates, not 
greenfield rates for the site before it was developed.  Developers are, however, 
strongly encouraged to reduce runoff rates from previously-developed sites as much 
as is reasonably practicable and in line with local policy. Volumes of run-off should 
also be reduced wherever possible using infiltration and attenuation techniques.



• No further comments to make on the amendments.

Lead Local Flood Authority: - No objections. Comments as follows:
• The submitted Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) and surface water drainage strategy 

indicate the intention to connect the surface water drainage systems from both sites 
into adjacent brooks. The proposals include flow attenuation measures to limit 
surface water discharge to greenfield run off rate and to deal with the impact of 
climate change.

• A condition should be imposed requiring submission of a detailed drainage design 
including calculations identifying the rate of surface water discharge from the site 
(which should not exceed the existing, greenfield rate).

United Utilities (UU): - No objections. Comments as follows:
• The site should be drained on separate systems with foul water draining to the public 

sewer and surface water draining in the most sustainable way in accordance with the 
hierarchy identified in the Building Regulations: (i) a soakaway/infiltration system; (ii) 
a watercourse; (iii) a sewer. 

• United Utilities will have no objection to the proposal provided that the following 
conditions are attached to any approval: -

• This site must be drained on a separate system, with only foul drainage connected 
into the foul sewer. Surface water should discharge to the nearby water course to 
meet the requirements of the National Planning Policy Framework (PPS 1 (22) and 
PPS 25 (F8)) and part H3 of the Building Regulations.

• No surface water from this development is discharged either directly or 
indirectly to the combined sewer network.

• A public sewer runs close to the boundary of the site and should not be built over.  
UU will require an access strip of 6 metres (3 metres to either side of the central line) 
for any sewer. If a diversion of the public sewer is required, this will be at the 
applicant’s expense. Deep rooted shrubs and trees should not be planted in the 
vicinity of the public sewer and overflow systems.

• A domestic water supply can be made available to the proposed development. As the 
connection is to be made to an unmetered trunk main the applicant will be required to 
fund the cost of a new district meter and pressure management valve. 

• Two clean water trunk mains cross the site. As UU need access for operating and 
maintaining them, development should not be permitted in close proximity to the 
mains. An access strip of no less than 10 metres (measuring at least 5 metres to 
either side of the centre line of each pipe) will be required.

Environmental Health Officer (EHO): - No objections. Comments as follows:
• A condition should be imposed restricting hours of construction to between 07:30 and 

18:00 Monday to Friday and between 09:00 and 14:00 on Saturdays. No work should 
take place on Sundays.

• The dwellings should be constructed in accordance with the recommendations in the 
submitted Noise Impact Assessment and designed to ensure that noise from passing 
traffic does not exceed: (i) 30dB(A) Leq 5mins in the bedrooms with windows shut 
and other means of ventilation provided between 11pm and 7am; (ii) 35dB(A) Leq (1 
hour) in other habitable rooms with windows shut and other means of ventilation 
provided at all times; (iii) 45 dB(A) Lmax in bedrooms. 

• An acoustic fence of at least 1.8m in height, with a mass greater than 28Kg/m2, shall 
be installed in the position shown in figure 3, appendix 3 of the submitted Noise 
Impact Assessment in order to achieve external noise levels of 55 dB(A) for the 
dwellings.

• Appropriate conditions should be imposed to deal with the above and a verification 
report should be submitted on completion of the dwellings in order to demonstrate 
that the stipulated noise levels have been achieved. 



Greater Manchester Fire and Rescue Service: Comments as follows:
• The provisions of S63 of the Greater Manchester Act (1981) will be applicable to the 

scheme. This will enable the Fire Authority to request additional provisions for access 
for the Fire Service when proposals are submitted for Building Regulation approval.

• Comments on amendments:
• The Fire Service requires vehicular access for a fire appliance to within 45m of all 

points within the dwellings. 
• The access road should be a minimum width of 4.5m and capable of carrying 12.5 

tonnes. Additionally if the access road is more than 20m long a turning circle, 
hammerhead, or other turning point for fire appliances will be required. The maximum 
length of any cul-de-sac network should be 250 m.

• There should be a suitable fire hydrant within 165m of the furthest dwelling.
• The Fire Service strongly supports the installation of domestic sprinkler systems as a 

positive measure to protect persons.  At a small cost occupants’ can be given the 
reassurance of a high level of protection.  All developers should positively consider 
the viability of installing domestic sprinkler systems.  

Greater Manchester Archaeological Advisory Service (GMAAS): Comments as follows:
• The application is supported by an archaeological Desk Based Assessment (DBA). 

The Historic Environment Record (HER) for Greater Manchester was consulted in 
preparing the DBA. Having reviewed the evidence of the HER, historic mapping and 
documentary sources the DBA concludes that, apart from the remains of three 
buildings denoted on the 1839/40 Middleton and Hopwood tithe maps, there is a low/ 
nil potential for unknown archaeology of earlier periods to survive.

• The proposed development area (PDA) consists of six fields in a landscape that is 
and has been in the recent historic past dominated by pasture. There are records for 
prehistoric stone axe hammers (HER 5030.1.0 & 2437.1.0) in the surrounding search 
area. It is possible that these two records are duplicates, and that the most accurate 
of the two is HER 5030.1.0 as it is closest to Hopwood where the discovery was 
made. HER 5030.1.0 lies about 140m east of the PDA boundary. Topographically, 
the PDA occupies an area of relatively level high ground (c.150 – 140m AOD) which 
is surrounded by radiating drainages flowing down to land below c.120m where they 
join Trub Brook to the south and east and Whittle Brook to the north and west. Such 
relatively elevated locations are well understood to have provided a preferred focus 
for prehistoric and possibly early historic activity.

• Whilst the known HER content may suggest there is a low/ nil chance of prehistoric 
remains being encountered, this does not take into account the lack of any previous 
fieldwork in the vicinity that would reveal such remains. In addition, the HER does not 
account for the local topographic context in considering where activity of the earlier 
periods might have been focussed, nor the discovery of one or more stone axe 
hammers nearby.

• The DBA concludes that there is some potential for remains of the three post-
medieval buildings to be encountered in the centre and the south of the site and that 
some investigation of these below ground remains may need to be undertaken as a 
condition of any permission. GMAAS accepts these conclusions, but also 
recommends that a conditioned programme of works should include phased 
evaluation of the PDA using geophysics and trenching to see if earlier remains do 
survive.

• A condition should be attached to any permission granted requiring that a 
programme of archaeological works be undertaken in accordance with a Written 
Scheme of Investigation (WSI). This WSI should include: a geophysical evaluation 
and trenching, a programme for post investigation assessment, provision for 
publication and dissemination of the report on the site investigation, provision for 
archive deposition of the report, finds and records of the site investigation and 



nomination of an competent person(s) to undertake the works outlined in the WSI. 
GMAAS will monitor the implementation of the work on behalf of the Local Authority.

Green Infrastructure Officer: - No objections. Comments as follows:
• Existing hedges to the perimeter of the site (the most important being H9 and H/7 

adjacent to St Anne’s Academy) should, where possible, be retained and 
incorporated into the landscaping of the site.

• The development includes large areas of open space within the site including public 
open spaces and additional planting which give an opportunity to increase tree cover.

Comments on amended scheme:
• I would want to see detailed planting plans and a species list, particularly for the 

woodland areas because of the site’s proximity to Hopwood Woods Local Nature 
Reserve, SBIs and Ancient woodland areas and the possibility of invasive or problem 
species being introduced. 

Natural England: - No objections. Comments as follows:
• The site is located in close proximity to the Rochdale Canal Site of Special Scientific 

Interest (SSSI). Natural England is satisfied that the proposed development, being 
carried out in strict accordance with the details of the application as submitted, will 
not damage or destroy the interest features for which the SSSI has been notified. 
Therefore, this SSSI does not represent a constraint in determining the application. 

• This application may provide opportunities to incorporate features into the design 
which are beneficial to wildlife, such as roosting opportunities for bats or the 
installation of bird nest boxes. The authority should consider securing measures to 
enhance the biodiversity of the site from the applicant, if it is minded to grant 
permission for this application, in accordance with Paragraph 118 of the NPPF. 

Comments on amended scheme:
• The proposed amendments are unlikely to have significantly different impacts on the 

natural environment than the original proposals. The advice previously provided 
applies equally to the amendments.

Greater Manchester Ecology Unit (GMEU): - No objections. Comments on original scheme 
and amended scheme as follows:

• An ecological survey of the site has been undertaken, which included a phase 1 
habitat survey updated in 2013 and surveys for amphibians, bats, badgers, breeding 
birds and riparian mammals in 2014.  The survey work was undertaken by suitably 
licensed/experienced ecologists following best practice guidance.  Therefore there is 
no reason to doubt the findings of the ecological assessment.

Designated sites
• The proposed development site has no nature conservation designations, legal or 

otherwise.  It is however approximately 85m from Hopwood Woods Local Nature 
Reserve, part of which is also designated as a Site of Biological Importance and is 
Ancient woodland.  While there do not appear to be any plans that will directly impact 
upon the designated sites, the ecological report makes reference to an outfall to be 
installed into the brook at Oaken Bank Woods, and the flood risk and drainage report 
suggests that surface water is discharged into a water course.  

• There is also potential that the increased housing stock in close proximity to the 
LNR/SBI will increase the pressure both on the habitats and access to the site

• A condition should be imposed to ensure that no development takes place until 
detailed drainage plans have been produced.  If any work is proposed within, or on 
watercourses that lead into a designated site, then they must be accompanied by an 
ecological assessment of the impact of the proposals including both construction of 
the outfall and the impact on the site once the outflow is operational.

• The Council may also wish to explore seeking a financial commitment or 



management arrangement with the developers to contribute towards the habitat 
management and access facilities within Hopwood Woods, given the likely increase 
of footfall into this area and associated increased pressures on the site.

Amphibians
• A number of ponds are located within 500m of the proposed development, 16 of 

which were not separated by major amphibian dispersal barriers.  These were 
subject to a number of great crested newt survey methods including a Habitat 
Suitability Index (HSI), bottle trapping, torching, egg search and eDNA sampling. One 
pond was confirmed to have a low population of great crested newts (1 individual 
was recorded) and is located approximately 400m to the north of the proposed 
development boundary and 470m from the proposed construction area.  Great 
crested newts and their habitats are legally protected. However, the area of habitat 
loss is small (0.27ha) and given the distance from the great crested newt pond, it is 
not considered that a great crested newt licence will be required.

• A condition should be imposed ensuring that no development shall take place until a 
Reasonable Avoidance Method Statement for great crested newts has been 
submitted to the Local Planning Authority for approval. Once approved the method 
statement should be carried out in full.

Bats
• One tree on the site was identified as having high bat roost potential (Category 1). 

The tree is located along Stott Lane and is shown for retention in the indicative layout 
for the site. Three bat activity surveys were undertaken which found the site was of 
low importance to bats with only low levels of common pipistrelle activity recorded.

• A condition should be imposed requiring a lighting plan for the scheme (including 
construction and post development) to be submitted, which includes measures to 
minimise the impact on bats, in line with paragraph 6.5 of the ecological assessment.

• If, for any reason, it is not possible to retain the tree with bat roost potential further 
bat survey work will be required and suitable mitigation measures will be required.

Breeding birds
• A breeding bird survey was undertaken following best practice guidance.  While 32 

species were recorded on or within the vicinity of the site, few were confirmed as 
breeding and the species of conservation concern/section 41 species, were 
associated with habitat adjacent to the site rather than on the site.

• A condition should be imposed stating that no ground clearance, tree felling or 
pruning, hedgerow removal or clearance of vegetation should be undertaken in the 
bird nesting season (March - August inclusive) unless otherwise approved in writing 
by the LPA.

Brown Hare
• There are records of brown hare to the east of the proposed development site and 

the site supports habitat that is suitable for this species.  No specific brown hare 
survey was undertaken, but no sightings of brown hare were made during the other 
field work.  Given the habitat available in the wider environment there should not be a 
detrimental impact of the development on brown hare.

Badgers
• No evidence of badgers was recorded on the site.

Riparian Mammals
• No evidence of water vole or otter were recorded



Invasive species
• The invasive Japanese knotweed and Himalayan balsam have been recorded on the 

site.
• A condition should be imposed stating that no development shall take place until a 

scheme to avoid the spread of Japanese knotweed and Himalayan balsam has been 
submitted to the LPA for approval.  Once approved the scheme should be carried out 
in full.

Habitat Loss and landscaping
• The dominant habitat on the site is grazed species poor semi-improved grassland. 

 However a number of other habitats on the site are present and will be lost or 
impacted upon, including ponds, hedgerows and marshy grassland. The indicative 
layout and design and access statement suggests that exiting wildlife corridors will be 
maintained and enhanced through the site and a wildlife buffer will be created to the 
north of the site.

• A condition should be imposed requiring submission of detailed landscaping plans 
which follow the principles established within the indicative layout.  Compensation will 
be required for the loss of habitats such as ponds (1 for 1 replacement) marshy 
grassland and hedgerows and should follow the principles laid out within section 6 of 
the ecological report. Locally native species should be used in the hedgerow and 
tree/woodland planting and should be incorporated throughout the landscaping of the 
scheme.

• A condition should require all trees and hedgerows to be retained as part of the 
development to be adequately protected following British Standards.

• Biodiversity enhancements should be encouraged throughout the development in line 
with national planning policy.  Measures such as those in section 6.8-6.11 should be 
incorporated into the scheme. A condition requiring submission of a long term 
conservation management plan for the wildlife corridors and the buffer zone for the 
northern end of the site should be submitted to the LPA for approval.  Once approved 
the management plan should be carried out in full.

• An informative should be attached to any planning permission granted which makes 
the developer aware that if at any time protected species are found to be present on 
the site or affected by the development, work should cease immediately and Natural 
England/LPA should be contacted.

Rights of Way Officer: - No objections. Comments as follows:
• The route of MidRupp118 (which follows Stott Lane) can legitimately be used by 

people on foot, pedal cyclists, horse riders, horse and carts and motorised vehicles 
associated with residents who live along the route and require this for access. 
However, the Council do not maintain private rights and would not know who legally 
has these rights.

• The route should not be disturbed or obstructed in any way by plant machinery, 
excavation or by placing materials along its surface. It may not be used as an access 
road during construction as it is not acceptable for the public to negotiate plant 
machinery while using the right of way and any improvements to the surface would 
require permission from Environmental Management to ensure that the surface is 
suitable for its legitimate users.

• The road crossing to be created running over the width of MidRupp118 should be 
created as follows: (i) during the works, there should be banks men on site at the 
crossing to ensure that there are no risks to the general public and to avoid any 
accidents involving plant machinery and users of the route; (ii) it would be beneficial 
to create a Pegasus crossing to provide a continuous safe route for horse riders, 
cyclist and pedestrians at the point where the road crosses the right of way. This 
should form a condition of any approval.

• Any alterations to the route (e.g. a temporary diversion or permanent closure) must 



first be authorised by the completion of an order carried out by the Council. The route 
must remain in its original location and condition until an order allows any such 
changes to be made.  Should a temporary diversion be required, the landowner must 
apply to the Council for the order to be carried out, they must provide documentation 
that they are indeed the landowner,  the reason for the diversion, confirmation that 
the Council's costs will be paid for the order, confirmation that the route will be 
reinstated to a standard agreed with Environmental Management, and accept that 
should no work be carried out during the first 2 weeks of the period of the order the 
Council have the right to void the order and deem it not necessary.  The landowner 
must forward the name and address of the person(s) who will be paying for the order 
to enable an invoice to be sent for all costs involved, and forward a map showing the 
existing definitive route to be diverted and the exact route of the diversion. The land 
over which the diverted route will run should be in the landowner’s ownership or the 
Council will accept written authorisation from the neighbouring landowner with a copy 
of their title deeds showing the land in their ownership. 

Schools Service: - No objections. Comments as follows:
• In taking a view on developer contributions for this scheme, the school place 

availability for the Middleton Township as a whole has been considered, rather than a 
2 mile or 3 mile walking distance for primary and secondary places respectively. This 
is because it references our place planning areas, and more closely relates to 
meeting overall school place demand.

• The strategy of the Local Authority is to provide additional places to meet that 
expected demand in existing schools, without over-providing too many places. The 
Authority will consult in summer term 2015 on how additional places will be provided 
to meet current projected demand.

• Whilst the Birth data indicates fewer children being born in the township for 
admission in 2018, the number of extra Reception Class places to be provided by the 
Local Authority will be reduced to match the reduced demand whilst retaining a 
margin for preference and movement.  The School Capacity and projections Returns 
of 2014 show there would be a shortfall in capacity without the provision of the 
additional planned places to accommodate the peak in demand.

• A number of primary schools in the Township have been extended, either on a 
permanent or temporary basis to make sure there are enough places to meet 
planned demand to 2016.  As stated in paragraph 2 above, consultation on the need 
for extra Reception places for 2017 and 2018 will be undertaken in summer 2015.

• Additional Reception Class places will be needed in the Township for 2016 to 2018, 
above those already planned. The Local Authority is consulting with schools, parents 
Diocesan Authorities to provide additional places in Middleton. The proposals for 
2016, 2017 and 2018 are to:
(i) increase the admission capacity at Bowlee Park CP from 90 to 120 places and to 
consider whether this should be a permanent enlargement to take account of 
potential housing developments in this area of Middleton; and
(ii) increase the admission capacity at Boarshaw CP from 30 to 60 places for a 
further 2 years, i.e.2017 and 2018 (subject to review).

• To meet the expected increase in demand, and taking account of consultation with 
schools, parents and interested parties, in December 2014 the Borough’s Cabinet 
approved proposals to provide 60 extra Year 7 places in the Township for the period 
to 2019. These places would be provided as follows: 30 additional places from 
September 2016 onwards at Cardinal Langley RC; and 30 additional places from 
September 2017 onwards at St. Anne’s Academy. This would meet the current 
expected demand, although this will be kept under review.

• The expected Pupil Yield based on standard BSF formula across both the Hollin 
Lane and Langley Lanes sites (355 houses) is 89 primary places and 36 secondary 
places, applied to the projections from 2016. There would also be an expected 13 



children per year group for nursery age children (rising 3’s and 4’s). There would also 
be an expected 7 children per year group post 16.

• Developer contributions would need to support the provision of additional places in 
the Township for both primary and secondary sectors. 

• The reason for this is that, because of the need to meet existing demographic 
demand, existing school sites across the whole of Middleton, north of the Town 
Centre, will be at their realistic maximum capacity. 

• For the primary sector, additional places could be accommodated (subject to 
consultation) within an existing primary school, which would need to be expanded 
further than currently planned. The developer contribution for primary school places for 
the Hollin Lane site would be as follows:

• (205 dwellings x 0.25 =51.25 children) x £12,320.01 = £631,400.51
• For the secondary sector, additional places could be accommodated within existing 

secondary schools, which would need to be expanded further than currently planned. 
Based on the DfE cost multiplier for Basic Need Allocations for 2014 of £15,400.01 
per place, the expected developer contribution for secondary places would be 
£323,400.21.

• Additional considerations: the Local Authority would require the contributions before 
the commencement of the development, because the school places would need to 
be ready prior to the occupation of properties on the development. 

Transport for Greater Manchester (TfGM): - No objections. Comments as follows:
• At present, only the southwest corner of the site is located in a reasonable walking 

distance of public transport – this being within 400 metres of bus stops on Hollin 
Lane. The bus stops offer access to a frequent (Monday – Saturday daytime) bus 
service between Manchester, Middleton, Heywood and Bury. The majority of the site 
(to the north and east) is not, however, as accessible by public transport as it lies 
beyond the reasonable walking distance from these bus stops. Nevertheless, this 
could be overcome through improvements to existing infrastructure to make these 
areas of the site more accessible by public transport. Such improvements would then 
mean that future residents would have access to a choice of travel modes, which 
would help to reduce the number of car journeys generated by the development.

• It is noted that the provision of two new bus stops (northbound and southbound) and 
an associated pedestrian refuge is intended as part of the scheme. The nearest 
existing northbound and southbound bus stops on Hollin Lane are located 180-200 
metres from the southernmost boundary of the site. As bus stops are typically located 
200-250 metres apart, TfGM recommend that four new bus stops (two northbound 
and two southbound) are provided to improve the accessibility of the site. New bus 
stops should include raised kerbs and shelters, and should be provided in 
accordance with TfGM’s bus stop design guidelines. A condition should be imposed 
to secure the provision of new stops as follows:

1. A pair (northbound and southbound) of new bus stops located towards the 
southern end of the site close to St Anne’s Academy, thus improving 
accessibility for these community buildings and the proposed dwellings in this 
location (these would also serve the possible future development site on the 
west side of Hollin Lane).

2. A pair (northbound and southbound) of new bus stops located approximately 
230 metres north of (i) further along Hollin Lane to serve dwellings to the 
northern and eastern parts of the site.

• The site layout should be designed to maximise the benefits of the site’s location in 
relation to public transport and to encourage travel by sustainable modes, including 
walking and cycling. The pedestrian and cycling environment within and around the 
site should be designed to be as safe, attractive and convenient as possible, 
including natural surveillance from active frontages of the development where 
possible. Particular attention should be paid to walking/cycling routes through the site 



and links to Hollin Lane and St Anne’s Academy. The development provides an 
opportunity to improve the cycle network by: (i) the provision of a traffic free, 
segregated cycle route along the site’s frontage with Hollin Lane; and (ii) the 
upgrading of any rough surfaces of the existing traffic free route along Stott Lane 
within the site. The proposed cycle parking at the community building should be 
secure, sheltered, positioned in a convenient location close to the entrance and 
benefit from natural surveillance or CCTV. Conditions should be attached to any 
permission granted requiring a scheme for cycle improvements.

• The application is accompanied by a Framework Travel Plan to reduce dependence 
on single occupancy car travel and to encourage the use of more sustainable 
transport modes. A condition should be attached to any permission granted requiring 
the further development, submission, implementation and monitoring of a full 
residential travel plan.

• The application also includes the provision of additional car parking for St Anne’s 
Academy. This parking area is to be accessed from the existing school site and will 
not be accessible from within the development site. There does not appear to be any 
explanation or justification of the need for this additional car parking for the Academy. 
Car parking at the school should be provided in accordance with RMBC parking 
standards and travel plan measures put in place to encourage alternative travel to 
and from the school by sustainable modes.

Environmental Management (refuse collection): - No objections. Comments on original and 
amended scheme as follows:

• It is understood that the road layout shown on the proposed masterplan is for 
indicative purposes only. When a detailed estate road design comes forward the 
development should seek to reduce the number of reversing points for refuse 
vehicles in order to minimise potential hazards associated with such manoeuvres.

• The houses will be required to accommodate satisfactory off-road bin storage areas 
when they come forward at detailed design stage. Rochdale currently has a 4 bin 
system for garden properties and a 3 bin system for non-garden houses.

• Improved access would be better for access by refuse vehicles.

Strategic Housing: - Comments on original and amended scheme as follows:
• If the development was to deliver an equal split of 2, 3 and 4 bedroom houses the 

scheme would return an estimated New Homes Bonus (NHB) of £265,243 for the first 
year, with a cumulative payment of £1,591,456 over six years.

• The NHB is paid annually over a period of six years from the start of the programme 
and is only payable for properties completed before the end of the programme. The 
present year (2014/15) is the fourth year of the programme. Therefore, the level of 
payment received from NHB as mentioned above would be dependent on: (1) the 
rate of completions on site; and (2) the potential for the programme being extended 
beyond its existing six-year timeframe.

• The development would be required to make provision for affordable housing in 
accordance with UDP policy H/7 and its associated SPD. Given the level of social 
rented accommodation on the nearby Langley and Hollin estates, it is considered that 
the most appropriate means of securing affordable housing would be either a 
commuted sum associated with an off-site contribution or on-site provision through 
an affordable sale option (e.g. shared ownership/shared equity).

Strategic Planning: - Assessed within Analysis section of report.  

Design for Security: - No comment.

Community Safety: - No comments to make until detailed design stage.



RMBC Countryside Services: - Comments on the amended scheme as follows:
• There would be possible transmission of species between the new planted areas and 

ancient woodland. Species and habitat types will need approval.
• Himalyan Balsam is within the catchment area and has the potential to limit the 

ecological potential of new buffer areas or lead to their spread into ancient woodland 
areas.

• Who will maintain the landscaped buffer areas, when Council resources have been 
cut in this area.

• Need to consider mitigation for the increased usage, access of routes into the nearby 
woodlands, including a need for access controls to be approved.

• Domestic pets and animals can have a detrimental impact on wildlife in the vicinity 
and will need to be mitigated for.

Sport England: - A combined consultation response has been provided as part of a non-
statutory consultation on the proposed development and the two other planning applications 
14/00851/OUT and 14/00849/OUT on adjacent sites. 

Members of the Middleton Township Planning Sub Committee raised concerns about the 
non-statutory objection raised by Sport England.  To clarify, these comments were received 
prior to the negotiation of s106 contributions towards off-site sports facilities in the local area, 
the precise details of which are reported elsewhere in this report.  Officers have 
subsequently advised Sport England that contributions are sought towards off-site sports 
facilities and the contributions have been calculated using the Sport England calculator.  

Sport England has subsequently withdrawn its non-statutory objection to the applications.  In 
the interests of clarity, the initial comments and updated comments of Sport England are 
reported below.  

Initial Comments:
• It is understood that the 3 applications are linked and propose a total of 443 

residential dwellings. An area for open space provision is shown within each of the 
sites but there is no acknowledgement that the increased demand arising from the 
development will affect the capacity of existing, and potentially create the need for 
additional, sports provision in the area. 

• Sport England has assessed the application against its adopted planning policy 
objectives. The focus of these objectives is that a planned approach to the provision 
of facilities and opportunities for sport is necessary in order to meet the needs of 
local communities. The occupiers of any new development, especially residential, will 
generate demand for sporting provision. The existing provision within an area may 
not be able to accommodate this increased demand without exacerbating existing 
and/or predicted future deficiencies. Therefore, Sport England considers that new 
developments should be required to contribute towards meeting the demand they 
generate through the provision of on-site facilities and/or providing additional capacity 
off-site. The level and nature of any provision should be informed by a robust 
evidence base such as an up to date Sports Facility Strategy, Playing Pitch Strategy 
or other relevant needs assessment. This requirement is supported by the 
Government’s National Planning Policy Framework.

• The population of the proposed development is estimated to be 1064 people based 
on the ONS census figure 2011 of 2.4 people per dwelling for Rochdale. This 
additional population will generate additional demand for sports facilities. If this 
demand is not adequately met, then it may place additional pressure on existing 
sports facilities, thereby creating deficiencies in facility provision. In accordance with 
Circular 05/05, Sport England seeks to ensure that the development meets any new 
sports facility needs arising as a result of the development. 

• In the absence of a Needs Assessment for outdoor sport, Sport England has 



consulted the main pitch sport national governing bodies. The Rugby Football Union 
(RFU) advise that the promotional activity currently underway with the 2015 Rugby 
Union World Cup, and the legacy projects that are likely to evolve has created 
additional interest in Rugby Union in the area. This interest along with the additional 
demand arising from these three residential developments is likely to put pressure on 
the existing rugby facilities in the area. The RFU predicts a growth in membership 
over the coming season as a result of targeted RFU/club recruitment work and the 
increase in exposure offered by the Rugby World Cup (September 2015). The three 
closest Rugby Union Clubs that may be affected by the increase in demand arising 
from the housing developments are: 
1. North Manchester RUFC (circa 3 miles) – Manchester City Council 
2. Rochdale RUFC (circa 5miles) – Rochdale MBC 
3. Sedgley Park RUFC (circa 7 miles) – Bury MBC 

Built Sports Facilities: 
• You may be aware that Sport England’s Sports Facilities Calculator (SFC) can help 

to provide an indication of the likely demand that will be generated by a development 
for certain facility types. The SFC indicates that a population of 1064 will generate a 
demand for the following facility types: pools up to £157,064; halls up to £183,329; 
indoor bowls up to £17,994; and artificial sand pitch of £24,936, and artificial 3G pitch 
£28,293.

• An assessment would need to be made to ascertain what impact the additional 
demand will have on existing sports facilities. 
- Do the existing sports facilities have sufficient spare capacity to accommodate the 
- additional demand? 
- Will improvements be required to build in extra capacity on existing sites? 
- Are new sports facilities required? 

• Rochdale do not have an up to date Built Facilities Strategy. The information above 
provides an indication of what may be required based purely on the likely population 
profile the new dwellings are likely to generate. It is up to the applicant, in 
consultation with the Council, to decide/prove that there are sufficient existing 
facilities to meet the new demand. It is likely given the size of the development that 
contributions towards the creation of new facilities or the improvements of existing 
facilities may be required. If an assessment of need is not undertaken then it is the 
opinion of Sport England that the proposal does not meet the sustainability test which 
is set out in the NPPF.

Playing Pitches:
• Rochdale does not have a robust up to date Playing Pitch Strategy. As with the built 

facilities, the new population may have an impact on the existing playing fields. 
Therefore, contributions may be required to create additional playing pitch provision. I 
would encourage dialogue with Rochdale’s leisure department to determine what is 
required. 

• In conclusion, the applicants have submitted fairly detailed planning statements, but 
clearly omit to discuss sport or the impact the new residents will have on the existing 
sporting facilities/pitches. Sport England objects as the open space and sports 
provision is not based on any assessment of need as required by paragraph 17, 70 
and 73 of NPPF.

Updated comments:
• I understand the contributions from the three applications have been calculated using 

Sport England’s Sports Facilities Calculator (SFC) as recommended in my response 
to the LPA in June and I the absence of an up to date Needs Assessment.  For 
information the SFC is adjusted annually to take into account revised cost estimates 



and any changes in population estimates issues by ONS.  I understand form our 
conversation yesterday that the intention is to revise the contribution at the 
appropriate time using the latest SFC, this is welcomed.  I also understand specific 
sites will be identified where the contributions will be used in order to comply with CIL 
regulations.  Again this is welcomed as the site identification process will allow you to 
identify which sports facilities within the area requires improvement to create 
additional capacity to accommodate the increase in demand generated from the 
housing developments.

• However, I do wish to raise a note of caution.  Evidence and experience suggests 
that isolated single pitches within housing schemes are not sustainable and quickly 
become informal open space.  This is because the open nature of the pitches, quite 
understandably, is a source of open space for local residents that often conflicts with 
the team sport function of the pitch.  Maintenance then becomes an issue and quality 
deteriorates as a result leaving pitches unfit for sporting use.  My advice would be to 
liaise with Lancashire FA to identify an existing site within the locality where a 
contribution could be made to improve an existing pitch. This would create additional 
capacity within that playing field site to accommodate the additional demand 
generated from the housing development.  As a site will be specified for the 
contribution to be spent on it will comply with CIL regulations.

• I can confirm Sport England withdraws the objections previously lodged to 
applications 14/00849/OUT, 14/00851/OUT, and 15/00358/OUT.

REPRESENTATIONS

Direct Publicity: - The appropriate neighbouring properties were notified of the application by 
letter. In addition, as the proposal represents major development, is a departure from the 
UDP and has the potential to affect public rights of way, notices have also been posted on 
the site and in the local press. A total of 253 letters have been received in objection to the 
application. Five letters have also been received in support of the proposal and one has 
been submitted declaring a neutral stance. 

The St Anne’s Academy Trustees have confirmed that at this stage their concerns on health 
& safety have been addressed and no objection is raised to the two applications but will 
need to be convinced by further detail at the reserved matters stage.

Those Letters in Support raised the following matters:
• The proposals would provide opportunities for residents of Middleton to get on the 

housing ladder and provide new housing within close proximity to an existing school, 
Middleton Town Centre and the motorway. 

• There is a need for more new and affordable housing in Middleton.

The points of objection made in the letters, followed by officer responses, are summarised 
as follows:

Objection:
The site forms an area of Protected Open Land located outside the Defined Urban Area. 
Applications have been submitted in 1995 and 2010 for development of the site and have 
always been refused. An appeal in 1985 (reference 017143/APP/P/423/A/85) has also been 
dismissed. There has been no change in circumstances since the refusal of previous 
applications and the dismissal of an appeal on the site to indicate that a different decision 
should be reached. The site performs the same function as the Green Belt and should 
remain open, as intended by the policy in the UDP.

Officer Response:
The application site is not located within the Green Belt, but located within an area 



designated as Protected Open Land within the UDP. The role and function of Protected 
Open Land is not the same as the Green Belt which is protected for its intrinsic permanence 
and openness. As noted elsewhere in this report previous Inspectors have resolved that it 
was not necessary to include the land to which the application relates within the Green Belt. 
Each application will be determined on its own merits having regards to the balance of 
material considerations at that time. Since the appeal that was determined in 1985 there has 
been a substantial shift in planning policy through the introduction of the NPPF. There have 
also been significant changes to the supply and provision of housing within the local area 
and across the Borough. 

Objection:
There are numerous brownfield sites available throughout the borough which should be 
developed as a priority before any more greenfield sites are released for housing. The 
Council’s own figures illustrate that RMBC have enough land on which to build over 11,500 
new properties throughout the borough, thus fulfilling its 5 year housing land supply target 
without any need to build on countryside or farmland. RMBC has an annual quota (laid down 
by government) to construct approximately 400 houses on an annual basis within the 
borough and is currently the only Local Authority in Greater Manchester to be ahead of its 
building quota. Recent applications approved in Middleton (e.g. Langley and British Vita) 
have allowed the construction of over 600 new houses in the township. Houses of the type 
proposed are already freely available on the market and those already for sale are currently 
struggling to sell. Therefore, there is no justifiable need for further housing within the 
borough at the present time, and certainly not within the countryside.

Officer Response:
The most up to date housing need figures for the Borough put forward by the Council within 
the latest Strategic Housing Market Assessment from January 2015, indicate that an annual 
figure of 460 dwellings be provided. However, this figure contrasts significantly with the 
projected figures contested at the Core Strategy Examination which go up to 750 dwellings 
per annum. In further contrast the figure used by Inspectors within recent appeal decisions 
within the Borough utilises the former RSS target of 621 dwellings per annum. As there is a 
wide variation in the annual target and the appropriate target is yet to be confirmed, there is 
a significant degree of uncertainty in what is the appropriate target. Nevertheless, as the 
Council has not the Council cannot demonstrate a 5 year housing supply. Therefore, the 
application needs to be determined having regard to the tests set out in the UDP. 
Notwithstanding the above, looking at the housing target alone also ignores the particular 
issues faced within the Borough in terms of delivery of new homes, and the recent 
background of removals and demolition of housing as part of the Housing Market Renewal 
pathfinder programme. Indeed between 2003/4 and 2009/10 a total of 1,334 dwellings were 
demolished across the Borough. As a result during the period between 2008/09 and 2012/13 
there was an average net delivery of only 302 dwellings per year.

Objection:
The development will spoil one of the last few remaining open green spaces in Middleton, 
will detract from the openness of the land and adjoining Green Belt in visual terms and will 
diminish the enjoyment of the countryside for recreational purposes through the removal and 
obstruction of existing bridleways and footpaths (including removing this benefit for future 
generations).  The development of this area of Protected Open Land would see the effective 
merging of Middleton and Heywood and an associated 12 mile long urban sprawl between 
Manchester and Bamford. The land has been left open for centuries and designated as 
Protected Open Land in order to avoid this, and to provide a green buffer between the two 
towns. The release of the land for housing would set a precedent allowing the development 
of additional, adjoining land in the future.

Officer Response:



The application has been supported by landscape and visual impact assessment which 
concludes that following mitigation there would be no over-riding harm to the character and 
appearance of the surrounding landscape. The Green Belt would be retained to the north, 
east and west of the application site. The purpose of the Green Belt is to prevent the sprawl 
of towns and stop settlements from merging into one another. The Green Belts purpose and 
importance in providing valuable open space, preventing the neighbouring settlements of 
Middleton and Heywood from merging would therefore be retained as a result of the 
proposed development. 

As discussed elsewhere in this report the proposed development would not obstruct public 
rights of way or significantly harm their integrity and therefore it is not considered that the 
proposal would diminish the enjoyment and recreational function of the countryside. The 
application as all applications will need to be determined on its merits, and as noted 
elsewhere in this report the Council has recently released greenfield sites for housing having 
lost appeals at Inquiry following refusal.

Objection:
The development would destroy existing flora and fauna on the site including ancient 
hedgerows, grasslands, ponds and other natural habitats for current species, many of which 
are protected (e.g. bats and great crested newts) and known to exist within the site. 

Officer Response:
The impact on nature conservation interests has been assessed in more detail in 
subsequent part of the report, and it is noted that the proposals have been accompanied by 
an ecological report and the scheme has been reviewed by Greater Manchester Ecology 
Unit (GMEU), Natural England the Councils Green infrastructure Officer who have raised no 
objections to the proposed development. The implications on the Hopwood Woods Nature 
Reserve and ancient woodland have been considered within this report and by GMEU who 
note that subject to appropriate native planting the development would not cause significant 
harm to this important nature conservation asset. Whilst it is noted that the proposed 
development would result in the loss of open fields on the urban fringe of Middleton, it is 
noted that the proposals include a large area of landscaped open space along the 
boundaries of the site that would incorporate replacement ponds, tree planting and 
landscaping. The proposal includes the retention of the hedgerows along the boundaries and 
within the site which act as wildlife corridors and it is noted that otherwise the fields comprise 
species poor semi-improved grassland. Subject to conditions securing biodiversity 
enhancements within the site and mitigation measures to minimise impacts on nesting birds, 
Great Crested Newts and bats, it is considered that there would be no over-riding harm to 
wildlife and nature conservation interests. 

Objection:
The proposed development would lead to a significant increase in traffic generation on the 
already busy thoroughfares of Langley Lane and Hollin Lane. This would include 
construction traffic during the course of development and additional vehicles associated with 
future occupiers of the houses. Both schemes propose 2 car parking spaces per dwelling, 
resulting in a minimum of 710 additional vehicles in the locality (355 x 2). There is insufficient 
capacity on surrounding streets and junctions to accommodate this increase in traffic and 
this would also be exacerbated through by the forthcoming construction of a new trunk road 
at junction 19 of the M62, located a short distance to the north of the site. Accordingly, the 
development would have a detrimental impact on road safety. Pedestrian safety is also of 
particular concern in this location given the site’s close proximity to St Anne’s Academy.

Officer Response:
The application has been accompanied by a Transport Assessment which has carried out a 
detailed appraisal of the traffic implications of the development along with proposals on 



adjacent sites. The report concludes that that having modelled traffic flows on the 
surrounding highway network and junctions that the surrounding network would still operate 
within its existing capacity when the proposed development on this site and also the 
adjacent sites would be in use and complete. This has been considered and independently 
assessed by the Highways Authority, Highways England and by TfGM who have all raised 
no objections to the proposed development subject to conditions securing more sustainable 
travel mode enhancements and off site highways works. A more detailed assessment of the 
traffic and highways safety implications of the proposals is set out in subsequent sections of 
the report. However, it is considered that whilst traffic levels will increase as a result of the 
proposals, the proposed development and that on nearby sites would not cause significant 
harm to the function and safety of the surrounding highway network. 

Objection:
The increase in traffic arising from the development, both during the anticipated seven year 
build regime and following the occupation of the houses, would result in an increase in 
airborne pollutants, which would have an adverse impact on air quality in the area and, 
accordingly, the health of surrounding residents. The length of time required to construct the 
development would also mean noise, disturbance, dust and traffic disruption throughout the 
build period, thereby creating a burden on the local community lasting for a number of years.

Officer Response:
In order to assess the implications of the proposed development on air quality, noise levels 
an Air Quality Assessment which includes an assessment of the impacts during construction 
have been submitted and assessed by the Council’s Environmental Health Department. The 
report concludes that subject to the implementation of a series of mitigation measures, the 
cumulative impacts of the proposed development alongside the development of nearby sites 
would not result in significant adverse impacts on air quality and noise levels. In order to 
secure the approval of an appropriate scheme of measures to prevent unacceptable harm to 
surrounding residents during the construction phase of the development a condition has 
been recommended to require approval of a construction method statement in line with the 
recommendations of the submitted report and comments of the Environmental Health 
Department.

Objection:
It is unclear whether the site can be adequately drained in order to prevent future flooding 
and whether the existing sewerage system has the capacity required to deal with the 
additional foul and surface water generated by the proposal. The water pressure in the area 
is already very low and is likely to be further impacted as a result of the development.

Officer Response:
The flood risk and drainage implications of the proposed development are considered in 
more detail elsewhere in this report. Nevertheless, the application has been accompanied by 
a flood risk assessment and outline drainage strategy which sets out the existing drainage 
and flood issues within the site. This concludes that the site is at no significant risk of 
flooding from a variety of sources and that to attenuate and manage surface water flows that 
a network of overground water storage and oversized pipes be provided to mimic the 
existing surface water flows of the greenfield site and that this be directed to an existing 
nearby watercourse in accordance with sustainable drainage objectives. It is noted that the 
Environment Agency, United Utilities and the Council as Lead Local Flood Authority have 
raised no objections subject to conditions restricting the method of foul and surface water 
drainage accordingly, and the submission and approval of a detailed foul and surface water 
drainage scheme within subsequent applications. In order to prevent surface water entering 
the combined foul sewer a condition has been included preventing surface water entering 
the foul sewer. It is therefore considered that there are sufficient measures in place to secure 
the approval and implementation of a foul and surface water drainage scheme that would not 



result in the increase in flood risk elsewhere. 

Objection:
The development is intended to provide executive homes and will result in Middleton 
becoming a commuter town for residents working in Manchester. This type of housing would 
not fall within the definition of social housing and the prices would put the houses out of the 
reach of local people.

Officer Response:
The application seeks outline permission for up to 205 dwellings and proposes a mix of 
single storey bungalows, and two and two and half storey dwellings providing a range of 2 to 
5 bedroom homes. The proposals therefore allow of a mix and variety of homes to be 
provided and which would be available to all on the open market. With regards to the 
provision of affordable housing within the proposed development, as the application is in 
outline and is subject to detailed design the exact number and type of affordable dwellings to 
be provided on site or contributions to be provided to affordable schemes off site are not 
known at this stage. The applicants have agreed to enter into a Legal Agreement to secure 
the provision of an affordable housing scheme in line with the Councils adopted Affordable 
Housing SPD and policy H/7 of the UDP which requires that on such developments that 
either affordable housing units be provided on site, or the associated value be provided to 
make provision for affordable housing elsewhere. 

Objection:
The addition of new homes on the site would put increased pressure on local schools and 
other public services (e.g. transport, GPs, dentists, utilities etc.) which are already stretched. 
The development is likely to add a further circa 300 children requiring new schools places. 
These are not presently capable of being provided in the area and the education system is 
already operating at/over capacity. The cost of this will be borne by the Council.

The development would also increase the potential for crime and disorder both during the 
construction period and once the houses are finished (e.g. through burglaries and 
trespassing onto a construction site). This would increase pressure on the already under-
resourced local police force.

Officer Response:
The concerns regarding residents on existing community resources, and health, education, 
transport services in the local area are noted and given the nature of the residential 
development it is acknowledged that there would be additional demand generated for these 
services by the proposals. In order to mitigate for this the Council has been undertaking 
negotiations with the applicant to secure the provision of measures to mitigate for this need. 
Indeed the application has been amended to take into account the need for education 
provision and allows for the potential of land within the site for a primary school. Whilst, this 
is discussed in more detail elsewhere in this report, the applicant has agreed to enter into a 
legal agreement to secure the payment of financial contributions to provide for the additional 
school places generated by the proposed development to be spent within the Middleton 
Township. As noted elsewhere the provision of community use space within the site as a 
nursery has been removed from the scheme as there is considered to be limited demand for 
such a facility within the local area.

In terms of local transport, the applicants have also agreed to enter into a legal agreement to 
secure financial contributions towards the provision of additional bus stops and new and 
improved cycle lanes within the vicinity of the site. 

With regards to the security of the site during the construction of the development, it is noted 
that in order to meet health and safety legislation the site contractors and developers will be 



need to provide a series of site safety measures including providing for site security. In order 
to ensure there would be adequate measures in place during construction to safeguard 
safety on and off site, a condition has been recommended requiring the submission and 
approval of a construction method statement. Overall, it is not considered that the proposed 
development would give rise to significant risk of increased crime and anti-social behaviour.

Objection:
The proposed community facility (which has been mentioned for a range of possible uses 
including a community centre, convenience store or a pub) is not required in the area. Such 
a facility would cause additional traffic issues in this busy location and increased parking 
pressures. There are already a number of shops and pubs available in the locality which 
would be adversely affected by the proposed community use.

Officer Response:
It is noted that as part of the application process and following comments received by the 
surrounding community and the Council, the application has been amended to remove the 
proposed community use from the outline scheme as it was no longer considered necessary. 
Whilst this element of the scheme has been removed, the overall number of dwellings to be 
provided has not increased and remains up to 205 dwellings.   

Objection:
The developer suggests that the scheme will create new construction jobs for local people in 
the area. However, it is common practice for developers to use their own 
contractors/workforce in such circumstances and, accordingly, this should not be considered 
as an advantage of the development. In addition, the loss of the land would result in the 
closure of existing stables on the site and an associated loss of employment for local 
residents. The development is also likely to result in a reduction in houses prices for 
surrounding occupiers.

Officer Response:
The impact on the existing stables from the nearby development off Langley Lane is 
considered in regard to the respective application. Nevertheless, the implications on 
employment is a material consideration and it is noted that the development would require 
the loss of the available agricultural land. The construction of the development would itself 
generate a significant amount of jobs from the construction itself, and jobs created in the 
associated supply chain, in addition to the business and additional jobs created by increased 
spend within the local economy and services by the future residents in the long-term.  In 
order to allow for the use of local labour during the construction of the proposed 
development the applicants have agreed to provide for a local employment scheme which it 
is proposed to be secured by way of a condition on the grant of permission. With regards to 
the impact of the proposed development on surrounding house values, it is noted that this is 
not a material planning consideration and therefore it is not possible to consider the 
implications of this further.

Objection:
There is considerable local opposition to the development. The Council should support the 
views of its residents and refuse the application on the basis of this opposition and the force 
of public opinion.

Officer Response:
The concerns and objections raised by surrounding residents are appreciated and 
understood and are fully considered in the determination of this application. As also set out 
elsewhere in this report the Local Planning Authority has to determine the planning 
application in accordance with the policies of the development plan unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise. Indeed as set out below this is a requirement set out in 



planning law governing the decision making of planning applications. The starting point is 
therefore the development plan, however the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) is 
an important material consideration as are those material planning considerations discussed 
above and raised by objectors.  

ANALYSIS

Scope of the Planning Application

This application seeks outline planning permission for the development of the site to provide 
up to 205 houses with associated landscaping, open space, access arrangements and car 
parking. These proposals are in outline with only approval being sought at this time for 
access, and therefore further reserved matters applications would be necessary to deal with 
the matters of design and appearance, the scale, layout and landscaping of the proposed 
development. Each of these matters is defined in the Town and Country Planning 
(Development Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015 as follows:

Access – the accessibility to and within the site, for vehicles, cycles and pedestrians in terms 
of the positioning and treatment of access and circulation routes and how these fit into the 
surrounding access network.

Appearance – the aspects of a building or place within the development which determine the 
visual impression the building or place makes, including the external built form of the 
development, its architecture, materials, decoration, lighting, colour and texture.

Landscaping – the treatment of land (other than buildings) for the purpose of enhancing or 
protecting the amenities of the site and the area in which it is situated and includes—
(a) screening by fences, walls or other means;
(b) the planting of trees, hedges, shrubs or grass;
(c) the formation of banks, terraces or other earthworks;
(d) the laying out or provision of gardens, courts, squares, water features, sculpture or public 
art; and
(e) the provision of other amenity features;

Layout – the way in which buildings, routes and open spaces within the development are 
provided, situated and orientated in relation to each other and to buildings and spaces 
outside the development.

Scale – the height, width and length of each building proposed within the development in 
relation to its surroundings.

This application is being considered at the same time as planning application 14/00851/OUT 
for a development of up to 150 dwellings and a potential primary school on a site to the north 
of Langley Lane and also planning application 15/00358/OUT for up to 88 dwellings on the 
western side of Hollin Lane.  Whilst assessment needs to be undertaken of their cumulative 
impacts when assessing each application, they are entirely separate applications and 
therefore fall to be considered on their respective merits.  

Background to the Site and Its Allocation as Protected Open Land

It is important to set out the background to the designation of the Protected Open Land, 
particularly given that over the years, there have been conflicting pressures in respect of the 
Protected Open Land in this area to (a) have it included within the Green Belt and (b) for it to 
be allocated for development.  



Greater Manchester Green Belt Local Plan

The 1984 Greater Manchester Green Belt Local Plan (GMGBLP) shows that the land was 
not included within the Green Belt and formed part of a wider area of open land to the north 
and west of Middleton.  The reasons for this land not being included within the Green Belt 
are not known but it is noted that large areas of undeveloped open land around the urban 
areas of Greater Manchester were left out of the Green Belt at that time to ensure the 
permanence of the Green Belt by not making it overly restrictive in terms of meeting the 
future development needs of the existing built up area. This buffer land has been similarly 
designated as either Protected Open Land or Safeguarded Land within the local plans of 
other Greater Manchester Districts.  

In the case of the wider designation of land to the north of Middleton, some release of 
Protected Open Land has previously been permitted as a result of development needs at 
that time. It is noted that land was released for residential development to the south of 
Langley Lane (former Bishop Marshall school site) in the late 1980’s and land to the south of 
the current St. Anne’s Academy in the 1990’s. It is also noted land was released for 
development in the 1980’s to allow for an expansion of Stakehill Business Park.

The Greater Manchester Green Belt has not been reviewed since 1984 despite a 
commitment being made in the then regional planning guidance of 2003 to review the 
boundaries of the Green Belt in 2011.  

1999 Unitary Development Plan (UDP)

The former UDP adopted in 1999 reaffirmed the Green Belt as set out within the 1984 
GMGBLP with some minor exclusions.  This again showed that the land at Langley Lane 
and Hollin Lane was not within the Green Belt.  This UDP introduced an Open Land 
Protection policy (Policy C/9) for land between the Defined Urban Area (DUA) and the Green 
Belt.  Since the land in question falls between the DUA and the Green Belt then this policy 
was relevant to this site.  Policy C/9 of the 1999 UDP was as follows:

On land between the Green Belt and the Defined Urban Area, or between the Green Belt 
and the Borough boundary, other than land allocated for development, the Council will 
normally grant planning permission only for development which would be permissible if the 
land were in Green Belt, or for development:-
(a) Which would be acceptable on agricultural land by virtue of Policies C/1 and C/2;
(b) Which would not detract from the visual amenity and environment of open land in 
general and especially adjacent Green Belt; 
(c) For recreational uses, including ancillary buildings required in connection with an 
outdoor facility, subject to the provisions of countryside recreation policies, especially Policy 
R/27; and
(d) Comprising an extension to, the conversion, re-use or replacement of:-

(i) an existing dwelling;
(ii) a building in connection with an existing source of employment; or
(iii) an agricultural building

provided that it is of an appropriate scale and will not cause any significant adverse impact 
on the immediate locality, its amenities and the open character of its surroundings.

(For the avoidance of doubt, the construction of new dwellings and new buildings in 
connection with a new industrial or commercial use will not normally be permitted.)

Land outside the Defined Urban Area which is likely to be suitable and required to meet 
development needs in the years immediately following the end-date of the present Plan will 



be safeguarded for that purpose and is indicated on the Proposals Map.  It is subject to all 
the provisions of this Policy during the currency of the Plan.

At the Inquiry into the 1999 UDP, representations were submitted seeking the inclusion of 
both the Hollin Lane and Langley Lane sites within the Green Belt.  In considering these 
requests the Inspector considered two criteria in relation to including land within the Green 
Belt: (1) that Green Belts should not include land which it is unnecessary to keep 
permanently open, and (2) that the boundary around an existing built up area should not be 
drawn so tightly that it becomes impossible to make proper provision for necessary 
development in the future.  The Inspector concluded that the addition of these sites to the 
Green Belt was not justified. 

Although the Inspector considered that the land should not be included in the Green Belt, 
neither was he convinced that the land should be released for housing or employment 
development at that time, despite representations received in respect of the land north of 
Langley Lane.  On this matter, he concluded that the land should remain as Protected Open 
Land. 

2006 Unitary Development Plan (UDP)

The UDP adopted in 2006 did not change the designation of the land off Langley Lane and 
Hollin Lane, in that it remained land between the urban area and the Green Belt.  The only 
slight change was that the term for such land changed to Protected Open Land (as opposed 
to Open Land Protection) and the wording of the related policy (D/10) was simplified to the 
following:

Within the areas of Protected Open Land defined on the Proposals Map, development 
proposals will be permitted that fall within one or more of the following categories: 

a) development which would be acceptable were it in the Green Belt; or
b) limited infilling within an established pocket of housing or industry where this is in 

scale with the area and will not adversely affect its character or surroundings; or
c) a limited extension to an existing building which:
(i) forms part of an existing source of employment; or
(ii) is necessary for the establishment of a new enterprise or business which satisfies 

other policies of the Plan; and
(iii)  is sited within the existing curtilage of the business concerned, and will not 

adversely affect the character of the surrounding land and its openness.

Where new buildings are permitted, they should be sited to form a group with existing 
buildings.  Where this is not possible, buildings, car parking areas and other new structures, 
should be sited where they will be well screened and unobtrusive in the landscape.  All 
buildings and extensions should be of a high standard of design, using materials that are 
compatible with the landscape, and should not detract from the visual amenity and 
environment of adjacent Green Belt.

As with the 1999 UDP objections were received seeking the inclusion of the application sites 
within the Green Belt and seeking the release of the land for development.

In terms of including the land within the Green Belt, the Inspector concluded that given the 
size of the site any move to include it within the Green Belt should be part of a wider review 
of Green Belts within Greater Manchester. At that time Regional Planning Guidance 
indicated that such a review was not necessary. He added that, considering national and 
regional guidance, the objectors had not established the exceptional circumstances sufficient 



for him to recommend a modification to include the land within the Green Belt.   

In terms of considering whether the land should be released for development, the Inspector 
did not deal with this site specifically but it was included in his general view that a review of 
the approach to identifying sites for additional housing should be carried out.  As part of this 
wider assessment all the omission sites should be considered to determine an appropriate 
number of residential allocations. This proposed modification to the plan was not taken 
forward as it was considered that sufficient land would come forward to the meet the 
relatively low housing target for the Borough as set out in regional guidance at that time. 

The extent of the Green Belt to the north of the site has been reviewed by Inspectors during 
the examination of the previous Unitary Development Plan dated 1999 and the examination 
of the Green Belt Local Plan dated 1984.  At the Inquiry into the 1999 UDP, the Inspector 
considered requests to include both the Hollin Lane and Langley Lane sites in the Green 
Belt. The Inspector concluded that: Green Belts should not include land that it is 
unnecessary to keep permanently open; and the boundary around an existing built up area 
should not be drawn so tightly that it becomes impossible to make proper provision for 
necessary development in the future.  The Inspector ultimately concluded that the addition of 
the Protected Open Land into the Green Belt was not justified.  

It is clear from this that the land the subject of the Protected Open Land designation was not 
intended to remain permanently open, but instead was to be safeguarded to accommodate 
future development needs beyond the period of the 1984 Green Belt Local Plan and the 
1999 Unitary Development Plan.  The Protected Open Land designation was subsequently 
carried forward into the 2006 UDP.  

Principle of Development

The NPPF and Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development

Planning law requires applications to be determined in accordance with the development 
plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. The National Planning Policy 
Framework (NPPF) published in 2012 is one such material consideration and whilst it does 
not change the legal status of the development plan, it promotes a presumption in favour of 
sustainable development, to which there are three mutually dependent dimensions: 
economic, social and environmental.  

Paragraph 9 of the NPPF states that pursuing sustainable development involves seeking 
positive improvements in the quality of the built, natural and historic environment, as well as 
in people’s quality of life, including (but not limited to):

 making it easier for jobs to be created in cities, towns and villages;
 moving from a net loss of bio-diversity to achieving net gains for nature;
 replacing poor design with better design;
 improving the conditions in which people live, work, travel and take leisure; and
 widening the choice of high quality homes. 

Key to its economic dimension is the contribution to building a strong, responsive and 
competitive economy, by ensuring that sufficient land of the right type is available in the right 
places and at the right time to support growth and innovation; and by identifying and 
coordinating development requirements, including the provision of infrastructure.

The social dimension requires supporting strong, vibrant and healthy communities, by 
providing the supply of housing required to meet the needs of present and future 



generations; and by creating a high quality built environment, with accessible local services 
that reflect the community’s needs and support its health, social and cultural well-being.

Finally, the environmental dimension requires that development contributes to protecting and 
enhancing our natural, built and historic environment; and, as part of this, helping to improve 
biodiversity, use natural resources prudently, minimise waste and pollution, and mitigate and 
adapt to climate change including moving to a low carbon economy.

Paragraph 14 of the NPPF states that for plan-making, the presumption in favour of 
sustainable development means that local planning authorities should positively seek 
opportunities to meet the development needs of their area; and Local Plans should meet 
objectively assessed needs, with sufficient flexibility to adapt to rapid change unless any 
adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits, 
when assessed against the policies in this Framework taken as a whole; or specific policies 
in the NPPF indicate development should be restricted.  

Paragraph 14 of the NPPF goes on to state that for decision-taking, the presumption in 
favour of sustainable development means: 
 Approving development proposals that accord with the development plan without 

delay, and
 Where the development plan is silent, or relevant policies are out-of-date, granting 

planning permission unless: 
 Any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably 

outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in the Framework 
taken as a whole; or 

 Specific policies in the framework indicate development should be restricted. 

In the context of the above, the site is designated as Protected Open Land in the 2006 UDP 
Proposals Map and the proposal therefore represents a departure from the development 
plan, specifically Policy D/10. The second bullet is therefore relevant and requires an 
assessment of the relevant policies in the development plan to determine whether or not 
they are out-of-date.  

Whilst the NPPF was published in 2012, paragraph 211 of the NPPF makes it clear that for 
the purpose of decision-taking, the policies in the Local Plan should not be considered out-
of-date simply because they were adopted prior to the publication of the Framework. Rather, 
due weight should be given to relevant policies in existing plans according to their degree of 
consistency with the framework - the closer the policies in the development plan to the 
policies in the framework, the greater the weight they may be afforded in decision making.  

The relevant policies in this case are Policy H/3 (residential development outside allocated 
areas), Policy H5 (Residential Density) and Policy D/10 (protected open land) of the UDP. 
Policy H/5 of the UDP requires residential development to achieve a density of between 30-
50 dwellings per hectare. Minimum density requirements have been removed from national 
guidance and this policy is therefore significantly out-of-date and can be afforded no weight 
in the determination of this application.

In respect of Policies H/3 and D/10, there are two recent appeal cases of relevance which 
followed the refusal of planning permission for proposed residential development on 
Protected Open Land in the Borough.  These are considered further in the subsequent 
section of this report. 

Release of Protected Open Land in 2013



In allowing two recent appeal decisions relating to the development of Protected Open Land 
at Keswick Street, Castleton (ref APP/P4225/A/11/2158074) and Broad Lane, Rochdale (ref 
APP/P4225/A/12/2184755), Inspectors have concluded as follows: 

• The relevant saved policies of the UDP, including both D/10 and H/3, which seek to 
prevent the release of greenfield sites in the presence of a five year land supply, 
have been overtaken by events and the national policy emphasis on delivery of 
housing, and are therefore effectively out-of-date.

• The Council acknowledges that it is unable to demonstrate a 5 year supply of 
housing land. The proposed development would assist in meeting an identified need 
for market and affordable housing in the area. In accordance with the Framework this 
weighs substantially in favour of the proposal.

• The proposition that a 20% buffer is warranted in Rochdale at present and that the 
land supply is perhaps as low as around 3 years, but around 3.66 years if the 
accrued shortfall is spread over the balance of the RSS period to 2021, was clearly 
not challenged by the Council at the Inquiry and it accepts in any event, that it cannot 
demonstrate a five year supply.

• Given that it is common ground between the Council and the appellants that the five 
year supply requirement is not currently met, and the development plan is manifestly 
out-of-date in terms of housing land, paragraph 14 of the Framework is undoubtedly 
engaged.

Notwithstanding the fact that Policy H/3 permits the development of greenfield sites when 
the supply of land available for residential development falls below five years, Policies D/10 
and H/3, which seek to prevent the release of greenfield sites in the presence of a five year 
land supply, have been overtaken by events and the national policy emphasis on delivery of 
housing and are therefore patently out-of-date.

Where policies are out-of-date, the NPPF directs that planning permission should be granted 
unless any adverse impacts significantly and demonstrably (emphasis added) outweigh the 
benefits, when assessed against the NPPF as a whole; or unless specific policies indicate 
development should be restricted.  It is noted that the site is not subject to any of the 
designations listed in the NPPF that would indicate development should be restricted. 
Therefore, an assessment of the adverse impacts and benefits is necessary to determine 
whether the proposal comprises sustainable development as defined by the NPPF.  

Material Change in Circumstances

Since the Inspectors decisions concerning the release of Protected Open Land at Broad 
Lane and Keswick Street, there have been material changes in circumstances of relevance 
to this application: the submission of the Core Strategy for Examination in May 2013; the 
subsequent suspension of the examination following the Inspector’s direction that an update 
to the evidence base was necessary; and the updated evidence base itself.  This is 
considered in further detail below.

Emerging Core Strategy and Land Supply

Paragraph 216 of the NPPF recognises that from the date of publication, decision-takers 
may also give weight to relevant policies in emerging plans according to: the stage of 
preparation of the emerging plan; the extent to which there are unresolved objections to 
relevant policies (the less significant the unresolved objections, the greater the weight that 
may be given); and the degree of consistency of the relevant policies in the emerging plan to 
the policies in the NPPF (the closer the policies in the emerging plan to the policies in the 
Framework, the greater the weight that may be given).  

The Core Strategy was submitted for examination in May 2013.  An independent Inspector 



was appointed to hold the examination and the examination in public hearing sessions took 
place in October 2013. Following the initial hearing sessions, and in view of more recent 
evidence emerging from the 2011 census indicating higher than projected population growth 
and household formation rates, the Inspector sent a letter to the Council in November 2013 
which set out his views in respect of the approach to housing.  His concerns related to the 
evidence regarding objectively assessed housing need supporting the target set out in the 
submitted Core Strategy. 

In order to address this issue, the Inspector directed that an update of the Council’s Strategic 
Housing Market Assessment (SHMA) was required and that the examination should be 
suspended in order for the updated SHMA and any associated work to be undertaken.  The 
Council agreed to suspend the Core Strategy at a Cabinet meeting in February 2014 to 
update the housing evidence.  

Following consultation on a draft SHMA in October 2014, the updated SHMA was finalised in 
February 2015 and the Core Strategy examination was recently reconvened in June 2015 to 
consider the updated housing needs evidence. The Inspector’s report and recommendations 
are currently awaited. 

The SHMA proposes that a figure of 460 dwellings per annum (dpa) would be an appropriate 
annual housing target reflecting current evidence on objectively assessed housing need, 
taking account levels of population and household growth emerging from the 2011 Census 
data.  It is important at this point however to clarify that the SHMA considers a range of need 
between 460 dpa up to 750 dpa based on various growth scenarios and it is for the Inspector 
to determine the appropriate housing target.  Until the Inspector issues the final report, the 
Council does not have a tested housing target for the plan period that would determine the 
number of dwellings to be delivered per annum and any emerging housing target, whether it 
be 460 or otherwise would therefore have limited weight at this time.   However, it is however 
clear that in light of this most recent evidence of housing need that the UDP policy 
requirement for 240 new homes per annum is out of date.  

In determining whether or not a five year land supply can be demonstrated, it is necessary to 
consider the availability of land for housing against the latest tested housing target.  Recent 
appeal decisions have taken what is referred to as the recalculated Regional Spatial 
Strategy (RSS) target into account.  The RSS dates back to 2003 and whilst the RSS was 
revoked in May 2013, the evidence base supporting the document remains relevant.  The 
RSS target for the Borough was 400dpa and the recalculated element refers to ‘unmet need’ 
arising as a result of completion rates per annum falling below this target since 2003.  

In considering housing land supply housing targets, the NPPF requires that a buffer of 5% 
be included in order to ensure that any target continues to be met. This would typically be 
land brought forward in the plan period to provide choice and competition in the market for 
land. However, this approach would not apply here. In circumstances where there has been 
a record of persistent under delivery of new housing, the NPPF makes clear that this buffer 
should be increased to 20% brought forward in the plan period. In Rochdale Borough’s case, 
housing completions in recent years, and taken as a whole since 2003, are well below the 
previous target of 400 dpa set out in Regional Spatial Strategy (RSS) largely as a result of 
the major demolition programmes within the former Housing Market Renewal areas, which 
applied from 2003.

Therefore, in considering the current five year land supply since the publication of the NPPF, 
Planning Inspectors on recent appeals have taken the view that a 20% buffer should be 
applied in assessing whether or not a five year supply can be demonstrated within the 
Borough.  This is the approach taken by Planning Inspectors in determining recent appeals 
in the Borough relating to the development of Protected Open Land at Broad Lane and 



Keswick Street and designated green space for housing elsewhere within the Borough.  

If the recalcuated RSS target is to be met by 2021 (i.e. the end of the RSS period) this would 
give an annual target of 621 dwellings per annum (as at 1st April 2015).  This figure could be 
met from the current published five year supply (i.e. as at 1st April 2015) with the 5% supply 
buffer but cannot be met with the application of the 20% buffer.  

Housing Delivery Rates

Notwithstanding the above, looking at the housing target alone also ignores the particular 
issues faced within the Borough in terms of the delivery of new homes, and the recent 
background of clearance and demolition of housing as part of the Housing Market Renewal 
pathfinder programme. Indeed, between 2003/4 and 2009/10 a total of 1,334 dwellings were 
demolished across the Borough. As a result, during the period between 2008/09 and 
2012/13 there was an average net delivery of only 302 dwellings per year, thus well below 
the RSS target and significantly below the recalculated target.  Following the submission of 
the Core Strategy for examination, the rate of housing completions across the Borough has 
been below that set out within the RSS with a total of net completions of 267 in 2013/14 and 
313 for 2014/15, thus below both the original RSS requirement and the recalculated 
requirement.  

The Core Strategy seeks to manage the supply of land between the period of 2013 until 
2028 and now proposes a higher housing requirement to respond to more recent evidence 
of population growth and household formation rates.  As of 1st April 2015, it must be 
therefore recognised that, were the Inspector to accept that an appropriate annual housing 
target for the Borough is 460, the Council would already be facing a shortfall of 340 housing 
completions against this target for the first two years of the Core Strategy period.  It is 
therefore concluded that the 20% buffer as advocated within the NPPF and accepted by the 
Inspectors as being relevant for the Borough in 2013 at the Broad Lane and Keswick Street 
appeals would similarly apply at the present time..  

Going forward, the Borough will face an ongoing and challenging pressure in terms of the 
delivery of new housing against any plan target given a significant number of dwellings are 
proposed to be demolished over the next few years as part of the continued regeneration of 
existing housing areas.  The demolitions would need to be offset by an increase in new 
housing completions in order to avoid a further shortfall in new housing delivery.  

To meet targets going forward will require a significant uplift in the current rate of delivery of 
new housing and a deliverable supply of housing sites attractive to the market will be needed 
to ensure acceleration in the rates of housing delivery can be maintained to ensure housing 
needs are met over the Core Strategy plan period.  . The Inspector, in considering the 
soundness of the Core Strategy, may therefore instruct that unmet need is moved forward 
and dealt earlier in the plan period.     

Irrespective of the uncertainty surrounding the appropriate housing target, it is clear that the 
housing policies and targets within the adopted UDP are out-of-date. In such cases, 
paragraph 14 of the NPPF very clearly directs that the ‘presumption in favour of sustainable 
development’ means planning permission should be granted unless the adverse impact of 
doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits (emphasis added) 
when assessed against the Framework as a whole; or where specific policies indicate 
development should be restricted.  

The submitted Core Strategy includes policy G5, Managing Protected Open Land, which is 
relevant to the application site. This policy seeks to retain the general protection of land 
between the Defined Urban Area and the Green Belt.  However, section 3 of the policy 



acknowledges that if there is evidence development needs cannot be met elsewhere then 
the development of protected open land may be acceptable provided that all of the criteria 
within the section are satisfied.  This has been incorporated in order to provide flexibility and 
seeks to reflect the guidance within NPPF that recommends that policies included in Local 
Plans are sufficiently flexible and responsive to deal any changes to development needs 
over the plan period.  Again, at the current time it is not clear whether this policy will be 
carried forward without modification given the Core Strategy must meet objectively assessed 
housing need for the purpose of soundness.  

Whilst the Core Strategy has not yet been adopted and the policies within it carry limited 
weight at this time, it nevertheless sets out the approach to assessing applications for 
housing developments within such locations and accordingly reflects the approach within the 
NPPF in providing a more flexible and responsive approach to dealing with changes to 
development needs over the plan period.  However, the Core Strategy covers a period 
between 2013 up to 2028. As reported previously, consistent undersupply against the 
housing target in the Core Strategy, particularly in the early years of the plan period, would 
further exacerbate the undersupply of housing in the Borough and would prejudice the 
delivery of the Core Strategy in the plan period. It would also be contrary to the NPPF 
requirement to boost significantly the supply of housing. The Inspector may therefore instruct 
that unmet need is moved forward and dealt earlier in the plan period.     

With regards to the golden thread of sustainable development running through the NPPF, it 
is noted that the site is located adjacent to a frequent bus service along Hollin Lane to the 
west of the site. This route provides 3 services into Middleton Town Centre, Bury and 
Manchester with a frequency of a service every 10 minutes during the day provided on one 
of these services. The site is immediately adjacent to a secondary school, and it is noted that 
there are a number of primary schools within a 20 minute walking distance from the site. 
With regards to other local facilities, three small retail and commercial units are located at 
the junction of Hollin Lane and Langley Lane, and a public house and further small 
convenience shop are located within walking distance further along Hollin Lane to the south 
of the site. A wide variety of employment, leisure, retail, health and other community facilities 
and amenities located within Middleton and Heywood, accessible within short bus journey 
times of 10 minutes, with the regional centre of Manchester located approximately a 30 
minute journey. Having regard to the above, the application site is considered to be within a 
sustainable location for the purposes of the NPPF. 

It is noted that the number of dwellings proposed would make a significant and valuable 
contribution towards the supply of housing within the Borough.  In the context of the above, 
significant weight is afforded to the benefits of the proposal in respect of its contribution to 
the supply of housing in the Borough.  

Impact on Availability of High Quality Agricultural Land

Paragraph 112 of the NPPF states that local planning authorities should take into account 
the economic and other benefits of the best and most versatile agricultural land. Where 
significant development of agricultural land is demonstrated to be necessary, local planning 
authorities should seek to use areas of poorer quality land in preference to that of a higher 
quality. Best and most versatile agricultural land is classified as grade 3A, 2 and 1.  Land of 
lesser quality is classified as grade 3B, 4 and 5.  

It is noted that the proposed development would take up approximately 10.8 Ha of 
agricultural land most recently been left over for pasture and grazing purposes. A survey has 



been undertaken by the applicant which has concluded that due to the soil quality and 
climatic considerations the land would constitute grade 3A (good quality) in its northern half 
and grade 3B (moderate quality) in the southern half of the site. The land within the 
application site does therefore include some of the best and most versatile agricultural land 
(3A and above) which comprises approximately 53% of the application site.  

Whilst it is noted that part of the site would utilise agricultural land classed as of good quality 
Grade 3A, it is noted that from the submitted evidence that the land being subdivided by 
Stott Lane, the small size of the field and limited presence of arable agriculture and 
associated infrastructure in the vicinity of the site, it would be unlikely to produce high or 
moderate yields and for a wide range of arable and cereal crops. Given the above, it is not 
considered that the proposals would have a significant detrimental impact on the availability 
of agricultural land in the surrounding area and in any event, is necessary to secure the 
provision of housing.  The proposal therefore accords with the NPPF.  

Impact on Mineral and Coal Interests

With regards to mineral interests policy 8 of the Greater Manchester Minerals Plan states 
that proposals for non-mineral development within the Mineral Safeguarding Areas that do 
not allow for the prior extraction of minerals will only be permitted where:

1. The need for the development outweighs the need to extract the mineral; or
2. It can be clearly demonstrated that it is not environmentally acceptable or 

economically viable to extract the mineral prior to non-mineral development taking 
place; or

3. It can be clearly demonstrated that the mineral is either not present or of no 
economic value or too deep to extract in relation to the proposed development; or;

4. The development is limited or temporary and would not prevent minerals extraction 
taking place in the future.

The application site forms part of an allocated Mineral Safeguarding Areas for Coal and 
Brick Clay within the Greater Manchester (GM) Minerals Plan. The proposed development 
would not allow for the prior extraction of minerals from the site and as a result would 
sterilise any clay or brick reserves which may exist below the site. 

The applicant has submitted a Mineral Assessment report which concludes that the need for 
the development would outweigh the need for prior extraction of the minerals. In addition, 
that report concludes that due to the depth of the coal and brick clay reserves requiring prior 
extraction, and that as a result of the need to provide sufficient buffers to adjacent sensitive 
land uses, insufficient amount of reserves could be extracted to make the process viable.

Comments have been received from the Greater Manchester Minerals and Waste Planning 
Unit and whilst they do not accept that prior extraction would not be unviable and impossible, 
it is noted that they do consider the need for the proposals in the absence of a five year 
supply would outweigh the need for extraction of the brick and clay minerals and have raised 
no objections to the proposal if this is the case. 

In this instance in the absence of an adopted Core Strategy and confirmed and tested 
housing land supply, it is noted that the residential development would need to be assessed 
with regard to the presumption in favour of sustainable development and the objective of 
boosting housing provision set out in the NPPF. As a result, it is considered that the need for 
the proposed development to form up to 205 houses would outweigh the need for mineral 
extraction. With regard to the above, it is also noted that the Coal Authority have raised no 
objections and consider that the requirements of policy 8 have been addressed through the 
appropriate consideration of prior extraction undertaken within the submitted mineral 



assessment. Therefore, having regard to the above, it is considered that the proposed 
scheme would accord with policy 8 of the GM Minerals Plan.

With respect to the presence of former coal mine entries, it is noted that the Coal Authority 
have advised that whilst there are no shallow recorded coal mine workings within the 
development site, there is the potential for unrecorded coal mining features to be present 
within the site and surrounding area. The Coal Authority have subsequently raised no 
objections to the proposed development but have recommended the inclusion of an 
informative should permission be granted reflecting the sites location within a  coal mining 
area, and which has been included in the recommendation accordingly. Having regard to the 
above, it is considered that the proposed scheme would provide for a safe environment for 
future residents, users and occupants of the development in accordance with policy 
objectives within the Council’s LDF Core Strategy.

Education Provision

Paragraph 72 of the NPPF states:

“The Government attaches great importance to ensuring that a sufficient choice of school 
places is available to meet the needs of existing and new communities. Local planning 
authorities should take a proactive, positive and collaborative approach to meeting this 
requirement, and to development that will widen choice in education. They should:

 give great weight to the need to create, expand or alter schools; and
 work with schools promoters to identify and resolve key planning issues 

before applications are submitted.

Policies C7 and DM2 of the emerging Core Strategy require that residential developments 
provide for social infrastructure including education facilities to meet the demand for 
additional school places created by such developments.  Whilst the weight that can be 
afforded to the Core Strategy policies is limited, the proposed residential development would 
generate additional demand for primary and secondary school places within the local area.  
In accordance with the NPPF, the impact of the development on education provision should 
be mitigated. 

The Council’s Schools Service notes that the existing primary and secondary schools within 
the local area are at capacity and have evidenced immediate and future need for additional 
places to be provided within the township of Middleton. The Schools Service has 
subsequently requested that the proposed development mitigates for this additional demand 
for education places by providing financial contributions to be utilised towards providing 
additional education facilities at Primary and Secondary Schools within the local area. It is 
considered that the provision of such additional education places and facilities would be 
necessary in order to provide for sustainable communities and achieve the golden thread of 
sustainable development running through the NPPF. 

Accordingly, the applicants have agreed to enter into a section 106 agreement to provide 
financial contributions towards the provision of primary and secondary school places off-site. 
The basis for calculating the scale of financial contributions towards providing for primary 
and secondary education places has through these discussions been agreed with the 
Council as Education Authority. A more detailed breakdown of the calculation of the 
necessary financial contributions towards mitigating for the education need generated by the 
proposed development is discussed in the planning obligations section of this report.  

Impact on Character of Surrounding Area and Landscape

Section 11 of the NPPF sets a wide context to conserving and enhancing the natural 



environment and requires that valued landscapes are protected and enhanced and requires 
that the level of protection is commensurate with the status and importance of landscapes. 

Policy G/BE/1 of the UDP states that new development (both buildings and their settings) will 
be required to contribute to the provision of an attractive, safe and accessible built 
environment, and in particular contribute to the quality of the townscape and landscape, and 
accord with the best of its surroundings. developments that engender local distinctiveness 
will be encouraged.

Policy BE/2 further requires that development be compatible with or improve their 
surroundings and to enhance or create views, landmarks and other townscape features 
which make a material contribution to the character of the area.

Policy G/NE/5 of the UDP specifically states that in considering the impact of development 
proposals, special emphasis will be placed on the effect of development on the visual and 
cultural character of the landscape and features of acknowledged cultural, natural and 
historic significance.

Policy NE/6 of the UDP goes on to states that: 

“Development will be permitted where it conserves the physical and cultural attributes of the
landscape and contributes, as appropriate, to the regeneration, restoration, enhancement or
maintenance of the landscape likely to be affected. Proposals with potential landscape and 
visual implications will be assessed having regard to the extent to which they would:

a) Make a positive contribution to the visual amenity of the area (including views into 
and from the site and surrounding area);

b) Remove incongruous landscape features;
c)  Assist the conservation of:

(i) Landscape elements that contribute to local distinctiveness;
(ii) Historic elements which make a significant contribution (individually or 

cumulatively) to landscape character and quality (e.g., field, settlement or road 
patterns, existing buildings, sites and features of archaeological interest);

(iii) Semi-natural vegetation which is characteristic to the landscape type;
(iv) The visual condition of landscape elements; and
(v) Tranquillity and the amenity and informal recreation value of the landscape.

Development which adversely affects the character or physical structure of the landscape or 
which would detract from the physical record of the historic and cultural evolution of an area 
will not be permitted.”

Development which adversely affects the character or physical structure of the landscape or 
which would detract from the physical record of the historic and cultural evolution of an area 
will not be permitted.”

With regards to the character of the wider area the site sits within the Manchester Pennine 
Fringe national character area (no. 54) which sits between the Southern Pennines to the 
north and Manchester Conurbation to the south. This area includes the towns of Bury 
Rochdale and Oldham and is described as a transitional zone between elevated, open 
moorlands and densely populated urban areas on lower ground. The landform is described 
as a transition from upland to lowland with smooth shoulders of land divided by steep-sided 
valleys, and with vantage points provided on elevated areas providing views across Greater 
Manchester. This notes that much of the countryside has been influenced by recreational 
use of adjacent urban areas and diversification of farmland resulting in a distinct urban fringe 
character.



The site sits immediately to the north of the urban area of Middleton, with open fields to the 
north leading to the M62 motorway corridor, and the urban area of Heywood beyond. The 
application site sits within an undulating topography of open fields separated by hedgerows 
with small farm complexes interspersed and set within open fields. The site is located within 
what is characterised as settled farmlands within the Landscape Character Areas defined in 
policy NE/6 of the UDP. This notes that these areas are of more domesticated farmscape 
with occasional small settlements on lower slopes and valley edges; improved grasslands 
used for cattle, sheep and horse grazing, with a varied mix of open land uses including 
farming, equestrian, outdoor sports and managed areas of countryside.

The applicants have submitted a Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment in support of the 
application.  This provides a detailed assessment of the impact of the proposed development 
on the landscape and visual amenity of the surrounding area both during construction and 
throughout the lifetime of the development. From this, it is noted that the proposed 
development would result in temporary moderate adverse landscape impacts during 
construction of the development from the public rights of way, Hollin Lane and properties at 
St Anne’s Academy, Oaken Bank Road, Winwood Fold, Roethorn Close and at Hatters 
Cottage. 

However, once the development was complete and landscaping and planting implemented, 
it is noted that there would be no significant visual impacts and harm caused to the 
landscape character of the surrounding area, or on landscape features including hedgerows, 
trees. The proposed masterplan retains the defining landscape features provided by the 
hedgerows that run either side of Stott Lane, and those towards the boundaries of the site. 
Furthermore, it is considered that the inclusion of a playing pitch within the open green buffer 
at the northern end of the site would not compromise this transition to the open landscape 
beyond.

It is noted that the proposal would result in the loss of a significant area of open grassed 
fields adjacent to existing vehicular routes and residential areas when combined with the 
development of adjacent sites currently being considered by the LPA. However, it is also 
noted that if these site were both viewed together they would be seen within the context of 
the adjacent urban area of Middleton.

It is also noted that the site is located adjacent to the Greater Manchester Green Belt that 
runs along the northern boundary of the site and which provides a break from the urban area 
of Middleton to the Green Belt. The proposed scheme would retain an open green buffer 
along the northern boundary of the site adjacent to the Green Belt ranging from between 
approximately 85 metres deep in the west to 15 metres at its easternmost point. This is 
considered to provide for adequate separation and a soft transition between the between the 
built form of the proposed residential development and the open fields of the Green belt to 
the north, to ensure that there would be no significant harm to the character and openness 
and views into and of the adjacent Green belt. 

Having regard to the above, the character of the surrounding area and its location on the 
urban fringe, it is considered that the proposed development would not cause any significant 
over-riding harm to the character, qualities and visual aesthetics of the surrounding 
landscape both individually and cumulatively, in accordance with policies G/NE/5 and NE/6 
of the UDP, and the policies set out in the NPPF.

Highways and Traffic Implications

Paragraph 32 of the NPPF states that all developments that generate significant amounts of 
movement should be supported by a Transport Statement or Transport Assessment. 



Planning decisions should take account of whether:
• the opportunities for sustainable transport modes have been taken up depending on 

the nature and location of the site, to reduce the need for major transport 
infrastructure;

• safe and suitable access to the site can be achieved for all people; and
• improvements can be undertaken within the transport network that cost effectively 

limit the significant impacts of the development. Development should only be 
prevented or refused on transport grounds where the residual cumulative impacts of 
development are severe.

UDP policy A/11 states that the submission of Transport Assessments will be required 
alongside planning applications where:

• The development has the potential to lead to a material increase in the volume of 
road traffic or increased impact because of the type of traffic, and it is necessary to 
determine whether highway works or other measures are necessary; and

• The development is major, and thus may involve a number of individual elements or 
uses which involve major generators of travel demand, and it is appropriate to 
illustrate accessibility to the site by all modes and the likely model split of journeys to 
and from the site.

The policy indicates that the scope and detail of Transport Assessments should reflect the 
size of a development and the extent of the transport implications and should illustrate what 
highway works and other transport measures are necessary to improve access, manage 
parking demand, address the impact of the development on air and noise pollution levels, 
and improve accessibility by walking, cycling and public transport. Any necessary measures 
identified in the Transport Assessment must support and complement the Local Transport 
Strategy set out in the Local Transport Plan.

The application has been supported by a detailed Transport Assessment which has 
considered and reviewed the existing traffic conditions, the additional travel movements 
generated by such type of housing developments, and the implications on traffic and 
highway capacity during construction, and has been updated following removal of the 
community space originally proposed. The transport assessment has been updated to take 
into account the revised application. The assessment has been reviewed by the Local 
Highway Authority, Highways England, and TfGM who have raised no concerns regarding 
the information, assessments and conclusions contained within the assessment.

Access:

UDP policy A/9 stipulates that development proposals will be required to facilitate safe and 
convenient access for general traffic, which includes cars, motorcycles and commercial 
vehicles. Relative to the scale, type and location of development, proposals should ensure 
that:

a) Roads, junctions and access points to/from premises are safe, convenient and 
suitable for the volume and characteristics of traffic that will be required to use them; 
and

b) Access for emergency service vehicles and other service vehicles, such as waste 
collection vehicles, is provided.

In addition, UDP policy H/3 (e) states that proposals should be compatible with surrounding 
uses, including highways, both in terms of [their] impact upon those uses and the impact of 
surrounding uses upon the amenity of future residents, and BE/2 (g) requires proposals to 
facilitate safe and convenient access and circulation.

As noted above, this application being outline with all matters reserved other than access, 



seeks permission for the access to the site which is proposed to be provided by a single 
access on to east side of Hollin Lane. The site access would be provided approximately 120 
metres to the north of the existing junction of Hollin Lane with Hazlehurst Drive and provide a 
straight single lane section estate road into the site for approximately 30 metres. The 
indicative masterplan shows the main spine road bending northwest through the site with a 
series of smaller secondary roads leading off to a network of smaller cul-de-sacs.

The indicative masterplan submitted by the applicant also shows the two emergency access 
points on to and across Stott Lane should the main access become blocked. Whilst the 
detailed design of these potential emergency access points will part of the detailed design 
and layout of the scheme which will be drawn up at a later date as part of the reserved 
matters applications

The proposed development also includes a series of proposed off-site highways works 
projects comprising:

 Improvements to the junction of Hollin Lane and Langley Lane.
 The relocation and upgrading of an existing uncontrolled pedestrian refuge with a 

signalised pedestrian crossing on Hollin Lane to the north of its junction with 
Hazelhurst Drive in order to provide improved pedestrian crossing facilities. A new 
uncontrolled pedestrian crossing and traffic island to north of proposed site access in 
order to assist pedestrians crossing Hollin Lane near to the new bus stops.

 New bus stops on the north and south bound carriageways of Hollin Lane to the 
north of the proposed site access to provide access to bus services. 

 Additional road signage, road markings and traffic calming measures to provide right 
turning lane into the site and denote the gateway into the site in order clam traffic 
speeds along Hollin Lane.

The Council as Highways Authority has raised no objections subject to the implementation of 
the above series of highways works to assist and manage traffic flows on the surrounding 
highways network. In order to ensure that the proposed off-site highways works are carried 
out it is proposed that a Section 106 Agreement and Section 278 agreement are entered into 
to secure the payment of the necessary contributions to the Council at a suitable point in 
time to allow the Council to carry out these works when necessary in order to ensure that 
there would be no significant adverse harm is caused to the operation and safety of the 
highways network.

It is noted that the site is located within relatively close proximity to junction 19 of the M62 
motorway to the north. Highways England (formerly Highways Agency) has considered the 
impacts on the strategic road network and have raised no objections subject to a condition 
securing the approval of a travel plan in consultation with the Highways England and its 
subsequent implementation. 

With regards to the comments of TfGM it is noted that the indicative masterplan provides for 
a network of footpaths both utilising Stott Lane running through the centre of the site and 
through the areas of open space along the north, south, east and west perimeters of the site. 
In addition, as noted above an appropriate travel plan drawn up in consultation with TfGM 
and the Highways Agency could be secured by condition on the grant of permission. 

Sections of combined cycle and pedestrian routes within the site are also shown on the 
proposed parameters plan to provide for safe cycle routes which would link into the existing 
footpath and highway networks around the perimeters of the site. In accordance with the 
recommendations of TfGM it is also proposed to secure the provision of financial 
contributions towards cycle network improvements along a section of Hollin Lane from its 
junction with Langley Lane to its junction with Rochdale Road to the south. This would help 



link the application site to the various employment, leisure, entertainment and education 
facilities the in Middleton Town Centre, but also link into a wider Hollin Lane and Junction 19 
Cycle Route improvement project which has secured confirmed funding from TfGM to 
provide improved linkages from Langley Lane up to Junction 19 of the M62 motorway, and 
further northwest to Heywood Distribution Park and Stakehill Industrial Park, and east 
towards Hopwood Hall College, and Cardinal Langley RC High School.

Traffic Generation and Network Capacity:

UDP policy A/8 states that new development will be permitted provided that the additional 
traffic generated will not be detrimental to the safe and efficient operation of the Highway 
Network, both adjacent to and further away from the site. Specifically, proposals should not:
a) Have an adverse impact on the safety of any road users;
b) Have an adverse impact on accessibility for pedestrians, including people with 
restricted mobility, cyclists or users of public transport in the immediate vicinity of the 
development;
c) Substantially increase congestion;
d) Divert traffic on to less suitable roads; or
e) Cause an unacceptable environmental impact on residential properties passed by 
traffic associated with the development whilst accessing the principal road network.

The policy states that where additional traffic movements directly generated by a 
development proposal would adversely affect the existing highway infrastructure, the 
developer will be required to fund works to leave the highway network in a no worse state. 
The works required by the Council could be any or all of the following:

• Improvements to the existing highway infrastructure;
• Improvements to public transport and related infrastructure;
• Measures to secure modal shift away from vehicular traffic to walking and cycling;
• Other traffic management measures; and/or
• The removal or restriction of car parking provision.

With regards to the overall traffic generation from the proposed dwellings it is noted that an 
assessment of the impact of the 205 dwellings proposed within this application, and also the 
cumulative impact of an additional 150 dwellings, or in the event of voluntary provision of 
school land, 127 dwellings and a primary school on land off Langley Lane, and additional 
residential development to the west of Hollin Lane, has been undertaken and reviewed by 
the Highways Authority and Highways England. 

An analysis of the capacity at the following junctions has been undertaken following 
discussions with the Highways Authority and Highways Agency. An analysis of the remaining 
capacity at the junctions of Rochdale Road and Hollin Lane junction; the Hollin Lane and 
Langley Lane junction; the Langley Lane and Heywood Old Road junction; the Hollin Lane 
and Hazlehurst Drive junction to the south of the site, and the junction of Hollin Lane with 
junction 19 of the M62; shows that these junctions would continue to operate within their 
respective capacity when the proposed development would be complete and also when 
those potential development on adjacent sites are also completed. 

With regards to the specific implications on the important strategic network of the M62 and 
works associated with the South Heywood Strategic site and South Heywood Link Road it is 
also noted from separate analysis undertaken by the Highways Agency, that subject to 
implementation of the wider pinch point scheme of signalisation of junction 19 of the M62 
motorway the proposed development individually and cumulatively could be accommodated 
alongside these other long term strategic objectives.

In order to reduce the overall traffic associated with the development and encourage 



sustainable travel choice a Framework Travel Plan has also accompanied the application 
and proposes that the subsequent development incorporate a number of physical, 
management based measure to minimise travel by private motor-vehicle. These would 
include, a Site Travel Plan Co-Ordinator; Travel Cards, residents travel information pack; a 
community website and notice board displaying and promoting public transport and other 
sustainable modes of travel; a community car sharing scheme; a bike. Walk BUDI scheme, 
and personalised travel planning service provided by the travel plan co-ordinator. These 
would be supplemented by the physical measures including the provision of bus stops, cycle 
parking for each dwelling, and provision of a permeable layout and form provided by a 
network of clear footpaths and cycle ways, along either residential streets, existing rights of 
way, or through areas of public open space. 

In order to secure this framework travel plan is drawn up into a detailed Travel Plan 
alongside the detailed reserved matters applications for the layout and design of the site, a 
condition has been recommended requiring the reserved matters applications to be 
accompanied by a detailed travel plan. 

Having regard to the above, and subject to the measures set out above being secured by 
way of condition and appropriate contributions by way of legal agreements that there would 
be no severe impact on the function and safety of the surrounding local and strategic 
highway network, in accordance with the policies set out in the NPPF and saved policies of 
the UDP.

Parking Provision:

UDP policy A/10 relates to parking provision and refers to the Council’s Schedule of Parking 
Standards (UDP Appendix C) which identifies maximum standards for car parking provision 
and minimum standards for cycle and motorcycle parking. The maximum standard for car 
parking provision for two-bed (+) houses located outside the town centre is stipulated as two 
spaces per dwelling. A note to this Appendix indicates that “parking standards for C3 
[housing] developments are intended to result in an average, throughout the plan area of 
over the plan period, of 1.5 off-street car parking spaces per dwelling”. 

As the application submitted is in outline no details of the exact parking provision to be 
provided for each has been submitted at this point in time. However, details of parking 
provision for each dwelling will provided in subsequent applications for reserved matters for 
the detailed development of the site. Any scheme would need to come forward in line with 
the above standards set out in the UDP. Nevertheless, in principle given the number of 
dwellings proposed and layout and size of the site it is considered that sufficient parking 
could be provided on the site for the 205 dwellings, in accordance with policy A/10 of the 
UDP.

Impact on Public Rights of Way (PROW):

UDP policy A/3 requires development proposals to facilitate safe and convenient access for 
pedestrians, disabled people and other people with restricted mobility. Relative to the scale, 
type and location of the development, proposals should ensure that:

a) Walking routes are safe, convenient, environmentally pleasant, highly visible from 
surrounding land and buildings, well lit and signed;

b) Pedestrian access into development sites is located to provide the most convenient 
route to nearby facilities and destinations;

c) Existing rights of way are maintained or improved; and
d) Walking routes are capable of being shared safely with cyclists.

UDP policy RE/6 stipulates that:



• The Council will develop, in partnership with other agencies, bodies, occupiers and 
landowners, a system of strategic recreational rights of way as identified on the 
Proposals Map. The intention will be to secure the protection, development and 
improvement of these routes to link areas of managed and accessible countryside 
and establish links with routes in the wider region. The Council will encourage and 
implement high quality links with such routes from urban areas.

• Where appropriate and practicable, the Council will support schemes which facilitate 
the greater use of these routes by cyclists, horse riders and those people with 
impaired mobility. Where opportunities and resources permit, the Council will support 
and implement enhancement schemes such as way marking, picnic, interpretation 
and other facilities along the routes.

• In the implementation of this proposal, the Council will take account of the 
conservation of the countryside including the buildings within it, the protection of 
agricultural interests, areas of nature conservation importance (including designated 
areas) and the character and purpose of the route where appropriate.

UDP policy A/4 indicates that development proposals will be permitted where the design and 
layout of development schemes facilitate safe and convenient access for cyclists. Relative to 
the scale, type and location of the development, criteria (b – e) of the policy state that 
proposals should ensure:

• Off-road routes are safe, convenient, highly visible from surrounding land and 
buildings, well lit and signed as appropriate;

• The access infrastructure within new developments gives priority to the 
establishment of convenient routes for cyclists, unless essential motor vehicle access 
would be compromised by the lack of other suitable and safe alternatives;

• Cycle access points are located to provide direct and convenient links with adjoining 
uses, the wider cycle network and identified potential off-site cycle routes;

• eCycle routes intended or likely to be shared by pedestrians are designed to 
ensure safety and compatibility.

UDP policy A/13 stipulates that PROW and other pedestrian routes identified in the Council's 
'Local Walking Route Network' will be protected where they fall within sites proposed for 
development, subject to consideration of opportunities for local re-routing where this would 
improve convenience and safety for pedestrians. Improvements to the walking environment 
and the provision of new links will be a priority on the Local Walking Route Network and 
such improvements should address safety, convenience, attractiveness, comfort and 
accessibility for disabled people and other people with restricted mobility.

There a number of rights of way that run around the application site, in particular along Hollin 
Lane and Hazlehurst Drive to the west and south of the site which would both be retained. 
The route along Stott Lane (known as Middleton Rupp118) is a restricted byway that that 
runs north to south through the site from Hazlehurst Drive in the south to Oakenbank Road 
to the north of the site. The proposed indicative masterplan and parameters plan both 
provide for the retention of this route by limiting the crossings over this route to the single 
main estate road, with two emergency access points along pedestrian and cycle access 
points. It is therefore considered that the proposed development would retain the integrity 
and quality of this route for pedestrians and cyclists. 

The proposed scheme set out in the parameters plan allows for a network of dedicated 
pedestrian routes, combined pedestrian and cycle routes, connections to the existing right of 
way along Stott Lane, with these new routes also to be connected into a network of 
residential streets. These supplement existing routes and together would form a highly 
permeable townscape and network of routes with a clear hierarchy and mix of types of 
routes to aid movement and use. As a result, it is considered that the proposed indicative 
scheme would provide for a safe and accessible environment in accordance with the above 



policies of the UDP and the policy objectives set out in the NPPF.

Ecology and Nature Conservation Implications

The NPPF requires that applications should conserve and enhance biodiversity, valued 
landscapes, minimise impacts and recognise the benefits of ecosystems. The impacts on 
nature conservation interests are also protected by separate legislation including the Natural 
Environment and Rural Communities Act, which requires Local Authorities to have regard to 
nature conservation and article 10 of the Habitats Directive, which stresses the importance 
of natural networks of linked corridors to allow movement of species between suitable 
habitats, and promote the expansion of biodiversity.

The third bullet point to paragraph 109 of the NPPF indicates that the planning system 
should contribute to and enhance the natural and local environment by minimising impacts 
on biodiversity and providing net gains in biodiversity where possible, contributing to the 
Government’s commitment to halt the overall decline in biodiversity, including by establishing 
coherent ecological networks that are more resilient to current and future pressures.

Paragraph 118 of the NPPF states that, when determining planning applications, local 
planning authorities should aim to conserve and enhance biodiversity by applying the 
following (relevant) principles:

• if significant harm resulting from a development cannot be avoided (through locating 
on an alternative site with less harmful impacts), adequately mitigated, or, as a last 
resort, compensated for, then planning permission should be refused;

• proposed development on land within or outside a Site of Special Scientific Interest 
likely to have an adverse effect on a Site of Special Scientific Interest (either 
individually or in combination with other developments) should not normally be 
permitted. Where an adverse effect on the site’s notified special interest features is 
likely, an exception should only be made where the benefits of the development, at 
this site, clearly outweigh both the impacts that it is likely to have on the features of 
the site that make it of special scientific interest and any broader impacts on the 
national network of Sites of Special Scientific Interest;

• opportunities to incorporate biodiversity in and around developments should be 
encouraged.

UDP policy NE/2 stipulates that development proposals adversely affecting sites and areas 
of ecological and geological/geomorphological importance will not be permitted (the Council 
seeking to protect and enhance them). In assessing proposals, the Council will apply 
national planning policy as it relates to international (e.g. Special Areas of Conservation – 
SAC), national (e.g. Sites of Special Scientific Interest – SSSI) and regional/local (e.g. Sites 
of Biological Importance – SBIs) designations in order to ensure that development does not 
adversely affect the integrity and fundamental nature conservation value of these sites, and 
that appropriate mitigation and safeguarding is put in place.

UDP policy NE/3 indicates that, in areas where the designations in policy NE/2 are not 
applicable, the effect of land use changes on existing features, species and habitats of 
ecological value will be taken into account in assessing proposals. Development should seek 
to retain such features and incorporate them into the development. Where this would place 
an unreasonable constraint on the development, steps to provide compensatory features or 
habitats of an equivalent nature and value, commensurate with the scale and type of 
development permitted may be required. Developments which establish new landscaping 
and open spaces that contribute to nature conservation and local biodiversity will be 
supported and encouraged, especially where this will:

• Help to address local habitat deficiencies or the needs of species and habitats of 
conservation concern;



• Help to provide accessible, high quality natural greenspace in urban areas; or
• Create or extend wildlife corridors both within the urban area and connecting the 

urban areas with the wider countryside around towns

UDP policy NE/4 states that development proposals which would affect a species protected 
by National or European law or its habitat will not be permitted unless it can be 
demonstrated that:

• There is no adverse impact on the species concerned;
• Loss of, or damage to habitats supporting such species is minimal and, where 

required, adequate alternative habitats are provided to sustain at least the current 
levels of the population of the species; and

• Where a proposal affects a European Protected Species, it fulfils the appropriate 
criteria for development as set out in National and European legislation.

UDP policy NE/8 (a – d) indicates that proposals on sites containing trees and woodlands 
should ensure:

• Suitable space and conditions for the successful retention of trees, woodland and 
hedgerows;

• That new tree planting is of an appropriate scale and species and that the impacts on 
the amenity of the development and surrounding area in the longer term e.g., root 
spread, stability, loss of daylight, leaf fall and personal safety have been fully 
considered;

• Suitable care and protection of trees and their environment during construction;
• The nature conservation value of existing hedgerows, trees and woodland has been 

safeguarded where appropriate including the incidence of protected species.

The application site is located on the edge of the urban area of Middleton and comprises 
open agricultural fields characterised by pasture and grazing land with a network of 
hedgerows providing for a network of wildlife corridors and further habitats for wildlife and 
fauna. Within close proximity to the east of the site lies the Hopwood Woods Local Nature 
Reserve which is a Site of Biological Importance (SBI) and also forms an Ancient Woodland. 
The application has been accompanied by a detailed Ecological Assessment which has 
been reviewed by Greater Manchester Ecological Unit (GMEU), who note that the survey 
was undertaken by a suitably qualified and experienced ecologist and in accordance with 
best practice. 

Designated and Non-Designated Sites:

The application site itself is not designated of any specific nature conservation value, 
however as noted above the site is located within close proximity to a site of biological 
importance and ancient woodland at Hopwood Woods. Whilst as a result of the intervening 
distance of 85 metres between the northeast corner of the site and Hopwood Woods Nature 
Reserve there would be no direct impact from the development, the proposals do include for 
a footpath link towards the nature reserve and it is considered that the proposals by way of 
their scale and close proximity would lead to an increase in visitor numbers. It is noted that 
GMEU have recommended seeking a financial contribution or management arrangement 
towards the habitat management and access facilities within Hopwood Woods given the 
likely increase in footfall and usage created by the amount of homes within such close 
proximity. 

With regards to any potential implications on Glade and Oaken Bank Woods SBI it is noted 
that the proposals may involve the provision of a surface water outfall from the development 
into the watercourse into the brook at Oaken Bank Woods. In order to ensure that the 
appropriate assessment, and any necessary mitigation measures or works to protect the SBI 
and its habitat from the works themselves and any ongoing implications from surface water 



drainage flows, a condition has been recommended requiring that prior to any development 
taking place detailed drainage plans be submitted and approved in writing and if necessary 
be accompanied by an ecological appraisal where works and outfalls are proposed at Glade 
and Oaken Bank Woods.

Habitats:

With regards to the implications on the habitats on site it is noted that the majority of the site 
is characterised by species poor semi-improved grass and pasture land. However, the site 
does include a network of hedgerows, ponds and areas of marshy grassland which will be 
lost as part of the development and impacted on. However, the site does not comprise any 
protected habitats and are not unique and it is noted that the proposal includes the retention 
of the perimeters of the site, and the field boundaries and hedgerows that run either side of 
Stott Lane that act as wildlife corridors, and would also provide for a substantial landscaped 
buffer along the northern edge of the site. 

Both the supporting report and GMEU conclude that subject to the provision of replacement 
pond habitat in the northern landscape buffer, the provision of appropriate planting and 
biodiversity enhancements incorporating local native species within the northern buffer; the 
approval and implementation of a long term conservation management plan for the wildlife 
corridors around the edges and running through the centre of the site; and the protection of 
the existing trees and hedgerows at the site, the proposals would provide for adequate 
mitigation and replacement of habitats. It is considered that these could be appropriately 
secured by way of conditions on the outline permission securing approval prior to the 
commencement of development. 

Protected and Priority Species:

It is noted that there are a number of ponds on the site and in the surrounding area, and 
accordingly appropriate assessments of the presence of Great Crested Newts. These 
identified that a pond approximately 400 metres to the north of the site had a low population 
of great crested newts. It is noted that given the distance from the site and the low 
population and small habitat that GMEU have advised that a great crested newt licence 
would not be required, and any potential impacts on these protected species could be 
adequately prevented by way of the approval and implementation of a method statement 
setting out any necessary reasonable avoidance measures to be undertaken throughout 
works on site. 

With regards to the implications on local bat populations, the appropriate surveys were 
undertaken which identified a tree along Stott Lane to be retained on site being of high bat 
roost potential. Notwithstanding this, subsequent surveys concluded that the site was of low 
importance to bats with only low levels of the common pipistrelle activity recorded. As a 
result, subject to conditions requiring the retention of the high value tree along Stott Lane or 
otherwise approval of a suitable scheme of mitigation; and the approval of any lighting 
scheme to be implemented during the construction of the development, and subsequently 
within the completed development, including within all the open spaces, carriageways, 
footpaths, and cycle routes and adjacent to wildlife corridors and buffers around the site; it is 
not considered that the proposed development would result in any significant harm to bat 
populations within and around the site.

With regards to other species, it is noted that the surveys found no evidence of barn owls, 
badgers and riparian mammals including water voles and otters within and around the 
application site. Whilst it is noted that there are records of brown hare within the surrounding 
area, and that the site comprises suitable habitat for such species, given the large areas of 
open farmland to the north and west of the site which provide ideal habitat fro brown hares, 



as noted by GMEU it is not considered that the loss of the habitat within the site would cause 
a significant adverse impact on this species.

In order to protect birds inhabiting the site during the bird breeding season, a condition has 
also been recommended preventing vegetation clearance works being undertaken in the bird 
nesting season, unless a suitable ecological survey has been undertaken of the site prior to 
works taking place.

Invasive Species

With regards to the implications from invasive species being present on the site, the 
submitted survey highlights the presence of Japanese Knotweed and Himalayan Balsam on 
the site. In order to ensure that an acceptable scheme to remove and avoid the spread of 
these is undertaken, and in accordance with the recommendations of GMEU a condition has 
been recommended requiring the submission an approval of a method statement for the 
removal and management of these invasive species.

Both Natural England and GMEU have been consulted on the amended scheme and have 
raised no objections to the proposed development subject to the conditions set out above. 
Subject to these conditions it is considered that subsequent reserved matters applications 
and the proposed development overall would ensure that adequate mitigation and 
satisfactory precautionary measures can be put in place to ensure that the development 
would not result in significant adverse effects on the nearby Hopwood Woods Nature 
Reserve and the nature conservation value of the site or the favourable conservation status 
of any protected species. The proposed development is therefore considered to be in 
accordance with the requirements of UDP policies NE/3, NE/4 and NE/8, and the policies 
contained within the NPPF.

Open Space, Recreation and Sports Facilities

Paragraph 70 of the NPPF states that; “to deliver the social, recreational and cultural 
facilities and services the community needs, planning policies and decisions should: 

• Plan positively for the provision and use of shared space, community facilities (such 
as local shops, meeting places, sports venues, cultural buildings, public houses, and 
places of worship) and other local services to enhance the sustainability of 
communities and residential environments

• Ensure an integrated approach to considering the location of housing, economic uses 
and community facilities and services.

The need to provide for outdoor recreation and sports facilities is reflected in local planning 
policies in the UDP, where policy H/6 requires new housing developments to make adequate 
provision for recreational open space – comprising elements of both local (at a rate of 1 
hectare per 1000 population) and formal (at a rate of 1.1 hectare per 1000 population) 
provision. In the case of developments involving more than 100 bedrooms this provision is to 
be met through a financial contribution towards the laying out (including 20 year 
maintenance) and/or improvement of recreational open space off site. Contributions to off-
site recreational open space are calculated on the basis of the number of bedrooms being 
created by a development and the resulting demand for recreational open space arising from 
the occupation of the new houses.

As of the 6th April 2015, the Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations now prevent more 
than five contributions being pooled towards a single form of infrastructure, such as 
recreation and sport facilities.  The Council has entered into more than 5 separate 
contributions for open space outdoor sport and recreation facilities and therefore any further 



contributions sought would not comply with the requirements of the Community 
Infrastructure Levy Regulations, unless specific projects are identified.

Notwithstanding this, it is noted that paragraph 73 of the NPPF highlights that access to high 
quality open spaces and opportunities for sport and recreation can make an important 
contribution to the health and well-being of communities.  In this regard, the site provides for 
a significant amount of on-site open space and this would also provide an open landscaped 
buffer to the open fields beyond. The detailed layout of this will be subject to detailed design 
within future reserved matters applications. With regards to future maintenance, it is 
intended that a landscape open space implementation and management plan will be 
secured by way of a section 106 Agreement.  The provision of a Locally Equipped Area of 
Play (LEAP) within the public open space would provide formal children’s play facilities for 
the future occupants. Maintenance of on-site facilities would be the responsibility of the 
developer and it is intended that a landscape open space implementation and management 
plan will be secured by way of a section 106 Agreement.  

With regards to mitigating for and providing for formal outdoor sport and recreations needs 
generated by the 205 new homes, the applicant states that the application site is located 
within an area which is served by a significant number and variety of forms of sport and 
recreational demand. In relation to formal sports and recreation facilities, the applicant has 
agreed to enter into an s106 agreement to provide financial contributions in accordance with 
the Sport England Sports Facilities Calculator, towards the provision of new, or improvement 
of existing sports facilities, at Bowlee Playing Fields to mitigate the impact of the 
development on sports facilities.  Sport England has subsequently withdrawn the non-
statutory objection initially raised.  As such, the proposal includes on and off site provision of 
formal and informal sport and recreation facilities in accordance with the NPPF. 

In addition, the applicant states that a 60 metre by 60 metre playing pitch could be located 
within the area of open space in the northern part of the site.  The provision of a suitable 
facility and appropriate maintenance could be adequately secured by way of a Section 106 
Agreement, however Sport England advise that their evidence and experience suggests that 
isolated single pitches within housing schemes are not sustainable and quickly become 
informal open space.  This is because the open nature of the pitches is a source of open 
space for local residents that often conflicts with a team sport function of the pitch.  
Maintenance then becomes an issue and quality deteriorates as a result leaving pitches unfit 
for sporting use.  Sport England therefore advises that the preferred option would be for a 
contribution to be sought to an existing site within the locality.  As noted above, a 
contribution is sought towards formal sports at Bowlee Playing Fields and it is recommended 
that the layout of the open space at reserved matters stage does not therefore include formal 
pitch provision in light of Sport England’s advice.  

With regards to informal recreational provision, the applicant has agreed to enter into a 
Section 106 Agreement to provide a financial contribution towards implementing a series of 
improvements to Hopwood Woods Nature Reserve to provide access to and enhance this 
recreational facility. Given the number of dwellings proposed and the proximity of the site to 
the Hopwood Woods Nature Reserve Station, and the recommendations of GMEU, it is 
considered that the above financial contribution would accord with criteria set out in 
paragraph 204 of the NPPF.

Impact on Trees and Important Landscape Features

UDP policy NE/7 states that no work of any nature should be carried out which could 
possibly affect the health of a tree or trees included in a Tree Preservation Order without the 
proper written authority of the Council. This includes any work which is carried out to trees or 
other works which could damage root systems or any part of the tree above ground. Any 



works carried out to trees must constitute good arboricultural practice. 

In addition, UDP policy NE/8 (criteria a – c, g and h) indicates that development proposals 
on sites containing trees and woodlands should ensure:

• Suitable space and conditions for the successful retention of trees, woodland and 
hedgerows;

• That new tree planting is of an appropriate scale and species and that the impacts on 
the amenity of the development and surrounding area in the longer term e.g., root 
spread, stability, loss of daylight, leaf fall and personal safety have been fully 
considered;

• Suitable care and protection of trees and their environment during construction;
• Suitable arrangements for future maintenance and management of trees and 

woodland (which may need to be secured by means of a legal agreement); and
• Replacement planting of trees in the event of death or failure during a 5 year period.

The application site includes a network of hedgerows and trees running along the field 
boundaries within the site and along the site edges defining the extent of the existing fields. 
Otherwise the site comprises open fields laid to pasture and tree cover is low and it is noted 
that none of the trees within or adjacent to the site are protected by way of a Tree 
Preservation order or being within a conservation area. 

It is noted that the proposed indicative masterplan and parameters plan for the development 
allows for the retention of the hedgerows along the boundaries of the site and those along 
either side of Stott Lane by providing landscaped buffers along all perimeters of the site and 
through the centre of the site. Indeed the proposed indicative masterplan would also retain 
all the medium value trees and the majority of low value trees within the site, and also the 
majority of hedgerows H1, H8 and H5 that divide the two main parcels of land into smaller 
fields and are a characteristic of the agricultural site and its use and also act as wildlife 
corridors and habitats for foraging and nesting. Furthermore, the proposals by providing a 
large open landscaped buffer area to the north provides for opportunities for significant 
additional planting and improvements to tree cover to be incorporated into any future 
scheme at the site.

In order to secure this, a condition has been recommended requiring a detailed landscaping 
and planting scheme for the site to be approved in writing for the site and, or each phase, 
including the use of local native species given the sites proximity to the Hopwood Woods 
Nature Reserve and ancient woodland to the east, and the enhancement of the tree and 
hedgerow cover along Stott Lane and boundaries of the site as recommended in the 
submitted Arboricultural Impact Assessment. The Councils Green Infrastructure Officer has 
raised no objections to the proposed developments, subject to conditions securing the 
protection and retention of the existing hedgerows and trees to be retained, and the 
submission and approval of detailed planting plans for the site.

Therefore, in principle it is considered that the proposed development would not result in 
significant harm by way of loss of any important landscape features and through the 
implementation of a comprehensive tree planting and landscaping scheme across the site 
secured in reserved matters applications, it is considered that there would be a significant 
gain in the quantity and spread of trees on the site as a result of the proposed development. 
Therefore, it is considered that the proposed development would accord with the 
requirements of UDP policies NE/7 and NE/8 and the relevant policies within the NPPF. 

Neighbour Amenity Implications and Relationship with Surrounding Uses

UDP policy H/3 (e) requires development proposals to be compatible with surrounding uses, 
both in terms of its impact upon those uses and the impact of surrounding uses upon the 



amenity of future residents.

Criterion (i) and (j) of UDP policy BE/2 require proposals to demonstrate good design by:
• Ensuring adequate provision for natural light is made both within and between 

buildings.
• Minimising their potential environmental impact, including noise, air and water 

pollution.

Bullet points 1 and 2 to Paragraph 123 of the NPPF indicate that “planning policies and 
decisions should aim to:

• avoid noise from giving rise to significant adverse impacts on health and quality of life 
as a result of new development;

• mitigate and reduce to a minimum other adverse impacts on health and quality of life 
arising from noise from new development, including through the use of conditions.”

Criterion (a) of UDP policy EM/3 indicates that development will not be permitted where:
• It would lead to unacceptable levels of noise nuisance to nearby existing or future 

occupants of buildings, or users of open space.

In addition, the spacing standards outlined in paragraph 5.2 of the Council’s SPG Note 
“Guidelines and Standards for Residential Development” recommend that a minimum 
separation distance of 21 metres should be retained between principal elevations of 
opposing dwellings and a distance of 14 metres between principal and secondary elevations.

The scheme includes the retention of a landscaped area of public open space along the 
southern tip of the site adjacent to Hazlehurst Drive and along Hollin Lane. As a result, the 
siting of the housing areas as shown within the proposed parameters plan would retain 
sufficient distance to the nearest dwellings to the south, southeast and southwest well in 
excess of those standards set out above for there to no significant harm by way of loss of 
outlook, loss of daylight, or loss of privacy caused to surrounding occupiers. 

In addition, given the density, height and scale of the dwellings proposed it is considered that 
in principle the proposals would provide for an acceptable form residential environment and 
it is noted that the provision of adequate private amenity space, and levels of outlook and 
daylight for each dwelling and its future occupants could be secured through the detailed 
design of the proposed development within reserved matters applications and its 
assessment against the above policies.

The proposed parameters plan would also retain a substantial landscaped buffer along the 
southern boundary of the site adjacent to the existing St Anne’s Academy building and car 
park. Whilst an extension to the car park for the Academy is indicated to be provided within 
the indicative masterplan along the southern boundary of the site, it is noted that a buffer 
would still be retained and given the respective hours of use and associated activity within 
this enlarged car park area, it is considered that adequate planting and boundary treatments 
could be included within the detailed design to ensure that adequate levels of amenity would 
be provided. 

With regards to the proposed location of the locally equipped area of play (LEAP) it is noted 
that this would be sited within the large area of landscaped open space towards the northern 
end of the site. Whilst the scheme is in outline there are no details of the exact location and 
siting of dwellings and play area at this stage, given the size of this area of open space it is 
considered that in principle a LEAP could be provided whilst also providing the respective 
buffers necessary for such facilities.

Therefore, subject to conditions, in principle the proposed development would be compatible 



with surrounding uses, both in terms of its impact upon those uses and the impact of 
surrounding uses upon the amenity of future residents, and would be in accordance with the 
requirements of UDP policies H/3 and BE/2, the objectives of the SPG “Guidelines and 
Standards for Residential Development” and the NPPF.

Air Quality, Noise and Lighting Implications

Under policies, G/EM/1, EM/2 and EM/3 it is established that environmental protection and 
pollution control should be taken into account, with care taken to ensure that air, water and 
noise pollution is kept to an acceptable level.

With regards to noise and acoustic implications of the proposed development, the applicants 
have submitted a noise impact assessment with the application which has assessed both the 
implications of noise on the proposed dwellings and the implications of additional noise 
created by the proposed development on the surrounding environment. The indicative 
masterplan indicates an area of open space and tree planting in the northern part of the site 
and also a landscape buffer along the western boundary adjacent to Hollin Lane. It is also 
noted that landscaped buffers would also be provided along the south and eastern 
boundaries adjacent to the St Anne’s Academy site which would help to provide a buffer to 
the majority of dwellings located towards the site boundaries. 

The report concludes that the key noise source affecting the proposed development is the 
road traffic along Hollin Lane to the west of the site and as a result it recommends the 
provision of acoustic fencing between Hollin Lane and those dwellings nearest to the 
highway. In order to also provide for ventilation it also recommend the incorporation of 
through-frame window mounted trickle vents for all noise sensitive rooms within line of sight 
of Hollin Lane. It also recommends setting a maximum noise level of noise to be emitted by 
fixed mechanical plant in order to prevent any unacceptable harm caused to surrounding 
residents and future residents. The Council’s Environmental Health Department have raised 
no objections to the report and its recommendations, and the proposed development itself 
subject to conditions.

In the interests of the amenity of future occupants of the dwellings and in accordance with 
the recommendations of the Council’s Environmental Health Department it is therefore 
considered that conditions would be necessary to secure the detailed design of acoustic 
fencing (condition no. 22) and ventilation measures within the scheme where necessary, and 
securing approval of a verification report prior to occupation of the dwellings to ensure the 
measures as necessary had been implemented (condition (23), and set maximum noise 
limits emitted from fixed plant at the site (condition no. 21). Subject to these conditions, it is 
considered that the proposed development would in principle provide for a satisfactory level 
of amenity for future occupants and would not harm the amenity of the existing surrounding 
residents, and occupiers of surrounding uses.

In terms of air quality, it is noted that again given the sites location on the edge of the urban 
area of Middleton with open fields to the north and the M62 a significant distance to the north 
it is not considered that the proposed dwellings would in principle be subject to concentrated 
levels of air pollutants. Furthermore, it is noted that the indicative masterplan has been 
designed to include significant landscaped buffers of tree planting and open space on all 
boundaries. 

An Air Quality Assessment (AQA) has been submitted in support of this application which 
concludes that the proposed development would have the potential to cause air quality 
impacts resulting from dust emissions during the construction of the development and from 
road traffic exhaust emissions during its long term operation. However, it concludes that 
subject to the implementation of dust control measures throughout construction works at the 



site, there would be no significant adverse impact on air quality in the area during this phase, 
and that following the modelling of road vehicle exhaust emission from traffic associated with 
the residential development there would be no significant adverse impacts on sensitive 
receptors including surrounding residents and the adjacent school.

Therefore, with regards to the impact on surrounding residential properties and the adjacent 
St Anne’s Academy during the construction of the development, it is considered that subject 
to a condition securing the approval and implementation of a construction environmental 
management plan which will include the need for approval of the hours of construction, 
building, ground works and delivery, access routes and storage areas, approval of dust 
control measures as set out in section 5.1.3 of the AQA, there would be no over-riding 
disturbance to future occupants by way of noise and disturbance experienced during 
construction of the proposed development.

Given that the scheme is in outline with the detailed layout, design, and scale to be the 
subject of subsequent reserved matters applications, and that the layout of the site indicates 
the provision of a buffer to the, it is considered that subject to conditions securing the 
scheme of air quality attenuation measures, the proposed development would in principle 
provide for adequate levels of amenity for future occupants and not cause significant harm to 
surrounding residents and school users. 

Given the sites location on the urban fringe adjacent to open fields and the Green Belt, and 
roosting opportunities for bats, in order to ensure that any strategic lighting scheme would 
not result in any significant harm to surrounding dwellings to the south, and to the character 
and openness of the rural area to the north, a condition has been recommended requiring 
the submission and approval of a detailed lighting scheme for the site. 

Therefore, having regard to the above it is considered that subject to the above conditions 
the proposed development through its construction and ongoing use and associated activity, 
would not cause any significant harm to the surrounding environment and its respective 
receptors by way of additional noise, reduced air quality and light pollution. The proposed 
development would therefore be in accordance with the requirements of UDP policies 
G/EM/1, EM/2, EM/3 H/3 and BE/2, and the objectives of the SPG “Guidelines and 
Standards for Residential Development” and the NPPF.

Flood Risk and Drainage Implications

Paragraph 100 of the NPPF states that “inappropriate development in areas at risk of 
flooding [land within Flood Zones 2 and 3; or land within Flood Zone 1 which has critical 
drainage problems and which has been notified to the local planning authority by the 
Environment Agency] should be avoided by directing development away from areas at 
highest risk, but where development is necessary, making it safe without increasing flood 
risk elsewhere”.

Paragraph 101 of the NPPF refers to the sequential test for the location of development, 
which aims to steer new development to areas with the lowest probability of flooding.  Flood 
zone 1 is the lowest probability of flooding, with flood zone 3 the highest. 

The non-statutory technical standards for SUD’s dated March 2015 require that for:
• Peak flow control that for greenfield developments, the peak runoff rate from the 

development to any highway drain, sewer or surface water body for the 1 in 1 year 
rainfall event and the 1 in 100 year rainfall event should never exceed the peak 
greenfield runoff rate for the same event.

• Volume control that where reasonably practicable, for greenfield development, the 
runoff volume from the development to any highway drain, sewer or surface water 



body in the 1 in 100 year, 6 hour rainfall event should never exceed the greenfield 
runoff volume for the same event.

The application site falls within flood zone 1 and is therefore at a low risk of flooding (less 
than 1 in 1000 or 0.1% annual probability of river or sea flooding in any year). However, the 
application site does comprise a major residential development and accordingly the 
application has been supported by a Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) and outline drainage 
strategy. 

It is noted that the proposed residential development would be sited on a relatively raised 
part of the surrounding landscape with the surrounding topography and levels sloping 
generally downwards to the north and west of the site across open fields. It is nevertheless 
noted that the proposed development would result in a substantial increase in the proportion 
of impermeable areas at the site, and result in significant additional foul water generation 
from the number of dwellings proposed. 

The submitted FRA considers the risk of flooding to the site from various sources including 
rivers, groundwater, artificial sources and surface water to be low. It notes that the site has 
not been subject to flooding from rivers, the sea, highways, sewers, reservoirs or canals. 
The submitted FRA recommends a surface water drainage strategy discharging surface 
water into the adjacent brook and incorporating attenuation methods including oversized 
pipes and flow control devices to limit the discharge rates so that they would not exceed the 
existing greenfield run off rates. The proposed strategy also proposes foul water connecting 
into the existing combined sewer running to the west of the application site.

The Council as Local Lead Flood Authority have agreed in principle to the approach to 
discharge surface water into the nearby brook, subject to conditions securing the detailed 
design, and agreement of discharge rates. It is also noted that United Utilities in their 
comments on the amended scheme have raised no objections subject to conditions ensuring 
that the foul and surface water drain on separate systems, with foul water being drained into 
the combined sewer and that surface water shall drain into the nearby watercourse and not 
the combined sewer network. The proposals to drain surface water into the nearby 
watercourse and ensure that the peak runoff rate, and the runoff volume to the brook and 
surface water body should mimic and not exceed the greenfield run off rates and volumes 
would be in accordance with the non-statutory standards issued by DEFRA in March 2015, 
and the approach set out in the NPPF and building regulations.

It is noted that the submitted FRA recommends that the scheme include the use of 
sustainable urban drainage system (SUDS) measures within the green landscaped corridors 
including swales and above ground basins. Indeed it is noted that there is sufficient space 
within site for the siting of replacement ponds to mitigate for the loss of existing ponds on 
site as shown on the outline drainage strategy. In addition, that these could be developed 
within the reserved matters applications into a comprehensive scheme for the landscape and 
wildlife buffer long the northern boundary to also incorporate sustainable urban drainage 
measures in addition to biodiversity and wildlife mitigation and enhancements.

A condition has therefore been recommended restricting the discharge of surface water into 
the nearby watercourse to not exceed greenfield run off rates and requiring that the foul and 
surface water drain on separate systems. A condition has also been recommended requiring 
the submission and approval of a detailed foul and surface water drainage design to 
demonstrate how surface will be managed (including the control mechanisms to limit the rate 
of surface water runoff to greenfield levels, the provision of on-site water storage and flow 
control mechanisms) prior to the commencement of development in accordance with the 
request of United Utilities and the Council as Lead Local Flood Authority. 



Having regard to the above, it is noted that United Utilities, the Council as Local Lead Flood 
Authority and the Environment Agency have raised no objections to the proposed 
development subject to the above conditions which have been included in the 
recommendation. Therefore, it is considered that in principle adequate measures can be put 
in place in order to ensure that the development poses no unacceptable risk in terms of 
flooding (either on the site itself or elsewhere) in accordance with the requirements of UDP 
policy EM/7 and the policies within the NPPF.

Heritage and Archaeological Assets

With regard to the planning application, Section 66(1) of the Planning (Listed Building and 
Conservation Areas) Act 1990 states that in considering whether to grant planning 
permission for development which affects a listed building or its setting, the local planning 
authority shall have special regard to the desirability of preserving the building or its setting 
or any features of special architectural or historic interest which it possesses.  Section 72 of 
the above act similarly requires that LPA’s pay special attention to the desirability of 
preserving or enhancing the character or appearance of any conservation area where 
relevant. Furthermore, the Court of Appeal has held that decision-makers should give 
considerable importance and weight to the desirability of preserving the setting of listed 
buildings when carrying out the balancing exercise.

The first bullet point to paragraph 131 of the NPPF indicates that, in determining planning 
applications, local planning authorities should take account of the desirability of sustaining 
and enhancing the significance of heritage assets and putting them to viable uses consistent 
with their conservation. Heritage assets (both designated and non-designated) are defined in 
Annex 2 of the NPPF. 

Paragraphs 132, 133 and 137 of the NPPF identify that:
• When considering the impact of a proposed development on the significance of a 

designated heritage asset, great weight should be given to the asset’s conservation. 
The more important the asset, the greater the weight should be. Significance can be 
harmed or lost through alteration or destruction of the heritage asset or development 
within its setting. As heritage assets are irreplaceable, any harm or loss should 
require clear and convincing justification.

• Where a proposed development will lead to substantial harm to or total loss of 
significance of a designated heritage asset, local planning authorities should refuse 
consent.

Paragraphs 139 and 141 of the NPPF indicate that:
• Non-designated heritage assets of archaeological interest that are demonstrably of 

equivalent significance to scheduled monuments, should be considered subject to 
the policies for designated heritage assets.

• Local planning authorities should make information about the significance of the 
historic environment gathered as part of plan-making or development management 
publicly accessible. They should also require developers to record and advance 
understanding of the significance of any heritage assets to be lost (wholly or in part) 
in a manner proportionate to their importance and the impact, and to make this 
evidence (and any archive generated) publicly accessible. However, the ability to 
record evidence of our past should not be a factor in deciding whether such loss 
should be permitted.

In addition, UDP policy BE/10 states that:
• Developers must take full account of the presence of known Ancient Monuments and 

sites of archaeological importance and their settings in proposals. Planning 
permission will be refused where developers do not sympathetically accommodate 



such structures or remains, particularly where the proposal has a significant effect on 
the site itself or its setting.

• Proposals should accommodate the physical preservation of archaeological features 
in situ. In exceptional circumstances where this is not possible, and where the site is 
of lesser significance, archaeological excavation to secure the preservation of 
features either on or off site may be appropriate to enable preservation by record. In 
such cases, the applicant may be required to carry out a programme of proper 
recording of archaeological evidence before development takes place. Such a 
programme could be secured by planning conditions or through a Section 106 
obligation negotiated with the applicant. In all cases there should be a full and 
appropriate prior evaluation of the archaeological resource detailing its value, the 
likely impact of proposals and mitigation as required.

It is noted that there are no conservation areas or listed buildings on or immediately adjacent 
to the application site. The site being bordered to the north and on the opposite side of Hollin 
lane by open fields, and to the south and east by, post-war education facilities and suburban 
housing and playing fields respectively. The nearest listed building comprises the Grade II* 
listed Hopwood Hall dating back to the 16th century and grade II listed Hopwood Hall Chapel, 
which are approximately 560 metres from the northeast corner of the site to the east. Given 
the intervening distance and the presence of the substantial amount of mature tree coverage 
at Hopwood Woods and ancient woodland, and the undulating topography, it is noted that 
the proposed development would not impact on the curtilage of the hall and chapel and nor 
would it be visible from these buildings, and nor would they be both visible within the same 
context and setting. Therefore, it is considered that the proposed development would impact 
on the setting of these heritage assets.

With regards to the presence of Conservation Areas it is noted that the Birch Village 
Conservation Area is located approximately 1 kilometre to the west of the application site 
and Middleton Town Centre Conservation Area is located approximately 900 metres to the 
south of the application site. However, given the intervening distance, the undulating 
topography of the open farmland, and the context of the conservation areas, it is considered 
that the proposed development would not cause any harm to the character and appearance 
or the significance of these conservation areas. 

With regards to the implications on sites of archaeological importance, it is noted that the 
application has been supported by an Archaeological desk based assessment that includes 
a review of the evidence contained within the historic environment record for Greater 
Manchester. However, it is noted from comments of the Greater Manchester Archaeological 
Advisory Service (GMAAS) that given the sites location, the surrounding topography, and 
close proximity to watercourses the site offers potential for records of archaeological interest 
to be found of earlier periods prior to those that are contained within the historical 
environment record. In accordance with the recommendations of the GMAAS and in order to 
ensure that due record and understanding of any archaeological remains is undertaken in 
accordance with paragraph 141 of the NPPF, a condition has been recommended requiring 
that an appropriate written scheme of investigation (WSI).

Therefore, having regard to the above and subject to conditions, it is considered that the 
proposed development as set out in the indicative masterplan would preserve the setting of 
surrounding heritage assets and that sufficient measures would be in place to ensure that 
the importance of potential archaeologically significant assets are recorded and advanced. 
The proposed outline scheme is therefore considered to accord with policies BE9, BE15, 
BE17 of the UDP and the policies within the NPPF.

Land Contamination and Site Conditions



Paragraph 120 of the NPPF identifies that where a site is affected by contamination or land 
stability issues, responsibility for securing a safe development rests with the developer 
and/or landowner.

Paragraph 121 of the NPPF indicates that planning policies and decisions should ensure 
that:

• the site is suitable for its new use taking account of ground conditions and land 
instability, including from natural hazards or former activities such as mining, pollution 
arising from previous uses and any proposals for mitigation including land 
remediation or impacts on the natural environment arising from that remediation; 

• after remediation, as a minimum, land should not be capable of being determined as 
contaminated land under Part IIA of the Environmental Protection Act 1990; and

• adequate site investigation information, prepared by a competent person, is 
presented.

In addition, UDP policy EM/4 stipulates that where there are reasonable grounds to suspect 
that land which is the subject of a development proposal has the potential for contamination, 
the Council will require a detailed survey of ground conditions, details of any proposed 
remedial treatments and a completion report to establish that the work has been carried out 
in accordance with the agreed remediation scheme. In considering proposals for new 
development or change of use, the Council will take account of their potential for 
contamination of land and will seek to prevent further contamination by refusing proposals 
likely to give rise to significant contamination or by imposing stringent conditions.

The site is located on the edge of the urban area of Middleton and comprises open fields 
leftover for pasture and grazing. The application has been supported by a phase 1 
environmental assessment report that concludes that the site poses a low to moderate risk 
of contamination. It also does not predict that there would be any significant sub surface 
obstructions and structure, and although a former mine shaft is reported off-site considers 
that further investigation and if necessary imposition of a no-build zone in its vicinity would 
ensure there would be no risk and the development could take place. As a result, it is noted 
that there are no risks that in principle would prevent the site from being used for residential 
purposes, and the report recommends that to allow for a full assessment that further detailed 
intrusive site investigation and analysis be undertaken. 

The Council’s Contaminated Land Officer is satisfied that any ground based contamination, 
land stability issues which may exist on the site can be adequately identified and addressed 
by the imposition of a condition requiring the submission and approval of further detailed site 
investigations and sampling and where necessary the implementation of any appropriate 
remediation measures required before development takes place.

Therefore, subject to a condition securing the submission and approval of an intrusive site 
investigation report and risk assessment, and the approval and subsequent implementation 
of a scheme of remediation works and enabling ground works, it is considered that the 
proposed site would be suitable for the proposed residential development and the 
requirements of UDP policy EM/4 and guidance contained within the NPPF would be met.

Sustainable Construction and Energy Use

UDP policy EM/13 states that development proposals which include measures to conserve 
and assist the efficient use of energy will be supported where this can be successfully 
incorporated into the design and layout, and where there are no adverse impacts on the 
amenity of the surrounding area (e.g., by virtue of visual impact, pollution and environmental 
disturbance). Measures which will be especially encouraged include:

a. The maximum use of local materials and recycled building materials for appropriate 



construction tasks where this would not adversely affect the quality, character and 
setting of the development;

b. The use of design, layout, landscaping and materials which help to conserve energy 
through the ongoing use of the development; and

c. The use of sustainable power generation systems such as solar and photovoltaic, 
small-scale combined heat and power, and other appropriate installations based on 
renewable and low carbon technologies.

The Council’s SPD “Energy and New Development” requires all new residential 
developments of 5 or more dwellings to meet Level 3 of the Code for Sustainable Homes. 
The SPD intended that this requirement was to rise to Level 4 from 2013, Level 5 from 2016 
and Level 6 from 2020. 

However, in a Ministerial Statement made to the House of Commons on 25 March 2015, the 
then Secretary of State for Communities and Local Government, Eric Pickles, set out the 
government’s new planning policy on the setting of technical standards for new dwellings 
which should be taken into account in applying the National Planning Policy Framework. The 
Code for Sustainable Homes was also withdrawn on 27 March 2015. This is an important 
material consideration which needs to be given significant weight and which also represents 
a material change in planning circumstances following the previous grant of planning 
permission on the site.

Between 26 March 2015 and 30 September 2014, the government’s policy is, ‘that planning 
permissions should not be granted requiring, or subject to conditions requiring compliance 
with any technical housing standards other than for those areas where authorities have 
existing policies on access, internal space or water efficiency… where there is an existing 
plan policy which references the Code for Sustainable Homes, authorities may continue to 
apply a requirement for a water efficiency standard equivalent to the new national technical 
standard or in the case of energy a standard consistent with the earlier part of this 
statement, concerning energy performance’. The Council does not have a specific policy in 
respect of water efficiency. In late 2016 the Building Regulations will be amended to require 
new dwellings to meet an equivalent of what was Code Level 4. 

As this application is in outline with all matters other than access reserved to a later date, 
details of the design and construction of the dwellings are not yet known. The direction of 
travel for Government is clear that sustainability requirements for new dwellings should be 
brought forward through the new national technical standards, making reference to up to 
date Local Plans and the Building Regulations. Given that the new technical standards are 
optional and if the Council wishes to refer to them in decision making this should 
preferentially be through new policies in a Local Plan and the Council’s current policy refers 
to a Code which has now been revoked and is therefore out of date, it is considered most 
appropriate that the sustainability requirements of this development are dealt with by the 
Building Regulations. 

Planning Obligations and Developer Contributions

The size and nature of the development would require financial contributions towards 
affordable housing, recreational open space and outdoor sport provision in accordance with 
UDP policies H/6 and H/7 and their associated Supplementary Planning Documents: 
Provision of Recreational Open Space in New Housing and Affordable Housing.  It is 
important again to note that policies in the NPPF and legislation introduced subsequent to 
the adoption of the UDP and SPDs can take precedence. Although limited weight can be 
afforded to the Core Strategy, it is noted that the emerging policies DM2, C4, C7, C8) also 
seek to ensure the impact of development is mitigated and that development contributes to 
physical and social infrastructure requirements.  



In accordance with the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Regulations paragraph 204 of 
the NPPF states that planning obligations should only be sought where they meet the 
following three tests:

• necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms; 
• directly related to the development; and 
• fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development. 

In addition, from April 2015 the CIL Regulations now prevent further contributions being 
collected by an authority for the funding or provision of an infrastructure project, or type of 
infrastructure, once five or more such contributions have been obtained by separate section 
106 obligations made on or after 6 April 2010.  This restriction applies to infrastructure of a 
kind which could be the subject of a community infrastructure levy and therefore applies to 
tariff style contributions (with the exception of affordable housing).  As the Council has 
entered into more than five obligations towards recreational open space, no further 
contributions can be pooled to this type of general infrastructure provision.  The object of the 
regulations is to encourage Council’s to introduce charging through the adoption of a CIL 
instead of imposing requirements for contributions through section 106 obligations, however 
it has been acknowledged that the pooling restriction should not prevent the delivery of 
infrastructure.  Contributions may therefore be sought to specific infrastructure projects if 
they meet the three tests above. 

In this context, paragraph 173 of the NPPF is clear that pursuing sustainable development 
requires careful attention to viability and costs in plan making and decision taking.  
Therefore, the scale of development identified in the plan should not be subject to such a 
scale of obligations and policy burdens that their ability to be developed viably is threatened.  
To ensure viability, the costs of any requirements applied to development, such as 
requirements for affordable housing, standards, infrastructure contributions or other 
requirements should, when taking account of the normal cost of development and mitigation, 
provide competitive returns to a willing land owner and a willing developer to enable the 
development to be deliverable. As this application is in outline form, any detailed 
assessment of viability would occur at reserved matters stage once the precise number and 
nature of dwellings to be delivered is identified. It is clear that there will be a need to ensure 
that contribution requirements do not undermine viability and deliverability, having regard to 
site specific requirements and a need to ensure the impacts of the development are 
adequately mitigated.

Details of the contributions sought as part of the development (including how they meet the 
three tests) are outlined below:

Education Provision:

Paragraph 70 of the NPPF requires that Local Planning Authorities plan positively for the 
provision of facilities and other local services to enhance the sustainability of communities 
and residential environments. Paragraph 72 also states that great weight should be given to 
the need to create, expand or alter schools.

It is also noted Policies C7 and DM2 of the emerging Core Strategy require that residential 
developments provide for social infrastructure including education facilities to meet the 
demand for additional school places created by such developments. In this instance, it is 
noted that the proposed residential development of 205 dwellings of a mix of 2, 3, 4 and 5 
bedroom dwellings would generate additional demand for primary and secondary school 
places within the local area. As set out above, due to the lack of capacity in the existing 
primary and secondary schools, the Council as Local Education Authority have requested 
that by way of financial contributions the proposed development mitigates for this additional 



demand for by providing financial contributions to be utilised towards providing additional 
education facilities at Primary and Secondary Schools within the local area. It is considered 
that the provision of such additional education facilities would be necessary in order to 
provide for sustainable communities and achieve the golden thread of sustainable 
development running through the NPPF. 

As set out earlier in this report, it is also noted that the option provided in another application 
reference 14/00851/OUT also being considered by Committee to provide land for a school 
on a nearby site off Langley Lane following legal advice is not considered to comply with the 
requirements of the Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations. As a result, it is the 
Council’s view that the more appropriate method for mitigating for the need generated by the 
proposed development is through financial contributions towards education provision off-site.

The necessary financial contributions would be calculated using the Building Schools for the 
Future (BSF) standard formula for calculating pupil yields from housing (presently 0.25 per 
dwelling for primary education and 0.1 per dwelling for secondary) and the respective basic 
need funding (BNF) per place provided to the Education Authority (presently £12,320.01 for 
primary and £15,400.01 for secondary).  Based on these figures and the maximum number 
of dwellings, the primary education contribution would be £628,320.51 (pupil yield of 51.25 
(205 x 0.25) = 51.25) multiplied by the basic need funding of £12,320.01). The secondary 
education contribution would be £323,400 (pupil yield of 20.5 pupil places (205 x 0.1) 
multiplied by the basic need funding of £15,400.01). The contributions would provide 
additional school places in Middleton Township. 

It is considered that the financial contributions are necessary to enable the development to 
proceed and to ensure they are directly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the 
development in accordance with the CIL Regulations, the contribution would be calculated at 
reserved matters stage and paid in an appropriate phased manner dependent on the 
number of units in each phase, the BSF pupil yield and the BNF.  

Recreational Open Space and Outdoor Sports Provision:

It is noted that paragraph 73 of the NPPF highlights that access to high quality open spaces 
and opportunities for sport and recreation can make an important contribution to the health 
and well-being of communities.

In this regard, the site provides for a significant amount of on-site open space which would 
provide for a variety of informal recreational activities and would also provide an open 
landscaped buffer to the open fields beyond. The detailed layout of this will be subject to 
detailed design within future reserved matters applications. However, with regards to its 
future maintenance and management, it is intended that a landscape open space 
implementation and management plan will be secured by way of a section 106 Agreement.

With regards to formal children’s play facilities, in this instance it is noted that the proposed 
outline scheme includes the provision of a Locally Equipped Area of Play (LEAP) within the 
area of public open space. In order to secure the approval, implementation and ongoing 
management of this area, it is considered that a clause within a section 106 Agreement 
requiring this would be necessary
 
With regards to mitigating for and providing for formal outdoor sport and recreations needs 
generated by the 205 new homes and in line with the comments of Sport England, the 
applicant has agreed to enter into a s106 agreement to provide developer contributions 
towards formal outdoor sports facilities.  This would be secured and maintained in perpetuity 
by way of a clause within the Section 106 Agreement.



In terms of formal outdoor sports facilities, it is proposed that a contribution of up to 
£190,477.80 be secured by way of a section 106 agreement towards the provision of 
improved outdoor sports facilities and playing pitches at Bowlee Playing Fields to the 
southwest of the application site. It is proposed that these would be calculated using the 
figures provided by Sport England within their Sports Facility Calculator. This would be 
equivalent of £929.16 per dwelling or £386.86 per person derived from current Sport 
England Sports Facility Calculator figures (Sport England correspondence dated 30th June 
2015). Utilising the Sport England formula, the following financial contributions would be 
applicable:

a. £929.16 per dwelling, i.e. 205 x £929.16 = £190,477.80; or 
b. £386.86 per person of the population derived from the proposed development. The 

population derived from ONS Census 2011 figure of 2.4 people per dwelling in 
Rochdale. i.e. (205 x 2.4) = 492 x £386.86 = £190,355.12.

It is considered that the financial contribution would mitigate the impact of the development 
by providing contributions towards the creation of new, or the improvement of existing sports 
facilities.  The contribution is necessary to enable the development to proceed and to ensure 
it is directly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development in accordance with 
the CIL Regulations, the contribution would be calculated at reserved matters stage in 
accordance with a formula within the s106 agreement and paid in an appropriate phased 
manner in accordance with the NPPF.  

With regards to more informal outdoor recreational provision, it is proposed that through a 
Section 106 Agreement financial contributions would be secured towards implementing a 
series of improvements to Hopwood Woods Nature Reserve to provide improved access and 
recreational value whilst also safeguarding its ecological importance. Given the number of 
dwellings proposed and the proximity of the application site to the Hopwood Woods Nature 
Reserve Station, and the recommendations of GMEU, it is considered that the above 
financial contribution would accord with the CIL regulations and the criteria set out in 
paragraph 204 of the NPPF.

Affordable Housing:

UDP policy H/7 and its associated SPD identify that, subject to viability considerations, 
residential developments of over 15 dwellings will be expected to make a contribution 
towards the provision of affordable housing in the borough through either on or off site 
means as appropriate. This is also taken forward by policies C4 and DM2 of the emerging 
core strategy. 

Paragraphs 7.3 and 7.4 of the SPD indicate that “an average figure of 15% Affordable 
Housing will be required on all sites across the Borough. This percentage of units will be 
subject to a discount of 50% of the average market cost of the dwellings on the site. This will 
equate to a maximum 7.5% contribution of the total scheme value to affordable housing for 
each site in accordance with the formula below:

It is recommended that a legal agreement include the requirement to submit an affordable 



housing scheme with reserved matters applications to include the appropriate provision of 
affordable housing on site or off-site in accordance with the above policy and SPD.

Local Transport Infrastructure Mitigation and Improvements:

As discussed in earlier sections of this report, in accordance with the recommendations of 
the Highways Authority, Highways England and TfGM, it will be necessary to enter into a 
s106 agreement and a s278 highway act agreement to secure a series of on and off-site 
highway works to ensure necessary improvements and alterations are undertaken on the 
local highway network in accordance with paragraph 204 of the NPPF.  These are also 
necessary to ensure the site provides suitable facilities for pedestrians and cyclists and 
provides access to the bus network to encourage the take up of sustainable transport 
modes.  

The following measures would be secured through s278 agreement:
1. Junction improvements incorporating the widening of the eastbound carriageway 

of Langley Lane at its junction with Hollin Lane to create separate lanes for 
vehicles turning northbound and southbound on Hollin Lane;

2. Provision of pedestrian crossing facility on Hollin Lane;
3. Traffic calming – additional road signing, markings and traffic calming measures 

to provide right turning lane into the site and denote the gateway into the site in 
order to calm traffic speeds along Hollin Lane, including any necessary TRO.

The following measures would be secured through s106 agreement:
1. The provision of two bus stops on Hollin Lane, one northbound and one 

southbound (£20,000);
2. A financial contribution towards cycle lane improvements comprising new and 

renewed on carriageway cycle lanes along Hollin Lane from its junction with 
Langley Lane southeast to its junction with Rochdale Road. 

It is considered that the above comprise mitigation directly related in scale and kind to the 
development and necessary for the development to proceed in accordance with the CIL 
regulations.  

Conclusions and the Balancing Exercise

Policies within the UDP relating to the management of housing land and protection of open 
land are out of date and can be afforded limited weight in the determination of this planning 
application. Taking account of the most recently tested housing target for the Borough, the 
recalculated RSS target, the Council would be unable to demonstrate a 5 year supply of 
housing land. The NPPF must therefore be afforded significant weight in the determination of 
this application and the presumption in favour of sustainable development is engaged.

Paragraph 14 of the NPPF very clearly directs that where policies are out-of-date, the 
‘presumption in favour of sustainable development’ means planning permission should be 
granted unless the adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably 
outweigh the benefits (emphasis added) when assessed against the policies in the NPPF as 
a whole; or where specific policies in the NPPF indicate development should be restricted.

In assessing the merits of the scheme, it is clear that there are no specific policies in the 
NPPF that would indicate the development should be restricted. It is also evident that 
previous appeals in the Borough concerning the release of Protected Open Land for housing 
have been allowed in the context of the need to boost significantly the supply of housing 
within the Borough for the reasons set out within the NPPF, and in recognition of the fact that 



such land was originally safeguarded to meet future development needs.

Since these appeals were allowed in 2013, the Rochdale Core Strategy has been submitted 
for examination and the most recent evidence prepared by the Council to support this 
suggests that a higher housing requirement is needed for the Borough above that originally 
identified within the RSS.  Furthermore, going forward the Borough will face an ongoing and 
challenging pressure in terms of the delivery of new housing against any planned target 
given the fact that a significant number of further dwellings are proposed to be demolished 
as part of the continued regeneration of existing housing areas. To ensure there is no 
ongoing deficit in supply, the total number of demolitions will need to be matched by an 
equivalent uplift above the annual target of housing completions.  The evidence 
demonstrates that significant weight must therefore be afforded to the benefits of the 
scheme in respect of its contribution to the supply of housing in the Borough.  

Subject to appropriate mitigation, the impact of the development on the local highway 
network, education provision, protected or priority species and nature conservation, the 
amenity of existing and future occupants, archaeological assets, surface water and drainage 
and contamination would be acceptable and the development would provide on and off-site 
recreation and outdoor sports provision for the future occupants of the dwellings. 

In terms of benefits, the proposal would provide a significant number of new dwellings to 
meet housing needs adjacent to an existing urban area within an accessible and sustainable 
location and would contribute to the provision of affordable housing in the Borough.  
Biodiversity enhancements would be secured and economic and social benefits would arise 
through direct capital investment; additional spending of household income on local services 
and facilities; and the creation of direct and indirect jobs throughout construction and through 
the longer term additional spend of households within the local area.

It is accepted that the proposal would result in the loss of agricultural land, including that 
classed as the best and most versatile land.  It is also accepted that the proposal would 
result in the loss of an area of Protected Open Land valued by the local community in 
providing an open and landscaped buffer on the urban fringe. However, the harm that would 
arise would not significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits of the proposal, which 
is the test of national policy. As such, there are no sustainable grounds to justify a refusal of 
planning permission.

Thus, in terms of the decision-making approach set out in paragraph 14 of the Framework, it 
is considered that the proposal comprises sustainable development and planning permission 
should be granted subject to appropriate legal agreements and the conditions 
recommended.

RECOMMENDATION

It is recommended that Committee resolve that it is minded to grant planning permission 
subject to the conditions set out below and subject to:

1 The completion of a planning obligation under Section 106 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act to secure the following:

(i) The provision of affordable housing scheme to deliver on site and/or an off-site 
contribution in lieu of on-site provision in accordance with the provisions of UDP 
policy H/7 and its associated SPD: Affordable Housing.

(ii) A financial contribution towards the provision of primary schools places in Middleton 
Township calculated by the pupil yield of the development (0.25 per dwelling) 
multiplied by the relevant basic need funding allocation (currently £628,320.51 but 



the final calculation shall be based on the multipliers in place at the relevant time);
(iii) A financial contribution towards the provision of secondary school places in 

Middleton Township calculated by the pupil yield of the development (0.1 per 
dwelling) multiplied by the relevant basic need funding allocation (currently £323,400 
but the final calculation shall be based on the multipliers in place at the relevant 
time);

(iv) A financial contribution towards cycle lane improvements comprising new and 
renewed on carriageway cycle lanes along Hollin Lane from its junction with 
Langley Lane southeast to its junction with Rochdale Road;

(v) A financial contribution towards the provision of outdoor sport and recreation facilities 
at Bowlee Playing Fields (currently up to £190,477.80 but the final calculation shall 
be based on the Sport England multipliers in place at the relevant time);

(vi) A financial contribution not exceeding £30,000 towards the provision of 
improvements at Hopwood Woods Nature Reserve;

(vii) Provision of two bus stops on Hollin Lane (£20,000);
(viii) A scheme for the provision, implementation and management of a Locally Equipped 

Area of Play (LEAP); and
(ix) A landscape and public open space plan for the provision, implementation and 

management of the landscape open space within the site.

2 The completion of a Section 278 Highways Act agreement to secure:

(i) Improvements to the junction of Hollin Lane and Langley Lane to increase capacity 
and safety;

(ii) Provision of pedestrian crossing facility on Hollin Lane;
(iii) Road markings and traffic calming measures to provide right turning lane into the site 

and denote the gateway into the site in order to calm traffic speeds along Hollin Lane, 
to include any necessary TRO. 

That the Head of Planning be authorised to issue the decision notice upon completion of the 
above.

GRANT subject to the following conditions:-

1 Application for approval of reserved matters must be made not later than the 
expiration of three years beginning with the date of this permission and the 
development must be begun not later than: (i) the expiration of three years from the 
date of this permission; or (ii) two years from the date of approval of the last of the 
reserved matters to be approved.

Reason: To comply with the requirements of section 92 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990 as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004

2 The approval of the Local Planning Authority shall be sought in respect of the 
following matters before the development is commenced:- the layout of the 
development, the means of access to it, the scale and external appearance of the 
buildings and the landscaping of the site.

Reason: The application is granted in outline only under the provisions of Article 5 of 
the Town and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) Order 2015 
and details of the matters referred to in the condition have not been submitted for 
consideration.

3 The total number of residential units included in any application(s) for reserved 



matters submitted pursuant to condition 2 of this permission shall be limited to a 
maximum of 205 dwellings and the development shall be substantially in accordance 
with the following plans:

- Site Location Plan - drg no. 448B-34;
- Hollin Lane Masterplan Area - Middleton, Indicative Layout (Option 1 without 

primary school) - drg no. 448B.58;
- Land at Hollin Lane, Parameters Plan - drg no. .448B.51B;
- Land at Hollin Lane, Indicative Layout - drg no. 448B.48D
- Transport Improvements – Hollin Lane - ITM6195-GA-14;
- Proposed Access to Hollin Lane Site - drg no. ITM6195-GA-010;
- Potential Hollin Lane/Langley Lane Junction Improvements - drg no. ITM6195-

GA-020.

Reason: The layout of the proposed development incorporates a number of key 
parameters that will guide the detailed reserved matters applications, and in the 
interests of mitigating for the impacts of the development on the surrounding 
environment, and provide for an acceptable scale and layout of development and 
high quality environment, in accordance with policies BE/2, NE/2, NE/3, NE/4of the 
Council’s adopted Unitary Development Plan.

4 No development shall take place until a phasing plan, which shall include the access 
arrangements for each phase and a specified number of dwellings for each phase 
relative to a site maximum of 205 dwellings, has been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the local planning authority. The development shall be carried out in 
accordance with the approved phasing plan.  

Reason: To ensure that any phased development of the site takes place in an 
appropriate order and within an acceptable timescale, to ensure adequate provision 
of infrastructure to serve each of the uses permitted and because no such details 
were submitted as part of the application.

5 No development shall take place until a scheme for the provision of the vehicular 
access onto Hollin Lane, to include construction specification drawings showing 
existing and proposed levels, a drainage strategy, lighting and materials of the 
access road shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The vehicular access shall be completed in accordance with the approved 
plan (Hollin Lane access and new junction as shown on approved drawing no. 
ITM6195-GA-010, Proposed Access to Hollin Lane Site) for the access, unless any 
minor variation is agreed with the Council and the timescales set out in the Site 
Phasing Plan approved pursuant to condition 4 of this permission. 

Reason: In order to provide safe, secure access to the development in the interests 
of public safety, and ensure continued function of the surrounding highway network, 
in accordance with policies

6 No development shall take place until a scheme for the on and off-site highway 
works, to include timescales for implementation, has been submitted to and approved 
in writing by the local planning authority.  The development shall be carried out in 
accordance with the approved scheme.  

Reason: To ensure that any phased development of the site takes place in an 
appropriate order and to ensure adequate provision of infrastructure to serve each of 
the phases in the interests of highway and pedestrian safety and the safety of other 
users of the highway in accordance with Polices BE/2 and A9 of the Unitary 



Development Plan and the National Planning Policy Framework.  

7 No above ground works shall take place within each phase until, details of the 
finished floor and external site levels of the dwellings in that phase, have been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. Development 
shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details and retained thereafter.

Reason: In order to achieve an acceptable relationship between surrounding 
buildings and to ensure that the development would not be at an unacceptable risk of 
flooding in accordance with the requirements of Unitary Development Plan policies 
H/3, BE/2, EM/7 and the National Planning Policy Framework.

8 No development shall take place until an investigation and risk assessment has been 
undertaken by competent persons to assess the nature and extent of any 
contamination on the site (whether or not it originates on the site and in addition to 
any assessment provided with the planning application) and a written report of its 
findings submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority.

The report shall include:
i) a survey of the extent, scale and nature of contamination
ii) an assessment of the potential risks to:

• human health,
• property (existing or proposed) including buildings, crops,
livestock,
• pets, woodland, and service lines and pipes,
• adjoining land,
• groundwaters and surface waters,
• ecological systems,
• archaeological sites and ancient monuments;

iii) where contamination is identified, an appraisal of remedial options, a proposal of 
the preferred option(s) and a timetable for remedial works

Remedial works shall be carried out in accordance with the approved report and 
timetable and a verification report shall be submitted to and approved in writing by 
the local planning authority prior to the first occupation of any of the dwellings within 
each phase.  

If, during development, contamination not previously identified is found to be present 
at the site then no further development (unless otherwise agreed in writing with the 
local planning authority) shall be carried out until the developer has submitted a 
remediation strategy to the local planning authority detailing how this unsuspected 
contamination shall be dealt with and obtained written approval from the local 
planning authority. The remediation strategy shall be implemented as approved.

Reason: To prevent pollution of the water environment and to ensure the safe 
development of the site in the interests of the amenity of future occupiers in 
accordance with Unitary Development Plan policies EM/4, EM/8 and BE/2, and the 
National Planning Policy Framework.

9 No development shall take place until details of a scheme to dispose of foul and 
surface water from the site has been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
local planning authority in consultation with GMEU. The surface water drainage 
scheme shall be based on sustainable drainage principles, shall provide for the total 
surface water run-off rate to be limited to not exceed greenfield run off rates in all 
events and shall incorporate adequate on site attenuation storage. The submitted 



scheme shall include:
(i) details of volumetric run-off control as per CIRIA SIDS manual C697 with the 

rate set at Qbar if no infiltration is provided
(ii) details of exceedence event of up to a 1 in 100 year including climate change 

allowance
(iii) where it is proposed to provide a drainage outfall into any watercourse that 

feeds the Glade and Oaken Bank Woods SBI an appropriate ecological 
assessment of the implications of the proposed outfall works, and the impacts 
of the operation and flows from the outfall.

(iv) a timetable for its implementation; and a management and maintenance plan 
for the lifetime of the development which shall include the arrangements for 
adoption by any public authority or statutory undertaker and any other 
arrangements to secure the operation of the scheme throughout its lifetime.

The approved drainage shall be fully implemented and subsequently retained in 
accordance with the management and maintenance plan.

Reason: To prevent an increased risk of flooding as a result of the development, to 
ensure that surface water discharge rates are limited to pre-development (greenfield) 
levels in accordance with the submitted Flood Risk Assessment & Drainage Strategy, 
Land at Hollin Lane, Middleton (prepared by ironside Farrar Limited, dated 24th June 
2014) and to ensure satisfactory disposal of surface and foul water from the site in 
accordance with the requirements of Unitary Development Plan policy EM/7 and the 
National Planning Policy Framework.

10 No development shall take place until a Construction Method Statement (CMS) has 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The CMS 
shall include details of the following: 
(i) hours for site preparation, delivery of materials and construction; 
(ii) the parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors; 
(iii) loading and unloading of plant and materials;
(iv) storage of plant and materials used in constructing the development; 
(v) the erection and maintenance of security hoarding; 
(vi) wheel washing facilities; 
(vii) measures to control the emission of dust and dirt during construction as set 

out in the approved Air Quality Assessment, Land at Hollin lane, Middleton 
prepared by REC, reference 33821-1R4, dated 8th July 2014; and (viii) a 
scheme for managing and the recycling/disposing of waste resulting from 
construction works in accordance with the approved Waste Management 
Plan, Hollin Lane, Middleton, prepared by REC, reference 45641_2AP1R0, 
dated June 2014.

The duly approved CMS shall be adhered to throughout the construction period.

Reason: In order to ensure that appropriate measures are put in place to limit noise, 
nuisance and disturbance to the occupiers of neighbouring dwellings during the 
construction of the development in accordance with the requirements of Unitary 
Development Plan policies BE/2 and EM/3, and the National Planning Policy 
Framework.

11 No development shall take place until a Construction Environmental Management 
Plan (CEMP) has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning 
authority. The CEMP shall include details of measures to be taken to protect the 
special nature conservation interest of the Hopwood Woods Nature Reserve during 
construction and details of measures to ensure the protection of protected species 



including bats on the site in accordance with the recommendations of the approved 
Ecological Assessment, ‘Land at Hollin Lane Middleton’, prepared by The 
Environment Partnership, dated 4th July 2014. Development of the site shall be 
carried out strictly in accordance with the approved CEMP.

Reason: In order to ensure that as much of the wetland to the north of the site as 
possible is retained and to protect this nature conservation interest during the 
construction period in accordance with the requirements of Unitary Development 
Plan policies NE/3 and NE/4 and the National Planning Policy Framework.

12 No development shall take place within each phase of the development hereby 
permitted until a scheme of Biodiversity Enhancement and Mitigation Measures to be 
provided within that phase has been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority, in consultation with the Greater Manchester Ecology Unit 
(GMEU). The scheme shall include: (i) full details of those enhancement measures to 
be provided within that phase, which shall include those measures set out in sections 
6.8 to 6.11 of the Ecological Assessment ‘land at Hollin Lane, Middleton’ prepared by 
The Environment Partnership (TEP), dated 04-07-2014; (ii) timescales for their 
implementation. 

The development within that phase shall thereafter be carried out in accordance with 
the scheme and implemented in accordance with the approved timescales. 

Reason: In order to ensure adequate protection of existing landscape features of 
ecological value and to achieve appropriate landscape and biodiversity 
enhancements as part of the development in accordance with the requirements of 
UDP policy NE/3 and the National Planning Policy Framework.

13 No above ground works within any phase of the development hereby approved shall 
take place until, a Habitat and Landscape Management Plan (HLMP) for all 
landscaped areas of the site (excluding privately owned domestic gardens) has first 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
HLMP shall include: (i) protection measures for all retained trees, waterbodies and 
greenspace during the course of development; (ii) long term design objectives; (iii) 
management responsibilities; (iv) maintenance schedules; and (v) a timetable for its 
implementation. The HLMP shall thereafter be implemented in full accordance with 
the duly approved details and timetable contained therein.

Reason: In order to ensure adequate protection of existing landscape features of 
ecological value and to achieve appropriate landscape and biodiversity 
enhancements as part of the development in accordance with the requirements of 
UDP policy NE/3 and the National Planning Policy Framework.

14 No above ground works within any phase of the development hereby permitted shall 
take place until, a detailed lighting scheme for any external lighting to be installed 
within all highways, footpaths, public open spaces and landscape buffer zones on all 
boundaries of the site, within that phase has been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority.  Such details shall include its position and 
height on the building or site and its luminance, angle of installation and any hoods to 
be fixed to the lights.  Only lighting as approved shall be installed on the site in 
accordance with the terms of any such approval.

Reason: In order that the development does not prejudice the favourable 
conservation status of protected species in accordance with the requirements of 
Unitary Development Plan policy NE/4 and the National Planning Policy Framework.



15 No development shall take place within each phase of the development hereby 
permitted until a Reasonable Avoidance Method Statement for Great Crested Newts 
for that phase has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority in consultation with Greater Manchester Ecology Unit (GMEU). The 
development shall thereafter be carried out in accordance with the statement and any 
approved measures.

Reason: In order that the development does not prejudice the favourable 
conservation status of protected species in accordance with the requirements of 
Unitary Development Plan policy NE/4, the National Planning Policy Framework and 
the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as amended).

16 No clearance of trees and shrubs in preparation for or during the course of 
development shall take place during the bird nesting season (March – July inclusive) 
unless an ecological survey has been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
local planning authority which establishes that no part of the site is utilised for bird 
nesting. Should the survey reveal the presence of any nesting species, then no 
development including clearance of trees and shrubs shall take place until a 
methodology for protecting nest sites during the course of the development has been 
agreed in writing by the local planning authority. Nest site protection shall be 
provided in accordance with the approved methodology.

Reason: In order to prevent any habitat disturbance to nesting birds in accordance 
with Unitary Development Plan Policies NE/3 and NE/4 and the National Planning 
Policy Framework.  

17 No development shall take place until a detailed method statement for the removal or 
long-term management/eradication of Japanese Knotweed and Himalayan Balsam 
on the site has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning 
authority. Development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved method 
statement. The method statement shall include measures to prevent the spread of 
Japanese Knotweed and Himalayan Balsam during any operations such as mowing, 
strimming or soil movement, and measures to ensure that any soils brought to the 
site are free of the seeds/roots/stems of any invasive plant covered under the Wildlife 
and Countryside Act 1981.

Reason: To ensure the satisfactory treatment and disposal of invasive plant species 
which, under the terms of the Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981 (as amended) it is an 
offence to be caused to be spread in the wild Unitary Development Plan Policy NE/3.  

18 No development shall take place until the applicant or their agents or their 
successors in title have secured the implementation of a programme of 
archaeological works. The programme of archaeological works should be undertaken 
in accordance with a Written Scheme of Investigation (WSI) which has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The WSI shall 
cover the following: 

1. A phased programme and methodology of site investigation and recording to 
include: 

- geophysical evaluation 
- evaluation trenching i) targeting geophysical anomalies and ii) including targeted 
evaluation trenching of buildings identified in the desk-based assessment and iii) 
providing an adequate spatial sample of the development site. 
- (depending upon the results of the evaluation) area excavation and recording 



2. A programme for post investigation assessment to include: 
- analysis of the site investigation records and finds 
- production of a final report on the significance of the archaeological, architectural 
and historical interest represented. 
3. Provision for publication and dissemination of the analysis and report on the site 
investigation. 
4. Provision for archive deposition of the report, findings and records of the site 
investigation. 
5. Nomination of a competent person or persons/ organisation to undertake the 
works set out within the approved WSI.

Reason: In order to protect and preserve the archaeological and historical 
significance of potential below ground heritage assets in accordance with the 
requirements of Unitary Development Plan Policies BE/10 and NE/6, and the 
National Planning Policy Framework.

19 Notwithstanding the details hereby approved, the reserved matters applications for 
each phase of the development hereby approved shall be supported by an 
Arboricultural Impact Assessment (AIA) and Arboricultural Method Statement (AMS) 
for that phase. The statement shall be carried out in accordance with in accordance 
with BS 5837:2012 'Trees in Relation to Design, Demolition and Construction. Any 
approved mitigation or protection measures for trees and shrubs to be retained shall 
be put into place prior to and remain in place during any construction work for any 
phase.

Reason: To ensure that appropriate mitigation measures are put in place to 
safeguard the health of trees located within the site and in close proximity to the 
proposed development in order to preserve their amenity value and the character of 
the area in accordance with the requirements of Unitary Development Plan policies 
NE/8 and BE/2 and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

20 Notwithstanding the details hereby approved, no development in each phase of the 
development hereby approved shall take place until, a scheme of tree and hedgerow 
protection measures in accordance with BS 5837:2012 'Trees in Relation to Design, 
Demolition and Construction for that phase incorporating both above and below 
ground measures to be implemented during the construction period has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
development shall thereafter be carried out in strict accordance with the protection 
measures contained within the duly approved scheme throughout the construction 
period.

Reason: In order to ensure that appropriate mitigation measures are put in place to 
safeguard the health of trees and hedgerows within the site in the interests of the 
amenity of the area, and that the development does not prejudice the favourable 
conservation status of protected species in accordance with the requirements of 
Unitary Development Plan policy NE/4, NE/7, the National Planning Policy 
Framework and the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as amended). 

21 The dwellings should be constructed in accordance with the recommendations in the 
submitted Noise Impact Assessment and designed to ensure that noise from passing 
traffic does not exceed: (i) 30dB(A) Leq 5mins in the bedrooms with windows shut 
and other means of ventilation provided between 11pm and 7am; (ii) 35dB(A) Leq (1 
hour) in other habitable rooms with windows shut and other means of ventilation 
provided at all times; (iii) 45 dB(A) Lmax in bedrooms.



Reason: In order to ensure the implementation of appropriate noise attenuation 
measures for the proposed dwellings to ensure satisfactory living conditions for future 
occupiers of the development in accordance with the requirements of Unitary 
Development Plan policies H/3, BE/2 and EM/3 and the policies within the NPPF.

22 No above ground works shall take place within each phase adjacent to Hollin Lane 
until a scheme for the provision of acoustic fencing to be installed to those dwellings 
along the western boundary of the site in accordance with the Noise Impact 
Assessment, Land at Hollin Lane report, REC Reference 90506R1-1, prepared by 
REC and dated 25th June 2014, has been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
local planning authority. The scheme shall include details of its height, materials, 
design and siting. The scheme shall be installed in accordance with the approved 
details before any dwelling within that phase is first brought into use and it shall be 
retained thereafter. 

Reason: In order to ensure the implementation of appropriate noise attenuation 
measures for the proposed dwellings to ensure satisfactory living conditions for future 
occupiers of the development in accordance with the requirements of Unitary 
Development Plan policies H/3, BE/2 and EM/3 and the policies within the NPPF.

23 Prior to the first occupation of each dwelling hereby approved, a verification report 
shall have been first submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority, confirming that the approved ventilation and acoustic measures set out in 
section 5.2 of the Noise Impact Assessment, Land at Hollin Lane report, REC 
Reference 90506R1-1, prepared by REC and dated 25th June 2014, have been 
implemented.

Reason: In order to ensure the implementation of appropriate noise attenuation 
measures for the proposed dwellings to ensure satisfactory living conditions for future 
occupiers of the development in accordance with the requirements of Unitary 
Development Plan policies H/3, BE/2 and EM/3 and the policies within the NPPF.

24 No development (other than the hereby approved access to Hollin Lane) shall take 
place to construct the internal estate roads within each relevant phase of the 
development until a scheme for the temporary and permanent crossing of the public 
right of way along Stott Lane affected by this phase of the development, has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The Scheme 
shall include, i)  plans showing the existing and proposed diverted/amended routes of 
the public rights of way as necessary; ii) details of the design and materials and 
details of any temporary or permanent road crossings where necessary. The route 
across Stott Lane shall not be brought into use until the scheme has been carried out 
in accordance with the approved details.

Reason: In the interests of highway safety and public access prevent obstruction to 
pedestrian, cycle and vehicular routes in accordance with Unitary Development Plan 
policies A/2, A/3 and A/13 and the policies within the NPPF.

25 Notwithstanding any information provided as part of the application, within three 
months of development first taking place a Travel Plan shall be submitted for the 
written approval of the Local Planning Authority. The Travel Plan shall contain firm 
measures for promoting a choice of transport mode and a monitoring regime with 
agreed mode share targets. In addition the Plan shall set out the monitoring 
procedures and mechanisms that are to be put in place to ensure that it remains 
effective and shall be reviewed within a framework approved by the Local Planning 
Authority. The initiatives contained in the approved Travel Plan shall be implemented 



before the first occupation of the buildings unless otherwise agreed in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority and shall continue to be implemented thereafter.

Reason: In order to ensure that the development encourages people to travel to the 
site by sustainable modes of transport in accordance with the objectives of Unitary 
Development Plan policy A/12 and the National Planning Policy Framework.

26 The submission of reserved matters relating to each phase of the development 
hereby approved, shall be accompanied by a 'Crime Impact Statement’' (CIS) for that 
phase which shall examine all aspects of site security including where necessary, car 
parking, pedestrian footways, entrances, internal layout and external security 
measures. Development of that phase shall be carried out in accordance with the 
approved CIS and any approved site security measures shall be retained thereafter.

Reason: In order to ensure that the development is appropriately secured from crime 
in the interests of providing a safe, secure and accessible community in accordance 
with policies G/BE/1, BE/2, of the Unitary Development Plan and the policies within 
the NPPF.

27 The submission of reserved matters relating to each phase of the development 
hereby approved shall include a Design and Access Statement demonstrating how 
that phase complies with the approved ‘Hollin Lane, Middleton Design and Access 
Statement (7 July 2014). The Design Statement shall include details of the design 
process undertaken; justification for the design approach and architectural styles 
adopted; the core design principles guiding development of that phase and how the 
phase relates to the design objectives and principles, and the overall framework 
masterplan within the approved ‘Land at Hollin Lane Parameters Plan, drwg no. 
448B.51B. The statement shall include details of how the detailed layout connects 
into the existing and planned surrounding network of routes including roads, 
footpaths, bridleways and rights of way, in particular including the right of way 
immediately to the east of the site and any planned development on the adjacent 
site.

Reason: In order to secure a high quality form of development and ensure a 
sympathetic relationship with the sites context, its surroundings and adjacent 
buildings and townscape and landscape features in accordance with the 
requirements of Unitary Development Plan policies G/BE/1, BE/2, and the National 
Planning Policy Framework.

28 The submission of reserved matters applications shall include detailed landscaping 
plans for the landscape open space and green corridors to be provided within the 
site. The landscaping plans shall follow the principles set out in the approved 
parameters plan (Land at Hollin Lane Parameters Plan, 448B.51B) and show the 
detailed layout of the replacement habitats to be provided including hedgerows, tree 
planting, ponds and grassy marshland. Such a scheme shall include details of the 
type, species, siting, planting distances and the programme of planting of trees and 
shrubs; the siting, dimensions, and depth of ponds; and the timescales for 
completion. The development shall thereafter be carried out in accordance with the 
approved details and timescales. Any trees or shrubs removed, dying, being severely 
damaged or becoming seriously diseased within three years of planting shall be 
replaced by trees or shrubs of similar size and species to those originally required to 
be planted. 

Reason: In order to ensure adequate provision of replacement habitats and 
landscape features of ecological value and to achieve appropriate landscape and 



biodiversity enhancements as part of the development in accordance with the 
requirements of UDP policy NE/3 and the National Planning Policy Framework.

29 The reserved matters application(s) for each phase(s) shall be accompanied by 
details of measures to be incorporated into the development for the management of 
household waste during the operation of the development hereby approved. This 
strategy shall be developed in accordance with the principles and objectives within 
the approved Operational Waste Strategy, Hollin Lane, Middleton, prepared by REC, 
reference 45641_2BP1R1, dated June 2014. 

Reason: In order to secure the provision of appropriate measures for the storage, 
management and recycling/disposal of waste on the site during the lifetime of the 
development hereby approved, and in the interests of highway safety and the 
character and appearance of the site and surrounding area, in accordance with the 
requirements of Unitary Development Plan policies A/7, G/BE/1, BE/2, and the 
National Planning Policy Framework.

Report Author Daniela Ripa



Application Number: 14/00851/OUT    Ward: West Middleton      

Proposal: Outline application (including access only) for up to 150 dwellings (Use 
Class C3), potential primary school site with associated landscaping, open space, 
access arrangements and car parking provision. All matters reserved save for access.

Site Address: Land Off Langley Lane Middleton    

Applicant: Mr Andrew Thorley
                  Taylor Wimpey UK Ltd

RECOMMENDATION: Granted subject to conditions

UPDATE

The application is one of three involved in the development of adjoining parcels of land in 
Middleton.  The Middleton Township Planning Sub Committee considered the applications at 
its meeting on 2nd September 2015 and resolved that it that it was minded to refer the 
applications to the Planning and Licensing Committee with a recommendation that planning 
permission be refused for all three applications.  In relation to this application, the following 
grounds for refusal were given: 

1. The unacceptable cumulative impact of these, and other proposed developments in 
the area, on the existing highway network and resultant congestion in the area; and

2. The inability of the existing local infrastructure, including schools, to cope with 
pressure from additional residents from these developments; and in light of the Sport 
England objection.  



Members of the Planning and Licensing Committee are advised that each applicant has 
considered the cumulative impact of all three developments, including the access 
arrangements, on the existing highway network.  Improvements to the existing network are 
proposed to mitigate the impact of each development and the local highway authority and 
Highways England have raised no objection on this basis.

Members are also advised that the applicant has agreed to enter into an s106 agreement to 
provide financial contributions towards off-site sports facilities to mitigate the impact of the 
development on sports facilities and officers recommend that Bowlee Playing Fields are 
identified as the specific project on which the contributions could be locally spent. Officers 
have advised Sport England that these improvements have been put forward by the 
applicants as mitigation and Sport England have withdrawn their objection to all three 
applications on this basis.  In addition, the applicant has agreed to enter into an s106 
agreement to provide financial contributions towards the provision of primary and secondary 
school places in the Borough to mitigate the impact of the development on schools and the 
scale of contributions put forward have been assessed by the Council’s Schools Service to 
be acceptable and appropriate in this case.  

The proposal represents a departure from the Rochdale Unitary Development Plan.  The 
Planning and Licencing Committee may approve or refuse the application on reasonable 
planning grounds.

SITE

The application relates to a circa 5.81 hectare area of agricultural land located immediately to 
the north of Langley Lane, which currently forms the urban boundary of Middleton.  The area 
to the south of the site on the opposite side of Langley Lane is located within the defined 
urban area of Middleton.  The existing housing on the southern side of Langley Lane forms a 
combination of post-war detached, semi-detached and terraced housing built to a moderate 
density in the area known as Langley.  Willows Park, Bowlee Community Park, Bowlee 
Community Primary School and Bowlee Playing Fields are located to the south and 
southwest of the site interspersed within the residential area. St Anne’s Academy complex is 
located further to the east of the site off Hollin Lane, and there are a collection of commercial 
and retail premises along Hollin Lane and at its junction with Langley Lane to the east of the 
application site. 

The site is located within an area designated as Protected Open Land on the Rochdale 
Unitary Development Plan (UDP) Proposals Map running between the defined urban area of 
Middleton immediately to the south defined by Langley Lane and open fields and the Green 
Belt to the north. Adjoining land flanking the northern and western boundaries lies within the 
Green Belt, with the farm complexes and open fields to the east also falling within an 
adjoining area of Protected Open Land. 

The site forms undulating land separated into two fields by a combination of hedgerows and 
trees. The southern frontage of the site onto Langley Lane comprises timber post and rail 
fencing.  The north, east and western boundaries of the site comprise fragmented clusters of 
trees and shrubs. The undulating topography provides a number of linear valleys and crests 
across the site, with the ground level generally rising slightly into the site in a northerly 
direction from Langley Lane with land levels on the site and in the surrounding area sloping 
downwards in a western and north western direction. The sloping ground levels result in a 
difference of up to 18 metres from the eastern boundary to the lowest point in the north 
western corner of the site.

Surrounding land uses include open farmland, a cluster of agricultural buildings at Langley 



Farm located partially within the Green Belt to the west; a large expanse of open farmland 
on lower lying ground to the north. A butchers and short row of dwelling houses are located 
to the east of the site, with Dingle Farm and the Close Road Farm complex of barns and 
agricultural buildings located to the rear and adjacent to the eastern boundary of the 
application site.  Open fields laid to pasture are also located to the east of the site (also 
falling within the designation of Protected Open Land). 

A public right of way (Mid Rupp 114) runs immediately to the east of the site running along 
the eastern boundary of the site. A network of public rights of way also run to the north and 
west of the site largely along field boundaries including nos. MidFp 115; MidFp111; 
MidFp112; MidFp 113 linking into Heywood Old Road to the north west.

PROPOSAL

The application seeks outline planning permission for a development of up to 150 dwellings 
and associated open space, landscaping, parking and access (option 1). The application has 
been amended to include a potential second option for the development of this site; option 2 
being the erection of up to 127 dwellings and the provision of land within the application site 
for the potential provision of a one form entry primary school. 

The application seeks approval of access only, with layout, scale and external appearance of 
the buildings being reserved for a later stage, along with the landscaping of the site. The 
matter of access is defined in the Development Management Procedure Order 2015 to mean 
“the accessibility to and within the site, for vehicles, cycles and pedestrians in terms of the 
positioning and treatment of access and circulation routes and how these fit into the 
surrounding access network.” 

Within both options 1 and 2, the principal access to the site is proposed to be taken from the 
north side of Langley Lane between its junctions with Derwent Road and Braithwaite Road 
directly opposite no’s 97 and 99 Langley Lane. The site access would form a bell-mouth 
junction with Langley Lane, with give way ground markings and a curved kerb radius 
achieving visibility splays of 2.4 metres x 58 metres (westbound) and 2.4 metres x 59.9 
metres (eastbound) with Langley Lane. The access (achieving a maximum width of 26 
metres at its junction with Langley Lane) would merge into a 5.5 metre wide estate road 
flanked by two metre wide footways running into the site. 

Option 2 includes a secondary access point off Langley Lane towards the eastern part of the 
application site, to the west of the junction with Wythburn Road and opposite nos. 55 to 61 
Langley Lane.  The secondary access would serve the school and a limited number of 
dwellings. This access would provide 2.4 metre by 60 metre visibility splay eastbound and 
2.4 metre by 58 metre visibility splay westwards. Under option 1 (without a primary school) 
this secondary access would form a surfaced pedestrian route to provide vehicular access in 
case of emergency only.  

Indicative layout plans for both options 1 and 2 show the potential layout of the buildings and 
open spaces within the site.  A parameters plan showing indicative building heights has also 
been submitted and shows the principal building locations within the site running east to 
west across the site frontage with Langley Lane to the south. The proposed dwellings would 
largely be two storeys in height with two central points in each half of the site where heights 
would rise to 2.5 storeys. As only access is sought by this application, the layouts and 
parameters plan are for illustrative purposes only.  For both options 1 and 2, the principal 
estate road runs northwards into the application site before turning eastwards and running 
through the centre of the site and providing access on to a number of secondary estate 
roads and cul-de-sacs arranged in a series of blocks.



It is indicated that the proposed development would provide a range of two bedroom 
dwellings (comprising between 5-20% of the total dwellings) three bedroom dwellings 
(comprising between 40 – 55%) four bedroom dwellings (comprising between 20-40%) and 
five bedroom dwellings (comprising between 0-10 %).

The submitted parameters plan that would guide future detailed proposals for the site also 
indicates:

• The provision of green corridors comprising a combination of landscaping and public 
open space to all the perimeters of the site, including a linear open space buffer 
alongside the northern boundary where the site adjoins the Green Belt.

• The provision of landscaped open space along the eastern boundary incorporating a 
Locally Equipped Area for Play (LEAP) to include either landscaped open space up 
to the junction with Langley Lane  (option 1) or school playing fields (option 2).  

• A landscaped buffer along the western boundary of the site.
• A primary combined cycle and footpath link providing a continuous route from 

Langley Lane at the eastern end of the site through the application site and 
residential areas, linking into the linear landscaped open space before running 
southwards back through the residential area onto Langley Lane towards the western 
end of the site.

• Proposed footpaths linking into the adjacent public right of way along the eastern 
boundary of the site.

The application proposes a scheme of off-site highways works comprising the following:
• Alterations to the carriageway of Langley Lane along a circa 360 metre stretch 

extending from its junction with Braithwaite Road up to the access with Close Road 
Farm, including:

 The provision of road markings along Langley Lane to provide a hatched no 
access area and right turning lane for eastbound traffic into Braithwaite Road, 
to include TRO where necessary;

 The introduction of additional pedestrian refuge and crossing points across 
Langley Lane to be positioned to the east of its junction with Langley Avenue 
to connect into the public right of way Mid Rupp 114;

 Traffic calming measures on the east and west bound approach to the site 
access in the form of ‘roundels to signal the approach to a new 30 MPH zone 
around the proposed site access;

 Improvements to the junction of Langley Lane and Hollin Lane to provide left 
and right hand turn lanes to increase capacity.

In addition to the above, the application includes the following to be secured through the 
completion of a section 106 planning obligation and a section 278 highways act agreement 
as follows:

 The provision of affordable housing on-site and/or an off-site contribution in lieu of 
onsite provision in accordance with the provisions of UDP policy H/7 and its 
associated SPD: Affordable Housing;

 A financial contribution towards provision of primary school places in Middleton 
Township (current calculation of £462,003.75 for up to 150 dwellings);

 A financial contribution towards provision of secondary school places in Middleton 
Township (current calculation of £231,000.15 for up to 150 dwellings);

 A financial contribution towards the provision of outdoor sport and recreation facilities 
at Bowlee Playing Fields (current calculation of up to £139,374);

 Provision of two bus stops on Hollin Lane, one northbound and one southbound or 
improvements to existing bus stops on Langley Lane (£20,000);

 A financial contribution towards the provision of cycle lane improvements comprising 
new and renewed on carriageway cycle lanes along Hollin Lane from its junction with 



Langley Lane southeast to its junction with Rochdale Road;
 A scheme for the provision, implementation and management of a Locally Equipped 

Area of Play (LEAP); and
 A landscape and public open space plan for the provision, implementation and 

management of the landscape open space within the site.

Taylor Wimpey has also confirmed their commitment to providing appropriate training, 
apprenticeships and utilising local labour as part of the development proposals.

Wider Hollin Lane Masterplan Area

This application forms part of a wider framework masterplan submitted by the applicant (the 
‘Hollin Lane Masterplan Area’) which comprises two further parcels of land to the east. One 
parcel comprises land on the eastern side of Hollin Lane, which is the subject of a 
concurrent planning application (reference no. 14/00849/OUT) for the erection of up to 205 
dwellings, and associated landscaping, open space, access arrangements and car parking. 
That application has been submitted by the same applicant and is similarly for outline 
planning permission with all matters reserved other than access.

Another parcel of land shown within the submitted Hollin Lane Masterplan Area lies 
immediately to the east of this site and indicates a potential future phase of development 
located to the west of Hollin Lane and north of Langley Lane. Part of this area of land is also 
the subject of a current application submitted by a different applicant, reference number 
14/00358/OUT for up to 88 dwellings and which is also under consideration.

RELEVANT PLANNING POLICY

National Guidance:

National Planning Policy Framework 

The Department for Communities and Local Government published the National Planning 
Policy Framework (NPPF) on 27 March 2012.  The NPPF sets out the Government’s 
planning policies for England and how these are expected to be applied.  

National Planning Policy Guidance

The government published its National Planning Practice Guidance on 6 March 2014. This is 
intended to complement the National Planning Policy Framework and to provide a single 
resource for planning guidance, whilst rationalising and streamlining the material. Almost all 
previous planning Circulars and advice notes have been cancelled. Specific reference will be 
made to the NPPG or other national advice in the Analysis section of the report, where 
appropriate.

Rochdale Core Strategy (Publication Submission 2013):

The Council’s Core Strategy Examination in Public hearing sessions reconvened in June 
2015 in respect of a single issue, that of housing need.  The Inspector’s report is currently 
awaited, however as the Core Strategy is not yet adopted and modifications may be 
recommended by the Inspector, the Core Strategy can only be afforded limited weight in 
decision making at the current time. It is anticipated that the Core Strategy may be adopted 
in early 2016.

The following policies of the emerging Core Strategy (known more formally as the emerging 
Rochdale Publication Core Strategy) are relevant:- 



SO1 To deliver a more prosperous economy
SO2 To create successful and healthy communities
SO3 To improve design, image and quality of place
SO4 To promote a greener environment

SD1 Delivering sustainable development

SP3/M The Strategy for Middleton
G5 Managing Protected Open Land
C6 Improving health and well being
C8 Improving community, sport, leisure and cultural facilities

P2 Protecting and enhancing character, landscape and heritage
P3 Improving design of new development

G1 Tackling and adapting to climate change
G2 Energy and new development
G3 Renewable and low carbon energy developments
G7 Increasing the biodiversity and geodiversity
G8 Managing water resources and flood risk
G9 Reducing the impact of pollution 
G10 Managing mineral resources

T2 Improving accessibility
DM1 General development requirements
DM2 Delivering planning contributions and infrastructure

Unitary Development Plan (June 2006):

G/D/1 Defined Urban Area
D/10 Protected Open Land

G/RE/1 Countryside and the Rural Economy
RE/2 Countryside Around Towns
RE/3 Development Involving Agricultural Land
RE/5 Access to the Countryside
RE/6 Recreational Rights of Way

G/G/1 Greenspace
G/2 Standards for Recreational Open Space
G/4 New Provision of Local Open Space

G/H/1 Housing
H/3 Residential Development Outside Allocated Areas
H/6 Provision of Recreational Open Space in New Housing Development
H/7 Affordable Housing

G/CF/1 Community Facilities and Public Service
CF/2 General Criteria for the Development of Local Community and Health Facilities

G/A/1 Accessibility
A/2 Accessibility Hierarchy
A/3 New Development – Access for Pedestrians and Disabled People
A/4 New Development – Access for Cyclists



A/5 New Development – Access for Bus Services
A/7 New Development – Access for Service Vehicles
A/8 New Development – Capacity of the Highway Network
A/9 New Development – Access for General Traffic
A/10 New Development – Provision of Parking
A/11 New Development – Transport Assessments
A/13 Local Walking Route Network

G/BE/1 Design Quality
BE/2 Design Criteria for New Development
BE/8 Landscaping in new Development

G/BE/9 Conservation of the Built Heritage
BE/10 Development Affecting Archaeological Sites and Ancient Monuments

G/EM/1 Environmental Protection and Pollution Control
EM/2 Pollution
EM/3 Noise and New Development
EM/4 Contaminated Land
EM/7 Development and Flood Risk
EM/8 Protection of Surface and Ground Water
EM/9 Development Involving Unstable Land

G/EM/12 Renewable Energy and Energy Conservation
EM/13 Energy Efficiency and New Development

G/NE/1 Nature Conservation
NE/2 Designated Sites of Ecological and Geological/Geomorphological Importance
NE/3 Biodiversity and Development
NE/4 Protected Species

G/NE/5 Landscape and Woodlands
NE/6 Landscape Protection and Enhancement
NE/8 Development Affecting Trees, Woodlands & Hedgerows

Greater Manchester Joint Minerals Plan (April 2013)

Policy 2 Key Planning and Environmental Criteria
Policy 8 Prior Extraction of Mineral Resources 

Supplementary Planning Guidance:
Oldham and Rochdale Residential Design Guide SPD
Guidelines and Standards for Residential Development SPG
Energy and New Development SPD
Provision of Recreational Open Space in New Housing SPD
Affordable Housing SPD

Rochdale Borough Transport Strategy (March 2014)

SITE HISTORY

14/00691/SO Request for a Screening Opinion under The Town and Country Planning 
(Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulations 2011 in respect of a proposed 
development off Hollin Lane, Middleton – not EIA development.



No other applications have been submitted on this site.
CONSULTATION RESPONSES

Highways and Engineering: - No objections. Comments as follows: 
• The impact of the development has been considered in conjunction with the planning 

applications for the development of the adjacent land in this area and the wider 
masterplan.  We have also considered the improvements to Junction 19 of the M62 
and the South Heywood Development. It is also noted that the Highways England 
has not objected to the application and discussions have taken place between 
Highways England and the Local Highway Authority.

• Whilst the development will result in additional trips on the surrounding network, the 
levels arising as a direct result of the scheme would not, when considered either 
individually or cumulatively (across both sites), result in any step change which it is 
considered would have a severe impact on highway safety or network capacity. 
Improvements to the existing highway infrastructure are, however, required as part of 
the development, including at the junction of Langley Lane and Hollin Lane.

• The proposal includes an intention to make the site fully permeable to cyclists and 
pedestrians by providing a number of new routes within the site whilst preserving 
existing rights of way. This will benefit not only the future residents but any other 
cyclists travelling through this area. There should, however, be greater connectivity 
between the routes across both sites through the provision of an improved crossing 
point for cyclists and pedestrians.

• The alternative emergency access points shown around the site are acceptable.
• The following should be secured as part of the scheme, either through condition or 

legal agreement: (i) a programme of improvement works at the junction of Hollin 
Lane and Langley Lane. These should be implemented before any of the dwellings 
are first occupied; (ii) the provision of a toucan crossing over Hollin Lane to ensure 
the safe movement of pedestrians and cyclists across the carriageway; (iii) a 
contribution of £4000 towards the amendment of the TRO on Hollin Lane to extend 
the length of the 30 mph zone alongside the development site, to be introduced 
before any of the dwellings are first occupied.

Highways England: No objections. Comments as follows:
• No objection subject to a condition that none of the dwellings shall be first occupied 

until a travel plan has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority and all the measures in the approved travel plan have been 
implemented.

Coal Authority: - No objections. Comments as follows:
• The site falls outside the defined Development High Risk Area and accordingly, 

would not normally require consultation with the Coal Authority under the agreed Risk 
Based Approach to Development Management.

• The site does, however, fall within a Minerals Safeguarding Area defined in the 
Greater Manchester Minerals Plan. The submitted Mineral Assessment Report has 
been informed by a review of available geological and mining information for the sites 
and follows the methodology of the British Geological Survey/Coal Authority 
publication Mineral Safeguarding in England: Good Practice Advice. Based on this 
review the report author concludes that the prior extraction of coal resources would 
not be viable as part of the development proposal.

• The applicant has addressed the requirements of Policy 8 of the adopted Greater 
Manchester Minerals Plan through the consideration of prior extraction of coal 
resources as part of the Mineral Assessment Reports submitted. Therefore, the Coal 
Authority has no objection to the planning application.

• An informative should be added to the decision notice to advise the applicant that the 
site lies within a coal mining area which may contain unrecorded coal mining related 



hazards. The applicant should contact the Coal Authority if any such features are 
encountered during the course of development.

Minerals and Waste Planning Unit: - Comments as follows:
• The site lies within a Mineral Safeguarding Area for coal and brick clay. In 

accordance with policy 8 of the Greater Manchester Minerals Plan, the submitted 
Minerals Assessment investigates the exceptions which would exempt the 
development from the requirements of prior mineral extraction. The report submitted 
by the applicant concludes that mineral extraction should be exempted in line with 
Policy 8 on the grounds that: 

• There is an overriding need for the residential development that outweighs 
the need to avoid sterilisation of the mineral resource; 

• The prior extraction of minerals cannot be carried out in an environmentally 
acceptable manner and would also conflict with policies 2 and 5. 

• Prior extraction is not economically viable due to the depth of the mineral and 
the environmental issues associated with quarrying. 

• The report indicates that Rochdale is currently not meeting its need for 5 year 
housing stock. If this is accurate then the conclusion in point 1 above is agreed and 
the development is exempted from prior mineral extraction requirements in 
accordance with policy 8 of the Joint Waste and Minerals Plan as, in these 
circumstances, the need for housing outweighs the need to avoid sterilisation.

• With respect to points 2 and 3: (2) it is not agreed that extraction could not be 
undertaken in an environmentally acceptable manner. The report mentions the close 
proximity of housing and a school. However, suitable planning conditions could be 
imposed to mitigate the impact of mineral extraction on the environment; (3) The 
Coal Authority report referred to in the Minerals Assessment would only indicate 
known worked seams of coal rather than coal seams underlying the site, as the 
report is aimed at identifying risks from coal mining. No information has been 
provided as to the depth of potential brick clay and so its potential for extraction is 
unknown. Therefore, insufficient information on the underlying geology at site has 
been provided to make a judgment on whether or not extraction would be economic.

Contaminated Land Officer: - A condition should be attached to any permission requiring 
submission of an intrusive site investigation and remediation strategy before any 
development take place.

Environment Agency: - No objections. Standing advice for developments in flood zone 1 
(over 1 hectare in area) as follows:

• Proposals for surface water management should aim to ensure that run-off does not 
exceed existing (pre-development) rates and, where practicable, reduce the rate of 
runoff from the site as a result of the development (including information regarding 
how the proposed drainage design will perform under the increased frequency and 
intensity of rainfall that is predicted as a result of climate change). 

• Drainage from new developments must not increase flood risk either on site or 
elsewhere (NPPF paragraph 102) and should preferably reduce risk. Government 
policy strongly encourages a sustainable drainage system (SuDS) approach to 
achieve these objectives.

• Surface water run-off should be controlled as near to its source as possible through a 
sustainable drainage approach to surface water management (SuDS). SuDS seek to 
mimic natural drainage systems and retain water on or near to the site, when rain 
falls, in contrast to traditional drainage approaches, which tend to pipe water off site 
as quickly as possible. SuDS offer significant advantages over conventional piped 
drainage systems in reducing flood risk by reducing the quantity of surface water run-
off from a site and the speed at which it reaches water courses, promoting 
groundwater recharge, and improving water quality and amenity. 



• Run-off from previously-developed sites should be compared with existing rates, not 
greenfield rates for the site before it was developed.  Developers are, however, 
strongly encouraged to reduce runoff rates from previously-developed sites as much 
as is reasonably practicable and in line with local policy. Volumes of run-off should 
also be reduced wherever possible using infiltration and attenuation techniques.

Lead Local Flood Authority: - No objections. Comments as follows:
• The Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) and surface water drainage strategy indicate the 

intention to connect the surface water drainage systems from both sites into adjacent 
brooks. The proposals include flow attenuation measures to limit surface water 
discharge to greenfield run off rate and to deal with the effect of climate change.

• A condition should be imposed requiring submission of a detailed drainage design 
including calculations identifying the rate of surface water discharge from the site 
(which should not exceed the existing, greenfield rate)

United Utilities (UU): - No objections. Comments as follows:
• The site should be drained on separate systems with foul water draining to the public 

sewer and surface water draining in the most sustainable way in accordance with the 
hierarchy identified in the Building Regulations: (i) a soakaway/infiltration system; (ii) 
a watercourse; (iii) a sewer. 

• United Utilities will have no objection to the proposal provided that the following 
conditions are attached to any approval: -

(i) This site must be drained on a separate system, with only foul drainage 
connected into the foul sewer. Surface water should discharge to the nearby 
water course to meet the requirements of the National Planning Policy 
Framework (PPS 1 (22) and PPS 25 (F8)) and part H3 of the Building 
Regulations.

(ii) No surface water from this development is discharged either directly or 
indirectly to the combined sewer network.

• A public sewer runs close to the boundary of the site and should not be built over.  
UU will require an access strip of 6 metres (3 metres to either side of the central line) 
for any sewer. If a diversion of the public sewer is required, this will be at the 
applicant’s expense. Deep rooted shrubs and trees should not be planted in the 
vicinity of the public sewer and overflow systems.

• A domestic water supply can be made available to the proposed development. As the 
connection is to be made to an unmetered trunk main the applicant will be required to 
fund the cost of a new district meter and pressure management valve. 

• Two clean water trunk mains cross the site. As UU need access for operating and 
maintaining them, development should not be permitted in close proximity to the 
mains. An access strip of no less than 10 metres (measuring at least 5 metres to 
either side of the centre line of each pipe) will be required.

Environmental Health Officer (EHO): - No objections. Comments as follows:
• A condition should be imposed restricting hours of construction to between 07:30 and 

18:00 Monday to Friday and between 09:00 and 14:00 on Saturdays. No work should 
take place on Sundays.

• The dwellings should be constructed in accordance with the recommendations in the 
submitted Noise Impact Assessment and designed to ensure that noise from passing 
traffic does not exceed: (i) 30dB(A) Leq 5mins in the bedrooms with windows shut 
and other means of ventilation provided between 11pm and 7am; (ii) 35dB(A) Leq (1 
hour) in other habitable rooms with windows shut and other means of ventilation 
provided at all times; (iii) 45 dB(A) Lmax in bedrooms. 

• Acoustic fences shall be installed in the positions shown in figure 4, appendix 3 of the 
submitted Noise Impact Assessment in order to achieve external noise levels of 55 
dB(A) for the dwellings.



• Appropriate conditions should be imposed to deal with the above and a verification 
report should be submitted on completion of the dwellings in order to demonstrate 
that the stipulated noise levels have been achieved. 

Greater Manchester Fire and Rescue Service: Comments as follows:
• The provisions of S63 of the Greater Manchester Act (1981) will be applicable to the 

scheme. This will enable the Fire Authority to request additional provisions for access 
for the Fire Service when proposals are submitted for Building Regulation approval.

Greater Manchester Archaeological Advisory Service (GMAAS): Comments as follows:
• The application is supported by an archaeological Desk Based Assessment (DBA). 

The Historic Environment Record (HER) for Greater Manchester was consulted in 
preparing the DBA. Having reviewed the evidence of the HER, historic mapping and 
documentary sources the DBA concludes that, apart from the remains of three 
buildings denoted on the 1839/40 Middleton and Hopwood tithe maps, there is a low/ 
nil potential for unknown archaeology of earlier periods to survive.

• The proposed development area (PDA) consists of six fields in a landscape that is 
and has been in the recent historic past dominated by pasture. There are records for 
prehistoric stone axe hammers (HER 5030.1.0 & 2437.1.0) in the surrounding search 
area. It is possible that these two records are duplicates, and that the most accurate 
of the two is HER 5030.1.0 as it is closest to Hopwood where the discovery was 
made. HER 5030.1.0 lies about 140m east of the PDA boundary. Topographically, 
the PDA occupies an area of relatively level high ground (c.150 – 140m AOD) which 
is surrounded by radiating drainages flowing down to land below c.120m where they 
join Trub Brook to the south and east and Whittle Brook to the north and west. Such 
relatively elevated locations are well understood to have provided a preferred focus 
for prehistoric and possibly early historic activity.

• Whilst the known HER content may suggest there is a low/ nil chance of prehistoric 
remains being encountered, this does not take into account the lack of any previous 
fieldwork in the vicinity that would reveal such remains. In addition, the HER does not 
account for the local topographic context in considering where activity of the earlier 
periods might have been focussed, nor the discovery of one or more stone axe 
hammers nearby.

• The DBA concludes that there is some potential for remains of the three post-
medieval buildings to be encountered in the centre and the south of the site and that 
some investigation of these below ground remains may need to be undertaken as a 
condition of any permission. GMAAS accepts these conclusions, but also 
recommends that a conditioned programme of works should include phased 
evaluation of the PDA using geophysics and trenching to see if earlier remains do 
survive.

• A condition should be attached to any permission granted requiring that a 
programme of archaeological works be undertaken in accordance with a Written 
Scheme of Investigation (WSI). This WSI should include: a geophysical evaluation 
and trenching, a programme for post investigation assessment, provision for 
publication and dissemination of the report on the site investigation, provision for 
archive deposition of the report, finds and records of the site investigation and 
nomination of an competent person(s) to undertake the works outlined in the WSI. 
GMAAS will monitor the implementation of the work on behalf of the Local Authority.

Green Infrastructure Officer: - No objections. Comments as follows:
• Existing hedges to the perimeter of the site should, where possible, be retained and 

incorporated into the landscaping of the site.
• The development includes large areas of open space within the site including public 

open spaces and additional planting which give an opportunity to increase tree cover.



Natural England: - No objections. Comments as follows:
• The site is located in close proximity to the Rochdale Canal Site of Special Scientific 

Interest (SSSI). Natural England is satisfied that the proposed development, being 
carried out in strict accordance with the details of the application as submitted, will 
not damage or destroy the interest features for which the SSSI has been notified. 
Therefore, this SSSI does not represent a constraint in determining the application. 

• This application may provide opportunities to incorporate features into the design 
which are beneficial to wildlife, such as roosting opportunities for bats or the 
installation of bird nest boxes. The authority should consider securing measures to 
enhance the biodiversity of the site from the applicant, if it is minded to grant 
permission for this application, in accordance with Paragraph 118 of the NPPF.

Greater Manchester Ecology Unit (GMEU): - No objections. Comments as follows:
• An ecological survey of the site has been undertaken, which included a phase 1 

habitat survey updated in 2013 and surveys for amphibians, bats, badgers, breeding 
birds and riparian mammals in 2014.  The survey work was undertaken by suitably 
licensed/experienced ecologists following best practice guidance.  Therefore there is 
no reason to doubt the findings of the ecological assessment.

Designated sites
• The proposed development site has no nature conservation designations, legal or 

otherwise.  Hopwood Woods Local Nature Reserve lies close to the Hollin Lane site 
and part of this reserve is designated as an SBI and is Ancient woodland.  

• There is also potential that the increased housing stock in close proximity to the 
LNR/SBI will increase the pressure both on the habitats and access to the site

• A condition should be imposed to ensure that no development takes place until 
detailed drainage plans have been produced.  If any work is proposed within, or on 
watercourses that lead into a designated site, then they must be accompanied by an 
ecological assessment of the impact of the proposals including both construction of 
the outfall and the impact on the site once the outflow is operational.

• The Council may also wish to explore seeking a financial commitment or 
management arrangement with the developers to contribute towards the habitat 
management and access facilities within Hopwood Woods, given the likely increase 
of footfall into this area and associated increased pressures on the site.

Amphibians
 A number of ponds are located within 500m of the proposed development, 13 of 

which were not separated by major amphibian dispersal barriers.  These were 
subject to a number of great crested newt survey methods including a Habitat 
Suitability Index (HSI), bottle trapping, torching, egg search and eDNA sampling.  No 
great crested newts were recorded in any of the survey work

Bats
• Three bat activity surveys were undertaken which found the site was of low 

importance to bats with only low levels of common pipistrelle activity recorded.
• A condition should be imposed requiring a lighting plan for the scheme (including 

construction and post development) to be submitted, which includes measures to 
minimise the impact on bats, in line with paragraph 6.5 of the ecological assessment.

Breeding birds
• A breeding bird survey was undertaken following best practice guidance.  While 32 

species were recorded on or within the vicinity of the site, few were confirmed as 
breeding and the species of conservation concern/section 41 species, were 
associated with habitat adjacent to the site rather than on the site.

• A condition should be imposed stating that no ground clearance, tree felling or 



pruning, hedgerow removal or clearance of vegetation should be undertaken in the 
bird nesting season (March - August inclusive) unless otherwise approved in writing 
by the LPA.

Brown Hare
• There are records of brown hare to the east of the proposed development site and 

the site supports habitat that is suitable for this species.  No specific brown hare 
survey was undertaken, but no sightings of brown hare were made during the other 
field work.  Given the habitat available in the wider environment there should not be a 
detrimental impact of the development on brown hare.

Badgers
• No evidence of badgers was recorded on the site, however an active sett was 

located to the north of the site (north of Whittle Brook).  Given the habitat buffer 
proposed and the distance of the sett from the development area, any direct impact 
or disturbance of the sett is unlikely.  However it is likely that badgers will utilise the 
site for foraging, and suitable habitat was recorded on the site. 

• A condition should be imposed - no development shall commence until a badger 
method statement to avoid harm of badgers utilising the site has been submitted to 
the LPA for approval.  Once approved the method statement should be carried out in 
full.

• Condition - An updated badger survey of the site should be undertaken three months 
prior to the start of the development to establish if badgers have become active on 
the site, and if so appropriate mitigation should be included within this report.

Riparian Mammals
• No evidence of water vole or otter were recorded

Invasive species
• The invasive Himalayan balsam has been recorded on the site.
• A condition should be imposed stating that no development shall take place until a 

scheme to avoid the spread of Himalayan balsam has been submitted to the LPA for 
approval.  Once approved the scheme should be carried out in full.

Habitat Loss and landscaping
• The dominant habitat on the site is grazed species poor semi-improved grassland. 

 However a number of other habitats on the site are present and will be lost or 
impacted upon, including ponds, hedgerows and marshy grassland. The indicative 
layout and design and access statement suggests that exiting wildlife corridors will be 
maintained and enhanced through the site and a wildlife buffer will be created to the 
north of the site.

• A condition should be imposed requiring submission of detailed landscaping plans 
which follow the principles established within the indicative layout.  Compensation will 
be required for the loss of habitats such as ponds (1 for 1 replacement) marshy 
grassland and hedgerows and should follow the principles laid out within section 6 of 
the ecological report. Locally native species should be used in the hedgerow and 
tree/woodland planting and should be incorporated throughout the landscaping of the 
scheme.

• A condition should require all trees and hedgerows to be retained as part of the 
development to be adequately protected following British Standards.

• Biodiversity enhancements should be encouraged throughout the development in line 
with national planning policy.  Measures such as those in section 6.8-6.11 should be 
incorporated into the scheme. A condition requiring submission of a long term 
conservation management plan for the wildlife corridors and the buffer zone for the 
northern end of the site should be submitted to the LPA for approval.  Once approved 



the management plan should be carried out in full.
• An informative should be attached to any planning permission granted which makes 

the developer aware that if at any time protected species are found to be present on 
the site or affected by the development, work should cease immediately and Natural 
England/LPA should be contacted.

Schools Service: - No objections. Comments as follows:
• In taking a view on developer contributions for this scheme, the school place 

availability for the Middleton Township as a whole has been considered, rather than a 
2 mile or 3 mile walking distance for primary and secondary places respectively. This 
is because it references our place planning areas, and more closely relates to 
meeting overall school place demand.

• The strategy of the Local Authority is to provide additional places to meet that 
expected demand in existing schools, without over-providing too many places. The 
Authority consulted during the Summer of 2015 on how additional places will be 
provided to meet current projected demand.

• Whilst the Birth data indicates fewer children being born in the township for 
admission in 2018, the number of extra Reception Class places to be provided by the 
Local Authority will be reduced to match the reduced demand whilst retaining a 
margin for preference and movement.  The School Capacity and projections Returns 
of 2014 show there would be a shortfall in capacity without the provision of the 
additional planned places to accommodate the peak in demand.

• A number of primary schools in the Township have been extended, either on a 
permanent or temporary basis to make sure there are enough places to meet 
planned demand to 2016.  As stated in paragraph 2 above, consultation on the need 
for extra Reception places for 2017 and 2018 took place in summer 2015.

• Additional Reception Class places will be needed in the Township for 2016 to 2018. 
The proposals for 2016, 2017 and 2018 are to:
(i) increase the admission capacity at Bowlee Park CP from 90 to 120 places and to 
consider whether this should be a permanent enlargement to take account of 
potential housing developments in this area of Middleton; and
(ii) increase the admission capacity at Boarshaw CP from 30 to 60 places for a 
further 2 years, i.e.2017 and 2018 (subject to review).

• To meet the expected increase in demand, and taking account of consultation with 
schools, parents and interested parties, in December 2014 the Borough’s Cabinet 
approved proposals to provide 60 extra Year 7 places in the Township for the period 
to 2019. These places would be provided as follows: 30 additional places from 
September 2016 onwards at Cardinal Langley RC; and 30 additional places from 
September 2017 onwards at St. Anne’s Academy. This would meet the current 
expected demand, although this will be kept under review.

• The expected Pupil Yield based on standard BSF formula across both the Hollin 
Lane and Langley Lanes sites (355 houses) is 89 primary places and 36 secondary 
places, applied to the projections from 2016. There would also be an expected 13 
children per year group for nursery age children (rising 3’s and 4’s). There would also 
be an expected 7 children per year group post 16.

• Developer contributions would need to support the provision of additional places in 
the Township for both primary and secondary sectors. 

• The reason for this is that, because of the need to meet existing demographic 
demand, existing school sites across the whole of Middleton, north of the Town 
Centre, will be at their realistic maximum capacity. 

• For the primary sector, additional places could be accommodated within an existing 
primary school. The developer contribution for primary school places for each site would 
be as follows:

• Option 1: 150 dwellings x 0.25 = 37.5 children) x £12,320.01 = £462,003.75.
• Option 2: 127 dwellings x 0.25 = 31.75 children) x £12,320.01= £391,160.31



• For the secondary sector, additional places could be accommodated within existing 
secondary schools, which would need to be expanded further than currently planned. 
Based on the DfE cost multiplier for Basic Need Allocations for 2014 of £15,400.01 
per place.

• Option 1: 150 dwellings x 0.1 =15 children) x £15,400.01 = £231,000.15
• Option 2: 127 dwellings x 0.1 = 12.7 children x £15,400.01 = £195,580.13
• Additional considerations: the Local Authority would have to have the contributions 

before the commencement of the development, because the school places would 
need to be ready prior to the occupation of properties on the development. 

Transport for Greater Manchester (TfGM): - No objections. Comments as follows:
 The majority of this site is not very well located in relation to public transport (with the 

exception of a small part of the site in the south-eastern corner closest to Hollin 
Lane).  There is a Monday to Saturday, Middleton – Rhodes – Birch – Hollin – 
Alkrington circular bus service which routes eastwards along Langley Lane (hail and 
ride in this location) providing access to Middleton town centre.  However this is only 
an hourly service which doesn’t start until after 9.00 am and finishes just after 4.00 
pm.  The bus stops on Hollin Lane and Windermere Road offer access to more 
frequent bus services to Middleton, Manchester, Heywood and Bury, with earlier start 
and finish times more suitable for commuting, however these bus stops are beyond 
reasonable walking distance (400 metres) from most of the site.  Future residents 
reliant on public transport may be prepared to walk to these bus stops but they do not 
offer an attractive alternative that would encourage car users to access the site by 
public transport.  Therefore there will be some access to a choice of travel mode but 
without further incentives, the choice of public transport services on offer are unlikely 
to significantly reduce the amount of car travel generated by this development.   

 Ideally the layout of the site should be designed to try to encourage travel by 
sustainable modes including walking and cycling.  It should be ensured that the 
pedestrian and cycling environment, within and around the site, is designed to be as 
safe, attractive and convenient as possible, including natural surveillance from active 
frontages of the development, where possible.  Particular attention should be paid to 
the walking / cycle routes through the site and links to Langley Lane and the potential 
future links through to Hollin Lane. The development of the site provides an 
opportunity to improve and develop the existing cycle network, there are currently no 
cycling facilities along Langley Lane, a traffic free segregated cycle route could be 
provided along the site frontage of Langley Lane.

 I note that the proposals include an estate road providing access from Langley Lane 
through the site with a potential future link to Hollin Lane, should the site to the west 
of Hollin Lane also be developed. This possible extension to the highway network 
could produce potential new bus routing options for bus services in this area, in the 
future.  TfGM would recommend future proofing the design of the estate road to be 
able to accommodate bus services. At the reserved matters stage, it may be useful to 
confirm the acceptability of potential bus stop locations on the estate road as this 
could improve public transport accessibility for the less accessible parts of the 
proposed development.

 It is important to influence people’s travel patterns at the beginning of occupation and 
therefore it is encouraging to note that this application is accompanied by a 
Framework Travel Plan to reduce the dependence on single occupancy car travel 
and to encourage the use of more sustainable transport modes.  The Travel Plan will 
provide the ongoing management tool for implementing the necessary transport 
measures for the site.  The success of the Travel Plan measures will depend on their 
effective delivery and commitment from the occupiers and therefore robust 
arrangements for the implementation and running of the Travel Plan need to be 
included in the plan itself.  Should Rochdale MBC be minded to approve this 



application it is suggested that the further development, submission, implementation 
and monitoring of a full Residential Travel Plan be attached as conditions of any 
planning consent.

Environmental Management (refuse collection): - No objections. Comments as follows:
• It is understood that the road layout shown on the proposed masterplan is for 

indicative purposes only. When a detailed estate road design comes forward the 
development should seek to reduce the number of reversing points for refuse 
vehicles in order to minimise potential hazards associated with such manoeuvres.

• The houses will be required to accommodate satisfactory off-road bin storage areas 
when they come forward at detailed design stage. Rochdale currently has a 4 bin 
system for garden properties and a 3 bin system for non-garden houses.

Strategic Housing: - Comments as follows:
• If the development was to deliver an equal split of 2, 3 and 4 bedroom houses the 

scheme would return an estimated New Homes Bonus (NHB) of £265,243 for the first 
year, with a cumulative payment of £1,591,456 over six years.

• The NHB is paid annually over a period of six years from the start of the programme 
and is only payable for properties completed before the end of the programme. The 
present year (2014/15) is the fourth year of the programme. Therefore, the level of 
payment received from NHB as mentioned above would be dependent on: (1) the 
rate of completions on site; and (2) the potential for the programme being extended 
beyond its existing six-year timeframe.

• The development would be required to make provision for affordable housing in 
accordance with UDP policy H/7 and its associated SPD. Given the level of social 
rented accommodation on the nearby Langley and Hollin estates, it is considered that 
the most appropriate means of securing affordable housing would be either a 
commuted sum associated with an off-site contribution or on-site provision through 
an affordable sale option (e.g. shared ownership/shared equity).

Strategic Planning:- Assessed within Analysis section of report.  

Design for Security: - No comment.

Community Safety: - No comments to make until detailed design stage.

Sport England: - A combined consultation response has been provided as part of a non-
statutory consultation on the proposed development and the two other planning applications 
14/00851/OUT and 14/00849/OUT on adjacent sites. 

Members of the Middleton Township Planning Sub Committee raised concerns about the 
non-statutory objection raised by Sport England.  To clarify, these comments were received 
prior to the negotiation of s106 contributions towards off-site sports facilities in the local area, 
the precise details of which are reported elsewhere in this report.  Officers have 
subsequently advised Sport England that contributions are sought towards off-site sports 
facilities and the contributions have been calculated using the Sport England calculator.  

Sport England has subsequently withdrawn its non-statutory objection to the applications.  In 
the interests of clarity, the initial comments and updated comments of Sport England are 
reported below.  

Initial Comments:
• It is understood that the 3 applications are linked and propose a total of 443 

residential dwellings. An area for open space provision is shown within each of the 
sites but there is no acknowledgement that the increased demand arising from the 



development will affect the capacity of existing, and potentially create the need for 
additional, sports provision in the area. 

• Sport England has assessed the application against its adopted planning policy 
objectives. The focus of these objectives is that a planned approach to the provision 
of facilities and opportunities for sport is necessary in order to meet the needs of 
local communities. The occupiers of any new development, especially residential, will 
generate demand for sporting provision. The existing provision within an area may 
not be able to accommodate this increased demand without exacerbating existing 
and/or predicted future deficiencies. Therefore, Sport England considers that new 
developments should be required to contribute towards meeting the demand they 
generate through the provision of on-site facilities and/or providing additional capacity 
off-site. The level and nature of any provision should be informed by a robust 
evidence base such as an up to date Sports Facility Strategy, Playing Pitch Strategy 
or other relevant needs assessment. This requirement is supported by the 
Government’s National Planning Policy Framework.

• The population of the proposed development is estimated to be 1064 people based 
on the ONS census figure 2011 of 2.4 people per dwelling for Rochdale. This 
additional population will generate additional demand for sports facilities. If this 
demand is not adequately met, then it may place additional pressure on existing 
sports facilities, thereby creating deficiencies in facility provision. In accordance with 
Circular 05/05, Sport England seeks to ensure that the development meets any new 
sports facility needs arising as a result of the development. 

• In the absence of a Needs Assessment for outdoor sport, Sport England has 
consulted the main pitch sport national governing bodies. The Rugby Football Union 
(RFU) advise that the promotional activity currently underway with the 2015 Rugby 
Union World Cup, and the legacy projects that are likely to evolve has created 
additional interest in Rugby Union in the area. This interest along with the additional 
demand arising from these three residential developments is likely to put pressure on 
the existing rugby facilities in the area. The RFU predicts a growth in membership 
over the coming season as a result of targeted RFU/club recruitment work and the 
increase in exposure offered by the Rugby World Cup (September 2015). The three 
closest Rugby Union Clubs that may be affected by the increase in demand arising 
from the housing developments are: 
1. North Manchester RUFC (circa 3 miles) – Manchester City Council 
2. Rochdale RUFC (circa 5miles) – Rochdale MBC 
3. Sedgley Park RUFC (circa 7 miles) – Bury MBC 

Built Sports Facilities: 
• You may be aware that Sport England’s Sports Facilities Calculator (SFC) can help 

to provide an indication of the likely demand that will be generated by a development 
for certain facility types. The SFC indicates that a population of 1064 will generate a 
demand for the following facility types: pools up to £157,064; halls up to £183,329; 
indoor bowls up to £17,994; and artificial sand pitch of £24,936, and artificial 3G pitch 
£28,293.

• An assessment would need to be made to ascertain what impact the additional 
demand will have on existing sports facilities. 
- Do the existing sports facilities have sufficient spare capacity to accommodate the 
- additional demand? 
- Will improvements be required to build in extra capacity on existing sites? 
- Are new sports facilities required? 

• Rochdale do not have an up to date Built Facilities Strategy. The information above 
provides an indication of what may be required based purely on the likely population 
profile the new dwellings are likely to generate. It is up to the applicant, in 
consultation with the Council, to decide/prove that there are sufficient existing 
facilities to meet the new demand. It is likely given the size of the development that 



contributions towards the creation of new facilities or the improvements of existing 
facilities may be required. If an assessment of need is not undertaken then it is the 
opinion of Sport England that the proposal does not meet the sustainability test which 
is set out in the NPPF.

Playing Pitches:
• Rochdale does not have a robust up to date Playing Pitch Strategy. As with the built 

facilities, the new population may have an impact on the existing playing fields. 
Therefore, contributions may be required to create additional playing pitch provision. I 
would encourage dialogue with Rochdale’s leisure department to determine what is 
required. 

• In conclusion, the applicants have submitted fairly detailed planning statements, but 
clearly omit to discuss sport or the impact the new residents will have on the existing 
sporting facilities/pitches. Sport England objects as the open space and sports 
provision is not based on any assessment of need as required by paragraph 17, 70 
and 73 of NPPF.

Updated comments:
• I understand the contributions from the three applications have been calculated using 

Sport England’s Sports Facilities Calculator (SFC) as recommended in my response 
to the LPA in June and I the absence of an up to date Needs Assessment.  For 
information the SFC is adjusted annually to take into account revised cost estimates 
and any changes in population estimates issues by ONS.  I understand form our 
conversation yesterday that the intention is to revise the contribution at the 
appropriate time using the latest SFC, this is welcomed.  I also understand specific 
sites will be identified where the contributions will be used in order to comply with CIL 
regulations.  Again this is welcomed as the site identification process will allow you to 
identify which sports facilities within the area requires improvement to create 
additional capacity to accommodate the increase in demand generated from the 
housing developments.

• I can confirm Sport England withdraws the objections previously lodged to 
applications 14/00849/OUT, 14/00851/OUT, and 15/00358/OUT.

REPRESENTATIONS

Direct Publicity: - The appropriate neighbouring properties were notified of the application by 
letter. In addition, as the proposal represents major development, is a departure from the 
UDP and has the potential to affect public rights of way, notices have also been posted on 
the site and in the local press. A total of two letters of support and 145 letters of objection 
have been received. 

The St Anne’s Academy Trustees have confirmed that at this stage their concerns on health 
& safety have been addressed and no objection is raised to the two applications but will 
need to be convinced by further detail at the reserved matters stage.

Those letters in support raised the following matters:
• The proposals would provide opportunities for existing and new residents to upgrade 

to houses with gardens in a nice location.
• The land is not used for anything of importance
• It will create lots of jobs for traders. 
• A new community will be made. 
• It will help young people get on the property ladder. 
• It is in a brilliant location for commuting into the city centre.



The points of objection made in the letters, followed by officer responses, are summarised 
as follows:

Objection:
The site forms an area of Protected Open Land located outside the Defined Urban Area. 
Applications have been submitted in 1995 and 2010 for development of the site and have 
always been refused. An appeal in 1985 (reference 017143/APP/P/423/A/85) has also been 
dismissed. There has been no change in circumstances since the refusal of previous 
applications and the dismissal of an appeal on the site to indicate that a different decision 
should be reached. The site performs the same function as the Green Belt and should 
remain open, as intended by the policy in the UDP.

Officer Response:
The application site is not located within the Green Belt, but located within an area 
designated as Protected Open Land within the UDP. The role and function of Protected 
Open Land is not the same as the Green Belt, which is protected for its intrinsic permanence 
and openness. As noted elsewhere in this report, previous Inspectors have resolved that it 
was not necessary to include the land to which the application relates within the Green Belt. 
Each application will be determined on its own merits having regards to the balance of 
material considerations at that time. Since the appeal that was determined in 1985 there has 
been a significant shift in planning policy through the introduction of the NPPF.  The policy 
emphasis in the NPPF upon the provision of housing to meet objectively assessed needs is 
a significant change in national policy and requires local planning authorities to ‘boost 
significantly’ the supply of housing (paragraph 47 of the NPPF) where there has been a 
record of persistent under delivery of housing.  

Objection:
There are numerous brownfield sites available throughout the borough which should be 
developed as a priority before any more greenfield sites are released for housing. The 
Council’s own figures illustrate that RMBC have enough land on which to build over 11,500 
new properties throughout the borough, thus fulfilling its 5 year housing land supply target 
without any need to build on countryside or farmland. RMBC has an annual quota (laid down 
by government) to construct approximately 400 houses on an annual basis within the 
borough and is currently the only Local Authority in Greater Manchester to be ahead of its 
building quota. Recent applications approved in Middleton (e.g. Langley and British Vita) 
have allowed the construction of over 600 new houses in the township. Houses of the type 
proposed are already freely available on the market and those already for sale are currently 
struggling to sell. Therefore, there is no justifiable need for further housing within the 
borough at the present time, and certainly not within the countryside.

Officer Response:
The most up to date housing need figures for the Borough put forward by the Council within 
the latest Strategic Housing Market Assessment from January 2015, indicate that an annual 
figure of 460 dwellings be provided. However, this figure contrasts significantly with the 
projected figures contested at the Core Strategy Examination which go up to 750 dwellings 
per annum. In further contrast the figure used by Inspectors within recent appeal decisions 
within the Borough utilises the former RSS target of 621 dwellings per annum. As there is a 
wide variation in the annual target and the appropriate target is yet to be confirmed, there is 
a significant degree of uncertainty in what is the appropriate target. Nevertheless, as the 
Council has no target, the Council cannot demonstrate a 5 year housing supply. Therefore, 
the application needs to be determined having regard to the tests set out in the UDP and 
taking into account national policy and guidance. Notwithstanding the above, looking at the 
housing target alone also ignores the particular issues faced within the Borough in terms of 
delivery of new homes, and the recent background of removals and demolition of housing as 



part of the Housing Market Renewal pathfinder programme. Indeed between 2003/4 and 
2009/10 a total of 1,334 dwellings were demolished across the Borough. As a result during 
the period between 2008/09 and 2012/13 there was an average net delivery of only 302 
dwellings per year.  The Borough will face an ongoing pressure in terms of delivery against 
plan targets over the next few years given significant number of existing units are planned to 
be demolished as part of the regeneration of existing housing areas.

Objection:
The development will spoil one of the last few remaining open green spaces in Middleton, 
will detract from the openness of the land and adjoining Green Belt in visual terms and will 
diminish the enjoyment of the countryside for recreational purposes through the removal and 
obstruction of existing bridleways and footpaths (including removing this benefit for future 
generations).  The development of this area of Protected Open Land would see the effective 
merging of Middleton and Heywood and an associated 12 mile long urban sprawl between 
Manchester and Bamford. The land has been left open for centuries and designated as 
Protected Open Land in order to avoid this, and to provide a green buffer between the two 
towns. The release of the land for housing would set a precedent allowing the development 
of additional, adjoining land in the future.

Officer Response:
The application has been supported by a landscape and visual impact assessment which 
concludes that following mitigation there would be no over-riding harm to the character and 
appearance of the surrounding landscape. The land designated as Green Belt would be 
retained to the north, east and west of the application site. The purpose of the Green Belt is 
to prevent the sprawl of towns and stop settlements from merging into one another. The 
Green Belt’s purpose and importance in providing valuable open space, preventing the 
neighbouring settlements of Middleton and Heywood from merging would therefore be 
retained as a result of the proposed development. 

As discussed elsewhere in this report the proposed development would not obstruct public 
rights of way or significantly harm their integrity and therefore it is not considered that the 
proposal would diminish the enjoyment and recreational function of the countryside. The 
application, as with all applications, must be determined on its merits, and as noted 
elsewhere in this report the Council has recently released greenfield sites for housing having 
lost appeals at Inquiry following the refusal of these applications.

Objection:
The development would destroy existing flora and fauna on the site including ancient 
hedgerows, grasslands, ponds and other natural habitats for current species, many of which 
are protected (e.g. bats and great crested newts) and known to exist within the site. 

Officer Response:
The impact on nature conservation interests has been assessed in more detail in 
subsequent part of the report, and it is noted that the proposals have been accompanied by 
an ecological report and the scheme has been reviewed by Greater Manchester Ecology 
Unit (GMEU), Natural England the Council’s Green infrastructure Officer who have raised no 
objections to the proposed development subject to conditions.  Whilst it is noted that the 
proposed development would result in the loss of open fields on the urban fringe of 
Middleton, it is noted that the proposals include a large area of landscaped open space 
along the boundaries of the site that would incorporate replacement ponds, tree planting and 
landscaping. The proposal includes the retention of the hedgerows along the boundaries and 
within the site which act as wildlife corridors and it is noted that otherwise the fields comprise 
species poor semi-improved grassland. Subject to conditions securing biodiversity 
enhancements within the site and mitigation measures to minimise impacts on nesting birds 
and bats, it is considered that there would be no over-riding harm to wildlife and nature 



conservation interests. 

Objection:
The proposed development would lead to a significant increase in traffic generation on the 
already busy thoroughfares of Langley Lane and Hollin Lane. This would include 
construction traffic during the course of development and additional vehicles associated with 
future occupiers of the houses. Both schemes propose 2 car parking spaces per dwelling, 
resulting in a minimum of 710 additional vehicles in the locality (355 x 2). There is insufficient 
capacity on surrounding streets and junctions to accommodate this increase in traffic and 
this would also be exacerbated through by the forthcoming construction of a new trunk road 
at junction 19 of the M62, located a short distance to the north of the site. Accordingly, the 
development would have a detrimental impact on road safety. Pedestrian safety is also of 
particular concern in this location given the site’s close proximity to St Anne’s Academy.

Officer Response:
The application has been accompanied by a Transport Assessment and thus a detailed 
appraisal of the traffic implications of the development along with proposals on adjacent sites 
has been carried out. This has been considered and independently assessed by the 
Highways Authority, Highways England and by TfGM who have all raised no objections to 
the proposed development subject to conditions securing more sustainable travel mode 
enhancements and off-site highways works. A more detailed assessment of the traffic and 
highways safety implications of the proposals is set out in subsequent sections of the report. 
However, it is considered that whilst traffic levels will increase as a result of the proposals, 
the proposed development and that on nearby sites can be accommodated on the 
surrounding highway network. 

Objection:
The increase in traffic arising from the development, both during the anticipated seven year 
build regime and following the occupation of the houses, would result in an increase in 
airborne pollutants, which would have an adverse impact on air quality in the area and, 
accordingly, the health of surrounding residents. The length of time required to construct the 
development would also mean noise, disturbance, dust and traffic disruption throughout the 
build period, thereby creating a burden on the local community lasting for a number of years.

Officer Response:
In order to assess the implications of the proposed development on air quality and noise 
levels an Air Quality Assessment, which includes an assessment of the impacts during 
construction, has been submitted and assessed by the Council’s Environmental Health 
Department. The report concludes that subject to the implementation of a series of mitigation 
measures, the cumulative impacts of the proposed development alongside the development 
of nearby sites would not result in significant adverse impacts on air quality and noise levels. 
In order to secure the approval of an appropriate scheme of measures to prevent 
unacceptable harm to surrounding residents during the construction phase of the 
development a condition has been recommended to require approval of a construction 
method statement in line with the recommendations of the submitted report and comments 
of the Environmental Health Department.

Objection:
It is unclear whether the site can be adequately drained in order to prevent future flooding 
and whether the existing sewerage system has the capacity required to deal with the 
additional foul and surface water generated by the proposal. The water pressure in the area 
is already very low and is likely to be further impacted as a result of the development.

Officer Response:



The flood risk and drainage implications of the proposed development are considered in 
more detail elsewhere in this report. Nevertheless, the application has been accompanied by 
a flood risk assessment and outline drainage strategy which sets out the existing drainage 
and flood issues within the site. This concludes that the site is at no significant risk of 
flooding from a variety of sources and that to attenuate and manage surface water flows that 
a network of overground water storage and oversized pipes be provided to mimic the 
existing surface water flows of the greenfield site and that this be directed to an existing 
nearby watercourse in accordance with sustainable drainage objectives. It is noted that the 
Environment Agency, United Utilities and the Council as Lead Local Flood Authority have 
raised no objections subject to conditions restricting the method of foul and surface water 
drainage accordingly, and the submission and approval of a detailed foul and surface water 
drainage scheme within subsequent applications. It is therefore considered that there are 
sufficient measures in place to secure the approval and implementation of a foul and surface 
water drainage scheme that would not result in the increase in flood risk elsewhere. 

Objection:
The development is intended to provide executive homes and will result in Middleton 
becoming a commuter town for residents working in Manchester. This type of housing would 
not fall within the definition of social housing and the prices would put the houses out of the 
reach of local people.

Officer Response:
The application seeks outline permission for up to 150 dwellings and proposes a mix of two 
and two and half storey dwellings providing a range of 2 to 5 bedroom homes, although their 
design is not presently a matter before the Council. The proposals therefore allow of a mix 
and variety of homes to be provided and which would be available to all on the open market. 
With regards to the provision of affordable housing, as the application is in outline and is 
subject to detailed design the exact number and type of affordable dwellings to be provided 
on site or contributions to be provided to affordable schemes off site are not known at this 
stage. The applicant has agreed to enter into a Legal Agreement to secure the provision of 
an affordable housing scheme, subject to viability, in line with the Council’s adopted 
Affordable Housing SPD and policy H/7 of the UDP which requires that on such 
developments that either affordable housing units be provided on site, or the associated 
value be provided to make provision for affordable housing elsewhere. 

The applicant has also confirmed that since advertising this development and the proposed 
development at Hollin Lane, they have received over 100 emails from people, the majority of 
whom are from the local area, registering their interest in the full range of properties from 2 
bedroom starter homes to larger properties.

Objection:
The addition of new homes on the site would put increased pressure on local schools and 
other public services (e.g. transport, GPs, dentists, utilities etc.) which are already stretched. 
The development is likely to add a further circa 300 children requiring new schools places. 
These are not presently capable of being provided in the area and the education system is 
already operating at/over capacity. The cost of this will be borne by the Council.

The development would also increase the potential for crime and disorder both during the 
construction period and once the houses are finished (e.g. through burglaries and 
trespassing onto a construction site). This would increase pressure on the already under-
resourced local police force.

Officer Response:
The concerns regarding residents on existing community resources, and health, education, 
transport services in the local area are noted and given the nature of the residential 



development it is acknowledged that there would be additional demand generated for these 
services by the proposals. In order to mitigate for this the Council has requested the 
applicant make provision been undertaking negotiations with the applicant to secure the 
provision of mitigation measures. Indeed the application has been amended to take into 
account the need for education provision and allows for the potential of land within the site 
for a primary school. Whilst, this is discussed in more detail elsewhere in this report, the 
applicant has agreed to enter into a legal agreement to secure the payment of financial 
contributions to provide for the additional school places generated by the proposed 
development within the Middleton Township. 

In terms of local transport, the applicants have also agreed to enter into a legal agreement to 
provide improvements to the local transport network. 

With regards to the security of the site during the construction of the development, it is noted 
that in order to meet health and safety legislation the site contractors and developers will be 
need to provide a series of site safety measures including providing for site security. In order 
to ensure there would be adequate measures in place during construction to safeguard 
safety on and off site, a condition has been recommended requiring the submission and 
approval of a construction method statement. Overall, it is not considered that the proposed 
development would give rise to significant risk of increased crime and anti-social behaviour.  
Site security is however a matter for the developer. 

Objection:
The proposed community facility (which has been mentioned for a range of possible uses 
including a community centre, convenience store or a pub) is not required in the area. Such 
a facility would cause additional traffic issues in this busy location and increased parking 
pressures. There are already a number of shops and pubs available in the locality which 
would be adversely affected by the proposed community use.

Officer Response:
It is noted that as part of the application process and following comments received by the 
surrounding community and the Council, the application (reference 14/00849/OUT) for land 
off Hollin Lane has been amended to remove the proposed community use from the outline 
scheme. Whilst this element of the scheme has been removed, the overall number of 
dwellings to be provided within that application has not increased and remains up to 205 
dwellings.  Notwithstanding this, competition is not a material planning consideration.

Objection:
The developer suggests that the scheme will create new construction jobs for local people in 
the area. However, it is common practice for developers to use their own 
contractors/workforce in such circumstances and, accordingly, this should not be considered 
as an advantage of the development. In addition, the loss of the land would result in the 
closure of existing stables on the site and an associated loss of employment for local 
residents. The development is also likely to result in a reduction in houses prices for 
surrounding occupiers.

Officer Response:
The impact on the existing stables from the proposed development is a material 
consideration and it is noted that the development would require the loss of the stables and 
grazing land. Whilst the development would result in the displacement of the business and 
potential loss of jobs provided by the stables at the site, it is noted that the construction of 
the development would itself generate a significant number of jobs from the construction 
itself, and jobs created in the associated supply chain, in addition to the business and 
additional jobs created by increased spend within the local economy and services by the 
future residents in the long-term. With regards to the impact of the proposed development on 



surrounding house values, it is noted that this is not a material planning consideration and 
therefore it is not possible to consider the implications of this further.

Objection:
There is considerable local opposition to the development. The Council should support the 
views of its residents and refuse the application on the basis of this opposition and the force 
of public opinion.

Officer Response:
The concerns and objections raised by surrounding residents are appreciated and 
understood and are fully considered in the determination of this application. As also set out 
elsewhere in this report the Local Planning Authority has to determine the planning 
application in accordance with the policies of the development plan unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise. Indeed as set out below this is a requirement set out in 
planning law governing the decision making of planning applications. The starting point is 
therefore the development plan, however the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) is 
an important material consideration and has been held to override policies within the 
development plan where they are deemed to be out of date.  

ANALYSIS

Scope of the Planning Application

This application seeks outline planning permission for the development of the site to provide 
up to 150 dwellings with associated landscaping, open space, access arrangements and car 
parking (‘Option 1’).  An alternative layout is also under consideration (’Option 2’) which 
proposes the development of up to 127 dwellings, along with land to accommodate a 
potential one form entry primary school.  

These proposals are in outline with only approval sought at this time for access, and 
therefore further reserved matters applications would be necessary to deal with the matters 
of appearance, scale, layout and landscaping of the proposed development. Each of these 
matters is defined in the Town and Country Planning (Development Management 
Procedure) (England) Order 2015 as follows:

Access – the accessibility to and within the site, for vehicles, cycles and pedestrians in terms 
of the positioning and treatment of access and circulation routes and how these fit into the 
surrounding access network.

Appearance – the aspects of a building or place within the development which determine the 
visual impression the building or place makes, including the external built form of the 
development, its architecture, materials, decoration, lighting, colour and texture.

Landscaping – the treatment of land (other than buildings) for the purpose of enhancing or 
protecting the amenities of the site and the area in which it is situated and includes—
(a) screening by fences, walls or other means;
(b) the planting of trees, hedges, shrubs or grass;
(c) the formation of banks, terraces or other earthworks;
(d) the laying out or provision of gardens, courts, squares, water features, sculpture or public 
art; and
(e) the provision of other amenity features;

Layout – the way in which buildings, routes and open spaces within the development are 
provided, situated and orientated in relation to each other and to buildings and spaces 
outside the development.



Scale – the height, width and length of each building proposed within the development in 
relation to its surroundings.

As access is the only matter applied for in this case, indicative plans in respect of scale, 
layout, landscaping and appearance are not being assessed as part of the application.  
Nevertheless, the indicative plans propose a set of key principles to inform subsequent 
reserved matters applications. 

This application is being considered at the same time as planning application 14/00849/OUT 
for a development of up to 205 dwellings on a site to the east of Hollin Lane and also 
planning application 15/00358/OUT for up to 88 dwellings on the western side of Hollin Lane.  
Whilst assessment needs to be undertaken of their cumulative impacts when assessing 
each application, they are entirely separate applications and therefore fall to be considered 
on their respective merits.  

Background to the Site and Its Allocation as Protected Open Land

It is important to set out the background to the designation of the Protected Open Land, 
particularly given that over the years, there have been conflicting pressures in respect of the 
Protected Open Land in this area to (a) have it included within the Green Belt and (b) for it to 
be allocated for development.  

Greater Manchester Green Belt Local Plan

The 1984 Greater Manchester Green Belt Local Plan (GMGBLP) shows that the land was 
not included within the Green Belt and formed part of a wider area of open land to the north 
and west of Middleton.  The reasons for this land not being included within the Green Belt 
are not known but it is noted that large areas of undeveloped open land around the urban 
areas of Greater Manchester were left out of the Green Belt at that time to ensure the 
permanence of the Green Belt by not making it overly restrictive in terms of meeting the 
future development needs of the existing built up area. This buffer land has been similarly 
designated as either Protected Open Land or Safeguarded Land within the local plans of 
other Greater Manchester Districts.  

In the case of the wider designation of land to the north of Middleton, some release of 
Protected Open Land has previously been permitted as a result of development needs at 
that time. It is noted that land was released for residential development to the south of 
Langley Lane (former Bishop Marshall school site) in the late 1980’s and land to the south of 
the current St. Anne’s Academy in the 1990’s. It is also noted land was released for 
development in the 1980’s to allow for an expansion of Stakehill Business Park.

The Greater Manchester Green Belt has not been reviewed since 1984 despite a 
commitment being made in the then regional planning guidance of 2003 to review the 
boundaries of the Green Belt in 2011.  

1999 Unitary Development Plan (UDP)

The former UDP adopted in 1999 reaffirmed the Green Belt as set out within the 1984 
GMGBLP with some minor exclusions.  This again showed that the land at Langley Lane 
and Hollin Lane was not within the Green Belt.  This UDP introduced an Open Land 
Protection policy (Policy C/9) for land between the Defined Urban Area (DUA) and the Green 
Belt.  Since the land in question falls between the DUA and the Green Belt then this policy 
was relevant to this site.  Policy C/9 of the 1999 UDP was as follows:



On land between the Green Belt and the Defined Urban Area, or between the Green Belt 
and the Borough boundary, other than land allocated for development, the Council will 
normally grant planning permission only for development which would be permissible if the 
land were in Green Belt, or for development:-
(a) Which would be acceptable on agricultural land by virtue of Policies C/1 and C/2;
(b) Which would not detract from the visual amenity and environment of open land in 
general and especially adjacent Green Belt; 
(c) For recreational uses, including ancillary buildings required in connection with an 
outdoor facility, subject to the provisions of countryside recreation policies, especially Policy 
R/27; and
(d) Comprising an extension to, the conversion, re-use or replacement of:-

(i) an existing dwelling;
(ii) a building in connection with an existing source of employment; or
(iii) an agricultural building

provided that it is of an appropriate scale and will not cause any significant adverse impact 
on the immediate locality, its amenities and the open character of its surroundings.

(For the avoidance of doubt, the construction of new dwellings and new buildings in 
connection with a new industrial or commercial use will not normally be permitted.)

Land outside the Defined Urban Area which is likely to be suitable and required to meet 
development needs in the years immediately following the end-date of the present Plan will 
be safeguarded for that purpose and is indicated on the Proposals Map.  It is subject to all 
the provisions of this Policy during the currency of the Plan.

At the Inquiry into the 1999 UDP, representations were submitted seeking the inclusion of 
both the Hollin Lane and Langley Lane sites within the Green Belt.  In considering these 
requests the Inspector considered two criteria in relation to including land within the Green 
Belt: (1) that Green Belts should not include land which it is unnecessary to keep 
permanently open, and (2) that the boundary around an existing built up area should not be 
drawn so tightly that it becomes impossible to make proper provision for necessary 
development in the future.  The Inspector concluded that the addition of these sites to the 
Green Belt was not justified. 

Although the Inspector considered that the land should not be included in the Green Belt, 
neither was he convinced that the land should be released for housing or employment 
development at that time, despite representations received in respect of the land north of 
Langley Lane.  On this matter, he concluded that the land should remain as Protected Open 
Land. 

2006 Unitary Development Plan (UDP)

The UDP adopted in 2006 did not change the designation of the land off Langley Lane and 
Hollin Lane, in that it remained land between the urban area and the Green Belt.  The only 
slight change was that the term for such land changed to Protected Open Land (as opposed 
to Open Land Protection) and the wording of the related policy (D/10) was simplified to the 
following:

Within the areas of Protected Open Land defined on the Proposals Map, development 
proposals will be permitted that fall within one or more of the following categories: 

d) development which would be acceptable were it in the Green Belt; or
e) limited infilling within an established pocket of housing or industry where this is in 

scale with the area and will not adversely affect its character or surroundings; or



f) a limited extension to an existing building which:
(iv) forms part of an existing source of employment; or
(v) is necessary for the establishment of a new enterprise or business which satisfies 

other policies of the Plan; and
(vi)  is sited within the existing curtilage of the business concerned, and will not 

adversely affect the character of the surrounding land and its openness.

Where new buildings are permitted, they should be sited to form a group with existing 
buildings.  Where this is not possible, buildings, car parking areas and other new structures, 
should be sited where they will be well screened and unobtrusive in the landscape.  All 
buildings and extensions should be of a high standard of design, using materials that are 
compatible with the landscape, and should not detract from the visual amenity and 
environment of adjacent Green Belt.

As with the 1999 UDP objections were received seeking the inclusion of the application sites 
within the Green Belt and seeking the release of the land for development.

In terms of including the land within the Green Belt, the Inspector concluded that given the 
size of the site any move to include it within the Green Belt should be part of a wider review 
of Green Belts within Greater Manchester. At that time Regional Planning Guidance 
indicated that such a review was not necessary. He added that, considering national and 
regional guidance, the objectors had not established the exceptional circumstances sufficient 
for him to recommend a modification to include the land within the Green Belt.   

In terms of considering whether the land should be released for development, the Inspector 
did not deal with this site specifically but it was included in his general view that a review of 
the approach to identifying sites for additional housing should be carried out.  As part of this 
wider assessment all the omission sites should be considered to determine an appropriate 
number of residential allocations. This proposed modification to the plan was not taken 
forward as it was considered that sufficient land would come forward to the meet the 
relatively low housing target for the Borough as set out in regional guidance at that time. 

The extent of the Green Belt to the north of the site has been reviewed by Inspectors during 
the examination of the previous Unitary Development Plan dated 1999 and the examination 
of the Green Belt Local Plan dated 1984.  At the Inquiry into the 1999 UDP, the Inspector 
considered requests to include both the Hollin Lane and Langley Lane sites in the Green 
Belt. The Inspector concluded that: Green Belts should not include land that it is 
unnecessary to keep permanently open; and the boundary around an existing built up area 
should not be drawn so tightly that it becomes impossible to make proper provision for 
necessary development in the future.  The Inspector ultimately concluded that the addition of 
the Protected Open Land into the Green Belt was not justified.  

It is clear from this that the land the subject of the Protected Open Land designation was not 
intended to remain permanently open, but instead was to be safeguarded to accommodate 
future development needs beyond the period of the 1984 Green Belt Local Plan and the 
1999 Unitary Development Plan.  The Protected Open Land designation was subsequently 
carried forward into the 2006 UDP.  

Principle of Development

The NPPF and Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development

Planning law requires applications to be determined in accordance with the development 
plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. The National Planning Policy 



Framework (NPPF) published in 2012 is one such material consideration and whilst it does 
not change the legal status of the development plan, it promotes a presumption in favour of 
sustainable development, to which there are three mutually dependent dimensions: 
economic, social and environmental.  

Paragraph 9 of the NPPF states that pursuing sustainable development involves seeking 
positive improvements in the quality of the built, natural and historic environment, as well as 
in people’s quality of life, including (but not limited to):

 making it easier for jobs to be created in cities, towns and villages;
 moving from a net loss of bio-diversity to achieving net gains for nature;
 replacing poor design with better design;
 improving the conditions in which people live, work, travel and take leisure; and
 widening the choice of high quality homes. 

Key to its economic dimension is the contribution to building a strong, responsive and 
competitive economy, by ensuring that sufficient land of the right type is available in the right 
places and at the right time to support growth and innovation; and by identifying and 
coordinating development requirements, including the provision of infrastructure.

The social dimension requires supporting strong, vibrant and healthy communities, by 
providing the supply of housing required to meet the needs of present and future 
generations; and by creating a high quality built environment, with accessible local services 
that reflect the community’s needs and support its health, social and cultural well-being.

Finally, the environmental dimension requires that development contributes to protecting and 
enhancing our natural, built and historic environment; and, as part of this, helping to improve 
biodiversity, use natural resources prudently, minimise waste and pollution, and mitigate and 
adapt to climate change including moving to a low carbon economy.

Paragraph 14 of the NPPF states that for plan-making, the presumption in favour of 
sustainable development means that local planning authorities should positively seek 
opportunities to meet the development needs of their area; and Local Plans should meet 
objectively assessed needs, with sufficient flexibility to adapt to rapid change unless any 
adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits, 
when assessed against the policies in this Framework taken as a whole; or specific policies 
in the NPPF indicate development should be restricted.  

Paragraph 14 of the NPPF goes on to state that for decision-taking, the presumption in 
favour of sustainable development means: 
 Approving development proposals that accord with the development plan without 

delay, and
 Where the development plan is silent, or relevant policies are out-of-date, granting 

planning permission unless: 
 Any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably 

outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in the Framework 
taken as a whole; or 

 Specific policies in the framework indicate development should be restricted. 

In the context of the above, the site is designated as Protected Open Land in the 2006 UDP 
Proposals Map and the proposal therefore represents a departure from the development 
plan, specifically Policy D/10. The second bullet is therefore relevant and requires an 
assessment of the relevant policies in the development plan to determine whether or not 
they are out-of-date.  



Whilst the NPPF was published in 2012, paragraph 211 of the NPPF makes it clear that for 
the purpose of decision-taking, the policies in the Local Plan should not be considered out-
of-date simply because they were adopted prior to the publication of the Framework. Rather, 
due weight should be given to relevant policies in existing plans according to their degree of 
consistency with the framework - the closer the policies in the development plan to the 
policies in the framework, the greater the weight they may be afforded in decision making.  

The relevant policies in this case are Policy H/3 (residential development outside allocated 
areas), Policy H5 (Residential Density) and Policy D/10 (protected open land) of the UDP. 
Policy H/5 of the UDP requires residential development to achieve a density of between 30-
50 dwellings per hectare. Minimum density requirements have been removed from national 
guidance and this policy is therefore significantly out-of-date and can be afforded no weight 
in the determination of this application.

In respect of Policies H/3 and D/10, there are two recent appeal cases of relevance which 
followed the refusal of planning permission for proposed residential development on 
Protected Open Land in the Borough.  These are considered further in the subsequent 
section of this report. 

Release of Protected Open Land in 2013

In allowing two recent appeal decisions relating to the development of Protected Open Land 
at Keswick Street, Castleton (ref APP/P4225/A/11/2158074) and Broad Lane, Rochdale (ref 
APP/P4225/A/12/2184755), Inspectors have concluded as follows: 

• The relevant saved policies of the UDP, including both D/10 and H/3, which seek to 
prevent the release of greenfield sites in the presence of a five year land supply, 
have been overtaken by events and the national policy emphasis on delivery of 
housing, and are therefore effectively out-of-date.

• The Council acknowledges that it is unable to demonstrate a 5 year supply of 
housing land. The proposed development would assist in meeting an identified need 
for market and affordable housing in the area. In accordance with the Framework this 
weighs substantially in favour of the proposal.

• The proposition that a 20% buffer is warranted in Rochdale at present and that the 
land supply is perhaps as low as around 3 years, but around 3.66 years if the 
accrued shortfall is spread over the balance of the RSS period to 2021, was clearly 
not challenged by the Council at the Inquiry and it accepts in any event, that it cannot 
demonstrate a five year supply.

• Given that it is common ground between the Council and the appellants that the five 
year supply requirement is not currently met, and the development plan is manifestly 
out-of-date in terms of housing land, paragraph 14 of the Framework is undoubtedly 
engaged.

Notwithstanding the fact that Policy H/3 permits the development of greenfield sites when 
the supply of land available for residential development falls below five years, Policies D/10 
and H/3, which seek to prevent the release of greenfield sites in the presence of a five year 
land supply, have been overtaken by events and the national policy emphasis on delivery of 
housing and are therefore patently out-of-date.

Where policies are out-of-date, the NPPF directs that planning permission should be granted 
unless any adverse impacts significantly and demonstrably (emphasis added) outweigh the 
benefits, when assessed against the NPPF as a whole; or unless specific policies indicate 
development should be restricted.  It is noted that the site is not subject to any of the 
designations listed in the NPPF that would indicate development should be restricted. 
Therefore, an assessment of the adverse impacts and benefits is necessary to determine 



whether the proposal comprises sustainable development as defined by the NPPF.  

Material Change in Circumstances

Since the Inspectors decisions concerning the release of Protected Open Land at Broad 
Lane and Keswick Street, there have been material changes in circumstances of relevance 
to this application: the submission of the Core Strategy for Examination in May 2013; the 
subsequent suspension of the examination following the Inspector’s direction that an update 
to the evidence base was necessary; and the updated evidence base itself.  This is 
considered in further detail below.

Emerging Core Strategy and Land Supply

Paragraph 216 of the NPPF recognises that from the date of publication, decision-takers 
may also give weight to relevant policies in emerging plans according to: the stage of 
preparation of the emerging plan; the extent to which there are unresolved objections to 
relevant policies (the less significant the unresolved objections, the greater the weight that 
may be given); and the degree of consistency of the relevant policies in the emerging plan to 
the policies in the NPPF (the closer the policies in the emerging plan to the policies in the 
Framework, the greater the weight that may be given).  

The Core Strategy was submitted for examination in May 2013.  An independent Inspector 
was appointed to hold the examination and the examination in public hearing sessions took 
place in October 2013. Following the initial hearing sessions, and in view of more recent 
evidence emerging from the 2011 census indicating higher than projected population growth 
and household formation rates, the Inspector sent a letter to the Council in November 2013 
which set out his views in respect of the approach to housing.  His concerns related to the 
evidence regarding objectively assessed housing need supporting the target set out in the 
submitted Core Strategy. 

In order to address this issue, the Inspector directed that an update of the Council’s Strategic 
Housing Market Assessment (SHMA) was required and that the examination should be 
suspended in order for the updated SHMA and any associated work to be undertaken.  The 
Council agreed to suspend the Core Strategy at a Cabinet meeting in February 2014 to 
update the housing evidence.  

Following consultation on a draft SHMA in October 2014, the updated SHMA was finalised in 
February 2015 and the Core Strategy examination was recently reconvened in June 2015 to 
consider the updated housing needs evidence. The Inspector’s report and recommendations 
are currently awaited. 

The SHMA proposes that a figure of 460 dwellings per annum (dpa) would be an appropriate 
annual housing target reflecting current evidence on objectively assessed housing need, 
taking account levels of population and household growth emerging from the 2011 Census 
data.  It is important at this point however to clarify that the SHMA considers a range of need 
between 460 dpa up to 750 dpa based on various growth scenarios and it is for the Inspector 
to determine the appropriate housing target.  Until the Inspector issues the final report, the 
Council does not have a tested housing target for the plan period that would determine the 
number of dwellings to be delivered per annum and any emerging housing target, whether it 
be 460 or otherwise would therefore have limited weight at this time.   However, it is however 
clear that in light of this most recent evidence of housing need that the UDP policy 
requirement for 240 new homes per annum is out of date.  

In determining whether or not a five year land supply can be demonstrated, it is necessary to 
consider the availability of land for housing against the latest tested housing target.  Recent 



appeal decisions have taken what is referred to as the recalculated Regional Spatial 
Strategy (RSS) target into account.  The RSS dates back to 2003 and whilst the RSS was 
revoked in May 2013, the evidence base supporting the document remains relevant.  The 
RSS target for the Borough was 400dpa and the recalculated element refers to ‘unmet need’ 
arising as a result of completion rates per annum falling below this target since 2003.  

In considering housing land supply housing targets, the NPPF requires that a buffer of 5% 
be included in order to ensure that any target continues to be met. This would typically be 
land brought forward in the plan period to provide choice and competition in the market for 
land. However, this approach would not apply here. In circumstances where there has been 
a record of persistent under delivery of new housing, the NPPF makes clear that this buffer 
should be increased to 20% brought forward in the plan period. In Rochdale Borough’s case, 
housing completions in recent years, and taken as a whole since 2003, are well below the 
previous target of 400 dpa set out in Regional Spatial Strategy (RSS) largely as a result of 
the major demolition programmes within the former Housing Market Renewal areas, which 
applied from 2003.

Therefore, in considering the current five year land supply since the publication of the NPPF, 
Planning Inspectors on recent appeals have taken the view that a 20% buffer should be 
applied in assessing whether or not a five year supply can be demonstrated within the 
Borough.  This is the approach taken by Planning Inspectors in determining recent appeals 
in the Borough relating to the development of Protected Open Land at Broad Lane and 
Keswick Street and designated green space for housing elsewhere within the Borough.  

If the recalcuated RSS target is to be met by 2021 (i.e. the end of the RSS period) this would 
give an annual target of 621 dwellings per annum (as at 1st April 2015).  This figure could be 
met from the current published five year supply (i.e. as at 1st April 2015) with the 5% supply 
buffer but cannot be met with the application of the 20% buffer.  

Housing Delivery Rates

Notwithstanding the above, looking at the housing target alone also ignores the particular 
issues faced within the Borough in terms of the delivery of new homes, and the recent 
background of clearance and demolition of housing as part of the Housing Market Renewal 
pathfinder programme. Indeed, between 2003/4 and 2009/10 a total of 1,334 dwellings were 
demolished across the Borough. As a result, during the period between 2008/09 and 
2012/13 there was an average net delivery of only 302 dwellings per year, thus well below 
the RSS target and significantly below the recalculated target.  Following the submission of 
the Core Strategy for examination, the rate of housing completions across the Borough has 
been below that set out within the RSS with a total of net completions of 267 in 2013/14 and 
313 for 2014/15, thus below both the original RSS requirement and the recalculated 
requirement.  

The Core Strategy seeks to manage the supply of land between the period of 2013 until 
2028 and now proposes a higher housing requirement to respond to more recent evidence 
of population growth and household formation rates.  As of 1st April 2015, it must be 
therefore recognised that, were the Inspector to accept that an appropriate annual housing 
target for the Borough is 460, the Council would already be facing a shortfall of 340 housing 
completions against this target for the first two years of the Core Strategy period.  It is 
therefore concluded that the 20% buffer as advocated within the NPPF and accepted by the 
Inspectors as being relevant for the Borough in 2013 at the Broad Lane and Keswick Street 
appeals would similarly apply at the present time.

Going forward, the Borough will face an ongoing and challenging pressure in terms of the 
delivery of new housing against any plan target given a significant number of dwellings are 



proposed to be demolished over the next few years as part of the continued regeneration of 
existing housing areas.  The demolitions would need to be offset by an increase in new 
housing completions in order to avoid a further shortfall in new housing delivery.  

To meet targets going forward will require a significant uplift in the current rate of delivery of 
new housing and a deliverable supply of housing sites attractive to the market will be needed 
to ensure acceleration in the rates of housing delivery can be maintained to ensure housing 
needs are met over the Core Strategy plan period.  . The Inspector, in considering the 
soundness of the Core Strategy, may therefore instruct that unmet need is moved forward 
and dealt earlier in the plan period.     

Irrespective of the uncertainty surrounding the appropriate housing target, it is clear that the 
housing policies and targets within the adopted UDP are out-of-date. In such cases, 
paragraph 14 of the NPPF very clearly directs that the ‘presumption in favour of sustainable 
development’ means planning permission should be granted unless the adverse impact of 
doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits (emphasis added) 
when assessed against the Framework as a whole; or where specific policies indicate 
development should be restricted.  

The submitted Core Strategy includes policy G5, Managing Protected Open Land, which is 
relevant to the application site. This policy seeks to retain the general protection of land 
between the Defined Urban Area and the Green Belt.  However, section 3 of the policy 
acknowledges that if there is evidence development needs cannot be met elsewhere then 
the development of protected open land may be acceptable provided that all of the criteria 
within the section are satisfied.  This has been incorporated in order to provide flexibility and 
seeks to reflect the guidance within NPPF that recommends that policies included in Local 
Plans are sufficiently flexible and responsive to deal any changes to development needs 
over the plan period.  Again, at the current time it is not clear whether this policy will be 
carried forward without modification given the Core Strategy must meet objectively assessed 
housing need for the purpose of soundness.  

Whilst the Core Strategy has not yet been adopted and the policies within it carry limited 
weight at this time, it nevertheless sets out the approach to assessing applications for 
housing developments within such locations and accordingly reflects the approach within the 
NPPF in providing a more flexible and responsive approach to dealing with changes to 
development needs over the plan period.  However, the Core Strategy covers a period 
between 2013 up to 2028. As reported previously, consistent undersupply against the 
housing target in the Core Strategy, particularly in the early years of the plan period, would 
further exacerbate the undersupply of housing in the Borough and would prejudice the 
delivery of the Core Strategy in the plan period. It would also be contrary to the NPPF 
requirement to boost significantly the supply of housing. The Inspector may therefore instruct 
that unmet need is moved forward and dealt earlier in the plan period.     

With regards to the golden thread of sustainable development running through the NPPF, it 
is also noted that the site is located adjacent to a bus route that runs along Langley Lane 
immediately to the south of the site which provides hourly services into Middleton. However, 
a more frequent bus service is located along Hollin Lane to the east of the site. This route 
provides 3 services into Middleton Town Centre, Bury and Manchester with a frequency of a 
service every 10 minutes during the day provided on one of these services. The site is 
immediately adjacent to a secondary school, and it is noted that there are a number of 
primary schools within a 20 minute walking distance from the site. With regards to other local 
facilities, three small retail and commercial units are located at the junction of Hollin Lane 
and Langley Lane, and a public house and further small convenience shop are located within 



walking distance further along Hollin Lane to the south of the site. A wide variety of 
employment, leisure, retail, health and other community facilities and amenities located 
within Middleton and Heywood, accessible within short bus journey times of 10 minutes, with 
the regional centre of Manchester located approximately a 30 minute journey. Having regard 
to the above, the application site is considered to be within a sustainable location for the 
purposes of the NPPF. 

It is noted that, under both options, the number of dwellings proposed would make a 
significant and valuable contribution towards the supply of housing within the Borough.  In 
the context of the above, significant weight is afforded to the benefits of the proposal in 
respect of its contribution to the supply of housing in the Borough.  

Impact on Availability of High Quality Agricultural Land

Paragraph 112 of the NPPF states that local planning authorities should take into account 
the economic and other benefits of the best and most versatile agricultural land. Where 
significant development of agricultural land is demonstrated to be necessary, local planning 
authorities should seek to use areas of poorer quality land in preference to that of a higher 
quality. Best and most versatile agricultural land is grade 3A, 2 and 1.  Land of lesser quality 
is grade 3B, 4 and 5.  

It is noted that the proposed development would occupy approximately 5.8 Ha of agricultural 
land to the north of Langley Lane. A survey has been undertaken by the applicant which has 
concluded that due to the soil quality and climatic considerations the majority of the land 
within the site would constitute grade 3B (moderate quality) with two small areas along the 
north and south boundaries of the site being grade 5 (very poor quality). Therefore, the land 
within the application site does not include the best and most versatile agricultural land 
within grades 3A and above. Furthermore, given the limited presence of arable agriculture 
and associated infrastructure in the vicinity of the site, it is considered that the land would be 
unlikely to produce high or moderate yields and for a wide range of arable and cereal crops. 

Given the above, the proposals would not result in the loss of best and most versatile 
agricultural land and the loss of the poorer quality agricultural land is necessary to secure 
the provision of housing.  The proposal therefore accords with the NPPF.  

Impact on Mineral and Coal Interests

With regards to mineral interests policy 8 of the Greater Manchester Minerals Plan states 
that proposals for non-mineral development within the Mineral Safeguarding Areas that do 
not allow for the prior extraction of minerals will only be permitted where:

1. The need for the development outweighs the need to extract the mineral; or
2. It can be clearly demonstrated that it is not environmentally acceptable or 

economically viable to extract the mineral prior to non-mineral development 
taking place; or

3. It can be clearly demonstrated that the mineral is either not present or of no 
economic value or too deep to extract in relation to the proposed development; 
or;

4. The development is limited or temporary and would not prevent minerals 
extraction taking place in the future.

The application site forms part of an allocated Mineral Safeguarding Areas for Coal and 
Brick Clay within the Greater Manchester (GM) Minerals Plan. The proposed development 
would not allow for the prior extraction of minerals from the site and as a result would 
sterilise any clay or brick reserves which may exist below the site. 



The applicant has submitted a Mineral Assessment report which concludes that the need for 
the development would outweigh the need for prior extraction of the minerals. In addition, 
that report concludes that due to the depth of the coal and brick clay reserves requiring prior 
extraction, and that as a result of the need to provide sufficient buffers to adjacent sensitive 
land uses, insufficient amount of reserves could be extracted to make the process viable.

Comments have been received from the Greater Manchester Minerals and Waste Planning 
Unit and whilst they do not accept that prior extraction would not be unviable and impossible, 
it is noted that they do consider the need for the proposals in the absence of a five year 
supply would outweigh the need for extraction of the brick and clay minerals and have raised 
no objections to the proposal if this is the case. 

In this instance in the absence of an adopted Core Strategy and confirmed and tested 
housing land supply, it is noted that the residential development would need to be assessed 
with regard to the presumption in favour of sustainable development and the objective of 
boosting housing provision set out in the NPPF. As a result, it is considered that the need for 
the proposed development to form 150 or 127 houses would outweigh the need for mineral 
extraction. With regard to the above, it is also noted that the Coal Authority have raised no 
objections and consider that the requirements of policy 8 have been addressed through the 
appropriate consideration of prior extraction undertaken within the submitted mineral 
assessment. Therefore, having regard to the above, it is considered that the proposed 
scheme would accord with policy 8 of the GM Minerals Plan.

With respect to the presence of former coal mine entries, it is noted that the Coal Authority 
have advised that whilst there are no shallow recorded coal mine workings within the 
development site, there is the potential for unrecorded coal mining features to be present 
within the site and surrounding area. The Coal Authority have subsequently raised no 
objections to the proposed development but have recommended the inclusion of an 
informative should permission be granted reflecting the sites location within a  coal mining 
area, and which has been included in the recommendation accordingly. Having regard to the 
above, it is considered that the proposed scheme would provide for a safe environment for 
future residents, users and occupants of the development in accordance with policy 
objectives within the Council’s LDF Core Strategy.

Education Provision

There are two options for the development of the site.  Option 1 proposes up to 150 
dwellings, whereas option 2 proposes up to 127 dwellings with land for a potential one form 
entry primary school.  

Paragraph 72 of the NPPF states:

“The Government attaches great importance to ensuring that a sufficient choice of school 
places is available to meet the needs of existing and new communities. Local planning 
authorities should take a proactive, positive and collaborative approach to meeting this 
requirement, and to development that will widen choice in education. They should:

• give great weight to the need to create, expand or alter schools; and
• work with schools promoters to identify and resolve key planning issues 

before applications are submitted.

Policies C7 and DM2 of the emerging Core Strategy require that residential developments 
provide for social infrastructure including education facilities to meet the demand for 
additional school places created by such developments.  Whilst the weight that can be 
afforded to the Core Strategy policies is limited, the proposed residential development would 



generate additional demand for primary and secondary school places within the local area.  
In accordance with the NPPF, the impact of the development on education provision should 
be mitigated. 

The Council’s Schools Service notes that the existing primary and secondary schools within 
the local area are at capacity and have evidenced immediate and future need for additional 
places to be provided within the township of Middleton. The Schools Service has 
subsequently requested that the proposed development mitigates for this additional demand 
for education places by providing financial contributions to be utilised towards providing 
additional education facilities at Primary and Secondary Schools within the local area. It is 
considered that the provision of such additional education places and facilities would be 
necessary in order to provide for sustainable communities and achieve the golden thread of 
sustainable development running through the NPPF. 

The applicant has agreed to the principle of providing for education need as part of the 
proposed development. It is noted that the potential option for providing land on the 
application site for the provision of a new single form entry primary school has been included 
within the revised application as option 2. However, it is noted that school land would be 
provided on a single site, which would in itself only provide up to 127 dwellings in addition to 
the school land. It is noted that in considering this planning application, this land would 
represent an over provision as it cannot be reasonably justified (127 dwellings would not 
generate demand for a one form entry primary school).  The Council considers that such a 
contribution would not comply with the Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations, which 
require that contributions are reasonable, directly related in scale and kind to the 
development and necessary for the development to proceed.  As such, any decision 
including such a requirement would be at risk of potential challenge. Therefore, the Council 
notes the offer of land from the applicant in order to include a one form entry school, but the 
Council could not legally require this as part of the determination of this application, as it is 
found that it would fail the three tests associated with the CIL Regulations. 

In this instance, the legal and coincidentally more simple approach in order to mitigate the 
impact of the proposed development on education infrastructure is in the Council’s view the 
provision of appropriate financial contributions towards education provision off-site.

Accordingly, the applicants have agreed to enter into a section 106 agreement to provide 
financial contributions towards the provision of primary and secondary school places off-site. 
The basis for calculating the scale of financial contributions towards providing for primary 
and secondary education places has through these discussions been agreed with the 
Council as Education Authority. A more detailed breakdown of the calculation of the 
necessary financial contributions towards mitigating for the education need generated by the 
proposed development is discussed in the planning obligations section of this report.  

Impact on Character of Surrounding Area and Landscape

Section 11 of the NPPF sets a wide context to conserving and enhancing the natural 
environment and requires that valued landscapes are protected and enhanced and requires 
that the level of protection is commensurate with the status and importance of landscapes. 

Policy G/BE/1 of the UDP states that new development (both buildings and their settings) will 
be required to contribute to the provision of an attractive, safe and accessible built 
environment, and in particular contribute to the quality of the townscape and landscape, and 
accord with the best of its surroundings. Developments that engender local distinctiveness 
will be encouraged.

Policy BE/2 further requires that development be compatible with or improve their 



surroundings and to enhance or create views, landmarks and other townscape features 
which make a material contribution to the character of the area.

Policy G/NE/5 of the UDP specifically states that in considering the impact of development 
proposals, special emphasis will be placed on the effect of development on the visual and 
cultural character of the landscape and features of acknowledged cultural, natural and 
historic significance. 

Policy NE/6 of the UDP goes on to states that: 

“Development will be permitted where it conserves the physical and cultural attributes of the
landscape and contributes, as appropriate, to the regeneration, restoration, enhancement or
maintenance of the landscape likely to be affected. Proposals with potential landscape and 
visual implications will be assessed having regard to the extent to which they would:

1. Make a positive contribution to the visual amenity of the area (including views into 
and from the site and surrounding area);

2. Remove incongruous landscape features;
3. Assist the conservation of:
(vi) Landscape elements that contribute to local distinctiveness;
(vii) Historic elements which make a significant contribution (individually or 

cumulatively) to landscape character and quality (e.g., field, settlement or road 
patterns, existing buildings, sites and features of archaeological interest);

(viii) Semi-natural vegetation which is characteristic to the landscape type;
(ix) The visual condition of landscape elements; and
(x) Tranquillity and the amenity and informal recreation value of the landscape.

Development which adversely affects the character or physical structure of the landscape or 
which would detract from the physical record of the historic and cultural evolution of an area 
will not be permitted.”

With regards to the character of the wider area the site sits within the Manchester Pennine 
Fringe national character area (no. 54) which sits between the Southern Pennines to the 
north and Manchester Conurbation to the south. This area includes the towns of Bury 
Rochdale and Oldham and is described as a transitional zone between elevated, open 
moorlands and densely populated urban areas on lower ground. The landform is described 
as a transition from upland to lowland with smooth shoulders of land divided by steep-sided 
valleys, and with vantage points provided on elevated areas providing views across Greater 
Manchester. This notes that much of the countryside has been influenced by recreational 
use of adjacent urban areas and diversification of farmland resulting in a distinct urban fringe 
character.

The site lies immediately to the north of the urban area of Middleton, with open fields to the 
north and west leading to the M62 motorway corridor, and the urban area of Heywood 
beyond. The application site comprises an undulating topography of open fields separated 
by hedgerows with small farm complexes interspersed and set within open fields. The site is 
located within what is characterised as settled farmlands within the Landscape Character 
Areas defined in policy NE/6 of the UDP. This notes that these areas are of more 
domesticated farmscape with occasional small settlements on lower slopes and valley 
edges; improved grasslands used for cattle, sheep and horse grazing, with a varied mix of 
open land uses including farming, equestrian, outdoor sports and managed areas of 
countryside.

The applicant has submitted a Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment (LVIA) in support 
of the application. This provides a detailed assessment of the impact of the proposed 



development on the landscape and visual amenity of the surrounding area both during 
construction and throughout the lifetime of the development. It is noted that the site is 
located within a prominent location visible from public view along Langley Lane to the south 
and from a network of rights of way that run across and between open fields towards the 
north, east and west of the site. Indeed it is noted that the current frontage of the site 
comprises open post and rail fencing allowing views across the open fields of the application 
site and across to the countryside beyond. 

The submitted LVIA notes that respectively, the proposed development would result in 
temporary substantial and substantial to moderate adverse landscape impacts during 
construction of the development, from the public rights of way immediately to the east of the 
site and from along Langley Lane to the south of the site. It is also noted that there would be 
substantial adverse effects on views from Langley Lane Farm and on Langley Lane during 
construction. However, it is noted that this impact would be experienced for a temporary 
period during construction and are localised to the area immediately around the site.

With regards to post completion and the landscape and visual impacts from the ongoing 
operation of the site, it is noted that the proposed indicative masterplan and parameters plan 
responds to those significant impacts set out above with respect to the impacts from Langley 
Lane and the public right of way (MidRupp 114) and properties on Langley Lane, by 
providing a dense landscaped buffer along the eastern boundary of the site and landscaped 
buffers along the Langley Lane frontage and also the west boundary of the site adjacent to 
Langley Lane Farm. Once the development is complete and landscaping and planting 
implemented and matured, it is noted that the impacts from the public right of way to the east 
would reduce to slight adverse. 

With regards to the impacts on those rights of way to the north and west, and from along 
Hollin Lane further to the east, it is noted that due to the undulating topography and 
intervening hedgerows and tree coverage, that there would be no significant adverse 
impacts on views from these routes upon completion of the development. Whilst it is noted 
that the proposed development would result in the loss of open views from Langley Lane 
Farm and the residential properties fronting the south side of Langley Lane, it is noted that 
these are from private residential properties, and following the implementation and maturing 
of proposed landscape planting that there would be no significant harm caused. The impacts 
on residential amenity are discussed elsewhere in this report. However, it is an established 
principle in planning law that there is no right to a view.  

Therefore, having regard to the above, it is considered that there would be no significant 
long term visual impacts and harm caused to the landscape character of the surrounding 
area, or on landscape features including hedgerows and trees within the site as a result of 
the proposed development. 

It is noted that the cumulative impact of the proposal with the planning applications for the 
development of adjacent sites would result in the loss of a significant area of open grassed 
fields adjacent to existing vehicular routes and residential areas. However, it is also noted 
that the sites would be seen within the context of the adjacent urban area of Middleton.

The site is located adjacent to the Greater Manchester Green Belt that runs along the 
northern boundary of the site and therefore provides a break from the urban area of 
Middleton to the Green Belt. The proposed scheme would retain an open green buffer along 
the northern boundary of the site adjacent to the Green Belt ranging from between 
approximately 13 metres and 40 metres in width. This is considered to provide adequate 
separation and a soft transition between the between the built form of the proposed 
residential development and the open fields of the Green belt to the north, to ensure that 
there would be no significant harm to views into and of the adjacent Green belt. 



Having regard to the above, the character of the surrounding area and its location on the 
urban fringe, although the development would change the character of the area, the 
development would not cause any significant over-riding harm to the character, qualities and 
visual aesthetics of the surrounding landscape both individually and cumulatively, in 
accordance with policies G/NE/5 and NE/6 of the UDP, and the policies set out in the NPPF.

Highways and Traffic Implications

Paragraph 32 of the NPPF states that all developments that generate significant amounts of 
movement should be supported by a Transport Statement or Transport Assessment. 
Planning decisions should take account of whether:

• the opportunities for sustainable transport modes have been taken up depending on 
the nature and location of the site, to reduce the need for major transport 
infrastructure;

• safe and suitable access to the site can be achieved for all people; and
• improvements can be undertaken within the transport network that cost effectively 

limit the significant impacts of the development. Development should only be 
prevented or refused on transport grounds where the residual cumulative impacts of 
development are severe.

UDP policy A/11 states that the submission of Transport Assessments will be required 
alongside planning applications where:

• The development has the potential to lead to a material increase in the volume of 
road traffic or increased impact because of the type of traffic, and it is necessary to 
determine whether highway works or other measures are necessary; and

• The development is major, and thus may involve a number of individual elements or 
uses which involve major generators of travel demand, and it is appropriate to 
illustrate accessibility to the site by all modes and the likely model split of journeys to 
and from the site.

The policy indicates that the scope and detail of Transport Assessments should reflect the 
size of a development and the extent of the transport implications and should illustrate what 
highway works and other transport measures are necessary to improve access, manage 
parking demand, address the impact of the development on air and noise pollution levels, 
and improve accessibility by walking, cycling and public transport. Any necessary measures 
identified in the Transport Assessment must support and complement the Local Transport 
Strategy set out in the Local Transport Plan.

The application has been supported by a detailed Transport Assessment which has 
considered and reviewed the existing traffic conditions, the additional travel movements 
generated by such type of housing developments, and the implications on traffic and 
highway capacity during construction, and has been updated following removal of the 
community space originally proposed. The transport assessment has been updated to take 
into account the revised application and the implications of the potential primary school 
within the application site in option 2. The assessment has been reviewed by the Local 
Highway Authority, Highways England, and TfGM who have raised no concerns regarding 
the information, assessments and conclusions contained within the assessment.

Access:

UDP policy A/9 stipulates that development proposals will be required to facilitate safe and 
convenient access for general traffic, which includes cars, motorcycles and commercial 
vehicles. Relative to the scale, type and location of development, proposals should ensure 
that:



c) Roads, junctions and access points to/from premises are safe, convenient and 
suitable for the volume and characteristics of traffic that will be required to use them; 
and

d) Access for emergency service vehicles and other service vehicles, such as waste 
collection vehicles, is provided.

In addition, UDP policy H/3 (e) states that proposals should be compatible with surrounding 
uses, including highways, both in terms of [their] impact upon those uses and the impact of 
surrounding uses upon the amenity of future residents, and BE/2 (g) requires proposals to 
facilitate safe and convenient access and circulation.

As noted above, this application seeks permission for the access to the site which is 
proposed to be provided by a single access to north side of Langley Lane. Under option 1 for 
a development comprising up to 150 dwellings the site access would be located on a straight 
stretch of Langley Lane between its junctions with Braithwaite Road and Derwent Road. This 
would provide a straight estate road into the site for approximately 30 metres. The indicative 
masterplan shows the main spine road bending north through the site before turning east 
into the site with a series of smaller secondary roads leading off to a network of smaller cul-
de-sacs. 

An emergency access would also be provided on to Langley Lane via a pedestrian route 
opposite nos. 53-59 Langley Lane. The detailed design of this potential emergency access 
point will be subject to consideration at a later date as part of the reserved matters 
applications. However, the siting, size and design of the single access and the provision of 
an emergency access are considered to provide appropriate access to the site and would be 
acceptable in respect of highway safety. 

Under option 2, which includes a potential primary school to be provided within the site, the 
same access to the site is proposed to provide for access to the majority of the 127 
dwellings, however in this instance the point of the emergency access would form a 
secondary access into the site to serve a limited number of dwellings and the primary 
school. This secondary access would be off-set from nearby highway junctions and would 
provide adequate visibility along Langley Lane with having regard to associated vehicle 
speeds.

The proposed development also includes a series of proposed off-site highways works 
projects comprising;

• Improvements to the junction of Hollin Lane and Langley Lane comprising the 
forming of a separate right and left turning lane along Langley Lane for eastbound 
traffic turning on to Hollin Lane.

• A new uncontrolled pedestrian crossing and traffic island along Langley Lane to the 
east of the application site to link into the adjacent public right of way (MidRupp114)  
in order to assist pedestrians crossing Langley Lane to provide improved pedestrian 
crossing facilities from the site into the adjacent residential area.

• Additional road signage, road markings and traffic calming measures along Langley 
Lane including 2 no. 30 mph roundels either side of the site access to denote the 
gateway into the site in order clam traffic speeds along Langley Lane.

The Local Highway Authority has raised no objections subject to the implementation of the 
above series of highways works to assist and manage traffic flows on the surrounding 
highways network. It is proposed that the off-site highway works would be fully funded by the 
applicant and secured through section 278 Agreement. 

It is noted that the site is located within relatively close proximity to junction 19 of the M62 
motorway to the north. Highways England (formerly the Highways Agency) has considered 



the impacts on the strategic road network and has raised no objections subject to a condition 
securing the approval and subsequent implementation of a travel plan. 

With regards to the comments of TfGM, it is noted that the bus stops along Hollin Lane and 
Windermere Road to the south and east of the site that provide services into Middleton, 
Manchester and Heywood are some distance from the site, and that the bus service running 
along Langley Lane only offers an infrequent service between 9 am and 4pm during the 
working week and on Saturdays. As noted by TfGM the wider masterplan for the area does 
indicate the potential for the application site to link into a route on the adjacent site and on to 
Hollin Lane, which would if appropriately designed provide the facility for a bus service to be 
extended through the site. 

Nevertheless, it is noted that the indicative masterplan provides a network of footpaths both 
utilising a clear north to south and east to west direction and these would connect to the 
existing routes around the site. It is also noted these also connect to and run through the 
areas of open space along the north, and east perimeters of the site. In addition, as noted 
above an appropriate travel plan drawn up in consultation with TfGM and the Highways 
England could be secured by condition on the grant of permission. 

It is also noted that the proposed parameters plan provides for a circular network of 
combined cycle and pedestrian routes within the site that would link into the public right of 
way to the east and existing route along Langley Lane to the south, and subject to detailed 
design would provide for safe cycle routes which would link into the existing footpath and 
highway networks around the perimeters of the site. With respect to existing and proposed 
cycle routes along Langley Lane and the surrounding area, it is noted that the Council has 
secured confirmed funding for cycle network improvements along Langley Lane and along 
Hollin Lane up to junction 19 of the M62 and further northwest to Heywood Distribution Park 
and Stakehill Industrial Park, and east towards Hopwood Hall College, and Cardinal Langley 
RC High School. 

In accordance with the recommendations of TfGM and in order to provide for sustainable 
travel options into Middleton Town Centre, it is proposed to secure the provision of financial 
contributions towards cycle network improvements along a section of Hollin Lane from its 
junction with Langley Lane to its junction with Rochdale Road to the south.  This would 
assist in providing a connection between the application site and the various employment, 
leisure, entertainment and education facilities in Middleton Town Centre, but also link into 
the wider Hollin Lane and Junction 19 Cycle Route improvement project.

Traffic Generation and Network Capacity (including junction 19):

UDP policy A/8 states that new development will be permitted provided that the additional 
traffic generated will not be detrimental to the safe and efficient operation of the Highway 
Network, both adjacent to and further away from the site. Specifically, proposals should not:
a) Have an adverse impact on the safety of any road users;
b) Have an adverse impact on accessibility for pedestrians, including people with 

restricted mobility, cyclists or users of public transport in the immediate vicinity of the 
development;

c) Substantially increase congestion;
d) Divert traffic on to less suitable roads; or
e) Cause an unacceptable environmental impact on residential properties passed by 
traffic associated with the development whilst accessing the principal road network.

The policy states that where additional traffic movements directly generated by a 
development proposal would adversely affect the existing highway infrastructure, the 
developer will be required to fund works to leave the highway network in a no worse state. 



The works required by the Council could be any or all of the following:
• Improvements to the existing highway infrastructure;
• Improvements to public transport and related infrastructure;
• Measures to secure modal shift away from vehicular traffic to walking and cycling;
• Other traffic management measures; and/or
• The removal or restriction of car parking provision.

With regards to the overall traffic generation from the proposed dwellings, it is noted that an 
assessment of the impact of the 150 dwellings proposed or 127 dwellings and a primary 
school on land off Langley Lane within this application, and also the cumulative impact with 
the other two proposed developments of up to 88 and 205 dwellings, has been undertaken 
and reviewed by the Highways Authority and Highways England. 

An analysis of the capacity at the following junctions has been undertaken following 
discussions with the Highways Authority and Highways Agency. An analysis of the remaining 
capacity at the junctions of Rochdale Road and Hollin Lane junction; the Hollin Lane and 
Langley Lane junction; the Langley Lane and Heywood Old Road junction; the Hollin Lane 
and Hazlehurst Drive junction to the east of the site, and the junction of Hollin Lane with 
junction 19 of the M62; shows that these junctions would continue to operate within their 
respective capacity when the proposed development would be complete and also when 
those potential developments on adjacent sites are completed. 

With regards to the specific implications on the important strategic network of the M62 and 
works associated with the South Heywood Strategic site and South Heywood Link Road, it is 
also noted from separate analysis undertaken by the Highways Agency, that subject to 
implementation of the wider pinch point scheme of signalisation of junction 19 of the M62 
motorway, the proposed development individually and cumulatively could be accommodated 
alongside these other long term strategic objectives.

In order to reduce the overall traffic associated with the development and encourage 
sustainable travel choice a Framework Travel Plan has also accompanied the application 
and proposes that the subsequent development incorporate a number of physical, 
management based measure to minimise travel by private motor-vehicle. These would 
include, a Site Travel Plan Co-Ordinator; Travel Cards, residents travel information pack; a 
community website and notice board displaying and promoting public transport and other 
sustainable modes of travel; a community car sharing scheme; a bike. Walk BUDI scheme, 
and personalised travel planning service provided by the travel plan co-ordinator. These 
would be supplemented by the physical measures including cycle parking for each dwelling, 
and provision of a permeable layout and form provided by a network of clear footpaths and 
cycle ways, along either residential streets, existing rights of way, or through areas of public 
open space. 

In order to ensure this framework travel plan is drawn up into a detailed Travel Plan 
alongside the detailed reserved matters applications for the layout and design of the site, a 
condition has been recommended requiring the reserved matters applications to be 
accompanied by a detailed travel plan. 

Having regard to the above, and subject to the measures set out above being secured by 
way of condition and appropriate contributions by way of legal agreements, there would be 
no severe impact on the function and safety of the surrounding local and strategic highway 
network and the development would encourage alternative modes of travel to the private car, 
in accordance with the policies set out in the NPPF and saved policies of the UDP.

Parking Provision:



UDP policy A/10 relates to parking provision and refers to the Council’s Schedule of Parking 
Standards (UDP Appendix C) which identifies maximum standards for car parking provision 
and minimum standards for cycle and motorcycle parking. The maximum standard for car 
parking provision for two-bed (+) houses located outside the town centre is stipulated as two 
spaces per dwelling. A note to this Appendix indicates that “parking standards for C3 
[housing] developments are intended to result in an average, throughout the plan area of 
over the plan period, of 1.5 off-street car parking spaces per dwelling”.  Maximum standards 
have now been removed from national policy.  

As the application submitted is in outline, details of the parking provision for each dwelling 
would be determined at reserved matters stage.  Nevertheless, in principle given the number 
of dwellings proposed and layout and size of the site, it is considered that sufficient parking 
could be provided on the site for the development proposed in accordance with policy A/10 
of the UDP. 

Option 2 demonstrates the provision that would be made within the application site for 
sufficient land to accommodate a school and two car parking areas for this use. Given the 
close link to surrounding residential areas, the capacity of surrounding highways, their size, 
the sites proximity to bus services, it is considered that in principle this layout would provide 
for adequate access and parking for the provision of up to 127 dwellings and a single form 
entry primary school, in accordance with policy A/10 of the UDP.

Impact on Public Rights of Way (PROW):

UDP policy A/3 requires development proposals to facilitate safe and convenient access for 
pedestrians, disabled people and other people with restricted mobility. Relative to the scale, 
type and location of the development, proposals should ensure that:

e) Walking routes are safe, convenient, environmentally pleasant, highly visible from 
surrounding land and buildings, well lit and signed;

f) Pedestrian access into development sites is located to provide the most convenient 
route to nearby facilities and destinations;

g) Existing rights of way are maintained or improved; and
h) Walking routes are capable of being shared safely with cyclists.

UDP policy RE/6 stipulates that:
• The Council will develop, in partnership with other agencies, bodies, occupiers and 

landowners, a system of strategic recreational rights of way as identified on the 
Proposals Map. The intention will be to secure the protection, development and 
improvement of these routes to link areas of managed and accessible countryside 
and establish links with routes in the wider region. The Council will encourage and 
implement high quality links with such routes from urban areas.

• Where appropriate and practicable, the Council will support schemes which facilitate 
the greater use of these routes by cyclists, horse riders and those people with 
impaired mobility. Where opportunities and resources permit, the Council will support 
and implement enhancement schemes such as way marking, picnic, interpretation 
and other facilities along the routes.

• In the implementation of this proposal, the Council will take account of the 
conservation of the countryside including the buildings within it, the protection of 
agricultural interests, areas of nature conservation importance (including designated 
areas) and the character and purpose of the route where appropriate.

UDP policy A/4 indicates that development proposals will be permitted where the design and 
layout of development schemes facilitate safe and convenient access for cyclists. Relative to 
the scale, type and location of the development, criteria (b – e) of the policy state that 
proposals should ensure:



• Off-road routes are safe, convenient, highly visible from surrounding land and 
buildings, well lit and signed as appropriate;

• The access infrastructure within new developments gives priority to the 
establishment of convenient routes for cyclists, unless essential motor vehicle access 
would be compromised by the lack of other suitable and safe alternatives;

• Cycle access points are located to provide direct and convenient links with adjoining 
uses, the wider cycle network and identified potential off-site cycle routes;

• Cycle routes intended or likely to be shared by pedestrians are designed to ensure 
safety and compatibility.

UDP policy A/13 stipulates that PROW and other pedestrian routes identified in the Council's 
'Local Walking Route Network' will be protected where they fall within sites proposed for 
development, subject to consideration of opportunities for local re-routing where this would 
improve convenience and safety for pedestrians. Improvements to the walking environment 
and the provision of new links will be a priority on the Local Walking Route Network and 
such improvements should address safety, convenience, attractiveness, comfort and 
accessibility for disabled people and other people with restricted mobility.

There a number of rights of way adjacent to and in the vicinity of the application site, in 
particular immediately to the east of the site, and further to the north and west of the site. All 
these would be retained as part of the proposed development and also within the indicative 
wider masterplan for the Hollin Lane area. Therefore, it is considered that that the proposed 
development would not cause harm to the integrity and quality of this route for pedestrians 
and cyclists. 

The proposed scheme set out in the parameters plan allows for a network of dedicated 
pedestrian routes, combined pedestrian and cycle routes, connections to the existing public 
right of way running along the eastern boundary of the site, with these new routes also to be 
connected into a network of residential streets. It is considered that these would supplement 
existing routes and together would form a highly permeable townscape and network of 
routes with a clear hierarchy and mix of types of routes to aid movement and use. Thereby, 
resulting in a safe and accessible environment in accordance with the above policies of the 
UDP and the policy objectives set out in the NPPF. In order to ensure that the connections 
into the adjacent public right of way are brought forward in line with a broader access and 
layout strategy across the site and those within the surrounding area and on adjacent sites, 
a condition has been recommended requiring details of how the detailed layout connects into 
the existing and planned surrounding network of routes including roads, footpaths, 
bridleways and rights of way.

Open Space, Recreation and Sports Facilities

Paragraph 70 of the NPPF states that to deliver the social, recreational and cultural facilities 
and services the community needs, planning policies and decisions should: 

 Plan positively for the provision and use of shared space, community facilities (such 
as local shops, meeting places, sports venues, cultural buildings, public houses, and 
places of worship) and other local services to enhance the sustainability of 
communities and residential environments; 

 Ensure an integrated approach to considering the location of housing, economic uses 
and community facilities and services. 

The need to provide for outdoor recreation and sports facilities is reflected in local planning 
policies in the UDP, where policy H/6 requires new housing developments to make adequate 
provision for recreational open space – comprising elements of both local (at a rate of 1 
hectare per 1000 population) and formal (at a rate of 1.1 hectare per 1000 population) 



provision. In the case of developments involving more than 100 bedrooms this provision is to 
be met through a financial contribution towards the laying out (including 20 year 
maintenance maintenance) and/or improvement of recreational open space off site. 
Contributions to off-site recreational open space are calculated on the basis of the number of 
bedrooms being created by a development and the resulting demand for recreational open 
space arising from the occupation of the new houses.

As of the 6th April 2015, the Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations now prevent more 
than five contributions being pooled towards a single form of infrastructure, such as 
recreation and sport facilities.  The Council has entered into more than five separate 
contributions for open space outdoor sport and recreation facilities and therefore any further 
contributions sought would not comply with the requirements of the Community 
Infrastructure Levy Regulations, unless specific projects are identified.

Notwithstanding this, it is noted that paragraph 73 of the NPPF highlights that access to high 
quality open spaces and opportunities for sport and recreation can make an important 
contribution to the health and well-being of communities.  In this regard, the proposed 
development set out within the parameters plan provides on-site open space, the detailed 
layout of which will be determined within future reserved matters applications. With regards 
to formal children’s’ play facilities, in this instance it is noted that the proposed outline 
scheme includes the provision of a Locally Equipped Area of Play (LEAP) shown within the 
linear area of public open space. Maintenance of on-site facilities would be the responsibility 
of the developer and it is intended that a landscape open space implementation and 
management plan will be secured by way of a section 106 Agreement.  

In relation to formal sports and recreation facilities, the applicant has agreed to enter into an 
s106 agreement to provide financial contributions in accordance with the Sport England 
Sports Facilities Calculator, towards the provision of new, or improvement of existing sports 
facilities, at Bowlee Playing Fields to mitigate the impact of the development on sports 
facilities.  Sport England has subsequently withdrawn the non-statutory objection initially 
raised.  As such, the proposal includes on and off site provision of formal and informal sport 
and recreation facilities in accordance with the NPPF. 

Ecology and Nature Conservation Implications

The NPPF requires that applications should conserve and enhance biodiversity, valued 
landscapes, minimise impacts and recognise the benefits of ecosystems. The impacts on 
nature conservation interests are also protected by separate legislation including the Natural 
Environment and Rural Communities Act, which requires Local Authorities to have regard to 
nature conservation and article 10 of the Habitats Directive, which stresses the importance 
of natural networks of linked corridors to allow movement of species between suitable 
habitats, and promote the expansion of biodiversity.

The third bullet point to paragraph 109 of the NPPF indicates that the planning system 
should contribute to and enhance the natural and local environment by minimising impacts 
on biodiversity and providing net gains in biodiversity where possible, contributing to the 
Government’s commitment to halt the overall decline in biodiversity, including by establishing 
coherent ecological networks that are more resilient to current and future pressures.

Paragraph 118 of the NPPF states that, when determining planning applications, local 
planning authorities should aim to conserve and enhance biodiversity by applying the 
following (relevant) principles:

• if significant harm resulting from a development cannot be avoided (through locating 
on an alternative site with less harmful impacts), adequately mitigated, or, as a last 
resort, compensated for, then planning permission should be refused;



• proposed development on land within or outside a Site of Special Scientific Interest 
likely to have an adverse effect on a Site of Special Scientific Interest (either 
individually or in combination with other developments) should not normally be 
permitted. Where an adverse effect on the site’s notified special interest features is 
likely, an exception should only be made where the benefits of the development, at 
this site, clearly outweigh both the impacts that it is likely to have on the features of 
the site that make it of special scientific interest and any broader impacts on the 
national network of Sites of Special Scientific Interest;

• opportunities to incorporate biodiversity in and around developments should be 
encouraged.

UDP policy NE/2 stipulates that development proposals adversely affecting sites and areas 
of ecological and geological/geomorphological importance will not be permitted (the Council 
seeking to protect and enhance them). In assessing proposals, the Council will apply 
national planning policy as it relates to international (e.g. Special Areas of Conservation – 
SAC), national (e.g. Sites of Special Scientific Interest – SSSI) and regional/local (e.g. Sites 
of Biological Importance – SBIs) designations in order to ensure that development does not 
adversely affect the integrity and fundamental nature conservation value of these sites, and 
that appropriate mitigation and safeguarding is put in place.

UDP policy NE/3 indicates that, in areas where the designations in policy NE/2 are not 
applicable, the effect of land use changes on existing features, species and habitats of 
ecological value will be taken into account in assessing proposals. Development should seek 
to retain such features and incorporate them into the development. Where this would place 
an unreasonable constraint on the development, steps to provide compensatory features or 
habitats of an equivalent nature and value, commensurate with the scale and type of 
development permitted may be required. Developments which establish new landscaping 
and open spaces that contribute to nature conservation and local biodiversity will be 
supported and encouraged, especially where this will:

• Help to address local habitat deficiencies or the needs of species and habitats of 
conservation concern;

• Help to provide accessible, high quality natural greenspace in urban areas; or
• Create or extend wildlife corridors both within the urban area and connecting the 

urban areas with the wider countryside around towns

UDP policy NE/4 states that development proposals which would affect a species protected 
by National or European law or its habitat will not be permitted unless it can be 
demonstrated that:

• There is no adverse impact on the species concerned;
• Loss of, or damage to habitats supporting such species is minimal and, where 

required, adequate alternative habitats are provided to sustain at least the current 
levels of the population of the species; and

• Where a proposal affects a European Protected Species, it fulfils the appropriate 
criteria for development as set out in National and European legislation.

UDP policy NE/8 (a – d) indicates that proposals on sites containing trees and woodlands 
should ensure:

a. Suitable space and conditions for the successful retention of trees, woodland and 
hedgerows;

b. That new tree planting is of an appropriate scale and species and that the impacts on 
the amenity of the development and surrounding area in the longer term e.g., root 
spread, stability, loss of daylight, leaf fall and personal safety have been fully 
considered;

c. Suitable care and protection of trees and their environment during construction;
d. The nature conservation value of existing hedgerows, trees and woodland has been 



safeguarded where appropriate including the incidence of protected species.

The application site is located on the edge of the urban area of Middleton and comprises 
open agricultural fields characterised by pasture and grazing land with a network of 
hedgerows providing for a network of wildlife corridors and further habitats for wildlife and 
fauna. The Hopwood Woods Local Nature Reserve which also forms an Ancient Woodland 
is located approximately 860 metres to the east of the site. The Glade and Oaken bank 
Woods a Site of Biological Importance is also located approximately 960 metres the 
northeast of the site. The application has been accompanied by a detailed Ecological 
Assessment which has been reviewed by Greater Manchester Ecological Unit (GMEU), who 
note that the survey was undertaken by a suitably qualified and experienced ecologist and in 
accordance with best practice. 

Designated and Non-Designated Sites:

The application site itself is not designated as of any specific nature conservation value, and 
it is noted that due to the distance to the Hopwood Woods Nature Reserve and Glade and 
Oaken Bank Woods SBI to the northeast that the proposals would not have a direct impact 
on these nature conservation assets. It is noted that GMEU have recommended a financial 
contribution or management arrangement be secured towards the habitat management and 
access facilities within Hopwood Woods given the likely increase in footfall and usage 
created by the amount of homes proposed. However, it is noted that this site itself is 
disconnected from Hopwood Woods and Glade and Oaken Bank Woods, and it is not 
considered that the proposal would justify a contribution in its own right.

With regards to potential implications on Glade and Oaken Bank Woods SBI, it is noted that 
the proposals may involve the provision of a surface water outfall from the development into 
the watercourse into the brook at Oaken Bank Woods. In order to ensure that the 
appropriate assessment, and any necessary mitigation measures or works to protect the SBI 
and its habitat from the works themselves and any ongoing implications from surface water 
drainage flows, a condition has been recommended requiring that prior to any development 
taking place detailed drainage plans be submitted and approved in writing and if necessary 
be accompanied by an ecological appraisal where works and outfalls are proposed at Glade 
and Oaken Bank Woods.

Habitats:

With regards to the implications on the habitats on site, it is noted that the majority of the site 
is characterised by species poor semi-improved grass and pasture land. The site does 
include a network of hedgerows, scattered trees and areas of grassland which will be lost as 
part of the development. However, the site does not comprise any protected habitats and 
those that are on site are not unique and it is noted that the proposal includes the retention 
of the trees and hedgerows that are located within the northern part of the site, and that 
these would be enhanced through a substantial landscaped buffer along the northern edge 
of the site. 

Both the supporting report and GMEU conclude that subject to the provision of replacement 
hedgerow and tree habitats in the north and eastern landscape buffers, the provision of 
appropriate planting and biodiversity enhancements incorporating local native species within 
the northern buffer; the approval and implementation of a long term conservation 
management plan for the wildlife corridors around the edges and running through the centre 
of the site; and the protection of the existing trees and hedgerows at the site, the proposals 
would provide for adequate mitigation and replacement of habitats. It is considered that 
these could be appropriately secured by way of conditions on the outline permission 
securing approval prior to the commencement of development. 



Protected and Priority Species:

It is noted that there are a number of ponds in the surrounding area, and accordingly 
appropriate assessments of the presence of Great Crested Newts (GCN) were undertaken. 
These identified that there are major amphibian barriers between a number of these and the 
site and that GCN were not identified to be present in any of the ponds. 

With regards to the implications on local bat populations, the appropriate surveys were 
undertaken which identified none of the trees on site to have bat roost potential. 
Notwithstanding this, subsequent surveys concluded that the site was of low importance to 
bats with only low levels of the common pipistrelle activity recorded. As a result, subject to 
conditions requiring the approval of any lighting scheme to be implemented during the 
construction of the development, and subsequently within the completed development, 
including within all the open spaces, carriageways, footpaths, and cycle routes and adjacent 
to wildlife corridors and buffers around the site; it is not considered that the proposed 
development would result in any significant harm to bat populations within and around the 
site. Enhancements 

With regards to any potential implications on badgers, it is noted that whilst no evidence of 
badgers was found on site, an active badger sett was located to the north of the site.  Given 
the distance to the sett, it is not considered that there would be any significant direct impacts 
from the proposed development on this protected species, however as the site provides a 
suitable habitat for foraging, it is considered that a method statement would be necessary to 
ensure that measure were put in place to protect badgers whilst works are being undertaken 
on and around the site. Accordingly a condition has been recommended requiring the 
carrying out of an up to date badger survey prior to commencement of development, and 
approval of a badger method statement.

With regards to other species, it is noted that the surveys found no evidence of barn owls, 
and riparian mammals including water voles and otters within and around the application 
site. Whilst it is noted that there are records of brown hare within the surrounding area, and 
that the site comprises suitable habitat for such species, given the large areas of open 
farmland to the north and west of the site which provide ideal habitat for brown hares, as 
noted by GMEU it is not considered that the loss of the habitat within the site would cause a 
significant adverse impact on this species.

With regards to the presence of birds within the site it is noted that those species of concern 
were found to inhabit adjacent sites and that few birds found on site were found to be 
breeding. In order to protect birds inhabiting the site during the bird nesting season, a 
condition has also been recommended preventing vegetation clearance works being 
undertaken in the bird nesting season, unless a suitable ecological survey has been 
undertaken of the site prior to works taking place.

Invasive Species:

With regards to the implications from invasive species being present on the site, the 
submitted survey highlights the presence of Himalayan Balsam on the site. In order to 
ensure that an acceptable scheme to avoid the spread of these, and in accordance with the 
recommendations of GMEU a condition has been recommended requiring the submission an 
approval of a method statement for the management of these invasive species.

Both Natural England and GMEU have been consulted on the amended scheme and have 
raised no objections to the proposed development subject to the conditions set out above. 
As such, it is considered that subsequent reserved matters applications and the proposed 



development overall would ensure that adequate mitigation and satisfactory precautionary 
measures can be put in place to ensure that the development would not result in significant 
adverse effects on the nature conservation value of the site or the favourable conservation 
status of any protected species.  Conditions would also secure biodiversity enhancement.  
The proposed development is therefore considered to be in accordance with the 
requirements of UDP policies NE/3, NE/4 and NE/8, and the NPPF.

Impact on Trees and Important Landscape Features

In addition, UDP policy NE/8 (criteria a – c, g and h) indicates that development proposals 
on sites containing trees and woodlands should ensure:

• Suitable space and conditions for the successful retention of trees, woodland and 
hedgerows;

• That new tree planting is of an appropriate scale and species and that the impacts on 
the amenity of the development and surrounding area in the longer term e.g., root 
spread, stability, loss of daylight, leaf fall and personal safety have been fully 
considered;

• Suitable care and protection of trees and their environment during construction;
• Suitable arrangements for future maintenance and management of trees and 

woodland (which may need to be secured by means of a legal agreement); and
• Replacement planting of trees in the event of death or failure during a 5 year period.

The application site includes undulating open farmland predominantly laid over for pasture 
with a row of hedgerows and trees running north to south a defining the extent of the two 
existing fields. There a number of groups of trees located towards the northern boundary of 
the site and along the northeast boundary of the site. Otherwise the site comprises open 
fields laid to pasture and tree cover is low and it is noted that none of the trees within or 
adjacent to the site are protected by way of a Tree Preservation order or being within a 
conservation area. 

It is noted that the submitted Arboricultural impact Assessment identifies the trees on site are 
of largely low quality, and that the proposed indicative masterplan and parameters plan for 
the development allows for provision of landscaped buffers along the perimeters of the site. 
Indeed the proposed indicative masterplan would retain the majority of trees towards the 
northern edge of the site within this landscape buffer. Furthermore, the proposals by 
providing the landscaped buffer area to the north, and also along the Langley Lane frontage 
provides for opportunities for significant additional planting and improvements to tree cover 
to be incorporated into any future scheme at the site to supplement the existing tree cover 
and replace the vegetation to be lost.

In order to secure this, a condition has been recommended requiring a detailed landscaping 
and planting scheme for the site, including the use of local native species as recommended 
in the submitted Arboricultural Impact Assessment. The Council’s Green Infrastructure 
Officer has raised no objections to the proposed development subject to conditions securing 
the protection and retention of the existing hedgerows and trees to be retained, and the 
submission and approval of detailed planting plans for the site.

Therefore, in principle it is considered that the proposed development would not result in 
significant harm by way of loss of any important landscape features and through the 
implementation of a comprehensive tree planting and landscaping scheme across the site 
secured in reserved matters applications, it is considered that there would be a significant 
gain in the quantity and spread of trees on the site as a result of the proposed development. 
Therefore, it is considered that the proposed development would accord with the 
requirements of UDP policies NE/7 and NE/8 and the relevant policies within the NPPF. 



Neighbour Amenity Implications and Relationship with Surrounding Uses

UDP policy H/3 (e) requires development proposals to be compatible with surrounding uses, 
both in terms of its impact upon those uses and the impact of surrounding uses upon the 
amenity of future residents.

Criterion (i) and (j) of UDP policy BE/2 require proposals to demonstrate good design by:
a. Ensuring adequate provision for natural light is made both within and between 

buildings.
b. Minimising their potential environmental impact, including noise, air and water 

pollution.

Bullet points 1 and 2 to Paragraph 123 of the NPPF indicate that “planning policies and 
decisions should aim to:

• avoid noise from giving rise to significant adverse impacts on health and quality of life 
as a result of new development;

• mitigate and reduce to a minimum other adverse impacts on health and quality of life 
arising from noise from new development, including through the use of conditions.”

Criterion (a) of UDP policy EM/3 indicates that development will not be permitted where it 
would lead to unacceptable levels of noise nuisance to nearby existing or future occupants 
of buildings, or users of open space.

In addition, the spacing standards outlined in paragraph 5.2 of the Council’s SPG Note 
“Guidelines and Standards for Residential Development” recommend that a minimum 
separation distance of 21 metres should be retained between principal elevations of 
opposing dwellings and a distance of 14 metres between principal and secondary elevations.

It is noted that the site sits on slightly raised land levels with an undulating topography 
running downwards in a roughly north westerly direction. In order to ensure that any 
subsequent scheme is laid out at appropriate level to not appear overly oppressive or 
dominant from the street scene and facing dwellings along Langley lane, a condition has 
been recommended requiring the submission and approval of land levels for the site and 
each plot. The proposed scheme comprises a mix of two and two and a half storey dwellings 
with those two and half storey dwellings set back from the edges of the site and the frontage 
along Langley Lane. It is also noted that the scheme includes the retention of a landscaped 
area of public open space along the southern tip of the site adjacent to Langley Lane. As a 
result, the siting of the housing areas as shown within the proposed parameters plan would 
retain sufficient distance to the nearest dwellings to the south, southeast and southwest in 
excess of those standards set out above. As a result, it is considered that the proposals  
would in principle cause no significant harm by way of loss of outlook, loss of daylight, or 
loss of privacy caused to surrounding occupiers. 

In addition, it is considered that in principle the proposals would provide an acceptable form 
of residential environment and it is noted that the provision of adequate private amenity 
space, and levels of outlook and daylight for each dwelling and its future occupants could be 
secured through the detailed design of the proposed development within reserved matters 
applications and its assessment against the above policies.

With regards to the provision of land within the site for a single form entry primary school 
under option 2, this would be sited towards the southeast corner of the application site. It is 
noted that this would introduce additional activity during the daytime and working week, and 
would be sited adjacent to Close Road Farm, a butchers and small row of dwellings to the 
east, and that there are residential properties fronting on to Langley Lane to the south of the 
site. The noise assessment submitted with the revised scheme has taken into consideration 



the implications of a single form entry primary school on the residential dwellings in the 
vicinity of the site, and concludes that subject to the provision of acoustic fencing around the 
school playground and use of standard internal acoustic and ventilation measures, there 
would be no unacceptable levels of noise generated by the proposed development.

It is noted that the proposed parameters plan would retain a narrow landscaped buffer along 
the eastern boundary of the site adjacent to the public right of way and access to Dingle 
Farm. A 5 metre wide landscape buffer would also be provided along the southern boundary 
and Langley Lane frontage of the site to provide separation and a buffer to those dwellings 
facing the site to the south. Furthermore, given the respective hours of use and associated 
activity within this area, it is considered that adequate planting and boundary treatments 
could be included within the detailed design to ensure that adequate levels of amenity would 
be retained by the neighbouring residents to the south and east. 

With regards to the proposed location of the locally equipped area of play (LEAP) it is noted 
that this would be sited within the large area of landscaped open space towards the eastern 
boundary of the site. Whilst the scheme is in outline there are no details of the exact location 
and siting of dwellings and play area at this stage, given the size of this area of open space it 
is considered that in principle a LEAP could be provided whilst also providing the respective 
buffers necessary for such facilities in the interests of existing and future occupants.

Therefore, subject to conditions, in principle the proposed development would be compatible 
with surrounding uses, both in terms of its impact upon those uses and the impact of 
surrounding uses upon the amenity of future residents, and would be in accordance with the 
requirements of UDP policies H/3 and BE/2, the objectives of the SPG “Guidelines and 
Standards for Residential Development”, the Rochdale and Oldham Residential Design 
Guide and the NPPF.

Air Quality, Noise and Lighting Implications

Under policies, G/EM/1, EM/2 and EM/3 it is established that environmental protection and 
pollution control should be taken into account, with care taken to ensure that air, water and 
noise pollution is kept to an acceptable level.

With regards to noise and acoustic implications of the proposed development, the applicant 
has submitted a noise impact assessment with the application to assess both the 
implications of noise on the proposed dwellings and the implications of additional noise 
created by the proposed development on the surrounding environment. The report has been 
amended to also consider the acoustic implications from the potential provision of a single 
form entry school on the site. The indicative masterplan indicates an area of open space and 
tree planting along the eastern boundary of the site and landscaped buffer along the 
southern boundary adjacent to Langley Lane. It is also noted that narrow landscaped buffers 
would be provided along the south and eastern boundaries adjacent to the potential primary 
school site under option 2, which would help to provide a buffer to the dwellings located to 
the south and east. 

The report concludes that the key noise source affecting the proposed development is the 
road traffic along Langley Lane to the west of the site and as a result, it recommends the 
provision of acoustic fencing between Langley Lane and those dwellings nearest to the 
highway. In order to also provide for ventilation it also recommends the incorporation of 
through-frame window mounted trickle vents for all noise sensitive rooms within line of sight 
of Langley Lane. It also recommends setting a maximum noise level of noise to be emitted 
by fixed mechanical plant in order to prevent any unacceptable harm caused to surrounding 
residents and future residents. The Council’s Environmental Health Department have raised 
no objections to the report and its recommendations, and the proposed development itself 



subject to conditions.

With regards to the implications of option 2 which includes land for the provision of a single 
form entry school, the noise assessment notes that noise levels from external amenity areas 
at the school would have the potential to exceed recommended levels, and that in order to 
attenuate this a scheme of acoustic fencing would need to be provided around the play area 
to prevent unacceptable noise pollution. In order to ensure prevent noise break out from 
internal areas, the report also includes the provision of through frame window mounted 
trickle vents within windows to ensure ventilation without the need for windows to be opened.

In the interests of the amenity of future occupants of the dwellings and in accordance with 
the recommendations of the Council’s Environmental Health Department, it is therefore 
considered that conditions would be necessary to secure: the detailed design of acoustic 
fencing and ventilation measures within the scheme; a verification report prior to occupation 
of the dwellings to ensure the necessary measures have been implemented; and set 
maximum noise limits emitted from fixed plant at the site. Subject to these conditions, it is 
considered that the proposed development would in principle provide for a satisfactory level 
of amenity for future occupants and would not harm the amenity of the existing surrounding 
residents, and occupiers of surrounding uses.

In terms of air quality, it is noted that again given the sites location on the edge of the urban 
area of Middleton with open fields to the north and the M62 beyond, it is considered that the 
proposed dwellings would in principle not be subject to concentrated levels of air pollutants. 
Furthermore, it is noted that the indicative masterplan has been designed to include 
landscaped buffers of tree planting and open space on all boundaries. 

An Air Quality Assessment (AQA) has been submitted in support of this application which 
concludes that the proposed development would have the potential to cause air quality 
impacts resulting from dust emissions during the construction of the development and from 
road traffic exhaust emissions during its long term operation. However, it concludes that 
subject to the implementation of dust control measures throughout construction works at the 
site, there would be no significant adverse impact on air quality in the area during this phase, 
and that following the modelling of road vehicle exhaust emission from traffic associated with 
the residential development there would be no significant adverse impacts on sensitive 
receptors including surrounding residents and the adjacent school.

Therefore, with regards to the impact on surrounding residential properties during the 
construction of the development, it is considered that subject to a condition securing the 
approval and implementation of a construction environmental management plan, which will 
include the need for approval of the hours of construction, building, ground works and 
delivery, access routes and storage areas, approval of dust control measures as set out in 
section 5.1.3 of the AQA, there would be no over-riding disturbance to existing and future 
occupants by way of noise and disturbance experienced during construction of the proposed 
development.

Given that the scheme is in outline with the detailed layout, design, and scale to be the 
subject of subsequent reserved matters applications, it is considered that subject to 
conditions securing the scheme of air quality attenuation measures, the proposed 
development would in principle provide for adequate levels of amenity for future occupants 
and not cause significant harm to surrounding residents. 

Given the sites location on the urban fringe adjacent to open fields and the Green Belt, and 
roosting opportunities for bats, in order to ensure that any strategic lighting scheme would 
not result in any significant harm to surrounding dwellings to the south, and to the character 
and openness of the rural area to the north, a condition has been recommended requiring 



the submission and approval of a detailed lighting scheme for the site. 

Therefore, having regard to the above it is considered that subject to the above conditions 
the proposed development through its construction and ongoing use and associated activity, 
would not cause any significant harm to the surrounding environment and its respective 
receptors by way of additional noise, reduced air quality and light pollution. The proposed 
development would therefore be in accordance with the requirements of UDP policies 
G/EM/1, EM/2, EM/3 H/3 and BE/2, and the objectives of the SPG ‘Guidelines and 
Standards for Residential Development’ and the NPPF.

Flood Risk and Drainage Implications

Paragraph 100 of the NPPF states that “inappropriate development in areas at risk of 
flooding [land within Flood Zones 2 and 3; or land within Flood Zone 1 which has critical 
drainage problems and which has been notified to the local planning authority by the 
Environment Agency] should be avoided by directing development away from areas at 
highest risk, but where development is necessary, making it safe without increasing flood 
risk elsewhere”.

Paragraph 101 of the NPPF refers to the sequential test for the location of development, 
which aims to steer new development to areas with the lowest probability of flooding.  Flood 
zone 1 is the lowest probability of flooding, with flood zone 3 the highest. 

The non-statutory technical standards for SUD’s dated March 2015 require that for:
• Peak flow control that for greenfield developments, the peak runoff rate from the 

development to any highway drain, sewer or surface water body for the 1 in 1 year 
rainfall event and the 1 in 100 year rainfall event should never exceed the peak 
greenfield runoff rate for the same event.

• Volume control that where reasonably practicable, for greenfield development, the 
runoff volume from the development to any highway drain, sewer or surface water 
body in the 1 in 100 year, 6 hour rainfall event should never exceed the greenfield 
runoff volume for the same event.

The application site falls within flood zone 1 and is therefore at a low risk of flooding (less 
than 1 in 1000 or 0.1% annual probability of river or sea flooding in any year). However, the 
application site does comprise a major residential development and accordingly the 
application has been supported by a Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) and outline drainage 
strategy. 

It is noted that the proposed residential development would be sited on a relatively raised 
part of the surrounding landscape with the surrounding topography and levels sloping 
generally downwards to the north and west of the site across open fields. It is nevertheless 
noted that the proposed development would result in a substantial increase in the proportion 
of impermeable areas at the site, and result in significant additional foul water generation 
from the number of dwellings proposed. 

The submitted FRA considers the risk of flooding to the site from various sources including 
rivers, groundwater, artificial sources and surface water to be low. It notes that the site has 
not been subject to flooding from rivers, the sea, highways, sewers, reservoirs or canals. 
The submitted FRA recommends a surface water drainage strategy discharging surface 
water into the adjacent brook and incorporating attenuation methods including over-sized 
pipes and flow control devices to limit the discharge rates so that they would not exceed the 
existing greenfield run off rates. The proposed strategy also proposes that foul water be 
connected into the existing combined sewer running under either Derwent Road or 
Braithwaite Road to the south of the application site.



The Council as Local Lead Flood Authority has agreed in principle to the approach to 
discharge surface water into the nearby watercourse, subject to conditions securing the 
detailed design, and agreement of discharge rates. It is also noted that United Utilities in 
their comments on the amended scheme have raised no objections subject to conditions. 
The proposals to drain surface water into the nearby watercourse and ensure that the peak 
runoff rate, and the runoff volume to the brook and surface water body should mimic and not 
exceed the greenfield run off rates and volumes would be in accordance with the non-
statutory standards issued by DEFRA in March 2015, and the approach set out in the NPPF 
and relevant building regulations.

It is noted that the submitted FRA recommends that the scheme include the use of 
sustainable urban drainage system (SUDS) measures within the green landscaped corridors 
including swales and above ground basins, including basins along the south and eastern 
boundaries of the site. Indeed it is noted that there is sufficient space within the site for the 
siting of ponds to mitigate for the increase in hard surfaces within the site and provide for the 
storage of water in a 1 in a 100 year event including 30% allowance for climate change. In 
addition, it is noted that the provision of these over ground basins could be developed within 
the reserved matters applications into a comprehensive scheme for the landscape and 
wildlife buffer long the northern boundary to also incorporate sustainable urban drainage 
measures in addition to biodiversity and wildlife mitigation and enhancements.

A condition has therefore been recommended restricting the discharge of surface water into 
the nearby watercourse to not exceed greenfield run off rates.  A condition has also been 
recommended requiring the submission and approval of a detailed foul and surface water 
drainage design to demonstrate how surface will be managed (including the control 
mechanisms to limit the rate of surface water runoff to greenfield levels, the provision of on-
site water storage and flow control mechanisms) prior to the commencement of development 
in accordance with the request of United Utilities and the Council as Lead Local Flood 
Authority. 

Having regard to the above, it is noted that United Utilities, the Council as Local Lead Flood 
Authority and the Environment Agency have raised no objections to the proposed 
development subject to the above conditions which have been included in the 
recommendation. Therefore, it is considered that in principle adequate measures can be put 
in place in order to ensure that the development poses no unacceptable risk in terms of 
flooding (either on the site itself or elsewhere) in accordance with the requirements of UDP 
policy EM/7 and the policies within the NPPF.

Heritage and Archaeological Assets

With regard to the planning application, Section 66(1) of the Planning (Listed Building and 
Conservation Areas) Act 1990 states that in considering whether to grant planning 
permission for development which affects a listed building or its setting, the local planning 
authority shall have special regard to the desirability of preserving the building or its setting 
or any features of special architectural or historic interest which it possesses.  Section 72 of 
the above act similarly requires that LPA’s pay special attention to the desirability of 
preserving or enhancing the character or appearance of any conservation area where 
relevant. Furthermore, the Court of Appeal has held that decision-makers should give 
considerable importance and weight to the desirability of preserving the setting of listed 
buildings when carrying out the balancing exercise.

The first bullet point to paragraph 131 of the NPPF indicates that, in determining planning 
applications, local planning authorities should take account of the desirability of sustaining 
and enhancing the significance of heritage assets and putting them to viable uses consistent 



with their conservation. Heritage assets (both designated and non-designated) are defined in 
Annex 2 of the NPPF. 

Paragraphs 132, 133 and 137 of the NPPF identify that:
• When considering the impact of a proposed development on the significance of a 

designated heritage asset, great weight should be given to the asset’s conservation. 
The more important the asset, the greater the weight should be. Significance can be 
harmed or lost through alteration or destruction of the heritage asset or development 
within its setting. As heritage assets are irreplaceable, any harm or loss should 
require clear and convincing justification.

• Where a proposed development will lead to substantial harm to or total loss of 
significance of a designated heritage asset, local planning authorities should refuse 
consent.

Paragraphs 139 and 141 of the NPPF indicate that:
• Non-designated heritage assets of archaeological interest that are demonstrably of 

equivalent significance to scheduled monuments, should be considered subject to 
the policies for designated heritage assets.

• Local planning authorities should make information about the significance of the 
historic environment gathered as part of plan-making or development management 
publicly accessible. They should also require developers to record and advance 
understanding of the significance of any heritage assets to be lost (wholly or in part) 
in a manner proportionate to their importance and the impact, and to make this 
evidence (and any archive generated) publicly accessible. However, the ability to 
record evidence of our past should not be a factor in deciding whether such loss 
should be permitted.

In addition, UDP policy BE/10 states that:
• Developers must take full account of the presence of known Ancient Monuments and 

sites of archaeological importance and their settings in proposals. Planning 
permission will be refused where developers do not sympathetically accommodate 
such structures or remains, particularly where the proposal has a significant affect on 
the site itself or its setting.

• Proposals should accommodate the physical preservation of archaeological features 
in situ. In exceptional circumstances where this is not possible, and where the site is 
of lesser significance, archaeological excavation to secure the preservation of 
features either on or off site may be appropriate to enable preservation by record. In 
such cases, the applicant may be required to carry out a programme of proper 
recording of archaeological evidence before development takes place. Such a 
programme could be secured by planning conditions or through a Section 106 
obligation negotiated with the applicant. In all cases there should be a full and 
appropriate prior evaluation of the archaeological resource detailing its value, the 
likely impact of proposals and mitigation as required.

It is noted that there are no conservation areas or listed buildings on or immediately adjacent 
to the application site. The nearest listed building comprises the Grade II listed water 
fountain and horse and dog drinking troughs located along Heywood Old Road, which are 
approximately 750 metres to the west of the site. Given the intervening distance, the amount 
of mature tree coverage and the undulating topography, it is noted that the proposed 
development would not impact on the curtilage or setting of the listed structures and nor 
would it be visible from, nor would they be both visible within the same context and setting. 
Therefore, it is considered that the proposed development would impact on the setting of 
these heritage assets.

With regards to the presence of Conservation Areas it is noted that the Birch Village 



Conservation Area is located approximately 570 metres to the west of the application site 
and Middleton Town Centre Conservation Area is located approximately 900 metres to the 
southeast of the application site. However, given the intervening distance, the undulating 
topography of the open farmland, and the context of the conservation areas, it is not 
considered that the proposed development would cause any harm to the character and 
appearance or the significance of these conservation areas. 

With regards to the implications on sites of archaeological importance, it is noted that the 
application has been supported by an Archaeological desk based assessment that includes 
a review of the evidence contained within the historic environment record for Greater 
Manchester. However, it is noted from comments of the Greater Manchester Archaeological 
Advisory Service (GMAAS) that given the sites location, the surrounding topography, and 
close proximity to watercourses the site offers potential for records of archaeological interest 
to be found of earlier periods prior to those that are contained within the historical 
environment record. In accordance with the recommendations of the GMAAS and in order to 
ensure that due record and understanding of any archaeological remains is undertaken in 
accordance with paragraph 141 of the NPPF, a condition has been recommended requiring 
that an appropriate written scheme of investigation (WSI).

Therefore, having regard to the above and subject to conditions, it is considered that the 
proposed development as set out in the indicative masterplan would preserve the setting of 
surrounding heritage assets and that sufficient measures would be in place to ensure that 
the importance of potential archaeologically significant assets are recorded and advanced. 
The proposed outline scheme is therefore considered to accord with policies BE9, BE15, 
BE17 of the UDP and the policies within the NPPF.

Land Contamination and Site Conditions

Paragraph 120 of the NPPF identifies that where a site is affected by contamination or land 
stability issues, responsibility for securing a safe development rests with the developer 
and/or landowner.

Paragraph 121 of the NPPF indicates that planning policies and decisions should ensure 
that:

• the site is suitable for its new use taking account of ground conditions and land 
instability, including from natural hazards or former activities such as mining, pollution 
arising from previous uses and any proposals for mitigation including land 
remediation or impacts on the natural environment arising from that remediation; 

• after remediation, as a minimum, land should not be capable of being determined as 
contaminated land under Part IIA of the Environmental Protection Act 1990; and

• adequate site investigation information, prepared by a competent person, is 
presented.

In addition, UDP policy EM/4 stipulates that where there are reasonable grounds to suspect 
that land which is the subject of a development proposal has the potential for contamination, 
the Council will require a detailed survey of ground conditions, details of any proposed 
remedial treatments and a completion report to establish that the work has been carried out 
in accordance with the agreed remediation scheme. In considering proposals for new 
development or change of use, the Council will take account of their potential for 
contamination of land and will seek to prevent further contamination by refusing proposals 
likely to give rise to significant contamination or by imposing stringent conditions.

The site is located on the edge of the urban area of Middleton and comprises open fields 
leftover for pasture and grazing. The application has been supported by a phase 1 
environmental assessment report that concludes that the site poses a low to moderate risk 



of contamination. It also does not predict that there would be any significant sub surface 
obstructions and structures, and although a former mine shaft is reported, further 
investigation and if necessary imposition of a no-build zone in its vicinity would ensure there 
would be no risk and the development could take place. As a result, it is noted that there are 
no risks that in principle would prevent the development of the site for residential purposes, 
and the report recommends that to allow for a full assessment that further detailed intrusive 
site investigation and analysis be undertaken. 

The Council’s Contaminated Land Officer is satisfied that any ground based contamination, 
land stability issues which may exist on the site can be adequately identified and addressed 
by the imposition of a condition requiring the submission and approval of further detailed site 
investigations and sampling and where necessary the implementation of any appropriate 
remediation measures required before development takes place.  Subject to this condition, it 
is considered that the proposed site in accordance with UDP policy EM/4 and the NPPF.  

Sustainable Construction and Energy Use

UDP policy EM/13 states that development proposals which include measures to conserve 
and assist the efficient use of energy will be supported where this can be successfully 
incorporated into the design and layout, and where there are no adverse impacts on the 
amenity of the surrounding area (e.g., by virtue of visual impact, pollution and environmental 
disturbance). Measures which will be especially encouraged include:

• The maximum use of local materials and recycled building materials for appropriate 
construction tasks where this would not adversely affect the quality, character and 
setting of the development;

• The use of design, layout, landscaping and materials which help to conserve energy 
through the ongoing use of the development; and

• The use of sustainable power generation systems such as solar and photovoltaic, 
small-scale combined heat and power, and other appropriate installations based on 
renewable and low carbon technologies.

The Council’s SPD “Energy and New Development” requires all new residential 
developments of 5 or more dwellings to meet Level 3 of the Code for Sustainable Homes. 
The SPD intended that this requirement was to rise to Level 4 from 2013, Level 5 from 2016 
and Level 6 from 2020. 

However, in a Ministerial Statement made to the House of Commons on 25 March 2015, the 
then Secretary of State for Communities and Local Government, Eric Pickles, set out the 
government’s new planning policy on the setting of technical standards for new dwellings 
which should be taken into account in applying the National Planning Policy Framework. The 
Code for Sustainable Homes was also withdrawn on 27 March 2015. This is an important 
material consideration which needs to be given significant weight and which also represents 
a material change in planning circumstances.  

Between 26 March 2015 and 30 September 2014, the government’s policy is, ‘that planning 
permissions should not be granted requiring, or subject to conditions requiring compliance 
with any technical housing standards other than for those areas where authorities have 
existing policies on access, internal space or water efficiency… where there is an existing 
plan policy which references the Code for Sustainable Homes, authorities may continue to 
apply a requirement for a water efficiency standard equivalent to the new national technical 
standard or in the case of energy a standard consistent with the earlier part of this 
statement, concerning energy performance’. The Council does not have a specific policy in 
respect of water efficiency. In late 2016 the Building Regulations will be amended to require 
new dwellings to meet an equivalent of what was Code Level 4. 



As this application is in outline with all matters other than access reserved to a later date, 
details of the design and construction of the dwellings are not yet known. The direction of 
travel for Government is clear that sustainability requirements for new dwellings should be 
brought forward through the new national technical standards, making reference to up to 
date Local Plans and the Building Regulations. The new technical standards are optional 
and if the Council wishes to refer to them in decision making, it must be through new policies 
in a Local Plan.  The Council’s current policy refers to a Code which has now been revoked 
and is therefore out of date and it is therefore considered most appropriate that the 
sustainability requirements of this development are dealt with by the Building Regulations. 

Planning Obligations and Developer Contributions

The size and nature of the development would require financial contributions towards 
affordable housing, recreational open space and outdoor sport provision in accordance with 
UDP policies H/6 and H/7 and their associated Supplementary Planning Documents: 
Provision of Recreational Open Space in New Housing and Affordable Housing.  It is 
important again to note that policies in the NPPF and legislation introduced subsequent to 
the adoption of the UDP and SPDs can take precedence. Although limited weight can be 
afforded to the Core Strategy, it is noted that the emerging policies DM2, C4, C7, C8) also 
seek to ensure the impact of development is mitigated and that development contributes to 
physical and social infrastructure requirements.  

In accordance with the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Regulations paragraph 204 of 
the NPPF states that planning obligations should only be sought where they meet the 
following three tests:

• necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms; 
• directly related to the development; and 
• fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development. 

In addition, from April 2015 the CIL Regulations now prevent further contributions being 
collected by an authority for the funding or provision of an infrastructure project, or type of 
infrastructure, once five or more such contributions have been obtained by separate section 
106 obligations made on or after 6 April 2010.  This restriction applies to infrastructure of a 
kind which could be the subject of a community infrastructure levy and therefore applies to 
tariff style contributions (with the exception of affordable housing).  As the Council has 
entered into more than five obligations towards recreational open space, no further 
contributions can be pooled to this type of general infrastructure provision.  The object of the 
regulations is to encourage Council’s to introduce charging through the adoption of a CIL 
instead of imposing requirements for contributions through section 106 obligations, however 
it has been acknowledged that the pooling restriction should not prevent the delivery of 
infrastructure.  Contributions may therefore be sought to specific infrastructure projects if 
they meet the three tests above. 

In this context, paragraph 173 of the NPPF is clear that pursuing sustainable development 
requires careful attention to viability and costs in plan making and decision taking.  
Therefore, the scale of development identified in the plan should not be subject to such a 
scale of obligations and policy burdens that their ability to be developed viably is threatened.  
To ensure viability, the costs of any requirements applied to development, such as 
requirements for affordable housing, standards, infrastructure contributions or other 
requirements should, when taking account of the normal cost of development and mitigation, 
provide competitive returns to a willing land owner and a willing developer to enable the 
development to be deliverable. As this application is in outline form, any detailed 
assessment of viability would occur at reserved matters stage once the precise number and 
nature of dwellings to be delivered is identified. It is clear that there will be a need to ensure 
that contribution requirements do not undermine viability and deliverability, having regard to 



site specific requirements and a need to ensure the impacts of the development are 
adequately mitigated.

Details of the contributions sought as part of the development (including how they meet the 
three tests) are outlined below:

Education Provision:

Paragraph 70 of the NPPF requires that Local Planning Authorities plan positively for the 
provision of facilities and other local services to enhance the sustainability of communities 
and residential environments. Paragraph 72 also states that great weight should be given to 
the need to create, expand or alter schools.

It is also noted Policies C7 and DM2 of the emerging Core Strategy require that residential 
developments provide for social infrastructure (including education facilities) to meet the 
demand for additional school places created by such developments.  The proposed 
residential development of up to 150 dwellings would generate additional demand for 
primary and secondary school places within the local area and as set out above, due to the 
lack of capacity in the existing primary and secondary schools, the Council as Local 
Education Authority has requested that the proposed development mitigates this additional 
demand through financial contributions to provide additional education facilities at existing 
primary and secondary schools within the local area. It is considered that the contributions 
would be necessary to provide for sustainable communities and achieve the golden thread of 
sustainable development in the NPPF.

As set out earlier in this report, it is noted that option 2 proposes to provide land for a school 
on the application site.  However, the land to be provided is over and above that necessary 
to enable this particular development for 150 dwellings to proceed.  This remains the case in 
cumulation with the application at Hollin Lane, submitted by the same applicant and to 
require this to be provided as part of this application would not comply with the requirements 
of the CIL Regulations.  As a result, it is the Council’s view that the more appropriate method 
for mitigating for the need generated by the proposed development is option 1 and thus a 
financial contribution towards primary and secondary education provision off-site.

The necessary financial contributions would be calculated using the Building Schools for the 
Future (BSF) standard formula for calculating pupil yields from housing (presently 0.25 per 
dwelling for primary education and 0.1 per dwelling for secondary) and the respective basic 
need funding (BNF) per place provided to the Education Authority (presently £12,320.01 for 
primary and £15,400.01 for secondary).  Based on these figures and the maximum number 
of dwellings, the primary education contribution would be £486,160.38 (pupil yield of 38 (150 
x 0.25) = 38) multiplied by the basic need funding of £12,320.01). The secondary education 
contribution would be £231,000.15 (pupil yield of 15 pupil places (150 x 0.1) multiplied by the 
basic need funding of £15,400.01). The contributions would provide additional school places 
in Middleton Township. 

It is considered that the financial contributions are necessary to enable the development to 
proceed and to ensure they are directly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the 
development in accordance with the CIL Regulations, the contribution would be calculated at 
reserved matters stage and paid in an appropriate phased manner dependent on the 
number of units in each phase, the BSF pupil yield and the BNF.  

Recreational Open Space and Outdoor Sports Provision:

Paragraph 73 of the NPPF highlights that access to high quality open spaces and 
opportunities for sport and recreation can make an important contribution to the health and 



well-being of communities.  

In this regard, the site provides a linear area of public open space adjacent to the northern 
boundary of the site and this provides on-site informal open space and also younger 
children’s play facilities in the form of a Locally Equipped Area of Play (LEAP).  The detailed 
layout of this on-site open space will be subject to detailed design within future reserved 
matters applications.  The implementation and ongoing management of this area would be 
the responsibility of the developer and would be secured within a section 106 Agreement.  

With regards to mitigating and providing for formal outdoor sport and recreation needs 
generated by the development, a financial contribution is proposed towards off-site outdoor 
sports and recreation facilities at Bowlee Playing Fields located to the southwest of the 
application site. The Sport England ‘sport facility cost calculator’ determines that the sports 
facility needs from the proposed residential development is equivalent to £929.16 per 
dwelling or £386.86 per person (based on current figures provided by Sport England dated 
30th June 2015).  Utilising the Sport England formula, the following financial contributions 
would be applicable: 

• £929.16 per dwelling, i.e. 150 x £929.16 = £139,374; or 
• £386.86 per person of the population derived from the proposed development. The 

population derived from ONS Census 2011 figure of 2.4 people per dwelling in 
Rochdale. i.e. (150 x 2.4) = 360 x £386.86 = £139,269.60

It is considered that the financial contribution would mitigate the impact of the development 
by providing contributions towards the creation of new, or the improvement of existing sports 
facilities.  The contribution is necessary to enable the development to proceed and to ensure 
it is directly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development in accordance with 
the CIL Regulations, the contribution would be calculated at reserved matters stage in 
accordance with a formula within the s106 agreement and paid in an appropriate phased 
manner in accordance with the NPPF.  

Affordable Housing:

UDP policy H/7 and its associated SPD identify that, subject to viability considerations, 
residential developments of over 15 dwellings will be expected to make a contribution 
towards the provision of affordable housing in the Borough through either on or off site 
means as appropriate. Policies C4 and DM2 of the emerging core strategy also reflect this 
requirement.  

Paragraphs 7.3 and 7.4 of the SPD indicate that an average figure of 15% Affordable 
Housing will be required on all sites across the Borough. This percentage of units will be 
subject to a discount of 50% of the average market cost of the dwellings on the site. This will 
equate to a maximum 7.5% contribution of the total scheme value to affordable housing for 
each site in accordance with the formula below:

It is recommended that a legal agreement include the requirement to submit an affordable 
housing scheme with reserved matters applications to include the appropriate provision of 



affordable housing on site or off-site in accordance with the above policy and SPD.

Local Transport Infrastructure Mitigation and Improvements:

As discussed in earlier sections of this report, in accordance with the recommendations of 
the Highways Authority, Highways England and TfGM the applicant has agreed to enter into 
a section 278 highway act agreement and a s106 agreement to secure the implementation 
of a series of off-site highway and public transport infrastructure improvement works in the 
vicinity of the application site.  As a result, it is considered that there would be an adequate 
mechanism to mitigate the impact of the development on the local highway network. 

The following measures would be secured through s278 agreement:
1. Junction improvements to include the widening of the eastbound carriageway of 

Langley Lane at its junction with Hollin Lane to create separate lanes for vehicles 
turning northbound and southbound on Hollin Lane; 

2. Pedestrian crossing improvements on Langley Lane;
3. Traffic calming - additional road signage, road markings and traffic calming measures 

to provide right turning lane into the site and denote the gateway into the site in order 
calm traffic speeds along Langley Lane around the application site, including any 
necessary TRO.  

The following measures would be secured through s106 agreement:
4. Cycle lane improvements - new and renewed on carriageway cycle lanes along 

Hollin Lane from its junction with Langley Lane southeast to its junction with 
Rochdale Road (comprising re-lining cycle lane, and green cycle lane for 
approximately a 1 km distance); and

5. Provision of two bus stops on Hollin Lane or improvements to existing bus stops on 
Langley Lane (£20,000).  

Whilst this site is located on Langley Lane, TFGM note that the bus services on Langley 
Lane are infrequent and services on Hollin Lane provide more frequent services including to 
Manchester.  Given the comments of TfGM, it is considered that the provision of bus stops 
on Hollin Lane would be reasonably related to this development and necessary to encourage 
the take up of sustainable transport modes given this site’s location.  In the event the bus 
stops on Hollin Lane are provided in association with the developments coming forward to 
the east and west of Hollin Lane, the monies could potentially be used to upgrade existing 
bus stops on Longley Lane as an alternative.  

Through the discussion above, it is noted that the development would mitigate its impact on 
the demand for school places and the local highway network and would encourage the take 
up of sustainable modes of travel.  It is considered that these requirements are necessary for 
the development to proceed and directly related in scale and kind in accordance with the 
NPPF and CIL Regulations.  

Conclusions and the Balancing Exercise

Policies within the UDP relating to the management of housing land and protection of open 
land are out of date and can be afforded limited weight in the determination of this planning 
application. Taking account of the most recently tested housing target for the Borough, the 
recalculated RSS target, the Council would be unable to demonstrate a 5 year supply of 
housing land. The NPPF must therefore be afforded significant weight in the determination of 
this application and the presumption in favour of sustainable development is engaged.

Paragraph 14 of the NPPF very clearly directs that where policies are out-of-date, the 
‘presumption in favour of sustainable development’ means planning permission should be 



granted unless the adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably 
outweigh the benefits (emphasis added) when assessed against the policies in the NPPF as 
a whole; or where specific policies in the NPPF indicate development should be restricted.

In assessing the merits of the scheme, it is clear that there are no specific policies in the 
NPPF that would indicate the development should be restricted. It is also evident that 
previous appeals in the Borough concerning the release of Protected Open Land for housing 
have been allowed in the context of the need to boost significantly the supply of housing 
within the Borough for the reasons set out within the NPPF, and in recognition of the fact that 
such land was originally safeguarded to meet future development needs.

Since these appeals were allowed in 2013, the Rochdale Core Strategy has been submitted 
for examination and the most recent evidence prepared by the Council to support this 
suggests that a higher housing requirement is needed for the Borough above that originally 
identified within the RSS.  Furthermore, going forward the Borough will face an ongoing and 
challenging pressure in terms of the delivery of new housing against any planned target 
given the fact that a significant number of further dwellings are proposed to be demolished 
as part of the continued regeneration of existing housing areas. To ensure there is no 
ongoing deficit in supply, the total number of demolitions will need to be matched by an 
equivalent uplift above the annual target of housing completions.  The evidence 
demonstrates that significant weight must therefore be afforded to the benefits of the 
scheme in respect of its contribution to the supply of housing in the Borough.  

As identified above, it is considered that option 2 for the provision of 127 dwellings and 
school land on the application site would not meet the tests set out in the Community 
Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Regulations. However, financial contributions towards the provision 
of primary and secondary school places would be directly related in scale and kind to option 
1 for up to 150 dwellings and would be necessary to enable the development to proceed in 
compliance with the CIL regulations. These contributions would ensure the impact of the 
development on education provision is mitigated.

Subject to appropriate mitigation, the impact of the development on the local highway 
network, education provision, protected or priority species and nature conservation, the 
amenity of existing and future occupants, archaeological assets, surface water and drainage 
and contamination would be acceptable and the development would provide on and off-site 
recreation and outdoor sports provision for the future occupants of the dwellings. 

In terms of benefits, the proposal would provide a significant number of new dwellings to 
meet housing needs adjacent to an existing urban area within an accessible and sustainable 
location and would contribute to the provision of affordable housing in the Borough.  
Biodiversity enhancements would be secured and economic and social benefits would arise 
through direct capital investment; additional spending of household income on local services 
and facilities; and the creation of direct and indirect jobs throughout construction and through 
the longer term additional spend of households within the local area.

It is accepted that the proposal would result in the loss of agricultural land.  It is also 
accepted that the proposal would result in the loss of an area of Protected Open Land 
valued by the local community in providing an open and landscaped buffer on the urban 
fringe. However, the harm that would arise would not significantly and demonstrably 
outweigh the benefits of the proposal, which is the test of national policy. As such, there are 
no sustainable grounds to justify a refusal of planning permission.

Thus, in terms of the decision-making approach set out in paragraph 14 of the Framework, it 
is considered that the proposal comprises sustainable development and planning permission 
should be granted subject to appropriate legal agreements and the conditions 



recommended.  

RECOMMENDATION

It is recommended that Committee resolve that it is minded to grant planning permission 
subject to the conditions set out below and subject to:

1 The completion of a planning obligation under Section 106 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act to secure the following: 

(i) The provision of affordable housing on site and/or an off-site contribution in lieu of 
onsite provision in accordance with the provisions of UDP policy H/7 and its 
associated SPD: Affordable Housing;

(ii) A financial contribution towards the provision of primary school places in Middleton 
Township calculated by the pupil yield of the development multiplied by the relevant 
basic need funding allocation (currently £462,003.75 but the final calculation shall be 
based on the multipliers in place at the relevant time); 

(iii) A financial contribution towards the provision of secondary school places in 
Middleton Township calculated by the pupil yield of the development (0.1 per 
dwelling) multiplied by the relevant basic need funding allocation (currently 
£231,000.15 but the final calculation shall be based on the multipliers in place at the 
relevant time);

(iv) A financial contribution towards cycle lane improvements comprising new and 
renewed on carriageway cycle lanes along Hollin Lane from its junction with 
Langley Lane southeast to its junction with Rochdale Road;

(v) A financial contribution towards the provision of outdoor sport and recreation facilities 
at Bowlee Playing Fields (currently up to £139,374 but the final calculation shall be 
based on the Sport England multipliers in place at the relevant time);

(vi) Provision of two bus stops on Hollin Lane or improvements to existing bus stops on 
Langley Lane (£20,000);

(vii) A scheme for the provision, implementation and management of a Locally Equipped 
Area of Play (LEAP); and

(viii) A landscape and public open space plan for the provision, implementation and 
management of the landscape open space within the site.

2 The completion of a Section 278 Highways Act agreement to secure:

(iv) Improvements to the junction of Hollin Lane and Langley Lane to increase capacity 
and safety;

(v) Provision of pedestrian crossing improvements on Langley Lane;
(vi) Road markings and traffic calming measures to provide right turning lane into the site 

and denote the gateway into the site in order to calm traffic speeds along Langley 
Lane, to include any necessary TRO. 

That the Head of Planning be authorised to issue the decision notice upon completion of the 
above.

GRANT subject to the following conditions:-

1 Application for approval of reserved matters must be made not later than the 
expiration of three years beginning with the date of this permission and the 
development must be begun not later than: (i) the expiration of three years from the 
date of this permission; or (ii) two years from the date of approval of the last of the 
reserved matters to be approved.



Reason: To comply with the requirements of section 92 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990 as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004.  

2 The approval of the Local Planning Authority shall be sought in respect of the 
following matters before the development is commenced:- the layout of the 
development, the means of access to it, the scale and external appearance of the 
buildings and the landscaping of the site.

Reason: The application is granted in outline only under the provisions of Article 5 of 
the Town and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) Order 2015 
and details of the matters referred to in the condition have not been submitted for 
consideration.

3 The total number of residential units included in any applications for reserved matters 
submitted pursuant to condition 2 of this permission shall be limited to a maximum of 
150 dwellings and the development shall be substantially in accordance with the 
following plans:

 Site Location Plan - drg no. 448B-34; 
 Hollin Lane Masterplan Area – Indicative Layout (Option 1 without primary 

school) – drg.No. 448B.58
 Indicative Layout Option 1 - drg no. 448B – 47D;
 Land at Langley Lane, Parameters Plan - drg no.448B.50C Parameters Plan

Reason: The layout of the proposed development incorporates a number of key 
parameters that will guide the detailed reserved matters applications, and in the 
interests of mitigating for the impacts of the development on the surrounding 
environment, and provide for an acceptable scale and layout of development and 
high quality environment, in accordance with policies BE/2, NE/2, NE/3, NE/4of the 
Council’s adopted Unitary Development Plan.

4 No development shall take place until a phasing plan, which shall include the access 
arrangements for each phase and a specified number of dwellings for each phase 
relative to a site maximum of 150 dwellings, has been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the local planning authority. The development shall be carried out in 
accordance with the approved phasing plan.  

Reason: To ensure that any phased development of the site takes place in an 
appropriate order and within an acceptable timescale, to ensure adequate provision 
of infrastructure to serve each of the uses permitted and because no such details 
were submitted as part of the application.

5 No development shall take place until a scheme for the provision of the vehicular 
access onto Langley Lane, to construction specification drawings showing the levels, 
drainage strategy, lighting and materials of the access road shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The vehicular access shall be 
completed in accordance with drawing reference ITM6195-GA-011 Rev A (Proposed 
Access to Langley Lane Site) unless any minor variation is agreed with the Council 
and the timescales set out in the Site Phasing Plan approved pursuant to condition 4 
of this permission.  

Reason: In order to provide safe, secure access to the development in the interests 
of public safety, and ensure continued function of the surrounding highway network, 



in accordance with policy A/9 of the Rochdale Unitary Development Plan and the 
National Planning Policy Framework.

6 No development shall take place until a scheme for the on and off-site highway 
works, to include timescales for implementation, has been submitted to and approved 
in writing by the local planning authority.  The development shall be carried out in 
accordance with the approved scheme.  

Reason: To ensure that any phased development of the site takes place in an 
appropriate order and to ensure adequate provision of infrastructure to serve each of 
the phases in the interests of highway and pedestrian safety and the safety of other 
users of the highway in accordance with Polices BE/2 and A9 of the Unitary 
Development Plan and the National Planning Policy Framework.  

7 The reserved matters application(s) pursuant to condition 2 of this permission shall 
demonstrate connectivity between the site and the adjacent site to the east (the 
subject of planning application 15/00358/OUT). 

Reason: In the interests of proper planning and the comprehensive development of 
the site and area in accordance with Policies A/3, A/4, A/5, A9, A/13 and A/14 and 
the National Planning Policy Framework.

8 No above ground works shall take place within each phase until, details of the 
finished floor and external site levels of the dwellings in that phase, have been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. Development 
shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details and retained thereafter.

Reason: In order to achieve an acceptable relationship between surrounding 
buildings and to ensure that the development would not be at an unacceptable risk of 
flooding in accordance with the requirements of Unitary Development Plan policies 
H/3, BE/2, EM/7 and the National Planning Policy Framework.

9 No development shall take place until an investigation and risk assessment has been 
undertaken by competent persons to assess the nature and extent of any 
contamination on the site (whether or not it originates on the site and in addition to 
any assessment provided with the planning application) and a written report of its 
findings submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority.

The report shall include:
i) a survey of the extent, scale and nature of contamination
ii) an assessment of the potential risks to:

• human health,
• property (existing or proposed) including buildings, crops,
livestock,
• pets, woodland, and service lines and pipes,
• adjoining land,
• groundwaters and surface waters,
• ecological systems,
• archaeological sites and ancient monuments;

iii) where contamination is identified, an appraisal of remedial options, a proposal of 
the preferred option(s) and a timetable for remedial works

Remedial works shall be carried out in accordance with the approved report and 
timetable and a verification report shall be submitted to and approved in writing by 
the local planning authority prior to the first occupation of any of the dwellings within 



each phase.  

If, during development, contamination not previously identified is found to be present 
at the site then no further development (unless otherwise agreed in writing with the 
local planning authority) shall be carried out until the developer has submitted a 
remediation strategy to the local planning authority detailing how this unsuspected 
contamination shall be dealt with and obtained written approval from the local 
planning authority. The remediation strategy shall be implemented as approved.

Reason: To prevent pollution of the water environment and to ensure the safe 
development of the site in the interests of the amenity of future occupiers in 
accordance with Unitary Development Plan policies EM/4, EM/8 and BE/2, and the 
National Planning Policy Framework.

10 No development shall take place until details of a scheme to dispose of foul and 
surface water from the site has been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
local planning authority in consultation with GMEU. The surface water drainage 
scheme shall be based on sustainable drainage principles, shall provide for the total 
surface water run-off rate to be limited to not exceed greenfield run off rates in all 
events and shall incorporate adequate on site attenuation storage. The submitted 
scheme shall include:

(i) details of volumetric run-off control as per CIRIA SIDS manual C697 with the 
rate set at Qbar if no infiltration is provided

(ii) details of exceedence event of up to a 1 in 100 year including climate change 
allowance

(iii) where it is proposed to provide a drainage outfall into any watercourse that 
feeds the Glade and Oaken Bank Woods SBI an appropriate ecological 
assessment of the implications of the proposed outfall works, and the impacts 
of the operation and flows from the outfall.

(iv) a timetable for its implementation; and a management and maintenance plan 
for the lifetime of the development which shall include the arrangements for 
adoption by any public authority or statutory undertaker and any other 
arrangements to secure the operation of the scheme throughout its lifetime.

The approved drainage shall be fully implemented and subsequently retained in 
accordance with the management and maintenance plan.

Reason: To prevent an increased risk of flooding as a result of the development, to 
ensure that surface water discharge rates are limited to pre-development (greenfield) 
levels in accordance with the submitted Flood Risk Assessment & Drainage Strategy, 
Land at Langley Lane, Middleton  (prepared by Ironside Farrar Limited, dated 24th 
June 2014) and to ensure satisfactory disposal of surface and foul water from the site 
in accordance with the requirements of Unitary Development Plan policy EM/7 and 
the National Planning Policy Framework.

11 No development shall take place until a Construction Method Statement (CMS) has 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The CMS 
shall include details of the following: 
(viii) hours for site preparation, delivery of materials and construction; 
(ix) the parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors; 
(x) loading and unloading of plant and materials;
(xi) storage of plant and materials used in constructing the development; 
(xii) the erection and maintenance of security hoarding; 
(xiii) wheel washing facilities; 
(xiv) measures to control the emission of dust and dirt during construction as set 



out in the approved Air Quality Assessment, Land at Langley Lane, Middleton 
prepared by REC, reference 33831-2R3, dated 4th July 2014; and (viii) a 
scheme for managing and the recycling/disposing of waste resulting from 
construction works in accordance with the approved Waste Management 
Plan, Land at Langley Lane, Middleton, prepared by REC, reference 
45641_1AP1R1, dated 11th June 2014.

The duly approved CMS shall be adhered to throughout the construction period.

Reason: In order to ensure that appropriate measures are put in place to limit noise, 
nuisance and disturbance to the occupiers of neighbouring dwellings during the 
construction of the development in accordance with the requirements of Unitary 
Development Plan policies BE/2 and EM/3, and the National Planning Policy 
Framework.

12 No above ground works shall take place within each phase of the development 
hereby permitted until a scheme of Biodiversity Enhancement and Mitigation 
Measures to be provided within that phase has been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority, in consultation with the Greater Manchester 
Ecology Unit (GMEU). The scheme shall include: i) full details of those enhancement 
measures to be provided within that phase, which shall include those measures set 
out in sections 6.5 to 6.10 of the Ecological Assessment ‘land at Langley Lane, 
Middleton’ prepared by The Environment Partnership (TEP), dated 24-06-2014; ii) 
timescales for their implementation. 

The development within that phase shall thereafter be carried out in accordance with 
the scheme and implemented in accordance with the approved timescales. 

Reason: In order to ensure adequate protection of existing landscape features of 
ecological value and to achieve appropriate landscape and biodiversity 
enhancements as part of the development in accordance with the requirements of 
UDP policy NE/3 and the National Planning Policy Framework.

13 No above ground works within any phase of the development hereby approved shall 
take place until, a Habitat and Landscape Management Plan (HLMP) for all 
landscaped areas of the site (excluding privately owned domestic gardens) has first 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
HLMP shall include: (i) protection measures for all retained trees, waterbodies and 
greenspace during the course of development; (ii) long term design objectives; (iii) 
management responsibilities; (iv) maintenance schedules; and (v) a timetable for its 
implementation. The HLMP shall thereafter be implemented in full accordance with 
the duly approved details and timetable contained therein.

Reason: In order to ensure adequate protection of existing landscape features of 
ecological value and to achieve appropriate landscape and biodiversity 
enhancements as part of the development in accordance with the requirements of 
UDP policy NE/3 and the National Planning Policy Framework.

14 No above ground works within any phase of the development hereby permitted shall 
take place until, a detailed lighting scheme for any external lighting to be installed 
within all highways, footpaths, public open spaces and landscape buffer zones on all 
boundaries of the site, within that phase has been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority.  Such details shall include its position and 
height on the building or site and its luminance, angle of installation and any hoods to 
be fixed to the lights.  Only lighting as approved shall be installed on the site in 



accordance with the terms of any such approval.

Reason: In order that the development does not prejudice the favourable 
conservation status of protected species in accordance with the requirements of 
Unitary Development Plan policy NE/4 and the National Planning Policy Framework.

15 No development shall take place within each phase of the development hereby 
permitted until a Reasonable Avoidance Method Statement for Badgers for that 
phase has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority 
in consultation with Greater Manchester Ecology Unit (GMEU). The development 
shall thereafter be carried out in accordance with the statement and any approved 
measures.

Reason: In order that the development does not prejudice the favourable 
conservation status of badgers in accordance with the requirements of Unitary 
Development Plan policy NE/4 and the National Planning Policy Framework.  

16 No clearance of trees and shrubs in preparation for or during the course of 
development shall take place during the bird nesting season (March – July inclusive) 
unless an ecological survey has been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
local planning authority which establishes that no part of the site is utilised for bird 
nesting. Should the survey reveal the presence of any nesting species, then no 
development including clearance of trees and shrubs shall take place until a 
methodology for protecting nest sites during the course of the development has been 
agreed in writing by the local planning authority. Nest site protection shall be 
provided in accordance with the approved methodology.

Reason: In order to prevent any habitat disturbance to nesting birds in accordance 
with Unitary Development Plan Policies NE/3 and NE/4 and the National Planning 
Policy Framework.  

17 No development shall take place until a detailed method statement for the removal or 
long-term management/eradication of Himalayan Balsam on the site has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. Development 
shall be carried out in accordance with the approved method statement. The method 
statement shall include measures to prevent the spread of Japanese Knotweed and 
Himalayan Balsam during any operations such as mowing, strimming or soil 
movement, and measures to ensure that any soils brought to the site are free of the 
seeds/roots/stems of any invasive plant covered under the Wildlife and Countryside 
Act 1981.

Reason: To ensure the satisfactory treatment and disposal of invasive plant species 
which, under the terms of the Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981 (as amended) it is an 
offence to be caused to be spread in the wild, in accordance with the objectives of 
Unitary Development Plan Policy NE/3 .  

18 No development shall take place until the applicant or their agents or their 
successors in title have secured the implementation of a programme of 
archaeological works. The programme of archaeological works should be undertaken 
in accordance with a Written Scheme of Investigation (WSI) which has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The WSI shall 
cover the following: 

1. A phased programme and methodology of site investigation and recording to 
include: 



- geophysical evaluation 
- evaluation trenching i) targeting geophysical anomalies and ii) including targeted 
evaluation trenching of buildings identified in the desk-based assessment and iii) 
providing an adequate spatial sample of the development site. 
- (depending upon the results of the evaluation) area excavation and recording 
2. A programme for post investigation assessment to include: 
- analysis of the site investigation records and finds 
- production of a final report on the significance of the archaeological, architectural 
and historical interest represented. 
3. Provision for publication and dissemination of the analysis and report on the site 
investigation. 
4. Provision for archive deposition of the report, findings and records of the site 
investigation. 
5. Nomination of a competent person or persons/ organisation to undertake the 
works set out within the approved WSI.

Reason: In order to protect and preserve the archaeological and historical 
significance of potential below ground heritage assets in accordance with the 
requirements of Unitary Development Plan Policies BE/10 and NE/6, and the 
National Planning Policy Framework.

19 Notwithstanding the details hereby approved, the reserved matters applications for 
each phase of the development hereby approved shall be supported by an 
Arboricultural Impact Assessment (AIA) and Arboricultural Method Statement (AMS) 
for that phase. The statement shall be carried out in accordance with in accordance 
with BS 5837:2012 'Trees in Relation to Design, Demolition and Construction. Any 
approved mitigation or protection measures for trees and shrubs to be retained shall 
be put into place prior to and remain in place during any construction work for any 
phase.

Reason: To ensure that appropriate mitigation measures are put in place to 
safeguard the health of trees located within the site and in close proximity to the 
proposed development in order to preserve their amenity value and the character of 
the area in accordance with the requirements of Unitary Development Plan policies 
NE/8 and BE/2 and the National Planning Policy Framework.

20 Notwithstanding the details hereby approved, no development in each phase of the 
development hereby approved shall take place until, a scheme of tree and hedgerow 
protection measures in accordance with BS 5837:2012 'Trees in Relation to Design, 
Demolition and Construction’ for that phase incorporating both above and below 
ground to be implemented during the construction period has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall thereafter 
be carried out in strict accordance with the protection measures contained within the 
duly approved scheme throughout the construction period.

Reason: In order to ensure that appropriate mitigation measures are put in place to 
safeguard the health of trees and hedgerows within the site in the interests of the 
amenity of the area, and that the development does not prejudice the favourable 
conservation status of protected species in accordance with the requirements of 
Unitary Development Plan policy NE/4, NE/7, the National Planning Policy 
Framework and the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as amended). 

21 The dwellings should be constructed in accordance with the recommendations in the 
submitted Noise Impact Assessment and designed to ensure that noise from passing 
traffic does not exceed: (i) 30dB(A) Leq 5mins in the bedrooms with windows shut 



and other means of ventilation provided between 11pm and 7am; (ii) 35dB(A) Leq (1 
hour) in other habitable rooms with windows shut and other means of ventilation 
provided at all times; (iii) 45 dB(A) Lmax in bedrooms.

Prior to the first occupation of each dwelling hereby approved, a verification report 
shall have been first submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority, confirming that the approved ventilation and acoustic measures set out in 
section 5.2 of the Noise Impact Assessment, Land at Langley Lane report, REC 
Reference 90506R0-2, prepared by REC and dated 25th June 2014, have been 
implemented.

Reason: In order to ensure the implementation of appropriate noise attenuation 
measures for the proposed dwellings to ensure satisfactory living conditions for future 
occupiers of the development in accordance with the requirements of Unitary 
Development Plan policies H/3, BE/2 and EM/3 and the National Planning Policy 
Framework.

22 No above ground works shall take place until a scheme for the provision of acoustic 
fencing to be installed in accordance with Appendix 4 of the Noise Impact 
Assessment, Land at Langley Lane report, REC Reference 90506R0-2, prepared by 
REC and dated 25th June 2014 or any subsequent amended report(s) submitted with 
any reserved matters application(s) has been submitted to and approved in writing by 
the local planning authority. The scheme shall include details of its height, materials, 
design and siting. The scheme shall be installed in accordance with the approved 
details before any dwelling within that phase is first brought into use and shall be 
retained thereafter. 

Reason: In order to ensure the implementation of appropriate noise attenuation 
measures for the proposed dwellings to ensure satisfactory living conditions for future 
occupiers of the development in accordance with the requirements of Unitary 
Development Plan policies H/3, BE/2 and EM/3 and the National Planning Policy 
Framework. 

23 Notwithstanding any information provided as part of the application, within three 
months of development first taking place a Travel Plan shall be submitted for the 
written approval of the Local Planning Authority. The Travel Plan shall contain firm 
measures for promoting a choice of transport mode and a monitoring regime with 
agreed mode share targets. In addition the Plan shall set out the monitoring 
procedures and mechanisms that are to be put in place to ensure that it remains 
effective and shall be reviewed within a framework approved by the Local Planning 
Authority. The initiatives contained in the approved Travel Plan shall be implemented 
before the first occupation of the buildings unless otherwise agreed in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority and shall continue to be implemented thereafter.

Reason: In order to ensure that the development encourages people to travel by 
sustainable modes of transport in accordance with the objectives of Unitary 
Development Plan policy A/12 and the National Planning Policy Framework.

24 The submission of reserved matters relating to each phase of the development 
hereby approved, shall be accompanied by a 'Crime Impact Statement’' (CIS) for that 
phase which shall examine all aspects of security including where necessary, car 
parking, pedestrian footways, entrances, internal layout and external security 
measures. Development of that phase shall be carried out in accordance with the 
approved CIS and any approved site security measures shall be retained thereafter.



Reason: In order to ensure that the development is appropriately secured from crime 
in the interests of providing a safe, secure and accessible community in accordance 
with policies G.BE/1, BE/2, of the Unitary Development Plan and the policies within 
the NPPF.

25 The submission of reserved matters relating to each phase of the development 
hereby approved shall include a Design and Access Statement demonstrating how 
that phase complies with the approved ‘Langley Lane, Middleton Design and Access 
Statement (7 July 2014). The Design Statement shall include details of the design 
process undertaken; justification for the design approach and architectural styles 
adopted; the core design principles guiding development of that phase and how the 
phase has been designed to accord with the design objectives and principles, within 
the approved Design and Access Statement, and the overall framework masterplan 
within the approved ‘Land at Langley Lane Parameters Plan, drwg no. 448B.50C. 
The statement shall include details of how the detailed layout connects into the 
existing and planned surrounding network of routes including roads, footpaths, 
bridleways and rights of way, in particular including the right of way immediately to 
the east of the site and any planned development on the adjacent site.

Reason: In order to secure a high quality form of development and ensure a 
sympathetic relationship with the sites context, its surroundings and adjacent 
buildings and townscape and landscape features in accordance with the 
requirements of Unitary Development Plan policies G/BE/1, BE/2, and the National 
Planning Policy Framework.

26 The submission of reserved matters application(s) shall include detailed landscaping 
plans for the landscape open space and green corridors to be provided within the 
site. The landscaping plans shall follow the principles set out in the approved 
parameters plan (Land at Langley Lane Parameters Plan, 448B.50C) and ecology 
report (reference) show the detailed layout of the replacement habitats to be provided 
including hedgerows, tree planting, ponds and grassy marshland. Such a scheme 
shall include details of the type, species, siting, planting distances and the 
programme of planting of trees and shrubs; the siting, dimensions, and depth of 
ponds; and the timescales for completion. The development shall thereafter be 
carried out in accordance with the approved details and timescales. Any trees or 
shrubs removed, dying, being severely damaged or becoming seriously diseased 
within three years of planting shall be replaced by trees or shrubs of similar size and 
species to those originally required to be planted. 

Reason: In order to ensure adequate provision of replacement habitats and 
landscape features of ecological value and to achieve appropriate landscape and 
biodiversity enhancements as part of the development in accordance with the 
requirements of UDP policy NE/3 and the National Planning Policy Framework.

27 The reserved matters application(s) for each phase(s) shall be accompanied by 
details of measures to be incorporated into the development for the management of 
household waste during the operation of the development hereby approved. This 
strategy shall be developed in accordance with the principles and objectives within 
the approved Operational Waste Strategy, Langley Lane, Middleton, prepared by 
REC, reference 45641_1BP1R1, dated June 2014. 

Reason: In order to secure the provision of appropriate measures for the storage, 
management and recycling/disposal of waste on the site during the lifetime of the 
development hereby approved, and in the interests of highway safety and the 
character and appearance of the site and surrounding area, in accordance with the 



requirements of Unitary Development Plan policies A/7, G/BE/1, BE/2, and the 
National Planning Policy Framework.

Report Author Daniela Ripa



Application Number: 14/01412/FUL    Ward: Wardle And West Littleborough      

Proposal: Erection of 50 residential dwellings with associated access, landscaping, 
substation and public open space

Site Address: Land Off Tarnside Close Rochdale   

Applicant: Prospect (GB) Ltd And Brierstone Construction Ltd
                  

RECOMMENDATION: Granted subject to conditions

DELEGATION

Members have delegated powers to approved or refuse the application on reasonable 
planning grounds.  

UPDATE

At the meeting of Pennines Township Planning Sub Committee on 2nd September 2015 
Members of that Committee resolved by a vote of 5 to 4 that they were minded to approve 
the application and refer it to the Licensing and Regulatory Committee in accordance with 
the Council’s Scheme of Delegation.  



In considering the application Members asked Officers to consider the following matters prior 
to the application being considered by the Licensing and Regulatory Committee

1. How the proposed junction of Tarnside Close and Greenfield Lane could be 
amended to restrict vehicles using Greenfield Lane as a short cut.

2. Whether a contribution could be sought from the developer to provide the wheelie 
bins for the future occupiers of the dwellings. 

In response to these matters it is confirmed: 

1. The proposed section of Tarnside Close as it crosses Greenfield Lane has been 
modified by the way of build out islands. Between the islands the width of Tarnside 
Close would be reduced to approximately 3m which would prevent vehicles turning 
from Tarnside Close into Greenfield Lane or vice versa.  A plan of the proposed 
junction will be presented to Members at the meeting. 

2. Property developers are required in any case to meet the cost of providing bins for 
new housing developments, outside of the planning process.  Therefore it is not 
necessary to subject this application to the requirement that the developer meets the 
costs of supplying the wheelie bins for the new homes. 

In addition to the above during the meeting a further letter objecting to the application was 
handed out to the Members and a further letter of representation (from the same property) 
making a complaint about the content of the officer report to Pennines Township Planning 
Sub Committee and the decision of that Committee has been received subsequently. The 
report has been updated to include the additional points of objection and representations. 
These matters are included within the Representations and Analysis section of the report. 

SITE

The site comprises 3.19 hectares of greenfield land located on the north eastern side of 
Rochdale and is accessible from Halifax Road (A58), via Wheelwright Drive, Tarnside Close 
and Dyehouse Lane. The site is designated as Protected Open Land and a Greenspace 
Corridor within the adopted Rochdale Unitary Development Plan.

The site borders a well-established residential area which lies to the north and west and it is 
close to local facilities which are accessed from the A58. To the east of the site lies open 
space which extends through to Smithy Bridge Road.  The River Roch is located directly to 
the south and to the west lies a small wood. The site is irregular in shape, as it excludes land 
around 33 Greenfield Lane and 1-3 Greenfield House and the pond / wood at the rear of 33 
and 42-46 Tarnside Close. 

The site would encompass a short section of Greenfield Lane which is an unadopted 
highway accessing 1-3 Greenfield House. and a public footpath (WarFp9).  The section of 
the lane which extends through the site and to the north and south runs alongside the rear 
boundaries of properties on Tarnside Close and Manor Mill Close, which are at a lower level. 
To the north it joins the A58, Halifax Road, whereas to the south it bends sharply to the west, 
becomes footpath WarFp5 and can be used to access Dyehouse Lane. . Adjoining the 
northern boundary of the site lies a row of modern detached dwellings which are located 
along George Street. 

The topography of the site is generally uneven as it rises away from Tarnside Close and falls 
away towards the River Roch.  A relatively steep embankment lies in between the River 
Roch and a public footpath which links Dye House Lane and Smithy Bridge Road.



PROPOSAL

This is a full planning application for the construction of 50 dwellings. 

There are 8 dwelling types designed specifically for this site, which range from 2 bedroom 
terraced mews properties to large 4 bedroom detached dwellings. The mix of house types 
proposed would be 4no. 2 bedroom properties, 14no. 3 bedroom properties and 32no. 4 
bedroom properties. The larger dwellings are positioned close to the site entry point and 
adjacent to the River Roch.  A tighter settlement grain is created towards the northern 
boundary of the site and the majority of these dwellings would be offered as affordable 
housing.  The dwellings are two-storeys high and some of the house types contain a single 
storey attached garage.  

The external elevations would be faced using a red brick which would be complemented by 
a grey brick band which extends around the lower sections of the elevations. A concrete roof 
tile is proposed to be used and artificial stone cills and lintels would frame the windows. The 
entrance into the site from Tarnside Close would be enclosed by stone walls.

The proposed layout provides for garden frontages to each dwelling. In most cases these 
frontages would comprise a combination of in-curtilage parking separated by landscaped 
strips of hedging, planting and fencing. Also, each dwelling would be provided with a rear 
garden. Boundary treatments around rear gardens would comprise 1.8m high fencing.  

The scheme proposes to retain the majority of the existing trees located to the north, south 
and western boundaries.  An area of public open space, measuring 1.2 hectares, is 
proposed to be created between the River Roch and the right of way (WarFp6) which 
extends through the southern part of the site.  

As part of the proposal a new single access road would be created from the entrance of the 
site with Tarnside Close. From its junction with Tarnside Close, the access extends easterly 
across the site and 3 additional sections of highway extend from it. Two of these additional 
sections of highway extend towards the right of way which extends through the site while the 
other one serves a cluster dwellings which lie adjacent to the northern boundary. Each 
property would be provided with private in curtilage car parking.   

RELEVANT PLANNING POLICY

National Guidance

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)

The Department for Communities and Local Government published the NPPF on 27 March 
2012.  The NPPF sets out the Government’s planning policies for England and how these 
are expected to be applied.  

National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG)

The government published its NPPG on 6 March 2014. This is intended to complement the 
NPPF and to provide a single resource for planning guidance, whilst rationalising and 
streamlining the material. Almost all previous planning Circulars and advice notes have been 
cancelled. Specific reference will be made to the NPPG or other national advice in the 
Analysis section of the report, where appropriate.

Unitary Development Plan (UDP): 



G/D/1 Defined Urban Area
D/10 Protected Open Land

G/H/1 Housing
H/3 Residential Development Outside Allocated Areas
H/5 Residential Density
H/6 Provision of Recreational Open Space in New Housing Development
H/7 Affordable Housing 

G/A/1 Accessibility
A/2 Accessibility Hierarchy 
A/3 New Development – Access for Pedestrians and Disabled People
A/4 New Development - Access for Cyclists 
A/8 New Development – Capacity of the Highway Network
A/9 New Development – Access for General Traffic
A/10 New Development – Provision of Parking
A/11 New Development – Transport Assessments 

G/BE/1 Design Quality
BE/2 Design Criteria for New Development
BE/7 Street Furniture and the Public Realm 
BE/8 Landscaping in New Development

G/BE/9 Conservation of the Built Heritage 
BE/15 New Development Affecting the Setting of a Listed Building 

G/G/1 Greenspace
G/2 Standards for Recreational Open Space
G/4 New Provision of Local Open Space
G/5 New Provision of Outdoor Sports Facilities
G/8 Greenspace Corridors

G/EM/1 Environmental Protection and Pollution Control
EM/2 Pollution
EM/3 Noise and New Development
EM/4 Contaminated Land 
EM/7 Development and Flood Risk 
EM/8 Protection of Surface and Ground Water 
EM/9 Development Involving Unstable Land
EM/10 Derelict Land and Building 
EM/11 Other Degraded Land and Buildings

G/EM/12 Renewable Energy and Energy Conservation
EM/13 Energy Efficiency and New Development

G/NE/1 Nature Conservation
NE/2 Designated Sites of Ecological and Geological / Geomorphological 

Importance
NE/3 Biodiversity and Development 
NE/4 Protected Species

G/NE/5 Landscape and Woodlands
NE/6 Landscape Protection and Enhancement 
NE/8 Development Affecting Trees, Woodlands and Hedgerows 
NE/9 Protection of Woodlands 



G/RE/1 Countryside and the Rural Economy 
RE/6 Recreational Rights of Way 

Supplementary Planning Guidance:
Oldham and Rochdale Residential Design Guide SPD
Guidelines and Standards for Residential Development SPG
Energy and New Development SPD
Provision of Recreational Open Space in New Housing SPD
Affordable Housing SPD 
Biodiversity and Development SPD

RELEVANT SITE HISTORY

14/01385/SO – Request for screening opinion [under the Town and Country Planning 
(Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulations 2011 (as amended)] in respect of the 
erection of 69 dwellings with associated access, landscaping and open space.  It was 
determined that an Environmental Impact Assessment was not required to accompany the 
planning application. 

CONSULTATION RESPONSES

RBC Highways Officer:- The Councils Highways Officer has raised no objections to the 
proposal and makes the following comments: - 

 For a development of this size and nature ample dedicated parking has been 
provided. 

 Bus stops are located along the A58 offering a sustainable transport alternative to car 
travel.

 The access to the development will be created from Tarnside Close between number 
17 & 19. The new access point to the highway is adequate for a development of this 
size and nature.

 The additional traffic at this location will undoubtedly create a change for the 
residents along this route. It will not however be at a level that compromises the 
function of the network at this location.

 The application proposed will not affect refuse collection from the development. 
 This development will not have a significant negative impact upon the local network 

capacity. The A58 is within close proximity of the development and will accommodate 
the additional vehicles from the development.

 The additional development will not have a negative impact upon road safety.
 Two public rights of way pass through the development. A temporary diversion route 

for each public right of way is required during construction. 

The Coal Authority: - The application site falls within the defined Development High Risk 
Area; therefore within the application site and surrounding area there are coal mining 
features and hazards which need to be considered in relation to the determination of this 
planning application. Having reviewed the application The Coal Authority considers that the 
content and conclusions of the Desk Study Phase 1 Report are sufficient for the purposes of 
the planning system and meets the requirements of the NPPF in demonstrating that the 
application site is, or can be made safe and stable for the proposed development.  The Coal 
Authority therefore has no objection to the proposed development subject to a condition 
requiring further site investigations be undertaken to be undertaken to establish the exact 



position of the mine entry to enable appropriate treatment of it and to inform any gas 
protection measures deemed necessary. 

Greater Manchester Ecology Unit:- Comment that the revised layout is an improvement as 
there is less intrusion into the Roch Valley.  The following recommendations have been 
made: - 
 That appropriate Best Construction Practice be followed throughout any Construction 

Period to avoid any possibility of polluting the Roch.
 That measures be taken to control the spread of Himalayan Balsam during the 

course of the scheme be taken. Under the terms of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 
1981 (as amended) it is an offence to cause this plant to spread in the wild.

 That no vegetation clearance that may be required by the scheme take place during 
the optimum period for bird nesting (March to July inclusive) unless nesting bids have 
been shown to be absent by a suitably qualified person.

 In the interest of avoiding harm to nocturnal wildlife any lighting scheme for the 
development should avoid direct lighting of the Roch.

Environmental Health (Noise): – No objection in principle to this application but would 
recommend the following condition be considered. “The hours of construction are restricted 
to 07:30am to 6.00pm Monday to Friday; 9.00am to 2.00pm on Saturdays. No work on 
Sundays.”

Environmental Health (Contamination): - No objections subject to condition securing site 
investigation and risk assessment.

Environment Agency: - Raise no objections and suggest the following conditions are 
imposed: - 
 Surface drainage from the site should be based on sustainable drainage principles 

and the run off rate shall be restricted to 12.7 l/s/ha. 
 The submission of a remediation strategy detailing how any contamination will be 

dealt with.  
 The long-term monitoring and maintenance plan in respect of contamination including 

a timetable of monitoring and submission of reports to the Local Planning Authority.
United Utilities:- No objection to the proposal and have advised the developer to consider 
the drainage options in the following order of priority:

a) an adequate soak away or some other adequate infiltration system, (approval must 
be obtained from local authority/building control/Environment Agency); or, where that 
is not reasonably practicable.

b) a watercourse (approval must be obtained from the riparian owner/land drainage
authority/Environment Agency); or, where that is not reasonably practicable.

c) a sewer (approval must be obtained from United Utilities).

It is also advised that the site must be drained on a separate system, with only foul drainage 
connected into the foul sewer. Surface water should discharge to the nearby watercourse to 
meet the requirements of the National Planning Policy Framework

Natural England: - No comment.

Greater Manchester Archaeological Advisory Service (GMAAS): - Comment that the 
application is supported by an archaeological Desk Based Assessment (DBA) and Heritage 
Statement. Having reviewed the DBA it is acknowledged that there is little of archaeological 



value to be gained through investigating and recording the field boundaries or trackways. 
The potential for Iron Age remains to survive within the potential development area is 
considered to be very low and insufficient to justify further archaeological work. On this basis 
GMAAS recommends that no further archaeological requirements be placed upon the 
developer.

Natural England – Raise no objections.

RBC Drainage Officer/Lead Local Flood Authority:– Raises no objection and 
recommends that the surface drainage from the site should be based on sustainable 
drainage principles and the run off rate shall be restricted to 8l/s/ha. 

Greater Manchester Police (Design for Security): - It is recommended that the dwellings 
are built to Secured by Design standards.

REPRESENTATIONS

The neighbouring properties have been notified, site notices have been posted and the 
application has been advertised in the local press.  

The Council has received a petition and 90 letters of objection against the proposal.  The 
objections are summarised below followed by Officer’s response. 

 [N.B. Officer responses in this section to the issues raised should be read in addition to and 
not as a substitute to the Analysis section of the report].

1.  The proposal will have a detrimental effect on the green space area and the wildlife 
within this area. 

Officer Response. An Ecology Survey and Assessment was submitted with the 
application. The report concluded that the site only contains common and 
widespread plant species and none of the habitats within the site are of significant 
interest in terms of their plant composition. The assessment finds that the scattered 
trees and shrubs within the site are of local value and it is recommended to retain the 
boundary trees and protect them during the construction period.

2. The traffic and disturbance that would be generated in this proposal going ahead will 
have a detrimental affect particularly on the immediate neighbouring properties as well 
as a greater increase in traffic entering and exiting the proposed site via Tarnside 
Close, Wheelwright Drive and Dyehouse Lane. 

Officer Response.  The application is supported by a Transport Assessment to ensure 
that the predicted traffic can be accommodated on the local highway network. The 
assessment concludes that the increase in dwellings will not have a negative impact 
on the Halifax Road / Dye House Lane junction.  The findings of the TA are not 
disputed by the Councils Highways Officer and it is not considered that the vehicular 
movements associated with development would cause a noise nuisance to any 
residents which live adjacent to the site. 

3. The noise disturbance will badly affect properties nearby and any heavy goods 
vehicles will also cause disturbance to properties in and around Tarnside Close. 

Officer Response.  In ensure that the impact of the construction phase of the 
development is controlled, a condition is recommendation which requires a 
Construction Management Plan (CMP) to be agreed in writing with the Local Planning 



Authority before any development commences. The CMP will set out hours of 
working, delivery times and confirm the location of the site compound. 

4. The road access onto Wheelwright Drive then onto Halifax Road is in no way suitable 
for such an increase in traffic that would arise if these houses were to be built.

Officer Response.  It is considered that the access arrangements to and from the site 
would not be detrimental to highway safety. 

5. The surrounding road network is often congested and cannot possibly take another 
100+ vehicles in the area.

Officer Response.  As stated above the submitted TA concludes that the increase in 
dwellings will not have a negative impact on the Halifax Road / Dye House Lane 
junction.

6. There is already several 'affordable housing' developments in and around the 
Smallbridge area, and the area does not have the infrastructure to cope with 
additional people in the area.

Response. The planning system aims to develop stable, balanced communities 
where all sections of society, regardless of their wealth, occupation or background, 
feel included. Planning for sufficient, good quality, affordable and appropriate housing 
plays a central role in maintaining an inclusive society. In accordance with the 
Councils Affordable Housing Policies seven of the proposed dwellings will be 
provided through an Affordable Housing Provider. Furthermore, it is considered that 
the site lies within a sustainable area with good access to local services and facilities.  

7. The area is supposed to be a green belt protected area and the Roch Valley is 
always promoted by Rochdale Council as a wildlife corridor.

Response. It is considered that the loss of the site for the development would not 
cause over-riding harm to the character, function and quality of the greenspace 
corridor. The site is not within the Green Belt.

8. There may be an issue with surplus water which collects within the open space and 
affect the water table and therefore cause flooding in the surrounding houses and 
roads.

Response.  An updated flood risk assessment has been prepared for the 50 unit 
scheme and the same conclusions have been reached, that the development will not 
be liable to flooding nor will it increase flooding elsewhere. 

9. The development will see the removal of fields (and loss of habitat for the abundant 
wildlife), which, we enjoy as parents with our children on walks and with our dog. 
Green spaces should really be saved and enjoyed rather than swallowed for more 
developments.

Response. The development offers the opportunity for the enhancement of 
biodiversity within the site and it is considered that adequate mitigation would be 
provided on site and satisfactory precautionary measures can be put in place to 
ensure that the development would not adversely affect the limited nature 
conservation value of the site or the favourable conservation status of any protected 
species



10. The loss of privacy for neighbours closest to and adjoining the site will also be a 
major issue and increase in noise nuisance will surely needs to be considered, the 
effect on the existing housing infrastructure and residents needs to be addressed.

Response. It is considered that the layout of the development has been carefully 
considered to allow for sufficient separation distances between the proposed units 
and existing properties. This is considered in more detail in the Analysis section of 
the report.

11. Can I ask if an independent highways engineer has been appointed to review the 
impact of an extra 100+ cars on an already struggling and at times unsafe road?

Response. The application is supported by an independent Transport Assessment 
which concludes that the development would not have a negative impact on the local 
highway network. The findings of the Transport Assessment are not disputed by the 
Councils Highways Officer. 

12. Greenfield Lane is unadopted highway and is maintained by the local residents. What 
actions will be put in place to stop the lane being used as a rat run from the residents 
of the proposed new development?

Response. As stated in the update section of the report  the proposed section of 
Tarnside Close as it crosses Greenfield Lane has been modified by the way of build 
out islands.  Between the islands the width of Tarnside Close would be reduced to 
approximately 3m which would prevent vehicles turning from Tarnside Close into 
Greenfield Lane or vice versa.  A plan of the proposed junction will be presented to 
Members at the meeting. 

13. There must be brown field sites within the borough of Rochdale that would be better 
suited for new housing developments rather than destroying greenbelt countryside 
forever.

Response. Although there is a still a presumption in favour of developing brownfield 
sites first, NPPF does generally support ‘sustainable development’.  As stated 
elsewhere within this report, it is considered that the scheme constitutes sustainable 
development and therefore the principle of the scheme is supported. 

14. The land proposed for the build could be liable to flooding from the river at the lower 
part of the field, this has happened in the past.

Response.  The application includes a flood risk assessment which confirms that the 
site is not at risk of flooding. 

15. Tarnside Close has a steep gradient, in inclement weather the clearing of snow is left 
to the good nature of some of the residents, I suspect with additional volumes of 
traffic this service will be difficult to perform thereby increasing the risk of cars rolling 
back or skidding.

Response.  Like many roads within the Borough during periods of inclement weather, 
Tarnside Close will have to be used with caution. Although Tarnside Close is 
relatively steep this is not unusual as there are many other similar roads within the 



borough. The proposed development is accessed directly from Tarnside Close and it 
is considered that it would facilitate safe and convenient access.

16. What about future access for the Fire and Ambulance service, this proposed 
development will cause additional problems.

Response. The resulting site layout is compliant with the Councils design standards 
and will provide appropriate forward visibility and gradients.  As a result the 
development will provide suitable access for all users, including emergency services. 

17. There appears to be an attempt to destroy communities and villages via a step by 
step plan to link the town of Rochdale to the villages of Smithy Bridge and 
Littleborough via Smallbridge.

Response. As previously stated elsewhere within the report, it is considered that the 
scheme constitutes sustainable development and by reason of its size and location it 
would not result or lead to the merging of Rochdale and Littleborough. 

18. There are a substantial number of houses for sale in the area that are of similar type, 
size and likely value of the proposed development which have not sold in over 12 
months. This would imply there is not a great need for housing within the Smallbridge 
area.

Response. The proposed development would assist in meeting an identified need for 
market and affordable housing in the area. 

19. A site visit would demonstrate the topography of the fields in relation to our home (3 
Greenfield House).  We have two living room windows and our kitchen diner glass 
patio doors are also exposed on the ground floor gable end of our home (i.e. our 
habitable rooms); these are less than one metre away and at the same height level of 
the identified proposed open space along the easterly side of our property – no other 
such property in the proposed plan is so significantly affected with their habitable 
rooms by this proposed open space. This open space would significantly affect our 
future enjoyment, privacy and general amenity.

Response.  The gable elevation of no. 3 Greenfield House overlooks the west facing 
boundary of the site.  Alongside this boundary would be a narrow landscape strip and 
beyond this lies the access road which serves plots 43-49.  The landscaping strip is 
not large enough to be used for any recreational purposes and it is does not include 
a footpath.  It is considered that the landscaping treatment along the boundary with 
no 3 Greenfield would not harm the privacy or amenity of the occupiers of no. 3 
Greenfield 

20. The proposal does not follow the advice as set in the Crime Impact Assessment.  

Response.  This development has been assessed against the principles of ‘Crime 
Prevention Through Environmental Design’ (CPTED), in order to reduce the 
opportunities for crime and the fear of crime. The proposed scheme has been found 
acceptable and where possible the recommendations as outlined in the Crime Impact 
Assessment are being incorporated into the layout and design of the scheme. 

21. We are concerned that the developers will wish to remove our boundary walls and 
replace them with fencing along plots 67 to 65.  We have looked at our title deeds 



and it is clear that the walls are our property and therefore they should not be 
removed or altered in any way without our permission.

Response.  It is not proposed to remove the existing boundary wall which forms the 
western boundary of the site.  

22. The Council has stated within its UDP in Chapter 7 "that it wishes to ensure new 
development is concentrated within the urban area in order to support urban 
regeneration and to protect the countryside. Also, the UDP section D/10 Protected 
Open Land lists some categories where building could be permitted however this 
development does not meet any of the criteria as it is; not limited infilling of an 
established site; not extension to an existing building; not an existing source of 
employment; not creating new business and not sited within an existing curtilage of a 
business. Therefore the new proposed development should not be given planning 
permission. 

Response.  With regards to the implications of saved policy D/10 of the UDP the key 
issue is the current role and function that the site plays in terms of protected open 
land. It is noted that the principal aim of policy D/10 is to try and encourage new built 
development within the defined urban area, to assist in the Council’s efforts of urban 
regeneration. It is noted that because the site is surrounded on two sides by existing 
housing, it plays a more limited role in providing the above benefits, than if the site 
were to extend beyond the existing housing further into the wider valley corridor. It is 
therefore considered that the site could be developed without having a significant 
impact upon the openness of the corridor. Furthermore, it is not considered that site 
makes any significant contribution to the existing character or identity of this part of 
the urban edge. Given the location of the site, it is not considered that it performs a 
vital role in projecting an attractive image of the Borough. 

23. Construction traffic will find it difficult to negotiate the narrow, winding entry roads 
onto the estate and will also add to the difficulties residents have entering and 
leaving the estate.

Response. During the construction phase of the development, it is considered that 
subject to conditions securing the submission and approval of a construction method 
statement (CMS) to manage construction operations and deliveries to the site, the 
proposed construction phase of development would not cause significant over-riding 
harm to the amenity of neighbouring residents. 

24. In June 2013 Rochdale Council prepared a Strategic Housing Land Availability 
Assessment (SHLAA) in accordance with government guidelines. This is a binding 
document which identifies the supply and demand for housing needs during the next 
5 years. This document identifies that there are existing sites within the Borough with 
existing Planning Permissions which can deliver 649 new homes in the next 5 years.

Response. The position in respect of housing land supply is complex and is set out in 
full in the Analysis section of the report. 

25. The proposal will be a gross invasion of privacy for my own house, 2 Greenfield 
House. There will be a problem of overlooking and overshadowing. The proposed 
road will be directly behind our house and will be at bedroom height with views 
straight into our bedrooms and downstairs rooms.

Response.  The rear elevation of no’s 2 Greenfield House would overlook the access 
road and it would lie some 23m from the gable elevation of plot 7.  It is not 



considered that the development would unduly harm the privacy or amenity of the 
occupiers of no. 2 Greenfield House.  

26. The houses to the side of Greenfield House are shown to be built over our septic 
tank. Access to our tank is established over many years, through the field at the side 
of Greenfield House.

Response.  The septic tank lies within the application site, adjacent to the west facing 
boundary.  The amended plans illustrates that the septic tank would not be built over 
and how it is accessed following the completion of the development is a matter 
between the developer and the occupiers of no’s 1-3 Greenfield House. 

27. The site lies within a greenspace corridor. We believe that if planning permission was 
to be given it would result in unacceptable harm to the landscape qualities and 
character of the corridor and destroy opportunities for informal outdoor recreation.

Response. It is considered that the loss of the site for the development would not 
cause over-riding harm to the character, function and quality of the greenspace 
corridor

28. There is genuine concern that as the site is close to the River Roch and that young 
children living there could be in danger. 

Response. The amended scheme incorporates the planting of a wildflower grass mix 
within the enlarged buffer zone between the development and the River Roch.  There 
are no paths extending through the area and it is not considered that its layout would 
pose a threat to personal safety.   

29. The consultation carried out by GL Hearn has been shoddy at best, and merely pays 
lip service to the Councils advice.

Response. Prior to submitting the application the applicant appointed GL Hearn to 
undertake a public consultation exercise for the proposed development.  In this 
particular case 250 consultation leaflets were hand delivered to homes in the local 
community.  The public consultation devised by GL Hearn respects the Council’s own 
advice as set out in its Statement of Community Involvement, where all applicants 
are encouraged to consult with the local community before submitting an application.

30.  In allowing the appeal (1994/2127) for residential development at Tarnside Close, 
the inspector stated that Greenfield Lane represented a clearly defined boundary to 
any development and would be a natural rounding off of the built up area. 

Response.  In considering this  email the Inspector commented that ‘My overall 
conclusions are, first, that although the proposal involves development of land which 
is open and would thus be strictly contrary to Policy OL4 of the Structure Plan, it 
would round off the settlement and cause no harm the character and appearance of 
the area……… Second, that it would cause no harm to highway safety and so does 
not conflict with the UDP policies dealing with highway safety’.

The views of the Inspector are noted but there has been a significant change in the 
direction of planning policy in the last 20 years and therefore a material change in 
planning circumstances. The development has to be assessed against planning 
policy in force at the time of the application and, as set out in the Analysis section, 
this would now lead to a different view needing to be taken. The Inspector did not 
exclude the possibility of future development taking place beyond Tarnside Close. 



31. The mains water to Greenfield House is supplied through a mains pipe running all the 
way through the field to the side of Greenfield House upwards towards Halifax Road, 
how are we go get our water supply during the many months of disruption, we will be 
without water for many months which is a basic right.

Response.  This is a private matter between the occupiers of Greenfield House and 
the applicant. 

32. It is the responsibility under the Human Rights Act, In particular Protocol 1, Article 1 
to ensure that a person has the right to peaceful enjoyment of all their possessions, 
which includes the home and other land. Additionally, Article 8 of The Human Rights 
Act states that a person has the substantive right to respect for their private and 
family life. This development totally surrounds no. 2 Greenfield House and will be a 
gross invasion of privacy. The protection of the country side falls within the interests 
of Article 8.

Response. No. 2 Greenfield House is a middle terrace and its front elevation 
overlooks the access road and towards the gable elevation of pot 7.  It is not 
considered that the vehicular coming and goings associated with the development 
would cause a nuisance to the occupiers of no. 2 Greenfield House.  Furthermore, it 
is considered that the design and position of the proposed dwellings would ensure 
the development would not harm the privacy or amenity of the occupiers of no. 2 
Greenfield House. It is established in law that the discharge of a Local Authority’s 
functions under the Planning Acts generally represent a proportionate interference in 
the rights of individuals granted under the Human Rights Act.

33. The right to light is an easement which is acquired by long uninterrupted enjoyment 
of a flow of natural light for a period of 20 years or more for which we qualify. A 
developer cannot build in a way that interferes with this right without my permission. 
Court Case HKRUK 11 (CHC) Ltd v Heaney (1).

Response. A ‘right to light’ is a civil matter and must be separated from the 
consideration of residential amenity, including any overshadowing from a 
development, undertaken when assessing a planning application. The former is not 
material to the consideration of the application and the latter is. The assessment of 
the application has established that no property would be overshadowed by the 
development to such a degree that their amenity would be adversely affected. 

34. Rochdale’s Residential Design Guide on page 56 requires developers to consider the 
‘Liveability’ of a property, i.e. “Developers must demonstrate that: there is reasonable 
daylight and sunlight provided to the interior of dwellings”.  We would argue that the 
predominantly north facing plots of 9, 10, 11, 12, 13 and 18, 19, 20 and 21 will not 
meet this Liveability requirement with their rear north facing private back garden 
spaces nor in their rear north facing internal habitable rooms due to poor design 
quality of the site.

Response. It is not unusual for properties to have north facing rooms or gardens. 
This policy is intended to prevent development where rooms have no window 
openings at all or habitable rooms need to be obscurely glazed because of 
separation distances. This is not the case at this site. 

As stated within the updated section of this report at the Pennines Township Planning Sub 
Committee a letter objecting to the proposal was handed to the Members during the 



meeting. Also, following the Pennines Township Planning Sub Committee meeting two 
additional letters of objection (one submitted as a complaint in respect of the Pennines 
Township Planning Sub Committee decision have been received from the occupiers of 3 
Greenfield House.  The additional points of objection which have not already been raised are 
summarised below followed by the Officer response. 

1. The officers’ report did not pay full regard to the impact of the development on the 
occupiers of no. 3 Greenfield House and in so breached Articles 6 and 8 of The 
Human Rights Act. The objectors makes reference to specific parts of the officer 
report which they consider to be deficient.

Response.  An officer report cannot realistically and is not intended to report in full all 
representations, but it is required to provide an accurate summary of these. This is 
established in law. The letters of objection referred to ran to over 50 pages which 
must be reduced into a manageable form by the officer. Responses after specific 
points of objection are intended to be brief summaries of the issues and full 
consideration is within the Analysis section of the report. Although it is considered 
that the officers’ report to Pennines Planning Sub Committee fully addressed the 
impact of the development on the occupiers of no. 3 Greenfield House, such that a 
Members could reasonably come to a view on the development, this section has 
been revisited in the light of additional objections submitted at the Pennines Planning 
Sub Committee and subsequently. The analysis and conclusions of the officer on 
residential amenity are contained within the Analysis section of the report and should 
not be considered to be limited to the responses to individual points of objection.

It is established in law that the discharge of a Local Authority’s functions under the 
Planning Acts generally represent a proportionate interference in the rights of 
individuals granted under the Human Rights Acts.  

2. The recent development approved at Holland Street (Application 15/00413)  would 
not overtake the settlement boundary. The proposed development at Tarnside Close 
extends into the valley corridor beyond Greenfield House, which has been part of the 
landscape since c.1750.

Response.  It is considered that the loss of the site for the development, given the 
substantial buffer of open space between the edge of the development and the river’s 
edge, would not cause over-riding harm to the character, function and quality of the 
river corridor.

3. Planning application (13/01123) for a single new build dwellings was refused on the 
grounds that the …the development would set an unwelcome precedent for similar 
development within the protected area of open space……the proposed dwelling 
would inevitably harm the current openness of the vicinity and that it would adversely 
affect its character and surroundings. What is the difference between this previous 
application and the current one? 

Response.  Planning application 13/01123 was allowed on appeal with the Inspector 
concluding that the development ‘would not be harmful to the character or 
appearance of the countryside around Smallbridge’.  In allowing the appeal it is 
reasonable to conclude that the Inspector was not concerned that the development 
would set an unwelcome precedent.  

Policy H/3 (Residential Development Outside Allocated Areas) permits the 
development of greenfield sites when the supply of land available for residential 
development falls below five years and the current position is that the Council is 



unable to demonstrate a 5 year housing land supply.  Also the NPPF directs that 
planning permission should be granted unless any adverse impacts significantly and 
demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the NPPF as a whole; 
or unless specific policies indicate development should be restricted.   In this 
particular case, it is considered that there are no adverse impacts associate with the 
development which would outweigh the benefits of the scheme.  The Analysis section 
of this report provides a detailed response to why there are no sustainable grounds 
to justify a refusal of planning permission. 

4. The suggestion that traffic signage to be installed at the junction of Greenfield Lane 
and Tarnside Close would prevent vehicles using Greenfield Lane as cut through is 
naïve. 

Response.  Following comments made by Members of the Pennines Township 
Planning Sub Committee the proposed section of Tarnside Close as it crosses 
Greenfield Lane has been modified by the way of build out islands.  Between the 
islands the width of Tarnside Close would be reduced to approximately 3m which 
would prevent vehicles turning from Tarnside Close into Greenfield Lane or vice 
versa.  This proposed junction would also incorporate priority signage.  A plan of the 
proposed junction will be presented to Members at the meeting. 

5. The submitted ecology report has failed to assess a pond which lies within 500m of 
the site. 

Response.  This pond lies some 450m to the east of the site and the applicants 
ecologist has provided a statement which confirms that the land within the site and 
the land between the site and the pond comprises poor quality terrestrial habitats for 
amphibians and that there are no known records of Great Crested Newt within a one 
kilometre radius of the site. The updated report also includes a Natural England 
Rapid Risk Assessment which concludes that an offence is ‘highly unlikely’ and 
therefore it is not necessary to carry out a full assessment of the pond. 

6. It is disputed that the short strip of grass which would surround no’s 1 – 3 Greenfield 
House would be sufficient to protect the privacy and amenity of the occupiers of 
these dwellings. 

Response. The landscape verges which would form the boundary with no’s 1-3 
Greenhouse House are narrow and they provide an attractive backdrop to the 
development.  It is not considered that these landscape verges would be used in 
such a way that the privacy or amenity of the occupiers of no’s 1-3 Greenfield House 
would be harmed. 

7. The rear rooms and gardens of no’s 1-3 Greenfield House would be overshadowed 
by the proposed landscaping arrangement. 

Response. Located between no’s 1-3 Greenfield House and the access road into the 
site is a narrow strip of landscaping which would contain 4 trees.  The future 
landscaping of the site is subject to a planning condition and suitable trees will be 
chosen to ensure that they would not overshadow the rear of no’s 1-3 Greenfield 
House.  

8. At no. 3 Greenfield House we would be exposed to traffic and pedestrians walking by 
our home. 



Response.  The footpath which forms the southern side of the proposed access road 
would lie between 4-11m from the rear and side elevations of no. 3 Greenfield 
House.  It is not uncommon for footpaths to be located in close proximity to 
residential properties and in this particular case it is not considered that users of the 
access road and its associated footpath would unduly harm the privacy or amenity of 
the residents of no. no. 3 Greenfield House.

9. The applicant claims he own part of Greenfield Lane.  This is disputed.

Response.  This is a private matter and is not material to the consideration of the 
planning application. 

10. The new highway layout should be subject to traffic calming measures. 

Response.  The new roads through the development include the provision of speed 
tables.  

11. The Councils Highways and Planning Officers have failed to consider many of the 
traffic concerns that have been raised regarding highway safety, especially at the 
both corners of the rear boundary to Greenfield House.  

Response. It is considered that the proposed access arrangement in and out of the 
site would operate safely and the traffic generated by the development can safely be 
accommodated on the surrounding road network.

12. There is no plan submitted with the application to suggest how during the 
construction phase of the development the privacy and amenity of the occupiers of 
no. 3 Greenfield House will be maintained. 

Response.  It is considered that subject to conditions securing the submission and 
approval of a construction method statement (CMS) to manage construction 
operations and deliveries to the site, the proposed construction phase of 
development would not cause significant over-riding harm to the amenity of 
neighbouring residents.

ANALYSIS

The NPPF and Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development

Planning law requires applications to be determined in accordance with the development 
plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. The National Planning Policy 
Framework (NPPF) published in 2012 is one such material consideration and whilst it does 
not change the legal status of the development plan, it promotes a presumption in favour of 
sustainable development, to which there are three mutually dependent dimensions: 
economic, social and environmental.  

Key to its economic dimension is the contribution to building a strong, responsive and 
competitive economy, by ensuring that sufficient land of the right type is available in the right 
places and at the right time to support growth and innovation; and by identifying and 
coordinating development requirements, including the provision of infrastructure.

The social dimension requires supporting strong, vibrant and healthy communities, by 
providing the supply of housing required to meet the needs of present and future 
generations; and by creating a high quality built environment, with accessible local services 
that reflect the community’s needs and support its health, social and cultural well-being.



Finally, the environmental dimension requires that development contributes to protecting and 
enhancing our natural, built and historic environment; and, as part of this, helping to improve 
biodiversity, use natural resources prudently, minimise waste and pollution, and mitigate and 
adapt to climate change including moving to a low carbon economy.

Paragraph 14 of the NPPF states that for plan-making, the presumption in favour of 
sustainable development means that local planning authorities should positively seek 
opportunities to meet the development needs of their area; and Local Plans should meet 
objectively assessed needs, with sufficient flexibility to adapt to rapid change unless any 
adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits, 
when assessed against the policies in this Framework taken as a whole; or specific policies 
in the NPPF indicate development should be restricted.  

Paragraph 14 of the NPPF goes on to state that for decision-taking, the presumption in 
favour of sustainable development means: 
 Approving development proposals that accord with the development plan without 

delay, and
 Where the development plan is silent, or relevant policies are out-of-date, granting 

planning permission unless:
o Any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably 

outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in the Framework 
taken as a whole; or 

o Specific policies in the framework indicate development should be restricted. 

In the context of the above, the site is designated as Protected Open Land in the 2006 UDP 
Proposals Map and the proposal therefore represents a departure from the development 
plan, specifically Policy D/10. The second bullet is therefore relevant and requires an 
assessment of the relevant policies in the development plan to determine whether or not 
they are out-of-date.  

Whilst the NPPF was published in 2012, paragraph 211 of the NPPF makes it clear that for 
the purpose of decision-taking, the policies in the Local Plan should not be considered out-
of- date simply because they were adopted prior to the publication of the Framework. 
Rather, due weight should be given to relevant policies in existing plans according to their 
degree of consistency with the framework - the closer the policies in the development plan to 
the policies in the framework, the greater the weight they may be afforded in decision 
making.  

The local policies relevant to the principle of development on this part of the site are Policy 
H/3 (Residential Development Outside Allocated Areas), Policy D/10 (Protected Open Land) 
and Policy G/8 (Greenspace Corridors) of the UDP. Policy G/8 is considered in detail later in 
this report.

In respect of Policies H/3 and D/10, there are two recent appeal cases of relevance which 
followed the refusal of planning permission for proposed residential development on 
Protected Open Land in the Borough.  These are considered further in the subsequent 
section of this report. 

Release of Protected Open Land in 2013

In allowing two recent appeal decisions from the Planning Inspectorate relating to the 
development of Protected Open Land at Keswick Street, Castleton (ref 
APP/P4225/A/11/2158074) and Broad Lane, Rochdale (ref APP/P4225/A/12/2184755), 
Inspectors have concluded as follows: 



• The relevant saved policies of the UDP, including both D/10 and H/3, which seek to 
prevent the release of greenfield sites in the presence of a five year land supply, 
have been overtaken by events and the national policy emphasis on delivery of 
housing, and are therefore effectively out-of-date.

• The Council acknowledges that it is unable to demonstrate a 5 year supply of 
housing land. The proposed development would assist in meeting an identified need 
for market and affordable housing in the area. In accordance with the Framework this 
weighs substantially in favour of the proposal.

• The proposition that a 20% buffer is warranted in Rochdale at present and that the 
land supply is perhaps as low as around 3 years, but around 3.66 years if the 
accrued shortfall is spread over the balance of the RSS period to 2021, was clearly 
not challenged by the Council at the Inquiry and it accepts in any event, that it cannot 
demonstrate a five year supply.

• Given that it is common ground between the Council and the appellants that the five 
year supply requirement is not currently met, and the development plan is manifestly 
out-of-date in terms of housing land, paragraph 14 of the Framework is undoubtedly 
engaged.

Notwithstanding the fact that Policy H/3 permits the development of greenfield sites when 
the supply of land available for residential development falls below five years, the current 
position remains that policies within the UDP relating to housing provision, the protection of 
open land and open space are out of date and can be afforded limited weight in the 
determination of this application. 

Where policies are out-of-date, the NPPF directs that planning permission should be granted 
unless any adverse impacts significantly and demonstrably (emphasis added) outweigh the 
benefits, when assessed against the NPPF as a whole; or unless specific policies indicate 
development should be restricted.  For decision taking, it is noted that the site is not subject 
to any of the designations listed in the NPPF that would indicate development should be 
restricted. Therefore, an assessment of the adverse impacts and benefits is necessary to 
determine whether the proposal comprises sustainable development as defined by the 
NPPF.  

Material Change in Circumstances

Since the Inspectors decisions concerning the release of Protected Open Land at Broad 
Lane and Keswick Street in 2013, there have been material changes in circumstances of 
relevance to this application: the submission of the Core Strategy for Examination in May 
2013; the subsequent suspension of the examination following the Inspector’s direction that 
an update to the evidence base was necessary; and the updated evidence base itself.  This 
is considered in further detail below.

Emerging Core Strategy and Land Supply

Paragraph 216 of the NPPF recognises that from the date of publication, decision-takers 
may also give weight to relevant policies in emerging plans according to: the stage of 
preparation of the emerging plan; the extent to which there are unresolved objections to 
relevant policies (the less significant the unresolved objections, the greater the weight that 
may be given); and the degree of consistency of the relevant policies in the emerging plan to 
the policies in the NPPF (the closer the policies in the emerging plan to the policies in the 
Framework, the greater the weight that may be given).  

The Core Strategy was submitted for examination in May 2013.  An independent Inspector 
was appointed to hold the examination and the examination in public hearing sessions took 



place in October 2013. Following the initial hearing sessions, and in view of more recent 
evidence emerging from the 2011 census indicating higher than projected population growth 
and household formation rates, the Inspector sent a letter to the Council in November 2013 
which set out his views in respect of the approach to housing.  His concerns related to the 
evidence regarding objectively assessed housing need supporting the target set out in the 
submitted Core Strategy. 

In order to address this issue, the Inspector directed that an update of the Council’s Strategic 
Housing Market Assessment (SHMA) was required and that the examination should be 
suspended in order for the updated SHMA and any associated work to be undertaken.  The 
Council agreed to suspend the Core Strategy at a Cabinet meeting in February 2014 to 
update the housing evidence.  

Following consultation on a draft SHMA in October 2014, the updated SHMA was finalised in 
February 2015 and the Core Strategy examination was recently reconvened in June 2015 to 
consider the updated housing needs evidence. The Inspector’s report and recommendations 
are currently awaited. 

The SHMA proposes that a figure of 460 dwellings per annum (dpa) would be an appropriate 
annual housing target reflecting current evidence on objectively assessed housing need, 
taking account levels of population and household growth emerging from the 2011 Census 
data.  It is important at this point however to clarify that the SHMA considers a range of need 
between 460 dpa up to 750 dpa based on various growth scenarios and it is for the Inspector 
to determine the appropriate housing target.  Until the Inspector issues the final report, the 
Council does not have a tested housing target for the plan period that would determine the 
number of dwellings to be delivered per annum and any emerging housing target, whether it 
be 460 or otherwise would therefore have limited weight at this time.   However, it is however 
clear that in light of this most recent evidence of housing need that the UDP policy 
requirement for 240 new homes per annum is out of date.  

In determining whether or not a five year land supply can be demonstrated, it is necessary to 
consider the availability of land for housing against the latest tested housing target.  Recent 
appeal decisions have taken what is referred to as the recalculated Regional Spatial 
Strategy (RSS) target into account.  The RSS dates back to 2003 and whilst the RSS was 
revoked in May 2013, the evidence base supporting the document remains relevant.  The 
RSS target for the Borough was 400dpa and the recalculated element refers to ‘unmet need’ 
arising as a result of completion rates per annum falling below this target since 2003.  

In considering housing land supply housing targets, the NPPF requires that a buffer of 5% 
be included in order to ensure that any target continues to be met.  This would typically be 
land brought forward in the plan period to provide choice and competition in the market for 
land. However, this approach would not apply here. In circumstances where there has been 
a record of persistent under delivery of new housing, the NPPF makes clear that this buffer 
should be increased to 20% brought forward in the plan period. In Rochdale Borough’s case, 
housing completions in recent years, and taken as a whole since 2003, are well below the 
previous target of 400 dpa set out in Regional Spatial Strategy (RSS) largely as a result of 
the major demolition programmes within the former Housing Market Renewal areas, which 
applied from 2003.

Therefore, in considering the current five year land supply since the publication of the NPPF, 
Planning Inspectors on recent appeals have taken the view that a 20% buffer should be 
applied in assessing whether or not a five year supply can be demonstrated within the 
Borough.  This is the approach taken by Planning Inspectors in determining recent appeals 
in the Borough relating to the development of Protected Open Land at Broad Lane and 
Keswick Street and designated green space for housing elsewhere within the Borough.  



If the recalculated RSS target is to be met by 2021 (i.e. the end of the RSS period) this 
would give an annual target of 621 additional homes per annum (as at 1st April 2015).  This 
figure could be met from the current published five year supply (i.e. as at 1st April 2015) with 
the 5% supply buffer but cannot be met with the application of the 20% buffer.  

Housing Delivery Rates

Notwithstanding the above, looking at the housing target alone also ignores the particular 
issues faced within the Borough in terms of the delivery of new homes, and the recent 
background of clearance and demolition of housing as part of the Housing Market Renewal 
pathfinder programme. Indeed, between 2003/4 and 2009/10 a total of 1,334 dwellings were 
demolished across the Borough. As a result, during the period between 2008/09 and 
2012/13 there was an average net delivery of only 302 dwellings per year, thus well below 
the RSS target and significantly below the recalculated target.  Following the submission of 
the Core Strategy for examination, the rate of housing completions across the Borough has 
been below that set out within the RSS with a total of net completions of 267 in 2013/14 and 
313 for 2014/15, thus below both the original RSS requirement and the recalculated 
requirement.  

The Core Strategy seeks to manage the supply of land between the period 2013 until 2028 
and now proposes a higher housing requirement to respond to more recent evidence of 
population growth and household formation rates.  As of 1st April 2015, it must be therefore 
recognised that, were the Inspector to accept that an appropriate annual housing target for 
the Borough is 460, the Council would already be facing a shortfall of 340 housing 
completions against this target for the first two years of the Core Strategy period.  It is 
therefore concluded that the 20% buffer as advocated within the NPPF and accepted by the 
Inspectors as being relevant for the Borough in 2013 at the Broad Lane and Keswick Street 
appeals would similarly apply at the present time.

Going forward, the Borough will face an ongoing and challenging pressure in terms of the 
delivery of new housing against any plan target given a significant number of dwellings are 
proposed to be demolished over the next few years as part of the continued regeneration of 
existing housing areas.  The demolitions would need to be offset by an increase in new 
housing completions in order to avoid a further shortfall in new housing delivery.  

To meet targets going forward will require a significant uplift in the current rate of delivery of 
new housing and a deliverable supply of housing sites attractive to the market will be needed 
to ensure acceleration in the rates of housing delivery can be maintained to ensure housing 
needs are met over the Core Strategy plan period.  The Inspector, in considering the 
soundness of the Core Strategy, may therefore instruct that unmet need is moved forward 
and dealt earlier in the plan period.     

Irrespective of the uncertainty surrounding the appropriate housing target, it is clear that the 
housing policies and targets within the adopted UDP are out-of-date. In such cases, 
paragraph 14 of the NPPF very clearly directs that the ‘presumption in favour of sustainable 
development’ means planning permission should be granted unless the adverse impact of 
doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits (emphasis added) when 
assessed against the Framework as a whole; or where specific policies indicate 
development should be restricted.  

The submitted Core Strategy includes policy G5, Managing Protected Open Land, which is 
relevant to the application site. This policy seeks to retain the general protection of land 
between the Defined Urban Area and the Green Belt.  However, section 3 of the policy 
acknowledges that if there is evidence development needs cannot be met elsewhere then 



the development of protected open land may be acceptable provided that all of the criteria 
within the section are satisfied.  This has been incorporated in order to provide flexibility and 
seeks to reflect the guidance within NPPF that recommends that policies included in Local 
Plans are sufficiently flexible and responsive to deal any changes to development needs 
over the plan period.  Again, at the current time it is not clear whether this policy will be 
carried forward without modification given the Core Strategy must meet objectively assessed 
housing need for the purpose of soundness.  

Whilst the Core Strategy has not yet been adopted and the policies within it carry limited 
weight at this time, it nevertheless sets out the approach to assessing applications for 
housing developments within such locations and accordingly reflects the approach within the 
NPPF in providing a more flexible and responsive approach to dealing with changes to 
development needs over the plan period.  However, the Core Strategy covers a period 
between 2013 up to 2028. As reported previously, consistent undersupply against the 
housing target in the Core Strategy, particularly in the early years of the plan period, would 
further exacerbate the undersupply of housing in the Borough and would prejudice the 
delivery of the Core Strategy in the plan period. It would also be contrary to the NPPF 
requirement to boost significantly the supply of housing. The Inspector may therefore instruct 
that unmet need is moved forward and dealt earlier in the plan period.     

Having regard to the above, the Council is clearly unable to demonstrate a five year supply 
of housing land.  In light of this, it is noted that paragraph 49 of the NPPF is clear that 
relevant policies for the supply of housing should not be considered up-to-date if the local 
planning authority cannot demonstrate a five-year supply of deliverable housing sites and 
housing applications should be considered in the context of the presumption in favour of 
sustainable development. The NPPF must be afforded significant weight in the determination 
of this application and the presumption in favour of sustainable development is engaged. 

With regards to the golden thread of sustainable development running through the NPPF, 
the site is located adjacent to an existing residential area and the urban area of Smallbridge 
immediately to the north of the site.  The site is located close to the A58 Halifax Road, where 
there are high frequency bus routes to reach jobs, shops and other services. There would be 
reasonably easy walking access from the site to reach other important services such as 
shops and schools. The site is surrounded by existing housing on two sides and the 
provision of the necessary infrastructure to serve the site, (roads, sewers, water and power 
supplies etc), could be easily provided from the adjacent roads, without any significant or 
undue harm to the environment. The proposed development is therefore considered to be 
within a sustainable and accessible location.

It is noted that the number of dwellings proposed would make a significant and valuable 
contribution towards the supply of housing within the Borough.  In the context of the above, 
significant weight is afforded to the benefits of the proposal in respect of its contribution to 
the supply of housing in the Borough.  

Use of Agricultural Land

Paragraph 112 of the NPPF states that local planning authorities should take into account 
the economic and other benefits of the best and most versatile agricultural land. Where 
significant development of agricultural land is demonstrated to be necessary, local planning 
authorities should seek to use areas of poorer quality land in preference to that of a higher 
quality. Best and most versatile agricultural land is classified as grade 3A, 2 and 1.  Land of 
lesser quality is classified as grade 3B, 4 and 5.  

It is noted that the proposed development would occupy approximately 3.2 ha of agricultural 
land. The land is identified as ‘poor’ (Grade 4) on Natural England’s Agricultural Land 



Classification mapping. Therefore, the land within the application site does not include the 
best and most versatile agricultural land within grades 3A and above. At the time of the site 
visit, it did not appear to be being used for anything other than meadow land. 

Given the above, the proposals would not result in the loss of best and most versatile 
agricultural land and the loss of the poorer quality agricultural land is necessary to secure 
the provision of housing.  The proposal therefore accords with the NPPF.  

Impact on Greenspace Corridor

The site is also designated in the adopted Rochdale Unitary Development Plan as a 
Greenspace Corridor. Policy G/8A of the adopted UDP states that: 
‘Greenspace Corridors shown on the Proposals Map will be protected. Development and 
other measures which will enhance their recreational, ecological or landscape and amenity 
value will be permitted. In those parts of the corridors which are outside the Defined Urban 
Area, the provisions of Policy D/10 will also apply. Within all parts of Greenspace Corridors, 
the Council will not permit development proposals which would:

a) Lead to an unacceptable narrowing or a division of the corridor into sections, thereby,
        i. restricting the movement of wildlife along it, or

 ii. restricting the movement of people along established or proposed recreational routes 
or rights of way;

       b) Result in the loss or severance of links between areas of recreational open space;
c) Result in the loss of existing valued recreational facilities or prejudice proposed new 

facilities; or
       d) Prevent public access into the corridor at strategic locations;
          or which would result in unacceptable harm to:
       e) The better landscape qualities and character of the corridor;

f) The amenity value of the corridor where it provides welcome visual relief from urban 
development, including attractive views in and out of the corridor;

       g) Features of nature conservation interest, including designated and non-designated 
sites; or

h) Viable agricultural operations, including good quality grazing land and allotments’.

Part B of this policy then adds that where development is considered acceptable within a 
corridor, the design, materials used, boundary treatment and landscaping should take 
account of the corridor to help retain or re-establish the overall character of the corridor and 
contribute to nature conservation.

In order that a proper assessment can be made of the impact of the proposals on the 
Greenspace Corridor, the application has been accompanied by a Landscape and Visual 
Impact Assessment (LVIA). This states that the valley in this location is primarily man-made, 
of variable landscape character and visual quality and that the principal adverse impacts 
would be in terms of views across and through the valley from the south and east.  This 
would primarily impact on recreational use of the valley with some additional visual impacts 
for properties with views into the valley at this point. It concludes that the new housing as 
proposed would logically move the residential edge of the valley in keeping with visually 
prominent housing in adjacent areas. The assessment contends that open space and 
landscaping treatments would provide an appropriate soft edge to the development.  The 
valley is seen as having medium sensitivity i.e. a reasonably positive character but evidence 
of degradation and alteration which is potentially tolerant of some change. 

In considering the original proposal for 67 dwellings it was thought that the extent of the 
development into the corridor would not be acceptable.  The previous layout just left a strip 
of open space adjacent to the river and it was considered that this narrow strip was 



insufficient to be considered acceptable in terms of the greenspace corridor designation and 
the wider river valley landscape as it would unacceptably narrow the greenspace corridor in 
this location.  The applicant was advised that it was necessary to reduce the site footprint to 
maintain more of the openness of the valley and allow for a more appropriate buffer area 
between the southern edge of the built development and the River Roch.  This reiterated the 
view of the Greater Manchester Ecology Unit (GMEU) who commented that in order to 
ensure that the development properly references the landscape value of the wider corridor 
then this buffer strip alongside the river’s edge needed to be significantly widened. The 
applicant therefore amended the plans on this basis.

The revised proposal has reduced both the number of dwellings (from 67 to 50) and the 
extent of the development into the river valley.  The buffer strip is now substantially wider 
with the development pulled back to the line of a footpath (WarFp6) which runs SE to NW 
through the valley at this point. This footpath would now run along the edge of the 
development with open land to the south, as opposed to through the development. At its 
closest point, the built development of 67 dwellings would have been approximately 25m 
from the river’s edge. The 50 dwelling development now proposed has a distance of 
approximately 60m from the river’s edge, a substantial increase. This amendment does 
more appropriately reflect the value of the river corridor as part of a substantially open 
stretch of the Roch Valley.  

Whilst the revised proposal does represent an improvement on the original application it 
does, as noted in the comments by the GMEU, still lead to some loss of openness within the 
valley corridor.  Given this it is important that the proposal incorporates a very high quality 
landscape treatment to retain and enhance the character of the river valley e.g. a high 
quality landscaped buffer with species appropriate to landscape character and biodiversity 
opportunities.  

The landscape plan accompanying the revised proposal shows the treatment of the now 
wider area of open space adjacent to the river as well as other landscaping across the site.  
It is noted that the open space is to be planted as a wildflower meadow which is appropriate 
given the nature of the river valley at this location.  The scheme also proposes a series of 
landscape buffers which lie to the rear of plots 23-33, alongside the boundary with no’s 1-3 
Greenfield and alongside the retained right of way. It is considered that the landscaping 
scheme will ensure that the character of this section of the river valley will be maintained.  

The application has been supported by an Ecology Survey and Assessment and the GMEU 
have agreed with its finding that the site is not currently designated as an important nature 
conservation site and has relatively low potential for supporting any specially protected or 
priority species.

Having regard to the above, it is considered that the loss of the site for the development, 
given the substantial buffer of open space between the edge of the development and the 
river’s edge, would not cause over-riding harm to the character, function and quality of the 
greenspace corridor and therefore the requirements of policy G/A (Parts A and B) have been 
complied with. 

Design and Impact on Character and Appearance of Surrounding Area:

The strategic impacts of the development on the Greenspace Corridor and the Roch Valley 
are considered above. The development must however also work effectively as a piece of 
design in its own right both in relation to surrounding development and in itself.

The NPPF promotes high quality design and states that the Government attaches great 
importance to the design of the built environment. Good design is a key aspect of 



sustainable development, is indivisible from good planning, and should contribute positively 
to making places better for people (paragraph 56).  

Criteria (a), (e), (g) and (h) of UDP policy BE/2 require proposals to demonstrate good 
design by: 

 Ensuring that they are compatible with or improve their surroundings by virtue of their 
scale, density, height, massing, layout, materials, architectural style and detail and 
means of enclosure;

 Appropriate treatment of open spaces between and around buildings, including the 
provision of landscaping as an integral part of the development layout.

 Providing for safe and convenient access and circulation;
 Minimising opportunities for crime against people or property.

Principles of good design in housing schemes are also outlined within the Supplementary 
Planning Document (SPD): Oldham and Rochdale Residential Design Guide.
Paragraph 58 of the NPPF encourages good design by stipulating that planning policies and 
decisions should aim to ensure that developments:
 will function well and add to the overall quality of the area, not just for the short term 

but over the lifetime of the development;
 establish a strong sense of place, using streetscapes and buildings to create 

attractive and comfortable places to live, work and visit; 
 respond to local character and history, and reflect the identity of local surroundings 

and materials, while not preventing or discouraging appropriate innovation; 
 create safe and accessible environments where crime and disorder, and the fear of 

crime, do not undermine quality of life or community cohesion.

The application site is located to the south of Halifax Road and it is accessed via a modern 
estate which comprises two storey detached dwellings.  Part of the northern boundary is 
overlooked by large two storey detached dwellings which lie along George Street and by 
Greenfield Lane which contains a handful of traditional cottage style dwellings.  

The proposed layout would be similar to the layout of the estate which lies to the north of the 
site. Dwellings would back onto the northern and east facing boundaries while a group of 
dwellings would lie towards the centre of the site.  In order to promote natural surveillance 
the roads which extend through the site are overlooked by dwellings while a group of 
dwellings overlook the retained right of way and the area of public open space which adjoins 
the River Roch. Each dwelling would be set behind open landscaped front and side gardens 
comprising a mix of driveways, lawned areas and tree planting. Whilst it is noted that close 
boarded fences would be necessary to border the side and rear of the private gardens, the 
entrance into the site is to be framed by the use of reclaimed stone from the existing field 
wall.

The proposed dwellings would be of modern design comprising a selection of detached, 
semi-detached and mews style properties of two storeys in height, some served by  single 
storey garages. Varied ridge heights are a common theme throughout the development 
which add visual interest.  The dwellings would be faced with a red brick and grey slate tile 
would be used on the roof.     Windows have a vertical emphasis and they are framed by 
stone cills and brick headers. 

It is considered that the height, scale, layout, design, landscaping and materials of the 
proposed development would be compatible with the prevailing character and grain of 
streets and housing in the surrounding area. The proposal is therefore considered to be in 
accordance with the requirements of UDP policy BE/2, and the NPPF.



Amenity of Future Occupants and Surrounding Residents:

Criterion (i) of UDP policy BE/2 requires proposals to ensure adequate provision for natural 
light is made both within and between buildings and one of the 12 core planning principles of 
the NPPF is to secure high quality design and a good standard of amenity for all existing and 
future occupants of land and buildings.  

In addition, the spacing standards outlined in paragraph 5.2 of the Council’s SPG Note 
“Guidelines and Standards for Residential Development” recommend that a minimum 
separation distance of 21 metres should be retained between principal elevations of 
opposing dwellings and a distance of 14 metres between principal and secondary elevations.

The following distances would be achieved between the proposed dwellings and those which 
overlook the site: - 

 The gable elevation of no. 3 Greenfield House would lie some 19m from the gable 
elevation of plot 43. 

 The rear elevation of no. 3 Greenfield House would lie between 20m and 21.5m from 
the front elevation of plot 8.

 The rear elevations of no’s 1&2 Greenfield House would lie some 23m from the gable 
elevation of plot 7. 

 The rear elevation of no. 15 Tarnside Close would lie some 21 from the gable 
elevation of plot 3. 

 The rear elevation of no. 17 Tarnside Close would lie some 17.5m from the gable 
elevation of plot 1.

 The rear elevation of no. 2 Manor Mill Close would lie 30m from the gable elevation 
of plot 3. 

 The rear garden of no. 33 Greenfield Lane adjoins the rear gardens of plots 6-11 and 
14-17. 

 The rear elevation of no. 59 George Street would lie 18m from the gable elevation of 
plot 17. 

 The rear elevations of no’s 51-55 George Street would lie between 25m and 25.5m 
from the rear elevations of plots 18-21. 

The environment in which the occupiers of 3 Greenfield House (and nos. 1 and 2) would find 
themselves following the development of the site would undoubtedly change. This is not 
disputed. However, a change in the environment around a property is not a reason to refuse 
planning permission and it has to be considered whether there would significant and ongoing 
detriment to residential amenity from the proposals.  

No. 3 Greenfield House is an end property which lies adjacent to the west and north facing 
boundaries of the application site. This property lies slightly below the application site and its 
rear and side elevations contain principal windows which currently look over open fields but 
following the development would look towards a landscaped verge and the proposed access 
road which would extend from Tarnside Close.  

It is also acknowledged that there would be some disruption during the construction process. 
This is unavoidable and is a necessary, albeit temporary effect of any development proposal. 
The specific effects of construction would not be any worse for nos. 1-3 Greenfield House 
then they would be for any other residential property with its boundary bordering a 
construction site. A condition is included within the recommendation which requires a 
Construction Management Plan to be submitted which can further control construction 
activity (for example by restricting the hours during which it can take place) to ensure that 
any impact on residential amenity is not unduly severe. On this basis, it is considered that 



construction impacts would not be a sustainable or justifiable reason to refuse planning 
permission. 

Once the development is completed, the comings and goings from the development and the 
activity on the site would be that normally associated with a residential estate. The submitted 
Transport Assessment states that (for a development of 67, rather than 50 dwellings as now 
proposed, so these figures would be reduced) that this would equate to 57 and 69 two-way 
trips in the morning and evening peak respectively. Again, this is undoubtedly a change to 
the circumstances Greenfield House currently experiences where vehicle movements are 
restricted mainly to the occupiers of those three properties. However, it is not an unusual 
number of trips to pass adjacent to a residential dwelling and many properties in the 
Borough will experience a far higher level of comings and goings with no detriment to their 
amenity. It is therefore not considered that activity 

Concern has also been raised by the occupiers of 3 Greenfield House that the landscaped 
strip separating their property from the access road into the estate would be used as  open 
space and would therefore cause nuisance. The landscaped strip, where it lies adjacent to 3 
Greenfield House, would be a maximum of 4m wide, albeit it widens to a maximum of 7.5m 
further to the south west, adjacent to the wooded area between properties on Tarnside 
Close and the development site. There are numerous landscaped strips of this nature on 
residential estates throughout the Borough as it is a common feature on estates from the 
1980s onwards. They are not used as areas of open space as they are generally not large 
enough and are often planted up. Where complaints are received by the Council about 
nuisance being caused by open space these are invariably much larger areas where people 
can congregate. It is considered that the landscaped strip would in fact improve the amenity 
of no. 3 Greenfield House by providing a buffer between the access road and the curtilage of 
the property. 

In respect of separation distances, the front elevation of plot 8 would lie between 20.0m and 
21.5m away from no. 3 Greenfield House and the gable elevation of plot 43, would lie 
between 18.0 and 19.0m away from the same property. The gable elevation of plot 43 would 
contain principal windows in order to provide an increased level of natural surveillance to 
reduce opportunities for crime. Plot 7 would have its gable elevation between 19.0m and 
21.5m from nos. 1 and 2 Greenfield House. It is acknowledged that the separation distances 
between Plots, 7, 8 and 43 and Greenfield House do not quite accord with the Council’s 
adopted SPG ‘Guidelines and Standards for Residential Development’ which requires a 
distance of 21m between principal windows. However, the shortfall is not significant and the 
access road, gardens and landscaping would separate the windows. On this basis it is not 
considered that this slight shortfall would cause a severe enough impact on the amenity of 
the occupiers of Greenfield House that a refusal of planning permission would be justified, 
particularly when considering the presumption in favour of sustainable development and that 
any adverse impacts of a development must ‘significantly and demonstrably’ outweigh the 
benefits.

Nos. 15 & 17 Tarnside Close and nos. 2- 10 Manor Mill Close are set below the application 
site and their rear gardens contain large retaining walls which adjoin Greenfield Lane. These 
properties have 14m or more between their rear elevations and their rear boundary and 
17.5m to the side gables of properties on the proposed development. These side gables 
would not contain habitable room windows. Greenfield Lane also provides a buffer. It is 
acknowledged that the change in levels requires separation distances to be increased in 
accordance with the SPG and an additional 3.5m is provided. It is therefore considered that 
the relationship between the above mentioned dwellings and the development is sufficient to 
provide adequate privacy and prevent any unacceptable overshadowing.



The residents of Tarnside Close, and in particular nos. 17 and 19, would experience 
increased traffic movements as a result of the development. However, as identified above in 
relation to the properties at 1-3 Greenfield House, these movements would not be unusually 
large and would be no greater than are experienced by other residential properties in the 
Borough on similar residential estates.

The dwellings located along George Street which overlook the site are all detached and they 
are set higher than the application site. Two rows of dwellings (plots 14-17 and 18-21) lie 
adjacent to these dwellings and the separation between them accords with the minimum 
separation distances set out in the SPG which seek to ensure development does not cause 
unacceptable harm to residential amenity. 

The rear garden of no. 33 Greenfield Lane is large and it contains a pigeon loft which lies 
behind plots 5 and 6.It is considered that the proposed dwellings which lie adjacent to this 
rear garden lie a sufficient distance away in order to ensure that they would not have an over 
bearing impact. 

With regards to the amenity of future occupants of the proposed development, it is noted that 
the layout of the proposed dwellings would ensure that each dwelling would benefit from an 
area of private outdoor amenity space to the rear and / or side with the main outlook being 
provided to the front and rear of the dwellings. The internal layout of each dwelling provides 
adequately sized rooms with each habitable room providing sufficient natural daylight and 
ventilation for the future occupants. In addition, the majority of the proposed dwellings on site 
would accord with the minimum separation distances set out in the above SPG. 

With regards to the impact on surrounding residential properties on Tarnside Close and the 
wider estate during the construction phase of the development, it is considered that subject 
to conditions securing the submission and approval of a construction method statement 
(CMS) to manage construction operations and deliveries to the site, and condition securing 
the implementation of the highways infrastructure, servicing and drainage prior to occupation 
of the first dwelling, the proposed construction phase of development would not cause 
significant over-riding harm to the amenity of neighbouring residents. 

In summary the design and the position of the proposed dwellings would ensure that the 
development maintains satisfactorily levels of privacy and amenity between the proposed 
dwellings and the uses which adjoin the site. The scheme would have no undue impact on 
the amenity of future occupiers through overlooking, noise, overshadowing, loss of outlook 
or loss of daylight, and would achieve adequate levels of amenity between future occupiers 
of the houses.  Therefore the development is in accordance with the requirements of UDP 
policies H/3, EM/3 and BE/2, the objectives of the SPG Note “Guidelines and Standards for 
Residential Development” and the NPPF.

Impact on heritage assets

In considering a development proposal affecting a listed building, the duty imposed by s66 of 
the Planning (Listed Building and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 requires that a local 
planning authority shall have special regard to the desirability of preserving the listed 
building or its setting or any features of special architectural or historic interest which it 
possesses. 

National policy set out at Paragraph 131 of the National Planning Policy Framework states, 
“in determining planning applications, LPAs should take account of: the desirability of 
sustaining and enhancing the significance of heritage assets… the desirability of new 
development making a positive contribution to local character and distinctiveness”. 
Paragraph 132 states that significance [of heritage assets] can be harmed or lost through 



development within its setting.  Paragraph 135 states that the effect of an application on the 
significance of a non-designated heritage asset should be taken into consideration. 

Although the UDP pre-dates the NPPF guidance on heritage assets, the relevant policies on 
heritage assets (BE/10 and BE/15) broadly reflect the NPPF.

The nearest listed buildings to the proposal are Dob Wheel Mill, Dyehouse Lane (Grade II), 
St. John the Baptist Church, Halifax Road (Grade II) and Lower Eafield Cottages, Clegg Hall 
Road (Grade II). 

Dob Wheel Mill is a complex of 5 mill buildings and a weir dating from the late 18th to mid-
late 19th century. The significance of Dob Wheel Mill lies in its representation of the 
development of several aspects of textile production through hand, water and steam power. 
Its setting in close proximity to the River Roch is clearly part of its significance but otherwise 
significance derives mainly from its fabric. 

As the part of the development site closest to the River Roch would remain as public open 
space, the built development would not extend further south into the setting of the mill than 
the existing development at Tarnside Close. The mill would therefore still be able to be 
clearly read as a development next to and relying on the river and its setting would not be 
harmed. Tarnside Close itself has had a far greater incursion on the setting of this building 
than this current proposal would. The fabric of the building would be unaffected by these 
proposals. 

St John the Baptist Church dates from 1831 and was designed by Lewis Vulliamy. Its 
significance derives mainly from its fabric and from its elevated position within the 
churchyard, standing above Halifax Road. The existing development on Manor Mill Close 
and Tarnside Close lies between the development site and this building and the greater 
impact on the setting of this building is from that development. This development would not 
noticeably impact to any greater degree, particularly given level changes and would not 
harm the setting of this building.

Lower Eafield Cottages are late 18th century watershot stone cottages (now one house), 
barn and stables with a stone slate roof. Their significance derives mainly from their fabric, 
the survival of the stables and as an example of this type of vernacular architecture. This 
listed building is 265m from the built development on the far side of the River Roch. There 
would be little, if any impact on the setting of this listed building and its setting would not be 
harmed.

Greater Manchester Archaeological Advisory Service have confirmed that they consider the 
potential of the site to house below ground remains of archaeological interest is minimal. The 
potential for Iron Age remains to survive within the potential development area is considered 
to be very low and insufficient to justify further archaeological work.

No harm has been identified to the significance of the setting or fabric of any heritage assets 
either within the site or in the wider area. The development therefore complies with the 
NPPF and relevant local policy in this regard.

Access and Highway Safety Implications:

Paragraph 32 of the NPPF states that development should only be prevented or refused on 
transport grounds where the residual cumulative impacts of development are severe.

Traffic Generation/Highway Network Capacity/Access 



UDP policy A/8 states that new development will be permitted provided that the additional 
traffic generated will not be detrimental to the safe and efficient operation of the Highway 
Network, both adjacent to and further away from the site. Specifically, proposals should not:

a) Have an adverse impact on the safety of any road users;
b) Have an adverse impact on accessibility for pedestrians, including people with 

restricted mobility, cyclists or users of public transport in the immediate vicinity of the 
development;

c) Substantially increase congestion;
d) Divert traffic on to less suitable roads; or
e) Cause an unacceptable environmental impact on residential properties passed by 

traffic associated with the development whilst accessing the principal road network.

UDP policy A/3 requires development proposals to facilitate safe and convenient access for 
pedestrians, disabled people and other people with restricted mobility. Relative to the scale, 
type and location of the development, proposals should ensure that:

a) Walking routes are safe, convenient, environmentally pleasant, highly visible from 
surrounding land and buildings, well lit and signed;

b) Pedestrian access into development sites is located to provide the most convenient 
route to nearby facilities and destinations;

c) Existing rights of way are maintained or improved; and
d) Walking routes are capable of being shared safely with cyclists.

UDP policy A/9 stipulates that development proposals will be required to facilitate safe and 
convenient access for general traffic, which includes cars, motorcycles and commercial 
vehicles. Relative to the scale, type and location of development, proposals should ensure 
that:

a) Roads, junctions and access points to/from premises are safe, convenient and 
suitable for the volume and characteristics of traffic that will be required to use them; 
and

b) Access for emergency service vehicles and other service vehicles, such as waste 
collection vehicles, is provided.

In addition, UDP policy BE/2 (g) requires proposals to facilitate safe and convenient access 
and circulation, which is also required by paragraph 58 of the NPPF.  

A Transport Assessment (TA) has been submitted with the application which considers the 
traffic and highway implications of the proposed development.  The findings of the TA are 
summarised below: - 
 The site has the benefit of good access to a wide range of local facilities and is 

served by a frequent bus service which is within walking distance of the site. It is 
therefore in a sustainable location and close to other existing residential 
development.

 Access to the site will be by way of an extension to an existing turning head off 
Tarnside Close which can be constructed to adoptable standards with a 5.5m wide 
carriageway and 2.0m wide footways to both sides.

 The development will generate some 57 and 69 two-way trips during the morning and 
evening peak periods. Note – these figures were based on the original proposal for 
67 dwellings and will have reduced accordingly with the scheme for 50 dwellings. 

 It is clear that the adjacent highway network can readily accommodate development 
traffic flows of this magnitude. In particular, the A58 Halifax Road / Dye House Lane 
junction has been assessed and it has been demonstrated that the junction can 
accommodate background traffic growth and the traffic generated by the 
development.



In terms of the local highway network it is dominated by A58 Halifax Road which runs to the 
north of the site, between Rochdale town centre and Halifax. The site is accessed from Dye 
House Lane and all traffic turning out of it must turn left as a right turn manoeuvre is 
prevented by a kerbed central island. Traffic turning left out of Dye House Lane can then 
continue along the A58 towards Rochdale, turn into Wardle Road on the northern side of the 
roundabout or execute a ‘U’ turn around the roundabout and head along the A58 in north-
easterly direction towards Littleborough. The visibility to the right from the Dye House Lane 
junction is in excess of 2.4m x 70m. Manual for Streets advises that for a 30 mph speed limit 
a visibility splay of 2.4m x 43m is sufficient and hence the actual visibility splay is in excess 
of requirements.

The site accessed from Tarnside Close which is a cul-de-sac some 180m in length. Tarnside 
Close is generally 5.5m in width with footways to both sides and is constructed to RBC’s 
design standards for residential estate roads. Tarnside Close also has the benefit of speed 
humps along its length.

The Councils Highways Officer has raised no objections to the proposal and it is considered 
that the increase in traffic associated with 50 additional dwellings is not itself considered to 
cause any over-riding harm to the surrounding highway capacity. In addition, it is noted that 
the surrounding road network comprises residential streets of sufficient width to 
accommodate the respective additional vehicular traffic and which are subject to traffic 
calming measures ensuring vehicles travel at sufficiently low speeds. 

Concerns have been raised regarding the suitability of the junction of Dye House Lane and 
Halifax Road.  This junction benefits from good sight lines as described above and as 
demonstrated in the submitted TA it is has sufficient capacity to accommodate any increase 
in vehicles associated with the development.  

It is proposed to access the development by an extension to the turning head on Tarnside 
Close which lies between 17 and 19 Tarnside Close. The majority of the new carriageway 
would be 5.5m wide with 2.0m wide footways to both sides.  The resulting site layout is 
compliant with the Councils design standards and will provide appropriate forward visibility 
and gradients. 

Located adjacent to the junction of the site with Greenfield Lane entrance it is proposed to 
locate an electricity substation.  In order to ensure that suitable visibility is achieved for 
vehicles heading north from the southern section of Greenfield Lane a condition is imposed 
which requires the height of the boundary treatment around the substation is agreed in 
writing with the Local Planning Authority. 

Following comments made by Members of the Pennines Township Planning Sub Committee 
the proposed section of Tarnside Close as it crosses Greenfield Lane has been modified by 
the way of build out islands.  Between the islands the width of Tarnside Close would be 
reduced to around 3m which would prevent vehicles turning from Tarnside Close into 
Greenfield Lane or vice versa.  This proposed junction would also incorporate priority 
signage.  

Furthermore, given the sites proximity to the bus route along Halifax Road and frequency of 
bus services it is considered that this would further limit the number of vehicular trips being 
made. It is concluded that the site is in a sustainable location, the proposed access 
arrangement in and out of the site would operate safely  and the traffic generated by the 
development can safely be accommodated on the surrounding road network in accordance 
with the requirements of UDP policies BE/2, A/3, A/8 and A/9 and the NPPF.  

Parking:



UDP policy A/10 relates to parking provision and refers to the Council’s Schedule of Parking 
Standards (UDP Appendix C) which identifies maximum standards for car parking provision 
and minimum standards for cycle and motorcycle parking. The maximum standard for car 
parking provision for two-bed (+) houses located outside the town centre is stipulated as two 
spaces per dwelling. A note to this Appendix indicates that “parking standards for C3 
[housing] developments are intended to result in an average, throughout the plan area of 
over the plan period, of 1.5 off-street car parking spaces per dwelling.” The policy states that 
car parking provision at less than the maximum standard will be accepted subject to an 
assessment of the following criteria:

a) The location of the development and the appropriateness and feasibility of providing 
parking provision within that location;

b) Access to other transport modes;
c) The availability of other convenient and safe off-street parking;
d) The availability of unutilised on-street parking capacity and the ability to 

accommodate parking without harm to visual amenity or pedestrian / road safety; and
e) The willingness of a developer to fund traffic Orders to establish controls on on-street 

parking or other measures to mitigate the impact, including securing modal shift away 
from vehicular traffic and other traffic management measures.

The majority of the dwellings would be provided with two off street car parking spaces. Plots 
15 & 16 and 19 & 20 are small terraced dwelling which would have access to 1 parking 
space and in this location there is the opportunity to park on street.   The combined ratio of 
parking spaces is considered appropriate by the Councils Highways Officer to ensure that 
there is no additional pressure for parking on surrounding streets.

It is also noted that the site sits within a sustainable location within walking distance to public 
transport connections and a variety of retail, commercial, and health facilities within 
Smallbridge and Littleborough which would limit the need for residents to make trips by 
private motor-vehicle. 

Having regard to the above and subject to conditions, the proposed development would 
provide suitable and safe car parking arrangements, in accordance with the NPPF and the 
above policies of the UDP.

Ecological and Nature Conservation Implications

The third bullet point to paragraph 109 of the NPPF indicates that the planning system 
should contribute to and enhance the natural and local environment by minimising impacts 
on biodiversity and providing net gains in biodiversity where possible, contributing to the 
Government’s commitment to halt the overall decline in biodiversity, including by establishing 
coherent ecological networks that are more resilient to current and future pressures.

Paragraph 118 of the NPPF states that, when determining planning applications, local 
planning authorities should aim to conserve and enhance biodiversity by applying the 
following (relevant) principles:
 if significant harm resulting from a development cannot be avoided (through locating 

on an alternative site with less harmful impacts), adequately mitigated, or, as a last 
resort, compensated for, then planning permission should be refused;

 opportunities to incorporate biodiversity in and around developments should be 
encouraged.

UDP policy NE/3 indicates that, in areas which are not specially designated for their nature 
conservation value, the effect of land use changes on existing features, species and habitats 
of ecological value will be taken into account in assessing proposals. Development should 



seek to retain such features and incorporate them into the development. Where this would 
place an unreasonable constraint on the development, steps to provide compensatory 
features or habitats of an equivalent nature and value, commensurate with the scale and 
type of development permitted may be required. 

UDP policy NE/4 states that development proposals which would affect a species protected 
by National or European law or its habitat will not be permitted unless it can be 
demonstrated that:
 There is no adverse impact on the species concerned;
 Loss of, or damage to habitats supporting such species is minimal and, where 

required, adequate alternative habitats are provided to sustain at least the current 
levels of the population of the species; and

 Where a proposal affects a European Protected Species, it fulfils the appropriate 
criteria for development as set out in National and European legislation.

UDP policy NE/8 (d) indicates that proposals on sites containing trees and woodlands should 
ensure the nature conservation value of existing hedgerows, trees and woodland has been 
safeguarded where appropriate including the incidence of protected species.

The application site comprises poor semi-improved grassland, scattered trees, scattered 
shrubs, bramble scrub, tall herb vegetation and hard-standing. It is noted that the land does 
not form part of any statutorily designated nature conservation site and nor is it designated 
as of local ecological importance. The River Roch lies adjacent to the southern site boundary 
and is considered to be of importance at a local level as a wildlife link.

The application has been supported by a Phase 1 Habitat Assessment and an Ecological 
Survey and Assessment. This Ecological Appraisal and Habitat Assessment presents the 
ecological, biodiversity and nature conservation status. The findings and recommendations 
of these reports are summarised below: - 

 No protected species were detected during the Phase 1 Habitat Survey.
 The scattered trees and shrubs within the site are of local value as they provide 

structural diversity and are suitable habitat for use by nesting birds. It is 
recommended, and entirely feasible, to retain the boundary trees and protect them 
during the construction period.

 The section of the River Roch running adjacent to the site should be protected during 
the construction and operational phase through implementation of best practice.

 It is recommended that the development incorporates the installation of four bat 
access panels and four bird boxes within the new buildings.

 It may be necessary to carryout out a walkover survey to demonstrate satisfactorily 
that no breeding birds, active nests, eggs of fledgings are present in the area to be 
cleared. 

 The spread of the Japanese Knotweed detected beyond the western site boundary 
must be prevented. It is recommended that a Japanese Knotweed Management Plan 
is prepared and implemented.

 The buffer between the development and the River Roch presents an opportunity to 
enhance habitats for the benefit of wildlife. A Habitat Management Plan, detailing 
prescriptions to encourage the establishment of a wildflower grassland at the buffer 
should be considered. 

 It is recommended that the landscape planting within the residential site is composed 
from native species and species known to be of value for the attraction of wildlife

In addition to the above, as the applicants ecologist has prepared an updated note with 
regard to a pond that lies some 450m to the east of the site.  Natural England’s guidelines 



recommend all ponds within 500m of a site should be assessed and the update note sets out 
why it is not necessary to carry out an assessment of the pond for the following reasons; 

a) English Nature (2004) states that: ‘At distances between 100 and 200-250m 
from breeding ponds, careful consideration should be given to whether 
attempts to capture newts are appropriate. This will depend on the 
magnitude, type and duration of impacts, what habitat types and features 
would be affected, the proportions of habitats within this ‘zone’ which would 
be affected, and, crucially, the timing of the development activities. If the 
habitats within this zone are largely homogenous and there is no way of 
‘targeting’ capture effort, a comprehensive attempt to capture newts 
throughout this zone is rarely likely to be feasible or cost effective. However, 
targeting particular habitat features may be worthwhile, using similar capture 
protocols as described for within the 100m zone.’ 

b) The land within the site and the land between the site and the pond 
comprises poor quality terrestrial habitats for amphibians such as grazed 
arable land. 

c) No known records of Great Crested Newt within a one kilometre radius of the 
site were recorded on the data search information sheet supplied by the 
Greater Manchester Local Records Centre (GMLRC). 

d) The Natural England Rapid Risk Assessment has been used to assume that 
Great Crested Newt are present at the pond. The result of the Rapid Risk 
Assessment is Green: Offence Highly Unlikely. 

Due to the poor quality terrestrial habitat present on the site and the land in the wider area, 
the distance between the site and the pond, it is reasonable to conclude that the assessment 
of the pond is not necessary to inform the planning decision. 

The Greater Manchester Ecology Unit (GMEU) have been consulted on the application and 
have raised no objection on nature conservation grounds and although they comment that 
the development will lead to a loss of openness, they acknowledge that revised layout is an 
improvement.  

The revised scheme incorporates the planting a of a wildflower grass mix within the enlarged 
buffer zone between the development and the River Roch.  This planting scheme is 
complemented by tree and shrub planting within the development.  

In accordance with the recommendations from the GMEU and those outlined in the 
ecological appraisal, conditions have been recommended which requires the implementation 
of a landscaping scheme, the provision of bird and bat boxes and the submission an 
approval of a scheme of biodiversity enhancement measures including maintenance 
arrangements. In addition, conditions have been recommended restricting site and 
vegetation clearance within the bird nesting season and a Japanese Knotweed Management 
Plan be prepared. 

In summary, it is accepted that the submitted ecological appraisal has demonstrated that, in 
principle, a residential development at the site would not harm ecological interests.   The 
development offers the opportunity for the enhancement of biodiversity within the site and 
satisfactory precautionary measures can be put in place to ensure that the development 
would not adversely affect the limited nature conservation value of the site or the favourable 
conservation status of any protected species. The proposed development is therefore in 
accordance with the requirements of UDP policies NE/3, NE/4 and NE/8, and the NPPF.



Flood Risk and Drainage Implications:

Paragraph 100 of the NPPF states that “inappropriate development in areas at risk of 
flooding should be avoided by directing development away from areas at highest risk”.
UDP Policy EM/7 states that development will not be permitted in areas identified as flood 
plains, or other areas where development could contribute to increased flood risk, unless an 
appropriate flood risk assessment has been carried out and all of the following criteria are 
met:
 It will not increase the risk of flooding within the flood plain or in adjoining areas by 

reducing flood storage capacity, increasing flows within a flood plain or through the 
additional discharge of surface water;

 It will not itself be at risk from flooding;
 Appropriate sustainable drainage systems are used;
 Adequate access adjacent to the water course for maintenance is provided;
 Existing or proposed flood defences are protected;
 It would not result in extensive culverting; and
 Flood defence works required as a consequence of development are provided at the 

developer’s expense.

The site falls within flood zone 1 and is therefore at a low risk of flooding (less than 1 in 1000 
or 0.1% annual probability of river or sea flooding in any year). A small portion of the site, 
adjacent to the River Roch, is indicated as being in Flood Zone 3; this area is considerably 
below the level of any built development and will be occupied by Public Open Space.

The application has been accompanied by Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) which confirms the 
site is at a low risk of flooding.  The FRA includes a draft drainage plan for the site which 
illustrates that the outfall location for surface water from the site is the River Roch running 
along the southern boundary and foul to the existing 675mm. combined sewer that enters 
the extreme south east corner of the site. Due to the topography of the site, the small portion 
of the site adjacent to Tarnside Close will drain to the foul and surface water sewers in 
Tarnside Close.  In order to ensure that the development would not increase flood risk 
elsewhere underground attenuation has been included in the system and flow controls 
introduced to limit the flows equivalent to Greenfield rates.  A discharge rate of 12.7l/s has 
been accepted by the Environment Agency. 

The Council as Local Lead Flood Authority have been consulted and have raised no 
objections to the principle of the proposed drainage strategy. 

It is noted that the NPPG has since been published and constitutes a material consideration 
in the determination of planning applications. This requires that surface water be dealt with in 
a hierarchy of sustainability, firstly to a soakaway or infiltration system, or where this is not 
practicable to a watercourse, or last of all to a sewer system.  In order to ensure the 
drainage strategy for the site were possible incorporates sustainable urban drainage 
principles, a condition has been recommended requiring the submission and approval of a 
detailed surface water and foul water drainage scheme including details of sustainable urban 
drainage systems to be provided on site. In addition restricting the maximum surface water 
discharge into the surface water sewer of 12.7 l/s; and that foul and surface water should 
drain separately.

It is also noted that the Environment Agency and United Utilities have raised no objections to 
the proposed development. Therefore, it is considered that subject to conditions and the 
implementation of the approved drainage strategy, adequate measures can be put in place 
in order to ensure that the development poses no unacceptable risk in terms of flooding 



(either on the site itself or elsewhere) in accordance with the requirements of UDP policy 
EM/7 and the policies within the NPPF.

Land Contamination:

Paragraph 109 of the NPPF states that the planning system should contribute to, and 
enhance the natural and local environment by remediating and mitigating despoiled, 
degraded, derelict, contaminated and unstable land, where appropriate. Paragraph 120 of 
the NPPF identifies that where a site is affected by contamination or land stability issues, 
responsibility for securing a safe development rests with the developer and/or landowner.

Paragraph 121 of the NPPF indicates that planning policies and decisions should ensure 
that:
 the site is suitable for its new use taking account of ground conditions and land 

instability, including from natural hazards or former activities such as mining, pollution 
arising from previous uses and any proposals for mitigation including land 
remediation or impacts on the natural environment arising from that remediation; 

 after remediation, as a minimum, land should not be capable of being determined as 
contaminated land under Part IIA of the Environmental Protection Act 1990; and

 adequate site investigation information, prepared by a competent person, is 
presented.

In addition, UDP policy EM/4 stipulates that where there are reasonable grounds to suspect 
that land which is the subject of a development proposal has the potential for contamination, 
the Council will require a detailed survey of ground conditions, details of any proposed 
remedial treatments and a completion report to establish that the work has been carried out 
in accordance with the agreed remediation scheme. In considering proposals for new 
development or change of use, the Council will take account of their potential for 
contamination of land and will seek to prevent further contamination by refusing proposals 
likely to give rise to significant contamination or by imposing stringent conditions.

The site is located just beyond the urban area and currently comprises an open meadow left 
over to pasture. Submitted with the application is a Phase 1 Contamination Report which 
examines the history of the site.  The earliest map is from 1851 which shows a collection of 
fields which have remained unchanged.  At some point in the late 1800’s a coal shaft was 
sunk along the boundary with Greenfield Mill which lied to the west of the site.  The Coal 
Authority have confirmed that the site falls within the defined Development High Risk Area 
and they have confirmed that the content and conclusions of the Desk Study Phase 1 Report 
are sufficient for the purposes of the planning system and meets the requirements of the 
NPPF in demonstrating that the application site is, or can be made safe and stable for the 
proposed development.  The Coal Authority therefore has no objection to the proposed 
development subject to a condition requiring further site investigations be undertaken to be 
undertaken to establish the exact position of the mine entry to enable appropriate treatment 
of it and to inform any gas protection measures deemed necessary. 

The Council’s Contaminated Land Officer has recommended a condition requiring the 
submission and approval of a site investigation and risk assessment of the site prior to the 
commencement of development. 

Having regard to the above and the conclusions of the submitted phase 1 site investigation 
report, a condition securing the submission, and approval of a site investigation and risk 
assessment and any necessary remediation measures has been recommended.  The 
condition will also require any necessary remedial works to treat the recorded mine entry to 
ensure the safety and stability of the proposed development. It is considered that the 
proposal would comply with UDP policy EM/4 and guidance contained within the NPPF.   



Sustainable Construction and Renewable Energy:

UDP policy EM/13 states that development proposals which include measures to conserve 
and assist the efficient use of energy will be supported where this can be successfully 
incorporated into the design and layout, and where there are no adverse impacts on the 
amenity of the surrounding area (e.g., by virtue of visual impact, pollution and environmental 
disturbance). Measures which will be especially encouraged include:

 The maximum use of local materials and recycled building materials for appropriate 
construction tasks where this would not adversely affect the quality, character and 
setting of the development;

 The use of design, layout, landscaping and materials which help to conserve energy 
through the ongoing use of the development; and

 The use of sustainable power generation systems such as solar and photovoltaic, 
small-scale combined heat and power, and other appropriate installations based on 
renewable and low carbon technologies.

The Council’s SPD “Energy and New Development” requires all new residential 
developments of 5 or more dwellings to meet Level 3 of the Code for Sustainable Homes. 
The SPD intended that this requirement was to rise to Level 4 from 2013, Level 5 from 2016 
and Level 6 from 2020.  

However, in a Ministerial Statement made to the House of Commons on 25 March 2015, the 
then Secretary of State for Communities and Local Government, Eric Pickles, set out the 
government’s new planning policy on the setting of technical standards for new dwellings 
which should be taken into account in applying the National Planning Policy Framework. The 
Code for Sustainable Homes was also withdrawn on 27 March 2015. This is an important 
material consideration which needs to be given significant weight and which also represents 
a material change in planning circumstances following the previous grant of planning 
permission on the site.

Between 26 March 2015 and 30 September 2014, the government’s policy is, ‘that planning 
permissions should not be granted requiring, or subject to conditions requiring compliance 
with any technical housing standards other than for those areas where authorities have 
existing policies on access, internal space or water efficiency… where there is an existing 
plan policy which references the Code for Sustainable Homes, authorities may continue to 
apply a requirement for a water efficiency standard equivalent to the new national technical 
standard or in the case of energy a standard consistent with the earlier part of this statement1,
 concerning energy performance’. The Council does not have a specific policy in respect of 
water efficiency. In late 2016 the Building Regulations will be amended to require new 
dwellings to meet an equivalent of what was Code Level 4. 

The direction of travel for Government is clear that sustainability requirements for new 
dwellings should be brought forward through the new national technical standards, making 
reference to up to date Local Plans and the Building Regulations. Given that the new 
technical standards are optional and if the Council wishes to refer to them in decision making 
this should preferentially be through new policies in a Local Plan and the Council’s current 

1 which require compliance with energy performance standards that exceed the energy 
requirements of Building Regulations until commencement of amendments to the Planning 
and Energy Act 2008 in the Deregulation Bill 2015 (likely to be late 2016).



policy refers to a Code which has now been revoked and is therefore out of date, it is 
considered most appropriate that the sustainability requirements of this development are 
dealt with by the Building Regulations. 

Developer Contributions

A development of the size proposed would be required to make contributions towards 
recreational open space and affordable housing in accordance with the requirements of UDP 
policies H/6 and H/7, and their associated Supplementary Planning Documents. These 
contributions would need to be secured through a planning obligation in accordance with the 
provisions of S106 of the Town and Country Planning Act. 

Amendments to the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Regulations came into force in 
April 2015 and the local planning authority is no longer able to pool contributions from five or 
more obligations to infrastructure projects that could be funded by CIL, whether there is a 
local levy in operation or not.  Regulation 122 of the CIL Regulations also require that 
contributions meet the following three tests:

(a) necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms 
(b) directly related to the development; and 
(c) fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development 

Affordable Housing:

UDP policy H/7 and its associated SPD identify that, subject to viability considerations, 
residential developments of over 15 dwellings will be expected to make a contribution 
towards the provision of affordable housing in the Borough through either on or off site 
means as appropriate.

Paragraphs 7.3 and 7.4 of the SPD indicate that an average figure of 15% Affordable 
Housing will be required on all sites across the Borough. This percentage of units will be 
subject to a discount of 50% of the average market cost of the dwellings on the site. This will 
equate to a maximum 7.5% contribution of the total scheme value to affordable housing for 
each site.

The proposal made by the applicant is to deal with the affordable housing via an on-site 
provision. Seven affordable units would be provided on site as part of the development 
which is entirely compliant with the requirements of the Councils affordable housing policies. 
The number of units provided, along with the type, tenure and level of discount will need to 
be agreed with the Councils Strategic Housing Officer and it will be brought forward through 
a Section 106 agreement.

Recreational Open Space:

Policy H/6 of the adopted Unitary Development Plan and the Supplementary Planning 
Document (SPD) Provision of Recreational Open Space in New Housing Development relate 
to the provision of open space in new residential developments. These policies require a total 
of 2.1 ha recreational open space to be provided per 1,000 population; this should comprise 
1.0ha of local open space and 1.1ha of outdoor sports provision. The former should be 
provided on-site where the number of bedrooms in a development exceeds 100 and the latter 
should be provided off-site where the scale of the development would not support the 
erection of formal sports facilities. 



Given that the site is in excess of 100 bedrooms then on-site local open space provision is 
required.  Comments on the initial proposal noted that the narrow strip of open space in the 
original layout did not meet the policy requirements since it was simply land that was 
undevelopable.  As noted above this area of open space has now been extended to include 
a larger buffer and meets the policy requirement in terms of size.  Although the this open 
space is not being laid out in a way to provide for more traditional recreational needs, this 
more naturalistic approach is considered appropriate given the nature of the river valley 
location. This is subject to an appropriate use of species and boundary treatments to 
enhance the character of the gateway into the river valley for recreational use. As with most 
developments the outdoor sports element of the policy will be dealt with via an off-site 
contribution. As the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Regulations pooling restrictions, 
introduced on April 6 2015, require this to be delivered to a specific piece of infrastructure, 
discussions have taken place with the Council’s Environmental Management Service who 
have identified that the outdoor sports contribution (£86,115,97) would be spent at Firgrove 
playing fields which lies approximately 1 mile to the south of the site.  Firgrove playing fields 
is one of two outdoor sports hubs within the Borough and it contains 10no. football pitches, 
2no. rugby pitches and 5no. rounders pitches. This use of the money is considered to be 
directly related to the development (an increase in population leads to an increase in the 
requirement for open space), fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind (within easy 
access of the development by car, public transport and foot) and necessary for the 
development to take place (to mitigate against increased pressure on outdoor sports 
facilities from the population of the development). The requirement for outdoor sports 
provision is therefore considered to be compliant with Regulation 122 of the Community 
Infrastructure Regulations.

In summary it is considered that the proposal meets the Councils policies with regard to 
affordable housing and recreational open space and it meets the CIL tests. The applicant 
has agreed to enter into a S106 agreement which will secure the provision of affordable 
housing and recreational open space. 

Education:

The Council does not have an adopted policy on the provision of contributions towards 
educational facilities. Nevertheless, the evidence base produced by the Council’s Schools 
Service has identified shortfalls in school place provision, both at primary and secondary 
school level, across the Borough, but concentrated in particular ‘hotspots’. The Council have 
therefore been, in some cases, seeking appropriate contributions towards education 
provision from major development schemes, based on the evidence provided by the Schools 
Service. 

The Schools Service have commented on this application and have identified that there is a 
requirement for additional primary school places within Pennines Township. However, there 
is an important distinguishing feature to note. The Schools Service also states that the 
growth pressure is mainly in the Milnrow / Newhey area and as a result it is proposed that 30 
additional places are made available at Moorhouse County Primary, in Milnrow in 2015, 
2016 and 2017. 

Moorhouse CP is 2.3 miles from the application site. This is in excess of the 2 mile maximum 
walking distance considered appropriate by the Schools Service for primary school pupils. 
Therefore a contribution to the provision of these additional places at Moorhouse CP could 
not be obtained from this development as the requirement would fail the three tests in 
Regulation 122 of the Community Infrastructure Regulations. It cannot be established that it 
is ‘necessary to make the development acceptable’ as the pressure is clearly currently 
identified in Newhey / Milnrow (rather than Smallbridge). Accordingly, it cannot be 
reasonably construed as being directly related to the proposed development as it is beyond 



the maximum walking distance for primary school pupils. It is not ‘fairly and reasonably 
related in scale and kind to the development’. By their very nature, housing developments, 
particularly on this scale, often lead to an  increased demand for school places within an 
area but an associated contribution must meet all three of the Reg 122 tests to be compliant. 
Additionally, in order that it complies with the pooling requirements introduced on 6 April 
2015, it must be directed to a specific and identified need for a particular piece of 
infrastructure and cannot be allocated more generally (e.g. to Pennines Township more 
widely). 

This conclusion does not however rule out the possibility of education contributions being 
required from development in Pennines Township in the future. The Schools Service state 
that further analysis of admissions and demand across Pennines Township will be 
undertaken. This will inform the consideration of future planning applications. 

SUMMARY, CONCLUSIONS AND PLANNING BALANCE

Policies within the UDP relating to the management of housing land and protection of open 
land are out of date and can be afforded limited weight in the determination of this planning 
application. Taking account of the most recently tested housing target for the Borough, the 
recalculated RSS target, the Council would be unable to demonstrate a 5 year supply of 
housing land. The NPPF must therefore be afforded significant weight in the determination of 
this application and the presumption in favour of sustainable development is engaged.

Paragraph 14 of the NPPF very clearly directs that where policies are out-of-date, the 
‘presumption in favour of sustainable development’ means planning permission should be 
granted unless the adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably 
outweigh the benefits (emphasis added) when assessed against the policies in the NPPF as 
a whole; or where specific policies in the NPPF indicate development should be restricted.

In assessing the merits of the scheme, it is clear that there are no specific policies in the 
NPPF that would indicate the development should be restricted. It is also evident that 
previous appeals in the Borough concerning the release of Protected Open Land for housing 
have been allowed in the context of the need to boost significantly the supply of housing 
within the Borough for the reasons set out within the NPPF, and in recognition of the fact that 
such land was originally safeguarded to meet future development needs.

Since these appeals were allowed in 2013, the Rochdale Core Strategy has been submitted 
for examination and the most recent evidence prepared by the Council to support this 
suggests that a higher housing requirement is needed for the Borough above that originally 
identified within the RSS.  Furthermore, going forward the Borough will face an ongoing and 
challenging pressure in terms of the delivery of new housing against any planned target 
given the fact that a significant number of further dwellings are proposed to be demolished 
as part of the continued regeneration of existing housing areas. To ensure there is no 
ongoing deficit in supply, the total number of demolitions will need to be matched by an 
equivalent uplift above the annual target of housing completions.  The evidence 
demonstrates that significant weight must therefore be afforded to the benefits of the 
scheme in respect of its contribution to the supply of housing in the Borough.  

The proposal would provide a significant number of new dwellings to meet housing needs 
adjacent to an existing urban area within an accessible and sustainable location.  Economic 
and social benefits would arise through direct capital investment; additional spending of 
household income on local services and facilities; and the creation of direct and indirect jobs 
throughout construction and through the longer term additional spend of households within 
the local area.



All other material planning considerations, identified within the report have been carefully 
considered. It is accepted that the proposal would result in the loss of part of an area of 
Protected Open Land and a Greenspace Corridor which provides an open buffer on the 
urban fringe and provides an open aspect to the River Roch in this location. However, given 
that, following the submission of amended plans and the reduction of the development from 
67 to 50 houses, a significant buffer of no less than 60m would remain between the edge of 
the built development and the river’s edge. This would not sever the Greenspace Corridor, 
would retain a sufficient degree of openness and is considered to comply with Policy G/8. 
Biodiversity and landscaping improvements can be secured through suitable planning 
conditions. This gives greater weight to the argument that, applying the tests within the 
NPPF, the harm that would arise would not significantly and demonstrably outweigh the 
benefits of the proposal, which is the test of national policy. The development would not 
have such a severe impact on existing residential properties that a refusal of planning 
permission would be justified. No other harm has been identified which cannot be mitigated 
against through the use of suitable planning conditions. As such, there are no sustainable 
grounds to justify a refusal of planning permission.

Thus, in terms of the decision-making approach set out in paragraph 14 of the Framework, it 
is considered that the proposal comprises sustainable development. The application is 
therefore recommended for approval. 

RECOMMENDATION

It is recommended that Committee resolve:

That Members are minded to GRANT planning permission subject to:

(i) The completion of a Section 106 planning obligation in order to secure:

a) The provision and maintenance of recreational open space in accordance with 
the Council’s open space policies, with local open space being provided on-site 
and the contribution towards formal sports provision being provided off-site, at 
Firgrove sports pitches.  

b) The provision of affordable housing, in accordance with the Council's 
affordable housing policy

(ii) That the Council enters into an agreement under the provisions of Section 106 of 
the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and other appropriate legislation with 
regard to the matters set out above;

(iii) he Head of Planning being authorised to issue the decision notice on completion 
of the Section 106 Agreement;

and subject to the following conditions and reasons:-

 1 The development must be begun not later than the expiration of three years beginning 
with the date of this permission.



Reason: To comply with the requirements of section 91 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990 as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004.

 2 The development shall be carried out in complete accordance with the approved 
drawings.

14075 00 Location Plan 

14075_01_Rev F                Site Layout

14075_05                      Street Scenes

14075_04                        Boundary Treatment

14075 DAS 02             Design & Access Statement

4920.03 Rev F Landscape Proposals Sheet 1 of 2 

4920.04 Rev F Landscape Proposals Sheet 2 of 2 

4920.02 Rev E Tree Protection Plan 

PL.16           Mallow

PL. 17        Larkspur

PL.18         Sorrel

PL. 11        Brookline

PL.19            Samphire

PL. 08 Charlock

PL. 05 Woodrush

PL. 02            Rosebay

Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure a satisfactory standard of 
development in accordance with the policies contained within the Rochdale Unitary 
Development Plan and the National Planning Policy Framework.

 3 Notwithstanding the details shown on the approved plans and the requirements of 
condition 2 of this permission, no above ground works shall take place until samples or 
full details of materials to be used externally on the building(s) have been submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Such details shall include the 
type, colour and texture of the materials. Only the materials so approved shall be used, 
in accordance with any terms of such approval.

Reason: In order to ensure a satisfactory appearance in the interests of visual amenity 
in accordance with Policy BE/2 of the Council’s Unitary Development Plan.



 4 Notwithstanding the details shown on the approved plans and the requirements of 
condition 2 of this permission, no above ground works shall take place until details of 
all windows and doors (including their materials, finishes, recesses and opening 
profile) have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The windows and doors shall be installed in accordance with the duly 
approved details before the dwellings hereby approved are first occupied and shall be 
retained as such thereafter.

Reason: In order to ensure use of appropriate materials which are sympathetic to the 
character of the site and its surroundings in the interests of visual amenity in 
accordance with the requirements of Unitary Development Plan Policy BE/2 and the 
National Planning Policy Framework.

 5 Notwithstanding the details shown on the approved plans and the requirements of 
condition 2 of this permission, no above ground works shall take place on any plot until 
details of the siting, height, design, materials and finish of boundary treatments for that 
plot have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
The duly approved boundary treatments shall be constructed in full accordance with 
the approved details before the dwelling on that plot is first occupied, and shall be 
retained as such thereafter.

Reason: To ensure a satisfactory appearance in the interests of visual amenity and to 
ensure adequate levels of privacy between neighbouring dwellings in the interests of 
the amenity of future occupiers in accordance with the requirements of Unitary 
Development Plan Policies BE/2 and the National Planning Policy Framework.

 6 Details of finished floor levels and external ground levels for each plot shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority before any 
development at that plot takes place. The development shall thereafter be 
implemented in accordance with the duly approved details.

Reason:  In order to ensure a satisfactory relationship between the new dwellings and 
between the development and surrounding buildings in the interests of residential and 
visual amenity in accordance with the requirements of Unitary Development Plan 
Policies H/3 and BE/2 and the National Planning Policy Framework.

 7 Notwithstanding the details shown on the approved plans and the requirements of 
condition 2 of this permission, no above ground works shall take place until a 
specification for the design and construction of all private parking areas, including 
provision for the drainage of surface water from them, shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The parking areas shall be 
constructed in accordance with the approved details before each associated dwelling is 
first occupied, and retained thereafter for the parking of vehicles.

Reason: In order to ensure there is adequate provision for vehicles to be parked clear 
of the highway and to ensure the suitable disposal of surface water in order to comply 
with the requirements of Unitary Development Plan policies BE/2 and A/10, and the 
National Planning Policy Framework.



 8 No development shall take place until a scheme to provide temporary protective 
fencing or other means of enclosure around the boundary of the site with the River 
Roch has been submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority.  The fence 
or other means of enclosure shall be constructed in accordance with the approved 
details before any development takes place and it shall be retained throughout the 
construction period until the development has been completed.  

Reason: In order to protect the adjoining land from damage and pollution during 
construction, in accordance with Policies NE/2 and NE/6 of the Unitary Development 
Plan and the National Planning Policy Framework.

 9 The approved tree planting and landscaping scheme show on drawings 4920.03 Rev F 
and 4920.04 Rev F  shall be carried out during the first planting season after the 
development is substantially completed and the areas which are landscaped shall be 
retained as landscaped areas thereafter. Any trees or shrubs removed, dying, being 
severely damaged or becoming seriously diseased within three years of planting shall 
be replaced by trees or shrubs of similar size and species to those originally required 
to be planted.

Reason: In order to achieve satisfactory treatment of open spaces between and 
around buildings in the interests of visual amenity and to provide biodiversity 
enhancements as part of the development in accordance with the requirements of 
Unitary Development Plan policies BE/2, BE/8 and NE/3, and the National Planning 
Policy Framework.

10 No above ground works shall take place until a Biodiversity Enhancement and 
Landscape Management Plan (BELMP) for the landscaped area along the southern 
boundary of the site has first been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The BELMP shall include: (i) details of habitat enhancement 
measures to be provided including bird boxes and bat boxes; (ii) management 
responsibilities; (iii) maintenance schedules; and (v) a timetable for its implementation. 
The HLMP shall thereafter be implemented in full accordance with the duly approved 
details and timetable contained therein.

Reason: In order to ensure adequate protection of existing landscape features of 
ecological value and to achieve appropriate landscape and biodiversity enhancements 
as part of the development in accordance with the requirements of UDP policy NE/3 
and the National Planning Policy Framework.

11 No clearance of trees and shrubs in preparation for or during the course of 
development shall take place during the bird nesting season (March - July inclusive) 
unless an ecological survey has been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority which establishes that no part of the site is utilised for bird 
nesting. Should the survey reveal the presence of any nesting species, then no 
clearance of trees and shrubs shall take place during the above period until a 
methodology for protecting nest sites during the course of the development has first 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Nest site 
protection shall thereafter be provided in accordance with the duly approved 
methodology.



Reason: In order to prevent any habitat disturbance to nesting birds in accordance with 
Unitary Development Plan Policies NE/3 and NE/4 and the provisions of the Wildlife 
and Countryside Act 1981 (as amended).

12 No development shall take place until all trees that are to be retained adjacent to the 
site or within it have been enclosed with temporary protective fencing in accordance 
with BS 5837:2012 (Trees in relation to design, demolition and construction). The 
fencing shall be retained during the period of construction and no work, excavation, 
tipping, or stacking/storage of materials shall take place within such protective fencing 
during the construction period.

Reason: In order to protect the existing trees on the site in the interests of the 
amenities of the area and in accordance with Policies BE/2, BE/8 and NE/8 of the 
adopted Rochdale Unitary Development Plan.

Reason for pre-commencement condition: As the proposals require ground works and 
engineering works, it is necessary to approve tree protective measures, prior to 
commencement of any building or engineering works on site.

13 No development shall take place until an investigation and risk assessment (in addition 
to any assessment provided with the planning application) has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The assessment shall investigate 
the nature and extent of any contamination on the site (whether or not it originates on 
the site) and the extent of the coal mining activities which may have taken place on the 
site. The assessment shall be undertaken by competent persons and a written report 
of the findings submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority 
before any development takes place. The submitted report shall include:

i)  a survey of the extent, scale and nature of contamination, which shall identify all 
previous uses including any mine entries within the site, potential contaminants 
associated with those uses and a conceptual model of the site indicating sources, 
pathways and receptors and potentially unacceptable risks arising from contamination 
at the site;

ii) an assessment of the potential risks to:

• human health,               

• property (existing or proposed) including buildings, crops, livestock, pets, 
woodland, and service lines and pipes,

• adjoining land,

• groundwaters and surface waters, including controlled waters,

• ecological systems,

• archaeological sites and ancient monuments;

iii) where unacceptable risks are identified, an appraisal of remedial options and 
proposal of the preferred option(s) to form a remediation strategy for the site.



The development shall thereafter be carried out in full accordance with the duly 
approvedremediation strategy and a verification report submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority before any of the buildings hereby approved 
are first occupied. 

 If, during development, contamination not previously identified is found to be present 
at the site then no further development shall be carried out until the developer has 
submitted a remediation strategy to the local planning authority detailing how this 
unsuspected contamination shall be dealt with and this shall be approved in writing by 
the local planning authority.  The remediation shall thereafter be carried out in 
accordance with the approved strategy.  

Reason: To prevent pollution of the water environment and to ensure the safe 
development of the site in the interests of the amenity of future occupiers in 
accordance with Unitary Development Plan policies EM/4, EM/8 and BE/2, and the 
National Planning Policy Framework.

14 No above ground works shall take place until a scheme for the disposal of foul and 
surface water from the site has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. Unless otherwise agreed in writing with the Local Planning 
Authority, the scheme shall include: 

- Details of the rate of surface water discharge from the site to any soakaway, 
watercourse or surface water sewer (including any necessary flow attenuation 
measures and the use of SUDS where appropriate), which shall not exceed 12.7 litres 
per second 

- Details of how the scheme will be maintained and managed after completion. 

- The surface water and foul water shall be drained on a separate system with no 
surface water being discharged to the foul or combined sewer systems.

The scheme shall be implemented in accordance with the duly approved details before 
any of the dwellings are first occupied, or within any other timescale first agreed in 
writing with the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: To prevent an increased risk of flooding as a result of the development and to 
ensure satisfactory disposal of foul and surface water from the site in accordance with 
the requirements of Unitary Development Plan policies EM/7 and EM/8, the Council’s 
Level 2 SFRA User Guide and the National Planning Policy Framework.

15 No above grounds works shall take place until a scheme for the design, construction 
and drainage of the new estate roads (including its footways) shown on drawing no. 01 
Rev F, has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
The duly approved scheme shall be implemented before any of the dwellings hereby 
approved are first occupied, and the estate road retained as such thereafter. 

Reason: To ensure a satisfactory standard of engineering works and surface treatment 
in order to achieve appropriate provision for vehicle access, circulation and 



manoeuvring in accordance with the requirements of Unitary Development Plan 
policies BE/2, A/8 and A/9 and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

16 No above grounds works shall take place until a scheme for the design, construction 
and drainage of the junction of the new estate road and Greenfield Lane, has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The duly 
approved scheme shall be implemented before any of the dwellings hereby approved 
are first occupied, and the junction retained as such thereafter. 

Reason: To ensure a satisfactory standard of engineering works and in the interest of 
highway safety, in accordance with the requirements of Unitary Development Plan 
policies BE/2, A/8 and A/9 and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

17 No above ground work shall take place until a scheme to upgrade the existing right of 
way (WaFp6) which extends through the site has been has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall be implemented 
in accordance with the duly approved details before any of the dwellings are first 
occupied, or within any other timescale first agreed in writing with the Local Planning 
Authority.

Reason.  In order to secure the improvement of the right of way,  in accordance with 
Policy RE/6 of the Rochdale Unitary Development Plan.

18 No development shall take place until a Construction Method Statement (CMS) has 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The CMS 
shall include details of the following: - (i) hours for site preparation, delivery of materials 
and construction; (ii) the parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors; (iii) loading 
and unloading of plant and materials; (iv) storage of plant and materials used in 
constructing the development; (v) the erection and maintenance of security hoarding; 
(vi) wheel washing facilities; (vii) measures to control the emission of dust and dirt 
during construction; and (viii) a scheme for recycling/disposing of waste resulting from 
construction works.

The duly approved CMS shall be adhered to throughout the construction period.

Reason: In order to ensure that appropriate measures are put in place to limit noise, 
nuisance and disturbance to the occupiers of neighbouring dwellings during the 
construction of the development in accordance with the requirements of Unitary 
Development Plan policies BE/2 and EM/3, and the National Planning Policy 
Framework.

19.  No development shall take place until a scheme of works, which shall include a detailed 
method statement, for the control and disposal of the invasive plant species has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The agreed 
scheme of works and method statement shall be implemented in full throughout the 
course of the development.

Reason: To secure the satisfactory disposal of invasive species of plant, which under 
the terms of the Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981, as amended, it is an offence to be 



caused to spread in the wild, in accordance with the general principles of Policy NE/3 
of the Council’s Unitary Development Plan.

Reason for pre-commencement condition: To ensure an appropriate scheme to control 
the spread is implemented on commencement and throughout the construction 
process.

20. Notwithstanding the details shown on the approved plans and the requirements of 
condition 2 of this permission, no above ground works shall take place on any plot until 
details of the siting, height, design, materials and finish of the boundary treatment 
around the substation has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The duly approved boundary treatment shall be constructed in full 
accordance with the approved details before the substation is first brought into use, 
and shall be retained as such thereafter.

Reason: To ensure a satisfactory appearance in the interests of visual amenity and to 
ensure satisfactory visibility is achieved for drivers using Greenfield Lane in 
accordance with the requirements of Unitary Development Plan Policies BE/2 and A/9 
and the National Planning Policy Framework.

Report Author Paul Ambrose



Application Number: 15/00358/OUT    Ward: Hopwood Hall    

Proposal: Outline application (including access) for residential development of up to 88 
dwellings with associated works

Site Address: Land To The West Of Hollin Lane Middleton Manchester M24 5LN 

Applicant: Mr Richard Chamberlain
                  Wainhomes (NW) Limited

RECOMMENDATION: Granted subject to conditions

UPDATE

The application is one of three involved in the development of adjoining parcels of land in 
Middleton.  The Middleton Township Planning Sub Committee considered the applications at 
its meeting on 2nd September 2015 and resolved that it that it was minded to refer the 
applications to the Planning and Licensing Committee with a recommendation that planning 
permission be refused for all three applications.  In relation to this application, the following 
grounds for refusal were given: 

1. The cumulative impact of this and other proposed developments in the area on the 



existing highway network and resultant congestion in the area;
2. The inability of the existing local infrastructure, including schools, to cope with 

pressure from additional residents from these developments; and in light of the Sport 
England objection; and

3. The proposed access into the development from Hollin Lane, in conjunction with that 
proposed under application 14/00849/OUT and being in close proximity to the 
junction of Hollin Lane and Hazelhurst Drive and access to St Anne’s Academy, with 
an existing pedestrian crossing point at the junction, would be harmful to highway 
and pedestrian safety in this location. 

Members of the Planning and Licensing Committee are advised that each applicant has 
considered the cumulative impact of all three developments, including the access 
arrangements, on the existing highway network.  Improvements to the existing network are 
proposed to mitigate the impact of each development and the local highway authority and 
Highways England have raised no objection on this basis.

Members are also advised that the applicant has agreed to enter into an s106 agreement to 
provide financial contributions towards off-site sports facilities to mitigate the impact of the 
development on sports facilities and officers recommend that Bowlee Playing Fields are 
identified as the specific project on which the contributions could be locally spent. Officers 
have advised Sport England that these improvements have been put forward by the 
applicants as mitigation and Sport England have withdrawn their objection to all three 
applications on this basis.  In addition, the applicant has agreed to enter into an s106 
agreement to provide financial contributions towards the provision of primary and secondary 
school places in the Borough to mitigate the impact of the development on schools and the 
scale of contributions put forward have been assessed by the Council’s Schools Service to 
be acceptable and appropriate in this case.  

The proposal represents a departure from the Rochdale Unitary Development Plan.  The 
Planning and Licencing Committee may approve or refuse the application on reasonable 
planning grounds.

SITE

The application relates to a circa 3.6 hectare area of land located to the west side of the 
A6046 (Hollin Lane) and north of Langley Lane in Middleton. The site is located within an 
area designated as Protected Open Land on the Rochdale Unitary Development Plan (UDP) 
Proposals Map running between Langley Lane (to the south) and Dingle Farm and open 
agricultural fields (to the north). The site also borders fields and Hollin Lane to the east and 
open fields to the west. Adjoining land flanking the northern boundary lies within the Green 
Belt, with the open fields to the east falling within an adjoining area of Protected Open Land. 
The application site is located approximately 2km to the north of Middleton town centre, 
immediately adjacent to the residential are of Langley and is approximately 1km to the south 
of junction 19 of the M62 motorway.

The site adjoins an established residential area of Langley to the south that has its origins in 
the 1950s as an overspill housing area for Manchester City Council. The area to the south 
and east is subsequently characterized by a mix of post-war two storey semi-detached and 
terraced dwellings and more recent detached two storey dwellings and is suburban in its 
character and appearance. The site is within walking distance of a number of key services, 
including St Anne’s Academy, Hollin Primary School, Burnside Pre-School, Middleton Cricket 
Club and the Gardeners Arms Public House and shopping parade at the junction of Hollin 
Lane and Langley Lane. There are a number of bus stops with regular and direct services to 
Middleton, Heywood, Rochdale and Manchester in close proximity. 



The application site itself comprises agricultural land leftover over to pasture with a small 
group of buildings to the north-western corner. The site comprises undulating ground and is 
relatively open with limited tree cover with some younger specimens and the remnants of 
hedgerows along the boundaries. The site is bounded by residential development on Hollin 
Drive, Hollin Lane and Langley Lane and the Hollin Lane and Langley Lane highways to the 
eastern and southern boundaries. There are open fields beyond the northern boundary of the 
site and to the western boundary. There is a public right of way that runs immediately to the 
west of the site and this extends in a north-south direction. 

PROPOSAL

The application seeks outline permission for a development of up to 88 dwellings on land to 
the west of Hollin Lane, Middleton. The application seeks approval of access only, with the 
layout, scale, landscaping and external appearance of the buildings being reserved for a 
later stage. 

A single access point to the site is proposed from the west side of Hollin Lane. The access 
would be sited immediately opposite the junction between Hollin Lane and Hazelhurst Drive. 
It is proposed to form dedicated right hand turning lanes and relocated pedestrian refuge 
island to the north of the application site. This turning lane would replace the existing refuge 
marked by hatching to the centre of the carriageway and would be immediately adjacent o 
the right turning lane along the northbound carriageway providing access to Hazelhurst 
Drive. The site access would form a bell-mouth junction approximately with Hollin Lane, with 
give way ground markings and a curved kerb radius achieving 2.4 metre by 70 metre 
visibility splays northbound and southbound along Hollin Lane. The access (achieving a 
maximum width of 17 metres at its junction with Hollin Lane) would form a 10 metre wide 
estate road flanked by 2 metre footways running into the site. The indicative internal estate 
road would run westwards into the site with a subsequent secondary road running south into 
the site and a further arm running northwards providing access to the northwest corner of the 
site. Off these a collection of small cul-de-sacs and shared drives are indicated on the 
masterplan.

The application submission sets a maximum parameter with respect to the number of 
dwellings (up to 88) and with regards to their scale it is indicated that the proposed 
development would provide a range of two storey dwellings. The indicative layout shows 
these to comprise detached dwellings arranged in an open plan estate set behind hard and 
soft landscaped front gardens with a combination of in curtilage driveways and detached and 
integral garage accommodation. The indicative masterplan also indicates the provision of a 
small area of landscaping and public open space to the northern corner of the site perimeter 
of the site. The indicative layout also shows a potential link to the adjacent site to the 
southwest and public right of way running along the west boundary of the site which would 
continuing the line of the indicative estate road.

It should however be noted that the submitted indicative masterplan is for indicative 
purposes only, with access being the only reserved matter applied for. The matter of access 
is defined in the appropriate Development Management Procedure Order to mean “the 
accessibility to and within the site, for vehicles, cycles and pedestrians in terms of the 
positioning and treatment of access and circulation routes and how these fit into the 
surrounding access network.” The layout of the buildings and open spaces is for illustrative 
purposes only.

The application includes the following to be secured through the completion of a section 106 
planning obligation and a section 278 highways act agreement as follows:



 The provision of affordable housing on-site and/or an off-site contribution in lieu 
of onsite provision in accordance with the provisions of UDP policy H/7 and its 
associated SPD: Affordable Housing;

 A financial contribution towards provision of primary school places in Middleton 
Township (current calculation of £271,040.22 for up to 88 dwellings);

 A financial contribution towards provision of secondary school places in 
Middleton Township (current calculation of £138,600.09 for up to 88 dwellings);

 A financial contribution towards the provision of outdoor sport and recreation 
facilities at Bowlee Playing Fields calculated by way of either a) £929.16 per 
dwelling or b) £386.86 per person of the population of the development based on 
ONS Census Figure of people per dwelling for Rochdale at the time of 
commencement (current calculation of up to £81,766.08);

 The provision of two bus stops on Hollin Lane, one northbound and one 
southbound (£20,000);  

 The provision of pedestrian crossing facility on Hollin Lane;
 Road markings and traffic calming measures to provide right turning lane into the 

site and denote the gateway into the site in order to calm traffic speeds along 
Hollin Lane, to include TRO where necessary; 

 A scheme for the provision, implementation and management of a Locally 
Equipped Area of Play (LEAP); 

 A landscape and public open space plan for the provision, implementation and 
management of the landscape open space within the site; and

 A financial contribution towards the provision of cycle lane improvements 
comprising new and renewed on carriageway cycle lanes along Hollin Lane from 
its junction with Langley Lane southeast to its junction with Rochdale Road. 

Wider Hollin Lane Masterplan Area

This application is being considered alongside two separate planning applications.  The first 
relates to land to the north of Langley Lane (application reference 14/00851/OUT) for the 
erection of up to 150 dwellings, a potential primary school, and associated landscaping, 
open space, access arrangements and car parking and the land the subject of that 
application adjoins the application site to the west. The second relates to land on the eastern 
side of Hollin Lane (planning application reference no. 14/00849/OUT) for the erection of up 
to 205 dwellings and associated landscaping, open space, access arrangements and car 
parking. These two applications have been submitted by a different applicant and are 
accompanied by a plan indicating the ‘Wider Hollin Lane Masterplan Area’.  Another parcel 
of land shown within the submitted Hollin Lane Masterplan Area indicates a potential future 
phase of development immediately to the north of the application site.  

RELEVANT PLANNING POLICY

National Guidance:

National Planning Policy Framework 

The Department for Communities and Local Government published the National Planning 
Policy Framework (NPPF) on 27 March 2012.  The NPPF sets out the Government’s 
planning policies for England and how these are expected to be applied.  

National Planning Policy Guidance

The government published its National Planning Practice Guidance on 6 March 2014. This is 
intended to complement the National Planning Policy Framework and to provide a single 



resource for planning guidance, whilst rationalising and streamlining the material. Almost all 
previous planning Circulars and advice notes have been cancelled. Specific reference will be 
made to the NPPG or other national advice in the Analysis section of the report, where 
appropriate.

Rochdale Core Strategy (Publication Submission 2013):

The Council’s Core Strategy Examination in Public hearing sessions reconvened in June 
2015 in respect of a single issue, that of housing need.  The Inspector’s report is currently 
awaited, however as the Core Strategy is not yet adopted and modifications may be 
recommended by the Inspector, the Core Strategy can only be afforded limited weight in 
decision making at the current time. It is anticipated that the Core Strategy may be adopted 
in early 2016.

The following policies of the emerging Core Strategy (known more formally as the emerging 
Rochdale Publication Core Strategy) are relevant:- 

SO1 To deliver a more prosperous economy
SO2 To create successful and healthy communities
SO3 To improve design, image and quality of place
SO4 To promote a greener environment

SD1 Delivering sustainable development

SP3/M The Strategy for Middleton
G5 Managing Protected Open Land
C6 Improving health and well being
C8 Improving community, sport, leisure and cultural facilities

P2 Protecting and enhancing character, landscape and heritage
P3 Improving design of new development

G1 Tackling and adapting to climate change
G2 Energy and new development
G3 Renewable and low carbon energy developments
G7 Increasing the biodiversity and geodiversity
G8 Managing water resources and flood risk
G9 Reducing the impact of pollution 
G10 Managing mineral resources

T2 Improving accessibility
DM1 General development requirements
DM2 Delivering planning contributions and infrastructure

Unitary Development Plan:

G/D/1 Defined Urban Area
D/10 Protected Open Land

G/RE/1 Countryside and the Rural Economy
RE/2 Countryside Around Towns
RE/3 Development Involving Agricultural Land
RE/5 Access to the Countryside
RE/6 Recreational Rights of Way



G/G/1 Greenspace
G/2 Standards for Recreational Open Space
G/4 New Provision of Local Open Space

G/H/1 Housing
H/3 Residential Development Outside Allocated Areas
H/6 Provision of Recreational Open Space in New Housing Development
H/7 Affordable Housing

G/CF/1 Community Facilities and Public Service
CF/2 General Criteria for the Development of Local Community and Health 

Facilities

G/A/1 Accessibility
A/2 Accessibility Hierarchy
A/3 New Development – Access for Pedestrians and Disabled People
A/4 New Development – Access for Cyclists
A/5 New Development – Access for Bus Services
A/7 New Development – Access for Service Vehicles
A/8 New Development – Capacity of the Highway Network
A/9 New Development – Access for General Traffic
A/10 New Development – Provision of Parking
A/11 New Development – Transport Assessments
A/13 Local Walking Route Network

G/BE/1 Design Quality
BE/2 Design Criteria for New Development
BE/8 Landscaping in new Development

G/BE/9 Conservation of the Built Heritage
BE/10 Development Affecting Archaeological Sites and Ancient Monuments

G/EM/1 Environmental Protection and Pollution Control
EM/2 Pollution
EM/3 Noise and New Development
EM/4 Contaminated Land
EM/7 Development and Flood Risk
EM/8 Protection of Surface and Ground Water
EM/9 Development Involving Unstable Land

G/EM/12 Renewable Energy and Energy Conservation
EM/13 Energy Efficiency and New Development

G/NE/1 Nature Conservation
NE/2 Designated Sites of Ecological and Geological/Geomorphological Importance
NE/3 Biodiversity and Development
NE/4 Protected Species

G/NE/5 Landscape and Woodlands
NE/6 Landscape Protection and Enhancement
NE/8 Development Affecting Trees, Woodlands & Hedgerows

Supplementary Planning Guidance:
Oldham and Rochdale Residential Design Guide SPD
Guidelines and Standards for Residential Development SPG



Energy and New Development SPD
Provision of Recreational Open Space in New Housing SPD
Affordable Housing SPD

Rochdale Borough Transport Strategy (March 2014)

SITE HISTORY

No previous history.  

CONSULTATION RESPONSES

Highways and Engineering: - No objections. Comments as follows: 
 The site has ample space to provide dedicated parking for dwellings within the 

proposed residential development. In addition to this, the A680 Hollin Lane offers 
transport links to Middleton, Heywood and Bury Town Centre via public transport 
offering a sustainable transport method alternative to car travel. Middleton, Heywood 
and Bury Town Centre each offer a range of retail and community services. A new 
vehicular access to the highway will be created by this development on Hollin Lane. 
The access that has been proposed is sufficient and adequate for a development of 
this size and nature. Therefore I have no objection regarding this proposal. 

 The proposed access will require formalised junction markings. In addition to this 
before any development comes into use the existing ‘No Waiting at Any Time’ TRO is 
required to be removed from across the proposed access point and extended into the 
development to deter on street parking close to the junction. Adequate space will be 
retained as part of the proposed development to store and dispose of refuse 
collection. This development will not have a significant negative impact upon the local 
network capacity. The A680 Hollin Lane fronting the development will adequately 
accommodate additional vehicles. A development of this size and nature will not 
have a significant negative impact upon road safety assuming ample dedicated 
parking is provided within the residential development. No public right of way will be 
obstructed by this development.

Highways England: No objections. Comments as follows:
 No objection subject to a condition that none of the dwellings shall be first 

occupied until a travel plan has been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority and all the measures in the approved travel plan have 
been implemented.

Coal Authority: - Comments as follows:
 The application site does not fall with the defined Development High Risk Area 

and is located instead within the defined Development Low Risk Area. This 
means that there is no requirement under the risk-based approach that has been 
agreed with the LPA for a Coal Mining Risk Assessment to be submitted or for 
The Coal Authority to be consulted. In accordance with the agreed approach to 
assessing coal mining risks as part of the development management process, if 
this proposal is granted planning permission, it will be necessary to include The 
Coal Authority’s Standing Advice within the Decision Notice as an informative 
note to the applicant in the interests of public health and safety.

Minerals and Waste Planning Unit: - Comments as follows:
 The application site lies within two Mineral Safeguarding Area (MSA) one for coal 

and the other brick clay. Policy 8 of the Minerals Plan states “all non-mineral 
development proposals within the Mineral Safeguarding area should extract any 



viable mineral resources present in advance of construction.... provided the 
proposal is in accordance with Policy 2 Key planning and Environmental Criteria.”

 The proposed development will sterilise any coal or brick clay reserves which 
may exist under site. We recommend that the applicant is made aware of the 
reserves at site and Policy 8 of the Minerals Plan.

 Policy 8 states that
 Proposals for non-mineral development within the Mineral Safeguarding Areas 

that do not allow for the prior extraction of minerals will only be permitted where:
1. The need for the development outweighs the need to extract the mineral; Or
2. It can be clearly demonstrated that it is not environmentally acceptable or 

economically viable to extract the mineral prior to non-mineral development 
taking place; or;

3. It can be clearly demonstrated that the mineral is either not present or of no 
economic value or too deep to extract in relation to the proposed 
development; or;

4. The development is limited or temporary and would not prevent minerals 
extraction taking place in the future.

 The applicant has submitted a Planning Design and Access Statement dated 
March 2015 which states that Rochdale currently does not have a 5 year housing 
supply. They argue that this development is therefore required to help meet 
housing demand within Rochdale.

 If the Council is in agreement with this position then they may consider permitting 
the development under bullet point 1 of Policy 8, as the development could be 
considered to outweigh the need for extraction.

Contaminated Land Officer: - A condition should be attached to any permission requiring 
submission of an intrusive site investigation and remediation strategy before any 
development take place.

Environment Agency: - Comments as follows:
 We consider that planning permission should only be granted to the proposed 

development as submitted if the following planning conditions are included as set out 
below. Without these conditions, the proposed development on this site poses an 
unacceptable risk to the environment. 

 Condition 1 - Development shall not begin until a surface water drainage scheme for 
the site, based on sustainable drainage principles and an assessment of the 
hydrological and hydrogeological context of the development, has been submitted to 
and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The scheme shall 
subsequently be implemented in accordance with the approved details before the 
development is completed. The scheme shall also include: 

(i) A sustainable drainage strategy to include SUDS elements with attenuation, 
storage and treatment capacities incorporated as detailed in the CIRIA SUDS 
Manual (C697).

(ii) Infiltration methods on contaminated land carry groundwater pollution risks 
and may not work in areas with a high water table. Where the intention is to 
dispose to soakaway, these should be shown to work through an appropriate 
assessment carried out under Building Research Establishment (BRE) Digest 
365.

 Condition 2 - No development approved by this planning permission shall take place 
until a remediation strategy that includes the following components to deal with the 
risks associated with contamination of the site shall each be submitted to and 
approved, in writing, by the local planning authority:

(i) A preliminary risk assessment which has identified:
- all previous uses



- potential contaminants associated with those uses
- a conceptual model of the site indicating sources, pathways and receptors
- potentially unacceptable risks arising from contamination at the site.

(ii)  A site investigation scheme, based on (1) to provide information for a 
detailed assessment of the risk to all receptors that may be affected, 
including those off site.

(iii)  The results of the site investigation and the detailed risk assessment referred 
to in (2) and, based on these, an options appraisal and remediation strategy 
giving full details of the remediation measures required and how they are to 
be undertaken. 

(iv) A verification plan providing details of the data that will be collected in order to 
demonstrate that the works set out in the remediation strategy in (3) are 
complete and identifying any requirements for longer-term monitoring of 
pollutant linkages, maintenance and arrangements for contingency action. 
Any changes to these components require the express written consent of the 
local planning authority. The scheme shall be implemented as approved.

 Condition 3 - No occupation shall take place until a verification report 
demonstrating completion of works set out in the approved remediation strategy 
and the effectiveness of the remediation shall be submitted to and approved, in 
writing, by the local planning authority. The report shall include results of 
sampling and monitoring carried out in accordance with the approved verification 
plan to demonstrate that the site remediation criteria have been met. It shall also 
include any plan (a “long-term monitoring and maintenance plan”) for longer-term 
monitoring of pollutant linkages, maintenance and arrangements for contingency 
action, as identified in the verification plan. The long-term monitoring and 
maintenance plan shall be implemented as approved.

 Condition 4 - If, during development, contamination not previously identified is 
found to be present at the site then no further development (unless otherwise 
agreed in writing with the local planning authority) shall be carried out until the 
developer has submitted a remediation strategy to the local planning authority 
detailing how this unsuspected contamination shall be dealt with and obtained 
written approval from the local planning authority. The remediation strategy shall 
be implemented as approved.

 Advisory notes:-
 SUDS - The drainage scheme proposed should provide a sustainable drainage 

strategy to include SUDS elements with attenuation, storage and treatment 
capacities incorporated as detailed in the CIRIA SUDS Manual (C697).

 Land Contamination - The EA recommend that the developer undertakes any 
further works in line with the guidance provided within ‘CLR11 Model 
Procedures’, ‘Guiding Principles for Land Contamination’ and ‘Groundwater 
Protection: Principles and Practice’. Where deep foundations are proposed 
recommended that the developer follows the guidance set out within our 
document ‘Piling and Penetrative Ground Improvement Methods on Land 
Affected by Contamination’ which is available on our website.
Waste to be reused on site - Excavated materials that are recovered via a 
treatment operation can be re-used on-site under the CL:AIRE Definition of 
Waste: Development Industry Code of Practice. This voluntary Code of Practice 
provides a framework for determining whether or not excavated material arising 
from site during remediation and/or land development works are waste.  
Developers should ensure that all contaminated materials are adequately 
characterised both chemically and physically, and that the permitting status of 
any proposed on site operations are clear. 

 Waste to be taken off site - Contaminated soil that is, or must be disposed of, 
is waste. Therefore, its handling, transport, treatment and disposal are subject to 



waste management legislation, which includes: 
 Duty of Care Regulations 1991
 Hazardous Waste (England and Wales) Regulations 2005
 Environmental Permitting (England and Wales) Regulations 2010
 The Waste (England and Wales) Regulations 2011
 Developers should ensure that all contaminated materials are adequately 
characterised both chemically and physically in line with British Standards BS EN 
14899:2005 'Characterisation of Waste - Sampling of Waste Materials - 
Framework for the Preparation and Application of a Sampling Plan' and that the 
permitting status of any proposed treatment or disposal activity is clear. If in 
doubt, the Environment Agency should be contacted for advice at an early stage 
to avoid any delays.

 The application should consider the hydrogeology of the area, if impacts are 
identified mitigation methods must be put in place. The final planning application 
should be accompanied by a scheme to dispose of surface water. There should 
be no infiltration of surface water on contaminated land or any discharge of any 
contaminated water to ground. Where infiltration techniques are to be used for 
surface water disposal the appropriate levels of treatment must be applied.   

 We note the observation of tanks on the site and evidence of spillage on the site. 
We concur that a Phase 2 generic quantitative risk assessment, including site 
investigation is required to be undertaken on the site.  There may be some 
private groundwater abstractions in the vicinity of the site which we do not have a 
record of.

Lead Local Flood Authority: - No objections. Comments as follows:
 The principle approach to drainage is acceptable, however further details would 

be required regarding drainage calculations, routes of existing culverts. As this is 
an outline planning application, I would therefore want conditions around the 
drainage included in the approval. This might include proving the drainage and 
50% reduction in greenfield run off. I don’t think in this case this is an 
unreasonable request.

United Utilities (UU): - No objections. Comments as follows:
• The site should be drained on separate systems with foul water draining to the public 

sewer and surface water draining in the most sustainable way in accordance with the 
hierarchy identified in the Building Regulations: (i) a soakaway/infiltration system; (ii) 
a watercourse; (iii) a sewer. 

• To reduce the volume of surface water draining from the site we would promote the 
use of permeable paving on all driveways and other hard-standing areas including 
footpaths and parking areas.

• United Utilities will have no objection to the proposal provided that the following 
conditions are attached to any approval: -

(i) This site must be drained on a separate system, with only foul drainage 
connected into the foul sewer. Surface water should discharge to the surface 
water sewer located in Langley Lane at a rate not exceeding 50 litres per 
second.

(ii) No surface water from this development is discharged either directly or 
indirectly to the combined sewer network.

• A domestic water supply can be made available to the proposed development. The 
applicant must undertake a complete soil survey, as and when land proposals have 
progressed to a scheme design i.e. development, and results submitted along with 
an application for water. This will aid in our design of future pipework and materials to 
eliminate the risk of contamination to the local water supply. Each individual unit will 
require a separate metered supply at the applicant's expense and all internal 
pipework must comply with current water supply (water fittings) regulations 1999.



Environmental Health Officer (EHO): - No objection subject to condition securing restrictions 
on hours of construction to 07:30am to 6.00pm Monday to Friday; 9.00am to 2.00pm on 
Saturdays. No work on Sundays.

Greater Manchester Fire and Rescue Service: Comments as follows:
• The provisions of S63 of the Greater Manchester Act (1981) will be applicable to the 

scheme. This will enable the Fire Authority to request additional provisions for access 
for the Fire Service when proposals are submitted for Building Regulation approval.

• The Fire Service requires vehicular access for a fire appliance to within 45m of all 
points within the dwellings. 

• The access road should be a minimum width of 4.5m and capable of carrying 12.5 
tonnes. Additionally if the access road is more than 20m long a turning circle, 
hammerhead, or other turning point for fire appliances will be required. The maximum 
length of any cul-de-sac network should be 250 m.

• There should be a suitable fire hydrant within 165m of the furthest dwelling.
• The Fire Service strongly supports the installation of domestic sprinkler systems as a 

positive measure to protect persons.  At a small cost occupants’ can be given the 
reassurance of a high level of protection.  All developers should positively consider 
the viability of installing domestic sprinkler systems.  

Greater Manchester Archaeological Advisory Service (GMAAS): Comments as follows:
• The application has been submitted supported by an archaeological Desk Based 

Assessment (DBA) prepared by Nexus Heritage. The Historic Environment Record 
(HER) for Greater Manchester was consulted in preparing the DBA which draws 
together a variety of historic documentary and cartographic sources, and benefits 
from a site visit. Having reviewed the evidence of the HER, historic mapping and 
documentary sources the DBA considers the likelihood that remains of different 
periods may survive within the site boundary. The DBA recognises that opportunities 
for identifying earlier period artefacts through, for example, collection from ploughed 
field surfaces have been few and far between. It is therefore unsurprising that there 
are no finds from earlier periods recorded on the HER within the PDA. However, it 
concludes that apart from the remains of various buildings and features identified on 
the 1848-51 maps, most of which have eighteenth or nineteenth century origins, 
there is only a low potential for unknown archaeology of earlier periods to survive. A 
series of nine heritage assets, all undesignated, are identified from the early mapping 
and include a toll bar cottage and well, a farmstead, trackways associated with Close 
Road Farm (possibly) and Lees Farm, a well associated with Lees Farm, an area of 
clay extraction for brick manufacture, a cottage or cottages fronting Langley Lane 
and a post-medieval township boundary. 

• Topographically the PDA occupies an area of gently sloping, undulating ground from 
which Langley Brook drains south-west down to land below c.120m where eventually 
it joins the River Roch. The DBA concludes there is some potential for evidence 
relating to the identified nine heritage assets to be encountered and that some scope 
for identifying and recording any such remains of these may need to be undertaken 
as a condition of consent. The report suggests that an archaeological watching brief 
undertaken as a condition of planning consent during the development would be 
adequate. GMAAS accepts the general conclusions of the DBA, but recommends 
that a conditioned programme of works should include phased evaluation of the PDA 
using geophysics and targeted trenching to see if earlier remains do survive. The 
evaluation might then lead on to targeted open area excavation. 

• To secure the programme of work GMAAS recommends a condition for a written 
scheme of investigation.  historic

Green Infrastructure Officer: - No objections.  Comments as follows:



• Detailed planting plans and a species list, particularly for the woodland areas to the 
north of the site given it is in the vicinity of Hopwood Woods Local Nature Reserve, 
SBIs and Ancient woodland areas and the possibility of invasive or problem species 
being introduced. 

• Pleased that a number of the larger trees along the edge of the proposed site are 
identified for retention and protection during the development.  

Natural England: - No objections. Comments as follows:
• Based upon the information provided, Natural England advises the Council that the 

proposal is unlikely to affect any statutorily protected sites.
• In your letter, you request that Natural England provides advice on European 

Protected Species. Natural England has published Standing Advice on protected 
species. As Standing Advice it is a material consideration in the determination of 
applications in the same way as any individual response received from Natural 
England following consultation.

• The Standing Advice should not be treated as giving any indication or providing any 
assurance in respect of European Protected Species (EPS) that the proposed 
development is unlikely to affect the EPS present on the site; nor should it be 
interpreted as meaning that Natural England has reached any views as to whether a 
licence is needed (which is the developer’s responsibility) or may be granted.

• This application may provide opportunities to incorporate features into the design 
which are beneficial to wildlife, such as the incorporation of roosting opportunities for 
bats or the installation of bird nest boxes. The authority should consider securing 
measures to enhance the biodiversity of the site from the applicant, if it is minded to 
grant permission for this application. This is in accordance with Paragraph 118 of the 
National Planning Policy Framework. Additionally, we would draw your attention to 
Section 40 of the Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act (2006) which 
states that ‘Every public authority must, in exercising its functions, have regard, so far 
as is consistent with the proper exercise of those functions, to the purpose of 
conserving biodiversity’. Section 40(3) of the same Act also states that ‘conserving 
biodiversity includes, in relation to a living organism or type of habitat, restoring or 
enhancing a population or habitat’.

• This application may provide opportunities to enhance the character and local 
distinctiveness of the surrounding natural and built environment; use natural 
resources more sustainably; and bring benefits for the local community, for example 
through green space provision and access to and contact with nature. Landscape 
characterisation and townscape assessments, and associated sensitivity and 
capacity assessments provide tools for planners and developers to consider new 
development and ensure that it makes a positive contribution in terms of design, form 
and location, to the character and functions of the landscape and avoids any 
unacceptable impacts.

Greater Manchester Ecology Unit (GMEU): - No objections. Comments as follows:
• The application site is essentially an open agricultural field dominated by 

improved grassland of low species diversity and limited nature conservation 
value. It is not designated for its nature conservation value and has only low 
potential to support any specially protected or priority species. I therefore have no 
overall objections to the application on nature conservation grounds. 

• The site does support hedgerows of some local nature conservation value. 
Further, the proposed development will inevitably result in a loss of open-ness of 
the field with consequent landscape impact. 

• Recommend that hedgerows be retained or, if lost, compensated by new hedge, 
tree and shrub planting; that the context of the site be properly reflected in the 
design of any future Landscape Scheme required as part of Reserved Matters 
applications. Green Infrastructure provision should be of a high quality, properly 



recognising and referencing the context of the site; that every opportunity be 
taken to enhance the biodiversity value of the site by, for example, the inclusion 
of new tree and shrub planting, provision of open linear greenspace and/or 
'porous' greenspace and the inclusion of sustainable urban drainage proposals.

Peaks and Northern Footpaths Society: - If planning permission is granted a condition 
should be attached to ensure that there is no obstruction to the public right of way no. 114A.

Schools Service: - No objections. Comments as follows:
• In taking a view on developer contributions for this scheme, I have considered the 

school place availability for the Middleton Township as a whole, rather than a 2 mile 
or 3 mile walking distance for primary and secondary places respectively. This is 
because it references our place planning areas, and makes overall sense in meeting 
school place demand. The strategy of the Local Authority is to provide additional 
places to meet that expected demand in existing schools, without over-providing too 
many places. The Authority will consult in summer term 2015 on how additional 
places will be provided to meet current projected demand.

• Whilst the Birth data indicates fewer children being born in the township for 
admission in 2018, the number of extra Reception Class places to be provided by 
the Local Authority will be reduced to match the reduced demand whilst retaining a 
margin for preference and movement. This shows there would be a shortfall in 
capacity without the provision of the additional planned places to accommodate the 
peak in demand.

• Additional Reception Class places will be needed in the Township for 2016 to 2018, 
above those already planned. The Local Authority is consulting with schools, parents 
Diocesan Authorities to provide additional places in Middleton. The proposals for 
2016, 2017 and 2018 are to:

(i) increase the admission capacity at Bowlee Park CP from 90 to 120 places and to 
consider whether this should be a permanent enlargement to take account of 
potential housing developments in this area of Middleton; and

(ii) increase the admission capacity at Boarshaw CP from 30 to 60 places for a 
further 2 years, i.e.2017 and 2018 (subject to review)

• To meet the expected increase in demand, and taking account of consultation with 
schools, parents and interested parties, in December 2014 the Borough’s Cabinet 
approved proposals to provide 60 extra Year 7 places in the Township for the period 
to 2019. These places would be provided as follows: 30 additional places from 
September 2016 onwards at Cardinal Langley RC; and 30 additional places from 
September 2017 onwards at St.Anne’s Academy. This would meet the current 
expected demand, although this will be kept under review.

• The expected Pupil Yield based on standard BSF formula on the whole development 
(88 houses) is 22 primary places (3 per year group) and 9 secondary places (2 per 
year group) applied to the projections from 2016. There would also be an expected 3 
children per year group for nursery age children (rising 3’s and 4’s). There would 
also be an expected 2 children per year group post 16.

• Developer contributions would need to support the provision of additional places in 
the Township for both primary and secondary sectors as follows:  

• For the primary sector, additional places could be accommodated within an existing 
primary school:  88 dwellings x 0.25 =22 children x £12,320.01 = £271,040.22

• For the secondary sector, additional places could be accommodated within existing 
secondary schools: 88  dwellings x 0.1 =9 children x £15,400.01 = £138,600.09 

Transport for Greater Manchester (TfGM): - No objections. Comments as follows:
• Most of the site other than the northwest corner is within reasonable walking 

distance of bus stops along Hollin Lane which offer services to Manchester, 
Heywood, Middleton and Bury. Improvements to public transport infrastructure 



could make the whole site more accessible by public transport. TfGM would 
reiterate their recommendation made on applications in the immediate area that 
the proposed developments should provide 4 new bus stops on Hollin Lane.

• The layout of the site should be designed to maximise the site location in relation 
to public transport and encourage cycling and walking. The indicative layout 
proposes a public open space and footpath links that don’t appear to take full 
advantage to provide natural surveillance. Any proposed footpath link should be 
designed to be suitable for cycling. 

• It is important to influence peoples travel patterns at the beginning of occupation 
and therefore it is encouraging to note that this application is accompanied by a 
framework travel plan. Should Rochdale BC be minded to grant permission it is 
suggested that the further development, submission, implementation and 
monitoring of a full residential travel plan be attached as a condition.

Strategic Planning:- Assessed within Analysis section of report.  

Community Safety: - No comments to make until detailed design stage.

Sport England: - A combined consultation response has been provided as part of a non-
statutory consultation on the proposed development and the two other planning applications 
14/00851/OUT and 14/00849/OUT on adjacent sites. 

Members of the Middleton Township Planning Sub Committee raised concerns about the 
non-statutory objection raised by Sport England.  To clarify, these comments were received 
prior to the negotiation of s106 contributions towards off-site sports facilities in the local area, 
the precise details of which are reported elsewhere in this report.  Officers have 
subsequently advised Sport England that contributions are sought towards off-site sports 
facilities and the contributions have been calculated using the Sport England calculator.  

Sport England has subsequently withdrawn its non-statutory objection to the applications.  In 
the interests of clarity, the initial comments and updated comments of Sport England are 
reported below.  

Initial Comments:
• It is understood that the 3 applications are linked and propose a total of 443 

residential dwellings. An area for open space provision is shown within each 
of the sites but there is no acknowledgement that the increased demand 
arising from the development will affect the capacity of existing, and 
potentially create the need for additional, sports provision in the area. 

• Sport England has assessed the application against its adopted planning 
policy objectives. The focus of these objectives is that a planned approach to 
the provision of facilities and opportunities for sport is necessary in order to 
meet the needs of local communities. The occupiers of any new development, 
especially residential, will generate demand for sporting provision. The 
existing provision within an area may not be able to accommodate this 
increased demand without exacerbating existing and/or predicted future 
deficiencies. Therefore, Sport England considers that new developments 
should be required to contribute towards meeting the demand they generate 
through the provision of on-site facilities and/or providing additional capacity 
off-site. The level and nature of any provision should be informed by a robust 
evidence base such as an up to date Sports Facility Strategy, Playing Pitch 
Strategy or other relevant needs assessment. This requirement is supported 
by the Government’s National Planning Policy Framework.

• The population of the proposed development is estimated to be 1064 people 
based on the ONS census figure 2011 of 2.4 people per dwelling for 



Rochdale. This additional population will generate additional demand for 
sports facilities. If this demand is not adequately met, then it may place 
additional pressure on existing sports facilities, thereby creating deficiencies 
in facility provision. In accordance with Circular 05/05, Sport England seeks to 
ensure that the development meets any new sports facility needs arising as a 
result of the development. 

• In the absence of a Needs Assessment for outdoor sport, Sport England has 
consulted the main pitch sport national governing bodies. The Rugby Football 
Union (RFU) advise that the promotional activity currently underway with the 
2015 Rugby Union World Cup, and the legacy projects that are likely to 
evolve has created additional interest in Rugby Union in the area. This 
interest along with the additional demand arising from these three residential 
developments is likely to put pressure on the existing rugby facilities in the 
area. The RFU predicts a growth in membership over the coming season as a 
result of targeted RFU/club recruitment work and the increase in exposure 
offered by the Rugby World Cup (September 2015). The three closest Rugby 
Union Clubs that may be affected by the increase in demand arising from the 
housing developments are: 
1. North Manchester RUFC (circa 3 miles) – Manchester City Council 
2. Rochdale RUFC (circa 5miles) – Rochdale MBC 
3. Sedgley Park RUFC (circa 7 miles) – Bury MBC 

     Built Sports Facilities: 
• You may be aware that Sport England’s Sports Facilities Calculator (SFC) can 

help to provide an indication of the likely demand that will be generated by a 
development for certain facility types. The SFC indicates that a population of 
1064 will generate a demand for the following facility types: pools up to 
£157,064; halls up to £183,329; indoor bowls up to £17,994; and artificial 
sand pitch of £24,936, and artificial 3G pitch £28,293.

• An assessment would need to be made to ascertain what impact the 
additional demand will have on existing sports facilities. 
- Do the existing sports facilities have sufficient spare capacity to 
accommodate the - additional demand? 
- Will improvements be required to build in extra capacity on existing sites? 
- Are new sports facilities required? 

• Rochdale do not have an up to date Built Facilities Strategy. The information 
above provides an indication of what may be required based purely on the 
likely population profile the new dwellings are likely to generate. It is up to the 
applicant, in consultation with the Council, to decide/prove that there are 
sufficient existing facilities to meet the new demand. It is likely given the size 
of the development that contributions towards the creation of new facilities or 
the improvements of existing facilities may be required. If an assessment of 
need is not undertaken then it is the opinion of Sport England that the 
proposal does not meet the sustainability test which is set out in the NPPF.

Playing Pitches:
• Rochdale does not have a robust up to date Playing Pitch Strategy. As with 

the built facilities, the new population may have an impact on the existing 
playing fields. Therefore, contributions may be required to create additional 
playing pitch provision. I would encourage dialogue with Rochdale’s leisure 
department to determine what is required. 

• In conclusion, the applicants have submitted fairly detailed planning 
statements, but clearly omit to discuss sport or the impact the new residents 
will have on the existing sporting facilities/pitches. Sport England objects as 



the open space and sports provision is not based on any assessment of need 
as required by paragraph 17, 70 and 73 of NPPF.

Updated comments:
• I understand the contributions from the three applications have been 

calculated using Sport England’s Sports Facilities Calculator (SFC) as 
recommended in my response to the LPA in June and I the absence of an up 
to date Needs Assessment.  For information the SFC is adjusted annually to 
take into account revised cost estimates and any changes in population 
estimates issues by ONS.  I understand form our conversation yesterday that 
the intention is to revise the contribution at the appropriate time using the 
latest SFC, this is welcomed.  I also understand specific sites will be identified 
where the contributions will be used in order to comply with CIL regulations.  
Again this is welcomed as the site identification process will allow you to 
identify which sports facilities within the area requires improvement to create 
additional capacity to accommodate the increase in demand generated from 
the housing developments.

• I can confirm Sport England withdraws the objections previously lodged to 
applications 14/00849/OUT, 14/00851/OUT, and 15/00358/OUT.

REPRESENTATIONS

Direct Publicity: - The appropriate neighbouring properties were notified of the application by 
letter. In addition, as the proposal represents major development, is a departure from the 
UDP and has the potential to affect public rights of way, notices have also been posted on 
the site and in the local press. A total of 45 letters have been received in objection to the 
application and one letter has been received in support. The letter of support did not specify 
any comments.   

The points of objection made in the letters, followed by officer responses, are summarised 
as follows:

Objection:
The neutral letter states that the pumping station is indicated to be located over a culvert and 
well, which serves Langley Lane Farm and this could be detrimental to the ecology of the 
farm land and water way.  

Officer Response:
The proposed layout is indicative at present as the application is outline with access only - 
the detailed layout is reserved for subsequent approval.  The comments have been provided 
to the applicant and conditions are recommended requiring the submission of a detailed 
drainage scheme prior to commencement.  Any rights and covenants relating to the culvert 
and well are civil matters.  

Objection:
Green Belt land should be protected from developers wanting to make a profit.  There has 
been no change in circumstances since the refusal of previous applications and the 
dismissal of an appeal on the site to indicate that a different decision should be reached. The 
site performs the same function as the Green Belt and should remain open, as intended by 
the policy in the UDP.

Officer Response:
The application site is not located within the Green Belt, but located within an area 
designated as Protected Open Land within the UDP. The role and function of Protected 
Open Land is not the same as the Green Belt, which is protected for its intrinsic permanence 



and openness. As noted elsewhere in this report, previous Inspectors have resolved that it 
was not necessary to include the land to which the application relates within the Green Belt. 
Each application will be determined on its own merits having regards to the balance of 
material considerations at that time. Since the appeal that was determined in 1985 there has 
been a significant shift in planning policy through the introduction of the NPPF.  The policy 
emphasis in the NPPF upon the provision of housing to meet objectively assessed needs is 
a significant change in national policy and requires local planning authorities to ‘boost 
significantly’ the supply of housing (paragraph 47 of the NPPF) where there has been a 
record of persistent under delivery of housing.  

Objection:
There are numerous brownfield sites available throughout the borough which should be 
developed as a priority before any more greenfield sites are released for housing. The 
Council’s own figures illustrate that RMBC have enough land on which to build over 11,500 
new properties throughout the borough, thus fulfilling its 5 year housing land supply target 
without any need to build on countryside or farmland. RMBC has an annual quota (laid down 
by government) to construct approximately 400 houses on an annual basis within the 
borough and is currently the only Local Authority in Greater Manchester to be ahead of its 
building quota. Recent applications approved in Middleton (e.g. Langley and British Vita) 
have allowed the construction of over 600 new houses in the township. Houses of the type 
proposed are already freely available on the market and those already for sale are currently 
struggling to sell. Therefore, there is no justifiable need for further housing within the 
borough at the present time, and certainly not within the countryside.

Officer Response:
The most up to date housing need figures for the Borough put forward by the Council within 
the latest Strategic Housing Market Assessment from January 2015, indicate that an annual 
figure of 460 dwellings be provided. However, this figure contrasts significantly with the 
projected figures contested at the Core Strategy Examination which go up to 750 dwellings 
per annum. In further contrast the figure used by Inspectors within recent appeal decisions 
within the Borough utilises the former RSS target of 621 dwellings per annum. As there is a 
wide variation in the annual target and the appropriate target is yet to be confirmed, there is 
a significant degree of uncertainty in what is the appropriate target. Nevertheless, as the 
Council has no target, the Council cannot demonstrate a 5 year housing supply. Therefore, 
the application needs to be determined having regard to the tests set out in the UDP and 
taking into account national policy and guidance. Notwithstanding the above, looking at the 
housing target alone also ignores the particular issues faced within the Borough in terms of 
delivery of new homes, and the recent background of removals and demolition of housing as 
part of the Housing Market Renewal pathfinder programme. Indeed between 2003/4 and 
2009/10 a total of 1,334 dwellings were demolished across the Borough. As a result during 
the period between 2008/09 and 2012/13 there was an average net delivery of only 302 
dwellings per year.  The Borough will face an ongoing pressure in terms of delivery against 
plan targets over the next few years given significant number of existing units are planned to 
be demolished as part of the regeneration of existing housing areas.

Objection:
The development will spoil one of the last few remaining open green spaces in Middleton, 
will detract from the openness of the land and adjoining Green Belt in visual terms and will 
diminish the enjoyment of the countryside for recreational and sporting purposes through the 
loss of green pastures and removal and obstruction of existing bridleways and footpaths 
(including removing this benefit for future generations).  The development of this area of 
Protected Open Land would see the effective merging of Middleton and Heywood and an 
associated 12 mile long urban sprawl between Manchester and Bamford. The land has been 
left open for centuries and designated as Protected Open Land in order to avoid this, and to 
provide a green buffer between the two towns. The release of the land for housing would set 



a precedent allowing the development of additional, adjoining land in the future.

Officer Response:
The application has been supported by landscape and visual impact assessment which 
concludes that following mitigation there would be no over-riding harm to the character and 
appearance of the surrounding landscape. The Green Belt would be retained to the north, 
east and west of the application site. The purpose of the Green Belt is to prevent the sprawl 
of towns and stop settlements from merging into one another. The Green Belts purpose and 
importance in providing valuable open space, preventing the neighbouring settlements of 
Middleton and Heywood from merging would therefore be retained as a result of the 
proposed development. 

As discussed elsewhere in this report the proposed development would not obstruct public 
rights of way or significantly harm their integrity and therefore it is not considered that the 
proposal would diminish the enjoyment and recreational function of the countryside. The 
application as all applications will need to be determined on its merits, and as noted 
elsewhere in this report the Council has recently released greenfield sites for housing having 
lost appeals at Inquiry following refusal.

Objection:
The development would destroy existing flora and fauna on the site including ancient 
hedgerows, grasslands, ponds and other natural habitats for current species, many of which 
are protected (e.g. bats and great crested newts) and known to exist within the site. 

Officer Response:
The impact on nature conservation interests has been assessed in more detail in 
subsequent part of the report, and it is noted that the proposals have been accompanied by 
an ecological report and the scheme has been reviewed by Greater Manchester Ecology 
Unit (GMEU), Natural England the Council’s Green infrastructure Officer who have raised no 
objections to the proposed development subject to conditions.  Whilst it is noted that the 
proposed development would result in the loss of open fields on the urban fringe of 
Middleton, it is noted that the proposals include a large area of landscaped open space 
along the boundaries of the site that would incorporate replacement ponds, tree planting and 
landscaping. The proposal includes the retention of the hedgerows along the boundaries and 
within the site which act as wildlife corridors and it is noted that otherwise the fields comprise 
species poor semi-improved grassland. Subject to conditions securing biodiversity 
enhancements within the site and mitigation measures to minimise impacts on nesting birds, 
Great Crested Newts and bats, it is considered that there would be no over-riding harm to 
wildlife and nature conservation interests. 

Objection:
The proposed development would lead to a significant increase in traffic generation on the 
already busy thoroughfares of Langley Lane and Hollin Lane. These issues would be 
exacerbated by construction traffic during the course of development and additional vehicles 
associated with future occupiers of the houses. Both schemes propose 2 car parking spaces 
per dwelling, resulting in a minimum of 710 additional vehicles in the locality (355 x 2). There 
is insufficient capacity on surrounding streets and junctions to accommodate this increase in 
traffic and this would also be exacerbated through by the forthcoming construction of a new 
trunk road at junction 19 of the M62, located a short distance to the north of the site. 
Accordingly, the development would have a detrimental impact on road safety. Pedestrian 
safety is also of particular concern in this location given the site’s close proximity to St 
Anne’s Academy.

Officer Response:
The application has been accompanied by a Transport Assessment which has carried out a 



detailed appraisal of the traffic implications of the development along with proposals on 
adjacent sites. The report concludes that that having modelled traffic flows on the 
surrounding highway network and junctions that the surrounding network would still operate 
within its existing capacity when the proposed development on this site and also the 
adjacent sites would be in use and complete. This has been considered and independently 
assessed by the Highways Authority, Highways England and by TfGM who have all raised 
no objections to the proposed development subject to conditions securing more sustainable 
travel mode enhancements and off site highways works. A more detailed assessment of the 
traffic and highways safety implications of the proposals is set out in subsequent sections of 
the report. However, it is considered that whilst traffic levels will increase as a result of the 
proposals, the proposed development and that on nearby sites would not cause significant 
harm to the function and safety of the surrounding highway network. 

Objection:
The increase in traffic arising from the development, both during the anticipated seven year 
build regime and following the occupation of the houses, would result in an increase in 
airborne pollutants, which would have an adverse impact on air quality in the area and, 
accordingly, the health of surrounding residents. Air quality is already poor and the farmland 
helps to reduce this.  The length of time required to construct the development would also 
mean noise, disturbance, dust and traffic disruption throughout the build period, thereby 
creating a burden on the local community lasting for a number of years.

Officer Response:
In order to assess the implications of the proposed development on air quality, noise levels 
an Air Quality Assessment which includes an assessment of the impacts during construction 
have been submitted and assessed by the Council’s Environmental Health Department. The 
report concludes that subject to the implementation of a series of mitigation measures, the 
cumulative impacts of the proposed development alongside the development of nearby sites 
would not result in significant adverse impacts on air quality and noise levels. In order to 
secure the approval of an appropriate scheme of measures to prevent unacceptable harm to 
surrounding residents during the construction phase of the development a condition has 
been recommended to require approval of a construction method statement in line with the 
recommendations of the submitted report and comments of the Environmental Health 
Department.

Objection:
It is unclear whether the site can be adequately drained in order to prevent future flooding 
and whether the existing sewerage system has the capacity required to deal with the 
additional foul and surface water generated by the proposal.  The site already suffers from 
poor drainage.  The water pressure in the area is already very low and is likely to be further 
impacted as a result of the development.

Officer Response:
The flood risk and drainage implications of the proposed development are considered in 
more detail elsewhere in this report. Nevertheless, the application has been accompanied by 
a flood risk assessment and outline drainage strategy which sets out the existing drainage 
and flood issues within the site. This concludes that the site is at no significant risk of 
flooding from a variety of sources and that to attenuate and manage surface water flows that 
a network of overground water storage and oversized pipes be provided to mimic the 
existing surface water flows of the greenfield site and that this be directed to an existing 
nearby watercourse in accordance with sustainable drainage objectives. It is noted that the 
Environment Agency, United Utilities and the Council as Lead Local Flood Authority have 
raised no objections subject to conditions restricting the method of foul and surface water 
drainage accordingly, and the submission and approval of a detailed foul and surface water 
drainage scheme within subsequent applications. In order to prevent surface water entering 



the combined foul sewer a condition has been included preventing surface water entering 
the foul sewer. It is therefore considered that there are sufficient measures in place to secure 
the approval and implementation of a foul and surface water drainage scheme that would not 
result in the increase in flood risk elsewhere. 

Objection:
The development is intended to provide executive homes and will result in Middleton 
becoming a commuter town for residents working in Manchester. This type of housing would 
not fall within the definition of social housing and the prices would put the houses out of the 
reach of local people.

Officer Response:
The application seeks outline permission for up to 88 dwellings and proposes a mix of 
dwelling types.  With regards to the provision of affordable housing within the proposed 
development, as the application is in outline and is subject to detailed design the exact 
number and type of affordable dwellings to be provided on site or contributions to be 
provided to affordable schemes off site are not known at this stage. The applicant has 
agreed to enter into a Legal Agreement to secure the provision of an affordable housing 
scheme, subject to viability, in line with the Council’s adopted Affordable Housing SPD and 
policy H/7 of the UDP which requires that on such developments that either affordable 
housing units be provided on site, or the associated value be provided to make provision for 
affordable housing elsewhere. 

Objection:
The addition of new homes on the site would put increased pressure on local schools and 
other public services (e.g. transport, GPs, dentists, utilities etc.) which are already stretched. 
The development is likely to add a further circa 300 children requiring new schools places. 
These are not presently capable of being provided in the area and the education system is 
already operating at/over capacity. The cost of this will be borne by the Council.

The development would also increase the potential for crime and disorder both during the 
construction period and once the houses are finished (e.g. through burglaries and 
trespassing onto a construction site). This would increase pressure on the already under-
resourced local police force.

Officer Response:
The concerns regarding residents on existing community resources, and health, education, 
transport services in the local area are noted and given the nature of the residential 
development it is acknowledged that there would be additional demand generated for these 
services by the proposals. In order to mitigate for this the Council has been undertaking 
negotiations with the applicant to secure the provision of measures to mitigate for this need. 
Indeed the application has been amended to take into account the need for education 
provision and allows for the potential of land within the site for a primary school. Whilst, this 
is discussed in more detail elsewhere in this report, the applicant has agreed to enter into a 
legal agreement to secure the payment of financial contributions to provide for the additional 
school places generated by the proposed development to be spent within the Middleton 
Township. As noted elsewhere the provision of community use space within the site as a 
nursery has been removed from the scheme as there is considered to be limited demand for 
such a facility within the local area.

In terms of local transport, the applicants have also agreed to enter into a legal agreement to 
secure financial contributions towards the provision of additional bus stops and new and 
improved cycle lanes within the vicinity of the site. 

With regards to the security of the site during the construction of the development, it is noted 



that in order to meet health and safety legislation the site contractors and developers will be 
need to provide a series of site safety measures including providing for site security. In order 
to ensure there would be adequate measures in place during construction to safeguard 
safety on and off site, a condition has been recommended requiring the submission and 
approval of a construction method statement. Overall, it is not considered that the proposed 
development would give rise to significant risk of increased crime and anti-social behaviour.

Objection:
There is considerable local opposition to the development. The Council should support the 
views of its residents and refuse the application on the basis of this opposition and the force 
of public opinion.

Officer Response:
The concerns and objections raised by surrounding residents are appreciated and 
understood and are fully considered in the determination of this application. As also set out 
elsewhere in this report the Local Planning Authority has to determine the planning 
application in accordance with the policies of the development plan unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise. Indeed as set out below this is a requirement set out in 
planning law governing the decision making of planning applications. The starting point is 
therefore the development plan and the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) is an 
important material consideration as are those material planning considerations discussed 
above and raised by objectors.  

ANALYSIS

Background to the Site and Its Allocation as Protected Open Land

It is important to set out the background to the designation of the Protected Open Land, 
particularly given that over the years, there have been conflicting pressures in respect of the 
Protected Open Land in this area to (a) have it included within the Green Belt and (b) for it to 
be allocated for development.  

Greater Manchester Green Belt Local Plan

The 1984 Greater Manchester Green Belt Local Plan (GMGBLP) shows that the land was 
not included within the Green Belt and formed part of a wider area of open land to the north 
and west of Middleton.  The reasons for this land not being included within the Green Belt 
are not known but it is noted that large areas of undeveloped open land around the urban 
areas of Greater Manchester were left out of the Green Belt at that time to ensure the 
permanence of the Green Belt by not making it overly restrictive in terms of meeting the 
future development needs of the existing built up area. This buffer land has been similarly 
designated as either Protected Open Land or Safeguarded Land within the local plans of 
other Greater Manchester Districts.  

In the case of the wider designation of land to the north of Middleton, some release of 
Protected Open Land has previously been permitted as a result of development needs at 
that time. It is noted that land was released for residential development to the south of 
Langley Lane (former Bishop Marshall school site) in the late 1980’s and land to the south of 
the current St. Anne’s Academy in the 1990’s. It is also noted land was released for 
development in the 1980’s to allow for an expansion of Stakehill Business Park.

The Greater Manchester Green Belt has not been reviewed since 1984 despite a 
commitment being made in the then regional planning guidance of 2003 to review the 
boundaries of the Green Belt in 2011.  



1999 Unitary Development Plan (UDP)

The former UDP adopted in 1999 reaffirmed the Green Belt as set out within the 1984 
GMGBLP with some minor exclusions.  This again showed that the land at Langley Lane 
and Hollin Lane was not within the Green Belt.  This UDP introduced an Open Land 
Protection policy (Policy C/9) for land between the Defined Urban Area (DUA) and the Green 
Belt.  Since the land in question falls between the DUA and the Green Belt then this policy 
was relevant to this site.  Policy C/9 of the 1999 UDP was as follows:

On land between the Green Belt and the Defined Urban Area, or between the Green Belt 
and the Borough boundary, other than land allocated for development, the Council will 
normally grant planning permission only for development which would be permissible if the 
land were in Green Belt, or for development:-
(a) Which would be acceptable on agricultural land by virtue of Policies C/1 and C/2;
(b) Which would not detract from the visual amenity and environment of open land in 

general and especially adjacent Green Belt; 
(c) For recreational uses, including ancillary buildings required in connection with an 

outdoor facility, subject to the provisions of countryside recreation policies, especially 
Policy R/27; and

(d) Comprising an extension to, the conversion, re-use or replacement of:-
(i) an existing dwelling;
(ii) a building in connection with an existing source of employment; or
(iii) an agricultural building

provided that it is of an appropriate scale and will not cause any significant adverse impact 
on the immediate locality, its amenities and the open character of its surroundings.

(For the avoidance of doubt, the construction of new dwellings and new buildings in 
connection with a new industrial or commercial use will not normally be permitted.)

Land outside the Defined Urban Area which is likely to be suitable and required to meet 
development needs in the years immediately following the end-date of the present Plan will 
be safeguarded for that purpose and is indicated on the Proposals Map.  It is subject to all 
the provisions of this Policy during the currency of the Plan.

At the Inquiry into the 1999 UDP, representations were submitted seeking the inclusion of 
both the Hollin Lane and Langley Lane sites within the Green Belt.  In considering these 
requests the Inspector considered two criteria in relation to including land within the Green 
Belt: (1) that Green Belts should not include land which it is unnecessary to keep 
permanently open, and (2) that the boundary around an existing built up area should not be 
drawn so tightly that it becomes impossible to make proper provision for necessary 
development in the future.  The Inspector concluded that the addition of these sites to the 
Green Belt was not justified. 

Although the Inspector considered that the land should not be included in the Green Belt, 
neither was he convinced that the land should be released for housing or employment 
development at that time, despite representations received in respect of the land north of 
Langley Lane.  On this matter, he concluded that the land should remain as Protected Open 
Land. 

2006 Unitary Development Plan (UDP)

The UDP adopted in 2006 did not change the designation of the land off Langley Lane and 
Hollin Lane, in that it remained land between the urban area and the Green Belt.  The only 
slight change was that the term for such land changed to Protected Open Land (as opposed 



to Open Land Protection) and the wording of the related policy (D/10) was simplified to the 
following:

Within the areas of Protected Open Land defined on the Proposals Map, development 
proposals will be permitted that fall within one or more of the following categories: 

g) development which would be acceptable were it in the Green Belt; or
h) limited infilling within an established pocket of housing or industry where this is in 

scale with the area and will not adversely affect its character or surroundings; or
i) a limited extension to an existing building which:

(vii) forms part of an existing source of employment; or
(viii) is necessary for the establishment of a new enterprise or business which satisfies 

other policies of the Plan; and
(ix)  is sited within the existing curtilage of the business concerned, and will not 

adversely affect the character of the surrounding land and its openness.

Where new buildings are permitted, they should be sited to form a group with existing 
buildings.  Where this is not possible, buildings, car parking areas and other new structures, 
should be sited where they will be well screened and unobtrusive in the landscape.  All 
buildings and extensions should be of a high standard of design, using materials that are 
compatible with the landscape, and should not detract from the visual amenity and 
environment of adjacent Green Belt.

As with the 1999 UDP objections were received seeking the inclusion of the application sites 
within the Green Belt and seeking the release of the land for development.

In terms of including the land within the Green Belt, the Inspector concluded that given the 
size of the site any move to include it within the Green Belt should be part of a wider review 
of Green Belts within Greater Manchester. At that time Regional Planning Guidance 
indicated that such a review was not necessary. He added that, considering national and 
regional guidance, the objectors had not established the exceptional circumstances sufficient 
for him to recommend a modification to include the land within the Green Belt.   

In terms of considering whether the land should be released for development, the Inspector 
did not deal with this site specifically but it was included in his general view that a review of 
the approach to identifying sites for additional housing should be carried out.  As part of this 
wider assessment all the omission sites should be considered to determine an appropriate 
number of residential allocations. This proposed modification to the plan was not taken 
forward as it was considered that sufficient land would come forward to the meet the 
relatively low housing target for the Borough as set out in regional guidance at that time. 

The extent of the Green Belt to the north of the site has been reviewed by Inspectors during 
the examination of the previous Unitary Development Plan dated 1999 and the examination 
of the Green Belt Local Plan dated 1984.  At the Inquiry into the 1999 UDP, the Inspector 
considered requests to include both the Hollin Lane and Langley Lane sites in the Green 
Belt. The Inspector concluded that: Green Belts should not include land that it is 
unnecessary to keep permanently open; and the boundary around an existing built up area 
should not be drawn so tightly that it becomes impossible to make proper provision for 
necessary development in the future.  The Inspector ultimately concluded that the addition of 
the Protected Open Land into the Green Belt was not justified.  

It is clear from this that the land the subject of the Protected Open Land designation was not 
intended to remain permanently open, but instead was to be safeguarded to accommodate 
future development needs beyond the period of the 1984 Green Belt Local Plan and the 
1999 Unitary Development Plan.  The Protected Open Land designation was subsequently 



carried forward into the 2006 UDP.  

Principle of Development

The NPPF and Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development

Planning law requires applications to be determined in accordance with the development 
plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. The National Planning Policy 
Framework (NPPF) published in 2012 is one such material consideration and whilst it does 
not change the legal status of the development plan, it promotes a presumption in favour of 
sustainable development, to which there are three mutually dependent dimensions: 
economic, social and environmental.  

Paragraph 9 of the NPPF states that pursuing sustainable development involves seeking 
positive improvements in the quality of the built, natural and historic environment, as well as 
in people’s quality of life, including (but not limited to):
 making it easier for jobs to be created in cities, towns and villages;
 moving from a net loss of bio-diversity to achieving net gains for nature;
 replacing poor design with better design;
 improving the conditions in which people live, work, travel and take leisure; and
 widening the choice of high quality homes. 

Key to its economic dimension is the contribution to building a strong, responsive and 
competitive economy, by ensuring that sufficient land of the right type is available in the right 
places and at the right time to support growth and innovation; and by identifying and 
coordinating development requirements, including the provision of infrastructure.

The social dimension requires supporting strong, vibrant and healthy communities, by 
providing the supply of housing required to meet the needs of present and future 
generations; and by creating a high quality built environment, with accessible local services 
that reflect the community’s needs and support its health, social and cultural well-being.

Finally, the environmental dimension requires that development contributes to protecting and 
enhancing our natural, built and historic environment; and, as part of this, helping to improve 
biodiversity, use natural resources prudently, minimise waste and pollution, and mitigate and 
adapt to climate change including moving to a low carbon economy.

Paragraph 14 of the NPPF states that for plan-making, the presumption in favour of 
sustainable development means that local planning authorities should positively seek 
opportunities to meet the development needs of their area; and Local Plans should meet 
objectively assessed needs, with sufficient flexibility to adapt to rapid change unless any 
adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits, 
when assessed against the policies in this Framework taken as a whole; or specific policies 
in the NPPF indicate development should be restricted.  

Paragraph 14 of the NPPF goes on to state that for decision-taking, the presumption in 
favour of sustainable development means: 
 Approving development proposals that accord with the development plan without 

delay, and
 Where the development plan is silent, or relevant policies are out-of-date, granting 

planning permission unless: 
 Any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably 

outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in the Framework 
taken as a whole; or 



 Specific policies in the framework indicate development should be restricted. 

In the context of the above, the site is designated as Protected Open Land in the 2006 UDP 
Proposals Map and the proposal therefore represents a departure from the development 
plan, specifically Policy D/10. The second bullet is therefore relevant and requires an 
assessment of the relevant policies in the development plan to determine whether or not 
they are out-of-date.  

Whilst the NPPF was published in 2012, paragraph 211 of the NPPF makes it clear that for 
the purpose of decision-taking, the policies in the Local Plan should not be considered out-
of-date simply because they were adopted prior to the publication of the Framework. Rather, 
due weight should be given to relevant policies in existing plans according to their degree of 
consistency with the framework - the closer the policies in the development plan to the 
policies in the framework, the greater the weight they may be afforded in decision making.  

The relevant policies in this case are Policy H/3 (residential development outside allocated 
areas), Policy H5 (Residential Density) and Policy D/10 (protected open land) of the UDP. 
Policy H/5 of the UDP requires residential development to achieve a density of between 30-
50 dwellings per hectare. Minimum density requirements have been removed from national 
guidance and this policy is therefore significantly out-of-date and can be afforded no weight 
in the determination of this application.

In respect of Policies H/3 and D/10, there are two recent appeal cases of relevance which 
followed the refusal of planning permission for proposed residential development on 
Protected Open Land in the Borough. These are considered further in the subsequent 
section of this report. 

Release of Protected Open Land in 2013

In allowing two recent appeal decisions relating to the development of Protected Open Land 
at Keswick Street, Castleton (ref APP/P4225/A/11/2158074) and Broad Lane, Rochdale (ref 
APP/P4225/A/12/2184755), Inspectors have concluded as follows: 

• The relevant saved policies of the UDP, including both D/10 and H/3, which seek to 
prevent the release of greenfield sites in the presence of a five year land supply, 
have been overtaken by events and the national policy emphasis on delivery of 
housing, and are therefore effectively out-of-date.

• The Council acknowledges that it is unable to demonstrate a 5 year supply of 
housing land. The proposed development would assist in meeting an identified need 
for market and affordable housing in the area. In accordance with the Framework this 
weighs substantially in favour of the proposal.

• The proposition that a 20% buffer is warranted in Rochdale at present and that the 
land supply is perhaps as low as around 3 years, but around 3.66 years if the 
accrued shortfall is spread over the balance of the RSS period to 2021, was clearly 
not challenged by the Council at the Inquiry and it accepts in any event, that it cannot 
demonstrate a five year supply.

• Given that it is common ground between the Council and the appellants that the five 
year supply requirement is not currently met, and the development plan is manifestly 
out-of-date in terms of housing land, paragraph 14 of the Framework is undoubtedly 
engaged.

Notwithstanding the fact that Policy H/3 permits the development of greenfield sites when 
the supply of land available for residential development falls below five years, Policies D/10 
and H/3, which seek to prevent the release of greenfield sites in the presence of a five year 
land supply, have been overtaken by events and the national policy emphasis on delivery of 
housing and are therefore patently out-of-date.



Where policies are out-of-date, the NPPF directs that planning permission should be granted 
unless any adverse impacts significantly and demonstrably (emphasis added) outweigh the 
benefits, when assessed against the NPPF as a whole; or unless specific policies indicate 
development should be restricted.  It is noted that the site is not subject to any of the 
designations listed in the NPPF that would indicate development should be restricted. 
Therefore, an assessment of the adverse impacts and benefits is necessary to determine 
whether the proposal comprises sustainable development as defined by the NPPF.  

Material Change in Circumstances

Since the Inspectors decisions concerning the release of Protected Open Land at Broad 
Lane and Keswick Street, there have been material changes in circumstances of relevance 
to this application: the submission of the Core Strategy for Examination in May 2013; the 
subsequent suspension of the examination following the Inspector’s direction that an update 
to the evidence base was necessary; and the updated evidence base itself.  This is 
considered in further detail below.

Emerging Core Strategy and Land Supply

Paragraph 216 of the NPPF recognises that from the date of publication, decision-takers 
may also give weight to relevant policies in emerging plans according to: the stage of 
preparation of the emerging plan; the extent to which there are unresolved objections to 
relevant policies (the less significant the unresolved objections, the greater the weight that 
may be given); and the degree of consistency of the relevant policies in the emerging plan to 
the policies in the NPPF (the closer the policies in the emerging plan to the policies in the 
Framework, the greater the weight that may be given).  

The Core Strategy was submitted for examination in May 2013.  An independent Inspector 
was appointed to hold the examination and the examination in public hearing sessions took 
place in October 2013. Following the initial hearing sessions, and in view of more recent 
evidence emerging from the 2011 census indicating higher than projected population growth 
and household formation rates, the Inspector sent a letter to the Council in November 2013 
which set out his views in respect of the approach to housing.  His concerns related to the 
evidence regarding objectively assessed housing need supporting the target set out in the 
submitted Core Strategy. 

In order to address this issue, the Inspector directed that an update of the Council’s Strategic 
Housing Market Assessment (SHMA) was required and that the examination should be 
suspended in order for the updated SHMA and any associated work to be undertaken.  The 
Council agreed to suspend the Core Strategy at a Cabinet meeting in February 2014 to 
update the housing evidence.  

Following consultation on a draft SHMA in October 2014, the updated SHMA was finalised in 
February 2015 and the Core Strategy examination was recently reconvened in June 2015 to 
consider the updated housing needs evidence. The Inspector’s report and recommendations 
are currently awaited. 

The SHMA proposes that a figure of 460 dwellings per annum (dpa) would be an appropriate 
annual housing target reflecting current evidence on objectively assessed housing need, 
taking account levels of population and household growth emerging from the 2011 Census 
data.  It is important at this point however to clarify that the SHMA considers a range of need 
between 460 dpa up to 750 dpa based on various growth scenarios and it is for the Inspector 
to determine the appropriate housing target.  Until the Inspector issues the final report, the 
Council does not have a tested housing target for the plan period that would determine the 



number of dwellings to be delivered per annum and any emerging housing target, whether it 
be 460 or otherwise would therefore have limited weight at this time.   However, it is however 
clear that in light of this most recent evidence of housing need that the UDP policy 
requirement for 240 new homes per annum is out of date.  

In determining whether or not a five year land supply can be demonstrated, it is necessary to 
consider the availability of land for housing against the latest tested housing target.  Recent 
appeal decisions have taken what is referred to as the recalculated Regional Spatial 
Strategy (RSS) target into account.  The RSS dates back to 2003 and whilst the RSS was 
revoked in May 2013, the evidence base supporting the document remains relevant.  The 
RSS target for the Borough was 400dpa and the recalculated element refers to ‘unmet need’ 
arising as a result of completion rates per annum falling below this target since 2003.  
In considering housing land supply housing targets, the NPPF requires that a buffer of 5% 
be included in order to ensure that any target continues to be met. This would typically be 
land brought forward in the plan period to provide choice and competition in the market for 
land. However, this approach would not apply here. In circumstances where there has been 
a record of persistent under delivery of new housing, the NPPF makes clear that this buffer 
should be increased to 20% brought forward in the plan period. In Rochdale Borough’s case, 
housing completions in recent years, and taken as a whole since 2003, are well below the 
previous target of 400 dpa set out in Regional Spatial Strategy (RSS) largely as a result of 
the major demolition programmes within the former Housing Market Renewal areas, which 
applied from 2003.
Therefore, in considering the current five year land supply since the publication of the NPPF, 
Planning Inspectors on recent appeals have taken the view that a 20% buffer should be 
applied in assessing whether or not a five year supply can be demonstrated within the 
Borough.  This is the approach taken by Planning Inspectors in determining recent appeals 
in the Borough relating to the development of Protected Open Land at Broad Lane and 
Keswick Street and designated green space for housing elsewhere within the Borough.  
If the recalcuated RSS target is to be met by 2021 (i.e. the end of the RSS period) this would 
give an annual target of 621 dwellings per annum (as at 1st April 2015).  This figure could 
be met from the current published five year supply (i.e. as at 1st April 2015) with the 5% 
supply buffer but cannot be met with the application of the 20% buffer.  

Housing Delivery Rates

Notwithstanding the above, looking at the housing target alone also ignores the particular 
issues faced within the Borough in terms of the delivery of new homes, and the recent 
background of clearance and demolition of housing as part of the Housing Market Renewal 
pathfinder programme. Indeed, between 2003/4 and 2009/10 a total of 1,334 dwellings were 
demolished across the Borough. As a result, during the period between 2008/09 and 
2012/13 there was an average net delivery of only 302 dwellings per year, thus well below 
the RSS target and significantly below the recalculated target.  Following the submission of 
the Core Strategy for examination, the rate of housing completions across the Borough has 
been below that set out within the RSS with a total of net completions of 267 in 2013/14 and 
313 for 2014/15, thus below both the original RSS requirement and the recalculated 
requirement.  

The Core Strategy seeks to manage the supply of land between the period of 2013 until 
2028 and now proposes a higher housing requirement to respond to more recent evidence 
of population growth and household formation rates.  As of 1st April 2015, it must be 
therefore recognised that, were the Inspector to accept that an appropriate annual housing 
target for the Borough is 460, the Council would already be facing a shortfall of 340 housing 
completions against this target for the first two years of the Core Strategy period.  It is 
therefore concluded that the 20% buffer as advocated within the NPPF and accepted by the 
Inspectors as being relevant for the Borough in 2013 at the Broad Lane and Keswick Street 



appeals would similarly apply at the present time..  

Going forward, the Borough will face an ongoing and challenging pressure in terms of the 
delivery of new housing against any plan target given a significant number of dwellings are 
proposed to be demolished over the next few years as part of the continued regeneration of 
existing housing areas.  The demolitions would need to be offset by an increase in new 
housing completions in order to avoid a further shortfall in new housing delivery.  

To meet targets going forward will require a significant uplift in the current rate of delivery of 
new housing and a deliverable supply of housing sites attractive to the market will be needed 
to ensure an acceleration in the rates of housing delivery can be maintained to ensure 
housing needs are met over the Core Strategy plan period.  . The Inspector, in considering 
the soundness of the Core Strategy, may therefore instruct that unmet need is moved 
forward and dealt earlier in the plan period.     

Irrespective of the uncertainty surrounding the appropriate housing target, it is clear that the 
housing policies and targets within the adopted UDP are out-of-date. In such cases, 
paragraph 14 of the NPPF very clearly directs that the ‘presumption in favour of sustainable 
development’ means planning permission should be granted unless the adverse impact of 
doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits (emphasis added) 
when assessed against the Framework as a whole; or where specific policies indicate 
development should be restricted.  

The submitted Core Strategy includes policy G5, Managing Protected Open Land, which is 
relevant to the application site. This policy seeks to retain the general protection of land 
between the Defined Urban Area and the Green Belt.  However, section 3 of the policy 
acknowledges that if there is evidence development needs cannot be met elsewhere then 
the development of protected open land may be acceptable provided that all of the criteria 
within the section are satisfied.  This has been incorporated in order to provide flexibility and 
seeks to reflect the guidance within NPPF that recommends that policies included in Local 
Plans are sufficiently flexible and responsive to deal any changes to development needs 
over the plan period.  Again, at the current time it is not clear whether this policy will be 
carried forward without modification given the Core Strategy must meet objectively assessed 
housing need for the purpose of soundness.  

Whilst the Core Strategy has not yet been adopted and the policies within it carry limited 
weight at this time, it nevertheless sets out the approach to assessing applications for 
housing developments within such locations and accordingly reflects the approach within the 
NPPF in providing a more flexible and responsive approach to dealing with changes to 
development needs over the plan period.  However, the Core Strategy covers a period 
between 2013 up to 2028. As reported previously, consistent undersupply against the 
housing target in the Core Strategy, particularly in the early years of the plan period, would 
further exacerbate the undersupply of housing in the Borough and would prejudice the 
delivery of the Core Strategy in the plan period. It would also be contrary to the NPPF 
requirement to boost significantly the supply of housing. The Inspector may therefore instruct 
that unmet need is moved forward and dealt earlier in the plan period.     

With regards to the golden thread of sustainable development running through the NPPF, it 
is also noted that the site is located adjacent to a bus route that runs along Langley Lane 
immediately to the south of the site which provides hourly services into Middleton. However, 
a more frequent bus service is located along Hollin Lane to the east of the site. This route 
provides 3 services into Middleton Town Centre, Bury and Manchester with a frequency of a 
service every 10 minutes during the day provided on one of these services. The site is 
immediately adjacent to a secondary school, and it is noted that there are a number of 
primary schools within a 20 minute walking distance from the site. With regards to other local 



facilities, three small retail and commercial units are located at the junction of Hollin Lane 
and Langley Lane, and a public house and further small convenience shop are located within 
walking distance further along Hollin Lane to the south of the site. A wide variety of 
employment, leisure, retail, health and other community facilities and amenities located 
within Middleton and Heywood, accessible within short bus journey times of 10 minutes, with 
the regional centre of Manchester located approximately a 30 minute journey. Having regard 
to the above, the application site is considered to be within a sustainable location for the 
purposes of the NPPF. 

It is noted that, under both options, the number of dwellings proposed would make a 
significant and valuable contribution towards the supply of housing within the Borough.  In 
the context of the above, significant weight is afforded to the benefits of the proposal in 
respect of its contribution to the supply of housing in the Borough.  

Education Provision

Paragraph 72 of the NPPF states:

“The Government attaches great importance to ensuring that a sufficient choice of 
school places is available to meet the needs of existing and new communities. Local 
planning authorities should take a proactive, positive and collaborative approach to 
meeting this requirement, and to development that will widen choice in education. 
They should:

• give great weight to the need to create, expand or alter schools; and
• work with schools promoters to identify and resolve key planning issues 

before applications are submitted.

Policies C7 and DM2 of the emerging Core Strategy require that residential developments 
provide for social infrastructure including education facilities to meet the demand for 
additional school places created by such developments.  Whilst the weight that can be 
afforded to the Core Strategy policies is limited, the proposed residential development would 
generate additional demand for primary and secondary school places within the local area.  
In accordance with the NPPF, the impact of the development on education provision should 
be mitigated. 

The Council’s Schools Service notes that the existing primary and secondary schools within 
the local area are at capacity and have evidenced immediate and future need for additional 
places to be provided within the township of Middleton. The Schools Service has 
subsequently requested that the proposed development mitigates for this additional demand 
for education places by providing financial contributions to be utilised towards providing 
additional education facilities at Primary and Secondary Schools within the local area. It is 
considered that the provision of such additional education places and facilities would be 
necessary in order to provide for sustainable communities and achieve the golden thread of 
sustainable development running through the NPPF. 

Accordingly, the applicants have agreed to enter into a section 106 agreement to provide 
financial contributions towards the provision of primary and secondary school places off-site. 
The basis for calculating the scale of financial contributions towards providing for primary 
and secondary education places has through these discussions been agreed with the 
Council as Education Authority. A more detailed breakdown of the calculation of the 
necessary financial contributions towards mitigating for the education need generated by the 
proposed development is discussed in the planning obligations section of this report.  

Impact on Availability of High Quality Agricultural Land



Paragraph 112 of the NPPF states that local planning authorities should take into account 
the economic and other benefits of the best and most versatile agricultural land. Where 
significant development of agricultural land is demonstrated to be necessary, local planning 
authorities should seek to use areas of poorer quality land in preference to that of a higher 
quality. Best and most versatile agricultural land is classified as grade 3A, 2 and 1.  Land of 
lesser quality is classified as grade 3B, 4 and 5. 

It is noted that the proposed development would take up approximately 3.6 Ha of agricultural 
land most recently been left over for pasture and grazing purposes.  A survey has been 
undertaken by the applicant which has concluded that due to the soil quality and climatic 
considerations the land within the site constitutes grade 3B (moderate quality). Therefore, 
the proposals would not result in the loss of best and most versatile agricultural land, which 
accords with the NPPF and the loss of the moderate quality agricultural land is necessary to 
secure the provision of housing. The proposal therefore accords with the NPPF.    

Open Space, Recreation and Sports Facilities

Paragraph 70 of the NPPF states that to deliver the social, recreational and cultural facilities 
and services the community needs, planning policies and decisions should: 
 Plan positively for the provision and use of shared space, community facilities (such 

as local shops, meeting places, sports venues, cultural buildings, public houses, and 
places of worship) and other local services to enhance the sustainability of 
communities and residential environments; 

 Ensure an integrated approach to considering the location of housing, economic uses 
and community facilities and services. 

The need to provide for outdoor recreation and sports facilities is reflected in local planning 
policies in the UDP, where policy H/6 requires new housing developments to make adequate 
provision for recreational open space – comprising elements of both local (at a rate of 1 
hectare per 1000 population) and formal (at a rate of 1.1 hectare per 1000 population) 
provision. In the case of developments involving more than 100 bedrooms this provision is to 
be met through a financial contribution towards the laying out (including maintenance) and/or 
improvement of recreational open space off site. Contributions to off-site recreational open 
space are calculated on the basis of the number of bedrooms being created by a 
development and the resulting demand for recreational open space arising from the 
occupation of the new houses.

As of the 6th April 2015, the Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations now prevent more 
than five contributions being pooled towards a single form of infrastructure, such as 
recreation and sport facilities.  The Council has entered into more than 5 separate 
contributions for open space outdoor sport and recreation facilities and therefore any further 
contributions sought would not comply with the requirements of the Community 
Infrastructure Levy Regulations, unless specific projects are identified.

Notwithstanding this, it is noted that paragraph 73 of the NPPF highlights that access to high 
quality open spaces and opportunities for sport and recreation can make an important 
contribution to the health and well-being of communities.  In this regard, the indicative layout 
demonstrates the proposal would provide on-site open space, the detailed layout of which 
will be determined within future reserved matters applications. The provision of a Locally 
Equipped Area of Play (LEAP) within the linear area of public open space would provide 
formal children’s play facilities for the future occupants. Maintenance of on-site facilities 
would be the responsibility of the developer and it is intended that a landscape open space 
implementation and management plan will be secured by way of a section 106 Agreement.  



In relation to formal sports and recreation facilities, the applicant has agreed to enter into an 
s106 agreement to provide financial contributions in accordance with the Sport England 
Sports Facilities Calculator, towards the provision of new, or improvement of existing sports 
facilities, at Bowlee Playing Fields to mitigate the impact of the development on sports 
facilities.  Sport England has subsequently withdrawn the non-statutory objection initially 
raised.  As such, the proposal includes on and off site provision of formal and informal sport 
and recreation facilities in accordance with the NPPF. 

Impact on Character of Surrounding Area and Landscape

Section 11 of the NPPF sets a wide context to conserving and enhancing the natural 
environment and requires that valued landscapes are protected and enhanced and requires 
that the level of protection is commensurate with the status and importance of landscapes. 

Policy G/BE/1 of the UDP states that new development (both buildings and their settings) will 
be required to contribute to the provision of an attractive, safe and accessible built 
environment, and in particular contribute to the quality of the townscape and landscape, and 
accord with the best of its surroundings. Developments that engender local distinctiveness 
will be encouraged.

Policy BE/2 further requires that development be compatible with or improve their 
surroundings and to enhance or create views, landmarks and other townscape features 
which make a material contribution to the character of the area.

Policy G/NE/5 of the UDP specifically states that in considering the impact of development 
proposals, special emphasis will be placed on the effect of development on the visual and 
cultural character of the landscape and features of acknowledged cultural, natural and 
historic significance. 

Policy NE/6 of the UDP goes on to states that: 

“Development will be permitted where it conserves the physical and cultural attributes of the
landscape and contributes, as appropriate, to the regeneration, restoration, enhancement or
maintenance of the landscape likely to be affected. Proposals with potential landscape and 
visual implications will be assessed having regard to the extent to which they would:

1. Make a positive contribution to the visual amenity of the area (including views into 
and from the site and surrounding area);

2. Remove incongruous landscape features;
3.  Assist the conservation of:
(xi) Landscape elements that contribute to local distinctiveness;
(xii) Historic elements which make a significant contribution (individually or 

cumulatively) to landscape character and quality (e.g., field, settlement or road 
patterns, existing buildings, sites and features of archaeological interest);

(xiii) Semi-natural vegetation which is characteristic to the landscape type;
(xiv) The visual condition of landscape elements; and
(xv) Tranquillity and the amenity and informal recreation value of the landscape.

Development which adversely affects the character or physical structure of the landscape or 
which would detract from the physical record of the historic and cultural evolution of an area 
will not be permitted.”

With regards to the character of the wider area the site sits within the Manchester Pennine 
Fringe national character area (no. 54) which sits between the Southern Pennines to the 
north and Manchester Conurbation to the south. This area includes the towns of Bury 



Rochdale and Oldham and is described as a transitional zone between elevated, open 
moorlands and densely populated urban areas on lower ground. The landform is described 
as a transition from upland to lowland with smooth shoulders of land divided by steep-sided 
valleys, and with vantage points provided on elevated areas providing views across Greater 
Manchester. This notes that much of the countryside has been influenced by recreational 
use of adjacent urban areas and diversification of farmland resulting in a distinct urban fringe 
character.

The site lies to the north of the urban area of Middleton, with open fields to the north leading 
to the M62 motorway corridor, and the urban area of Heywood beyond. The application site 
sits within an undulating topography of open fields separated by hedgerows with small farm 
complexes interspersed and set within open fields. The site is located within what is 
characterised as settled farmlands within the Landscape Character Areas defined in policy 
NE/6 of the UDP. This notes that these areas are of more domesticated farmscape with 
occasional small settlements on lower slopes and valley edges; improved grasslands used 
for cattle, sheep and horse grazing, with a varied mix of open land uses including farming, 
equestrian, outdoor sports and managed areas of countryside.

The applicants have submitted a Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment in support of the 
application This provides a detailed assessment of the impact of the proposed development 
on the landscape and visual amenity of the surrounding area both during construction and 
throughout the lifetime of the development and also considers the cumulative impact with the 
other schemes.  From this, it is noted that the proposed development would result in effects 
of negligible to moderate adverse significance. Whilst some of these effects would reduce 
over time to negligible, residents in close proximity to the site and users of the local footpath 
network close to the site would experience the changes with the most adverse significance. 
Distance from the site and the degree of intervening vegetation serves to diminish this 
experience particularly in the context to housing to the south, and east. In many cases views 
of the new housing development will be seen in the context of existing urban features and 
existing housing and so would not, particularly over time be considered an intrusive feature.  
The site has the ability to absorb change and allow the process of development without 
impacting adversely on adjacent landscapes given appropriate development layout and 
mitigation to be determined at reserved matters stage.  

The report concludes that the proposals would not represent a significant adverse effect on 
both the landscape resource and to visual receptors except where receptors are in close 
proximity to the site. The retention of existing tree and shrub vegetation would assist in 
assimilating the proposed development into the adjacent landscape and the existing urban 
features will allow the site to establish a new character without significant adverse effects. 
Over time it is considered that new landscaping as part of the development will provide 
positive landscape benefits.  

Having regard to the above, the character of the surrounding area and its location on the 
urban fringe, although the development would inevitably change the character of the site, it 
is considered that it would not cause significant over-riding harm to the character, qualities 
and visual aesthetics of the surrounding landscape both individually and cumulatively, in 
accordance with policies G/NE/5 and NE/6 of the UDP, and the NPPF.  It would be 
necessary to ensure that the detailed scale, layout and form of the development responds to 
the context of the site at reserved matters stage.  

Highways and Traffic Implications

Paragraph 32 of the NPPF states that all developments that generate significant amounts of 
movement should be supported by a Transport Statement or Transport Assessment. 
Planning decisions should take account of whether:



• the opportunities for sustainable transport modes have been taken up depending 
on the nature and location of the site, to reduce the need for major transport 
infrastructure;

• safe and suitable access to the site can be achieved for all people; and
• improvements can be undertaken within the transport network that cost effectively 

limit the significant impacts of the development. Development should only be 
prevented or refused on transport grounds where the residual cumulative impacts 
of development are severe.

UDP policy A/11 states that the submission of Transport Assessments will be required 
alongside planning applications where:

a) The development has the potential to lead to a material increase in the volume of 
road traffic or increased impact because of the type of traffic, and it is necessary to 
determine whether highway works or other measures are necessary; and

b) The development is major, and thus may involve a number of individual elements or 
uses which involve major generators of travel demand, and it is appropriate to 
illustrate accessibility to the site by all modes and the likely model split of journeys to 
and from the site.

The policy indicates that the scope and detail of Transport Assessments should reflect the 
size of a development and the extent of the transport implications and should illustrate what 
highway works and other transport measures are necessary to improve access, manage 
parking demand, address the impact of the development on air and noise pollution levels, 
and improve accessibility by walking, cycling and public transport. Any necessary measures 
identified in the Transport Assessment must support and complement the Local Transport 
Strategy set out in the Local Transport Plan.

The application has been supported by a detailed Transport Assessment and this concludes 
the proposed development, in cumulation with the development proposed by the other 
applications, can be accommodated on the highway network. The assessment has been 
reviewed by the Highways Authority, Highways England, and TfGM and no objections have 
been raised.  

Access:

UDP policy A/9 stipulates that development proposals will be required to facilitate safe and 
convenient access for general traffic, which includes cars, motorcycles and commercial 
vehicles. Relative to the scale, type and location of development, proposals should ensure 
that:

a) Roads, junctions and access points to/from premises are safe, convenient and 
suitable for the volume and characteristics of traffic that will be required to use them; 
and

b) Access for emergency service vehicles and other service vehicles, such as waste 
collection vehicles, is provided.

In addition, UDP policy H/3 (e) states that proposals should be compatible with surrounding 
uses, including highways, both in terms of [their] impact upon those uses and the impact of 
surrounding uses upon the amenity of future residents, and BE/2 (g) requires proposals to 
facilitate safe and convenient access and circulation.

As noted above, this application being outline with all matters reserved other than access, 
seeks permission for the access to the site which is proposed to be provided by a single 
access on to west side of Hollin Lane. The site access would be provided opposite the 
existing junction of Hollin Lane with Hazlehurst Drive and provide a straight single lane 
section estate road into the site for approximately 22 metres. The indicative masterplan 



shows the main spine road bending northwest through the site with a series of smaller 
secondary roads leading off to a network of smaller cul-de-sacs.

The proposed development will necessitate formalised junction markings at the access and 
the introduction of no waiting restrictions extended into the development to deter on street 
parking close to the junction.  The Council as Highways Authority has raised no objections 
subject to the implementation of the above series of highways works to assist and manage 
traffic flows on the surrounding highways network. It is proposed that a Section 278 
Agreement be entered into to secure the highway works. 

It is noted that the site is located within relatively close proximity to junction 19 of the M62 
motorway to the north. Highways England formerly Highways Agency have considered the 
impacts on the strategic road network and have raised no objections subject to a condition 
securing the approval of a travel plan in consultation with the Highways England and its 
subsequent implementation. 

It is noted that this site adjoins that the subject of a separate application submitted by a 
separate applicant relating to land to the north of Langley Lane.  It will be necessary to 
ensure that the layout at reserved matters stage facilitates access between the sites and a 
condition is recommended accordingly.   

It will be necessary for bus stops to be provided on the northbound and southbound sides of 
Hollin Lane to serve the development as noted by TfGM. The provision of these would 
encourage travel by bus in accordance with the NPPF and policy A/9 of the UDP.  

Traffic Generation and Network Capacity:

UDP policy A/8 states that new development will be permitted provided that the additional 
traffic generated will not be detrimental to the safe and efficient operation of the Highway 
Network, both adjacent to and further away from the site. Specifically, proposals should not:

a) Have an adverse impact on the safety of any road users;
b) Have an adverse impact on accessibility for pedestrians, including people with 

restricted mobility, cyclists or users of public transport in the immediate vicinity of the 
development;

c) Substantially increase congestion;
d) Divert traffic on to less suitable roads; or
e) Cause an unacceptable environmental impact on residential properties passed by 

traffic associated with the development whilst accessing the principal road network.

The policy states that where additional traffic movements directly generated by a 
development proposal would adversely affect the existing highway infrastructure, the 
developer will be required to fund works to leave the highway network in a no worse state. 
The works required by the Council could be any or all of the following:

• Improvements to the existing highway infrastructure;
• Improvements to public transport and related infrastructure;
• Measures to secure modal shift away from vehicular traffic to walking and cycling;
• Other traffic management measures; and/or
• The removal or restriction of car parking provision.

With regards to the specific implications on the important strategic network of the M62 and 
works associated with the South Heywood Strategic site and South Heywood Link Road it is 
also noted from separate analysis undertaken by the Highways Agency, that subject to 
implementation of the wider pinch point scheme of signalisation of junction 19 of the M62 
motorway the proposed development individually and cumulatively could be accommodated 
alongside these other long term strategic objectives.



In order to reduce the overall traffic associated with the development and encourage 
sustainable travel choice a Framework Travel Plan has also accompanied the application 
and proposes that the subsequent development incorporate a number of physical, 
management based measure to minimise travel by private motor-vehicle.  In order to secure 
this framework travel plan is drawn up into a detailed Travel Plan alongside the detailed 
reserved matters applications for the layout and design of the site, a condition has been 
recommended requiring the reserved matters applications to be accompanied by a detailed 
travel plan. 

Having regard to the above, and subject to the measures set out above being secured by 
way of condition and appropriate contributions by way of a legal agreement that there would 
be no severe impact on the function and safety of the surrounding local and strategic 
highway network, in accordance with the policies set out in the NPPF and saved policies of 
the UDP.

Parking Provision:

UDP policy A/10 relates to parking provision and refers to the Council’s Schedule of Parking 
Standards (UDP Appendix C) which identifies maximum standards for car parking provision 
and minimum standards for cycle and motorcycle parking. The maximum standard for car 
parking provision for two-bed (+) houses located outside the town centre is stipulated as two 
spaces per dwelling. A note to this Appendix indicates that “parking standards for C3 
[housing] developments are intended to result in an average, throughout the plan area of 
over the plan period, of 1.5 off-street car parking spaces per dwelling”. 

As the application submitted is in outline no details of the exact parking provision to be 
provided for each has been submitted at this point in time. However, details of parking 
provision for each dwelling will provided in subsequent applications for reserved matters for 
the detailed development of the site. Any scheme would need to come forward in line with 
the above standards set out in the UDP. Nevertheless, in principle given the number of 
dwellings proposed and layout and size of the site it is considered that sufficient parking 
could be provided on the site for the 88 dwellings in accordance with policy A/10 of the UDP.

Impact on Public Rights of Way:

UDP policy A/3 requires development proposals to facilitate safe and convenient access for 
pedestrians, disabled people and other people with restricted mobility. Relative to the scale, 
type and location of the development, proposals should ensure that:

a) Walking routes are safe, convenient, environmentally pleasant, highly visible from 
surrounding land and buildings, well lit and signed;

b) Pedestrian access into development sites is located to provide the most convenient 
route to nearby facilities and destinations;

c) Existing rights of way are maintained or improved; and
d) Walking routes are capable of being shared safely with cyclists.

UDP policy RE/6 stipulates that:
• The Council will develop, in partnership with other agencies, bodies, occupiers and 

landowners, a system of strategic recreational rights of way as identified on the 
Proposals Map. The intention will be to secure the protection, development and 
improvement of these routes to link areas of managed and accessible countryside 
and establish links with routes in the wider region. The Council will encourage and 
implement high quality links with such routes from urban areas.

• Where appropriate and practicable, the Council will support schemes which facilitate 
the greater use of these routes by cyclists, horseriders and those people with 



impaired mobility. Where opportunities and resources permit, the Council will support 
and implement enhancement schemes such as waymarking, picnic, interpretation 
and other facilities along the routes.

• In the implementation of this proposal, the Council will take account of the 
conservation of the countryside including the buildings within it, the protection of 
agricultural interests, areas of nature conservation importance (including designated 
areas) and the character and purpose of the route where appropriate.

UDP policy A/4 indicates that development proposals will be permitted where the design and 
layout of development schemes facilitate safe and convenient access for cyclists. Relative to 
the scale, type and location of the development, criteria (b – e) of the policy state that 
proposals should ensure:

• Off-road routes are safe, convenient, highly visible from surrounding land and 
buildings, well lit and signed as appropriate;

• The access infrastructure within new developments gives priority to the 
establishment of convenient routes for cyclists, unless essential motor vehicle access 
would be compromised by the lack of other suitable and safe alternatives;

• Cycle access points are located to provide direct and convenient links with adjoining 
uses, the wider cycle network and identified potential off-site cycle routes;

• Cycle routes intended or likely to be shared by pedestrians are designed to ensure 
safety and compatibility.

UDP policy A/13 stipulates that PROW and other pedestrian routes identified in the Council's 
'Local Walking Route Network' will be protected where they fall within sites proposed for 
development, subject to consideration of opportunities for local re-routing where this would 
improve convenience and safety for pedestrians. Improvements to the walking environment 
and the provision of new links will be a priority on the Local Walking Route Network and 
such improvements should address safety, convenience, attractiveness, comfort and 
accessibility for disabled people and other people with restricted mobility.

There a number of rights of way in the vicinity of the site and pedestrian crossing 
improvements across Hollin Lane would be necessary to ensure the development links with 
these PROW networks and provides safe crossing points for future occupants.  As a result, it 
is considered that the proposed indicative scheme would provide for a safe and accessible 
environment in accordance with the above policies of the UDP and the policy objectives set 
out in the NPPF.

Ecological and Nature Conservation

The NPPF requires that applications should conserve and enhance biodiversity, valued 
landscapes, minimise impacts and recognise the benefits of ecosystems. The impacts on 
nature conservation interests are also protected by a series of legislation including the 
Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act which requires Local Authorities to have 
regard to nature conservation and article 10 of the Habitats Directive stresses the 
importance of natural networks of linked corridors to allow movement of species between 
suitable habitats, and promote the expansion of biodiversity.

The third bullet point to paragraph 109 of the NPPF indicates that the planning system 
should contribute to and enhance the natural and local environment by minimising impacts 
on biodiversity and providing net gains in biodiversity where possible, contributing to the 
Government’s commitment to halt the overall decline in biodiversity, including by establishing 
coherent ecological networks that are more resilient to current and future pressures.

Paragraph 118 of the NPPF states that, when determining planning applications, local 
planning authorities should aim to conserve and enhance biodiversity by applying the 



following (relevant) principles:
• if significant harm resulting from a development cannot be avoided (through locating 

on an alternative site with less harmful impacts), adequately mitigated, or, as a last 
resort, compensated for, then planning permission should be refused;

• proposed development on land within or outside a Site of Special Scientific Interest 
likely to have an adverse effect on a Site of Special Scientific Interest (either 
individually or in combination with other developments) should not normally be 
permitted. Where an adverse effect on the site’s notified special interest features is 
likely, an exception should only be made where the benefits of the development, at 
this site, clearly outweigh both the impacts that it is likely to have on the features of 
the site that make it of special scientific interest and any broader impacts on the 
national network of Sites of Special Scientific Interest;

• opportunities to incorporate biodiversity in and around developments should be 
encouraged.

UDP policy NE/2 stipulates that development proposals adversely affecting sites and areas 
of ecological and geological/geomorphological importance will not be permitted (the Council 
seeking to protect and enhance them). In assessing proposals, the Council will apply 
national planning policy as it relates to international (e.g. Special Areas of Conservation – 
SAC), national (e.g. Sites of Special Scientific Interest – SSSI) and regional/local (e.g. Sites 
of Biological Importance – SBIs) designations in order to ensure that development does not 
adversely affect the integrity and fundamental nature conservation value of these sites, and 
that appropriate mitigation and safeguarding is put in place.

UDP policy NE/3 indicates that, in areas where the designations in policy NE/2 are not 
applicable, the effect of land use changes on existing features, species and habitats of 
ecological value will be taken into account in assessing proposals. Development should seek 
to retain such features and incorporate them into the development. Where this would place 
an unreasonable constraint on the development, steps to provide compensatory features or 
habitats of an equivalent nature and value, commensurate with the scale and type of 
development permitted may be required. Developments which establish new landscaping 
and open spaces that contribute to nature conservation and local biodiversity will be 
supported and encouraged, especially where this will:

• Help to address local habitat deficiencies or the needs of species and habitats of 
conservation concern;

• Help to provide accessible, high quality natural greenspace in urban areas; or
• Create or extend wildlife corridors both within the urban area and connecting the 

urban areas with the wider countryside around towns

UDP policy NE/4 states that development proposals which would affect a species protected 
by National or European law or its habitat will not be permitted unless it can be 
demonstrated that:

• There is no adverse impact on the species concerned;
• Loss of, or damage to habitats supporting such species is minimal and, where 

required, adequate alternative habitats are provided to sustain at least the current 
levels of the population of the species; and

• Where a proposal affects a European Protected Species, it fulfils the appropriate 
criteria for development as set out in National and European legislation.

UDP policy NE/8 (a – d) indicates that proposals on sites containing trees and woodlands 
should ensure:

• Suitable space and conditions for the successful retention of trees, woodland and 
hedgerows;

• That new tree planting is of an appropriate scale and species and that the impacts on 
the amenity of the development and surrounding area in the longer term e.g., root 



spread, stability, loss of daylight, leaf fall and personal safety have been fully 
considered;

• Suitable care and protection of trees and their environment during construction;
• The nature conservation value of existing hedgerows, trees and woodland has been 

safeguarded where appropriate including the incidence of protected species.

Both Natural England and GMEU have been consulted on the scheme and have raised no 
objections to the proposed development subject to conditions. It is considered that 
subsequent reserved matters applications and the proposed development overall would 
ensure that adequate mitigation and satisfactory precautionary measures can be put in place 
to ensure that the development would not result in significant adverse effects on the nearby 
Hopwood Woods Nature Reserve and the nature conservation value of the site or the 
favourable conservation status of any protected species. The proposed development is 
therefore considered to be in accordance with the requirements of UDP policies NE/3, NE/4 
and NE/8, and the policies contained within the NPPF.

Impact on Trees and Important Landscape Features

UDP policy NE/7 states that no work of any nature should be carried out which could 
possibly affect the health of a tree or trees included in a Tree Preservation Order without the 
proper written authority of the Council. This includes any work which is carried out to trees or 
other works which could damage root systems or any part of the tree above ground. Any 
works carried out to trees must constitute good arboricultural practice. 

In addition, UDP policy NE/8 (criteria a – c, g and h) indicates that development proposals 
on sites containing trees and woodlands should ensure:

• Suitable space and conditions for the successful retention of trees, woodland and 
hedgerows;

• That new tree planting is of an appropriate scale and species and that the impacts on 
the amenity of the development and surrounding area in the longer term e.g., root 
spread, stability, loss of daylight, leaf fall and personal safety have been fully 
considered;

• Suitable care and protection of trees and their environment during construction;
• Suitable arrangements for future maintenance and management of trees and 

woodland (which may need to be secured by means of a legal agreement); and
• Replacement planting of trees in the event of death or failure during a 5 year period.

The application site includes a network of hedgerows and trees running along the field 
boundaries within the site and along the site edges defining the extent of the existing fields. 
Otherwise the site comprises open fields laid to pasture and tree cover is low and it is noted 
that none of the trees within or adjacent to the site are protected by way of a Tree 
Preservation order. 

The indicative layout demonstrates that trees and hedgerows can be retained in the layout of 
the development.  The Councils Green Infrastructure Officer has raised no objections to the 
proposed development, subject to conditions securing the protection and retention of the 
existing hedgerows and trees to be retained, and the submission and approval of detailed 
planting plans for the site.  

A condition has been recommended requiring a detailed landscaping and planting scheme 
for the site to be approved in writing for the site and, or each phase, including the use of 
local native species given the sites proximity to the Hopwood Woods Nature Reserve and 
ancient woodland to the east, and the enhancement of the tree and hedgerow cover along 
the boundaries of the site.   



Therefore, in principle it is considered that the proposed development would not result in the 
loss of important landscape features and through the implementation of a comprehensive 
tree planting and landscaping scheme across the site secured in reserved matters 
applications, it is considered that there would be a significant gain in the quantity and spread 
of trees on the site as a result of the proposed development. Therefore, it is considered that 
the proposed development would enhance biodiversity and would accord with the 
requirements of UDP policies NE/7 and NE/8 and the NPPF. 

Neighbour Amenity Implications and Relationship with Surrounding Uses

UDP policy H/3 (e) requires development proposals to be compatible with surrounding uses, 
both in terms of its impact upon those uses and the impact of surrounding uses upon the 
amenity of future residents.

Criterion (i) and (j) of UDP policy BE/2 require proposals to demonstrate good design by:
• Ensuring adequate provision for natural light is made both within and between 

buildings.
• Minimising their potential environmental impact, including noise, air and water 

pollution.

Bullet points 1 and 2 to Paragraph 123 of the NPPF indicate that “planning policies and 
decisions should aim to:

• avoid noise from giving rise to significant adverse impacts on health and quality of life 
as a result of new development;

• mitigate and reduce to a minimum other adverse impacts on health and quality of life 
arising from noise from new development, including through the use of conditions.”

Criterion (a) of UDP policy EM/3 indicates that development will not be permitted where 
would lead to unacceptable levels of noise nuisance to nearby existing or future occupants 
of buildings, or users of open space.

In addition, the spacing standards outlined in paragraph 5.2 of the Council’s SPG Note 
“Guidelines and Standards for Residential Development” recommend that a minimum 
separation distance of 21 metres should be retained between principal elevations of 
opposing dwellings and a distance of 14 metres between principal and secondary elevations.

The site adjoins existing residential dwellings on Hollin Lane, Hollin Drive and Langley Lane.  
Whilst the layout is indicative and would be considered further at reserved matters stage, it is 
considered that in principle the development, subject to appropriate layout, external 
appearance and privacy distances to be determined at reserved matters stage, would not 
unduly impact on the amenity of the occupants of adjoining properties.  These properties 
would experience a change in outlook, however it is an established principle in planning law 
that there is no right to a view.  

Therefore, subject to conditions, in principle the proposed development would be compatible 
with surrounding uses, both in terms of its impact upon those uses and the impact of 
surrounding uses upon the amenity of future residents, and would be in accordance with the 
requirements of UDP policies H/3 and BE/2, the objectives of the SPG ‘Guidelines and 
Standards for Residential Development’ and the NPPF.

Air Quality, Noise and Lighting Implications

Under policies, G/EM/1, EM/2 and EM/3 it is established that environmental protection and 
pollution control should be taken into account, with care taken to ensure that air, water and 
noise pollution is kept to an acceptable level.



With regards to noise, the Council’s EHO is satisfied that external levels within the gardens 
would be within acceptable levels.  The EHO recommends a condition be attached to the 
permission in order to ensure internal noise levels meet required standards.  Subject to this 
condition, it is considered that the proposed development would in principle provide for a 
satisfactory level of amenity for future occupants and would not harm the amenity of the 
existing surrounding residents, and occupiers of surrounding uses.

In terms of air quality, an Air Quality Assessment (AQA) has been submitted in support of 
this application which concludes that the proposed development would have the potential to 
cause air quality impacts resulting from dust emissions during the construction of the 
development and from road traffic exhaust emissions during its long term operation. 
However, it concludes that subject to the implementation of dust control measures 
throughout construction works at the site, there would be no significant adverse impact on air 
quality in the area during this phase, and that following the modelling of road vehicle exhaust 
emission from traffic associated with the residential development there would be no 
significant adverse impacts on sensitive receptors including surrounding residents.  

A condition is recommended requiring the submission and approval of a construction 
management plan to ensure the construction impacts are mitigated. This would also ensure 
appropriate site working hours to protect the amenity of the occupants of adjoining properties 
to the south.  

Given the sites location on the urban fringe adjacent to open fields and the Green Belt, and 
roosting opportunities for bats, in order to ensure that any strategic lighting scheme would 
not result in any significant harm to surrounding dwellings to the south, and to the character 
and openness of the rural area to the north, a condition has been recommended requiring 
the submission and approval of a detailed lighting scheme for the site. 

Therefore, having regard to the above it is considered that subject to the above conditions 
the proposed development through its construction and ongoing use and associated activity, 
would not cause any significant harm to the surrounding environment and its respective 
receptors by way of noise, air quality and light pollution. The proposed development would 
therefore be in accordance with the requirements of UDP policies G/EM/1, EM/2, EM/3 H/3 
and BE/2, and the objectives of the SPG “Guidelines and Standards for Residential 
Development” and the NPPF.

Flood Risk and Drainage Implications

Paragraph 100 of the NPPF states that inappropriate development in areas at risk of flooding 
[land within Flood Zones 2 and 3; or land within Flood Zone 1 which has critical drainage 
problems and which has been notified to the local planning authority by the Environment 
Agency] should be avoided by directing development away from areas at highest risk, but 
where development is necessary, making it safe without increasing flood risk elsewhere.  

Paragraph 101 of the NPPF refers to the sequential test for the location of development, 
which aims to steer new development to areas with the lowest probability of flooding.  Flood 
zone 1 is the lowest probability of flooding, with flood zone 3 the highest. 

The non-statutory technical standards for SUD’s dated March 2015 require that for:
• Peak flow control for greenfield developments, the peak runoff rate from the 

development to any highway drain, sewer or surface water body for the 1 in 1 year 
rainfall event and the 1 in 100 year rainfall event should never exceed the peak 
greenfield runoff rate for the same event.

• Volume control where reasonably practicable, for greenfield development, the runoff 



volume from the development to any highway drain, sewer or surface water body in 
the 1 in 100 year, 6 hour rainfall event should never exceed the greenfield runoff 
volume for the same event.

UDP Policy EM/7 states that development will not be permitted in areas identified as flood 
plains, or other areas where development could contribute to increased flood risk, unless an 
appropriate flood risk assessment has been carried out and all of the following criteria are 
met:

• It will not increase the risk of flooding within the flood plain or in adjoining areas by 
reducing flood storage capacity, increasing flows within a flood plain or through the 
additional discharge of surface water;

• It will not itself be at risk from flooding;
• Appropriate sustainable drainage systems are used;
• Adequate access adjacent to the water course for maintenance is provided;
• Existing or proposed flood defences are protected;
• It would not result in extensive culverting; and
• Flood defence works required as a consequence of development are provided at the 

developer’s expense.

The application site falls within flood zone 1 and is therefore at a low risk of flooding (less 
than 1 in 1000 or 0.1% annual probability of river or sea flooding in any year). However, the 
application site does comprise a major residential development and accordingly the 
application has been supported by a Flood Risk Assessment (FRA).  

The submitted FRA considers the risk of flooding to the site from various sources including 
rivers, groundwater, artificial sources and surface water to be low. The Council as Lead 
Local Flood Authority has stated that the principle approach to drainage is acceptable, 
however further details would be required regarding drainage calculations and routes of 
existing culverts. It is also noted that the EA and UU have raised no objection to the proposal 
subject to conditions.  As this is an outline planning application, conditions are therefore 
recommended to require the submission of detailed schemes for the disposal of foul and 
surface waters, to incorporate attenuation methods and flow control devices to limit the 
discharge rates and sustainable urban drainage system (SUDS) measures.  

Subject to conditions, it is therefore considered that in principle adequate measures can be 
put in place in order to ensure that the development poses no unacceptable risk in terms of 
flooding (either on the site itself or elsewhere) in accordance with the requirements of UDP 
policy EM/7 and the policies within the NPPF.

Heritage and Archaeological Assets

With regard to the planning application, Section 66(1) of the Planning (Listed Building and 
Conservation Areas) Act 1990 states that in considering whether to grant planning 
permission for development which affects a listed building or its setting, the local planning 
authority shall have special regard to the desirability of preserving the building or its setting 
or any features of special architectural or historic interest which it possesses.  Section 72 of 
the above act similarly requires that LPA’s pay special attention to the desirability of 
preserving or enhancing the character or appearance of any conservation area where 
relevant. Furthermore, the Court of Appeal has held that decision-makers should give 
considerable importance and weight to the desirability of preserving the setting of listed 
buildings when carrying out the balancing exercise.

The first bullet point to paragraph 131 of the NPPF indicates that, in determining planning 
applications, local planning authorities should take account of the desirability of sustaining 
and enhancing the significance of heritage assets and putting them to viable uses consistent 



with their conservation. Heritage assets (both designated and non-designated) are defined in 
Annex 2 of the NPPF. 

Paragraphs 132, 133 and 137 of the NPPF identify that:
• When considering the impact of a proposed development on the significance of a 

designated heritage asset, great weight should be given to the asset’s conservation. 
The more important the asset, the greater the weight should be. Significance can be 
harmed or lost through alteration or destruction of the heritage asset or development 
within its setting. As heritage assets are irreplaceable, any harm or loss should 
require clear and convincing justification.

• Where a proposed development will lead to substantial harm to or total loss of 
significance of a designated heritage asset, local planning authorities should refuse 
consent.

Paragraphs 139 and 141 of the NPPF indicate that:
• Non-designated heritage assets of archaeological interest that are demonstrably of 

equivalent significance to scheduled monuments, should be considered subject to 
the policies for designated heritage assets.

• Local planning authorities should make information about the significance of the 
historic environment gathered as part of plan-making or development management 
publicly accessible. They should also require developers to record and advance 
understanding of the significance of any heritage assets to be lost (wholly or in part) 
in a manner proportionate to their importance and the impact, and to make this 
evidence (and any archive generated) publicly accessible. However, the ability to 
record evidence of our past should not be a factor in deciding whether such loss 
should be permitted.

In addition, UDP policy BE/10 states that:
• Developers must take full account of the presence of known Ancient Monuments and 

sites of archaeological importance and their settings in proposals. Planning 
permission will be refused where developers do not sympathetically accommodate 
such structures or remains, particularly where the proposal has a significant affect on 
the site itself or its setting.

• Proposals should accommodate the physical preservation of archaeological features 
in situ. In exceptional circumstances where this is not possible, and where the site is 
of lesser significance, archaeological excavation to secure the preservation of 
features either on or off site may be appropriate to enable preservation by record. In 
such cases, the applicant may be required to carry out a programme of proper 
recording of archaeological evidence before development takes place. Such a 
programme could be secured by planning conditions or through a Section 106 
obligation negotiated with the applicant. In all cases there should be a full and 
appropriate prior evaluation of the archaeological resource detailing its value, the 
likely impact of proposals and mitigation as required.

It is noted that there are no conservation areas or listed buildings on or immediately adjacent 
to the application site. The site being bordered by open fields, and to the south by existing 
housing.  The nearest listed building comprises the Grade II* listed Hopwood Hall dating 
back to the 16th century and grade II listed Hopwood Hall Chapel, which are approximately 
950 metres to the east. Given the intervening distance and the presence of the substantial 
amount of mature tree coverage at Hopwood Woods and ancient woodland, and the 
undulating topography, it is noted that the proposed development would not impact on the 
curtilage of the hall and chapel and nor would it be visible from these buildings, and nor 
would they be both visible within the same context and setting. Therefore, it is considered 
that the proposed development would have no impact on the setting of these heritage 
assets.



With regards to the presence of Conservation Areas it is noted that the Middleton Town 
Centre Conservation Area is located approximately 900 metres to the south of the 
application site. Given the intervening distance between the site and conservation area and 
the existing scale and variety of built form suburban residential expansion between the 
northern edge of the conservation area and the application site it is not considered that the 
proposed development would impact on its setting, and nor would it impact on the character 
and appearance of the conservation area. 

It is also noted that the Birch Village Conservation Area is located in excess of 1 km to the 
west of the application site. Given the intervening distance, the undulating topography of the 
open farmland, and the context of the conservation area being located on lower ground 
within a valley along Heywood old Road and bordered by mature trees, it is noted that the 
proposed development would not be seen within views of the conservation area and nor 
would it be seen from the conservation area itself. As a result, it is not considered that the 
proposed development would cause any significant impact on the character and appearance 
or the significance of this heritage asset.

With regards to the implications on sites of archaeological importance, it is noted from 
comments of the Greater Manchester Archaeological Advisory Service (GMAAS) that given 
the sites location, the surrounding topography, and close proximity to watercourses the site 
offers potential for records of archaeological interest to be found of earlier periods prior to 
those that are contained within the historical environment record. In accordance with the 
recommendations of the GMAAS and in order to ensure that due record and understanding 
of any archaeological remains is undertaken in accordance with paragraph 141 of the NPPF, 
a condition has been recommended requiring that an appropriate written scheme of 
investigation is approved and implemented.

Therefore, having regard to the above and subject to the conditions set out above, it is 
considered that the proposed development as set out in the indicative masterplan would not 
in principle cause any harm to nearby heritage assets and that sufficient measures would be 
in place to ensure that the importance of potential archaeologically significant assets are 
recorded. The proposed outline scheme is therefore considered to accord with policies BE9, 
BE15, BE17 of the UDP and the policies within the NPPF.

Land Contamination and Site Conditions

Paragraph 120 of the NPPF identifies that where a site is affected by contamination or land 
stability issues, responsibility for securing a safe development rests with the developer 
and/or landowner.

Paragraph 121 of the NPPF indicates that planning policies and decisions should ensure 
that:

• the site is suitable for its new use taking account of ground conditions and land 
instability, including from natural hazards or former activities such as mining, pollution 
arising from previous uses and any proposals for mitigation including land 
remediation or impacts on the natural environment arising from that remediation; 

• after remediation, as a minimum, land should not be capable of being determined as 
contaminated land under Part IIA of the Environmental Protection Act 1990; and

• adequate site investigation information, prepared by a competent person, is 
presented.

In addition, UDP policy EM/4 stipulates that:
• Where there are reasonable grounds to suspect that land which is the subject of a 

development proposal has the potential for contamination, the Council will require a 



detailed survey of ground conditions, details of any proposed remedial treatments 
and a completion report to establish that the work has been carried out in accordance 
with the agreed remediation scheme. In considering proposals for new development 
or change of use, the Council will take account of their potential for contamination of 
land and will seek to prevent further contamination by refusing proposals likely to 
give rise to significant contamination or by imposing stringent conditions.

The site is located on the edge of the urban area of Middleton and comprises open fields 
leftover for pasture and grazing. The application has been supported by a phase 1 
environmental assessment report that concludes that the site poses a low to moderate risk 
of contamination. It also does not predict that there would be any significant sub surface 
obstructions.  As a result, it is noted that there are no risks that in principle would prevent the 
site from being used for residential purposes, and the report recommends that to allow for a 
full assessment that further detailed intrusive site investigation and analysis be undertaken. 
The Council’s Contaminated Land Officer is satisfied that any ground based contamination, 
land stability issues which may exist on the site can be adequately identified and addressed 
by the imposition of this condition.  The Environment Agency has requested detailed 
conditions in respect of groundwater and remediation and these are incorporated into the 
contamination condition accordingly.  

Therefore, subject to a condition securing the submission and approval of an intrusive site 
investigation report and risk assessment, and the approval and subsequent implementation 
of a scheme of remediation works and enabling ground works, it is considered that the 
proposed site would be suitable for the proposed residential development and the 
requirements of UDP policy EM/4 and guidance contained within the NPPF would be met.

Impact on Mineral and Coal Interests

With regards to mineral interests policy 8 of the Greater Manchester Minerals Plan states 
that proposals for non-mineral development within the Mineral Safeguarding Areas that do 
not allow for the prior extraction of minerals will only be permitted where:

1. The need for the development outweighs the need to extract the mineral; or
2. It can be clearly demonstrated that it is not environmentally acceptable or 

economically viable to extract the mineral prior to non-mineral development taking 
place; or;

3. It can be clearly demonstrated that the mineral is either not present or of no 
economic value or too deep to extract in relation to the proposed development; or;

4. The development is limited or temporary and would not prevent minerals extraction 
taking place in the future.

The application site forms part of an allocated Mineral Safeguarding Areas for Coal and 
Brick Clay within the Greater Manchester (GM) Minerals Plan. The proposed development 
would not allow for the prior extraction of minerals from the site and as a result of the nature 
of the proposed residential development would sterilise any clay or brick reserves which may 
exist below the site. Comments have been received from the Greater Manchester Minerals 
and Waste Planning Unit and whilst they do not accept that prior extraction would not be 
unviable and impossible, it is noted that they do consider the need for the proposals in the 
absence of a five year supply would outweigh the need for extraction of the brick and clay 
minerals and have raised no objections to the proposal if this is the case. 

In this instance in the absence of an adopted Core Strategy and confirmed and tested 
housing land supply, it is noted that the residential development would need to be assessed 
with regard to the presumption in favour of sustainable development and the objective of 
boosting housing provision set out in the NPPF. As a result, it is considered that the need for 



the proposed development to form up to 88 dwellings would outweigh the need for mineral 
extraction. Therefore, having regard to the above, it is considered that the proposed scheme 
would accord with policy 8 of the GM Minerals Plan.

Sustainable Construction and Energy Use

UDP policy EM/13 states that development proposals which include measures to conserve 
and assist the efficient use of energy will be supported where this can be successfully 
incorporated into the design and layout, and where there are no adverse impacts on the 
amenity of the surrounding area (e.g., by virtue of visual impact, pollution and environmental 
disturbance). Measures which will be especially encouraged include:

• The maximum use of local materials and recycled building materials for appropriate 
construction tasks where this would not adversely affect the quality, character and 
setting of the development;

• The use of design, layout, landscaping and materials which help to conserve energy 
through the ongoing use of the development; and

• The use of sustainable power generation systems such as solar and photovoltaic, 
small-scale combined heat and power, and other appropriate installations based on 
renewable and low carbon technologies.

The Council’s SPD “Energy and New Development” requires all new residential 
developments of 5 or more dwellings to meet Level 3 of the Code for Sustainable Homes. 
The SPD intended that this requirement was to rise to Level 4 from 2013, Level 5 from 2016 
and Level 6 from 2020. 

However, in a Ministerial Statement made to the House of Commons on 25 March 2015, the 
then Secretary of State for Communities and Local Government, Eric Pickles, set out the 
government’s new planning policy on the setting of technical standards for new dwellings 
which should be taken into account in applying the National Planning Policy Framework. The 
Code for Sustainable Homes was also withdrawn on 27 March 2015. This is an important 
material consideration which needs to be given significant weight and which also represents 
a material change in planning circumstances following the previous grant of planning 
permission on the site.

Between 26 March 2015 and 30 September 2014, the government’s policy is, ‘that planning 
permissions should not be granted requiring, or subject to conditions requiring compliance 
with any technical housing standards other than for those areas where authorities have 
existing policies on access, internal space or water efficiency… where there is an existing 
plan policy which references the Code for Sustainable Homes, authorities may continue to 
apply a requirement for a water efficiency standard equivalent to the new national technical 
standard or in the case of energy a standard consistent with the earlier part of this 
statement, concerning energy performance’. The Council does not have a specific policy in 
respect of water efficiency. In late 2016 the Building Regulations will be amended to require 
new dwellings to meet an equivalent of what was Code Level 4. 

As this application is in outline with all matters other than access reserved to a later date, 
details of the design and construction of the dwellings are not yet known. The direction of 
travel for Government is clear that sustainability requirements for new dwellings should be 
brought forward through the new national technical standards, making reference to up to 
date Local Plans and the Building Regulations. Given that the new technical standards are 
optional and if the Council wishes to refer to them in decision making this should 
preferentially be through new policies in a Local Plan and the Council’s current policy refers 
to a Code which has now been revoked and is therefore out of date, it is considered most 
appropriate that the sustainability requirements of this development are dealt with by the 
Building Regulations. 



Planning Obligations and Developer Contributions

The size and nature of the development would require financial contributions towards 
affordable housing, recreational open space and outdoor sport provision in accordance with 
UDP policies H/6 and H/7 and their associated Supplementary Planning Documents: 
Provision of Recreational Open Space in New Housing and Affordable Housing.  It is 
important again to note that policies in the NPPF and legislation introduced subsequent to 
the adoption of the UDP and SPDs can take precedence. Although limited weight can be 
afforded to the Core Strategy, it is noted that the emerging policies DM2, C4, C7, C8) also 
seek to ensure the impact of development is mitigated and that development contributes to 
physical and social infrastructure requirements.  

In accordance with the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Regulations paragraph 204 of 
the NPPF states that planning obligations should only be sought where they meet the 
following three tests:

• necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms; 
• directly related to the development; and 
• fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development. 

In addition, from April 2015 the CIL Regulations now prevent further contributions being 
collected by an authority for the funding or provision of an infrastructure project, or type of 
infrastructure, once five or more such contributions have been obtained by separate section 
106 obligations made on or after 6 April 2010.  This restriction applies to infrastructure of a 
kind which could be the subject of a community infrastructure levy and therefore applies to 
tariff style contributions (with the exception of affordable housing).  As the Council has 
entered into more than five obligations towards recreational open space, no further 
contributions can be pooled to this type of general infrastructure provision.  The object of the 
regulations is to encourage Council’s to introduce charging through the adoption of a CIL 
instead of imposing requirements for contributions through section 106 obligations, however 
it has been acknowledged that the pooling restriction should not prevent the delivery of 
infrastructure.  Contributions may therefore be sought to specific infrastructure projects if 
they meet the three tests above. 

In this context, paragraph 173 of the NPPF is clear that pursuing sustainable development 
requires careful attention to viability and costs in plan making and decision taking.  
Therefore, the scale of development identified in the plan should not be subject to such a 
scale of obligations and policy burdens that their ability to be developed viably is threatened.  
To ensure viability, the costs of any requirements applied to development, such as 
requirements for affordable housing, standards, infrastructure contributions or other 
requirements should, when taking account of the normal cost of development and mitigation, 
provide competitive returns to a willing land owner and a willing developer to enable the 
development to be deliverable. As this application is in outline form, any detailed 
assessment of viability would occur at reserved matters stage once the precise number and 
nature of dwellings to be delivered is identified. It is clear that there will be a need to ensure 
that contribution requirements do not undermine viability and deliverability, having regard to 
site specific requirements and a need to ensure the impacts of the development are 
adequately mitigated.

Details of the contributions sought as part of the development (including how they meet the 
three tests) are outlined below.  

Education Provision:

As noted above, the NPPF in paragraph 70 requires that in decisions Local Planning 



Authorities should plan positively for the provision and use of community facilities and other 
local services to enhance the sustainability of communities and residential environments. 
Paragraph 72 also states that great weight should be given to the need to create, expand or 
alter schools.

It is also noted Policies C7 and DM2 of the emerging Core Strategy require that residential 
developments provide for social infrastructure including education facilities to meet the 
demand for additional school places created by such developments. In this instance, it is 
noted that the proposed residential development of up to 88 dwellings would generate 
additional demand for primary and secondary school places within the local area. As set out 
above, due to the lack of capacity in the existing primary and secondary schools, the Council 
as Local Education Authority have requested that by way of financial contributions the 
proposed development mitigates for this additional demand for by providing financial 
contributions to be utilised towards providing additional education facilities at Primary and 
Secondary Schools within the local area.

The necessary financial contributions would be calculated using the Building Schools for the 
Future (BSF) standard formula for calculating pupil yields from housing (presently 0.25 per 
dwelling for primary education and 0.1 per dwelling for secondary) and the respective basic 
need funding (BNF) per place provided to the Education Authority (presently £12,320.01 for 
primary and £15,400.01 for secondary).  Based on these figures and the maximum number 
of dwellings, the primary education contribution would be £271,040.22 (pupil yield of 22 (88 x 
0.25) = 22) multiplied by the basic need funding of £12,320.01). The secondary education 
contribution would be £135,520.09 (pupil yield of 8.8 pupil places (88 x 0.1) multiplied by the 
basic need funding of £15,400.01). The contributions would provide additional school places 
in Middleton Township.  

It is considered that the financial contributions are necessary to enable the development to 
proceed and to ensure they are directly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the 
development in accordance with the CIL Regulations, the contribution would be calculated at 
reserved matters stage and paid in an appropriate phased manner dependent on the 
number of units in each phase, the BSF pupil yield and the BNF.  

Recreational Open Space and Outdoor Sports Provision:

It is noted that paragraph 73 of the NPPF highlights that access to high quality open spaces 
and opportunities for sport and recreation can make an important contribution to the health 
and well-being of communities.

In this regard, the site provides for an area of on-site open space on the site. The detailed 
layout of this will be subject to detailed design within future reserved matters applications. 
However, with regards to its future maintenance and management, it is intended that a 
landscape open space implementation and management plan will be secured by way of a 
section 106 Agreement.
 
With regards to mitigating for and providing for formal outdoor sport and recreations needs 
generated by the 88 new homes, in terms of formal outdoor sports facilities it is proposed 
that a contribution of £190,477.80 be secured by way of a section 106 agreement towards 
the provision of improved outdoor sport facilities and playing pitches at Bowlee Playing 
Fields to the southwest of the application site. It is proposed that these would be calculated 
using the figures provided by Sport England and used within their Sports Facility Calculator. 
This would be equivalent of £929.16 per dwelling or £386.86 per person derived from Sport 
England Sports Facility Calculator figures (Sport England correspondence dated 30th June 
2015). Utilising the Sport England formula, the following financial contributions would be 
applicable:



 £929.16 per dwelling, i.e. 88 x £929.16 = £81,766.08; or 
 £386.86 per person of the population derived from the proposed development. The 

population derived from ONS Census 2011 figure of 2.4 people per dwelling in 
Rochdale. i.e. (88 x 2.4) = 211.2 x £386.86 = £81,704.83

It is considered that the financial contribution would mitigate the impact of the development 
by providing contributions towards the creation of new, or the improvement of existing sports 
facilities.  The contribution is necessary to enable the development to proceed and to ensure 
it is directly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development in accordance with 
the CIL Regulations, the contribution would be calculated at reserved matters stage in 
accordance with a formula within the s106 agreement and paid in an appropriate phased 
manner in accordance with the NPPF.  

Affordable Housing:

UDP policy H/7 and its associated SPD identify that, subject to viability considerations, 
residential developments of over 15 dwellings will be expected to make a contribution 
towards the provision of affordable housing in the borough through either on or off site 
means as appropriate. This is also taken forward by policies C4 and DM2 of the emerging 
core strategy. 

Paragraphs 7.3 and 7.4 of the SPD indicate that “an average figure of 15% Affordable 
Housing will be required on all sites across the Borough. This percentage of units will be 
subject to a discount of 50% of the average market cost of the dwellings on the site. This will 
equate to a maximum 7.5% contribution of the total scheme value to affordable housing for 
each site in accordance with the formula below:

It is recommended that a legal agreement include the requirement to submit an affordable 
housing scheme with reserved matters applications to include the appropriate provision of 
affordable housing on site or off-site in accordance with the above policy and SPD.

Local Transport Infrastructure Mitigation and Improvements:

As discussed in earlier sections of this report, in accordance with the recommendations of 
the Highways Authority, Highways England and TfGM, it will be necessary to enter into a 
s106 agreement and a s278 highway act agreement to secure a series of on and off-site 
highway works to ensure necessary improvements and alterations are undertaken on the 
local highway network in accordance with paragraph 204 of the NPPF.  These are also 
necessary to ensure the site provides suitable facilities for pedestrians and cyclists and 
provides access to the bus network to encourage the take up of sustainable transport 
modes.  

The following measures would be secured through s278 agreement:
4. Provision of pedestrian crossing facility on Hollin Lane;
5. Traffic calming – additional road signing, markings and traffic calming measures 



to provide right turning lane into the site and denote the gateway into the site in 
order to calm traffic speeds along Hollin Lane, including any necessary TRO.

The following measures would be secured through s106 agreement:
3. The provision of two bus stops on Hollin Lane (a contribution of £20,000);
4. A financial contribution towards cycle lane improvements comprising new and 

renewed on carriageway cycle lanes along Hollin Lane from its junction with 
Langley Lane southeast to its junction with Rochdale Road. 

It is considered that the above comprise mitigation directly related in scale and kind to the 
development and necessary for the development to proceed in accordance with the CIL 
regulations.  It is considered that the scale of development proposed by this application 
would not in itself justify improvements at the junction of Hollin Lane with Langley Lane as 
this would not be directly related to the development or fairly and reasonably related in scale 
or kind. 

Conclusions and the Balancing Exercise

Policies within the UDP relating to the management of housing land and protection of open 
land are out of date and can be afforded limited weight in the determination of this planning 
application. Taking account of the most recently tested housing target for the Borough, the 
recalculated RSS target, the Council would be unable to demonstrate a 5 year supply of 
housing land. The NPPF must therefore be afforded significant weight in the determination of 
this application and the presumption in favour of sustainable development is engaged.

Paragraph 14 of the NPPF very clearly directs that where policies are out-of-date, the 
‘presumption in favour of sustainable development’ means planning permission should be 
granted unless the adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably 
outweigh the benefits (emphasis added) when assessed against the policies in the NPPF as 
a whole; or where specific policies in the NPPF indicate development should be restricted.

In assessing the merits of the scheme, it is clear that there are no specific policies in the 
NPPF that would indicate the development should be restricted. It is also evident that 
previous appeals in the Borough concerning the release of Protected Open Land for housing 
have been allowed in the context of the need to boost significantly the supply of housing 
within the Borough for the reasons set out within the NPPF, and in recognition of the fact that 
such land was originally safeguarded to meet future development needs.

Since these appeals were allowed in 2013, the Rochdale Core Strategy has been submitted 
for examination and the most recent evidence prepared by the Council to support this 
suggests that a higher housing requirement is needed for the Borough above that originally 
identified within the RSS.  Furthermore, going forward the Borough will face an ongoing and 
challenging pressure in terms of the delivery of new housing against any planned target 
given the fact that a significant number of further dwellings are proposed to be demolished 
as part of the continued regeneration of existing housing areas. To ensure there is no 
ongoing deficit in supply, the total number of demolitions will need to be matched by an 
equivalent uplift above the annual target of housing completions.  The evidence 
demonstrates that significant weight must therefore be afforded to the benefits of the 
scheme in respect of its contribution to the supply of housing in the Borough.  

Subject to appropriate mitigation, the impact of the development on the local highway 
network, education provision, protected or priority species and nature conservation, the 
amenity of existing and future occupants, archaeological assets, surface water and drainage 
and contamination would be acceptable and the development would provide on and off-site 
recreation and outdoor sports provision for the future occupants of the dwellings. 



In terms of benefits, the proposal would provide a significant number of new dwellings to 
meet housing needs adjacent to an existing urban area within an accessible and sustainable 
location and would contribute to the provision of affordable housing in the Borough.  
Biodiversity enhancements would be secured and economic and social benefits would arise 
through direct capital investment; additional spending of household income on local services 
and facilities; and the creation of direct and indirect jobs throughout construction and through 
the longer term additional spend of households within the local area.

It is accepted that the proposal would result in the loss of agricultural land.  It is also 
accepted that the proposal would result in the loss of an area of Protected Open Land 
valued by the local community in providing an open and landscaped buffer on the urban 
fringe. However, the harm that would arise would not significantly and demonstrably 
outweigh the benefits of the proposal, which is the test of national policy. As such, there are 
no sustainable grounds to justify a refusal of planning permission.

Thus, in terms of the decision-making approach set out in paragraph 14 of the Framework, it 
is considered that the proposal comprises sustainable development and planning permission 
should be granted subject to appropriate legal agreements and the conditions 
recommended.  

RECOMMENDATION

It is recommended that Committee resolve that it is minded to grant planning permission 
subject to the conditions set out below and subject to:

1. The completion of a planning obligation under section 106 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act to secure the following:

 The provision of affordable housing scheme to deliver on site and/or an off-site 
contribution in lieu of on-site provision in accordance with the provisions of UDP 
policy H/7 and its associated SPD: Affordable Housing;

 A financial contribution towards the provision of primary schools places in 
Middleton Township calculated by the pupil yield of the development (0.25 per 
dwelling) multiplied by the relevant basic need funding allocation (currently 
£271,040.22 but the final calculation shall be based on the multipliers in place at 
the relevant time);

 A financial contribution towards the provision of secondary school places in 
Middleton Township calculated by the pupil yield of the development (0.1 per 
dwelling) multiplied by the relevant basic need funding allocation (currently 
£135,520.09 but the final calculation shall be based on the multipliers in place at 
the relevant time);

 A financial contribution towards the provision of outdoor sport and recreation 
facilities at Bowlee Playing Fields (currently up to £81,766.08 but the final 
calculation shall be based on the Sport England multipliers in place at the relevant 
time);

 A financial contribution towards cycle lane improvements comprising new and 
renewed on carriageway cycle lanes along Hollin Lane from its junction with 
Langley Lane southeast to its junction with Rochdale Road;

 The provision of two bus stops on Hollin Lane (£20,000);
 The submission and approval of a scheme for the provision, implementation and 

management of a Locally Equipped Area of Play (LEAP); and
 The submission of a landscape and public open space plan for the provision, 



implementation and management of the landscape open space within the site.

2. The completion of a Section 278 Highways Act agreement to secure:

 Provision of pedestrian crossing improvements on Hollin Lane; and
 Road markings and traffic calming measures to provide right turning lane into the 

site and denote the gateway into the site in order to calm traffic speeds along 
Hollin Lane, to include any necessary TRO. 

That the Head of Planning be authorised to issue the decision notice upon completion of the 
above.

GRANT subject to the following conditions:-

1. Application(s) for approval of reserved matters must be made not later than the 
expiration of three years beginning with the date of this permission and the 
development must be begun not later than: (i) the expiration of three years from the 
date of this permission; or (ii) two years from the date of approval of the last of the 
reserved matters to be approved.

Reason: To comply with the requirements of section 92 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990 as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004.

2. The approval of the Local Planning Authority shall be sought in respect of the 
following matters before the development is commenced: the layout of the 
development, scale, external appearance and the landscaping of the site.

The layout and landscaping of the site shall demonstrate the retention of trees and 
hedgerows in accordance with the Extended Phase I Habitat Survey dated October 
2014 (Appletons).  

Reason: The application is granted in outline only under the provisions of Article 5 of 
the Town and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) Order 2015 
and details of the matters referred to in the condition have not been submitted for 
consideration.

3 The total number of residential units included in any application(s) for reserved 
matters submitted pursuant to condition 2 of this permission shall be limited to a 
maximum of 88 dwellings and the development shall be substantially in accordance 
with the following plans:

- Location plan ref: 1439WHD/HLM/LP01; and
- Proposed site access plan ref: Plan 4 (within Transport Statement ref: A089001);
- Illustrative Masterplan: ref: 1439WHD/HLM/SK0.

Reason: The layout of the proposed development incorporates a number of key 
parameters that will guide the detailed reserved matters applications, and in the 
interests of mitigating for the impacts of the development on the surrounding 
environment, and provide for an acceptable scale and layout of development and 
high quality environment, in accordance with policies BE/2, NE/2, NE/3, NE/4 of the 
Rochdale Unitary Development Plan and the National Planning Policy Framework.  

4 No development shall take place until a phasing plan, which shall include the access 
arrangements for each phase and a specified number of dwellings for each phase 



relative to a site maximum of 88 dwellings, has been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the local planning authority. The development shall be carried out in 
accordance with the approved phasing plan.  

Reason: To ensure that any phased development of the site takes place in an 
appropriate order and to ensure adequate provision of infrastructure to serve each of 
the phases because no such details were submitted as part of the application.

Reason for pre-commencement condition: In the interests of proper planning and the 
comprehensive development of the site.

5 No development shall take place until a scheme for the on and off-site highway 
works, to include timescales for implementation, has been submitted to and approved 
in writing by the local planning authority.  The development shall be carried out in 
accordance with the approved scheme.  

Reason: To ensure that any phased development of the site takes place in an 
appropriate order and to ensure adequate provision of infrastructure to serve each of 
the phases in the interests of highway and pedestrian safety and the safety of other 
users of the highway in accordance with Polices BE/2 and A9 of the Unitary 
Development Plan and the National Planning Policy Framework.  

6 No development shall take place until a comprehensive scheme of works for the 
formation of the vehicular access onto Hollin Lane, to include construction level 
drawings showing existing and proposed levels relative to off-site datum, a drainage 
strategy, lighting and materials, has been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. The access shall be completed in accordance with the 
approved scheme and the timescales embodied within it.  

Reason: In order to provide safe, secure access to the development in the interests 
of public safety, and ensure continued function of the surrounding highway network, 
in accordance with policy A/9 of Unitary Development Plan and the National Planning 
Policy Framework.  

Reason for pre-commencement condition: To ensure safe access onto the highway 
of Hollin Lane during construction and operation of the development.  

7 The reserved matter(s) applications pursuant to condition 2 of this permission shall 
demonstrate connectivity between the site and the adjacent site to the west (the 
subject of planning application 14/00851/OUT).

Reason: In the interests of proper planning and the comprehensive development of 
the site and area in accordance with Policies A/3, A/4, A/5, A9, A/13 and A/14 and 
the National Planning Policy Framework.

8 Notwithstanding any information provided as part of the application, within three 
months of development first taking place a Travel Plan shall be submitted for the 
written approval of the Local Planning Authority. The Travel Plan shall contain firm 
measures for promoting a choice of transport mode and a monitoring regime with 
agreed mode share targets. In addition the Plan shall set out the monitoring 
procedures and mechanisms that are to be put in place to ensure that it remains 
effective and shall be reviewed within a framework approved by the Local Planning 
Authority. The initiatives contained in the approved Travel Plan shall be implemented 
before the first occupation of the dwellings unless otherwise agreed in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority and shall continue to be implemented thereafter.



Reason: In order to ensure that the development encourages people to travel by 
sustainable modes of transport in accordance with the objectives of Unitary 
Development Plan policy A/12 and the National Planning Policy Framework.

9 No development shall take place within a phase until details of the finished floor and 
external site levels within that phase relative to off-site datum have been submitted to 
and approved in writing by the local planning authority. Development shall be carried 
out in accordance with the approved details and retained thereafter.

Reason:  In the interests of visual amenity in accordance with the requirements of 
Unitary Development Plan policies BE/2, EM/7 and the National Planning Policy 
Framework.

Reason for pre-commencement condition: As the proposals require ground works 
and engineering works an understanding of site levels will therefore be necessary 
prior to commencement of any building or engineering works on site. Finished floor 
levels are intrinsically linked to site levels.

10 No development shall take place until an investigation and risk assessment has been 
undertaken by competent persons to assess the nature and extent of any 
contamination on the site (whether or not it originates on the site and in addition to 
any assessment provided with the planning application) and a written report of its 
findings has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning 
authority.

The report shall include:
(i) a survey of the extent, scale and nature of contamination
(ii) an assessment of the potential risks to: human health, property (existing or 

proposed) including buildings, crops, livestock, pets, woodland, and service 
lines and pipes adjoining land, groundwaters and surface waters, ecological 
systems, archaeological sites and ancient monuments;

(iii) where contamination is identified, an appraisal of remedial options, a proposal 
of the preferred option(s) and a timetable for remedial works

Remedial works shall be carried out in accordance with the approved report and 
timetable and a verification report providing details of the data that will be collected in 
order to demonstrate that the works set out in the remediation strategy are complete 
and identifying any requirements for longer-term monitoring of pollutant linkages, 
maintenance and arrangements for contingency action shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the local planning authority prior to the first occupation of any 
of the dwellings within each phase.    

If, during development, contamination not previously identified is found to be present 
at the site then no further development (unless otherwise agreed in writing with the 
local planning authority) shall be carried out until the developer has submitted a 
remediation strategy to the local planning authority detailing how this unsuspected 
contamination shall be dealt with and obtained written approval from the local 
planning authority. The remediation strategy shall be implemented as approved.

Reason: To prevent pollution of the water environment and to ensure the safe 
development of the site in the interests of the amenity of future occupiers in 
accordance with Unitary Development Plan policies EM/4, EM/8 and BE/2, and the 
National Planning Policy Framework.



Reason for pre-commencement condition: As the proposals require ground works 
and engineering works there is a risk of disturbance to contaminated ground as soon 
as development commences. An assessment of contamination will therefore be 
necessary prior to commencement engineering works on site.

11 No development shall take place until details of a scheme to dispose of foul and 
surface water from the site has been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
local planning authority. The surface water drainage scheme shall be based on 
sustainable drainage principles, shall provide for the total surface water run-off rate to 
be limited and shall incorporate adequate on-site attenuation storage. The submitted 
scheme shall include:

(i) details of volumetric run-off control as per CIRIA SIDS manual C697 with the 
rate set at Qbar if no infiltration is provided;

(ii) details of exceedence event of up to a 1 in 100 year including climate change 
allowance;

(iii) where it is proposed to provide a drainage outfall into any watercourse that 
feeds the Glade and Oaken Bank Woods SBI an appropriate ecological 
assessment of the implications of the proposed outfall works, and the impacts 
of the operation and flows from the outfall;

(iv) evidence to demonstrate the capacity and flow of the existing culvert system;
(v) a timetable for its implementation; and a management and maintenance plan 

for the lifetime of the development which shall include the arrangements for 
adoption by any public authority or statutory undertaker and any other 
arrangements to secure the operation of the scheme throughout its lifetime.

The approved drainage shall be fully implemented and subsequently retained in 
accordance with the management and maintenance plan.

Reason: To prevent an increased risk of flooding as a result of the development and 
to ensure satisfactory disposal of surface and foul water from the site in accordance 
with the requirements of Unitary Development Plan policy EM/7 and the National 
Planning Policy Framework.

12 No development shall take place until a Construction Method Statement (CMS) has 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The CMS 
shall include details of the following: 

(i) hours for site preparation, delivery of materials and construction; 
(ii) the parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors; 
(iii) loading and unloading of plant and materials;
(iv) storage of plant and materials used in constructing the development; 
(v) the erection and maintenance of security hoarding; 
(vi) wheel washing facilities; 
(vii) measures to control the emission of dust and dirt during construction;
(viii) a scheme for managing and the recycling/disposing of waste resulting from 

construction works.

The duly approved CMS shall be adhered to throughout the construction period.

Reason: In order to ensure that appropriate measures are put in place to limit noise, 
nuisance and disturbance to the occupiers of neighbouring dwellings during the 
construction of the development in accordance with the requirements of Unitary 
Development Plan policies BE/2 and EM/3 and the National Planning Policy 
Framework.



Reason for pre-commencement condition: As the proposals require ground works 
and engineering works an understanding will therefore be necessary of what 
measures will be put in place to protect the amenity of nearby residents prior to 
commencement of any building or engineering works on site.

13 No above ground works shall take place within each phase of the development 
hereby permitted until a scheme of Biodiversity Enhancement and Mitigation 
Measures to be provided within that phase has been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority, in consultation with the Greater Manchester 
Ecology Unit (GMEU). The scheme shall include: (i) full details of those enhancement 
measures to be provided within that phase and (ii) timescales for their 
implementation. 

The development within that phase shall thereafter be carried out in accordance with 
the scheme and implemented in accordance with the approved timescales. 

Reason: In order to ensure adequate protection of existing landscape features of 
ecological value and to achieve appropriate landscape and biodiversity 
enhancements as part of the development in accordance with the requirements of 
UDP policy NE/3 and the National Planning Policy Framework.

14 No above ground works within any phase of the development hereby approved shall 
take place until, a Habitat and Landscape Management Plan (HLMP) for all 
landscaped areas of the site (excluding privately owned domestic gardens) has first 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
HLMP shall include: (i) protection measures for all retained trees, waterbodies and 
greenspace during the course of development; (ii) long term design objectives; (iii) 
management responsibilities; (iv) maintenance schedules; and (v) a timetable for its 
implementation. The HLMP shall thereafter be implemented in full accordance with 
the duly approved details and timetable contained therein.

Reason: In order to ensure adequate protection of existing landscape features of 
ecological value and to achieve appropriate landscape and biodiversity 
enhancements as part of the development in accordance with the requirements of 
UDP policy NE/3 and the National Planning Policy Framework.

15 No above ground works within any phase of the development hereby permitted shall 
take place until, a detailed lighting scheme for any external lighting to be installed 
within all highways, footpaths, public open spaces and landscape buffer zones on all 
boundaries of the site, within that phase has been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority.  Such details shall include its position and 
height on the building or site and its luminance, angle of installation and any hoods to 
be fixed to the lights.  Only lighting as approved shall be installed on the site in 
accordance with the terms of any such approval.

Reason: In order that the development does not prejudice the favourable 
conservation status of protected species in accordance with the requirements of 
Unitary Development Plan policy NE/4 and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

16 No clearance of trees and shrubs in preparation for or during the course of 
development shall take place during the bird nesting season (March – July inclusive) 
unless an ecological survey has been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
local planning authority which establishes that no part of the site is utilised for bird 
nesting. Should the survey reveal the presence of any nesting species, then no 
development including clearance of trees and shrubs shall take place until a 



methodology for protecting nest sites during the course of the development has been 
agreed in writing by the local planning authority. Nest site protection shall be 
provided in accordance with the approved methodology.

Reason: In order to prevent any habitat disturbance to nesting birds in accordance 
with Unitary Development Plan Policies NE/3 and NE/4 and the National Planning 
Policy Framework. 

17 No development shall take place until a scheme of tree and hedgerow protection 
measures in accordance with BS 5837:2012 'Trees in Relation to Design, Demolition 
and Construction’ incorporating both above and below ground measures to be 
implemented during the construction period has been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall thereafter be carried 
out in strict accordance with the protection measures contained within the duly 
approved scheme throughout the construction period.

Reason: In order to ensure that appropriate mitigation measures are put in place to 
safeguard the health of trees and hedgerows within the site in the interests of the 
amenity of the area, and that the development does not prejudice the favourable 
conservation status of protected species in accordance with the requirements of 
Unitary Development Plan policies NE/4 and NE/7 and the National Planning Policy 
Framework.  

Reason for pre-commencement condition: As the proposals require ground works 
and engineering works there is a risk of disturbance to features of ecological 
importance on commencement of engineering works on site.  

18 No development shall take place within any phase pursuant to condition 2 of this 
permission until a further site survey to establish the absence of Badgers has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority.  Should Badgers 
be identified, a Reasonable Avoidance Method Statement for Badgers for that phase 
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority in 
consultation with Greater Manchester Ecology Unit (GMEU). The development shall 
thereafter be carried out in accordance with the statement and any approved 
measures.

Reason: In order that the development does not prejudice the favourable 
conservation status of badgers in accordance with the requirements of Unitary 
Development Plan policy NE/4 and the National Planning Policy Framework.  

Reason for pre-commencement condition: As the proposals require ground works 
and engineering works there is a risk of disturbance to species and an assessment of 
the mitigation will therefore be necessary prior to commencement of any engineering 
works on site.

19 No development shall take place until the applicant or their agents or their 
successors in title have secured the implementation of a programme of 
archaeological works. The programme of archaeological works should be undertaken 
in accordance with a Written Scheme of Investigation (WSI) which has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The WSI shall 
cover the following: 

(i) A phased programme and methodology of site investigation and recording to 
include;
- geophysical evaluation 



- evaluation trenching; targeting geophysical anomalies, including targeted 
evaluation trenching of buildings identified in the desk-based assessment 
and providing an adequate spatial sample of the development site

-  (depending upon the results of the evaluation) area excavation and 
recording

(ii) A programme for post investigation assessment to include: 
 analysis of the site investigation records and findings 
 production of a final report on the significance of the archaeological, 

architectural and historical interest represented. 
(iii) Provision for publication and dissemination of the analysis and report on the 

site investigation;
(iv) Provision for archive deposition of the report, finds and records of the site 

investigation;
(v) Nomination of a competent person or persons/ organisation to undertake the 

works set out within the approved WSI.

Reason: In order to protect and preserve the archaeological and historical 
significance of potential below ground heritage assets in accordance with the 
requirements of Unitary Development Plan Policies BE/10 and NE/6, and the 
National Planning Policy Framework.

Reason for pre-commencement condition: As the proposals require ground works 
and engineering works there is a risk of disturbance to archaeologically important 
sites an assessment of the necessary mitigation or preventative measures will 
therefore be necessary prior to commencement of any building or engineering works 
on site.

20 The dwellings should be constructed in accordance with the recommendations in the 
submitted Traffic Noise Assessment (Martec Environmental Consultants Ltd dated 
November 2014) and designed to ensure that noise from passing traffic does not 
exceed: (i) 30dB(A) Leq 5mins in the bedrooms with windows shut and other means 
of ventilation provided between 11pm and 7am; (ii) 35dB(A) Leq (1 hour) in other 
habitable rooms with windows shut and other means of ventilation provided at all 
times; (iii) 45 dB(A) Lmax in bedrooms.

Reason: In order to ensure the implementation of appropriate noise attenuation 
measures for the proposed dwellings to ensure satisfactory living conditions for future 
occupiers of the development in accordance with the requirements of Unitary 
Development Plan policies H/3, BE/2 and EM/3 and the policies within the NPPF.

21 The reserved matters application(s) for each phase pursuant to condition 4 of this 
permission shall be accompanied by details of measures to be incorporated into the 
development for the management of household waste during the operation of the 
development hereby approved. 

Reason: In order to secure the provision of appropriate measures for the storage, 
management and recycling/disposal of waste on the site during the lifetime of the 
development hereby approved, and in the interests of highway safety and the 
character and appearance of the site and surrounding area, in accordance with the 
requirements of Unitary Development Plan policies A/7, G/BE/1, BE/2, and the 
National Planning Policy Framework.

Report Author  Daniela Ripa





Application Number: 15/00395/FUL    Ward: Norden      

Proposal: Construction and operation of 16 wind turbines (2 in Rochdale) with a 
maximum height to the tip of the blade of 115 metres (above ground level) for a 
temporary period of 25 years together with:
-  The installation of associated ancillary infrastructure
-  The installation of an anemometer mast of a maximum 60m height
-  Retention of necessary elements of ancillary infrastructure associated with the 
existing Scout Moor Wind Farm
-  A scheme of moorland restoration and management (MRMP)
-  Erection of boundary treatments and pen in association with creation of a permissive 
bridleway
- Formation of paths for pedestrians and horse-riders to link with access tracks and 
existing Rights of Way 

Site Address: Land At Scout Moor And Near Edenfield, Rossendale    

Applicant: Scout Moor Wind Farm Expansion Limited
                  

RECOMMENDATION: Granted subject to conditions

BACKGROUND AND DELEGATION

Members should note that despite the description of development above relating to a 16 
wind turbine development, only 2 of those turbines are within the administrative boundary of 
Rochdale and therefore can be considered by Members. The application has, correctly, been 
jointly made to both Rochdale and Rossendale Councils and identical applications have 
been made to each authority. It is for each authority to determine the development within 
their own administrative boundary, which in the case of Rochdale is for two wind turbines, 
access track spurs, retention of the existing access tracks serving the existing Scout Moor 
wind farm and works associated with the Moorland Restoration Management Plan. 

Rossendale consulted this authority on the 14 turbines within their boundary and this 
consultation was considered by the Planning and Licensing Committee on 17 August. The 
comments of that Committee have been sent to Rossendale for consideration and to take 
into account when determining the application. No further consideration can or should be 
given to the 14 turbines within Rossendale, other than in respect of cumulative effects.

The Planning and Licensing Committee have delegated powers to refuse the application on 
reasonable planning grounds. If Members are minded to approve the application, the 
application will need to be referred to the Secretary of State for Communities and Local 
Government via the Planning Casework Unit. This is because a Request to Intervene has 
been received by the Secretary of State by a third party and he must now be given the 
opportunity to consider whether he wishes to call in the application for his own 
determination. Members would therefore be required to defer and delegate the decision to 
the Head of Planning to issue the decision notice on confirmation that the Secretary of State 
did not wish to call in the application. If the Secretary of State did determine that the 
application should be called in for his own determination then the decision would pass out of 
the hands of the Local Planning Authority. 



UPDATE

At the meeting of Rochdale Township Planning Sub Committee on 1 September 2015 
Members resolved that they were minded to grant the application by a majority of 6 votes to 
3. In doing so they recommended that the outstanding objection from the Ministry of Defence 
be resolved prior to the Planning and Licensing Committee.

Since the publication of the report to Rochdale Township Planning Sub Committee on 20 
August 2015 the following has been updated:-

 A revised consultation response from the Defence Infrastructure Organisation, part of 
the Ministry of Defence, which maintains their objection (received 21 August 2015 
and reported verbally to the Rochdale Township Planning Sub Committee); reported 
in the Consultation Responses section of this report.

 A revised consultation response from Manchester Airport, which confirms the 
wording of suitable planning conditions to mitigate any harm to aerodrome 
safeguarding (received 28 August 2015 and reported verbally to Rochdale Township 
Planning Sub Committee); reported in the Consultation Responses section of this 
report.

 An additional representation, received on 21 August 2015, reported in the 
Representations section of this report.

 An additional representation, handed in at the Rochdale Township Planning Sub 
Committee; reported in the Representations section of this report.

 Some minor alterations to the wording of proposed planning conditions for clarity and 
enforceability (the purpose of the planning conditions is unchanged); reported in the 
Recommendation section of the report.

 Confirmation that the Secretary of State has received a call in request from a third 
party and that if Members are minded to approve the application it must be deferred 
and delegated to the Head of Planning for referral to the Secretary of State; reported 
in the Background and Delegation and Recommendation sections of the report.

SITE

The existing Scout Moor Wind Farm

The existing wind farm at Scout Moor was commissioned in July 2008 and comprises a total 
of 26 (2.5MW) wind turbines, with a hub height of 60m and a maximum blade tip height of 
100m. These turbines stand on elevated moorland at Scout Moor and Knowl Moor. Vehicular 
access to the wind farm is via the access road leading to Marshall’s Quarry, from a point on 
the A680 within Rossendale and the turbines are then reached from a network of access 
tracks across the moor. 

The current application area

The application site in Rochdale extends over an area of 178 hectares and comprises land 
located between the turbines and access tracks of the existing Scout Moor Wind Farm and 
the adjoining land to the north. The site area also includes some of the existing access 
tracks associated with the Scout Moor Wind Farm. 

The majority of the application site is located within Rossendale, apart from the southern 
section, which encompasses the two turbines in Rochdale, and comprises an area of 
elevated moorland and due to historical quarrying, stock piles of quarry waste are a common 
feature located on the edges of the moorland plateau. To the north east of the site, the 
proposed development is located adjacent to the Pennine Bridleway, which encompasses 



the Mary Towneley Loop. The Rossendale Way public footpath also passes through the 
western and northern parts of the application site, whilst the Rochdale Way passes along the 
south western part of the application site. 

Large areas of the application site are underlain by peat deposits of varying depth, although 
the peat habitat is known to be in a generally poor condition. This degraded condition of peat 
is due to a number of inter-related factors across the whole area, including; managed burns 
and wildfires, inappropriate livestock management and also the use of the moorland by 
motorcycles and off-road vehicles. These problems have, amongst other things, resulted in 
the exposure of bare peat and the formation of gullies, caused by the erosion of peat habitat. 
The application site does however support a range of upland habitats, including dry and wet 
modified bog, acid grassland, marshy grassland, ditches, ponds and man-made features 
such as access tracks, existing quarries and disused quarries. 

Given the elevated position of Scout Moor, views of the moor and the existing turbines are 
available throughout much of Rochdale and Rossendale, as well as from surrounding upland 
areas. Views of the application site are also available from the M66, M60, M62 and A627M 
motorways.

Relationship with other wind energy development 

Members will recall that at their meeting of 25 June 2015 the Planning and Licensing 
Committee resolved that they would  refuse planning permission for  a development of 12 
turbines at Rooley Moor (ref. 14/00877/FUL), to the east of the Scout Moor site. At their 
meeting of 17 August 2015, Members provided comments to be reported to Rossendale BC 
in respect of the 14 turbines within that Borough proposed in the Scout Moor expansion 
scheme. 

These applications are, and should be considered as, separate proposals although 
consideration can of course be given to cumulative impacts.  To assist Members in the 
consideration of cumulative impacts, a planning history of wind energy development in 
Rochdale and beyond can be found later in the report.  

PROPOSAL

The application is considered to be Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA) development 
and as such has been accompanied by an Environmental Statement (ES) under the Town 
and Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulations 2011 (as amended). 
Further Environmental Information (FEI) has been submitted and this is intended to address 
the comments of statutory and other consultees and supplemented the information 
submitted in the ES. 

Notwithstanding the description of development, the application for consideration relates 
only to two turbines in Rochdale and two spurs of additional access track to enable access 
those turbines. The remaining 14 turbines and ancillary works are in Rossendale and are 
therefore not for consideration under this application or by Rochdale Council. The two 
turbines in Rochdale are numbered T15 and T16. 

It is worth noting that planning permission is sought for a temporary period of 25 years from 
the date of first exportation of electricity to the national grid. The existing Scout Moor Wind 
Farm is required to be decommissioned in 2034, whereas the proposed development is 
likely to be decommissioned in circa 2042. If approved there will therefore be a period of 
approximately eight years where the proposed development will exist without the existing 



Scout Moor Wind Farm. The current planning application therefore also seeks permission to 
retain those elements of the ancillary infrastructure associated with the existing Scout Moor 
Wind Farm, which are required to enable the operation of the 16 turbines proposed in this 
application, until they are due to be decommissioned in circa 2042. 

The turbines as proposed would each have a total height to the tip of 115 metres, with a hub 
height of 60 metres and they would be a 3 bladed design, with an anticipated maximum 
capacity of 2.3MW. The turbines are proposed to be coloured appropriately to reduce their 
contrast with the background sky and landscape and the precise RAL colour could be 
agreed via a planning condition. The turbines would be uniform in colour and would not 
include any company logos or similar. Electricity transformers would be housed within the 
individual turbine towers. 

The two turbines in Rochdale would comprise infill to the existing development and would 
include approximately 50m of access track to T15 and approximately 70m of access track to 
T16. The new access tracks would have a minimum width of 5.0 metres with a 1.0 metre 
buffer to either side (i.e. total width of 7 metres). Where passing places are required, the 
track width would increase to 10 metres with a 1 metre buffer to either side (i.e. 12 metres in 
total). The new tracks would be constructed of ‘cut road’ or floating road’ depending on peat 
depths and the hydrological regime of individual locations. The existing access tracks for the 
Scout Moor Windfarm would also be used for the purpose of construction and access of the 
development. 

The turbines would be supported on reinforced concrete foundations, the type and design of 
which would be informed by specific ground conditions. The ES however indicates that the 
foundations would have a length and breadth of 18.0 metres with cable ducts exiting through 
the foundations. 

Adjacent to each turbine a crane pad would be constructed and these would total up to 
100sq metres in size and would facilitate the construction, maintenance and eventual 
decommissioning of the development. The crane pads would be constructed from surplus 
material generated from site excavations and/or imported material that would be sourced 
from the Marshalls quarry adjacent to the site access. The depth of the hard-standing 
required for the crane pads would be determined by ground conditions.  
                                                                                                                                                                                                                     
Each turbine would be connected to the proposed substation via underground cabling that 
would be laid in trenches excavated alongside the existing and proposed access tracks. The 
depth and width of the trenches would be dependent upon the number of cables laid but 
would be a maximum of 4 meters wide and 1 metre deep. 

As part of the application it has been requested that any approval include a condition relating 
to micrositing and this would allow for the micrositing of each turbine, access track and 
associated infrastructure within 30 metres of the location currently proposed. This is to allow 
for flexibility based on matters such as ground or design features. 

The application also includes a Moorland Restoration and Management Plan and this 
includes proposals to restore an area of the degraded peat moorland. The principal remedial 
measures include:

- A proposed reduction in grazing levels
- The erection of fencing around blocks of severely degraded peatland areas and the 

exclusion of grazing from these areas for five years. 
- The implementation of a variety of hydrological works
- The application of lime and fertiliser to support vegetation growth
- The application of Geojute to assist in the prevention of peat loss
- Adding heather brash to add species diversity



- The installation of dams to help hold more water on the moor for longer
- The translocation of blanket bog vegetation

It is anticipated that the construction period for the proposed development would take place 
in one phase over a period of approximately 12 months. A Construction Method Statement 
has been submitted which explains the construction process in detail. 

The hours of construction for the proposed development are stated as being 0700-1900 
Monday to Friday and 0700-1200 on Saturdays with no working on Sundays on Bank 
Holidays. It is anticipated that construction personnel would arrive in the hour preceding 
work commencing and would depart in the hour following the cessation of construction 
activity.

The proposed development would be connected to the national grid via the Rossendale Bulk 
Supply Point which is located 3.3km north-west of the application site, via underground 
cabling within the public highway. The connection to the grid does not form part of the 
planning application submission. 
 
The site is currently Common Land. A separate application for Commons Act Consent will 
also be submitted for the erection of the temporary fencing and deregistration of the 
common. This is not part of the planning application submission. 

RELEVANT PLANNING POLICY

National Guidance

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)

The Department for Communities and Local Government published the NPPF on 27 March 
2012.  The NPPF sets out the Government’s planning policies for England and how these 
are expected to be applied.  

National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG)

The government published its NPPG on 6 March 2014. This is intended to complement the 
NPPF and to provide a single resource for planning guidance, whilst rationalising and 
streamlining the material. Almost all previous planning Circulars and advice notes have been 
cancelled. Specific reference will be made to the NPPG or other national advice in the 
Analysis section of the report, where appropriate.

Unitary Development Plan (UDP): 

G/SP/2 Rural Protection and Regeneration
G/SP/3 Meeting the Needs of Local Communities 

G/D/2 Green Belt
D/4 Control of Development in the Green Belt – General

G/LT/1 Sport, Leisure and Tourism
LT/2 Protection of Tourism Attractions

G/G/1 Greenspace
G/3 Protection of Existing Recreational Open Space



G/RE/1 Countryside and the Rural Economy
RE/2 Countryside around Towns
RE/3 Development Involving Agricultural Land
RE/4 Diversification of the Rural Economy
RE/5 Access to the Countryside
RE/6 Recreational Rights of Way

G/A/1 Accessibility
A/2 Accessibility Hierarchy
A/3 New Development – Access for Pedestrians and Disabled People
A/4 New Development – Access for Cyclists
A/5 New Development – Access for Bus Services
A/7 New Development – Access for Service Vehicles
A/8 New Development – Capacity of the Highway Network
A/9 New Development – Access for General Traffic
A/11 New Development – Transport Assessments
A/13 Local Walking Route Network
A/14 A Strategic Cycling Route Network
A/15 Facilities for Buses

G/BE/1            Design Quality
BE/2                Design Criteria for New Development

G/BE/9 Conservation of the Built Heritage
BE/10 Development Affecting Archaeological Sites and Ancient Monuments
BE/11 Protection of Locally Important Buildings and Features of Architectural and 

Historic Interest
BE/15 New Development Affecting the Setting of a Listed Building
BE/17 New Development Affecting Conservation Areas
BE/19 Protection of Parks and Gardens of Special Historic Interest

G/EM/1 Environmental Protection and Pollution Control
EM/2 Pollution 
EM/3 Noise and New Development
EM/7 Development and Flood Risk
EM/8 Protection of Surface and Ground Water

G/EM/12 Renewable Energy and Energy Conservation
EM/13 Energy Efficiency and New Development
EM/14 Wind Power Developments
EM/16 Sustainable Energy Sources

G/EN/1 Nature Conservation
NE/2 Designated Sites of Ecological and Geological/Geomorphological Importance
NE/3 Biodiversity and Development
NE/4 Protected Sites

G/NE/5 Landscape and Woodlands
NE/6 Landscape Protection and Enhancement

Supplementary Planning Documents (SPD):
Climate Change Adaptation
Energy and New Development 
Wind Power Developments – SPG



Conservation Area Appraisals

Conservation Area Appraisal – Prickshaw and Broadley Fold
Conservation Area Appraisal – Whitworth Square
Conservation Area Appraisal – Bacup
Conservation Area Appraisal – Cloughfold
Conservation Area Appraisal – Fallbarn
Conservation Area Appraisal – Rawtenstall Town Centre

Greater Manchester Policies

Greater Manchester Minerals Plan

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)

Introduction
Chapter 1 Building a strong, competitive economy
Chapter 3 Supporting a prosperous rural economy
Chapter 4 Promoting sustainable transport
Chapter 5 Supporting high quality communications infrastructure
Chapter 7 Requiring good design
Chapter 8 Promoting healthy communities
Chapter 9 Protecting Green Belt Land
Chapter 10 Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal change
Chapter 11 Conserving and enhancing the natural environment
Chapter 12 Conserving and enhancing the historic environment
Chapter 13 Facilitating the sustainable use of minerals
Annexe 1 Implementation

National Energy Statements

Overarching National Policy Statement for Energy (EN-1)
National Policy Statement for Renewable Energy Infrastructure (EN-3)

Other National and Regional Energy Policy and Guidance

Kyoto Protocol (1997)
UK Climate Change Programme (2008)
EU Renewables Directive 2001 
Energy White Paper (2003)
Energy White Paper (2007)
UK Renewable Energy Strategy (2009)
UK Low Carbon Transition Plan (2009)
Northwest Sustainable Energy Strategy (2006)
Northwest Climate Change Action Plan (2010-2012)

Planning for onshore wind farms – Standard Note: SN/SC/4370
Wind Farms – Distance from housing – Standard Note: SN/SC/5521

Ministerial Statement

Written Statement (HCWS42) made by: Secretary of State for Communities and Local 
Government (Greg Clark) on 18 June 2015.

Adopted Commissioned Reports



Julie Martin – Landscape capacity Study for Wind Energy Development In the South 
Pennines, January 2010
Julie Martin – South Pennines Wind Energy Landscape Study, October 2014

Rochdale Publication Core Strategy (draft)

The Council’s Core Strategy underwent an  Examination in Public on  10 June 2015. This 
centred on a single issue, that of housing numbers, and as such the remainder of the Core 
Strategy can now be given some, albeit it at this time without further advancement, limited 
weight in decision making. The Inspector’s Report is expected during the latter part of 
September 2015. It is expected that based on current timescales, the Core Strategy will be 
adopted in late 2015 / early 2016. 

The following policies of the emerging and currently un-adopted Core Strategy (known more 
formally as the emerging Rochdale Publication Core Strategy) are relevant:- 
 
SO1 To deliver a more prosperous economy
SO2 To create successful and healthy communities
SO3 To improve design, image and quality of place
SO4 To promote a greener environment

SD1 Delivering sustainable development

SP1 Rochdale borough’s role in the city region
SP2 The spatial strategy for the borough
SP3/P The strategy for Pennines
SP3/R The strategy for Rochdale

E5 Encouraging the visitor economy
E6 Supporting and diversifying the rural economy

C6 Improving health and well being
C8 Improving community, sport, leisure and cultural facilities

P2 Protecting and enhancing character, landscape and heritage
P3 Improving design of new development

G1 Tackling and adapting to climate change
G2 Energy and new development
G3 Renewable and low carbon energy developments
G4 Protecting Green Belt land
G7 Increasing the biodiversity and geodiversity
G8 Managing water resources and flood risk
G9 Reducing the impact of pollution 
G10 Managing mineral resources

T2 Improving accessibility
DM1 General development requirements
DM2 Delivering planning contributions and infrastructure

PUBLICITY

Neighbour Letters:



The Environmental Statement (ES) was publicised with 216 no. neighbour notification letters 
on the 9th April 2015.

The Further Environmental Information (FEI) was publicised with 265 no. neighbour 
notification letters on the 15th July 2015

Site Notice

The ES was publicised with 6 no. site notices on the 23rd April 2015. 

The FEI was publicised with 6 no. site notices on the 10th July 2015.

Press Notice:

The ES was publicised in the Rochdale Observer on the 15 April 2015.

The FEI was publicised in the  Rochdale Observer on the 1 August 2015. 

RELEVANT SITE HISTORY

Application by Scout Moor Wind Farm Limited for consent to construct and operate a wind 
turbine generation station under Section 36 of the Electricity Act 1989 – Approved following 
a public inquiry in 2005.

15/00497 – Consultation from Rossendale BC in regard to – Construction and operation of 
16 wind turbines (2 in Rochdale) with a maximum height to the tip of the blade of 115 metres 
(above ground level) for a temporary period of 25 years together with:

- The installation of associated ancillary infrastructure
- The installation of an anemometer mast of a maximum 60m height
- Retention of necessary elements of ancillary infrastructure associated with the 

existing Scout Moor Wind Farm
- A scheme of moorland restoration and management (MRMP)
- Erection of boundary treatments and pen in association with creation of a permissive 

bridleway.
- Formation of paths for pedestrians and horse-riders to link with access tracks and 

existing Rights of Way.
Referred to the Planning and Licensing Committee on the 17th August for their views to pass 
onto Rossendale. 

Rooley Moor

14/00877 – Erection of 12 wind turbine generators (maximum height to tip of 125m), 
construction of access tracks and crane pads, formation of borrow pits for the extraction of 
stone for on-site construction works, erection of 70m high meteorological mast, erection of 
substation, transformer housings, control room and associated laydown area and 
construction compound, associated infrastructure and development ancillary thereto – 
Refused (appeal lodged) 

Crook Hill 

07/D48920 – Erection and operation of 7 turbines with associated ancillary infrastructure for 
the generation of wind power – Appeal Allowed 
Crook Hill/Shore Moor, North of Watergrove Reservoir, Rochdale 



08/D51145 – Erection and operation of 4 wind turbines with associated ancillary 
infrastructure for the generation of wind power (revised proposal for the previously submitted 
planning application D48920) – Appeal Allowed 
Cross Hill/Shore Moor, North of Watergrove Reservoir, Rochdale

11/D54095 – Revised access arrangements to serve the approved wind farm at Crook Hill 
for a total of 12 turbines using parts of the approved access track layouts for planning 
permissions D45920 and D51145, including the re-alignment of some sections of those 
access tracks and junctions, together with the re-positioning of the approved anemometer 
mast – Approved
Crook Hill/Shore Moor, North of Watergrove Reservoir, Rochdale

11/D54145 – Revised access arrangements using a new access route from the A671 at 
Shawforth, along Landgate, through Middle Hill Quarry and over Rough Hill to serve the 
approved wind farm at Cross Hill for a total of 12 wind turbines and using parts of the 
approved access track layouts for the planning permission D48920 and D51145, including 
the re-alignment of some sections of those access tracks and junctions and together with the 
re-positioning of the approved anemometer mast and the temporary construction compound 
– Approved
Crook Hill/Shore Moor, North of Watergrove Reservoir, Rochdale 

Applications in Rossendale

Scout Moor

Application by Scout Moor Wind Farm Limited for consent to construct and operate a wind 
turbine generation station under Section 36 of the Electricity Act 1989 – Approved 2005

2015/0112 – Scout Moor Wind Farm Extension – 16 wind turbines up to 115m to blade tip 
(14 of which are in Rossendale) and associated ancillary infrastructure – Undetermined
Scout Moor Wind Farm, Rochdale

Rooley Moor 

2014/0388 – Erection of 12 wind turbine generators (maximum height to tip of 125m), 
construction of access tracks and crane pads, formation of borrow pits for the extraction of 
stone for on-site construction works, erection of 70m height meteorological mast, erection of 
substation, transformer housings, control room and associated laydown area and 
construction compound, associated infrastructure and development ancillary thereto – 
Refused 
Land to the east and west of Rooley Moor Road, Rochdale

Crook Hill

2011/0030 – Revised access arrangements using a new access route from A671 at 
Shawforth, along Landgate, through Middle Hill Quarry and over Rough Hill to serve 
approved Wind Farm at Crook Hill – Approved
Land at Crook Hill, Reddyshore, Scout Gate Lane, Todmorden

Reaps Moss

2007/125 – Three turbines - Appeal Allowed
Reaps Moss 



2010/0479 – To amend the application site boundary to embrace the full sweep of the 
blades of the 3 wind turbines permitted by planning permission 2007/125 – Approved
Reaps Moss, Bacup

2012 – 0165 – Modifications to the infrastructure for the consented Reaps Moss Wind Farm, 
including new site entrance arrangements, rearranged construction compound, and 
alteration to cutting, access road & hardstandings  - Approved
Land east of Bacup and south of Bacup Road known as Reaps Moss Wind Farm, 
Todmorden Road, Bacup

Gorpley Reservoir/Inchfield Moor

2012/0526 – Construction of 5no wind turbines of a maximum height of 125m to blade-tip 
and associated infrastructure, including 85m high meteorological mast, switch gear/control 
building, crane hardstandings and access tracks extending from Bacup Rd, Todmorden – 
Approved
Inchfield Moor between Todmorden Road & Bacup 

Applications in Calderdale

Crook Hill

07/00632/WDF – Installation and operation of fiver wind turbines and associated 
infrastructure (including transformers, access tracks and temporary construction compound) 
for the generation of wind power (as part of a larger scheme for 12 wind turbines) (Revised 
Report) – Appeal Allowed
Crook Hill Wind Farm, Reddyshore, Scout Gate, Walsden, Todmorden

08/01281/WDF – Installation and operation of four wind turbines and associated 
infrastructure (including transformers, access tracks and temporary construction compound) 
for the generation of wind power (as part of larger scheme for eight wind turbines) – Appeal 
Allowed
Crook Hill Wind Farm, Reddyshore, Scout Gate, Walsden, Todmorden

11/00079/WDF – Revisions to access to serve approved 12 turbines wind farm at Crook Hill 
(partially using tracks approved under planning permission 07/00632/WDF and 
08/01281/WDF) – Approved
Crook Hill Wind Farm, Reddyshore, Scout Gate, Walsden, Todmorden

11/00080/WDF – Revisions to access to serve approved 12 turbine wind farm at Crook Hill 
(partially using tracks approved under planning permission 07/00623/WDF and 
08/01281/WDF) and removal of contractors compound
Crook Hill Wind Farm, Reddyshore, Scout Gate, Walsden, Todmorden

Todmorden Moor

07/00349/WDF – Installation and operation of 5 wind turbines and associated infrastructure 
(including transformers, access tracks, a sub-station and a meteorological mast) for the 
generation of wind power (Revised Report) – Appeal Dismissed
Todmorden Moor, Flower Scar Road, Todmorden

10/01057/WDF – Installation of 5 wind turbines for 25 years (max. height to blade tip 125m) 
and ancillary infrastructure including crane hardstandings, control building, substation, on-
site access tracks, permanent monitoring mast, site entrance and underground electric 
cables – Approved



Todmorden Moor, Flower Scar Road, Todmorden

Reaps Moss

07/00351/WDF – Upgrade of access track to service proposed Reaps Moss Wind Farm 
(Revised Report) – Appeal Allowed
Access track at Reaps Moss, Bacup Road, Todmorden

12/00229/WDF – Modifications to the infrastructure for the consented Reaps Moss Wind 
Farm, including new site entrance arrangements, rearranged construction compound and 
alteration to cutting, access road and hardstandings – Approved
Reaps Moss and access track off Bacup Road, Todmorden

Gorpley Reservoir/Inchfield Moor

12/01355/WDF – Construction of 5 no wind turbines of a maximum height of 125m to blade-
tip and associated infrastructure, including 85m high meteorological mast, switch 
gear/control building, crane hardstandings and access tracks extending from Bacup Rd, 
Todmorden – Refused
Land South West of Gorpley Reservoir, Bacup Road, Todmorden

14/00126 – Construction of 4 no. Wind Turbines of maximum height to blade tip of between 
110m and 125m,  and associated infrastructure including turbine foundations, transformers, 
crane hardstanding areas and new onsite access tracks, a new switchgear/control building, 
underground cabling and a permanent meteorological mast (Re-submission of application 
12/01355/WDF) – Refused
Land South West of Gorpley Reservoir, Bacup Road, Todmorden

CONSULTATION RESPONSES

A summary of consultation responses. These have been ordered under the titles of: 
Objection and No Objection. 

Objection

Defence Infrastructure Organisation (Ministry of Defence):

The Ministry of Defence (MOD) was consulted on the Scout Moor Extension wind farm 
Infrastructure Planning Committee application in June 2014. The proposed wind farm at that 
time was for 26 turbines at 115m to blade tip height. The MOD conducted a technical and 
operational assessment which determined that the proposed wind farm would cause 
unacceptable interference to the Air Traffic Control (ATC) radar at Warton Airfield. The MOD 
wrote to the applicant to inform them as such. 

On 31st October 2014, the applicant’s aviation consultants, Wind Power Aviation 
Consultants Ltd, informed the MOD that there was to be a reduction in turbines from 26 to 16 
(still at 115m to blade tip height). A further MOD assessment was conducted on the 16 
turbines which also determined that they would cause unacceptable interference to the ATC 
radar at Warton Airfield. Since then, there has been ongoing communication between the 
MOD and the applicant’s aviation consultants. 

Wind Farm Aviation Consultants Ltd. (WFAC, also an aviation consultant) submitted a 
mitigation proposal to the MOD on the 11th June 2015 to address the impact the turbines 
would have on the ATC radar at Warton Airfield. From my experience of dealing with other 
mitigation proposals for wind turbines/farms, on initial receipt of the WFAC submitted 



mitigation proposal, it appeared to be dissimilar to what is normally submitted to the MOD. I 
had the submission assessed by the relevant MOD technical expert who identified that 
further information was required. On the 12th June 2015 via email, I informed WFAC as such 
and requested the further information. No further information was provided. 

The mitigation proposal, as submitted, was then assessed by the relevant subject matter 
experts. Unfortunately, in its current state the mitigation proposal is not acceptable to the 
MOD. Further information is required. I informed WFAC as such verbally on the 20th August 
2015 and followed this with a formal letter of the same date. 

I would like to point out that, previously, the MOD has received numerous mitigation 
proposals for other wind farms planning applications from WFAC. It is fair to say that over 
the years, WFAC has experience of dealing with the MOD’s mitigation process. Indeed, 
WFAC confirmed as much when I verbally informed them that the Scout Moor Extension 
wind farm proposal was unacceptable. I would also like to point out that WFAC met with 
MOD and BAE Systems Warton in June 2015 to discuss this case. At the meeting, mitigation 
was discussed and I stated that a site specific mitigation proposal was required for the Scout 
Moor Extension wind farm proposal as per normal process. 

The MOD has a robust process for considering wind farm mitigation proposals and this must 
be adhered to as there could be wide ranging implications if not. The process is applied 
consistently to wind farm applications across the UK and has been in place for several years 
and has stood up to scrutiny in appeals including public inquiries. 

The MOD assesses each turbine application on its merits and on a case by case basis. 
When consulted on a turbine application, the MOD will conduct a technical assessment to 
determine if the proposed turbines will be detectable to MOD radar(s). If the proposed 
turbines will be detectable to radar(s), an operational assessment is conducted to determine 
if the impact of the proposed turbines on the radar(s) is manageable or not. Where the 
impact is considered to be manageable, the MOD will not object to the planning application. 
Where the impact is considered to be unmanageable, the MOD will object. This is the case 
with the Scout Moor Extension wind farm planning application. 

When the MOD has objected to a wind farm planning application, it remains the 
responsibility of the applicant to propose acceptable site specific mitigation. On receipt of a 
site specific mitigation proposal, the MOD will subject it to a technical and operational 
assessment to determine if it is acceptable. Where it is found that a mitigation proposal is 
acceptable, the MOD would then discuss suspensive planning conditions. Where it is found 
that a mitigation proposal is not acceptable, the MOD will inform the relevant parties as such 
and will not enter in to discussions regarding planning conditions. 

The MOD is aware of the UK Guidance on the tests required of a planning condition and 
therefore the MOD requires acceptable site specific mitigation before it can consider 
discussing suspensive planning conditions. The MOD does not think it is appropriate to 
agree to a planning condition without site specific mitigation. The MOD has determined that 
the WFAC mitigation proposal for Scout Moor Extension is not acceptable, so therefore it 
would be inappropriate to discuss suspensive planning conditions at this time. 

You may be aware of the recent Rooley Moor wind farm proposal (Rochdale Met Borough 
Council Ref. 14/00877/FUL) for 12 turbines at 125m height. In this case, the applicant 
submitted acceptable mitigation to the MOD that allowed the MOD to agree a suspensive 
planning condition and subsequently withdraw its objection subject to the agreed condition 
being imposed on any consent if granted. This is different to Scout Moor Extension where 
the mitigation proposed has been determined to be unacceptable. 



Please be aware that mitigation proposals submitted to the MOD are considered 
‘commercial in confidence’ and cannot be freely shared. 

The MOD would welcome a site specific mitigation proposal that contains the further detail 
requested of WFAC. If the MOD was to receive a further mitigation proposal it will be 
assessed as to its acceptability. 

National Trust

Concerns over the impact on the Holcombe Moor and Stubbins Estate which is National 
Trust owned and is sited around 5km to the west of the Scout Moor Wind Farm. 
Concerns over the existing Scout Moor Windfarm which due to the number of turbines, their 
size, prominence and unnatural engineer form and appearance, detract significantly from the 
sense of solitude and wildness which is an important characteristic of this valuable moorland 
area. Concerns that a further 16 turbines of a greater height would intensify and consolidate 
the existing cluster of turbines and would also extend the complex further to the north. The 
visual prominence of the wind farm when observed from a large part of the Trust estate 
would be noticeably increased and the additional turbines would make an already 
unsatisfactory situation significantly worse. 

The assessment in the ES on visual impact is not accepted and the impact of the windfarm 
would dominate views to the east over much of the land that the Trust is charged to care for, 
in perpetuity, for the benefit of the nation. 

The Council are requested to have regards to the objections of the Trust in relation to the 
cumulative impact of wind turbines on an area much valued for the opportunity it affords to 
access wild and relatively unspoilt moorland. 

Campaign for the Protection of Rural England (CPRE)

CPRE wishes to object to the 2 turbines in Rochdale which are part of the Scout Moor 
expansion. 

Calderdale MBC

Calderdale have serious concerns regarding; landscape and visual impacts including 
cumulative impacts, and the impact on the Pennine Bridleway National Trail and Mary 
Towneley Loop. 

The proposal adds significantly to the already consented and operational commercial wind 
farms in the South Pennines in terms of cumulative impact, both in landscape and visual 
terms. The South Pennines is becoming dominated by wind farms to the detriment of the 
visual quality of the landscape where turbines will be present in most close and far range 
views including for outside the host authority’s boundaries. In the Council’s opinion, this 
reduced the open countryside, rendering it an industrial landscape and significantly harms to 
visual attracting of open moorland. 

The construction of a further 16 turbines will increase the impact of the wind farm on the 
users of the Pennine Bridleway and Mary Towneley Loop. Whilst the provision of alternative 
and new routes for horses is welcomed, Calderdale MBC has concerns that the proposal will 
discourage riders from using the right of way in this area due to the number of turbines. As 
the Pennine Bridleway and the Mary Towneley Loop pass through Calderdale, it is 
considered that the presence of the turbines is likely to reduce usage and diminish users’ 
enjoyment of the right of way which will have a knock on effect on the local economy.



No Objection 

Manchester Airport

Withdraws its previous objections subject to a suitable condition to deliver a radar mitigation 
option that would address the anticipated and operational impacts of the development on 
Manchester Airport and aircraft operations. A further response was received by the Council 
on 28 August 2015 confirming the wording of a suitable planning condition which is included 
within the recommendation. 

NATS

Withdraws its previous objections to the application subject to suitable conditions and the 
implementation of an identified and defined mitigation solution in relation to the development. 
The mitigation solution will require works to be carried out to NERL’s infrastructure and 
comprises blanking of the radars at Manchester and St Anne’s leading to an increased 
reliance on other radar within the NERL multi-radar tracking system. 

United Utilities

There is the potential for the proposals to impact upon particular sensitive areas of peat and 
UU would welcome the opportunity to discuss the rationale for turbine location with the 
applicants.

It is recommended that a UU hydrologist is consulted to ensure that water quality risks are 
investigated, monitored and managed and that risks to raw water quality are managed while 
construction is taking place. 

Please a site investigation and associated groundwater monitoring scheme will be required 
and strongly support the intention to review the hydrological risk assessment once baseline 
monitoring data has been collected. 

UU strongly endorses the employment of an independent Ecological Clerk of Works (ECoW) 
which it is recommended undertakes a monitoring regime which should commence at least 
12 months prior to any development starting on site. 

Natural England

The development area is not located within or immediately adjacent to any Site of Special 
Scientific Interest (SSSI), Special Area of Conservation (SAC), Special Protection Area 
(SPA) or Ramsar Site and consequently there is not likely to be any significant effects on the 
interest features of any such designated sites. 

The locations of the proposal is not within or close to a National Park or Area of Outstanding 
Natural Beauty.

Satisfied with the overall methodology and the approval for the ecology (including 
ornithology) surveys.

This proposal will have a direct and potential indirect negative effect on areas of ‘blanket 
bog’, an Annex 1 priority habitat under the EC Habitats Directive recognised for the 
assemblage of flora and fauna which it supports. In considering the proposal overall, 
including proposed mitigation measures, we advise that it is important for your authority to 
be satisfied that there would be no significant negative impact on this habitat, prior to the 
determination of the application in accordance with your Authority’s biodiversity duty set out 



in the NPPF and potential impacts on priority habitat, as defined by Section 41 of the 
National Environment and Rural Communities Act. 

Greater Manchester Ecology Unit

The ecology surveys undertaken in support of the application are comprehensive and have 
been carried out by suitably qualified consultants. No further bird surveys or ecological 
surveys are necessary prior to determination of the application. A bat survey is required prior 
to the commencement of works. 

The proposed wind farm would cause direct loss of important upland habitats. The ES 
proposes measures for mitigation and compensation for identified harmful impacts. These 
measures are put forward in a Construction Environmental Management Plan (CEMP) and 
Moorland Restoration and Management Plan (MRMP)

The measures described in the CEMP are credible and are able to be implemented. If 
successfully implemented the MRMP will result in the enhancement and positive 
management of some 900ha. The ES provides the detail necessary to demonstrate the 
impact on Priority Habitats can be minimised to an acceptable level. 

Conditions recommended. 

Greater Manchester Archaeological Advisory Service

No objection subject to condition requiring a programme of archaeological works. 

Environment Agency

No objection but would like measures to protect groundwater, flood risk and ecology.

Historic England

No objection subject to conditions securing mitigation measures to protect archaeological 
remains, designated and non-designated heritage assets. 

Rights of Way

No objections as no Definitive Rights of Way are being crossed or affected by the work. 

Sport England

No comment.

Met Office

A legal agreement relating to the requirement mitigation has been agreed and as a result 
there are no objections to the Scout Moor Wind Farm Development. 

Coal Authority

Shallow and probably coal mine workings are within 150m of the locations of turbines T15 
and T16 and these are at moderate risk from instability arising from mining legacy and may 
require ground improvement and/or stabilisation. 



No objection subject to a condition requiring that a geotechnical ground investigation, 
including intrusive investigations is undertaken prior to the development. Depending on the 
findings of the ground investigation, the report outlines a range of measures to mitigate the 
risks posed by mining legacy in order to ensure the safety and stability of the proposed 
development. 

Highways And Engineering – The greatest impact wind turbines have upon the highway is 
during the construction period. Once construction is complete wind farms generate a handful 
of vehicle movements a day. 

The construction traffic for this development is split into AILs and HGVs both sets of vehicles 
do not intend to use highways in Rochdale. It is extremely unlikely to impact in anyway upon 
Rochdale controlled highways. It would therefore be inappropriate to object to this 
development on highways grounds.  
 
Environmental Services

I have reviewed the submitted noise report and the subsequent report undertaken by 
Hepworth’s Acoustics, commissions by Rossendale MBC. To allow full consideration of the 
application I would require further information in respect of all points highlighted in section 
70/71 of the Hepworth Acoustic Report. 

The FEI and further information on noise has been reviewed and the required and proposed 
noise limits can be achieved.

Environmental Control (Landfill Gas) -  
No comments received to date  

Conservation And Design -  
I have read and considered the report by Grover Lewis Associates dated July 2015. I 
consider the assessment and conclusions of the report to be reasonable and agree that the 
two proposed wind turbines in the Rochdale borough will have minimal impact on the 
heritage of the borough. The turbines will be visible from Whitworth, although I do not 
consider the significance of heritage assets to be affected to a large degree due to the 
distance of the turbines to the heritage assets. As the proposed turbines will be sited 
amongst the existing wind farm I do not consider the cumulative impact to be excessive. 

When the turbines become redundant they should be removed from the landscape to reduce 
unnecessary clutter in the future. 

Rossendale Borough Council -  
No comments received to date  

National Grid -  
No comments received to date  

John Martin (Minerals for Greater Manchester)-  
No comments received to date  

Rochdale Development Agency -  
No comments received to date  

British Horse Society -  
No comments received to date  



RSPB - Jeremy Sutton -  
No comments received to date  

Peak And Northern Footpaths Society -  
No comments received to date  

The Ramblers Association  Mr Roy Thorniley (Footpath Secretary) -  
No comments received to date  

Open Spaces Society -  
No comments received to date  

Lancashire Wildlife Trust -  
No comments received to date  

REPRESENTATIONS

The application has been publicised with press notices, site notices and neighbour 
notification letters. 

32 letters of objection from 24 objectors have been received in respect of the application and 
in support of the application 34 letters of support have been received from 33 supporters. 

The objections and letters of support are summarised below.

Objection

Of the 32 letters of objection received, 29 were received following first publication of the 
application and three were received following the publication of FEI. 

Environmental and Ecology

- To increase the number of turbines will have a negative effect on the countryside and 
wildlife that inhabits the moor.

- Concern over wildlife and their habitats. 
- Concern over birdlife that uses the moor. Since the start of construction work on 

Scout Moor there has been a serious demise in bird populations. 
- Dead birds have been found at the base of the existing turbines. 
- Concerns regarding the habitat enhancement fund
- The proposed development would cause significant adverse environmental impacts 

that only compound that which is existing. 
- Japanese Knotweed is already present in at least two locations in Red Lumb. 

Although the development would not take place on this site, the disruption would 
result in the wildlife leaving the application site and moving to surrounding adjacent 
areas, thus passing through the areas affected by Japanese Knotweed and resulting 
in its further spread. 

- The matter of Japanese Knotweed has been reported to Peel, the Environment 
Agency, the Police and Rochdale Council Environmental Health. 

- More turbines would only add to the damage that has already been done to the 
moorland and the decimation of the bird population that populated Scout Moor before 
the previous turbines. 

- The applications along with Rochdale Council have failed in its responsibilities within 
the Wildlife and Countryside Act. 



- The applicants along with Rochdale Council have allowed sections of Overtown Lane 
to be paralysed with contamination with the spread of Japanese Knotweed. 

Environmental

- Concerns over the amount of concrete that will be ‘dumped’ on Scout Moor. 
- Concerns over the water table and water supplies to the surrounding areas. 
- Noise pollution and visual interference. 
- An analysis of the Habitat Enhancement Fund for phase 1 shows that so far nothing 

has been spent on peat restoration on Scout Moor.
- The existing Habitat Enhancement Fund has not taken the opportunity to improve 

areas of degraded peat over the last eight years and the only money has been given 
to United Utilities.

- The existing turbines represent a ‘dead zone’ with no wildlife but signs of rubble and 
building materials.  

- Concerns over the impact of peat on the site. 
- There is increasing evidence that wind turbines affect health adversely. Information 

sent from the British Medical Journal which states “A large body of evidence now 
existing to suggest that wind turbines disturb sleep and impair health at distance and 
external noise levels that are permitted in most jurisdictions”. The development 
should not go ahead until more information becomes available in this regard.

- Carbon dioxide emissions from the development will be considerable.  

Landscape and visual impact

- The visual impact and land use change from undeveloped moorland to industrial 
power plant is of an unacceptable magnitude. 

- The development would adversely impact upon local and longer distance views. 
- Do not wish to see our moorland and skyline cluttered with anymore turbines. 
- This generation’s children and grandchildren have been robbed of their right to enjoy 

the free and open spaces that we took for granted.
- The visual impact from the development will be devastating and the site is highly 

visible from great distances. 
- The near views from Norden and Edenfield are already overwhelming by the existing 

development. The additional turbines will be larger and the visual devastation will 
extend to the norther and eastern edges of the expansions site which, at present, are 
relatively unaffected. 

- Conservation Areas such as Prickshaw and Broadley Fold, Whitworth Square and St 
Bartholomew Church are worthy of protection and essential to their appeal are views 
from both within and from middle distance. These will be effected by the proposal. 

- The proposal will impact on the views from the Cotton Famine Road (Rooley Moor 
Rd), the historic interest of which should be protected.  

- The cumulative effects of piece-meal development will result in one mega wind farm 
comprised a variety of turbine models and sizes that will decay and be 
decommissioned at different rates. 

Recreation and amenity

- The proposal will ruin existing amenity assets such as Mary Towneley Loop, which 
us used extensively by walkers, cyclists and equestrians.

- Turbines T7, T8 and T9 are insufficient distance to the Mary Towneley Loop and 
create are safety threat to equestrians using the route. The manner in which these 
turbines appear on the horizon will also pose a threat. 



- The turbine locations do not fully comply with British Horse Society guidelines in 
regards to distances to bridleways. 

- Concerns that the turbines will ‘spook’ horses and risk the safety of their riders. 
Evidence provided of horses having become spooked by turbines. 

- The income of local equestrian and tourist facilities associated with the Mary 
Towneley Loop will be put to risk. Evidence provided on the calculated benefits 
provided to the local economy by the equestrian industry and the impacts from the 
proposed Rooley Moor application.

- The alternative route around Black Hill is only acceptable if it is added to the 
definitive map and Natural England accept the route as a viable alternative. 

- It seems to be possible to relocate turbines for peat and wildlife but not for 
equestrians affected on public rights of way.  

- The safety of equestrians has been referenced in previous appeal decisions. 

Green Belt

- The application documents accept that the proposed wind turbine and access tracks 
constitute inappropriate development in the Green Belt. 

- The development would detrimentally affect the openness of the Green Belt. 
- The development makes no beneficial use of Green Belt land.
- The proposal would result in the loss of Green Belt. 

General

- Concerns over the cumulative impact from the development
- If all the proposals on Scout and Rooley Moors are consented they will result in the 

largest wind farm in England.
- The area of Scout and Rooley Moor provide only limited opportunity for wind 

development and is relatively small given the proximity to surrounding urbanisations. 
- There are far too many turbines in this area as it is. 
- The saturation point for turbines in the area has been reached. 
- Rochdale is a poor time with a poorer image nationally. The development will not 

benefit the town directly. 
- The suggested benefits cannot offset the loss of moorland and view of the Pennines. 
- The suggestion of new paths indicates more concrete and further damage to the 

moor. 
- Concerns over the ‘harm’ caused at Crook Hill for 8 turbines and concerns that the 

impacts would be worse for this proposal of 16 turbines.
- A question over what evidence the statement by Peel Energy is based on “the 

expansion of Scout Moor Wind Farm will create a wind farm that will sustainably 
generate enough electricity to power more than 20,000 homes, whilst at the same 
time protecting and improving the local environment”.

- Scout Moor has a recorded capacity factor of 27 per cent.  
- Most of the time 2-3 wind turbines are not turning at all.
- The development would reduce the distance between settlements and built up areas.
- The proposal is in breach of the South Pennine Wind Energy Landscape Study 

recommendations
- The energy produced by turbines cannot be stored and they already cost the country 

millions of pounds to switch off because of overproduction.
- Concerns over the effect on farmers and their livelihood. 
- The government are now suggesting that they curb any further onshore wind farms. 
- The commoners (farmers) that use the land received nothing when they lost their 

income stream from the phase 1 development. 
- Concerns over the impact on house values. 



- The development will increase access for anti-social behaviour such as quad bike 
riders.

- Who would the temporary jobs be for?
- The employment benefits would be illusory.
- The impact on Waughs Well which should be considered as a heritage asset and 

should be given consideration. 
- The application is contrary to the Rochdale Core Strategy.
- The business rates that the Council may receive will be minimal compared to its 

annual budget and not much return for the devastation caused. 

Highways

- Concerns over the number of proposed number of traffic movements. 

Non-material concerns. 

- Turbines are uneconomical 
- Wind farms do not provide reliable energy and their costs in terms of subsidies 

benefit few while hitting the poorest in society.
- These developments are merely to meet EU targets and need much more research 

about viability. 
- The development is on common land. It is illegal to build on common land unless it is 

de-registered. 
- Concerns over any common land application. 
- The existing turbines are often not all working. 
- Safety concerns with the turbines. 

Support

Of the 34 letters of support received one of these is an individually written letter that raises 
the following points of support:

- The high level is perfectly situated to capture the energy from the south west 
prevailing winds. 

- The main access roads are already built and this would help minimise construction 
costs. 

- Regularly walk on Scout Moor and never encountered any difficulty. The construction 
work from the previous project has made walking on Scout Moor more pleasant. 

- It is a delight to see the wind farm producing much needed energy on what was 
previously dead land.

- It is important for school children to be educated to realise the need for green energy 
production. 

- It would be good for the local Councils to be seen as supportive of the application. 

The remaining 30 support letters are based on a standardised template which allows the 
writer to select some, none or all other the below listed points. This letter reads: 
“I am emailing in support of the proposed Scout Moor Wind Farm Expansion for the following 
reasons” and “In addition to the benefits above I also have the following comments”. 

- The development proposals will help Government comply with its legal obligation to 
source 15% of the UK’s energy from renewable sources by 2020.

- The Development Proposals have the potential to make a significant contribution 
toward the reduction of greenhouse gas emissions from energy generation, therefore 
addressing the one of the main causes of the destructive effects of climate change.



- The Development Proposals will assist Rossendale Borough Council and Rochdale 
Borough Council in implementing their respective renewable energy policies as set 
out in their local Development Plans.

- In my view, the Development Proposals, constitute ‘sustainable development’ for the 
reasons set out in the Planning Statement. 

- I support the conclusions set out in the Landscape and Visual Impact chapter of the 
Environmental Statement. 

- I accept the findings of an independent study ‘A Landscape Capacity Study for Wind 
Energy Developments in the South Pennines, Julie Martin Associates in 2010 which 
concluded that the landscape within which the new turbines lie could acceptable 
accommodate an additional large wind farm. 

- The required cables will be routed underground which will help to reduce visual 
impact.

- I support the use of the existing access of the A680 via Marshall’s Quarry access 
road which minuses the environmental impact of the proposed expansion. 

- As part of the existing SMWF, it has been demonstrated that turbines can be 
delivered successfully to the site using the existing access. 

- I support the conclusions set out in the Ecology chapter of the Environmental 
Statement. 

- The Development Proposals contribute to and enhance the natural environment, by 
amongst other things, minimising effects on and providing net gains to biodiversity, 
where possible. 

- The risk of collision between moving turbine blades and birds and/or bats and, has 
been assessed as part of Development Proposals is low.

- The associated Moorland Restoration Plan will offer an important opportunity to 
improve the condition of the moorland. 

- The Moorland Restoration Plan will be of benefit to ecology and wildlife.
- I support the conclusions set out in the Noise Assessment within the Environmental 

Statement. 
- The Applicants noise assessment complies with ETSU-R-97.
- The existing wind farm has not lead to any noise complaint. The application has 

committed to deal proactively with any complaints which may arise in the future. 
- Turbines are now an accepted part of this landscape and there will be no significant 

harm to heritage assets on the moor.
- The Applicant has sought to mitigate traffic effects, including during the construction 

phase. 
- The Development Proposals respect and enhance public rights of way and access 

for everyone. 
- The expansion scheme will deliver new upgraded paths for pedestrians, cyclists and 

horse riders, linking wind farm access tracks to existing public rights of way. 
- I support the conclusions set out in the Aviation and Telecommunication chapter 

provided within the Environmental Statement. 
- I support the conclusions on Shadow Flicker set out in the Environmental Statement 
- The existing wind farm has been used as an educational resource hosting visits from 

a number of local schools and wider community interest groups 
- The addition of new way-marked recreational trails will enhance an already well-used 

educational and amenity resource 
- The Construction and Moorland management will provide excellent long-term 

learning opportunities 
- The expansion scheme provides the potential for local Rossendale and Rochdale 

businesses to be involved in the construction and operation of the windfarm through 
a Local Employment and Procurement Scheme 

- The existing wind farm has not had a damaging impact on local businesses, there is 
no reason to suppose the expansion will either 



- The Development Proposals are supported by an effective system to manage waste 
during construction, operation and decommissioning of the proposed development 

- The associated Moorland Restoration and Management Plan will significantly 
improve the condition of the moorland, which has deteriorated over recent years 

- The expansion scheme will provide a long term Moorland Restoration and 
Management Plan to improve moorland habitats and water quality 

- The Moorland Plan will deliver a permanent Ranger that will help to ‘police’ the Moor 
and will work with local farmers to help the police tackle illegal off-roading activity 

- The expansion of Scout Moor Wind Farm has the potential to provide local people 
with some significant community benefits. I support the inclusion of the following 
benefits: 

o A long term Moorland Restoration and Management Plan (MRMP) to improve 
moorland habitats and water quality 

o Permanent employment of a Moorland Ranger to take care of the Moor and 
work in partnership with agencies such as the Police to tackle the matter of 
illegal off-roading 

o Enhancement of the educational resource of the Moor through the creation of 
way-marked trails 

o New and upgraded paths for pedestrians, cyclists and horse riders linking 
wind farm access tracks to existing public rights of way 

o Up to £0.75 million for Local Authorities in business rate retention 
o Potential for local Rossendale and Rochdale businesses to be involved in the 

construction and operation of the windfarm through a Local Employment and 
Procurement Scheme 

- I support the inclusion of a Community Benefits Fund of £5,000 per consented 
megawatt per year over the lifetime of the scheme for local projects. 

- I support the inclusion of a Co-operative Ownership scheme giving local communities 
the opportunity to own two turbines (or an equivalent share of the project) is also 
proposed. 

- An extensive programme of pre-application consultation has been undertaken on the 
Development Proposals with the local community and stakeholders over a three year 
period. 

- The extent of pre-application consultation has enabled the final Development 
Proposals to be developed in consultation with the local community and stakeholders 

- The Applicant has listened to feedback received and responded positively to 
stakeholders and the local community. 

- I support the key changes that were made to the final scheme which include: 
o a reduction in the number of proposed additional turbines from 26 to 16 (a 

reduction of ten) 
o the relocation of those turbines situated to the north of the existing wind farm 

further away from the ‘moorland edge’ and Mary Towneley Loop 
o the relocation of turbines away from areas of deep peat; and 
o the identification of a ‘recreational trail’ around the access tracks of the 

proposed development and existing wind farm.

In addition to the above selected comments of support, the supporter letters have also 
included the following points; 

- I do not agree wholly with the reduction in the number of turbines. Every opportunity 
to generate renewable energy should be harnessed – consideration should be given 
to allowing more turbines, particularly if this would increase opportunities for 
community ownership.

- I do not wholly support the proposals about the bridleway and horse routes. the 
access requirements of horses will make the likelihood and prevalence of off-roaders 



and illegal use by motor vehicles much, much greater, and much, much more 
challenging to police. So, I do not think bridleway upgrades should be included in this 
scheme.

- I would much rather see a wind turbine generate electricity over a polluting power 
station.

- We urgently need more onshore wind in appropriate areas in the UK. 
- The turbines, environmentally are much more acceptable than any other form of 

energy generation, with the exception of PV panels. 
- More should be done to integrate community engagement into this scheme. 
- Keen on educating young children regarding the environmental reasons for adopting 

climate change policies. 
- The turbines do not detract from the area which is an old quarrying area and has little 

other use. 

ANALYSIS

Principle of development

Ministerial Statement

On the 18th June 2015 the Secretary of State for Communities and Local Government, Greg 
Clark made a written statement to the House of Commons in relation to the consideration 
and determination of planning applications for wind energy development by Local Planning 
Authorities. This states that ‘When determining planning applications for wind energy 
development involving one or more wind turbines, local planning authorities should only 
grant planning permission if:
 The development site is in an area identified as suitable for wind energy development 

in a Local or Neighbourhood plan; and
 Following consultation, it can be demonstrated that the planning impacts identified by 

local communities have been fully addressed and therefore the proposal has their 
backing. 

The statement also set out interim procedures that are applicable to applications already 
within the planning system (i.e. applications that were submitted prior to the statement) and 
this states ‘In such instances, local planning authorities can find the proposal acceptable, if 
following consultation, they are satisfied that it has addressed the planning impacts identified 
by affected communities and therefore has their backing.’

In the case of this proposal the application was submitted before the Ministerial Statement 
was published and therefore the interim procedures apply. It is clear that the Ministerial 
Statement becomes a material planning consideration. It does not however supersede the 
development plan as the starting point for planning decisions. It should be taken into account 
when determining the application, but the weight given to the statement and the associated 
updates to the NPPG as a material consideration is for the decision maker, i.e. the Local 
Planning Authority. This position has been reinforced by the more recent (July 2015) court 
decision in the case of R (on the application of West Berkshire District Council and Reading 
Borough Council) v Secretary of State for Communities and Local Government, which 
although centering around a Ministerial Statement concerning planning obligations, rather 
than this particular Ministerial Statement, reiterated the requirements  in decision making 
and brought into question the powers of and approaches to Ministerial Statements in this 
respect.

 



Wind Energy Development Context

The Government’s approach to avoiding the risk of climate change has at its heart the 
Climate Change Act 2008, which requires the Government to reduce greenhouse gas 
emissions by cutting emissions by at least 34% by 2020 and 80% by 2050 (below the 1990 
baseline) and setting and meeting five-yearly carbon budgets for the UK during that period. 
Around 30% of the UK’s electricity is likely to need to come from renewables alone by 2020 
in order to meet the legally binding EU target to source 15% of the UK’s energy from 
renewable sources by that date (Carbon Plan, Department of Energy and Climate Change, 
March 2011)

There is support from the Government with regards to planning proposals for renewable 
energy and the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) highlights this. Paragraph 93 of 
the NPPF establishes that planning plays a key role in helping shape places to secure 
radical reductions in greenhouse gas emissions by supporting the delivery of renewable 
energy. This is central to the economic, social and environmental dimensions of sustainable 
development. Paragraph 98 of the NPPF establishes that when determining planning 
applications, Local Planning Authorities should not require the overall need for renewable 
energy to be demonstrated, recognising that even small scale projects provide a valuable 
contribution to cutting greenhouse gas emissions. LPA’s should approve applications for 
renewable energy schemes (unless material considerations indicate otherwise) if its impacts 
are (or can be made) acceptable. However currently National Planning Practice Guidance 
(NPPG) and Standard Note SN/SC/4370 – Planning for onshore wind farms, make it clear 
that the need for renewable energy does not automatically override environmental 
protections and the planning concerns of local communities. It is also noted that the 
cumulative impact of turbines requires particular attention. 

Policies G/EM/12, EM/13, EM/14 and EM/16 of the Rochdale UDP provide the Councils 
adopted planning policy in regards to wind and renewable energy development and 
establish that applications will be supported where the development would have no 
unacceptable impact on the local environment. Specifically, policy EM/14 relates to wind 
power developments and establishes that the Council will support proposals where there is 
no unacceptable intrusion in the landscape, having regard to the cumulative impact and 
inter-visibility of such development whether within Rochdale or in neighbouring local 
authority areas. The following criteria must also be met in each case:

- The proposal would not have an unacceptable effect on the visual character and 
quality of the landscape or materially detract from the physical record of the historic 
and cultural evolution of the landscape. Any proposal in conflict with this criterion will 
need to demonstrate that other locations are not suitable;

- The proposal would not have an adverse impact on the setting of historic structures 
and Conservation Areas or historic landscapes; 

- The proposal creates no unacceptable amenity or noise problems for local residents;
- The proposal would not result in a health or safety risk, nuisance to the public or 

adverse impact on highway safety by undue distraction to road users;
- The proposal by virtue of its setting or operation, would not adversely affect areas of 

ecological value or result in danger to wildlife or loss of important habitats;
- Any proposal must demonstrate the best use of topography, siting, design and colour 

to minimise the visual impact of the proposal. Any ancillary structure and access 
roads should employ sensitive design and use of local materials to respect the 
character and appearance of its setting;

- Every effort is made to route power lines underground where they link a wind power 
development to the national grid, or link an individual wind generator to user 



buildings. All proposals should seek to minimise the length of cable connection in 
order to reduce the visual impact of such structures when sited above ground;

- The council is satisfied that the proposal would not result in electro-magnetic 
interference with local television and special radio communication networks. 

- Full consideration of the impact of any proposal including construction, vehicular 
access, visual and physical impacts and the effect on local residential amenity will be 
sought by the Council through a detailed statement of the environmental effects, to 
be submitted preferably at the time of application; and

- The proposal will not cause serious harm to the value of the surrounding area for 
quiet relaxation and recreation. 

Policy EM/14 also requires that where any wind farm facility is approved in accordance with 
the above, it should be used for power generation only. Also any grant of planning 
permission in accordance with this policy will be subject to the condition that, if any wind 
turbine generator is not in operation and producing electricity for six months, it shall be 
removed and the site fully restored to a use and condition which are appropriate to its 
surroundings and in accordance with the UDP. 

In addition to the above policies, the Council also have Supplementary Planning Guidance 
(SPG) on Wind Power Developments (adopted 1998). It is however noted that this guidance 
is now out of date, having been superseded by the UDP and later Government policy and 
guidance albeit it has not been formally cancelled. The SPG therefore now carries very 
limited weight. 

National Energy Statements

Further to the above policy, the Department of Energy and Climate Change have produced 
two major documents setting out the Government stance on energy development; EN-1 – 
Overarching National Statement for Energy and EN-3 – National Policy Statement for 
Renewable Energy Infrastructure. 

The materiality and weight that should be awarded to the two above energy statements is of 
some question due to the ambiguity over whether the statements relate purely to Nationally 
Significant Infrastructure Projects (NSIPs) or do indeed cover all scales of energy 
development (it is worth noting that the Secretary of State (SoS) (through the Department of 
Energy and Climate Change) has officially decided that this application does not fall within 
the NSIP regime and is not a Development Consent Order application). 

EN-1 and EN-3 both make it clear that “Whether, and to what extent, this NPS is a material 
consideration will be judged on a case by case basis” with similar advice provided in the 
Annex to the letter to the Chief Planning Officers issued by the Department for Communities 
and Local Government (CLG) on 9 November 2009, “and the weight to be applied to it by the 
decision-maker will have to be determined on a case by case basis.”

Through looking at recent appeal decisions for similar applications it is noted that in the High 
Court case of: Trafford Borough Council v Secretary of State for Communities and Local 
Government, Peel Energy (Barton) Limited [2014] EWHC 424 (Admin) that both Trafford BC 
and the developer accepted that at least EN3 was a material consideration in the 
determination of the application. The SoS Decision Letter also outlines at paragraph 53, that 
a key consideration is what weight should be given to the National Planning Strategy – EN1 
and EN3. 

In the High Court challenge identified above, similarly little reference to weight is provided. 
The Judge acknowledges that EN1 and EN3 “were prepared for larger projects than this site 
but were a material consideration in this application.” The Judge does not provide an opinion 



on whether this was correct or not. However, the Judge states at paragraph 650 of the 
Judgement:

Relevant statements of government policy are also set out in the Overarching National 
Policy Statement for Energy, July 2011 (EN-1) and the National Policy Statement for 
Renewable Energy Infrastructure (EN-3). Although these apply specifically to proposals for 
National Significant Infrastructure Development (NSID), the underlying principles are 
applicable to schemes which do not meet the thresholds. 

In addition to the above High Court Case it is also noted that the NPPF  states under note 17 
(pg. 22) “In assessing the likely impacts of potential wind energy development when 
identifying suitable areas, and in determining planning applications for such development, 
planning authorities should follow the approach set out in the National Policy Statement for 
Renewable Energy Infrastructure (read with the relevant sections of Overarching National 
Policy Statement for Energy Infrastructure, including that on aviation impacts). Where plans 
identify areas as suitable for renewable and low-carbon energy development, they should 
make clear what criteria have determined their selection for what size of development the 
areas are considered suitable.” 

With the above in mind it is therefore considered that EN/1 and EN/3 should be considered 
as material considerations for the purposes of this application, as it is reasonable to 
conclude that the underlying principles are applicable to planning applications of this nature. 
However, given the statements provided in EN/1, EN/3 and the letter to Chief Planning 
Officers issued by the Department for Communities and Local Government (CLG) on 9 
November 2009, the weight to be attributed is up to the Council as the decision maker. 

It is clear that EN-1 and EN-3 were compiled to deal principally with applications considered 
to fall within the NSIP regime, and it is clear that this application does not fall within this 
regime, as has been confirmed by the SoS. Nonetheless, given the underlying principles of 
the statements, it is considered that they would be to some extent applicable to the 
application before the Council and appropriate weight should be awarded to them. However, 
due to the uncertainties in the position and the fact that it has been expressly considered 
whether or not it should be part of the NSIP regime, in the absence of further official 
guidance or advancement in common law and SoS conditions detailing the point, the Council 
is limited in the weight that it may attribute to EN-1 and EN-3 so far as they are material 
considerations relating to determination of this application. 

National Planning Policy Framework

The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) was published in 2012 and under 
paragraph 14 it is established that at the heart of the NPPF is a presumption in favour of 
sustainable development, which should be seen as a golden thread running through both 
plan-making and decision-taking. For decision taking this means:

- Approving development proposals that accord with the development plan without 
delay, and

- Where the development plan is silent, or relevant policies are out-of-date, granting 
planning permission unless:

o Any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably 
outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in the Framework 
taken as a whole; or

o Specific policies in the framework indicate development should be restricted. 

Annex 1 of the NPPF establishes that the introduction of the NPPF has not changed the 
legal requirement that applications for planning permission must be determined in 



accordance with the development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise, 
with paragraph 211 making it clear that for the purpose of decision-taking, the policies in the 
Local Plan should not be considered out of date simply because they were adopted prior to 
the publication of the Framework. However, under paragraph 212 it is also clear that the 
policies contained in the framework are material considerations which local planning 
authorities should take into account, and under paragraph 215, due weight should be given 
to relevant policies in existing plans according to their degree of consistency with the 
framework, and the closer the policies in the plan to the policies in the framework, the 
greater the weight that may be given. 

In accordance with the above, the NPPF has emphasis towards sustainable development 
and under paragraph 17, one of its core principles is to support the transition to a low carbon 
future, in a changing climate, taking full account of flood risk and coastal change, and 
encourage the reuse of existing resources, including the conversion of existing buildings, 
and encourage the use of renewable resources (for example, by the development of 
renewable energy).

Draft Core Strategy

The Draft Core Strategy also provides a number of policies in regards to renewable energy 
provision and although these can currently be awarded only limited weight, those relevant 
are listed below:

G1 – Tackling and adapting to climate change.

We will address climate change and ensure growth does not increase CO2 emissions by 
(amongst others):
- Encouraging and promoting renewable energy developments, including standalone 

and community developments, that do not, by virtue of their scale, siting, construction 
or operation, cause harm to the local area, its character and environmental assets 
and adjoining uses, which cannot be satisfactorily mitigated

G3 – The Council will promote renewable, low and zero carbon energy generating 
development, including wind power, biomass, Combined Heat and Power (CHP), hydro and 
heat pumps in order to help meet CO2 reduction targets and contribute towards energy 
security for Greater Manchester and the North West. Proposals should ensure that through 
appropriate design, location and scale harm is minimised and fully mitigated wherever 
possible and avoid unacceptable, visual, landscape or townscape character impacts 
including any cumulative impacts. 

Any proposal through its scale, siting, construction, operation, access and associated 
infrastructure must avoid harm to the health and safety of the public, including through 
nuisance or adverse impact on highway safety by conflict with or undue distraction to road 
users. Any harm to the following must be minimised and appropriately mitigated. :
- The visual character and quality of the landscape or townscape or materially detract 

from the physical record of the historic and cultural evolution of the area. 
- The setting of heritage assets including Scheduled Ancient Monuments, 

Conservation Areas and Listed buildings;
- Local residents and their amenity;
- Biodiversity including protected species, statutory and locally designated sites and 

important habitats, and geodiversity;
- The value of the borough’s peatlands as an ecological resource and as a carbon 

sink;
- The value of the surrounding area for quiet relaxation and recreation;



- Water quality (there must be no deterioration in water body status, and compliance 
with the Water Framework Directive or equivalent) and;
Land which is used for water catchment purposes and which is critical to the delivery 
of water supply.

Any proposal must demonstrate the best use of location, topography, siting, design and 
colour to minimise its visual and other impacts. Any ancillary structures and access roads 
should employ sensitive design and the use of local materials to respect the character and 
appearance of the setting. The visual impact of infrastructure associated with renewable 
energy developments should be minimised, including by routing power lines underground 
wherever possible. All proposals should seek to minimise the length of cable connection in 
order to reduce the visual impact of such structures when sited above ground. It must be 
demonstrated that the proposal will not result in electro-magnetic interference with local 
television reception and specialist radio communication networks. 

All the above issues, where relevant, will have to be addressed in a detailed statement of 
environmental effects submitted with the application.

Planning permission will be subject to a condition that if a wind turbine generator, or other 
redundant plant or infrastructure, is not producing electricity of six months or more, it shall be 
removed and the site fully restored to a use and condition appropriate to its surroundings in 
accordance with this plan. 

Weight of renewable energy provision

With regard to this application, information submitted with the Environmental Statement 
indicates that the proposed turbines would each have an anticipated maximum capacity of 
2.3MW. As such, this would give a total capacity of 36.8MW for the 16 turbines and 4.6MW 
for the two turbines in Rochdale. 

It is clear under paragraph 98 of the NPPF that applicants for energy development are not 
required to demonstrate the overall need for renewable energy. However, the energy 
created by the turbines would contribute to the Government targets on renewable energy 
and would assist in reducing carbon emissions, thereby contributing to improving air quality, 
addressing climate change, and delivering social and economic benefits. These factors must 
be given significant weight in the overall consideration of the application. 

It is noted that recently the former Secretary of State, Eric Pickles MP, has issued 
statements regarding on-shore wind energy development and established that landscape 
and heritage issues must be given great weight. NPPG guidance establishes that “planning 
has an important role in the delivery of new renewable and low carbon energy infrastructure 
in locations where the local environmental impact is acceptable” and proposals for green 
energy should be “appropriately sited. The NPPG is also clear on the fact that the need for 
renewable energy does not automatically override environmental protections and the 
planning concerns of local communities and note that the cumulative impact of turbines 
requires particular attention. 

In light of the above it is necessary to balance these considerations with the need to provide 
renewable energy, while avoiding any unacceptable damage to the environment and its key 
assets. If, on the balance of considerations, any identified harm outweighs the benefits, 
having regard to all the material considerations, the development will not be acceptable. This 
balance of considerations is assessed below.

Green Belt Policy Context



The application falls within an area allocated as Green Belt under the Rochdale Unitary 
Development Plan. The land within Rochdale and within the application site is 178ha and is 
entirely Green Belt. The Moorland Restoration Management Plan area, also entirely within 
Green Belt in Rochdale, but not contained entirely within the site edged red, is 527 hectares. 
Chapter 9 of the NPPF is therefore relevant to any proposal for the site and under paragraph 
80, the five purposes of the Green Belt are outlined as:

- To check the unrestricted sprawl of large built up areas, 
- To prevent neighbouring town merging into one another,
- To assist in safeguarding the countryside from encroachment,
- To preserve the setting and special character of historic towns, and 
- To assist in urban regeneration, by encouraging the recycling of derelict and other 

urban land.

Paragraph 87 of the NPPF then goes onto say that inappropriate development is, by 
definition, harmful to the Green Belt and should not be approved except in very special 
circumstances. Furthermore, under paragraph 88 it is established that substantial weight 
should be given to any harm to the Green Belt and ‘very special circumstances’ will not exist 
unless the potential harm to the Green Belt by reason of inappropriateness, and any other 
harm, is clearly outweighed by other considerations.

It must be recognised that not all development in the Green Belt is inappropriate, and these 
exceptions are established in paragraph 89 of the NPPF as:

- Buildings for agriculture and forestry,
- Provision of appropriate facilities for outdoor sport, outdoor recreation and for 

cemeteries, as long as it preserves the openness of the Green Belt and does not 
conflict with the purposes of including land within it. 

- The extension or alteration of a building provided that it does not result in 
disproportionate additions over and above the size of the original building, 

- The replacement of a building, provided the new building is in the same use and not 
materially larger than the one it replaces, 

- Limited infilling in villages, and limited affordable housing for local community need 
under policies set out in the local plan, or

- Limited infilling or the partial or complete redevelopment of previously developed 
sites (brownfield land), whether redundant or in continuing use, on the openness of 
the Green Belt and the purposes of including land within it than the existing 
development. 

Paragraph 90 of the NPPF continues in this vein and establishes that certain other forms of 
development are also not inappropriate in the Green Belt provided they preserve openness 
and do not conflict with the purposes of including land in it. These are:
- Mineral extraction
- Engineering operations
- Local transport infrastructure which can demonstrate a requirement for a Green Belt 

location. 
- The re-use of buildings provided that the building are of permanent and substantial 

construction, and
- Development brought forward under a Community Right to Build Order. 

Paragraph 91 of the NPPF also makes it clear that renewable energy development is not 
normally considered appropriate development in the Green Belt, stating that; when located in 
the Green Belt, elements of many renewable energy projects will comprise inappropriate 
development. In such cases developers will need to demonstrate very special circumstances 



if projects are to proceed. Such very special circumstances may include the wider 
environmental benefits associated with increased production of renewable energy from 
renewable sources. 

The above NPPF policies are the most up-to-date in regards to Green Belt development. 
Nonetheless, the Council’s UDP still contains relevant policies (G/D/2 and D/4) which 
advises that other than certain exceptions (which are similar to those provided in paragraph 
90 of the NPPF), development in the Green Belt will not be approved, except in very special 
circumstances. 

Assessing the current proposal against the outlined relevant policies, it can be seen that the 
proposed renewable energy project (wind turbines and ancillary development) does not fall 
within any of the categories of appropriate development in the Green Belt and would conflict 
with the purposes of including land within the Green Belt. As such, the development of wind 
turbines (and ancillary development) on this site constitutes inappropriate development that 
will not be supported unless ‘very special circumstances’ can be demonstrated to ensure 
that the harm to the Green Belt by reason of inappropriateness and any other harm is clearly 
outweighed by other considerations. 

Policy G4 of the emerging Core Strategy states that the Green Belt will be protected in the 
Pennine rural fringe in the north and east of the Borough and development will be restricted 
to those limited types of development which are deemed appropriate by national planning 
policies unless very special circumstances can be demonstrated.

In light of the above, one of the principal considerations under this application is whether 
there are any material considerations sufficient to clearly outweigh the harm the 
development would cause to the openness of the Green Belt, by reason of 
inappropriateness and any other harm, thereby justifying the application on the basis of very 
special circumstances. 

Of particular relevance to the above, the recent Court of Appeal judgement in Redhill 
Aerodrome Ltd v Secretary of State for Communities and Local Government established that 
‘any other harm’ in paragraph 88 of the NPPF (i.e. non-Green Belt harm) can be taken into 
account in the weighing exercise of the planning balance as to determining whether or not 
very special circumstances outweigh the harm to the Green belt by inappropriateness or any 
other harm. 

This relatively recent Court of Appeal judgment is an important reminder that under 
paragraph 88 of the NPPF, when considering any planning application concerning proposed 
development in the Green Belt, local planning authorities should continue to ensure that 
substantial weight is given to any harm to the Green Belt. ‘Very special circumstances’ will 
only be demonstrated in circumstances where the potential harm to the Green Belt by 
reason of inappropriateness, and any other harm, is clearly outweighed by other 
considerations.  
 
Landscape and Visual Impact

In 2010, Rochdale Council alongside Burnley BC, Bury MBC, Calderdale MBC, Kirklees MC 
and Rossendale BC commissioned a report by Julie Martin Associates, entitled “Landscape 
Capacity Study for Wind Energy Developments in the South Pennines”. The scope of this 
report was to provide:

- Broad guidance of the relative sensitivity of each of the landscape character types 
that occurs within the study area, based on systematic assessment of their sensitivity 



using an explicit set of criteria that encompasses both landscape character and 
landscape values;

- Indicative advice on the landscape capacity of different parts of the study area 
(termed capacity areas) for different forms of wind energy development, under 
heading of constraints, opportunities, guidance, cumulative and cross-district issues 
and overall capacity (in terms of number of sites, turbine grouping and turbine 
heights).

In 2014 a further report was commissioned entitled “South Pennines Wind Energy 
Landscape Study”. This report did not include areas within Rochdale but the area of Scout 
Moor (contained within Rossendale) was assessed and the purpose of this report was to 
update and extend the 2010 Landscape Capacity Study for Wind Energy Developments in 
the South Pennines and directly respond to the planning and policy context and to the 
growing number of planning applications for wind energy development in the South 
Pennines. 

Within the 2010 report the application site falls within the capacity study area titled ‘Scout 
Moor’ where the land comprises; High Moorland Plateaux  Moorland Fringes/Upland 
Pastures, (the study area also includes Settled Valleys and Wooded Rural Valleys). This 
study notes the existing Scout Moor wind farm development (of 26 turbines) and considers 
that there may be landscape capacity for (including the existing Scout Moor development), 
two large wind farms or one very large wind farm with large turbines. This equates to a 
maximum total of 40 turbines across Rooley and Scout Moor.  

In the 2014 study the northern end of Scout Moor (Rochdale part is not included in 
assessment) is classed again as ‘High Moorland Plateaux’ and the study notes that the key 
cumulative issues arising are the considerable landscape and visual influence exerted by 
wind farms in the west part of the study area, particularly around Scout Moor. 

Both of the above studies are adopted by Rochdale Council as planning policy and must 
therefore be considered as material considerations that will be awarded weight in the 
assessment of the current application. 

To assess the landscape impacts from the current application Rossendale Council have 
commissioned consultants LUC to undertake a landscape study on their behalf. This study 
encompasses the entire application area, including the two turbines in Rochdale and 
Rossendale Council have shared the study with Rochdale LPA. The study as commissioned 
has commented on the methodology undertaken by the applicants in their assessment of 
landscape matters and advises on the acceptability of the application from a landscape 
perspective. 

In the comments provided by LUC and within the LVIA submitted by the applicants, the 2010 
Julie Martin Study is considered and the site is identified as High Moorland Plateaux. High 
Moorland Plateaux are identified as being sited mainly between 300 and 500m AOD and as 
large a sweeping landform, with high ridges that are narrow in places and are intersected by 
numerous deeply incised valleys; and alternating tough gritstones and soft shales that have 
created a characteristic stepped profile with prominent tors and regoliths. This type of 
landscape is also noted as being highly sensitive in that it is characteristically open and 
undeveloped, in contrast to the adjoining valleys. However, locally the landscape may be 
affected by quarries on plateau edges, transmission lines and increasingly, wind energy 
development that reduces its sensitivity.  

In terms of visibility and views, the moorland plateaux are characteristically open in 
character, with expansive views and wide areas of intervisibility, and in this sense they are 
highly sensitive. They are visible from many well know vistas including Blackstone Edge, 



Stoodley Pike and the Pennine Way, and such views tend to occur mainly on higher ground 
along the main South Pennine ridge. It is also noted that this is a windswept, exposed 
upland landscape that possesses a strong sense of remoteness and wildness. It is very 
sparsely settled and this leads to a sense of isolation and relative tranquillity which is rare 
and highly valued, especially given the close proximity to large urban areas. The areas are 
also a key recreational resource for surrounding urban populations, with extensive areas of 
open access and a strong connection of National Trails and other long distance recreational 
routes. 

In terms of overall sensitivity, the High Moorland Plateaux landscape type is identified as 
being high and moderate – high in the west of the study area which includes Scout Moor. In 
the area around the application site, which is identified as Scout Moor it is identified that the 
landscape has lower sensitivity as it has already been affected by extensive wind energy 
and other influences such as quarrying and urban fringe pressure. 

In its individual assessment of Scout Moor, the Julie Martin Study characterises the area as 
an outlying block of High Moorland Plateaux west of and separate from the main South 
Pennine Ridge. The moor rises to a height of 474m and at a broad scale has a gently domed 
form, marked by a number of smaller knolls such as Knowl Hill. The north and east sides of 
the moor are somewhat steeper and more dramatic than the south and west which have a 
gentler, more rolling form.  It is also noted that as a separate and discrete upland area, the 
Scout Moor capacity area is widely visible at close range from the valleys and facing hillsides 
all around. On its steeper northern and eastern edges, views from the valley below are 
generally contained by the enclosing convex hillsides and the tops are not visible. On the 
gentler and more open southern and western edge the upland is more exposed to view, for 
example from the A680 which crosses its southern flank. Over longer distances of 5km or 
more, Scout Moor is widely visible from the M66, M62 and Greater Manchester to the south, 
from the top of the West Pennine Moors to the west, from Pendle Hill to the north and from 
the moorland plateaux of the South Pennine Moors to the east, where recreational viewers 
are affected. Visibility from lower ground to the west, north and east is relatively limited.  

Policy Landscape Assessment

Under both local and national policy it is clear that landscape is an important factor with 
policy EM/14 of the UDP requiring that wind power developments do not have an 
unacceptable effect on the visual character and quality of the landscape. Chapter 11 of the 
NPPF – Conserving and enhancing the natural environment, paragraph 109 also establishes 
that the planning system should contribute to and enhance the natural and local environment 
by (amongst other things) protecting and enhancing valued landscapes.

Policies G/NE/5 and NE/6 also relate specifically to landscapes with policy G/NE/5 stating 
that ‘Proposals that contribute to the protection and enhancement of landscape quality and 
character and help to enhance or reintroduce local distinctiveness, will be supported. In 
considering the impact of development proposals, special emphasis will be placed on the 
effect of development on the visual and cultural character of the landscape and features of 
acknowledged cultural, natural and historic significance. The council will carry out and 
encourage actions by other parties to protect and improve landscape character, structure 
and quality.’

Policy NE/6 relates to the assessment of applications impacting on landscape and 
establishes that ‘Development will be permitted where it conserves the physical and cultural 
attributes of the landscape and contributes, as appropriate, to the regeneration, restoration, 
enhancement or maintenance of the landscape likely to be affected. 



Proposals with potential landscape and visual implications will be assessed having regard to 
the extent to which they would:

- Make a positive contribution to the visual amenity of the area (including views into 
and from the site and surrounding area);

- Remove incongruous landscape features;
- Assist the conservation of:

o Landscape elements that contribute to local distinctiveness;
o Historic elements which make a significant contribution (individually or 

cumulatively) to landscape character and quality (e.g. field, settlement or road 
patterns, existing buildings, sites and features of archaeological interest);

o Semi-natural vegetation which is characteristic to the landscape type;
o The visual condition of landscape elements, and;
o Tranquillity and the amenity and informal recreation value of the landscape. 

Development which adversely affects the character of physical structure of the landscape or 
which would detract from the physical record of the historic and cultural evolution of an area 
will not be permitted.’

The Draft Core Strategy also includes policy on the protection of landscape and in its 
Strategic Objectives, establishes under policy SO3 to improve design, image and quality of 
place, by measures including “Protecting and enhancing our heritage and natural assets, the 
special character of our towns, our countryside, open spaces, river valleys and water 
features”. Policy SO4 also aims to promote a greener environment by “Maximising the value 
of our green open areas and countryside to provide opportunities for recreation, amenity, 
biodiversity and flood management.”

The following Core Strategy policies are also relevant:

SP3/P – The Strategy for Pennines, establishes that the Council will enhance the South 
Pennine gateway and promote tourism by (amongst others), “Protecting and supporting 
measures to enhance the special biodiversity and landscape value of the South Pennine 
Moors”. 

Policy P2 – Protecting and enhancing character, landscape and heritage states:
“We will protect and enhance the borough’s character, the distinctiveness of its town centres, 
housing areas and countryside, and the qualities of its landscapes, utilising the consideration 
potential of these assets in development and regeneration schemes. We will do this by 
(amongst others):
- Requiring new development to integrate successfully with the key natural features in 

the borough, e.g. river valleys and the Pennine landscape;
- Requiring new development to take opportunities to protect and open up important 

views of hills and valleys which are part of the borough’s unique character.  

Policy G3 which relates to renewable and low carbon development also establishes that 
development should not adversely impact on the visual character and quality of the 
landscape or townscape or materially detract from the physical record of the historic and 
cultural evolution of the landscape.

The former Minister of State for Housing and Planning, Brandon Lewis MP, wrote to the 
Chief Executive of the Planning Inspectorate in respect of landscape character. This letter 
states that recent appeal cases where harm to landscape character has been an important 
consideration in the appeal being dismissed are a reminder of one of the twelve core 
principles in the NPPF – that plans and decisions should take into account the different roles 



and character of different areas, and recognise the intrinsic character and beauty of the 
countryside – to ensure that development is suitable for the local context. Outside of 
designated areas (e.g. AONBs) the impact of development on landscape can be an 
important material consideration.

Development Proposal

From the submitted Environmental Statement, and as outlined in the site description, the 
application comprises the development of 16 turbines (only 2 within Rochdale and under 
consideration by Rochdale) along with the following ancillary works which fall within 
Rochdale. 

- The construction of access tracks, 
- Crane pads
- Cabling

It is recognised that the Environmental Statement proposes other works including (although 
not limited to) a meteorological mast, substation and construction compound. As these 
works fall outside of Rochdale they are not however under consideration under this 
application and it is important that any assessment relates only to the works within 
Rochdale. 

The above elements (which notably are limited predominantly to two turbines and access 
tracks) would undoubtedly be visual elements within the landscape and would lead to a 
change in the existing appearance and landscape of Scout Moor, these visual changes 
would be apparent from many vantage points and at considerable distance from the site. 
Nonetheless, a visual change in landscape does not necessarily equate to an unacceptable 
change in landscape and these matters are addressed below.

In assessing the impact on landscape, LUC have confirmed that the methodology used in 
the submitted LVIA is in accordance with current best practice. It is however noted that the 
criteria for sensitivity and magnitude of change is not set out explicitly for each receptor and 
the approach used has resulted in a large number of visualisations.  The baseline conditions 
are considered to be comprehensive and in accordance with best practice.

The landscape effects from the proposal have been considered by LUC from eight different 
aspects and these are; construction effects, landscape features, landscape character, 
effects on landscape designation, visual effects, sequential visual effects, residential visual 
amenity and cumulative effects and landscape capacity. These matters are addressed 
below:

Construction effects

The ES advises that the construction operations for the development would be undertaken in 
a single phase of implementation undertaken over a 12 month period and this would be 
managed in accordance with the submitted Construction Environmental Management Plan 
(CEMP). Within the ES construction effects are split into direct effects on landscape 
features, landscape character, and indirect effects on landscape character. Within these 
assessments it is noted that within the vicinity of Boarsgreave/Cowpe and Bacup/Newchurch 
the skyline would be affected by cranes and turbine construction at the northern extents of 
the application site. 

It is considered that the southern element of the development, i.e. the two turbines within 
Rochdale would not result in any major change to landscape character and it is considered 
that there would be no significant direct effects during construction on landscape features 



and landscape character for the South Pennine Landscape Character Area (LCA). It is 
however acknowledged that the land cover in this area is simple and has already been 
disturbed by historic quarrying and more recent wind farm development. It is also 
acknowledged that the existing Scout Moor Wind Farm lowers the areas susceptibility to 
further change in terms of landscape character.

Direct effects on views are also identified and in regards to the impact on rights of way and 
residential receptors in the area, these are identified as having high sensitivity with the 
development as a whole (the entire 16 turbines plus ancillary development), would result in a 
major adverse and significant effect. These effects are however accepted to be temporary 
and short term and in terms of the more significant effects, it is noted that these would be to 
the north, from the development within Rossendale. The development in Rochdale is a far 
greater distance from public rights of way in particular. The construction effects from 
Rochdale would therefore be far more limited and are not considered to have an 
unacceptable impact on receptors during the construction period.

Landscape Features

When assessing the impacts on landscape features, this looks at the actual loss of moorland 
habitat and any mitigation proposals, i.e. the physical elements of the moor and the 
combination of these elements that make up the landscape. This includes the physical 
changes that would occur from the loss of any peat and moorland habitat.

Most disturbance to landscape features would occur during the construction phase of the 
development. Positive, non-significant effects have also been identified during the 
operational phase of the project through the result of moorland/grassland vegetation re-
establishing and habitat restoration work associated with the Moorland Restoration and 
Management Plan. These impacts would be minimal in terms of landscape character and 
would not result in any undue harm. The acceptability (in terms of other considerations) of 
the Moorland Restoration and Management Plan will be assessed in further detail later in the 
report. 

Landscape Character

As detailed above, the landscape character of the site is High Moorland Plateaux and it is 
also adjacent to Moorland Fringes/Upland Pastures. Effects of landscape character have 
been considered in the ES in detail at the national scale for the Southern Pennines LCA and 
at a regional scale for the host LCA (South Pennine Moors) and for the adjacent surrounding 
LCA (Scout Moor and Shore Fringe) and settled valley to the north (Irwell LCA). 

In respect of the entire development (of 16 turbines) significant landscape effects have been 
identified from a localised area in the Scout Moor and Shore Fringe LCA to the north. 
Furthermore, significant landscape effects have been identified from a localised area in the 
Irwell.  These finding have been considered by LUC and assessed as reasonable and it is 
also noted that significant indirect landscape effects are most likely to occur in LCA where 
Scout Moor forms the backdrop setting in views, where the existing wind farm has not 
already dramatically altered the skyline but where the proposed wind farm arguably would. In 
respect of these landscape effects it is considered they would be more severe to the north of 
the development (the area in Rossendale) and the two turbines in Rochdale would be seen 
against and as in-fillers to the existing wind farm, where the impact on landscape character 
would be minimal.  

Effects of Landscape Designation



No significant landscape effects have been identified on any of the landscape designations 
considered in detail within the LVIA and as these designations cover large areas which have 
already (directly or indirectly) been altered by the existing Scout Moor Wind Farm, these 
findings have been considered as reasonable by LUC. 

In respect of the National Trust Land at Holcombe/Stubbins it is noted that from certain 
viewpoints the development would result in significant visual effects. However, as views of 
the operational Scout Moor Wind Farm are already available from this landscape, the 
proposal would not translate into any significant effects on landscape character. 
Furthermore, it must be again realised that the southern turbines within Rochdale, would 
have less of an impact than those to the north in Rossendale. In regards to the Forest of 
Bowland (Area of Outstanding National Beauty) and the Peak National Park, the visibility to 
both of these areas is limited and the development would be seen in distance views in the 
context of the existing Scout Moor Wind Farm, thus meaning significant landscape effects 
are unlikely. 

Looking at designed landscapes around the area it is noted that the application site is within 
view from several heritage assets, which includes; listed buildings, conservation areas and 
historic parks and gardens. Any landscape issues associated with these assets is assessed 
later in the report in the cultural heritage section. 

Visual Effects

In assessing the visual effects of the proposal, the ES includes a number (29 in total) of 
viewpoints that illustrate the visual effects in all directions of the development site. Of these 
29 viewpoints, the ES considered that ‘additive’ visual effects have been identified from 16 of 
these which identify the main impact on visual effects would be to the north and west of the 
proposed development. 

Assessing where the most significant visual effects would arise it is considered that the 
potentially problematic turbines lie within Rossendale (T5, T6, T7, T8, T10 & T11 which are 
not for consideration by Rochdale) and in the assessment by LUC no undue effects are 
identified from the two turbines or ancillary development within Rochdale (T15 and T16).    

Sequential Visual Effects

In further assessment of landscape character it is noted that the ES also includes 
consideration of the landscape effects on six key highway routes and Public Rights of Way. 
Again the major impacts from the development are identified from routes to the north of the 
site where the turbines outside of Rochdale would have the most significant effects. 
However, it has been identified that there could be localised significant effects on the A680 
between Edenfield and Rochdale, but following the submission of FEI, LUC have accepted 
that there would not be a significant visual change in this regard and as such consider the 
sequential visual effects on this route would be acceptable. 

Residential Visual Amenity

Although the development may be visible from a number of properties, in respect of the two 
southern turbines in Rochdale it is considered that the proposal would not have a harmful 
impact on residential visual amenity. Despite the scale of the turbines, the development 
would not have an unpleasantly overwhelming or unavoidable presence which would 
detrimentally impact on living conditions to an unacceptable degree. 

Other considerations relating to visual amenity are addressed later in this report. 



Cumulative Effects and Landscape Capacity

The National Planning Policy Guidance (NPPG) states that “cumulative landscape impacts 
and cumulative visual impacts are best considered separately. The cumulative landscape 
impacts are the effects of a proposed development on the fabric, character and quality of the 
landscape; it is considered with the degree to which a proposed renewable energy 
development will become a significant or defining characteristic of the landscape”.

“Cumulative visual impacts concern the degree to which proposed renewable energy 
development will become a feature in particular views (or sequence of views), and the 
impact this has upon the people experiencing those views. Cumulative visual impacts may 
arise where two or more of the same type of renewable energy development will be visible 
from the same point, or will be visible shortly after each other along the same journey. Hence 
it should not be assumed that, just because no other sites will be visible from the proposed 
development site, the proposal will not create any cumulative impacts.”

When assessing cumulative effects it is noted that the application site is near to a number of 
other windfarm sites, notably the recently constructed Crook Hill development and the 
recently refused application that is currently under appeal at Rooley Moor. 

In considering any cumulative impacts it is also important to ensure any results from 
development would not tip the balance to a ‘windfarm landscape’, as is advised in both the 
2010 and 2014 Julie Martin Studies. In the 2014 report the following statement is noted of 
particular importance in considering cumulative impacts: “in repowering wind energy sites or 
extending the existing Scout Moor Wind Farm [care will need to be take that] the surrounding 
landscape does not become ‘a wind farm landscape’ i.e. a landscape character, effectively 
creating a new character”. It is also noted that the 2014 capacity study no longer refers to 
the numerical limits to the number of turbines that could be accommodated. 

In consideration of the proposed development, LUC have assessed the cumulative impacts 
of the development and have identified significant visual cumulative effects when looking at 
the impact of the development and the proposed wind farm on the adjacent Rooley Moor. In 
particular, it is noted that from viewpoints 3, 5, 8, 9, 10 and 19, the Scout Moor Extension will 
extend the horizontal angle occupied by turbines on the horizon and from viewpoint 18 the 
proposed development will appear to close the gap between wind turbines seen on the 
horizon on Scout and Rooley Moors and wind farms in the winder landscape to the left of the 
view (Gorpley Moor and Reaps Moos). 

While giving full consideration to the above, it must also be recognised that the turbines that 
would contribute most significantly to the cumulative effects of the development would be 
those sited to the north of the site and located within Rochdale. For the two turbines in 
Rochdale, these would infill spaces in the existing development and would not appear to 
encroach towards Rooley Moor, thus in filling the gap between the two sites. As such, while 
there may be some harmful cumulative impacts in respect of the application, these relate to 
the turbines that are outside of Rochdale and not for consideration by this Council. 

Additional landscape considerations and conclusion

Further to the above it is considered that the two turbines within Rochdale are acceptable in 
terms of landscape impact in the context of the existing wind farm at Scout Moor. The two 
turbines would be seen as infill development to the current wind farm and would not result in 
undue harm. It must however also be recognised that the development currently proposed is 
for a period of 25 years and this would extend beyond the current consent period of the 
existing Scout Moor Wind Farm for approximately eight years. Given that following the 
decommissioning of the current wind farm, the landscape impacts from the development 



would alter and the ES has agreed (under its stage 2 arrangements) to the removal of T16 
upon decommissioning of the existing Scout Moor Wind Farm. 

Through the advice from LUC, the removal of T16 on decommissioning of the existing Scout 
Moor Wind Farm is welcomed. However it is considered that other turbines would also 
create potential landscape concerns at this time and appear as isolated or outlying turbines. 
As such, it has also been requested that T15 (in Rochdale) is removed upon the 
decommissioning of the existing wind farm as this turbine (and others in Rossendale) would 
appear as an outlier in many views. This matter has been considered in the submitted FEI 
where it has been asserted that the impacts from T15 (and others in Rossendale) would be 
acceptable and that the turbine would be seen in the context of other turbines and not create 
an outlier or a feature that is so remote, that its visual effects warrant its removal. 
Nonetheless, following further assessment of this matter by LUC it is still considered that 
turbine T15 would be unacceptable following decommissioning of the existing wind farm. 
From Viewpoint 6 the wireline clearly indicates that T15 would be seen as an outlier to the 
far right of the turbine group which is contained between T3 and T1 from left to right. 
Furthermore, from both viewpoint 9 and viewpoint 16, T15 also clearly appears as an outlier 
to the left of the main turbine group and it is considered that if no other wind farms existed in 
the Scout Moor area and the applicant was designing the wind farm afresh, it is unlikely that 
such a gap between turbines would be considered acceptable in design terms. 

In light of the above it is considered that retention of T15 following the decommissioning of 
the existing wind farm cannot be supported and as such a condition will be required                         
on approval requiring the timely removal of T15 as well as T16 (already agreed). 

Hydrology, Hydrogeology and Geology

Policy

Under policy G/EM/1 of the Rochdale Unitary Development Plan it is established that the 
Council will seek to ensure that the location and impact of new development is regulated in 
the interests of good environmental management and the council will seek the minimum 
practicable levels of ground, air, water and noise pollution from all development. 
Development and land use activities will also be expected to safeguard public safety and the 
natural environment, including water courses and flood plains. 

Policy EM/2 of the UDP also similarly advises that development will not be permitted where it 
would lead to an increase in pollution which would be harmful to the environment, and to 
land uses and land users in the area. Policy EM/8 also requires that development likely to 
pose an unacceptable risk to surface water and ground water quality, or to water supply will 
not be permitted and development proposals will be expected to ensure that there will be no 
detrimental effect upon the availability of water resources to existing users and the 
environment. 

Under policy G/NE/1 it is also established that sites and features of nature conservation  
value will be given full and appropriate recognition and protection, and in particularly, policy 
NE/2 establishes that development proposals adversely affecting sites or 
geological/geomorphological importance will not be permitted, with the Council seeking to 
protect and enhance them. Finally, policy NE/3 requires that development proposals 
affecting areas of peatland, should seek to safeguard such areas from loss of damage.

Chapter 11 of the NPPF also relates to conserving and enhancing the natural environment 
and establishes that the planning system should contribute to and enhance the natural and 
local environment by measures that include (amongst others):



- protecting and enhancing valued landscaped, geological conservation interests and 
soils, 

- recognising the wider benefits of ecosystem services, 
- preventing both new and existing development from contributing to or being put at 

unacceptable risk from, or being adversely affected by unacceptable levels of soil, 
air, water or noise pollution or land instability, 

- remediating and mitigating despoiled, degraded, derelict, contaminated and unstable 
land, where appropriate. 

Paragraph 121 of the NPPF also established that planning decisions should ensure that 
development sites are suitable for their new use, taking into account ground conditions and 
land instability, including from natural hazards or former activities such as mining, pollution 
arising from previous uses and any proposals for mitigation including land remediation or 
impacts on the natural environment arising from that remediation. 

The Draft Core Strategy also provides policy on the above and policy G7 states that the 
focus is to maintain and enhance the peatland habitats of the South Pennine Moors and that 
development proposals should protect and enhance existing features such as peatland. 
Policy G8 requires the appropriate management of water resources and flood risk, ensuring 
that development does not directly or indirectly lead to pollution of existing water resources. 
Policy G3 also set out various requirements for renewable energy development, among 
them being the protection of the boroughs peatlands as an ecological resource and as a 
carbon sink. Furthermore, there should be no deterioration in water quality, with land which 
is used for water catchment purposes, recognised as being critical to the delivery of water 
supply. 

Hydrology and Private Water Supplies (PWS)

In line with the above policies the impact on hydrology is a material consideration and this is 
also noted as a matter of concern within the representations received with concerns over the 
impact on water supplies and the water table. It is also acknowledged that disruption to 
Private Water Supplies (PWS) has occurred at a limited number of properties during the 
construction of the Crook Hill Wind Farm. The submitted environmental information in 
respect of hydrology assesses the effects on surface water, ground water, geology and 
private water supplies. 

Rossendale Council have commissioned JBA Consulting (JBA) to assesses the application 
in the above regard and this information has been shared with Rochdale Council whose 
officers also do not have the necessary specialism or expertise to carry out a robust 
assessment of the application. Detailed comments on these matters were also received from 
Natural England, GMEU and the Environment Agency. 

Flood risk

In respect of flood risk, the main concerns relate to surface water runoff and it is considered 
that the proposal would increase the impermeable area of the site, which has the potential to 
increase surface water runoff and so affect flood risk downstream. It is considered that 
mitigation measures could be included to reduce surface water run-off, this is a matter that 
has been agreed by the applicant with confirmation that track cross drains would be located 
at least every 30m and at a greater density at points where there is flow accumulation. The 
installation of track cross drains is included in the CEMP and can be conditioned. It is also 
acknowledged that the restoration of degraded peat moorland habitat may have a beneficial 
impact on surface water runoff, although the ES does not quantify this effect. 



Notwithstanding the above, given the location of the site, on top of an upland area, the 
presence of the tracks already on site (for the existing wind farm) and the limited hard 
standing proposed and the provision of suitable drainage measures, it is not likely that flood 
risk from the development would be significant. It is also noted that the site is not located in 
an area known for high flood risk and is just upstream of a number of reservoirs that are 
likely to ‘buffer’ any small changes in flow. Taking these factors alongside the fact that a 
surface water monitoring programme will take place across the site, it is considered that 
through the use of appropriate conditions, adequate measures can be put in place to ensure 
that the development would not result in any undue flood risks and the application is 
acceptable in this regard. It is also noted that the Environment Agency have no objection to 
the application.

Private water supplies (PWS), ground water, geology and surface water

It is known that private water supplies, ground water, geology and surface water can be 
affected by wind farm developments and construction can lead to temporary reductions in 
water quality, disruption of private water supplies and the disturbance and degradation of 
peat. The operation of wind farms can lead to changes in ground water flow regimes from 
the presence of concrete and decommissioning can also impact on water quality. 

Given the above, it is considered that the overall possible impact on water quality, 
specifically colour and turbidity of water runoff into reservoirs is a potentially significant 
impact. Regarding this impact the potential for the disturbance of peat to impact upon water 
quality downstream (specifically dissolved organic carbon and colour) during the 
construction and initial restoration period of the wind farm is of importance. There is also the 
potential for flushes of dissolved organic carbon and colour to be associated with initial 
rewetting of peatlands, i.e. during the initial MRMP implementation. However, the long term 
impact of the restoration on dissolved organic carbon and colour should be positive.  

Further to the above potential impacts on water quality, a detailed assessment into the 
impact on properties in the area with PWSs has been undertaken and those identified at 
potential risk underwent a stage 2 assessment, where further investigation of matters such 
as pathways and sources of pollutants were taken into account. Following these 
assessments, no properties were identified as having a hydrological linkage with the 
proposed development. Nonetheless, while this identifies that the risk of water disruption is 
unlikely, given the sensitivity of the particular impact it is considered that a condition 
requiring the protection of PWSs should be included with any approval. It is also noted that 
this matter is intrinsically linked with the MRMP and CEMP, which are addressed in more 
detail below and which will also be conditioned upon any approval.  

Geology and Peat

As briefly mentioned above, impact on peat can potentially affect hydrology and peat itself is 
an important consideration, with blanket bog (which covers much of the site) identified as an 
Annex 1 priority habitat under the EC Habitats Directive. 

Advice of the impacts from the development on peat has been provided to the Council by 
Natural England and GMEU. JBA Consulting have also acted as consultants for Rossendale 
Council on this matter and their report has been shared with Rochdale. 

Assessing the application it can be seen that the proposal would directly impact on three 
local wildlife sites that have been designated because they support important upland 
habitats (notably blanket bog as discussed above) on peat substrates. These sites are:

- Knowl Moor Site of Biological Importance (SBI)



- Cowpe Moss and Brandwood Moor Biological Heritage Site (BHS)
- Scout Moor Biological Heritage Site (BHS)

The ES notes that the upland habitats on the Moors, including blanket bog are degraded to a 
greater or lesser extent and this has been caused by over-intensive grazing pressures, 
burning of vegetation, drainage of peat, erosion and public disturbance. The degraded state 
of the moor is not disputed but it is also noteworthy that the majority of remaining blanket 
bog in the UK, and in particular the South and West Pennines is degraded for some extent, 
and for this reason, conservation efforts for this habitat type should be taken to include 
habitat restoration as well as habitat protection. 

Under the current application the proposed wind farm would result in a direct loss of 
important upland habitats under new access tracks, new turbine bases and ancillary 
structures and could cause potential indirect harm by increasing and/or altering drainage, 
increasing fragmentation and increasing disturbance by facilitating greater access to the 
Moor. Nonetheless, the ES proposes comprehensive measures for the avoidance, mitigation 
and compensation of harmful impacts which are put forward in a Construction Environmental 
Management Plan (CEMP) and in a Moorland Restoration and Management Plan (MRMP), 
which are considered to be acceptable. 

In brief, the MRMP proposes the following measures to conserve and enhance the important 
habitats:

- Reducing stock densities on the Moors to reduce grazing pressure.
- Re-wetting part of the Moor.
- Re-vegetating areas of bare peat. 
- Temporary fencing to allow for new vegetation to become established. 
- Introducing Sphagnum mosses to parts of the Moors. Sphagnum is important in 

holding water and in building new peat.
- Employing a Conservation Ranger to oversee habitat management and improvement 

works and to manage potentially inappropriate and damaging access. 
- Monitoring the development of habitats in order to guide the implementation of the 

habitat management over the long-term. 

In terms of the MRMP it is acknowledged that the restrictions over common land must be 
dealt with through the appropriate channels that are separate to the assessment of this 
application. Nonetheless, the details in the MRMP if successfully implemented would result 
in the enhancement and positive management of some 900ha and would allow the impact 
on priority habitats within locally designated nature conservation sites to be minimised to an 
acceptable level and significant enhancements to important habitats. 

In regards to the application details, the ES includes detailed assessments of peat depth 
over the likely development footprint. It is however acknowledged that these details may 
need to be refined to more accurately inform the peat plans once the final locations of the 
tracks, crane pads and turbine bases are decided as it is known from other development that 
a lack of information on this matter can lead to the late discovery of significant volumes of 
peat during the actual construction works.  Following the receipt of this information it is also 
important that peat depths are given full consideration in any micro-siting of the turbines and 
ancillary development. 

There is also a well understood risk in attempting to store large quantities of peat over long 
periods of time, particularly in adverse weather conditions. Nonetheless, for this 
development it is anticipated that much of the excavated peat can be transported to the 
receptor sites almost immediately. This will reduce the risk of loss of carbon due to the 
oxidation of stored peat and simplifies the issue of handling turves. In this regard it is 



considered that the minimising of storage time is an important consideration and there is a 
need for detailed planning in advance of the construction activity to demonstrate how the 
works can be phased so as to minimise the peat storage risks. 

Assessing the proposed peatland restoration, it is again acknowledged that much of the 
peatland habitat within and around the site is in a degraded condition. Also given the wider 
impact (through hydrological disruption) to this habitat (peat), in addition to that directly lost 
under hard structures, the measures as set out in the MRMP and CEMP for the restoration 
and management of around 900ha of the degraded moorland habitat are welcomed. The 
restoration programme provides a detailed assessment of the factors resulting in the current 
degraded condition; such as surface and subsurface drainage, access damage and grazing 
damage and includes details of the agreement of all active graziers with Common rights 
necessary to achieve the habitat restoration across the development area. 

The MRMP also includes proposals for the fencing of specific target areas across the 
proposed development area to facilitate the moorland habitat restoration. It must however be 
understood that the fencing will be subject to a separate commons application that is 
separate to the planning process. Nonetheless, following appropriate advice, it is considered 
that notwithstanding the success of any commons application, the details as set down in the 
MRMP are adequate and would, subject to appropriate control through conditions, result in 
an overall improvement in the moorland habitat at and around the site. There would 
therefore be long term benefits associated with the development and respect of the 
protected peat on site, the application is considered to be acceptable.

It is noted that adequate and appropriate conditions will be required in respect of the 
proposed CEMP and MRMP. 

Ecology and Ornithology 

Under policy G/NE/1 of the UDP it is important that sites and features of nature conservation 
value will be given full and appropriate recognition and protection in the assessment of 
development proposals. Additionally, policy NE/2 establishes that development proposals 
adversely affecting sites and areas of ecological importance will not be permitted, with the 
Council seeking to protect and enhance them and under policy NE/3 the effect of land use 
change on habitats of ecological value will be taken into account. Policy NE/4 is also 
important and this establishes that development proposals that would affect a species 
protection by national or European law or its habitat, will not be permitted unless it can be 
demonstrated that:-

- There is no adverse impact on the species concerned. 
- Loss of, or damage to habitats supporting such species is minimal and, where 

required, adequate alternative habitats are provided to sustain at least the current 
levels of the population of the species, and 

- Where a proposal affects a European Protected Species, it fulfils the appropriate 
criteria for development as set out in National and European legislation. 

The NPPF under chapter 11 – Conserving and enhancing the natural environment, also 
requires the planning system to contribute and enhance the natural and local environment by 
measures including:

- Recognising the wider benefits of ecosystem service. 
- Minimising impacts on biodiversity and providing net gains in biodiversity where 

possible, contributing to the Government’s commitment to halt the overall decline in 



biodiversity, including by establishing coherent ecological networks that are more 
resilient to current and future pressures. 

Under paragraph 118 of the NPPF it is also stated that “When determining planning 
applications, local planning authorities should aim to conserve and enhance biodiversity by 
applying the following principles:

- If significant harm resulting from a development cannot be avoided (through locating 
on an alternative site with less harmful impacts), adequately mitigated, or, as a last 
resort, compensated for, then planning permission should be refused;

- Proposed development on land within or outside a Site of Special Scientific Interest 
likely to have an adverse effect on a Site of Special Scientific Interest (either 
individually or in combination with other development) should not normally be 
permitted. Where an adverse effect on the site’s notified special interest features is 
likely, an exception should only be made where benefits of the development, at this 
site, clearly outweigh both the impacts that it is likely to have on the features of the 
site that make it of special scientific interest and any broader impacts on the national 
network of Site of Special Scientific Interest. 

- Development proposals where the primary objective is to conserve or enhance 
biodiversity should be permitted. 

- Opportunities to incorporate biodiversity in and around developments should be 
encouraged. 

- Planning permission should be refused for development resulting in the loss or 
deterioration of irreplaceable habitats, including ancient woodland and the loss of 
aged or veteran trees found outside ancient woodland, unless the need for, and the 
benefits of, the development in that location clearly outweigh the loss; and 

- The following wildlife sites should be given the same protection as European sites:
o Potential Special Protection Areas and possible Special Areas of 

Conservation;
o Listed or proposed Ramsar site, and
o Sites identified, or required, as compensatory measures for adverse effects 

on European sites, potential Special Protection Aras, possible Special Aras of 
Conservation and listed or proposed Ramsar sites. 

The Draft Core Strategy also provides further policy and establishes that under policy G3, 
applications for renewable development should not adversely impact on biodiversity 
including protected species, statutory and locally designated sites and important habitats 
and geodiversity. Policy G7 also requires that sites and features of biodiversity and 
geodiversity importance are given full and appropriate recognition and protection, with 
particular reference give to the South Pennine Moors and the peat land habitats and 
biodiversity value that they provide. 

Ecology

In regards to the surveys undertaken, these have been assessed by the Greater Manchester 
Ecology Unit who have confirmed that the surveys undertaken in support of the application 
are comprehensive and have been carried out by suitably qualified consultants. It is noted 
that some of the initial surveys were begun in 2011 and 2012, however the findings of these 
remain relevant because the site has not been subject to any substantive changes.

Assessing the impact of the development the proposal will not directly affect any sites 
statutorily designated for their nature conservation values e.g. SSSIs, SACs, SPAs etc. 
However, as advised in the section addressing peat, the proposal will directly affect the 
following Local Wildlife Sites which lies within Rochdale and Rossendale (accounts for the 
name difference of similar upland habitats):



- Knowl Moor Site of Biological Importance (SBI)
- Cowpe Moss and Brandwood Moor Biological Heritage Site (BHS)
- Scout Moor Biological Heritage Site (BHS)

As previously stated, all three of the above sites are designated because they support 
important upland habitats (notably blanket bog as discussed above) on peat substrates, a 
Priority Habitat as identified on Section 41 list of the Natural Environmental and Rural 
Communities (NERC) Act 2006 and locally important populations of upland bird species. 

As discussed above, the current application for the proposed wind farm would result in a 
direct loss of important upland habitats under new access tracks, new turbine bases and 
ancillary structures and could cause potential indirect harm by increasing and/or altering 
drainage, increasing fragmentation and increasing disturbance by facilitating greater access 
to the Moor. Nonetheless, the ES proposes comprehensive measures for the avoidance, 
mitigation and compensation of harmful impacts which are put forward in a Construction 
Environmental Management Plan (CEMP) and in a Moorland Restoration and Management 
Plan (MRMP), which are considered to be acceptable. 

In regards to protected (or priority) species, it is considered that the proposed development 
would have no significant impact on the following species:

- Great Crested Newts
- Bats
- Otters
- White-clawed crayfish
- Water Voles

No further surveys are required for these species and no special mitigation measures would 
be required. 

In respect of badgers, this species is present on the moors and it is possible that they could 
create setts close to the application work areas between the date of determination of the 
application and works commencing on site. As such, it is considered necessary that a further 
site survey for badger setts is undertaken prior to the commencement of construction works 
and if this species is found, a method statement will be required to outline protection 
measures. 

Given the above, although the development would result in the disturbance to habitat which 
itself must be adequately controlled through a CEMP and MRMP, subject to a condition 
requiring these measures and a further badger investigation (and if necessary protection 
works), the proposal would not result in any undue harm to ecology at the site and the 
impacts on ecology can be adequately protected. 

Ornithology

In regards to the surveys submitted, these have been assessed by the Greater Manchester 
Ecology Unit and have been undertaken to recognised standards. There are however some 
concerns that the overall assessment of the value of the site for birds may have undervalued 
the site, e.g. there have been third party reported sitings of 2 or 3 pairs of Dunlin but the ES 
only records one. In addition, the ES estimates of some bird species in the wider area may 
have been over-estimated, thus as a result the impact on the development may have been 
under-estimated. 

Low densities of birds are recorded across the site and these numbers may be a result of 
habitat degradation and disturbance, particularly resulting from overgrazing, illegal off-road 



vehicle use and burning. Analysis of bird data also shows that over a number of years there 
has been a change in bird populations on the moor, with Golden Plover, Snipe and Curlew 
having reduced while some species (notably Corvids and Gulls) have increased. 

In regards to collision risks, it is noted that the site has not been identified by the RSPB as 
being in a particularly sensitive area for birds in a national context. Furthermore, given low 
population densities at the site, the risks of collision are very low and remain very low even if 
bird populations at the top end of the recorded bird densities. It is however acknowledged 
that because of the low population densities of certain bird species involved in a wider 
(county) context any mortality resulting from turbines strike could be regarded as significant. 
However set against these risks of harm are the plans for mitigating harmful impacts which 
are laid down in the CEMP and MRMP, including plans for significant habitat restoration and 
effective stewardship of the site with the employment of a dedicated Conservation Ranger. 
The ranger would help to reduce incidences of disturbances arising from inappropriate use 
of the site and would facilitate the effective implementation of the MRMP. It is acknowledged 
that it could be claimed that the presence of new and existing turbines would discourage the 
use of improved habitats by birds and would therefore not benefits birds at the site. 
However, the habitat benefits would accrue over the long term, giving birds the opportunity 
to habituate to the turbines, and would benefit a wider range of birds beyond those 
considered most sensitive to wind turbines. The benefits for birds accruing from the habitat 
enhancement will therefore be sufficient to compensate for any potential displacement of 
birds caused by habitat loss or disturbance. 

On balance, although it is considered that the site has somewhat greater value for birds that 
that which is stated in the ES, sufficient mitigation and compensation for harm to be birds 
can be secured through the MRMP which shall be controlled through suitable conditions, 
such that any harm caused by the wind farm development to upland bird populations would 
be appropriately mitigated against.

Appropriate Assessment

Regulation 61 of the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2010 (as amended) 
states that a ‘competent authority’ (i.e. the Local Planning Authority) must make an 
‘appropriate assessment’ of the implications of a plan or project which is likely to have a 
significant effect on a European protected site. Greater Manchester Ecology Unit have 
carried out that ‘appropriate assessment’ on behalf of the Local Planning Authority and have 
concluded that the only European site that could potentially be affected is the South Pennine 
Moors Special Area of Conservation (SAC) / Special Protection Area (SPA) as pathways to 
other European protected sites do not exist.

Appendix B includes the Summary Screening Assessment of the impact of this planning 
application on the special nature conservation interest of the South Pennine Moors SAC / 
SPA. It concludes that the development would not have any significant impacts on the 
special nature conservation value of the SAC / SPA.

Residential amenity

Noise

Under chapter 11, paragraph 123 of the NPPF it is established that planning policies and 
decisions should aim to:

- avoid noise from giving rise to significant adverse impacts on heath and quality of life 
as a result of new development;



- Mitigate and reduce to a minimum other adverse impacts on health and quality of life 
arising from noise from new development, including through the use of conditions;

- Recognise that development will often create some noise and existing businesses 
wanting to develop in continuance of their business should not have unreasonable 
restrictions put on them because of changes in nearby land uses since they were 
established; and

- Identify and protect areas of tranquillity which have remained relatively undisturbed 
by noise and are prized for their recreational and amenity value for this reason. 

Policies G/EM/1, EM/2 and EM/3 of the UDP also provide advice on pollution and advise that 
sensitive development should be protected from any unacceptable levels of noise nuisance 
or other elements of pollution. Policy EM/14 also requires that when assessing applications 
for wind power development, the proposal should create no unacceptable amenity or noise 
problems for local residents and cause no serious harm to the value of the surrounding area 
for quiet relaxation and recreation. 

Policy BE/2 of the UDP establishes design criteria for new development and requires that 
development proposals demonstrate good design by (amongst other things), minimising the 
potential environmental impact of and on the development, including noise, air and water 
pollution. 

Draft Core Strategy policies also recognise the importance of residential amenity with policy 
G3 requiring that all proposals for renewable developments take into account the impacts on 
local residents and their amenity. Furthermore policy SO3 establishes a focus on improving 
quality of place and DM1 requires that applications do not impact on amenity due to noise, 
air, dust, light and odour pollution, traffic generation or inadequate access. 

Construction Noise

Rossendale Council, the lead authority on the application have commissioned Hepworth 
Acoustics to assess the noise impacts associated with the development and their report has 
been shared with Rochdale. 

When considering construction noise it should be noted that the vast majority of the site and 
areas such as the construction compound are located outside of Rochdale and are therefore 
not under consideration under this application. Likewise the off-site construction noise is also 
located outside of Rochdale, on the access that runs through Rossendale. As such, when 
considering this aspect of the development, the assessment by Rochdale should relate only 
to the construction works proposed within the Rochdale borders, i.e. two turbines and their 
access roads. 

When assessing construction noise it is noted that noise generation is always difficult to 
assess at application stage as it is necessary to make assumptions on the likely types of 
construction plant to be deployed. However, the activities most likely to result in the highest 
construction noise levels have been undertaken and the assumed types of plant/equipment 
that are described in the ES are considered to be appropriate and reasonable. 

Some concerns have been raised over the construction of access roads and cable lying, as 
the noise levels generated would exceed the 65dB level. However, these concerns relate 
only to areas that have residential development within a distance of 100m and therefore do 
not apply to the areas of development within Rochdale. It has also been confirmed that the 
other on-site construction activities such as the turbine foundations and turbine erection 
would be quieter operations than the track laying and cable trenching operation, as such 
meaning there are no undue concerns in regards to noise generation. 



No assessment is required into the concrete batching plant and other activities undertaken 
within the construction compound as these activities would be located outside of Rochdale. 
Likewise, while Hepworth Acoustic have made an assessment into the acceptability of off-
site construction traffic noise, this is not for consideration by Rochdale as the land lies 
outside of the Council’s jurisdiction. 

In light of the above it is considered that construction noise generated by the development 
within Rochdale is acceptable and would result in no undue harm. To ensure these levels 
remain acceptable it is however important to ensure that noise levels are controlled through 
the Construction Environmental Management Plan (CEMP) and that control is also provided 
over construction hours. 

Operational Noise 

In assessing the impact from operational noise from the wind turbines the development must 
be assessed against ETSU-R-97 and this requires a fixed noise limit of between 35 and 40 
dB(A) in the daytime and 43dB(A) at night. The appropriate daytime limit of between 35 and 
40dB(A) depends on three factors: the number of dwellings in the vicinity, the effect of the 
limit on the power generated and the duration and level of the noise exposure. In the ES the 
maximum figure of 40dB(A) has been adopted for the daytime fixed limit, however concerns 
have been raised in respect of these levels as based upon the low background noise levels 
measured at low speeds at some of the residential assessment locations (e.g. New Hall, 
Cowpe Hall Farm, Higher Mount Pleasant, Waterworks House), it is considered by Hepworth 
Acoustics that a fixed daytime limit of less than 40dB(A) may be appropriate. 

The above concerns regarding appropriate noise levels have been raised with the applicant 
and further information has been submitted which has clarified that with appropriate 
mitigation, the required daytime noise levels can be met at all but one location. At the site 
where the standards cannot be achieved (Waterworks House), there is only a marginal 
excess (of less than 1dB) over the limit at wind speeds of between 6-7m/s. It is considered 
that such an excess would not be discernible and it has been demonstrated that noise levels 
from the proposed development at this property would be low, particularly in comparison with 
the existing noise levels from the existing Scout Moor Wind Farm. 

The noise levels assessed under the application have been calculated for sixteen residential 
locations in the area around the site, with the calculations based on the ‘candidate turbine’ 
the Vesta V80. In assessing the acceptability of this turbine, and taking account of the fact 
that this is only a ‘candidate turbine’, Hepworth’s initially requested that additional 
information be submitted in regards to the use of the candidate turbines at other sites and 
that details be provided on any other candidate turbines that would be capable of operating 
within the ETSU cumulative noise limits. This information has not been provided in full, 
however it is not considered to be necessary in assessing the acceptability of the proposal 
and it is possible to include a condition on any approval to require that the final turbine 
choice be subject of a noise survey to demonstrate its suitability and establish that it can 
meet the levels (including tonality) as indicated above. 

In light of the above, it is considered that the information submitted has demonstrated that 
adequate noise standards can be achieved around the site so as to ensure no undue harm 
to amenity. Conditions will be required to ensure compliance with these levels and to 
establish the limits of the chosen turbine. Sufficient information has however been submitted 
in this regard so as to satisfy the Council that all such matters can be adequately addressed. 

In addition to the above it is noted that the phenomenon of Amplitude Modulation (AM) is not 
something that can be predicted at planning application stage. In the document produced by 
renewable UK ‘Wind Turbine Amplitude Modulation: Research to improve understanding as 



to its cause and effect’, this phenomena is summarised with the following “Modern large 
wind turbines normally produce a swishing noise with a sound level variation of a few 
decibels. However, in some cases periods of increased swish or thumping are reported. At 
presence the source mechanism for this Enhanced Amplitude Modulation (EAM) is not 
clear.” It is understood that the government did commission a working party to investigate 
this issue but that any findings have not at this time made their way into national planning 
policy or guidance and no further indication is before the Council or expected. In the 
absence of any planning guidance on this matter from government and with no objection 
being received from either the Council’s own Environmental Health Officers or the 
consultants it is considered that it would in planning terms not be appropriate to impose 
conditions in respect of this matter and that conditions proposed in relation to noise will be 
sufficient alongside any enforcement mechanisms away from the planning regime. 

Decommissioning

No detailed proposals are currently submitted regarding the decommissioning but it is noted 
that this phase would normally involve less intensive activities and occur over a shorted 
period than construction. Therefore, on this basis it is concluded that the noise impact during 
decommissioning would be not more than of minor significance and therefore be acceptable. 

Conclusion

In light of the above it is considered that the noise levels emitted by on-site construction, 
operation and decommissioning activities would be at a level that would cause no undue 
detriment to the amenity of nearby residential properties. The levels emitted from the 
development would comply with the recognised standard ETSU-R-97 and would not be of 
excessive significance. 

Shadow Flicker

As advised above, policy EM/14 of the UDP establishes that wind power development 
should not create any unacceptable amenity or noise problems for local residents. 
Furthermore, policy BE/2 establishes design criteria for new development and requires that 
development proposals demonstrate good design by (amongst other things), minimising the 
potential environmental impact of and on the development, including noise, air and water 
pollution. 

The Draft Core Strategy also requires that developments “, Do not adversely affect the 
amenity of residents or users through visual intrusion, overbearing impact or loss of privacy”, 
and also “Do not have an adverse impact on health, through its impact or the effect of 
existing problems”

Shadow flicker is a known problem amongst some wind turbines and it occurs under certain 
combinations of geographical position and time of day, when the sun may pass behind the 
rotors of a turbine and cast a shadow over the neighbouring properties. When the blades 
rotate and light levels are high, the shadow moves across the ground and when this effect is 
experienced inside the buildings and the shadow passes through a narrow window or door 
opening, this results in flickering light levels, giving the effect known as ‘shadow flicker’. The 
effect predominantly occurs during sunrise and sunset (due to low sun levels) and the 
flickering light levels within an affected room can cause an annoyance to its occupants. 
Furthermore, in some cases the impacts from flicker effect have been linked to 
photosensitive epilepsy. In regards to this matter it is noted that “of-photo sensitive 
epileptics, less than 5% are sensitive to low frequencies 2.5-3Hz, the remainder are 
sensitive only to higher frequencies. As modern turbines are known to operate at levels 
below 1Hz, seizures caused by shadow flicker are considered to be extremely unlikely”. 



Glinting is also a known effect that can be associated with wind turbines and occurs with the 
reflection of sunlight of turbine blades as they rotate. This matter has however been 
addressed over the years with development of the blade colour and finish so that the 
impacts from glinting can be appropriately managed. 

As part of the application, the properties considered most at risk from shadow flicker (within 
15 rotor diameters of the proposed turbines) have been identified and the worst case 
occurrence of shadow flicker for these properties has been modelled. There is no UK 
statutory limit or guidance that stipulates acceptable levels of shadow flicker. However 
Predac, an EU sponsored organisation promoting best practice in energy use and supply, 
suggests that a maximum of 30 hours of shadow flicker in a calendar year with no longer 
than 30 minutes on any single occasion is acceptable. 

In assessing the worst case scenario figures against the above (non-statutory) guidance it 
can be seen that of the 39 receptors identified a total of 26 have the potential to experience 
shadow flicker effects during the main operation stage. All of these properties are under 
residential use apart from one building which is associated with Scout Moor Quarry and this 
building is calculated to experience the longest duration of shadow flicker effects which are 
calculated as a maximum duration of shadow flicker per year of 85.7 hours, and a maximum 
number of shadow flicker hours per day of 0.63 (38 mins) on a maximum of 199 days per 
year. This figure can be reduced to 29.1 hours a year as an ‘expected value’ which takes 
into account annual mean sunshine figures. 

Looking at the effects as calculated it can be seen that the receptors are located outside of a 
radius of 500m of the turbines and it is considered that the effects experience would likely 
not be significant. Nonetheless, it is recognised that flicker levels experienced from the 
development could result in harm to residential amenity. As such, with any approval of the 
application an appropriately worded condition should be included. This will require any 
complaints over shadow flicker to be investigated and that the rectification of any 
substantiated shadow flicker is adequately mitigated through matters that might include 
operational controls that shut down the relevant turbine during conditions that would allow for 
potential flicker nuisance. The condition should also include a requirement that any turbines 
under investigation of shadow flicker are switched off following evidenced complaint, with no 
continued use until the matter of flicker has been appropriately mitigated against. 

In light of the above it is considered that the matter of shadow flicker can be adequately 
mitigated against through suitable planning conditions. 

Cultural Heritage

Introduction

The impact of the proposals on cultural heritage focuses on those impacts of the proposals 
on heritage assets, both designated and non-designated and both above and below ground. 
Very simplistically, above ground assets are generally categorised as ‘built heritage’ and 
those below ground ‘archaeology’. The whole or part of an asset could however fall into both 
categories which is why the wider definition of ‘cultural heritage’ is used. 

Impacts from development can be felt on the fabric2 of a heritage asset and on its setting3. 
Impacts on the fabric of a heritage asset tend only to be felt within the site, whereas an 

2 “The material substance of which places are formed, including geology, archaeological 



impact on setting could potentially be felt anywhere within the Zone of Theoretical Visibility, 
albeit common practice draws a boundary at 10km from the turbines for the limit of any 
assessment on heritage assets.

Like landscape and visual effects, the impact of development in this Borough could be felt 
outside the administrative boundary. Nevertheless, if these impacts occur as a result of 
development which is proposed to take place in the Borough they must be given the same 
weight in the planning balance as any impacts within the Borough boundaries.

It is acknowledged that there are numerous heritage assets within the Zone of Theoretical 
Visibility which would not be adversely affected by the proposals. The submitted 
environmental information undertakes a ‘selection process’ in which it effectively eliminates 
the great many heritage assets that it considers would not experience adverse impact on 
setting as a result of the proposed wind farm, and focuses instead on a selected group of 
heritage assets that would potentially be subject to adverse impacts. This report advises in 
this regard and focusses on those assets not eliminated and also includes an analysis of the 
impact of a development on a non-designated heritage assets.

Legislative Background

Section 66 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 states that:-

‘in considering whether to grant planning permission for development which affects a 
listed building or its setting, the local planning authority… shall have special regard 
to the desirability of preserving the building or its setting or any features of special 
architectural or historic interest it possesses’.

Section 72 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 states:-

‘in the exercise, with respect to any buildings or other land in a conservation area of 
any functions under or by virtue of… [the Planning Acts], special attention shall be 
paid to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the character or appearance of that 
area’.

The courts have held that “preserving means doing no harm” and have established that, 
where a proposal would cause some harm, the desirability of preserving listed buildings and 

deposits, structures and buildings, and flora.” 

p71, Conservation Principles, English Heritage, 2008 

3 “The surroundings in which a heritage asset is experienced. Its extent is not fixed and may 
change as the asset and its surroundings evolve. Elements of a setting may make a positive 
or negative contribution to the significance of an asset, may affect the ability to appreciate 
that significance or may be neutral.” 

Annex 2: Glossary, National Planning Policy Framework, Department of Communities and 
Local Government, 2012 

http://historicengland.org.uk/images-books/publications/conservation-principles-sustainable-management-historic-environment/
http://www.communities.gov.uk/publications/planningandbuilding/nppf


their settings and the character and appearance of conservation areas, should not simply be 
given careful consideration, but should be given “considerable importance and weight” when 
the decision-maker comes to a conclusion on the planning balance. 

Planning Policy Context

National Planning Policy Framework

One of the 12 core planning principles in the NPPF is to ‘conserve heritage assets in a 
manner appropriate to their significance, so that they can be enjoyed for their contribution to 
the quality of life of this and future generations’. 

Section 12 and specifically paragraphs 128, 129 and 131 to 135 of the National Planning 
Policy Framework state respectively:-

In determining applications, local planning authorities should require an applicant to describe 
the significance of any heritage assets affected, including any contribution made by their 
setting. The level of detail should be proportionate to the assets’ importance and no more 
than is sufficient to understand the potential impact of the proposal on their significance. As 
a minimum the relevant historic environment record should have been consulted and the 
heritage assets assessed using appropriate expertise where necessary. Where a site on 
which development is proposed includes or has the potential to include heritage assets with 
archaeological interest, local planning authorities should require developers to submit an 
appropriate desk-based assessment and, where necessary, a field evaluation.

Local planning authorities should identify and assess the particular significance of any 
heritage asset that may be affected by a proposal (including by development affecting the 
setting of a heritage asset) taking account of the available evidence and any necessary 
expertise. They should take this assessment into account when considering the impact of a 
proposal on a heritage asset, to avoid or minimise conflict between the heritage asset’s 
conservation and any aspect of the proposal.

In determining planning applications, local planning authorities should take account of:
 the desirability of sustaining and enhancing the significance of heritage assets and 

putting them to viable uses consistent with their conservation;
 the positive contribution that conservation of heritage assets can make to sustainable 

communities including their economic vitality; and
 the desirability of new development making a positive contribution to local character 

and distinctiveness.

When considering the impact of a proposed development on the significance of a designated 
heritage asset, great weight should be given to the asset’s conservation. The more important 
the asset, the greater the weight should be. Significance can be harmed or lost through 
alteration or destruction of the heritage asset or development within its setting. As heritage 
assets are irreplaceable, any harm or loss should require clear and convincing justification. 
Substantial harm to or loss of a grade II listed building, park or garden should be 
exceptional. Substantial harm to or loss of designated heritage assets of the highest 
significance, notably scheduled monuments, protected wreck sites, battlefields, grade I and 
II* listed buildings, grade I and II* registered parks and gardens, and World Heritage Sites, 
should be wholly exceptional.

Where a proposed development will lead to substantial harm to or total loss of significance of 
a designated heritage asset, local planning authorities should refuse consent, unless it can 
be demonstrated that the substantial harm or loss is necessary to achieve substantial public 
benefits that outweigh that harm or loss, or all of the following apply:



 the nature of the heritage asset prevents all reasonable uses of the site;
 and
 no viable use of the heritage asset itself can be found in the medium term through 

appropriate marketing that will enable its conservation; and
 conservation by grant-funding or some form of charitable or public ownership is 

demonstrably not possible; and the harm or loss is outweighed by the benefit of 
bringing the site back into use.

Where a development proposal will lead to less than substantial harm to the significance of a 
designated heritage asset, this harm should be weighed against the public benefits of the 
proposal, including securing its optimum viable use.

The effect of an application on the significance of a non-designated heritage asset should be 
taken into account in determining the application. In weighing applications that affect directly 
or indirectly non designated heritage assets, a balanced judgement will be required having 
regard to the scale of any harm or loss and the significance of the heritage asset.

The policies in section 12 of the NPPF are predicated on the understanding of the 
significance of heritage assets. Significance is defined as “the value of a heritage asset to 
this and future generations because of its heritage interest. That interest may be 
archaeological, architectural, artistic or historic. Significance derives not only from a heritage 
asset’s physical presence, but also from its setting” (NPPF Annex 2: Glossary). 

Rochdale Unitary Development Plan (2006)

The adopted Rochdale Unitary Development Plan contains several policies relating to 
cultural heritage:-

Policy G/BE/9 states that priority will be given to the practical conservation and 
enhancement of those features of the built environment which are the most valuable. The 
supporting text states that the Plan places particular emphasis on the positive contribution 
that built heritage can make to maintaining the character and sustaining the regeneration of 
the Borough’s… rich historic and cultural landscapes.

Policy BE/10 relates to archaeological sites and ancient monuments and states that planning 
permission will be refused where developers do not sympathetically accommodate such 
structures or remains, particularly where the proposal has a significant effect on the site itself 
or its setting.

Policy BE/11 relates to the protection of locally important buildings and features of 
architectural and historic interest. This policy states that the Council will permit development 
proposals that do not adversely affect buildings and features which are of local interest and 
which contribute to the character of an area and / or are important in townscape terms.

Policy BE/15 states that development will not be permitted, where through its siting, scale, 
design or materials, would harm the setting of a listed building.

Policy BE/17 states that development proposals will be permitted that preserve or enhance 
the character or appearance of a conservation area and sets out a number of principles 
which will be taken into account when assessing a proposal.

Policy BE/19 states that development proposals which would result in the loss of, or cause 
harm to the historic character, structure or setting of any part of a designated historic park or 
garden will not be permitted.



Policy EM/14 relates to wind energy development generally but gives specific criteria which 
need to be met if a development is to be acceptable. In respect of cultural heritage, these 
criteria require that the proposal would not materially detract from the physical record of the 
historic and cultural evolution of the landscape and the proposal would not have an adverse 
impact on the setting of historic structures and conservation areas or historic landscapes.

Emerging Rochdale Publication Core Strategy

The emerging Rochdale Core Strategy seeks to protect the Borough’s character, landscape 
and heritage by (inter alia), conserving, enhancing and promoting key heritage assets, both 
statutory and non-statutory, including consideration of their wider settings. Policy SO3 states 
that the Council will focus on protecting and enhancing our heritage and natural assets.

Policy P2 states that the Council will protect the Borough’s heritage by, inter alia, conserving, 
enhancing and promoting key heritage assets, both statutory and non-statutory, including 
consideration of their wider settings and conserving, enhancing and utilising other non-
statutory heritage assets of local interest.

Policy G1 states that the Council will encourage and promote renewable energy 
developments… that do not… cause harm to the local area, its character and environmental 
assets and adjoining uses which cannot be satisfactorily mitigated.

Policy G3 of the draft Rochdale Core Strategy states that the Council will promote 
renewable, low and zero carbon energy generating developments. Proposals should ensure 
that harm is minimised and fully mitigated wherever possible and avoids unacceptable 
visual, landscape or townscape character impacts including any cumulative impacts. In 
respect of cultural heritage the policy states that harm to the following should be minimised 
and appropriately mitigated:-

a) the visual character and quality of the landscape or townscape or materially detract 
from the physical record of the historic and cultural evolution of the landscape;

b) the setting of heritage assets including Scheduled Ancient Monuments, Conservation 
Areas and Listed Buildings.

Supplementary Planning Guidance – Wind Power Developments

This document, dating from 1998 is out of date in many respects, particularly in its 
references to now cancelled policy and guidance and can therefore be given very limited 
weight. Nevertheless, its principles remain and it states that much of the special character of 
the South Pennines derives from the interrelationship of buildings and various structures and 
features of historic and archaeological value in the landscape. This document requires wind 
energy proposals to take full account of the setting and character of historic buildings, 
structures and archaeological sites and the need for appropriate investigation where the 
possibility of an archaeological site exists. 
National Policy Statements

The Overarching National Policy Statement for Energy (EN-1) states:-

The particular nature of the significance of the heritage asset should be taken into account 
and the value they hold for future generations. The desirability of sustaining, and where 
appropriate enhancing the significance of heritage assets, the contribution of their settings 
and the positive contribution they can make to sustainable communities and economic 



vitality should also be taken into account. There should be a presumption in favour of the 
conservation of designated heritage assets.

The National Policy Statement for Renewable Energy Infrastructure (EN-3) states that the 
length of time for which consent is sought when considering any indirect effect on the historic 
environment, such as effects on the setting of heritage assets.

Historic England Guidance

English Heritage (now Historic England) have produced two ‘Historic Environment Good 
Practice Advice in Planning’ relevant to this application; Note 2 – Managing Significance in 
Decision Taking in the Historic Environment and Note 3 – The Setting of Heritage Assets 
(GPA3). GPA3 supersedes the earlier English Heritage guidance on setting published in 
2011. The new document is considerably shorter but broadly analogous with the earlier 
guidance. It defines setting as ‘the surroundings in which a heritage asset is experienced’. 
The guidance advises that ‘While setting can be mapped in the context of an individual 
application or proposal, it does not have a fixed boundary and cannot be definitively and 
permanently described for all time as a spatially bounded area or as lying within a set 
distance of a heritage asset because what comprises a heritage asset’s setting may change 
as the asset and its surroundings evolve.’ 

A further historic environment good practice guidance note (GPA 2) was published by 
English Heritage/Historic England in March 2015, entitled ‘Managing Significance in 
Decision-Taking in the Historic Environment’. This document reiterates earlier advice in 
assessing the significance of heritage assets as an essential part of the planning process. 

National Planning Practice Guidance

The National Planning Practice Guidance includes, inter alia, guidance on decision taking in 
respect of the historic environment, the assessment of substantial harm, designated and 
non-designated heritage assets and specifically in respect of taking heritage into account 
when assessing applications for wind turbine development. 

The PPG emphasises the need for a clear understanding of the significance of a heritage 
asset and its setting in order to develop proposals which avoid or minimise harm to 
significance (Paragraph: 019 Reference ID: 18a-019-20140306).
 
It also states that as the significance of a heritage asset derives not only from its physical 
presence, but also from its setting, careful consideration should be given to the impact of 
wind turbines on such assets. Depending on their scale, design and prominence a wind 
turbine within the setting of a heritage asset may cause substantial harm to the significance 
of the asset. (Paragraph: 019 Reference ID: 5-019-20140306).

Heritage assets

In considering the impact on heritage assets around the site Rossendale Council have 
commissioned Grover Lewis to undertake an assessment of the application. This report has 
been shared with Rochdale Council. Historic England (previously known as English 
Heritage) have also provided comment on the application and confirmed that they had no 
objection to the proposals, subject to conditions to secure mitigation measures in respect of 
archaeological remains on the application site. Historic England have also confirmed that 
they do not consider that the level of harm to heritage assets (whether designated or 
undesignated) and their settings is sufficient to justify an objection to the application on the 
grounds of impact on the historic environment.



As with the remainder of the application assessment, it is only appropriate for the Council to 
consider the impacts from the two turbines and ancillary works in Rochdale and not to 
assess the appropriateness of the remainder of the proposal. Impacts on heritage assets 
outside of the borough boundary from the turbines within Rochdale can however be 
considered.  

Application site

There are no designated heritage assets within the application site, either specifically within 
Rochdale or more widely including land within Rossendale. Non-designated heritage assets 
are discussed below.

Study Area

The ES identifies three Ancient Scheduled Monuments, one Grade I listed building, eleven 
Grade II* listed buildings, 358 Grade II listed building, four Registered Parks and Gardens 
and 22 Conservation Areas within a 5km radius of the site. This list of heritage assets has 
been narrowed down to a list of 18 assets through further studies using a combination of 
fieldwork and ZTV mapping and this has resulted in a shortlist including: one Registered 
Park and Garden (Whitworth Cemetery which contains three separately listed chapels), 
three Conservation Areas (Whitworth Square, Irwell Vale and Clough Foot, two Grade II* 
listed buildings (Church of St Nicholas with St John , Newchurch and Edenfield Parish 
Church) and 12 Grade II listed buildings. Through assessment of the above information by 
Grover Lewis Associates, it is considered that the shortlist of heritage assets is appropriate 
and is consistent with the findings of fieldworks and assessments undertaken by Grover 
Lewis. 

Non-designated heritage assets

In addition to the above, the ES also identifies 18 non-designated heritage assets within the 
application site. These assets are mostly of local (low significance) although the remains of 
Cragg Quarry are well preserved and considered to be of regional (moderate) heritage 
significance. 

Outside of the application site Waugh’s Well is close to the turbine array and is not referred 
to within the ES. This structure is however of local significance and should be considered as 
a non-designated heritage asset. 

Affected Heritage Assets

Through assessment of the application (by Grover Lewis) it can be seen that it is the 
proposed northern extension of the wind farm (which is sited outside of Rochdale), rather 
than the infill turbines that is likely to cause greatest impact on the setting of heritage assets. 
Additionally, given the proposed disposition of the additional wind turbines, and the nature of 
the local topography, the greatest visual impact would be felt on heritage assets within 
Rossendale Valley to the north of the application site, and to a considerably lesser extent on 
assets to the east and west. 

The assessment by Grover Lewis Associates broadly accords with the findings of the ES but 
does find that for two of the designated heritage assets (Church of St Nicholas with St John, 
Newchurch and Cloughfold Conservation Area) and one of the non-designated heritage 
assets (Waughs Well), the impacts of the development have been underplayed. In this 
regard it is considered that the proposal would result in less than substantial harm to the two 
designated heritage assets and in regards to Waughs Well it is noted that this asset is not 



statutorily protected but in accordance with the NPPF, the significance should be given 
consideration in assessing the application.  

The harm identified to the above heritage assets (designated and non-designated) can be 
attributed to the northern turbines and specifically T5, T6 and T7 which are noted as being 
particularly problematic. These turbines, and the entire northern arm of the proposal are 
sited outside of the Rochdale LPA area and are not under consideration as part of this 
application. No harm to heritage assets is attributed to the two turbines in Rochdale (T15 
and T16) and in this respect, the turbines in Rochdale are considered to be acceptable. 

Cumulative Impacts

In assessing the impact from the proposed development consideration should also be given 
to the likely cumulative impacts of the proposals when considered alongside consented or 
emerging wind energy schemes, such as the proposed twelve turbines at Rooley Moor that 
are subject of a recently lodged appeal. 

The current proposal taken together with the proposed development on Rooley Moor would 
result in a very large cluster of wind turbines in an elevated moorland position and this would 
have a visual impact on the setting of a number of designated and non-designated heritage 
assets. Of particularly importance to the development in Rochdale it is considered that the 
cumulative impacts of the development would impact on designated heritage assets to the 
east of the site, i.e. in the Whitworth Area and on the setting of the non-designated Rooley 
Moor Road. However, in respect of these impacts it is considered that they would derive 
from the development as a whole and in respect of the two turbines in Rochdale in the Scout 
Moor scheme, their position as in-fillers to the current windfarm would reduce the 
significance of their impact, thus meaning no undue harm could be individually attributed to 
them in respect of cumulative impacts. 

Archaeology

Historic England and the Greater Manchester Archaeological Advisory Service (GMAAS) 
have been consulted and have provided advice on the potential for the development to 
impact on non-designated heritage assets of archaeological importance. In respect of 
matters relating to archaeology the application has been submitted with a Written Scheme of 
Investigation (WSI) that was informed by a previous (pre-application) Preliminary 
Environmental Information Report (PEIR). The PEIR recognised that the site has high 
potential for the survival of yet undiscovered heritage assets dating to the prehistoric and 
post medieval periods, a moderate potential for the survival of medieval assets and a low 
potential for Iron Age, Roman and early medieval heritage assets.

Following the PEIR, GMAAS have raised some concerns with the proposed mitigation works 
as it does not include a phase of significance assessment or offer the potential through 
micro-siting, adjustments for nationally significant remains to be preserved in situ. Therefore, 
it is considered that the mitigation measures as currently proposed are not sufficient to 
ensure the adequate protection of any archaeological assets that may be discovered at the 
site. However, these concerns can be adequately addressed through a condition (as 
suggested by GMAAS) which would require submission of a WSI that would allow for the 
adequate recording and protection of assets. 

Access, Traffic and Transport

Under policy A/8 of the Rochdale Unitary Development Plan it is established that new 
development will be permitted provided that the additional traffic generated will not be 



detrimental to the safe and efficient operation of the highway network, both adjacent to and 
further away from the site. It is further established that proposals should not:

- Have an adverse impact on the safety of any road users, 
- Have an adverse impact on accessibility for pedestrians, including people with 

restricted mobility, cyclists or users of public transport in the immediate vicinity of the 
development. 

- Substantially increase congestion
- Divert traffic to less suitable roads, or
- Cause an unacceptable environmental impact on residential properties passed by 

traffic associated with the development whilst accessing the principal road network.

Where additional traffic movements directly generated by a development would adversely 
affect the existing highway infrastructure, the developer will be required to fund works to 
leave the highway network in a no worse state. The works required by the Council could be 
any or all of the following:

- Improvements to the existing highway infrastructure
- Improvements to public transport and related infrastructure
- Measures to secure modal shift away from vehicular traffic to walking and cycling 
- Other traffic management measures; and/or
- The removal or restriction of car parking provision.

Policy G3 of the Draft Core Strategy also establishes that any proposals for renewable 
energy must avoid harm to the health and safety of the public, including through nuisance or 
adverse impact on highway safety by conflict with or undue distraction to road users. 

When assessing the highway impacts of the development it must be recognised that nether 
the site access or the access route are sited in Rochdale, and therefore any highway 
implications for Rochdale will be minimal. Nonetheless, to fully assess the impacts of the 
development consultations have been undertaken with Highway Services who have 
confirmed that they have no objection to the development. Officers have confirmed that the 
greatest impact the turbines will have upon the highway is during the construction period, 
and once construction is complete the wind farm would generate only a handful of vehicle 
movements a day. Additionally, the construction traffic for this development is split into 
Abnormal Invisible Loads (AILs) and HGVs with both sets of vehicles not intended to use the 
highways in Rochdale. With this in mind it is extremely unlikely that the development would 
impact in anyway upon Rochdale controlled highways and in this regard there is no objection 
to the application. It is of course likely that personnel working on the site could drive through 
Rochdale in their own vehicles to access it but this level of traffic would be indiscernible from 
the traffic already using the road network within the Borough.

In light of the above it is considered that the traffic movements associated with the 
application, which would not use the highway network in Rochdale, would therefore have no 
impact upon the highway network within Rochdale and the application would adequately 
protect highway safety and the free and efficient operation of the highway network. The 
application is therefore acceptable in this regard. 

Public rights of way

Designated rights of way and policy requirements

The application site located in Rochdale, does not encompass or come within close 
proximity to any designated public rights of way. It is however recognised that the larger site 
area i.e. the land within Rossendale, does extend close to a number of rights of ways, 



including the Pennine Bridleway which is a designated National Trail. Any impacts from the 
turbines in Rossendale are not however for consideration by Rochdale Council and only the 
two turbines in Rochdale can be assessed under this application. 

While there are no rights of way within or immediately adjacent to the site within Rochdale, 
consideration of rights of way in the wider area should still be given consideration and in this 
respect the below policies are relevant to the assessment. 

Under policy A/13 of the Rochdale UDP it is established that public rights of way will be 
protected where they fall within sites proposed for development, subject to consideration of 
opportunities for local re-routing where this would improve convenience and safety for 
pedestrians. Policy EM/14 also makes it clear that amenity resources should be protected 
and requires that proposals do not cause serious harm to the value of the surrounding area 
for quiet relaxation and recreation. 

Landscape policy also requires the protection of amenity resources and under policy NE/6 it 
is established that applications will be required to be assessed against the impact on the 
tranquillity and the amenity and informal recreation value of the landscape. 

Policy RE/5 also establishes that development proposals that protect, improve and extend 
access to the countryside on foot, cycle or horseback will be permitted, with priority given to 
existing definitive rights of way, footpaths and bridleways and the protection and 
development of strategic routes such as the Pennine Way, Pennine Bridleway, Rochdale 
Way and routes linking to them. Similar support to applications that facilitate the greater use 
of these routes is established under policy RE/6.

The protection of amenity resources is also set out as an important consideration in the 
NPPF and under several paragraphs of Chapter 8 – Promoting healthy communities, the 
importance of public access to open space is established, with a clear message that ‘The 
planning system can play an important role in facilitating social interaction and creating 
healthy, inclusive communities’. As such, under paragraph 70 of the NPPF it is established 
that in order to deliver the social, recreational and cultural facilities and services the 
community needs, planning decisions should:

-  guard against the unnecessary loss of valued facilities and services, particularly 
where this would reduce the community’s ability to meet its day-to-day needs. 

Furthermore, paragraph 73 of the NPPF establishes that ‘ Access to high quality open 
spaces and opportunities for sport and recreation can make an important contribution to the 
health and well-being of communities’ and under paragraph 74 it is stated that ‘Existing open 
space, sports and recreational buildings and land, including playing fields, should not be built 
on unless:

- An assessment has been undertaken which has clearly shown the open space, 
buildings or land to be surplus to requirements; or

- The loss resulting from the proposed development would be replaced by equivalent 
or better provision in terms of quantity and quality in a suitable location; or

- The development is for alternative sports and recreational provision, the needs for 
which clearly outweigh the loss. 

Paragraph 75 of the NPPF makes specific reference to rights of way and states ‘Planning 
policies should protect and enhance public rights of way and access. Local authorities 
should seek opportunities to provide better facilities for users, for example by adding links to 
existing rights of way networks including National Trails.’ 



Paragraph 123 of the NPPF states that planning decisions should protect areas of tranquillity 
which have remained relatively undisturbed by noise and are prized by their recreational and 
amenity value for this reason.

The Councils draft Core Strategy also provides policy on the protection of rights of way and 
amenity resources and under the Strategic Objectives it is established under policy SO2 that 
the Council will create successful and healthy communities by focusing on a number of 
matters including “Improving the general health and quality of people’s lives through better 
access to health facilities and services, education, community and cultural facilities and open 
space.” Policy SO3 states that the Council will focus on protecting and enhancing our 
heritage and natural assets, the special character of our towns, our countryside, open 
spaces, river valleys and water features.

Policy E5 also establishes that the Council will focus on tourism opportunities including the 
South Pennine Moors, and further Core Strategy policy also relates to the improvement of 
health and wellbeing, with policy C6 establishing that the Council will “improve people’s 
health and well-being and reduce health inequalities by (amongst others):

- Creating an economic, physical and social environment which promotes and 
supports healthy lifestyles. 

This will be achieved through measures that include:
- Maintaining and enhancing the boroughs biodiversity, natural environment, open 

spaces and outdoor sport and recreational areas to create a coherent network of 
green infrastructure that can help promote better health.

Consideration of impacts

As there are no public rights of way within or immediately adjacent to the site (within 
Rochdale) it is recognised that the main impacts from the development would be from the 
open access of the land which is available across the moor. It is recognised that there are 
public objections over the impact of the development on recreation at and around the site, 
these concerns however predominantly relate to the impact on designated rights of way, 
particularly the Pennine Bridleway, which is sited close to some of the turbines in 
Rossendale. The impact on the Pennine Bridleway is an important consideration but given 
that the Rochdale turbines would be a sited a significant distance from this, they would not 
result in any harm and the assessment of impacts, including any harm to equestrian and 
other leisure activities must be assessed by Rossendale. 

In respect of the two turbines in Rochdale, due to their siting there would be no undue 
impact on the use or enjoyment of any designated rights of way and this has been confirmed 
by the Councils Rights of Way Officer. Similarly no objections have been received to the 
application from groups such as the British Horse Society and Rambling Associations. In 
respect of the open access to the Moorland, it is acknowledged that this would be affected 
throughout the construction period. Nonetheless, the areas of land that are to be 
encompassed by the development would be de-registered as ‘common land’, and there is a 
proposal to provide replacement land (this matter would be for assessment under a separate 
‘common land’ application). Temporary fences would be erected to safeguard the public from 
working areas where deemed necessary, these would however be short term in nature and 
used only on areas that have been de-registered as common land. Once construction is 
complete fences and any other obstructions to access would be removed and access would 
be permitted across the site and up to the base of the turbines. Recreational use of the 
tracks installed for the development would be permitted and encouraged. 

In regards to other elements of the development it is noted that an alternate route is 
proposed for users of the national trail and links are also shown to connect existing rights of 



way. It is however considered that these elements of development are all proposed to off-set 
the proposals within Rossendale, and while they would undoubtedly benefit users within 
Rochdale, providing additional and alternate routes for recreational users, they are not 
considered to be necessary to off-set any harm caused by the two turbines in Rochdale. 

In light of the above it is considered that the development of two turbines and access tracks 
in Rochdale (along with ancillary works) would not adversely impact on rights of way in the 
area or unduly harm the recreational use of the open access land of the moor. The principal 
of providing additional and alternate routes proposed are welcomed but the acceptability of 
these is not material for the development in Rochdale. The impact on rights of way and 
outdoor access and recreation is considered to be acceptable. 

Health and Safety

In addition to the above it is noted that there can be concerns over the health and safety 
impacts from windfarm development, particularly in regards to ice throw (ice being thrown 
from a blade) and the catastrophic failure of a turbine, e.g. blade loss and/or the falling over 
of a turbine. In regards to turbine failure, it is noted that there have been widely reported 
incidents of turbines (nationally and internationally) failing. These are however isolated 
incidents and turbines are no more likely to fail than any other structure or building. 
Furthermore, although ice throw from turbines has also been reported, modern turbines are 
generally able to detect this as an imbalance and the turbines are shut down until the 
problem no longer persists. 

In light of the above it is considered that health and safety concerns do not hold significant 
weight in the assessment of the proposal and the application is acceptable in this regard.

Socio-economic

Under policy G/RE/1 it is states that ‘The Council will safeguard and enhance economic 
vitality and environmental quality of the countryside, activities and development which help 
to regenerate or diversify the rural economy, support the well-being or rural communities, or 
increase the recreational and tourism potential of rural areas will be permitted, in particular:

- Agricultural development and appropriate farm diversification enterprises;
- The establishment or expansion of rural businesses and activities;
- Outdoor recreational pursuits and proposals which facilitate improved access to and 

within the countryside, and
- Facilities for tourists or visitors.

Proposals will be expected to respect and where possible enhance the natural, cultural and 
visual qualities of the landscape and the character of countryside.’

Policy RE/3 also establishes that development will not be permitted if it would result in the 
loss of the best and most versatile agricultural land (Grade 3a and above) 

Policy LT/2 states that ‘Development Proposals that would adversely affect an existing 
tourist attraction will not be permitted where they would detract from its function, appearance 
or setting.’

The NPPF also requires support of the rural economy and advises in Chapter 3, that “To 
promote a strong rural economy, local and neighbourhood plans should:



- Support the sustainable growth and expansion of all types of business and enterprise 
in rural areas, both through conversion of existing buildings and well-designed new 
buildings.

- Promote the development and diversification of agriculture and other land based rural 
businesses. 

- Support rural tourism and leisure developments that benefit businesses in rural 
areas, communities and visitors, and which respect the character of the countryside. 
This should include support the provision and expansion of tourist and visitor facilities 
in appropriate locations where identified needs are not met by existing facilities in 
rural service centres, and

- Promote the retention and development of local services and community facilities in 
villages, such as local shops, meeting places, sports venues, cultural buildings, 
public houses and places of worship. 

The emerging Draft Core Strategy also relates to supporting the rural economy and 
establishes that this will be done through measures, including, 

- Enhancing the South Pennine Moors landscape,
- Improving the recreational and tourist value of the Pennine Way and Pennine 

Bridleway 
- Supporting agriculture and other appropriate activities which help to sustain 

economic activity, whilst maintaining and improving the appearance and rural 
character of the boroughs countryside. 

Within the ES it is acknowledged that the development has the potential to affect the socio-
economic conditions in each of the three main phases of its life-cycle, namely:

- Development, manufacture, assembly and commissioning
- Operating and maintenance, and
- Repowering or decommissioning

It is also stated that for each of these phases, the development has the potential to affect 
economic conditions through three main economic effects:

- Direct economic impacts: jobs (measured as full time equivalents or FTEs) and 
wealth (measured as gross value added or GVA) that are wholly or largely related to 
the construction, operation and decommissioning of the proposed development and 
generated in the study impact areas.

- Indirect economic impacts. FTE jobs and GVA generated in the economy of the 
study impact areas in the chain of suppliers of goods and services to the direct 
activities; and

- Induced economic impacts: FTE jobs and GVA supported by direct and indirect 
employees’ expenditure in the study impact areas. 

Assessing the magnitude of impact it has been assessed that during the construction period 
the development would create the equivalent of 51 person years of employment in the local 
area and 238 person years of employment at the sub-regional level (this figure includes the 
51 person years at local area). The direct employment opportunities created with the 
development would also be in a relatively small number of employment sectors, namely 
manufacturing, engineering, construction, transportation and professional services. The 
areas where it is assumed that locally sourced labour will contribute the most includes 
landscaping and other environmental works and civils (including site preparation, 
foundations, access roads and buildings). 



In addition to the above the ES estimates that the GVA impacts from construction activity 
would be £2.6m at a local level and £11.3m at a sub-regional level (figure includes local 
figure). This would be a negligible increase in GVA and be of minor significance where 
assessing the overall impacts.

Outside of the construction period the direct employment associated with the development 
would be minimal with only one FTE position generated that would be located off-site. Other 
operational employment opportunities would be supported through supply chain and induced 
expenditure effects, with an equivalent of 18 FTE position created across the sub-regional 
level and 4 FTE positions created at the local level. 

In terms of GVA created by direct employment this would be minimal and equate to £0.2m at 
the local level and £1.7m (inclusive of the £0.2m) at the sub-regional level. These figures 
would be of minor significance. 

In regards to the above economic and employment figures it is recognised that these would 
be minimal. As such the longer term economic benefits to the area would be through any 
Community Benefit Fund and some uplift in Business Rates. With regards to Business 
Rates, this matter is material to the consideration of the application and can be awarded 
limited weight. However, any Community Benefit Fund is voluntary and is purely at the 
bequest of the applicant. This matter is therefore not part of the planning application and 
cannot be considered in part of the assessment of acceptability. 

In respect of the impact on recreation and tourism, as previously stated it is considered that 
these impacts would be most severe in Rossendale, where the proposal is likely to  have a 
greater impact on rights of way. Nonetheless, consideration has been given to the 
representations received and it is recognised that the objectors envisage that the 
development would discourage recreational users from using rights of way in the area (and 
in particular Rooley Moor Road which is sited away from the two Rochdale turbines). The 
impact on the rights of way in Rochdale has been assessed earlier in the report as 
acceptable. The objectors however consider that the impacts on rights of way would have 
wider reaching effects and adversely affect businesses that are reliant on their continued use 
as a recreational resource.

In particular the objections reference the impact that the local horse economy has on the 
area and following surveys that were undertaken for the neighbouring Rooley Moor proposal 
(but also submitted for this application) by the Rochdale Bury Bridleways Association, the 
objectors state that 19 riders in the Rooley Moor area have indicated that they would 
possibly leave the area should the wind farm be built, and this would result in a direct loss to 
the local economy of £102,600. This value is calculated from the estimated average costs of; 
livery, fodder, bedding, hard feed, farrier, veterinary treatment and insurance.  

The objectors also reference the potential losses to associated business in the area and 
consider the following to also be affected; tack shops, clothing (equestrian related) shops, 
transport, maintenance and service, tuition and bridleway maintenance. A specific case 
study of Lane Head Livery Stables is also provided and it is stated that “most clients 
indicated that they would move yards if the wind farm is built. This would mean that the yard 
manager would lose her job.”

In addition to the businesses directly related to equestrian, the objection from Rochdale Bury 
Bridleways Association states that “Many farms have diversified and offer B&B to horses and 
riders tackling the Mary Towneley Loop. Since 2002, when the Mary Towneley Loop opened, 
there has been an average of 150 riders visiting the B&Bs from May to September. This 
generates some £10k of business per farm, a substantial income for these small farms.” 



Given the assessment provided under the Rights of Way section of the report, it is 
considered that the development in Rochdale would not unduly impact on the use and 
enjoyment of rights of way in area, although it is recognised that Rossendale will need to 
make their own assessment in this regard. Nonetheless, given the minimal impact on rights 
of way in Rochdale and the likely impact of the development it is considered that the impact 
on tourism in the area is a personal one, based on an individual’s view of wind farms which 
would range from very anti to very pro. On this basis it is considered that a negative impact 
on the local economy and local businesses cannot be adequately substantiated. As such, 
while the concerns in this regard are fully recognised, it is considered that on balance, the 
impacts generated could not be proven to adversely impact on the local rural economy. A 
reason for refusal on these grounds could not as such be justified. 

In light of the above it is considered that the socio-economic benefits of the development are 
likely to be neutral. The neutral impacts on the economy would not alter the planning 
balance when considering the application in the round. 

Land use

A major matter of land use has been assessed above in the section entitled Public Rights of 
Way. It is also noted that objections received raise concerns over anti-social behaviour, with 
fears that the development would increase access for illegitimate users of the moor. In 
respect to the development in Rochdale, it is considered that the development would not 
increase access to a level where significant harmful anti-social effects could be identified. 
Nonetheless, monitoring of the site as proposed in the MRMP would provide a preventative 
measure to anti-social behaviour. This matter is therefore considered to be acceptable.

The outstanding matter of land use relates to the agricultural use of the land. However, as 
the agricultural use falls under Common Land, the impacts from this will be dealt with 
through any Commons Land Application and are therefore not a matter for consideration 
under the current planning application. 

Telecommunications

For the purposes of this report ‘telecommunications systems’ includes radio, television and 
mobile phone signals. 

The National Planning Policy Framework states:-

Local planning authorities… should ensure that they have considered the possibility of the 
construction of new buildings or other structures interfering with broadcast and 
telecommunications services.

Policy EM/14 of the adopted Rochdale Unitary Development Plan states that wind farm 
developments will be supported provided they meet certain criteria, including that the 
proposal would not result in electro-magnetic interference with local television reception and 
specialist radio communication networks.

Policy G3 of the draft Rochdale Core Strategy states that any harm to local residents and 
their amenity should be minimised and appropriately mitigated.

Any large structure, whether stationary or moving, in the vicinity of a beam path between a 
receiver and transmitter of electronic signals may interfere with those signals and degrade 
the performance of the telecommunication system. Both communications systems where the 
signal is broadcast from a fixed transmitted over an area with dispersed receptors can be 
affected, as can fixed links where the signal is broadcast from one fixed transmitter to 



another. As well as blocking a signal, a wind turbine may passively reflect a signal, leading 
to an effect called ‘ghosting’. As it is the turbines, rather than any of the ancillary 
development which are most likely to cause interference with telecommunications systems, 
the effects will be felt only during the operational phase and for a short time during the 
construction phase between the erection of a turbine and it being brought into operation. 

Analogue television technology was seriously affected by signal reflections created by wind 
turbines which can give rise to ‘ghosting’. Digital television signals do not suffer from 
ghosting and switchover to digital technology was completed in 2012. Where digital signals 
are weak, however, reflected signals can still be an issue.   

Radio signals are rarely reported as having interference caused by wind farm structures. 
DAB radio is not affected by signal reflections and the relatively low frequencies on which 
radio operates tend to pass through obstructions more easily. 

With respect to fixed links, a wind turbine may degrade the performance of a fixed link not 
only if it is within the line of sight of the link but also if it is within a certain lateral distance of 
the link. 

Mitigation

The turbine layout has been designed to avoid impacts on fixed links and broadcast 
telecommunication signals. The mobile phone operators and other stakeholders were 
consulted by the developer prior to the submission of the planning application and confirmed 
that they raised no objection to the layout of the wind farm. They had already provided 
information on the location of transmitters and buffer zones which had informed the location 
of the turbines. 

With respect to television reception, the switch to digital television reduces the risk of 
interference taking place. It is, nevertheless, impossible to rule out the possibility that 
television reception will be affected by the wind farm development. The developer has 
therefore committed to mitigate any deterioration identified provided any complaints about 
impacts are made within a period of one year from the first operation of the wind farm; after 
this period it is unlikely that the wind farm is the cause of any deterioration in reception. Prior 
to the wind farm being brought into use a television reception survey will be carried out to 
establish baseline conditions.

Mitigation for affected television reception could be one or more of the following:-

 Re-orientation of existing aerials to an alternative transmitter;
 Supply of directional aerials to mildly affected properties; or
 Provision of cable or satellite television (which cannot be affected by the turbines).

The requirement for a baseline survey and mitigation measures to be put into place where 
necessary could be secured by a suitably worded planning condition or conditions. This is a 
commonplace way of dealing with potential issues of television interference which cannot be 
clearly identified until a wind farm is constructed and operational. This issue is not 
considered to constitute a reason to resist the proposals, were they acceptable in all other 
respects.

Air traffic

The National Planning Policy Framework states:-



In determining planning applications for [wind energy] development, planning authorities 
should follow the approach set out in the National Policy Statement for Renewable Energy 
Infrastructure (read with the relevant sections of the Overarching National Policy Statement 
for Energy Infrastructure, including aviation impacts.

The Overarching National Policy Statement for Energy (EN-1) states that it is essential that 
the safety of UK aerodromes, aircraft and airspace is not adversely affected by new energy 
infrastructure. Certain civil aerodromes and aviation technical sites, selected on the basis of 
their importance to the national air transport system, are officially safeguarded in order to 
ensure their safety and operation are not compromised by new development. A similar 
official safeguarding system applies to certain military aerodromes and defence assets, 
selected on the basis of their strategic importance. Safe and efficient operations within UK 
airspace is dependent upon communications, navigation and surveillance (CNS) 
infrastructure, including radar. 

It continues by stating that energy infrastructure development may interfere with the 
operation of CNS systems such as radar. It can also act as a reflector or diffractor of radio 
signals upon which Air Traffic Control Services rely (an effect which is particular likely to 
arise when large structures, such as wind turbines, are located in close proximity to 
Communications and Navigation Aids and technical sites). Wind turbines may also cause 
false returns when built in line of sight to Primary or Secondary Surveillance radar 
installations. Other operational defence assets may be affected by new development such 
as meteorological radars. It is important that new energy infrastructure does not significantly 
impede or compromise the safe and effective use of any defence assets.

Certain aerodromes, radar stations and aeronautical radio communication and navigation 
facilities are statutorily safeguarded under the provisions of the Town and Country Planning 
(Safeguarded Aerodromes, Technical Sites and Military Explosive Storage Areas) Direction 
2002.

Wind turbines located in areas close to airfields, or where certain types of low flying training 
are carried out, may pose a vertical obstruction hazard to aircraft. Wind turbines located 
within line of site and operational range of air traffic control or air defence radar equipment 
can present a similar appearance to aircraft on the radar screen. There is also some 
potential for reduction of a radar’s ability to detect and track aircraft in the area behind or 
above a wind turbine. Meteorological radars can also be affected in a similar way. 
Aeronautical radio navigation aids may be affected by wind turbines due to reflection or 
scattering of the signal by the blades and towers. 

There are a number of aviation and meteorological radar stations which could be affected by 
the proposals:-

 Claxby Radar
 Clee Hill Radar
 Debden Radar
 Great Denn Fell Radar
 Lowther Hill Radar
 St Annes Radar
 Manchester Combined

The Local Planning Authority relies on consultation responses from National Air Traffic 
Control Service (NATS), the Ministry of Defence (MOD) and Manchester Airport to establish 
the appropriate safeguarding measures have been put in place to prevent any risk to aircraft.



Manchester Airport

Initially Manchester Airport objected to the application on aviation safety grounds. However 
following discussions with the applicant Manchester Airport have agreed to withdraw its 
objections subject to a suitable condition to deliver a radar mitigation option that would 
address the anticipated safety and operational impacts of the development on Manchester 
Airport and aircraft operations. 

The resolution to agree a planning condition only came following detailed discussions 
regarding the potential impact of the proposed development on operations at Manchester 
Airport and the possibility of implementing a radar mitigation scheme that would address the 
airports safety and operational requirements. It has been agreed between Manchester 
Airport and the developers that any mitigation scheme would be provided at the cost of the 
applicant and the concerns as originally raised by the airport are adequately addressed 
through the suggested condition.

Met Office

Following discussions with the applicant and the Met Office a legal agreement relating to the 
Met Offices required mitigation has been agreed and completed. As such the Met Office 
have no objections to the development. 

NATS

Initially NATS also objected to the application with concerns over the impact on Prestwich 
Centre ATC and RDP Asset Management. However, since their original objection an 
agreement has been entered into between NERL and the developer for the agreement of 
suitable planning conditions and the implementation of an identified and defined solution in 
relation to the development that will be implemented under agreement. In summary, such 
mitigation solution will require works to be carried out to NERL’s infrastructure and 
comprises blanking of the radars at Manchester and St Annes leading to an increased 
reliance on other radar within the NERL multi-tracking system. 

As suitable planning conditions can be imposed in order to mitigate against any previously 
identified harm, NATS is therefore prepared to withdraw its objection to the application. 
These conditions relate to the provision of a Primary Radar Mitigation Scheme and its 
subsequent implementation and operation throughout the life of the wind farm. gushing

Ministry of Defence (MOD) / Defence Infrastructure Organisation (DIO)

The MOD / DIO has objected to the application. This objection is on the grounds of the 
potential of an adverse impact on the Warton radar station and a consequential impact on 
aviation safety whilst a site specific mitigation strategy remains outstanding. Their objection 
is reported in full in the Consultation Responses section of this report.

The MOD has also confirmed that a mitigation strategy was submitted by the applicant, but 
that it was unsuitable and further site-specific mitigation is required. The applicant continues 
to attempt to reach a conclusive position with the MOD and it is understood that further 
information has, or is shortly to be submitted to the MOD by the applicant. It is the Council’s 
experience that negotiations with the MOD can take some time which is understandable 
given the nature of the issues.

Members may recall that an objection was received from the MOD to the adjacent Rooley 
Moor scheme on the same grounds. This was resolved very shortly before the Planning and 
Licensing Committee meeting at which the application was determined. The MOD agreed a 



mitigation scheme and proposed a suitable planning condition and the recommended reason 
for refusal on the grounds of aviation safety was deleted, albeit the scheme was refused for 
the remaining eight reasons. Officers have spoken with the MOD which has confirmed to the 
Council that the issues of concern at Scout Moor are the same as those at Rooley Moor.

Given that the MOD withdrew their objection to the Rooley Moor scheme shortly before the 
Planning and Licensing Committee which determined that application and that it is 
considered, given the advanced stage of negotiations that it is still possible and remains 
likely that the MOD objection to this scheme may be withdrawn before that meeting. 

For that reason, and from information from the applicant in respect of the progress that has 
been made on this issue, Officers have reason to believe that this position will be resolved. 
At the current time it is considered appropriate to include within the recommendation the 
same planning condition as was agreed by the MOD for the Rooley Moor scheme as they 
have confirmed that the issues are the same. It is likely that this condition, or one very 
similar to it, will be agreed by the MOD. Members will be updated verbally on this point at the 
Committee.

Decommissioning

The proposed wind farm is designed to have an operational life of 25 years. It has, however, 
been deemed appropriate for landscape reasons that the two turbines in Rochdale are 
decommissioned at the same time as the existing windfarm, i.e. in 2034. The 
decommissioning will comprise the dismantling and removal of turbines and electrical 
cabling on site. Foundations for turbines and crane pads will be excavated to one metre 
below surface level and the land restored to its former baseline condition as far as possible. 

The precise scope of the decommissioning will be set out in a method statement submitted 
prior to decommissioning works taking place. This can be controlled by an appropriate 
planning condition. Given the period of time before decommissioning takes place, it is 
considered appropriate to leave this as open as is reasonably possible, in order that 
changes in technology or approach can be incorporated without the need to vary the 
condition. Additionally, it may be that some of the network of access tracks are considered 
appropriate to retain in order to maintain recreational access onto the moor.

Ass has been relatively consistent in other large scale wind turbine developments in the area 
of this complexity, scale and nature the Council would look to protect its position in the event 
of decommissioning and restoration default for any reason. This would require the local 
planning authority to carry out ‘works in default’ to decommission the wind farm i.e. carry it 
out at their expense. In order to prevent this possibility, costing the Council a substantive 
sum of money, a bond is proposed, secured through an agreement outside of the planning 
process which would allow the Council to draw down the monies required to decommission 
the wind farm. In these circumstances, this matter can be secured by a suitable planning 
condition in order that certain legal mechanisms are in place before development gets 
underway.

Green Belt

As identified earlier in the Analysis section, the development comprises built development, 
engineering and other operations, which, with the exception of the works in association with 
the Moorland Restoration Management Plan (MRMP), as proposed in the ES and as will be 
updated and consolidated through compliance with detailed conditions, comprise 
inappropriate development in the Green Belt as identified either explicitly, or by their 
absence in Paragraphs 89, 90 and 91 of the National Planning Policy Framework. There is 
no doubt given the scale and nature of the development that it would have an impact on the 



openness of the Green Belt and would be contrary to the purposes of including land within it, 
representing encroachment into the countryside. The Council’s development plan policies in 
respect of Green Belt are out of date in specific respects, but like the NPPF, require 
inappropriate development in the Green Belt to demonstrate very special circumstances 
which would outweigh the identified harm to the Green Belt if it is to proceed. Therefore the 
development plan policies in respect of the Green Belt are in conformity with the NPPF for 
the purposes of this planning application. 

Green Belt Harm

 Openness

There would clearly be some impact on the openness of the Green Belt as openness is 
defined as an absence of built development, as opposed to any impact on the visual amenity 
of the Green Belt. However, the development within Rochdale comprises two turbines and 
access tracks, which would be seen in the context of the existing wind farm, which already 
has a significant impact on openness. A condition is proposed to ensure that the turbines are 
decommissioned at the same time as the existing wind farm, for landscape reasons, but 
which assists in reducing the impact on openness. It would be difficult to pinpoint the 
additional development once implemented and therefore the impact on openness would be 
relatively limited, despite the scale of the development.
 
 Purposes of including land within the Green Belt

There are five purposes of the Green Belt set out in Paragraph 80 of the National Planning 
Policy Framework. Of these, it is considered that this development would only be contrary to 
one, that of ‘to assist in the safeguarding of the countryside from development’. There would 
be some encroachment into the Green Belt from the turbines and access tracks. However, 
given the existing wind farm also significantly encroaches into the Green Belt this additional 
development is minimal in comparison and would have a limited additional impact. It would 
also not set a precedent for further encroachment into the Green Belt in the area from 
different types of development, particularly as the urban edge is some distance away. 

Nevertheless, it should also be noted that the harm to the Green Belt would be temporary 
(albeit over 19 years) and that the turbines would be removed and the land would be 
restored following decommissioning. 

‘Any other harm’

All potential ‘non-Green Belt harm’ has been identified and considered in the Analysis 
section above. This concludes in each case that the development either causes no harm to a 
particular interest, or where harm is identified it can be successfully mitigated against by the 
use of suitable planning conditions, which in some cases provide an overall enhancement. It 
is considered that the weight to be given to ‘any other harm’ is therefore minimal.

Very special circumstances

The applicant acknowledges the position in respect of the Green Belt and has put forward 
the very special circumstances that they consider would outweigh the harm to the Green 
Belt. Paragraph 91 of the NPPF states that very special circumstances may include the 
wider environmental benefits associated with increased production of energy from renewable 
sources. The very special circumstances put forward by the applicant are as follows:-

1) Contribution to ensuring future national security of energy supplies;



 There is a statutory obligation to ensure that at least 15% of the UK’s energy 
is derived from renewable sources by 2020.

 It is estimated that 22GW of existing electricity capacity will need to be 
replaced in the period to 2020 due to the Large Combustion Plant Directive.

 It is estimated that 25% of the UK’s energy generating capacity is to close by 
2018.

 10GW of nuclear capacity is to close over the next 20 years.
 A requirement of 59GW of new capacity to 2025 (with at least 33 GW coming 

from renewable sources)

2) Contribution to decarbonisation of the economy and the meeting of statutory 
obligations with regard to the required reduction of CO2 emissions;

 Over the development’s 25 year operational life it would (once it had paid 
back its carbon debt from manufacture, construction, etc) over 22 years of 
clean, carbon free electricity which would result in expected carbon dioxide 
savings of 1.10 million tonnes.

 The proposed development has the potential to make a significant 
contribution towards the reduction of greenhouse gas emissions from energy 
generation.

3) The restoration of a substantial area of severely degraded peat moorland through the 
implementation of a Moorland Restoration and Management Plan.

In respect of nos. 1) and 2) above Paragraph 91 of the NPPF states that very special 
circumstances may include the wider environmental benefits associated with increased 
production of energy from renewable sources. Paragraph 98 of the NPPF states that 
applicants for energy development should not be required to demonstrate the overall need 
for renewable or low carbon energy. The matters set out in nos. 1) and 2) above should 
therefore be taken as given and weigh positively in favour of approving the development. 

In respect of no 3) above the MRMP is an integral part of the proposed development, albeit 
its area extends beyond the site edged red. It relates to an area of c.900 hectares of land 
(across the whole of the development site), of which approximately 527 hectares are in 
Rochdale (and also in the Green Belt). The MRMP itself is not considered to be 
inappropriate development in the Green Belt as in part it is not development and where it is it 
would not impact upon openness or the purposes of including land within the Green Belt.

The moorland is in very poor condition with a lack of plant diversity. The peat erosion has 
been caused in the main by overgrazing, burning and illegal off-roading. There is a relative 
absence of active peat with none fully functional and just over 30% of the area possibly 
active. Much of the peat in the plan area does not function hydrologically and is not acting as 
a peat sink, thus probably releasing more carbon dioxide to the area than it is capturing. 
There are high levels of bare peat and evidence of peat pans, strongly indicative of poor 
habitat condition. Bare peat also releases sediment to run off which releases to 
watercourses and into reservoirs which is evident below Scout Moor.

The MRMP proposes three main elements: the reduction or temporary removal of grazing 
stock; the employment of a Conservation Ranger and the application of various measures to 
stabilise, re-wet and revegetate peat. Detailed negotiations have taken place between the 
applicant and the graziers and in principle agreements have been reached with relevant 
parties such that the target stocking level of 700 (13 times less than currently takes place) 
can be achieved. It is proposed to temporarily exclude stock through the erection of fencing, 



around the more severely degraded areas of peat in five ‘target’ areas. These areas would 
be restored on a rolling programme. 

It is also proposed that a Conservation Ranger would be employed primarily to manage and 
monitor implementation of the MRMP, ensuring the fencing remained in place, ensuring 
compliance with reduced stocking levels and reporting illegal off-roading to the relevant 
authorities as appropriate. They would also be a point of liaison with the local community. 

The Conservation Ranger post has been proposed to address legitimate concern that the 
previous peat restoration measures put forward as part of the existing Scout Moor wind farm 
proposals were not successful. The main reason for this was not the techniques themselves, 
but the difficulty in monitoring and management of the peat restoration. Fences were cut and 
overgrazing continued without a daily presence on the moor to prevent this. 

The MRMP would also implement a variety of restoration measures to re-establish 
vegetation, diversity habitat and re-wet the peatland as far as possible. 

The applicant has put forward the following benefits of the MRMP:-

 enhancement of the biodiversity of the blanket bog and acid grassland vegetation 
through removing bare ground/peat, increasing species richness and thus the 
opportunities for a wider range of animals;

 improvements to the water quality draining off the moors into the surrounding 
streams, with benefits to the water treatment works and to aquatic invertebrates in 
the stream. This would be of value to the operators of the reservoirs fed from much of 
the plan area, as well as to the wider biodiversity of the streams;

  improvement to the forage quality and productivity of the vegetation of the Plan area 
so that it could support more stock in the future in a more sustainable way.

  increased resilience of the vegetation to wildfire and facilitation of carbon 
sequestration, both through re-wetting the peat where possible.

 reduction in the loss of carbon through peat erosion, peat decay and sediment in the 
streams, thus contributing to climate change objectives.

 improvement in the appearance and amenity value of the Plan area for public 
enjoyment through having more plant species, more flowers and seeds, less bare 
eroding peat, and more wildlife to see, and

 improvements in water catchment characteristics through reduced flows and runoff 
rates off the site, thus minimising any contribution to downstream flooding.

Extensive discussions have taken place with the applicant about how the MRMP can be 
secured by appropriate planning conditions and it is considered that suitable conditions 
could be imposed which would enable the Council to take enforcement action should the 
MRMP not be being implemented properly. This was not the case with the existing Scout 
Moor wind farm where enforcement action has not been expedient or in many cases 
possible.

It is agreed that the MRMP would bring significant benefits to the moorland and that these 
benefits can be secured by appropriate planning conditions. It is also acknowledged that 
these benefits would not arise if the wind farm development did not proceed. Proportionally, 
Rochdale has far more MRMP land (more than half the total) than number of turbines (one 
eighth of the total) and therefore the benefits of the MRMP when weighed against the harm 
to the Green Belt from the turbines is substantive.

It is therefore considered that the MRMP weighs significantly in favour of the development 
and alone constitutes the ‘very special circumstances’ required to outweigh the identified 



harm to the Green Belt. When combined with the benefits to energy security and carbon 
reduction, which also weigh in favour of the development, the argument becomes 
compelling.

Ministerial Statement (June 2015) - addressing the ‘planning impacts’

As explained above, the Ministerial Statement cannot be given greater weight than either the 
development plan or the NPPF when determining planning applications. The law requires 
the development plan to be the starting point for planning decisions as identified above. The 
NPPF is an important material consideration and the formal expression of the government’s 
planning policy. Nevertheless, the Ministerial Statement needs to be given some weight in 
the consideration of this application, particularly as it makes specific reference to 
applications for wind energy development already submitted to Local Planning Authorities.

It states:-

‘where a valid planning application for a wind energy development has already been 
submitted to a local planning authority and the development plan does not identify suitable 
sites, the following transitional provision applies. In such instances, local planning authorities 
can find the proposal acceptable if, following consultation, they are satisfied it has addressed 
the planning impacts identified by local communities and therefore has their backing’.
and:

‘whether a proposal has the backing of the affected local community is a planning judgement 
for the local planning authority’

The Council has taken legal advice on the application of this. It should be clearly understood 
that at the time of writing there is no clarification on what some of the words in the above 
statement actually mean. Nevertheless, on an objective reading, the Council has no reason 
to doubt that it adheres to the requirements of the Ministerial Statement in its assessment 
and determination of this application. 

The Council has consulted in full accordance with the law on both the original Environmental 
Statement and the Further Environmental Information. 32 representations have been 
received objecting to the application which raise ‘planning impacts’ and which are 
summarised earlier in this report. The Analysis section of this report identifies how these 
planning impacts have been addressed. For each of the ‘planning impacts’ identified (other 
than Green Belt) it is considered that either no harm would arise or any harm could be 
mitigated by the use of suitable planning conditions. This must, in the Council’s reasonable 
view in construing the requirements of the Ministerial Statement, mean the planning impacts 
have been addressed. 

The reference to ‘planning impacts’ in the Ministerial Statement must also include the impact 
on the Green Belt. It does not and cannot supersede the NPPF or the development plan 
when weighing up whether very special circumstances outweigh the harm to the Green Belt.  
Therefore, if very special circumstances are demonstrated then the ‘planning impacts’ in 
respect of Green Belt must similarly have been addressed. 

It is of course clear from the Ministerial Statement that ‘whether a proposal has the backing 
of the affected local community is a planning judgement for the local planning authority’ On 
initial reading, it could be construed that this would be a matter of the local community 
explicitly accepting the proposal following matters being “addressed”. However, it appears 
that this is not the case. It is clear and reasonable to conclude that the words: “In such 
instances, local planning authorities can find the proposal acceptable if, following 
consultation, they are satisfied it has addressed the planning impacts identified by local 



communities and therefore has their backing” (emphasis added) would lead to the logical 
position that it must be accepted that where planning impacts have been addressed, or can 
be addressed through the imposition of suitable planning conditions, the reasonable 
conclusion is that it must have the backing of the local community (which the Council notes 
is also not actually defined) whether or not this information is received directly from members 
of the local community. The law in respect of the materiality of weight of planning objection, 
or number of objections received to a proposal, has not changed as a result of the Ministerial 
Statement.  It would still be unlawful to refuse a planning application only on the grounds that 
members of a local community have expressed their objections to that proposal.  

It is therefore considered that very special circumstances have been identified which would 
outweigh the harm to the Green Belt and other considerations either do not cause harm or 
that harm could be mitigated by suitable planning conditions. The proposal accords with the 
development plan, and where that is out of date, the NPPF. The planning impacts identified 
by the local community have therefore been addressed. When considering the planning 
balance, officers find that the proposal has the backing of the local community. The Local 
Planning Authority can therefore find the proposal acceptable.

OVERALL SUMMARY, PLANNING BALANCE AND CONCLUSIONS

The National Planning Policy Framework, the adopted Rochdale Unitary Development Plan 
and the emerging Draft Core Strategy contain positive policies in respect of the provision of 
wind energy development. The National Planning Policy Framework also contains at its 
heart a presumption in favour of sustainable development. Nevertheless, that presumption 
can be set aside where the adverse impacts of granting planning permission significantly 
and demonstrably outweigh the benefits. 

Members are reminded that only two turbines of the 16 turbine scheme are in Rochdale and 
therefore form the basis of any decision. The other 14 turbines are in Rossendale and it is 
for Rossendale to determine their acceptability through the identical planning application 
which is currently under consideration at that authority. Any approval of planning permission 
relates to the two turbines in Rochdale only. 

It is considered, when weighing all relevant matters in the planning balance, that the 
presumption in favour of sustainable development should apply. The applicant has 
demonstrated very special circumstances (Moorland Restoration Management Plan, energy 
security and carbon reduction) which are considered to outweigh the identified harm to the 
Green Belt and any other harm. All other planning matters identified either do not cause 
harm or the harm can be mitigated through suitable planning conditions.  The ‘planning 
impacts’ have been addressed and therefore the proposals have the backing of the local 
community. The proposals comply with the development plan, and where that is out of date, 
the National Planning Policy Framework. The application is therefore recommended for 
approval. 

RECOMMENDATION

(i) That Members resolve that they would be minded to GRANT planning permission for 
the development and that the application be deferred and delegated to the Head of 
Planning for referral to the Secretary of State for Communities and Local Government 
for his consideration as to whether the application should be called in for his own 
determination; and 



(ii) That on referral to the Secretary of State he be informed of the resolution of the Local 
Planning Authority to grant planning permission and that the grant of planning 
permission would be subject to the following conditions [substantially in this form]:-

1. The development must be begun not later than the expiration of three years 
beginning with the date of this permission.

Reason: To comply with the requirements of section 91 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990 as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004.

2. This permission relates to the following plans:- 

Application Site and Administrative Boundaries – Drawing no. ES/001 – Received 
30th March 2015
Proposed Layout Master Plan – Drawing no. ES/002 – Received 30th March 2015
Proposed Layout North Inset – Drawing no. ES/003 – Received 30th March 2015
Proposed Layout West Inset – Drawing no. ES/004 – Received 30th March 2015
Proposed Layout East Inset – Drawing no. ES/005 – Received 30th March 2015
Retained Infrastructure between 2034 and 2042 – Drawing no. ES/012 – Received 
30th March 2015
Proposed Anemometer Mast – Drawing no. ES/014 – Received 30th March 2015
Proposed Substation Elevations – Drawing no. ES/016 – Received 30th March 2015
Proposed Permissive Bridleway – Drawing no. ES/019 – Received 30th March 2015
Proposed Connections between the New and Existing Access Tracks – Drawing no. 
ES/020 – Received 30th March 2015
Design and Access Statement – Received 30th April 2015
Planning Statement – Received 30th April 2015
Statement of Community Engagement – Received 30th April 2015
Environmental Statement and all associated documents and appendices – Received 
30th March 2015
Further Environmental Information – Received 9th July 2015
Letter in response JBA comments – Received 20th July 2015
Further Information Regarding the Daytime Noise Limit – Doc ref. 2387_N07_EXT2 
30th July 2015 – Received 12th August 2015
Further Information Regarding the Daytime Noise Limit – Doc ref. 2387_N07_EXT2 
7th August 2015 – Received 12th August 2015

and the development shall be carried out in complete accordance with these 
drawings and documents hereby approved.

Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure a satisfactory standard of 
development in accordance with the policies contained within the adopted Rochdale 
Unitary Development Plan and the National Planning Policy Framework.

3. The Moorland Restoration and Management Plan (MRMP) shall (subject to the 
provisions of Condition 4 and Condition 5) be implemented in accordance with the 
details presented within Appendix 5.2 to the Environmental Statement (ES) dated 
March 2015 and associated Further Environmental Information (FEI) dated 9th July 
2015. No development shall take place unless and until a detailed implementation 
strategy for each phase of the MRMP and a detailed strategy for the monitoring and 
management of habitats and features within the MRMP area (as identified in the said 
ES and FEI) during the 25 year operational period of the development has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The MRMP and 
approved details for habitat and features monitoring and management shall then be 



implemented thereafter in accordance with the approved detailed implementation 
strategy unless otherwise varied pursuant to Condition 4 or Condition 5.

Reason: To ensure adequate management of the moorland in the interests of 
ecological and environmental management, to ensure measures are implemented 
which comprise the ‘very special circumstances’ required to outweigh the identified 
harm to the Green Belt and to accord with policies G/D/2, G/EM/12, EM/14, G/NE/1, 
NE/3, NE/4, G/NE/5 and NE/6 of the Rochdale Unitary Development Plan and policy 
contained within the National Planning Policy Framework. 

4. Notwithstanding the provisions of Condition 3, a review of the final details of the 
Moorland Restoration and Management Plan (MRMP) as identified in Condition 3  
shall be submitted to the local planning authority and if in the opinion of the local 
planning authority or otherwise it is necessary the MRMP shall be updated and 
resubmitted for approval in writing by the local planning authority prior to the 
development first taking place and the development shall not take place unless and 
until the local planning authority shall have provided such approval of the updated 
MRMP in writing.

Reason: To ensure adequate management of the moorland in the interests of 
ecological and environmental management, to ensure measures are implemented 
which comprise the ‘very special circumstances’ required to outweigh the identified 
harm to the Green Belt and to accord with policies G/D/2, G/EM/12, EM/14, G/NE/1, 
NE/3, NE/4, G/NE/5 and NE/6 of the Rochdale Unitary Development Plan and policy 
contained within the National Planning Policy Framework. 

5. The Moorland Restoration and Management Plan (MRMP) and associated 
implementation strategy including details for habitat and features monitoring and 
management detailed in Condition 3 and Condition 4 may if found to be necessary by 
the local planning authority or otherwise at any time during the lifetime of the 
development in accordance with this planning permission (but for the purpose of this 
condition not including any decommissioning operations) be updated, resubmitted to 
and approved in writing by the local planning authority. Once approved in writing by 
the local planning authority these revised proposals shall be implemented as 
amended or updated but for the avoidance of any doubt where no such written 
approval is provided by the local planning authority then the most recent MRMP and 
detailed implementation strategy that has been approved in writing by the local 
planning authority shall continue to apply.

Reason: To ensure adequate management of the moorland in the interests of 
ecological and environmental management, to ensure measures are implemented 
which comprise the ‘very special circumstances’ required to outweigh the identified 
harm to the Green Belt and to accord with policies G/D/2, G/EM/12, EM/14, G/NE/1, 
NE/3, NE/4, G/NE/5 and NE/6 of the Rochdale Unitary Development Plan and policy 
contained within the National Planning Policy Framework. 

6. The construction of the development hereby approved shall be undertaken in full 
accordance with the provisions of the Construction Environment Management Plan 
(CEMP) in accordance with the details presented in the Environmental Statement 
(ES) dated March 2015 and associated Further Environmental Information (FEI) 
dated 9th July 2015 throughout the entirety of the construction period. 

Reason: To ensure adequate site management in the interest of visual amenity, 
ecological and environmental management and to accord with policies G/BE/1, BE/2, 
G/EM/12, EM/14, G/NE/1, NE/2, NE/3, NE/4, G/NE/5, and NE/6 of the Rochdale 



Unitary Development and policy contained within the National Planning Policy 
Framework. 

7. Plans confirming the method of construction for each section of new access track 
hereby permitted shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority prior to the construction of the turbine access tracks first taking place. 
Construction of new ‘floating’ and ‘cut’ access tracks and widening of any existing 
access tracks shall be completed in accordance with the details provided in Figure 
5.9 of the Environmental Statement. The development shall be undertaken in 
accordance with the approved details and the construction of the tracks shall 
thereafter be retained as such throughout the lifetime of the development. 

Reason: To ensure adequate access across the development site and in the 
interests of ecological and environmental management and to accord with policies 
G/EM/12, EM/14, G/NE/1, NE/2, NE/3, NE/4, G/NE/5, and NE/6 of the Rochdale 
Unitary Development Plan and policy contained within the National Planning Policy 
Framework. 

8. Plans confirming the detailed design of the wind turbine foundations and crane pads 
to be utilised at each turbine location hereby approved shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to the construction of the 
wind turbine foundations and crane pads. The development shall thereafter be 
undertaken in accordance with the approved details and be retained as such 
throughout the lifetime of the development. 

Reason: In the interests of visual amenity, ecological and landscape protection and 
to accord with policies G/EM/12, EM/14, G/NE/1, NE/2, NE/3, NE/4, G/NE/5 and 
NE/6 of the Rochdale Unitary Development Plan and policy contained within the 
National Planning Policy Framework. 

9. The wind turbines, access tracks and other ancillary infrastructure shall be erected at 
or within 30 metres in any direction of the locations shown in Figures 5.1b, 5.1c and 
5.1d of the Environment Statement dated March 2015 and hereby approved. For the 
avoidance of doubt the micrositing of any aspect of the development shall not lead to 
an increase in the area of ground covered by the development. An ‘as constructed’ 
site layout plan shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority within 6 months of 
the completion of construction.

Reason: In the interests of ecological, environmental and landscape protection, to 
allow for minor adjustments dependent on ground conditions and to accord with 
policies G/EM/12, EM/14, G/NE/1, NE/2, NE/3, NE/4, G/NE/5 and NE/6 of the 
Rochdale Unitary Development Plan and policy contained within the National 
Planning Policy Framework. 

10. The wind turbines hereby approved shall have a maximum height to blade tip of 115 
metres when measured from the base of the turbine. Any repair or replacement of 
the turbines in whole or in part shall not lead to an increase in height of any turbine 
which shall remain at 115 metres throughout the lifetime of the development.

Reason: In the interests of visual amenity and landscape protection and to accord 
with policies G/BE/1, BE/2, G/NE/5 and NE/6 of the Rochdale Unitary Development 
Plan and policy contained within the National Planning Policy Framework. 



11.  All wind turbine blades within the development shall rotate in the same direction, 
both individually and as a group, throughout the lifetime of the development and in 
the same direction as the existing Scout Moor Wind Farm.

Reason: In the interests of visual amenity and landscape protection and to accord 
with policies G/BE/1, BE/2, G/EM/12, EM/14, G/NE/5 and NE/6 of the Rochdale 
Unitary Development Plan and policy contained within the National Planning Policy 
Framework. 

12.  All cabling installed within the application site shall be installed underground. The 
laying of underground electrical cabling within the application site shall be completed 
in accordance with the provision of the Construction Environment Management Plan 
(CEMP) and the principles presented in the Environmental Statement, Paragraph 
18.369 and shall be retained as such throughout the lifetime of the development.

Reason: In the interests of visual amenity and landscape, ecological and 
environmental protection and to accord with policies G/BE/1, BE/2, G/EM/12, EM/14, 
G/NE/1, NE/2, NE/3, NE/4, G/NE/5 and NE/6 of the Rochdale Unitary Development 
Plan and policy contained within the National Planning Policy Framework. 

13.  The Local Authority shall be informed in writing of the date when the electricity from 
the development hereby approved is first exported to the local electricity grid network 
(the ‘export date’) (excluding generation to the grid required for testing during 
commissioning of the connection), , no later than 14 days after the export date. 

Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure that decommissioning is carried 
out in a timely manner and to accord with policies G/BE/1, BE/2, G/EM/12, EM/14,  
G/NE/1, NE/2, NE/3, NE/4, G/NE/5 and NE/6 of the Rochdale Unitary Development 
Plan and the National Planning Policy Framework.

14. The permission hereby approved, in so far as it authorises operation of the turbines, 
which are identified in the approved Environmental Statement as T15 and T16,  shall 
expire no later than the expiration of the Scout Moor Wind Farm Development Phase 
1 (hereafter referred to as the Phase 1 Development) in 2034. Within twelve months 
of the expiration of the Phase 1 Development the two turbines and associated above 
ground infrastructure hereby approved shall be decommissioned and the site shall be 
reinstated in full  accordance with a scheme which shall have been first submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The aforementioned scheme 
shall be submitted not later than the end of the 23rd year of operation of the Phase 1 
Development and the scheme shall include:

 A method statement and timetable for the dismantling and removal of the turbines 
and of associated above ground works and foundations to a depth of at least one 
metre below ground level. 

 A method statement and timetable for the decommissioning of the access tracks, 
or their integration into a network of public paths, if appropriate.

 A method statement setting out details of protected species surveys to be carried 
out and any corresponding mitigation measures that are identified as required to 
inform a decommissioning ecological management plan;

 A traffic management plan; and
 Details of all required restoration works together with a programme of completion 

following removal of the turbines and associated above ground works.

Decommissioning shall be carried out in accordance with the approved scheme.



If the Phase 1 Development is decommissioned prior to 2034, the two turbines and 
associated above ground infrastructure hereby approved shall be decommissioned 
no later than 12 months after the decommissioning of the Phase 1 development and 
all parts of this condition shall be read as though they apply immediately the Phase 1 
development is decommissioned.

Reason: In the interests of visual amenity and landscape, ecological and 
environmental protection and to ensure the two turbines do not appear as outliers 
following decommissioning of the Phase 1 Development and to accord with policies 
G/BE/1, BE/2, G/EM/12, EM/14, G/NE/1, NE/2, NE/3, NE/4, G/NE/5 and NE/6 of the 
Rochdale Unitary Development Plan and policy contained within the National 
Planning Policy Framework. 

15. No wind turbine shall be erected until detailed arrangements to guarantee the 
performance and delivery of the decommissioning and restoration scheme required 
by condition 14 of this planning permission including a performance bond enabling 
the local planning authority to enforce the performance, delivery and coverage of all 
reasonable and proper costs of the  decommissioning and restoration scheme in the 
event of default have been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning 
authority and the local planning authority has written to confirm that those detailed 
arrangements have been implemented.

Reason: To ensure that decommissioning and restoration takes place in a timely and 
acceptable manner and in the interests of visual amenity and landscape, ecological 
and environmental protection and to accord with policies G/BE/1, BE/2, G/EM/12, 
EM/14, G/NE/1, NE/2, NE/3, NE/4, G/NE/5 and NE/6 of the Rochdale Unitary 
Development Plan and policy contained within the National Planning Policy 
Framework. 

16.  If any wind turbine hereby approved fails to produce electricity for supply to the local 
electricity grid network for a continuous period of 12 months from the export date 
then details of a scheme to repair or remove the said turbine shall be submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority within three months of the 
end date of that 12 month period. If the scheme identifies that repairs to the turbine 
are required, the scheme shall include a programme of remedial works that shall be 
undertaken in accordance with a timetable that shall be included within the approved 
scheme and the repair works shall thereafter be undertaken entirely in accordance 
with the details of that approved scheme. If the scheme identifies that removal of the 
turbine is required, the turbine and its associated redundant ancillary equipment shall 
be removed in their entirety within six months from the end date of that 12 month 
period. The scheme for removal shall include a method statement and a timetable for 
the dismantling and removal of the turbine and of associated ground works and 
foundations to a depth of a least one metres below ground level; and the details shall 
include a method statement, details of a protected species survey and any 
corresponding mitigation measures, a traffic management plan and a timetable for 
any required restoration works following removal of the turbine and the removal shall 
thereafter be entirely undertaken in accordance with the approved details. 

Reason: To ensure a redundant turbine does not remain on the site and in the 
interests of visual amenity and landscape, ecological and environmental protection 
and to accord with policies G/BE/1, BE/2, G/EM/12, EM/14, G/NE/1, NE/2, NE/3, 
NE/4, G/NE/5 and NE/6 of the Rochdale Unitary Development Plan and policy 
contained within the National Planning Policy Framework. 



17. Details of the make, model, power rating, warranted sound levels (including tonality), 
appearance, design, colour and finish (which shall be semi-matt) of the turbines 
hereby approved shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority prior to the erection of any turbine on the site. No part of the wind turbine 
shall include any logo or lettering other than that required for health and safety 
purposes or otherwise required by law. The development shall be carried out in full 
accordance with the approved details and be retained as such thereafter. 

Reason: In the interests of visual amenity and landscape and environmental 
protection and to accord with policies G/BE/1, BE/2, G/EM/1, EM/2, EM/3, G/EM/12, 
EM/14, G/NE/5 and NE/6 of the Rochdale Unitary Development Plan. 

18. The rating level of noise imissions from the combined effect of the wind turbines 
(including the application of any tonal penalty) when determined in accordance with 
the Guidance Notes (identified as parts a) to f) of this condition), shall not exceed the 
values for the relevant integer wind speed set out in, or derived from, the tables 
attached to this condition at any dwelling which is lawfully existing or has planning 
permission at the date of this permission and:

a) The wind farm operator shall continuously log power production, wind speed and 
wind direction, all in accordance with Guidance Note (d). This data shall be 
retained for a period of not less than 24 months. The wind farm operator shall 
provide this information in the format set out in Guidance Note (e) to the Local 
Planning Authority on its request, within 14 days receipt in writing of such 
request. 

b) No electricity shall be exported until a list of the proposed independent 
consultants who may undertake compliance measurements in accordance with 
this condition has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. Amendments to the list of approved consultants may only be 
made if the Local Planning Authority has first given its agreement in writing.

c) Within 21 days from receipt of a written request from the Local Planning Authority 
following a complaint to it from an occupant of a dwelling alleging noise 
disturbance at that dwelling, the wind farm operator shall, at its expense, employ 
a consultant approved by the Local Planning Authority to assess the level of 
noise imissions from the wind farm at the complainant’s dwelling in accordance 
with the procedures described in the attached Guidance Notes. The written 
request from the Local Planning Authority shall set out at least; the date, time and 
location that the complaint relates to and any atmospheric conditions, including 
wind direction that the complainant has identified. 

d) The assessment of the rating level of noise imissions shall be undertaken in 
accordance with an assessment protocol that shall, prior to the commencement 
of any measurements, be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The protocol shall include the proposed measurement 
location identified in accordance with the Guidance Notes where measurements 
for compliance checking purposes shall be undertaken and also the range of 
meteorological and operational conditions (which shall include the range of wind 
speeds, wind directions, power generation and times of day to determine the 
assessment of rating level of noise imissions). 

e)  Noise limits selected from those listed in the tables to be adopted at the 
complainant’s dwelling for compliance checking purposes shall be submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority when a dwelling to which 



a complaint is related is not listed in the tables attached to these conditions. The 
proposed noise limits shall be those limits selected from the table specified from 
a listed location which is the geographically nearest dwelling to the complainants 
dwelling, unless, due to location-specific factors, other limits are agreed in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority. 

f) A suitably qualified independent consultant’s assessment of the rating level of 
noise imissions undertaken in accordance with the Guidance Notes, which shall 
not be at the expense of the Local Planning Authority, shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority within 2 months of the date of 
the written request of the Local Planning Authority for compliance measurements 
to be made under paragraph (c), unless the time limit is extended in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority. The assessment shall be accompanied by all data 
collected for the purposes of undertaking the compliance measurements and 
such data shall be provided in the format set out in Guidance Note 1(e) with the 
exception of audio data which shall be supplied in the format in which it is 
recorded. The instrumentation used to undertake the measurements shall be 
calibrated in accordance with Guidance Note 1(a) and certificates of calibration 
shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority along with the independent 
consultant’s assessment of the rating level of noise imissions. 

g) A further assessment shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority if it is identified, pursuant to Guidance Note 4(c), that a further 
assessment of the rating level of noise imissions from the wind farm is required. 
This assessment shall be submitted within 21 days of submission of the 
independent consultant’s assessment pursuant to paragraph (d) above unless 
the time limit has been previously extended in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. 

Reason: In the interests of environmental protection and to accord with policies 
EM/1, EM/2 and EM/3, G/EM/12, EM/14 of the Rochdale Unitary Development 
Plan and policy contained within the National Planning Policy Framework. 

[N.B. The tables which accompany this condition are set out in Appendix C]

19. A Written Scheme of Investigation (WSI) that outlines a programme of archaeological 
works shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority 
prior to development or any other works in association with the application which may 
disturb the ground first taking place. The WSI shall include the following:

1. A phased programme and methodology of fieldwork and recording to include:
 archaeological evaluation trenching and if identified as appropriate by the 

evaluation trenching, targeted open area excavation;
 Palaeo-environmental sampling, assessment and, if identified as appropriate, 

detailed analysis
 Archaeological watching brief
 If identified during the course of the watching brief as appropriate, targeted 

open area excavation. 
2. A programme for post fieldwork investigation and assessment to include:
 Analysis and assessment of the site investigation records and finds
 Production of a final report on the significance of the archaeological and 

historical interest represented. 
3. Provision for public dissemination of the result to include,



 Deposition of the final report with Greater Manchester and Lancashire Historic 
Environment Records. 

 Design and implementation of a programme of public legacy information. 
4. Provision for archive deposition of the report, finds and records of the site 
investigation. 
5. Nomination of a competent person or persons/organisation to undertake the works 
set out within the approved WSI.

The approved WSI shall be adhered to throughout the period of the development and 
beyond until it is fully implemented.

Reason: In order to ensure adequate protection of archaeological heritage assets on 
the site and to accord with policies G/EM/12, EM/14, G/BE/9, BE/10 and BE/11 of the 
Rochdale Unitary Development Plan and policy contained within the National 
Planning Policy Framework. 

20. No works or development shall take place during the breeding bird season (March – 
August inclusive), including any moorland restoration work which forms part of the 
Moorland Restoration Management Plan unless the areas of works / development 
have first been surveyed by a qualified ornithologist and either a) have been 
confirmed free of breeding birds or b) suitable buffer zones / mitigation has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Where b) is 
required works / development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved 
details.

Reason: In the interests of ecological protection and to accord with policies G/EM/12, 
EM/14, G/NE/1, NE/2, NE/3 and NE/4 of the Rochdale Unitary Development Plan 
and policy contained within the National Planning Policy Framework. 

21. A programme to monitor breeding bird populations within the ornithological survey 
area (as defined by the Environmental Statement) during the operational phase of 
the development hereby approved shall be submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority prior to the first export date. For the avoidance of doubt, 
surveys should be completed in years 1, 2, 3, 5, 10 and 15 following commissioning 
of the wind turbines (approved ES paragraph 10.209). The results of the monitoring 
activity shall be made available to the Local Planning Authority within 28 days of a 
request for such information having been made. 

Reason: In the interests of ecological protection and to accord with policies G/EM/12, 
EM/14, G/NE/1, NE/2, NE/3 and NE/4 of the Rochdale Unitary Development Plan 
and policy contained within the National Planning Policy Framework. 

22. No more than 12 months before, but for the avoidance of doubt, prior to development 
first taking place on site, a survey by a qualified ecologist for the presence of badgers 
and their setts shall take place within a) the area to be occupied by the wind turbines 
and associated infrastructure; b) any area within the Moorland Restoration 
Management Plan where groundworks are proposed and c) a buffer of 500m beyond 
a) and b). The extent of the survey work shall be agreed with the Local Planning 
Authority in advance of the survey work being carried out. If evidence of badgers or 
their setts is found, development shall not take place until a scheme of appropriate 
mitigation measures has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. Works shall proceed in accordance with the approved details. 



Reason: In the interests of ecological protection and to accord with policies G/EM/12, 
EM/14, G/NE/1, NE/2, NE/3 and NE/4 of the Rochdale Unitary Development Plan 
and policy contained within the National Planning Policy Framework. 

23. A scheme for further geo-technical ground investigations shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority before any development or 
ground works first take place. The scope of the further geo-technical investigations 
shall reflect the recommendations of the Mining Risk Assessment presented under 
Appendix 13.3 of the approved Environmental Statement. The results of the further 
mining and geo technical ground investigations shall also be submitted to the Local 
Planning Authority prior to development first taking place together with details of the 
proposed ground improvement and stabilisation works and foundation designs for 
individual turbines. The development shall then be undertaken in full accordance with 
the approved details and be retained as such throughout the lifetime of the 
development. 

Reason: In the interests of environmental protection and to accord with policies 
G/EM/1, EM/2, EM/7, EM/8, EM/9, G/EM/12, EM/14 of the Rochdale Unitary 
Development Plan and policy contained within the National Planning Policy 
Framework. 

24. A strategy for the pre-construction, mid-construction and operational phase 
monitoring of water quality shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority prior to development first taking place. The strategy shall be 
based upon the principles set out in the approved Environmental Statement 
(paragraph 14.298) and the development shall be undertaken in full accordance with 
the approved strategy and be retained as such throughout the lifetime of the 
development. 

Reason: In the interests of environmental and water protection and to accord with 
policies G/EM/1, EM/8, G/EM/12, EM/14 of the Rochdale Unitary Development Plan 
and policy contained within the National Planning Policy Framework. 

25. A strategy for the pre-construction, mid construction and operational phase 
monitoring of ground water shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority prior to development first taking place. The strategy shall be 
based upon the principles set out in the approved Environmental Statement 
(paragraph 14.298) and the development shall be undertaken in full accordance with 
the approved strategy and be retained as such throughout the lifetime of the 
development.

Reason: In the interests of environmental and water protection and to accord with 
policies G/EM/1, EM/8, G/EM/12 and EM/14 of the Rochdale Unitary Development 
Plan and policy contained within the National Planning Policy Framework. 

26. A strategy for the pre-construction, mid construction and operational phase 
monitoring of water table levels shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority prior to development first taking place. The strategy shall be 
based upon the principles set out in the approved Environmental Statement 
(paragraph 14.298) and the development shall be undertaken in full accordance with 
the approved strategy and be retained as such throughout the lifetime of the 
development. 



Reason: In the interests of environmental and water protection and to accord with 
policies G/EM/1, EM/8, G/EM/12 and EM/14 of the Rochdale Unitary Development 
Plan and policy contained within the National Planning Policy Framework. 

27. A strategy specifying the mitigation measures to be utilised during the construction 
phase to minimise the effect of suspended soils within surface water, site 
contamination from construction phase waste materials and de-watering of 
excavations shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority prior to development first commencing. For the avoidance of doubt the 
mitigation strategy shall be informed by the principles presented within the approved 
ES (appendix 13.4, Section 4.5) and the development shall be undertaken in full 
accordance with the approved strategy and be retained as such thereafter. 

Reason: In the interests of environmental and water protection and to accord with 
policies G/EM/1, EM/8, G/EM/12 and EM/14 of the Rochdale Unitary Development 
Plan and policy contained within the National Planning Policy Framework. 

28. No part of any turbine shall be erected above ground until a Primary Radar Mitigation 
Scheme (as defined below) agreed with the Operator (as defined below) has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority in order to avoid 
the impact of the development on the Primary Radar of the Operator located at 
Manchester and St. Anne’s and associated air traffic management operations. 

No part of any turbines shall be erected above ground until the approved Primary 
Radar Mitigation Scheme has been implemented and the development shall 
thereafter be operated full in accordance with this approved scheme. 

For the purposes of this condition ‘Operator’ means NATS (En Route) plc, 
incorporated under the Companies Act (4129273) whose registered office is 4000 
Parkway, Whiteley, Hants POIS 7FL or such other organisation licensed from time to 
time under sections 5 and 6 of the Transport Act 2000 to provide air traffic services to 
the relevant managed (within the meaning of section 40 of that Act). 

For the purposes of this condition ‘Primary Radar Mitigation Scheme’ or ‘Scheme’ 
means a detailed scheme agreed with the Operator which sets out the measures to 
be taken to avoid at all times the impact of the development on the Manchester and 
St Annes primary radar and air traffic management operations of the operator. 

Reason: To ensure the protection of airspace and to accord with policies G/EM/12 
and EM/14 of the Rochdale Unitary Development Plan and policy contained within 
the National Planning Policy Framework.

29. No wind turbine(s) hereby permitted shall be erected until a Primary Radar Mitigation 
Scheme agreed with the Aerodrome Safeguarding Authority for Manchester Airport 
has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority in 
consultation with the Aerodrome Safeguarding Authority for Manchester Airport  in 
order to avoid the impact of the development on Primary Surveillance Radar 
"Manchester RSS M10" located at Manchester Airport, and all the associated air 
traffic management operations serving Manchester Airport.

No wind turbine(s) hereby permitted shall be operated until the approved Primary 
Radar Mitigation Scheme has been implemented and the local planning authority has 
provided written confirmation of this to the developer.  The development shall 
thereafter be operated fully in accordance with such approved Scheme for the life of 
the development.



For the purpose of this condition "Aerodrome Safeguarding Authority" means 
Manchester Airport Plc, incorporated under the Companies Act (Reg. No. 1960988) 
whose registered office is PO Box 532, Town Hall, Manchester, M60 2LA and any 
other organisation licensed to provide the air traffic services to the relevant managed 
area under the control of the Operator. "Primary Radar Mitigation Scheme" or 
"Scheme" means a detailed scheme agreed with the Aerodrome Safeguarding 
Authority for Manchester Airport following a study into the options and feasibility for 
radar mitigation to avoid at all times the impact of the development on the 
Manchester RSS M10 Radar and all the air traffic management operations of the 
Operator. “Operated” means allowing the rotation of blades. The blades must be 
locked in a stationary position until the Primary Radar Mitigation Scheme has been 
confirmed as being in place.

Reason: In the interest of aviation safety due to the unacceptable risk posed to the 
safe operation of aircraft and air traffic control systems at Manchester Airport and for 
the potential loss of capacity at Manchester Airport that may otherwise result should 
a radar mitigation scheme not be put in place and to accord with policies G/EM/12 
and EM/14 of the Rochdale Unitary Development Plan and policy contained within 
the National Planning Policy Framework.

30. No development shall take place on site unless and until a Radar Mitigation Scheme 
has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority to 
address the impact of the development upon air safety. 

Before approving the Scheme, the Authority shall consult the Ministry of Defence 
(MOD) as to the Scheme’s suitability and shall take into consideration the MOD’s 
views as to whether the scheme adequately addresses the MOD’s concerns 
regarding the impact of the development upon air safety. 

In this condition ‘Radar Mitigation Scheme’ means a scheme designed to mitigate the 
impacts of the development upon the operation of the Primary Surveillance Radar at 
Warton Aerodrome (“the Radar”) and the traffic operations of the MOD which are 
reliant upon the Rad. The Radar Mitigation Scheme shall set out the appropriate 
measures to be implemented to mitigate the impact of the development on the 
Radar.
 
No turbines shall become operational unless and until all measures required by the 
approved Radar Mitigation Scheme have been implemented and the Local Planning 
Authority has confirmed this in writing. 

The development shall thereafter be operated fully in accordance with the approved 
Radar Mitigation Scheme.

Reason: To ensure the protection of airspace and to accord with policies G/EM/12 
and EM/14 of the Rochdale Unitary Development Plan and policy contained within 
the National Planning Policy Framework.

31. A scheme to secure the investigation and, if the investigation shows it to be 
necessary, the rectification of interference to terrestrial television signal reception 
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority if the 
Local Planning Authority receives a written complaint within the first 12 months of 
operation following the first export date which alleges interference to terrestrial 
television signal reception from the operation of the wind turbines hereby approved. 
The scheme shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority within 21 days of 



notification of complaint by the Local Planning Authority and the scheme shall 
provide for the investigation, by a qualified independent television engineer, detail of 
any complaint of interference at a building which lawfully existed or had planning 
permission at the date of this permission. If the engineer determines that the 
interference is attributable to the development hereby approved, remedial measures 
as specified by the engineer shall be implemented at the developer’s expense no 
later than 21 days following receipt of the engineers assessment. 

Reason: In the interest of residential amenity and to accord with policies G/EM/1, 
EM/2, G/EM/12, EM/14 and BE/2 of the Rochdale Unitary Development Plan and 
policy contained within the National Planning Policy Framework.

32. Prior to the erection of any wind turbine a scheme shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority setting out a protocol for the 
recording and assessment of shadow flicker in the event of any complaint alleging 
shadow flicker effects from the development to the Local Planning Authority from the 
owner or occupier of any dwelling (defined for the purposes of this condition as a 
building which lawfully exists or had planning permission at the date of this 
permission within Use Class C3 or C4 of the Town and Country Planning (Use 
Classes) Order 1987 (as amended)) which lies within 1.5km of any turbine. The 
written protocol shall include remedial measures to alleviate any effects of shadow 
flicker attributable to the development. If a substantiated complaint is received from a 
dwelling as defined above then the remedial measures within the protocol shall be 
immediately implemented. If these remedial measures are not successful in 
alleviating shadow flicker effects then further mitigation measures (including, if 
necessary the shutdown of particular turbine(s) at particular time(s)) shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority and  
implemented in accordance with the approved scheme. 

Reason: In the interests of environmental protection and residential amenity and to 
accord with policies G/EM/1, EM/2, G/EM/12, EM/14 and BE/2 of the Rochdale 
Unitary Development Plan and policy contained within the National Planning Policy 
Framework.  

33. The Local Employment Procurement Strategy presented in Appendix 2 of the 
Planning Statement submitted shall be implemented in full during the period of 
construction and operation/maintenance of the development hereby approved.

Reason: To support local employment and to accord with policy contained within the 
National Planning Policy Framework. 

34. A Site Waste Management Plan shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority prior to development first taking place. The plan shall be 
based on the principles set out in the approved Environmental Statement and the 
development shall be implemented in full accordance with the approved Site Waste 
Management Plan.

Reason: In the interests of environmental protection and to accord with policies 
G/EM/1, EM/2, G/EM/12 and EM/14 of the Rochdale Unitary Development Plan and 
policy contained within the National Planning Policy Framework.

35. The hours of work during the construction phase of the development (excluding 
turbine and crane delivery) and any traffic movements to and/or from the site shall be 
limited to 0730-1900 hours on Mondays to Fridays (inclusive) and 0700-1400 hours 
on Saturdays with no work taking place on Sundays or Bank / Public Holidays. 



Reason: In the interests of environmental protection and to accord with policies 
G/EM/1, EM/2, G/EM/12 and EM/14 of the Rochdale Unitary Development Plan and 
policy contained within the National Planning Policy Framework.

Report Authors: Rachel Carney / Rebecca Coley



APPENDICES



APPENDIX A - CONSULTANT REPORTS

Hepworth Acoustics 

- Recommend that a statement on noise impact on non-residential ‘sensitive users’ is 
provided. 

- The ES adopts a maximum figure of 40dB(A)  for the daytime fixed limit element. A 
fixed daytime limit of less that 40dB(A) may however be appropriate and it is 
recommended that further consideration should be given to this aspect. 

- The construction noise criterion would be exceeded at residential locations when 
cable laying operations are undertaken within a distance of 100m. Other on-site 
construction activities such as turbine foundations and erection would be quieter than 
track laying and cable trenching operations and will take place at greater distances 
from residential locations.

- Cumulative operational noise levels from the proposed development, the existing 
Scout Moor Wind Farm, the proposed Rooley Moor Wind Farm and the single turbine 
at Stand Lees Farm would be within the adopted ETSU-R-97 limits apart from at 
Cowpe Hall Farm. Noise mitigation would therefore be necessary.

- Details on any other of the four candidate turbines installed at other sites would be 
useful in determining in they have resulted in any significant tonal noise emissions. 

- The proposed construction working hours are quite usual although it is noted that 
these differ from those that were conditioned for the existing Scout Moor Wind Farm.

- The operation of the proposed turbine and proposed mitigation may not be adequate 
for achieving levels below 40dB(A). It would be appropriate to consider a candidate 
turbine with a lower noise output.

- The extant noise condition permits the existing Scout Moor Wind Farm to emit noise 
from the turbines up to the ETSU-R-97 limits. If the same ETSU limits were applied to 
the Scout Moor extension and the Rooley Moor Wind Farm this would also allow 
those wind farms to emit noise up to the limit. This could allow the cumulative noise 
from the combined operations to exceed the ETSU limits. 

FEI

- An assertion that a fixed daytime level of less that 40dB(A) may be appropriate at 
some locations. 

- Tonality issues can be controlled through condition. 
- It would still be useful to have details on other candidate turbines although it is 

accepted that the candidate turbine can meet cumulative noise limits with noise 
mitigation. 

Additional report

- Noise level from the proposed development (and cumulative noise levels) will be 
within the lower fixed daytime limit of 35dB(A) or background noise level plus 5 dB at 
13 of the 16 assessment locations. 

- Noise mitigation measured can be implemented to achieve the lower ETSU-R-97 day 
time limits at all but one property (Waterworks House) where there would be a 
marginal excess of less than 1dB. Such an excess would not be discernible and the 
noise levels at this property would be low, particularly in comparison to the existing 
noise levels from the Scout Moor Wind Farm. 

Grover Lewis



- The ES correctly identifies that there are no designated heritage assets within the 
application site boundary and those that lie outside of the application boundary, 
where heritage significance could be harmed as a result of the development.

- The ES identifies a large number of heritage assets that could potential be affected 
by the proposed development, which following an assessment of which asset could 
be affected is reduced to a shortlist of 18. The method in arriving at the shortlist is 
systematic and well-informed and consistent with the findings of fieldwork and 
assessment carried out by Grover Lewis. 

- The ES identifies 18 non-designated heritage assets within the application site but 
fails to identify Waughs Well which is located just outside of the application boundary. 

- The ES identifies that the Church of St Nicholas with St John, Newchurch and 
Cloughfold Conservation Area would be adversely affected by turbines T5, T6 and T7 
(which are in Rossendale). 

- When viewed cumulatively with the proposed Rooley Moor application the 
development would result in a very large cluster of wind turbines. It is noted that the 
ES adopts the assessments of impacts and effects prepared by the applicants for the 
Rooley moor Wind Farm. It is considered that this under-calibrates the impacts of 
that development in respect of the Church of St Bartholomew, Whitworth and 
Whitworth Cemetery, which Grover Lewis has separately calibrated as major adverse 
and moderate adverse respectively. Therefore, the cumulative impact is considered 
to be under-rated in respect of those assets.

- The assessment of cumulative effect in combination with Rooley Moor omits the 
Whitworth Square Conservation Area. This can be remedied through additional 
assessment. 

FEI

- Turbines T5, T6, and T7 are still considered to be prominent in views affects the 
settings of the Church of St Nicholas with St John, New Church and Cloughfold 
Conservation Area. They would also be prominent in the setting of the non-
designated heritage assets of Waugh’s Well and Fold Edge Farm. Mitigation of these 
effects cannot practicably be achieved other than by removal or relocation of the 
most prominent turbines (T5, T6, T7 – all located outside of Rochdale).

- The ES still under calibrates the cumulative impacts of the development in respect of 
the Church of St Bartholomew, Whitworth and Whitworth Cemetery and omits 
reference to Whitworth Square Conservation Area. 

JBA

- Hydrology, Hydrogeology and Geology
o The impact on geology is less significant than the potential impact of geology 

on the development in the form of former mining workings and the possibility 
of instability around unstable former landslip sediments. 

o The impact on geology is a permanent impact, but given the existing 
disruption from widespread mining activities, is possibly not significant in 
terms of EIA. 

o The interaction with mine waters could be considered. 
- Flood Risk

o The main concerns relate to surface water run off as the proposal will 
increase the impermeable area of the site. Mitigation may include designing 
the tracks with a cross fall to ensure runoff is directed away from drainage 
ditches and shed to surrounding ground where it will naturally dissipate into 
the ground.



o The restoration of degraded peat moorland may have a beneficial impact on 
water runoff. This matter is not fully addressed. 

o Not likely that flood risk will be significant. 
- Private Water Supplies

o The Private Water Supply Assessment is lacking in detail and justification of 
the results. 

- Peat
o The potential for the disturbance of peat to impact upon water quality 

downstream during the construction and initial restoration period should be 
highlighted. 

FEI

- The proposed 30m buffer to water courses should be measured from the edge of the 
proposed working area, not the centre of the turbines. 

- Proposals for re-vegetating the track edges should be confirmed. If fencing can only 
be provided to within 5m of the track this may mean that the 5m adjacent to the track 
is left unrestored, due to grazing pressure on vegetation regrowth. This has been the 
situation on the current wind farm and should be avoided. 

- Additional information requested on Private Water Supplies

LUC

- The removal of T16 upon decommissioning of the existing windfarm is welcomed. 
However further consideration is needed into the remaining turbines and T15 would 
appear as an outlier in many views, particularly if Rooley Moor Windfarm does not 
gain consent. 

FEI

- Retain the view that T15 should be removed upon the decommissioning of the 
existing wind farm. From viewpoint 6 T15 would be seen as an outlier to the far right 
of the main turbine group which is contained between T13 and T1 from left to right. 
From viewpoint 9 and 16 T15 also appears as an outlier to the left of the main turbine 
group. 

- The wirelines provided clearly demonstrate that T15 is remote from the main turbine 
group. If no other wind farms existed in the Scout Moor area and the applicant was 
designing the wind farm afresh, it is unlikely that such a gap between turbines would 
be considered acceptable. 



APPENDIX B – APPROPRIATE ASSESSMENT UNDER CONSERVATION OF HABITATS AND SPECIES REGULATIONS 2010 (AS 
AMENDED)

Table 1 – Summary HRA screening assessment of the impact of the Scout Moor Planning Application 15/00395/FUL

N.B The application site for the Scout Moor Extension Wind Farm is some 9km from the boundary of the South Pennine Moors SAC/SPA. The 
Scout Pennine Moors is considered to be the only European protected site that could potentially be affected by the construction of the Scout 
Moor Wind Farm because Pathways to other European Sites do not exist. 

Potential Harmful Impact of the 
proposed wind farm at Scout Moor 
on the South Pennine Moors

Comments Screened 
In or Out?

Direct Land Take No direct impacts OUT

Air Pollution None – unlikely to occur and the development site is too distant from the boundary of the 
SAC/SPA for impacts to occur

OUT

Water Pollution None – the development site is too distant from the boundary of the SAC/SPA for impacts 
to occur – there are no pathways

OUT

Intensification / change of land use No direct impacts – there are no pathways OUT

Burning No impacts – SAC/SPA is too distant from the application site OUT

Increased recreational pressure / 
disturbance

No impacts – SAC/SPA is too distant from the application site OUT

Changes to Hydrology No impacts; site is too distant from SAC/SPA and there are no direct hydrological 
pathways

OUT



Predation None – the development site is too distant from the boundary of the SAC/SPA for impacts 
to occur

OUT

Disturbance None – the development site is too distant from the boundary of the SAC/SPA for impacts 
to occur

OUT

Introduction of aggressive alien 
species

None – the development site is too distant from the boundary of the SAC/SPA for impacts 
to occur

OUT

Indirect impact on bird populations 
arising from collision with turbine 
blades of birds moving between 
the SAC/SPA and other areas and 
sites

Whether birds that use the SAC/SPA also use the proposed site of the Scout Moor wind 
farm is unknown, although some of the same important species are known to use both 
sites and birds do move east-west during migration periods. There may therefore be a 
functional link between the SAC/SPA and the application site, contrary to the findings 
presented in the EIA. However, the following are taken into account –
 The Risk of mortality from direct collision with turbine blades is assessed as low
 The Numbers of birds of the SPA qualifying species (golden plover, merlin, 

peregrine, short-eared owl, dunlin) using the Scout Moor site are low, 
representing a very small percentage of the numbers associated with the SPA 
even if they are the same birds.

 There are very large (alternative) moorland areas available to migrating birds 
displaced from the wind farm site out-with the development area. The South 
Pennine Moors SAC/SPA itself is very large (>66,000 ha). 

 The operation of the nearby Scout Moor wind farm does not appear to have had 
any impact on bird populations using the SAC/SPA

 Use of the site itself as a ‘staging post’ for migrating birds during the operational 
life of the wind farm is not ruled out

OUT

CONCLUSION
The construction and operation of a large-scale wind farm at Scout Moor will not have any significant impacts on the special nature 
conservation interest of the SAC/SPA.



APPENDIX 3 – TABLES OF NOISE LEVELS, TABLE OF CO-ORDINATES AND 
GUIDANCE NOTES TO BE APPENDED TO CONDITION 18

Table 1 – Noise Limits 2300-0700 (dB LA90)

Standardised 10 metre-height Wind Speed (as defined in accordance with the attached 
Guidance Notes to the noise condition)

Location

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12
Higher Red Lumb 39.7 39.7 39.7 39.7 39.7 39.7 39.7 39.7 39.7 39.7 42.4 46.0

Nutters Restaurant 40.7 40.7 40.7 40.7 40.7 40.7 40.7 40.7 40.7 41.0 42.2 43.8

Fecit Farm 37.9 37.9 37.9 37.9 37.9 37.9 37.9 37.9 37.9 43.3 46.8 49.4

Acre Nook 42.1 42.1 42.1 42.1 42.1 42.1 42.1 44.0 45.3 46.0 46.2 46.3

New Hall 42.3 42.3 42.3 42.3 42.3 42.3 42.3 44.5 47.3 49.6 51.3 52.4

Lench Fold 43.0 43.0 43.0 43.0 43.0 43.0 43.3 43.9 44.8 46.1 47.8 49.9

Cowpe Hall Farm 42.7 42.7 42.7 42.7 42.7 42.7 42.7 42.7 42.7 43.1 45.7 47.8

Higher Mount 

Pleasant
42.6 42.6 42.6

42.6 42.6 42.6 42.6 42.6 42.6 42.6 44.5 47.6

Waterworks House 41.6 41.6 41.6 41.6 41.6 41.6 41.6 41.6 41.6 41.6 42.4 47.0

Sheep House Farm 43.0 43.0 43.0 43.0 43.0 43.0 43.0 43.0 43.0 43.0 43.0 45.0

Heights Farm 42.5 42.5 42.5 42.5 42.5 42.5 42.5 42.5 42.5 42.5 42.5 42.9

Willowfield Farm 42.8 42.8 42.8 42.8 42.8 42.8 42.8 42.8 42.8 42.8 42.8 43.1

Table 2 – Noise Limits 0700-2300 (dB LA90)

Standardised 10 metre-height Wind Speed (as defined in accordance with the attached 
Guidance Notes to the noise condition)

Location

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12
Higher Red Lumb 37.4 37.4 37.4 37.4 37.6 38.8 41.6 43.5 44.4 45.0 45.8 47.8

Nutters Restaurant 49.1 49.2 49.2 49.2 49.5 49.6 49.7 49.8 49.8 49.8 49.7 49.7

Fecit Farm 36.2 36.2 36.2 36.2 36.2 36.2 40.4 43.7 46.4 48.3 49.4 49.4

Acre Nook 45.1 45.1 45.1 45.1 45.1 45.6 47.0 48.4 49.5 50.4 51.2 52.7

New Hall 35.3 35.3 35.3 35.3 35.9 38.8 42.6 45.8 48.5 51.0 54.3 59.7

Lench Fold 44.7 44.7 44.7 44.7 44.7 44.7 44.7 45.2 46.1 47.5 49.6 52.3

Cowpe Hall Farm 35.8 35.8 35.8 36.2 36.2 36.2 37.0 38.6 41.2 44.6 48.4 52.3

Higher Mount Pleasant 32.9 32.9 32.9 32.9 32.9 32.9 36.9 40.9 44.6 47.9 50.9 53.6

Waterworks House 28.0 28.0 28.0 28.0 28.0 28.0 29.0 31.3 36.0 40.2 44.4 48.5

Sheep House Farm 37.6 37.6 37.6 37.7 37.8 38.1 38.7 39.6 40.9 42.6 44.7 47.3

Heights Farm 37.7 37.7 37.7 37.9 38.4 38.8 39.4 40.1 40.9 41.7 42.7 43.9

Willowfield Farm 37.7 37.7 37.7 38.1 38.7 39.2 39.8 40.5 41.2 42.0 43.0 44.1



Table 3: Coordinate locations of the dwellings listed in Tables 1 and 2

Dwelling Easting Northing

Higher Red Lumb 384056 416138

Nutters Restaurant 382686 416443

Fecit Farm 382002 417663

Acre Nook 381177 418414

New Hall 380809 419673

Lench Fold 383085 421058

Cowpe Hall Farm 383796 420285

Higher Mount Pleasant 381583 420563

Waterworks House 385784 416342

Sheep House Farm 385498 421082

Heights Farm 384813 420782

Willowfield Farm 383937 420100

Note to Table 3: The geographical coordinate references are provided for the purpose of identifying the 
general location of dwellings to which a given set of noise limits applies.

Note: 
For the purposes of this condition, a “dwelling” is a building within Use Class C3 & C4 of the Town and 
Country Planning (Use Classes) Order 1987 which lawfully exists or had planning permission at the 
date of this consent.

Guidance Notes for Noise Condition
These notes are to be read with and form part of the noise condition. They further explain the condition 
and specify the methods to be employed in the assessment of complaints about noise immissions from 
the wind farm. The rating level at each integer wind speed is the arithmetic sum of the wind farm noise 
level as determined from the best-fit curve described in Guidance Note 2 of these Guidance Notes and 
any tonal penalty applied in accordance with Guidance Note 3. Reference to ETSU-R-97 refers to the 
publication entitled “The Assessment and Rating of Noise from Wind Farms” (1997) published by the 
Energy Technology Support Unit (ETSU) for the Department of Trade and Industry (DTI).

Guidance Note 1
(a) Values of the LA90,10 minute noise statistic should be measured at the complainant’s property, using a 
sound level meter of EN 60651/BS EN 60804 Type 1, or BS EN 61672 Class 1 quality (or the equivalent 
UK adopted standard in force at the time of the measurements) set to measure using the fast time 
weighted response as specified in BS EN 60651/BS EN 60804 or BS EN 61672-1 (or the equivalent UK 
adopted standard in force at the time of the measurements). This should be calibrated in accordance 
with the procedure specified in BS 4142: 1997 (or the equivalent UK adopted standard in force at the 
time of the measurements). Measurements shall be undertaken in such a manner to enable a tonal 
penalty to be applied in accordance with Guidance Note 3.
(b) The microphone should be mounted at 1.2 – 1.5 metres above ground level, fitted with a two-layer 
windshield or suitable equivalent approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, and placed 
outside the complainant’s dwelling. Measurements should be made in “free field” conditions. To achieve 
this, the microphone should be placed at least 3.5 metres away from the building facade or any 
reflecting surface except the ground at the approved measurement location. In the event that the 
consent of the complainant for access to his or her dwelling to undertake compliance measurements is 
withheld, the wind farm operator shall submit for the written approval of the Local Planning Authority 



details of the proposed alternative representative measurement location prior to the commencement of 
measurements and the measurements shall be undertaken at the approved alternative representative 
measurement location.
(c) The LA90,10 minute measurements should be synchronised with measurements of the 10-minute 
arithmetic mean wind and operational data logged in accordance with Guidance Note 1(d), including the 
power generation data from the turbine control systems of the wind farm.
(d) To enable compliance with the conditions to be evaluated, the wind farm operator shall continuously 
log arithmetic mean wind speed in metres per second and wind direction in degrees from north at hub 
height for each turbine, and at any on site meteorological mast(s), if available, together with the 
arithmetic mean power generated by each turbine, all in successive 10-minute periods. All 10 minute 
arithmetic average mean wind speed data measured at hub height shall be ‘standardised’ to a reference 
height of 10 metres as described in ETSU-R-97 at page 120 using a reference roughness length of 0.05 
metres . It is this standardised 10 metre height wind speed data, as determined from whichever source 
is agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority as being most appropriate to the noise compliance 
measurements being undertaken, which is correlated with the noise measurements determined as valid 
in accordance with Guidance Note 2, such correlation to be undertaken in the manner described in 
Guidance Note 2. All 10-minute periods shall commence on the hour and in 10- minute increments 
thereafter.
(e) Data provided to the Local Planning Authority in accordance with the noise condition shall be 
provided in comma separated values in electronic format.
(f) A data logging rain gauge shall be installed in the course of the assessment of the levels of noise 
immissions. The gauge shall record over successive 10-minute periods synchronised with the periods of 
data recorded in accordance with Note 1(d).

Guidance Note 2
(a) The noise measurements shall be made so as to provide not less than 20 valid data points as 
defined in Guidance Note 2 (b)
(b) Valid data points are those measured in the conditions specified in the agreed written protocol under 
paragraph (d) of the noise condition, but excluding any periods of rainfall measured in the vicinity of the 
sound level meter. Rainfall shall be assessed by use of a rain gauge that shall log the occurrence of 
rainfall in each 10 minute period concurrent with the measurement periods set out in Guidance Note 1. 
(c) For those data points considered valid in accordance with Guidance Note 2(b), values of the LA90,10 

minute noise measurements and corresponding values of the 10- minute standardised ten metre height 
wind speed, as derived from the site measured wind speed source(s) agreed in writing with the Local 
Planning Authority in accordance with Guidance Note 1(d), shall be plotted on an XY chart with noise 
level on the Y-axis and the standardised mean wind speed on the X-axis. A least squares, “best fit” 
curve of an order deemed appropriate by the independent consultant (but which may not be higher than 
a fourth order) should be fitted to the data points and define the wind farm noise level at each integer 
speed.

Guidance Note 3
(a) Where, in accordance with the approved assessment protocol under paragraph (d) of the noise 
condition, noise immissions at the location or locations where compliance measurements are being 
undertaken contain or are likely to contain a tonal component, a tonal penalty is to be calculated and 
applied using the following rating procedure.
(b) For each 10 minute interval for which LA90,10 minute data have been determined as valid in accordance 
with Guidance Note 2 a tonal assessment shall be performed on noise immissions during 2 minutes of 
each 10 minute period. The 2 minute periods should be spaced at 10 minute intervals provided that 
uninterrupted uncorrupted data are available (“the standard procedure”). Where uncorrupted data are 
not available, the first available uninterrupted clean 2 minute period out of the affected overall 10 minute 
period shall be selected. Any such deviations from the standard procedure, as described in Section 2.1 
on pages 104-109 of ETSU-R-97, shall be reported.
(c) For each of the 2 minute samples the tone level above or below audibility shall be calculated by 
comparison with the audibility criterion given in Section 2.1 on pages 104 - 109 of ETSU-R-97.
(d) The average tone level above audibility shall be calculated for each wind speed bin, each bin being 
1 metre per second wide and centred on integer wind speeds. Samples for which the tones were below 
the audibility criterion or no tone was identified, a value of zero audibility shall be substituted.



(e) The tonal penalty for each wind speed bin is derived from the margin above audibility of the tone 
according to the figure below.

Guidance Note 4
(a) If a tonal penalty is to be applied in accordance with Guidance Note 3 the rating level of the turbine 
noise at each wind speed is the arithmetic sum of the measured noise level as determined from the best 
fit curve described in Guidance Note 2 and the penalty for tonal noise as derived in accordance with 
Guidance Note 3 at each integer wind speed within the range specified by the Local Planning Authority 
in its written protocol under paragraph (d) of the noise condition.
(b) If no tonal penalty is to be applied then the rating level of the turbine noise at each wind speed is 
equal to the measured noise level as determined from the best fit curve described in Guidance Note 2.
(c) In the event that the rating level is above the limit(s) set out in the Tables attached to the noise 
conditions or the noise limits for a complainant’s dwelling approved in accordance with paragraph (e) of 
the noise condition, the independent consultant shall undertake a further assessment of the rating level 
to correct for background noise so that the rating level relates to wind turbine noise immission only.
(d) The wind farm operator shall ensure that all necessary wind turbines in the development are turned 
off for such period as the independent consultant requires to undertake any further noise measurements 
required under Guidance Note 4(c). If the number of turbines to be turned off are less than the total 
number of turbines on the site then this shall be agreed in advance with the Local Planning Authority. 
(e) To this end, the steps in Guidance Note 2 shall be repeated with the required number of turbines 
shut-down in accordance with Guidance Note 4(d) in order to determine the background noise (L3) at 
each integer wind speed within the range requested by the Local Planning Authority in its written 
request under paragraph (c) and the approved protocol under paragraph (d) of the noise condition.
(f) The wind farm noise (L1) at this speed shall then be calculated as follows where L2 is the measured 
level with turbines running but without the addition of any tonal penalty: 

(g) The rating level shall be re-calculated by adding arithmetically the tonal penalty (if any is applied in 
accordance with Note 3) to the derived wind farm noise L1 at that integer wind speed.
(h)  If the rating level after adjustment for background noise contribution and adjustment for tonal 
penalty (if required in accordance with Guidance Note 3 above) at any integer wind speed lies at or 
below the values set out in the Tables attached to the conditions or at or below the noise limits 
approved by the Local Planning Authority for a complainant’s dwelling in accordance with paragraph (e) 
of the noise condition then no further action is necessary. If the rating level at any integer wind speed 
exceeds the values set out in the Tables attached to the conditions or the noise limits approved by the 
Local Planning Authority for a complainant’s dwelling in accordance with paragraph (e) of the noise 
condition then the development fails to comply with the conditions.

<end>

Report Authors: Rachel Carney / Rebecca Coley



Application Number: 15/00826/FUL    Ward: Balderstone And Kirkholt     

Proposal: Residential development - 259 dwellings together with garages, parking, 
provision of open space and associated roads and sewers

Site Address: Site Of Former Hill Top Primary School Hill Top Drive Rochdale OL11 
2EH 

Applicant: Mr Steve Gamble
                  

RECOMMENDATION: Granted subject to conditions

UPDATE

At the Rochdale Township Planning Sub Committee on 1st September 2015, the committee 
unanimously resolved that it would be minded to grant the application in accordance with the officer 
recommendation and referred the application to the Planning and Licensing Committee.  Members 
commented that a consultation response should be obtained from the Council’s Schools Service and any 
education contribution established prior to the Planning and Licensing Committee meeting. It was also 



requested that Condition 3 be updated to specifically refer to the laying out of public open space at an 
appropriate time to serve residents, and this is reported in the Recommendation section of this report. 

Since the publication of the report to the Rochdale Township Planning Sub Committee, revised plans 
and further information were provided as follows:

Noise – A revised Noise Assessment report including a new section 7 which states that the best possible 
position in terms of noise levels across the site has been achieved.  A detailed cross section and 
elevation drawing of the proposed bund/fence were also provided.    Following their site visit, Members 
of the Rochdale Township Planning Sub Committee did not raise any specific requests for the 
submission of further information relating to the external noise levels.  The Public Protection officer has 
maintained his objection, as reported in the Consultation section of this report.

At the applicant’s request, officers agreed to amend condition 4 relating to the provision of the acoustic 
bund and fence, to remove the requirement for the bund and fence to be completed prior to occupation 
of any approved dwellings, and instead require the submission and approval of a programme for 
implementation.  This is reported in the Recommendation section of this report.

Layout – A revised layout plan was submitted incorporating a footpath link on the eastern boundary at 
plot 24; service margins have been replaced with full double footpaths throughout and a bin collection 
point was added for the private drive serving plots 235 – 240;  separation distances on plots 24 – 27 
increased and rear gardens on plots 13 – 18 increased.  Highways comments on the revised details are 
awaited.  The neighbours closely affected by these amendments have been re-consulted and no 
comments have been received to date.

Ecology – A revised drainage statement was submitted confirming there are no direct or indirect 
pathways to the Rochdale Canal SAC/SSSI. Natural England is satisfied with the revised information, 
as reported in the Consultation section of this report.

Trees – The revised layout plan indicated the retention of 6 no. trees previously shown for removal 
(T12 to T16 and T6 in tree survey).  These are namely 5 no. trees at the rear of numbers 206-212 Hill 
Top Drive (plots 13-17) and 1 tree at the rear of number 190 Hill Top Drive (plot 1).  However two 
trees previously shown for retention are now shown for removal, due to the level changes required to 
construct the site access (T50 and T51).  These are a Rowan and an Ash located in front of number 184 
Hill Top Drive. The neighbours closely affected by these amendments have been re-consulted and no 
comments have been received to date.  The comments of the Green Infrastructure Officer on the 
amendments are awaited.

The application represents a departure from the Development Plan. Members of the Planning & 
Licensing committee may approve or refuse the application on reasonable planning grounds. 

SITE

The application relates to a 7.8 hectare area of land located adjacent to Hill Top Drive on the edge of the 
Kirkholt residential estate.  The M62 motorway lies immediately to the south of the site, existing 
residential development of a primarily semi-detached character lies to the north and east, and agricultural 
land associated with Sand Hole Farm (Grade II Listed) lies to the west.

The school buildings and associated hard-surfaced play areas and car parks previously occupied the 
northern part of the site, and this land is located within the defined urban area of Rochdale on the 
Rochdale Unitary Development Plan (UDP) Proposals Map.  The remainder of the site was previously 
used as playing fields associated with the school and is designated as Protected Open Land, 
Recreational Open Space and Greenspace Corridor. The open farmland to the west of the site including 



the Grade II Listed Sand Hole Farmhouse and associated buildings, also falls within the designations of 
Protected Open Land and Greenspace Corridor, along with a narrow strip alongside the motorway to the 
east of the site.  Beyond the site to the south of the M62 the land is designated as Green Belt. 

The site of the former school buildings is relatively level, although noticeably lower than Hill Top 
Drive, and the remaining land to the south is gradually undulating.  The entire site has become naturally 
grassed since the demolition of the school buildings, with the boundaries defined by metal railings.  A 
number of trees occupy the site, most notably a line of maple adjacent to the motorway boundary and 
various trees in the northern part of the site including on the Hill Top Drive frontage. 

An 18 metre high wind turbine currently stands within the site, towards the south western corner. A 
public right of way (ROC FFp34) runs close to the south-eastern corner of the site, which connects the 
pathways serving the existing properties on Everest Street and Gerrard Street to the footbridge over the 
motorway.

PROPOSAL

The application seeks full planning permission for a development of 259 dwellings and associated 
garages, parking and access, equating to a density of 35 dwellings per hectare.  The dwellings are 
detached and semi-detached, comprising 64 no. two bed, 164 no. three bed and 31 no. four bed.  The 
proposed dwellings are of conventional two-storey, brick and tile design.  A footpath/cycleway is 
proposed to provide an east to west route through the centre of the development, with adjacent areas of 
grassed and landscaped public open space of between 10 and 15 metres in width.  An additional 
footpath/cycleway and adjacent strip of open space is proposed in the northern part of the site running 
north to south as a continuation of Rudyard Grove.  The layout includes a new pathway between the 
new development and the existing path to the east of the site (linking adjacent to numbers 20/22 Everest 
Street).  This will provide a pedestrian and cycle route through the site to the motorway footbridge.

Vehicular access is proposed to be taken from the two existing access points that previously served the 
school, namely adjacent to numbers 182 and 184 Hill Top Drive and numbers 186 and 188 Hill Top 
Drive.  The existing access adjacent to numbers 182 and 184 would be widened to 5.5 metres in width 
plus footways and re-aligned to run parallel to the front of the two properties, with the existing pathway 
and trees retained.  The existing access road adjacent to numbers 186/188 would be widened to 5.5 
metres in width plus footways, with the removal of the existing trees and hedgerow.  Eleven dwellings 
with associated driveways and garages are proposed to front directly onto Hill Top Drive, requiring the 
removal of the existing trees.

In order to mitigate noise from the adjacent motorway, it is proposed to construct a three metre high 
earth bund adjacent to the motorway boundary, with an additional three metre high timber fence along 
the top.  The bund and fence will form the rear boundary of 39 no. dwellings proposed adjacent to the 
motorway (plots 38 to 93), and continue along the east and west site boundaries as far as plots 35 on the 
east and 95 on the west.  The existing line of poplar trees will remain on the motorway side of the 
proposed bund.

RELEVANT PLANNING POLICY

National Guidance:

National Planning Policy Framework 

The Department for Communities and Local Government published the National Planning Policy 
Framework (NPPF) on 27 March 2012.  The NPPF set out the Government’s planning policies for 
England and how these are expected to be applied.  



National Planning Policy Guidance

The government published its National Planning Practice Guidance on 6 March 2014. This is intended 
to complement the National Planning Policy Framework and to provide a single resource for planning 
guidance, whilst rationalising and streamlining the material. Almost all previous planning Circulars and 
advice notes have been cancelled. Specific reference will be made to the NPPG or other national advice 
in the Analysis section of the report, where appropriate.

Core Strategy (Publication Submission 2013):

The Council’s Core Strategy Examination in Public hearing sessions reconvened in June 2015 in respect 
of the single issue of housing need.  The Inspector’s report is currently awaited, however as the Core 
Strategy is not yet adopted and modifications may be recommended by the Inspector, the Core Strategy 
can only be afforded limited weight in decision making at the current time. It is anticipated that the Core 
Strategy may be adopted in early 2016.

The following policies of the emerging Core Strategy (known more formally as the emerging Rochdale 
Publication Core Strategy) are relevant:- 

SO1 To deliver a more prosperous economy
SO2 To create successful and healthy communities
SO3 To improve design, image and quality of place
SO4 To promote a greener environment
SO5 To improve accessibility and deliver sustainable transport

SD1 Delivering sustainable development

SP3/R The Strategy for Rochdale

C1 Delivering the right amount of housing in the right places
C3 Delivering the right type of housing
C4 Providing affordable homes
C6 Improving health and well being

P2 Protecting and enhancing character, landscape and heritage
P3 Improving design of new development

G1 Tackling and adapting to climate change
G2 Energy and new development
G3 Renewable and low carbon energy developments
G5 Managing Protected Open Land
G7 Increasing the value of biodiversity and geodiversity
G8 Managing water resources and flood risk
G9 Reducing the impact of pollution 

T2 Improving accessibility

DM1 General development requirements
DM2 Delivering planning contributions and infrastructure

Unitary Development Plan (June 2006):



G/D/1 Defined Urban Area
D/10 Protected Open Land

G/H/1 Housing
H/3 Residential Development Outside Allocated Areas
H/5 Residential Density
H/6 Provision of Recreational Open Space in New Housing Development
H/7 Affordable Housing

G/G/1 Greenspace
G/2 Standards for Recreational Open Space
G/3 Protection of Existing Recreational Open Space
G/4 New Provision of Local Open Space
G/5 New Provision of Outdoor Sports Facilities
G/8 Greenspace Corridors

G/A/1 Accessibility
A/2 Accessibility Hierarchy
A/3 New Development – Access for Pedestrians and Disabled People
A/4 New Development – Access for Cyclists
A/5 New Development – Access for Bus Services
A/8 New Development – Capacity of the Highway Network
A/9 New Development – Access for General Traffic
A/10 New Development – Provision of Parking
A/11 New Development – Transport Assessments
A/13 Local Walking Route Network
A/14 A Strategic Cycling Route Network
A/15 Facilities for Buses

G/BE/1Design Quality
BE/2 Design Criteria for New Development
BE/8 Landscaping in new Development

G/BE/9Conservation of the Built Heritage
BE/15 New Development Affecting the Setting of a Listed Building

G/EM/1 Environmental Protection and Pollution Control
EM/2 Pollution
EM/3 Noise and New Development
EM/4 Contaminated Land
EM/7 Development and Flood Risk
EM/8 Protection of Surface and Ground Water
EM/10 Derelict Land and Building

G/EM/12 Renewable Energy and Energy Conservation
EM/13 Energy Efficiency and New Development
EM/15 Safeguarding Operational Wind Power Developments

G/NE/1Nature Conservation
NE/2 Designated Sites of Ecological and Geological/Geomorphological Importance
NE/3 Biodiversity and Development
NE/4 Protected Species



G/NE/5Landscape and Woodlands
NE/6 Landscape Protection and Enhancement
NE/8 Development Affecting Trees, Woodlands & Hedgerows

Greater Manchester Joint Minerals Plan (April 2013):

Policy 8 Prior Extraction of Mineral Resources 

Supplementary Planning Guidance

Oldham and Rochdale Residential Design Guide SPD
Guidelines and Standards for Residential Development SPG
Energy and New Development SPD
Provision of Recreational Open Space in New Housing SPD
Affordable Housing SPD

Rochdale Borough Transport Strategy (March 2014)

SITE HISTORY

15/00738/SO Request for a Screening Opinion under The Town and Country Planning 
(Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulations 2011 in respect of a proposed development of 259 
dwellings – not EIA development.

13/01088/FUL The erection of an 18m high wind turbine, having an overall maximum height to blade 
tip of 24.5m.  Granted 14/01/14.

12D/D55373 Application for prior notification of proposed demolition of Hill Top Primary School 
premises.  Granted 23/04/2012.

99/D36765 Erection of five 5 metre high pole mounted floodlights. Granted 23/11/1999.

CONSULTATION RESPONSES

Greater Manchester Police Design for Security:- Having viewed the Crime Impact Statement submitted 
by the developer on behalf of this development we do not feel that this document adequately considers 
the crime risks for this development. The supporting document put together by the applicant does not 
contain site specific or up to date crime statistics, we are disappointed to see the crime data supplied is 
from another development entirely and not tailored to this site. I will also add that the specification of 
the windows and doors for the development does not adhere to those listed in the Secured by Design 
New Homes 2014. We would ask that a full security risk appraisal is submitted for this scheme prior to 
the determination of this application.

Comments on revised Crime Impact Statement – We remain concerned that the Crime Impact Statement 
has not been produced by Greater Manchester Police as per the requirement in the validation checklist. 
However, we are pleased to see Gleeson's 'Secured by Design type approved' specification will be 
offered.  Suggest improvements to boundaries to corner plots and rear boundaries abutting open space, 
lighting and overlooking of pathways and management of open space.

Historic England:- No comment.

Greater Manchester Ecology Unit: - The Ecology survey and assessment submitted in support of the 
application has been undertaken by suitably qualified consultants and is to appropriate and 



proportionate standards. It provides an accurate view of the site, which is not of substantive nature 
conservation value. While I have no overall objections to the scheme on nature conservation grounds 
my main comments relate to greenspace and landscaping. 

The landscape treatment at the southern boundary is important, partly to provide a screen for the 
development from the adjacent M62 but also to provide attractive high-quality landscaping. This is a 
visually important site for the Borough, visible from one of the main gateways to Rochdale. Currently 
the plans show a 3m high ‘bund’ with a 3m high acoustic fence on top of the bund. It is unclear whether 
the creation of this noise attenuation bund will require the removal of the current line of semi-mature 
trees and I am not clear from the plans provided as to whether the bund will be landscaped. I would 
recommend that the details of Landscaping be required by a condition placed on any approval that may 
be granted to the scheme. Soft Landscape details should include: Planting plans; written specifications 
(including cultivation and other operations associated with plant and grass establishment); schedules of 
plants, noting species, planting sizes and proposed numbers/densities where appropriate; 
implementation timetables; and details of future landscape management

A small stand of Japanese knotweed has been recorded on the site. Under the terms of the Wildlife and 
Countryside Act 1981 it is an offence to spread this plant in the wild. It is known to damage hard 
surfaces and built structures. I would recommend that measures be adopted to eradicate Japanese 
knotweed from the site prior to any construction works commencing.

Environment Agency: - No objections. Standing advice for developments in flood zone 1 (over 1 
hectare in area) as follows:

• Proposals for surface water management should aim to ensure that run-off does not exceed 
existing (pre-development) rates and, where practicable, reduce the rate of runoff from the site 
as a result of the development (including information regarding how the proposed drainage 
design will perform under the increased frequency and intensity of rainfall that is predicted as a 
result of climate change). 

• Drainage from new developments must not increase flood risk either on site or elsewhere 
(NPPF paragraph 102) and should preferably reduce risk. Government policy strongly 
encourages a sustainable drainage system (SuDS) approach to achieve these objectives.

• Surface water run-off should be controlled as near to its source as possible through a sustainable 
drainage approach to surface water management (SuDS). SuDS seek to mimic natural drainage 
systems and retain water on or near to the site, when rain falls, in contrast to traditional drainage 
approaches, which tend to pipe water off site as quickly as possible. SuDS offer significant 
advantages over conventional piped drainage systems in reducing flood risk by reducing the 
quantity of surface water run-off from a site and the speed at which it reaches water courses, 
promoting groundwater recharge, and improving water quality and amenity. 

• Run-off from previously-developed sites should be compared with existing rates, not greenfield 
rates for the site before it was developed.  Developers are, however, strongly encouraged to 
reduce runoff rates from previously-developed sites as much as is reasonably practicable and in 
line with local policy. Volumes of run-off should also be reduced wherever possible using 
infiltration and attenuation techniques.

Highways and Engineering:- No objection in principle subject to amendments.
 This application will not impact upon the existing highways layout.
 The applicant proposes 5.5m wide carriageways and 2m wide footways which is suitable for a 

residential development.  
 The applicant proposes a number of Private Driveways. These areas will not become adopted as 

Highways and Rochdale BC will not maintain the road surface or provide street lighting in 
these areas.

 This application proposes 200% parking provision which is ideal for a development of this size 
and nature.



 I have concerns regarding Refuse Collection from this location. Refuse vehicles will not travel 
along Private Driveways. Refuse Vehicles should be able to get within 25m of Refuse 
Collection points and residents should not have to move refuse more than 30m. The Private 
Drive between 235 and 239 is too long and should be re-thought.

 The newly proposed accesses to the development are suitable for a development of this size and 
nature. 

 The local Network Capacity can accommodate a development of this size and nature.
 In a number of places the applicant has omitted a footway in favour of a narrow service strip. 

Service Strips offer Pedestrians no defence from motor vehicles and also generate a 
maintenance responsibility. These features are dangerous and in the long term expensive and 
should be replaced with more conventional footway carriageway combinations particularly 
around turning heads.

 No Public Right of Way will be obstructed by this development. 
 The development is very permeable for pedestrians which should encourage pedestrian travel.
 Highways Drainage will not change as a result of this development.

Further comments on additional information relating to construction traffic:
 I have nothing to question regarding the information submitted. The applicant has been open 

about the impacts of the traffic and patterns to be expected in delivery. The numbers calculated 
seem reasonable and the effects of any such traffic will be negligible. The construction route 
suggested is the most sensible available to the developer.

Highways England:-No objection subject to conditions relating to:
1. No direct vehicular or pedestrian access between the site and the M62 motorway.
2. No development on or adjacent to any motorway embankment or retaining wall that shall put 

the embankment, retaining wall or earthworks at risk.
3. No drainage shall run off into the motorway drainage system.
4. Submission of a detailed travel plan and measures implemented accordingly.

United Utilities (UU):- No objection. Comments as follows.

Drainage Comments: 
 In accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework and Building Regulations, the site 

should be drained on a separate system with foul draining to the public sewer and surface water 
draining in the most sustainable way in the following order of priority:

d) an adequate soak away or some other adequate infiltration system, (approval must be obtained 
from local authority/building control/Environment Agency); or, where that is not reasonably 
practicable;

e) a watercourse (approval must be obtained from the riparian owner/land drainage 
authority/Environment Agency); or, where that is not reasonably practicable;

f) a sewer (approval must be obtained from United Utilities).
 Public sewers cross this site and we will not permit building over them. We will require an 

access strip widths in accordance with the minimum distances specified in the current issue of 
"Sewers for Adoption", for maintenance or replacement. 

 Therefore a modification of the site layout, or a diversion of the affected public sewer at the 
applicant's expense, may be necessary. To establish if a sewer diversion is feasible, the 
applicant must discuss this at an early stage with Neil O'Brien Developer Engineer at 
wastewaterdeveloperservices@uuplc.co.uk as a lengthy lead in period may be required if a 
sewer diversion proves to be acceptable. 

 Deep rooted shrubs and trees should not be planted in the vicinity of the public sewer and 
overflow systems. 

United Utilities will have no objection to the proposal provided that the following condition is attached 



to any approval: -
 Unless otherwise agreed in writing and in line with the surface water management hierarchy, no 

development approved by this permission shall commence until a scheme for the disposal of 
foul and surface waters for the entire site has been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. For the avoidance of doubt, this site must be drained on separate 
systems combining just prior to connection to the public combined sewerage system. The 
development shall be completed, maintained and managed in accordance with the approved 
details. 

Reason: To ensure a satisfactory form of development and to prevent an undue increase in surface water 
run-off and to reduce the risk of flooding.

Water Comments: 
 A 500mm pumped trunk main and 12" supply main borders the site. As we need access for 

operating and maintaining it, we will not permit development in close proximity to the main. 
Require an access strip of no less than 10 metres, measuring at least 5 metres either side of the 
centre line of the pipe for the 12” main and an access strip of no less than 5 metres, measuring 
at least 2.5 metres either side of the centre line of the pipe for the 500mm main. 

 A domestic water supply can be made available to the proposed development. The meter by-
pass pipework supplying this area will be taken beyond its desired velocity limit by the increase 
in flow for this development. The developer may be required to contribute to the cost of the 
upsize of the pipework and meter. 

 The applicant must undertake a complete soil survey, as and when land proposals have 
progressed to a scheme design i.e. development, and results submitted along with an application 
for water. This will aid in our design of future pipework and materials to eliminate the risk of 
contamination to the local water supply.

 Each individual unit will require a separate metered supply at the applicant's expense and all 
internal pipework must comply with current water supply (water fittings) regulations 1999.  The 
level of cover to the water mains and sewers must not be compromised either during or after 
construction.

Transport for Greater Manchester (TfGM):- No objection. Comments as follows:
 The site is well located in relation to bus and rail services;
 The layout should be amended to retain the pedestrian and cycle links between the site and 

adjacent properties and the motorway footbridge, and ensure these are overlooked to provide 
passive surveillance;

 The developer should upgrade the two existing bus stops on Hill Top Drive to include shelters 
and raised bus boarding platforms;

 The developer should contribute towards the provision of cycle parking at locations in the area 
such as schools, shops and community facilities.

Sport England:- Non-statutory objection. Comments as follows.
 The proposal would result in the loss of playing field land to development, and does not accord 

with Sport England playing field policy or paragraph 74 of the NPPF.  Sport England therefore 
objects to the proposal.

 The current application will result in the loss of an area of land that was last used as a playing 
field and covers around 5 hectares.  Although the playing field has not been used for a number 
of years, it is still the case that the planning use of the land is for playing fields.  This use has 
not expired, nor has it been dimmed by its apparent period of inactivity in such use.  Given that 
the playing field has not been rendered incapable of playing field use by the carrying out of 
some other lawful development, I am of the opinion that it could readily be brought back into 
active use.  

 No assessment has been supplied to demonstrate that the playing field is surplus to requirement, 
and no replacement playing field provision is proposed.  Likewise, none of the specific criteria 



set out in paragraph 74 of the NPPF have been shown to exist.  No mitigation is offered in the 
form of a commuted sum, and no other exceptional circumstances have been shown to exist.

Green Infrastructure Officer: - Pleased that there are now more existing trees being retained. It is 
important that the number of trees provided in the replacement planting scheme can be compared to the 
number of existing trees being removed, and this information should be required by condition, along 
with appropriate tree protection.

The concerns detailed below remain relevant:  
 All of the trees currently growing along the boundary with Hill Top Drive are proposed for 

removal, which will be extremely detrimental to this section of Hill Top Drive.  I would like to 
see minor changes made to retain some of these mature trees, for example there may be an 
opportunity to retain the large ash tree, identified as T55 in the tree survey, with a slight 
realignment of the proposed footpath into the development, adjacent to plot 218.  

 The most important tree along this road is the large willow, identified as T1 in the Tree Report.  
I would want to see an alternative design that enables this significant tree to be retained. 

 I would also want to see a detailed tree impact assessment and a tree protection plans for the 
existing trees outside the site, along the boundary with the motorway.  I am concerned that the 
construction of the proposed bund will be detrimental to this significant row of trees.

 I would expect to see some shrub and other small scale planting along the top of the proposed 
bund to soften the impact of the noise fence.   

Environmental Health Officer (EHO):- Objection for the reasons set out below.  This remains 
unchanged by the additional information in the revised noise assessment report.  

 I accept that the design put forward does represent the lowest practicable levels achievable in 
external amenity spaces and understand the level of work that has gone in to arriving at this 
design.  However the worst predicted future noise levels are by far in excess of the 
recommended upper limit of 55dB(A) set out in BS 8233 2014, in these garden areas the level 
of motorway noise will be significant and may have an adverse impact on quality of life. 

 The vast majority of homes would have external noise levels in excess of those set out in BS 
8233:2014. I understand that when dealing with external noise levels BS 8233:2014 does state 
that it is desirable that the external noise level does not exceed 50 dB LAeq,T, with an upper 
guideline value of 55 dB LAeq,T, but does recognise that “these guideline values are not 
achievable in all circumstances where development might be desirable. In higher noise areas, 
such as city centres or urban areas adjoining the strategic transport network, a compromise 
between elevated noise levels and other factors, such as the convenience of living in these 
locations or making efficient use of land resources to ensure development needs can be met, 
might be warranted. In such a situation, development should be designed to achieve the lowest 
practicable levels in these external amenity spaces, but should not be prohibited.”

 However some of the garden areas would have external noise levels of 8dB above the upper 
limit.  It has to be understood that the level of motorway noise within these garden areas will be 
significant and may have an adverse impact on quality of life.  I would recommend that the 
developer re-assess their bund/barrier with a view to achieve an external noise level of no 
greater than 55 dB(A).

 The wind turbine has a condition requiring the noise shall not exceed 35 dBA (measured as a 15 
minute L90) at wind speeds of 8 metres per second or less at the curtilage of any noise sensitive 
premises.  If the existing wind turbine remains operational and the western half of site is 
developed the turbine will potentially be in breach of the condition.  However, the elevated 
noise levels of the motorway should continue to provide screening and predicted noise levels 
would still be well below the current background noise levels.

Natural England:- No objection.  Confirm that the revised drainage strategy addresses previous concerns 



over potential impact on the Rochdale Canal Special Area of Conservation (SAC) and Site of Special 
Scientific Interest (SSSI).

Environmental Management (Public Rights of Way):– No objection.  Route of RocFP34 and other 
Public Rights of Way should not be disturbed during construction.

Coal Authority:– No objection.  Located within defined Development Low Risk Area. Requested 
standing advice.

Public Protection Officer (air quality):- No objection subject to the recommendations of the assessment 
report and the travel plan being diligently implemented.

Public Protection Officer (environment):- No objection subject to condition requiring further site 
investigation and remediation.

Conservation Officer:- No objection. The development will not significantly affect the setting of the 
Grade II listed Sand Hole Farmhouse. 

Lead Local Flood Authority:- No response received to date.

GM Minerals and Waste:- No response received to date.

REPRESENTATIONS

Direct Publicity: - A total of 161 neighbouring properties were notified of the application by letter. In 
addition, as the proposal constitutes major development, is a departure from the UDP and has the 
potential to affect the setting of a listed building and public rights of way, appropriate notices have been 
posted adjacent to the site and in the local press. 

A total of 5 letters of objection have been received. The points of objection made in the letters, followed 
by officer responses, are summarised as follows:

Objection:
The use of the two existing access roads into the site will result in a loss of peace and quiet for the 
existing properties fronting these roads (particularly numbers 186 and 188 Hill Top Drive), both during 
and after construction.  This will impact on residents’ sleep patterns, health and well-being, with traffic 
starting as early as 5am, and will leave the residents with nowhere to park their cars without partly 
blocking the footway.  The widening of the access road in front of 186 and 188 will also result in the 
loss of the bushes and trees, causing a loss of privacy and views for these properties.  The use of a new, 
more central access road into the site where there are no existing properties would reduce disruption, 
and the existing accesses should be used as attractive walkways into the site.

Officer Response:
The applicant has considered these issues but this has not resulted in any amendments to the proposed 
site access arrangements.  However, one of the existing trees at the side of 186 Hill Top Drive will now 
be retained.  A condition is proposed requiring the submission of a Construction Method Statement 
including measures to minimise disturbance to residents.  It should also be noted that there is no formal 
right to park vehicles on the existing access road.

Objection:
Loss of light and privacy due to the height of the new houses.

Officer Response:



The proposed development accords with the minimum amenity distances specified in the Guidelines and 
Standards for Residential Development SPG.  However, the applicant has slightly increased separation 
distances between the proposed plots 24 to 27 and the existing houses (numbers 22 to 28 Everest 
Street).  Garden lengths have also been slightly increased to the proposed plots 13 to 18 (at the rear of 
206 to 214 Hill Top Drive), and the existing 5 trees will now be retained.

Objection:
Impacts during construction including noise disruption, building chaos and land movement.

Officer Response:
A condition is proposed requiring the submission of a Construction Method Statement including 
measures to manage construction activity during the course of the development.

Objection:
Risks involved in moving and re-siting sewerage pipes in an area prone to flooding.

Officer Response:
A condition is proposed requiring the submission of a comprehensive drainage scheme including 
measures to address these issues.  The Environment Agency has not raised any concerns over potential 
flooding.

Objection:
Object to the loss of the two very large trees at the side of 186 Hill Top Drive as they provide privacy, 
are well-liked and have been there a lot longer than we have.  The plans should be tweaked so that these 
trees can stay.

Officer Response:
Further information has been requested from the applicant in relation to the loss of trees and the planting 
of replacement trees.

Objection:
The boundary fencing separating the new estate from the current housing is a bad idea.  The 
development should be integrated with the current housing using pathways.

Officer Response:
The layout has been amended to include a new pathway between the new development and the existing 
path to the east of the site (linking adjacent to No’s 20 and 22 Everest Street).  This will provide a 
pedestrian and cycle route through the site to the motorway footbridge. Details of boundary treatments 
will be required by condition.  

Objection:
The new homes will be much superior to the current estate and may become the target of burglaries.  
Morale on the estate is low and a social divide could be created.

Officer Response:
A revised Crime Impact Assessment report has been provided and Greater Manchester Police have 
raised no objections.

Objection:
Object to the loss of 90 social housing houses for private homes to be built.

Officer Response:



The proposal does not require the loss of any existing houses.  There are separate proposals for the 
regeneration of the Strand local retail centre and the construction of a direct road link between the 
Strand and Hilltop Drive which would require the demolition of some social houses, the majority of 
which are now vacant.  However, this is not directly relevant to the current planning application and lies 
within the control of Rochdale Boroughwide Housing.

Objection:
Detrimental to existing house prices.

Officer Response:
This issue is not a material planning consideration.  

ANALYSIS

Principle of Development

The NPPF and Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development

Planning law requires applications to be determined in accordance with the development plan unless 
material considerations indicate otherwise. The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) published 
in 2012 is one such material consideration and whilst it does not change the legal status of the 
development plan, it promotes a presumption in favour of sustainable development, to which there are 
three mutually dependent dimensions: economic, social and environmental.  

Key to its economic dimension is the contribution to building a strong, responsive and competitive 
economy, by ensuring that sufficient land of the right type is available in the right places and at the right 
time to support growth and innovation; and by identifying and coordinating development requirements, 
including the provision of infrastructure.

The social dimension requires supporting strong, vibrant and healthy communities, by providing the 
supply of housing required to meet the needs of present and future generations; and by creating a high 
quality built environment, with accessible local services that reflect the community’s needs and support 
its health, social and cultural well-being.

Finally, the environmental dimension requires that development contributes to protecting and enhancing 
our natural, built and historic environment; and, as part of this, helping to improve biodiversity, use 
natural resources prudently, minimise waste and pollution, and mitigate and adapt to climate change 
including moving to a low carbon economy.

Paragraph 14 of the NPPF states that for plan-making, the presumption in favour of sustainable 
development means that local planning authorities should positively seek opportunities to meet the 
development needs of their area; and Local Plans should meet objectively assessed needs, with 
sufficient flexibility to adapt to rapid change unless any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly 
and demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in this Framework taken as 
a whole; or specific policies in the NPPF indicate development should be restricted.  

Paragraph 14 of the NPPF goes on to state that for decision-taking, the presumption in favour of 
sustainable development means: 
 Approving development proposals that accord with the development plan without delay, and
 Where the development plan is silent, or relevant policies are out-of-date, granting planning 

permission unless: 
 Any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the 

benefits, when assessed against the policies in the Framework taken as a whole; or 



 Specific policies in the framework indicate development should be restricted. 

In the context of the above, the site is designated as Protected Open Land in the 2006 UDP Proposals 
Map and the proposal therefore represents a departure from the development plan, specifically Policy 
D/10. The second bullet is therefore relevant and requires an assessment of the relevant policies in the 
development plan to determine whether or not they are out-of-date.  

Whilst the NPPF was published in 2012, paragraph 211 of the NPPF makes it clear that for the purpose 
of decision-taking, the policies in the Local Plan should not be considered out-of- date simply because 
they were adopted prior to the publication of the Framework. Rather, due weight should be given to 
relevant policies in existing plans according to their degree of consistency with the framework - the 
closer the policies in the development plan to the policies in the framework, the greater the weight they 
may be afforded in decision making.  

The northern part of the site that was previously occupied by school buildings and associated hard-
surfaced areas lies within the defined urban area where the principle of development is acceptable.  
However, the majority of the site lies outside of the defined urban area. The local policies relevant to the 
principle of development on this part of the site are Policy H/3 (residential development outside 
allocated areas), Policy D/10 (protected open land), Policy G/3 (protection of existing recreational open 
space) and Policy G/8 (greenspace corridors) of the UDP. 

The Framework defines previously-developed land as “land which is or was occupied by a permanent 
structure, including the curtilage of the developed land (although it should not be assumed that the 
whole of the curtilage should be developed) and any associated fixed surface infrastructure. This 
excludes…..land in built-up areas such as private residential gardens, parks, recreation grounds and 
allotments; and land that was previously-developed but where the remains of the permanent structure 
or fixed surface structure have blended into the landscape in the process of time.”

The application site has naturally grassed over since the use of the playing fields ceased and the school 
buildings were demolished and is therefore considered to comprise greenfield land as defined by the 
NPPF. 

In respect of Policies H/3 and D/10, there are two recent appeal cases of relevance which followed the 
refusal of planning permission for proposed residential development on Protected Open Land in the 
Borough.  These are considered further in the subsequent section of this report. 

Release of Protected Open Land in 2013

In allowing two recent appeal decisions from the Planning Inspectorate relating to the development of 
Protected Open Land at Keswick Street, Castleton (ref APP/P4225/A/11/2158074) and Broad Lane, 
Rochdale (ref APP/P4225/A/12/2184755), Inspectors have concluded as follows: 

• The relevant saved policies of the UDP, including both D/10 and H/3, which seek to 
prevent the release of greenfield sites in the presence of a five year land supply, have 
been overtaken by events and the national policy emphasis on delivery of housing, and 
are therefore effectively out-of-date.

• The Council acknowledges that it is unable to demonstrate a 5 year supply of housing 
land. The proposed development would assist in meeting an identified need for market 
and affordable housing in the area. In accordance with the Framework this weighs 
substantially in favour of the proposal.

• The proposition that a 20% buffer is warranted in Rochdale at present and that the land 
supply is perhaps as low as around 3 years, but around 3.66 years if the accrued 
shortfall is spread over the balance of the RSS period to 2021, was clearly not 
challenged by the Council at the Inquiry and it accepts in any event, that it cannot 



demonstrate a five year supply.
• Given that it is common ground between the Council and the appellants that the five 

year supply requirement is not currently met, and the development plan is manifestly 
out-of-date in terms of housing land, paragraph 14 of the Framework is undoubtedly 
engaged.

Notwithstanding the fact that Policy H/3 permits the development of greenfield sites when the supply of 
land available for residential development falls below five years, the current position remains that 
policies within the UDP relating to housing provision, the protection of open land and open space are 
out of date and can be afforded limited weight in the determination of this application. 

Where policies are out-of-date, the NPPF directs that planning permission should be granted unless any 
adverse impacts significantly and demonstrably (emphasis added) outweigh the benefits, when assessed 
against the NPPF as a whole; or unless specific policies indicate development should be restricted.  For 
decision taking, it is noted that the site is not subject to any of the designations listed in the NPPF that 
would indicate development should be restricted. Therefore, an assessment of the adverse impacts and 
benefits is necessary to determine whether the proposal comprises sustainable development as defined 
by the NPPF.  

Material Change in Circumstances

Since the Inspectors decisions concerning the release of Protected Open Land at Broad Lane and 
Keswick Street in 2013, there have been material changes in circumstances of relevance to this 
application: the submission of the Core Strategy for Examination in May 2013; the subsequent 
suspension of the examination following the Inspector’s direction that an update to the evidence base 
was necessary; and the updated evidence base itself.  This is considered in further detail below.

Emerging Core Strategy and Land Supply

Paragraph 216 of the NPPF recognises that from the date of publication, decision-takers may also give 
weight to relevant policies in emerging plans according to: the stage of preparation of the emerging 
plan; the extent to which there are unresolved objections to relevant policies (the less significant the 
unresolved objections, the greater the weight that may be given); and the degree of consistency of the 
relevant policies in the emerging plan to the policies in the NPPF (the closer the policies in the 
emerging plan to the policies in the Framework, the greater the weight that may be given).  

The Core Strategy was submitted for examination in May 2013.  An independent Inspector was 
appointed to hold the examination and the examination in public hearing sessions took place in October 
2013. Following the initial hearing sessions, and in view of more recent evidence emerging from the 
2011 census indicating higher than projected population growth and household formation rates, the 
Inspector sent a letter to the Council in November 2013 which set out his views in respect of the 
approach to housing.  His concerns related to the evidence regarding objectively assessed housing need 
supporting the target set out in the submitted Core Strategy. 

In order to address this issue, the Inspector directed that an update of the Council’s Strategic Housing 
Market Assessment (SHMA) was required and that the examination should be suspended in order for 
the updated SHMA and any associated work to be undertaken.  The Council agreed to suspend the Core 
Strategy at a Cabinet meeting in February 2014 to update the housing evidence.  

Following consultation on a draft SHMA in October 2014, the updated SHMA was finalised in 
February 2015 and the Core Strategy examination was recently reconvened in June 2015 to consider the 
updated housing needs evidence. The Inspector’s report and recommendations are currently awaited. 



The SHMA proposes that a figure of 460 dwellings per annum (dpa) would be an appropriate annual 
housing target reflecting current evidence on objectively assessed housing need, taking account levels of 
population and household growth emerging from the 2011 Census data.  It is important at this point 
however to clarify that the SHMA considers a range of need between 460 dpa up to 750 dpa based on 
various growth scenarios and it is for the Inspector to determine the appropriate housing target.  Until 
the Inspector issues the final report, the Council does not have a tested housing target for the plan period 
that would determine the number of dwellings to be delivered per annum and any emerging housing 
target, whether it be 460 or otherwise would therefore have limited weight at this time.   However, it is 
however clear that in light of this most recent evidence of housing need that the UDP policy 
requirement for 240 new homes per annum is out of date.  

In determining whether or not a five year land supply can be demonstrated, it is necessary to consider 
the availability of land for housing against the latest tested housing target.  Recent appeal decisions have 
taken what is referred to as the recalculated Regional Spatial Strategy (RSS) target into account.  The 
RSS dates back to 2003 and whilst the RSS was revoked in May 2013, the evidence base supporting the 
document remains relevant.  The RSS target for the Borough was 400dpa and the recalculated element 
refers to ‘unmet need’ arising as a result of completion rates per annum falling below this target since 
2003.  

In considering housing land supply housing targets, the NPPF requires that a buffer of 5% be included 
in order to ensure that any target continues to be met.  This would typically be land brought forward in 
the plan period to provide choice and competition in the market for land. However, this approach would 
not apply here. In circumstances where there has been a record of persistent under delivery of new 
housing, the NPPF makes clear that this buffer should be increased to 20% brought forward in the plan 
period. In Rochdale Borough’s case, housing completions in recent years, and taken as a whole since 
2003, are well below the previous target of 400 dpa set out in Regional Spatial Strategy (RSS) largely as 
a result of the major demolition programmes within the former Housing Market Renewal areas, which 
applied from 2003.

Therefore, in considering the current five year land supply since the publication of the NPPF, Planning 
Inspectors on recent appeals have taken the view that a 20% buffer should be applied in assessing 
whether or not a five year supply can be demonstrated within the Borough.  This is the approach taken 
by Planning Inspectors in determining recent appeals in the Borough relating to the development of 
Protected Open Land at Broad Lane and Keswick Street and designated green space for housing 
elsewhere within the Borough.  

If the recalcuated RSS target is to be met by 2021 (i.e. the end of the RSS period) this would give an 
annual target of 621 additional homes per annum (as at 1st April 2015).  This figure could be met from 
the current published five year supply (i.e. as at 1st April 2015) with the 5% supply buffer but cannot be 
met with the application of the 20% buffer.  

Housing Delivery Rates

Notwithstanding the above, looking at the housing target alone also ignores the particular issues faced 
within the Borough in terms of the delivery of new homes, and the recent background of clearance and 
demolition of housing as part of the Housing Market Renewal pathfinder programme. Indeed, between 
2003/4 and 2009/10 a total of 1,334 dwellings were demolished across the Borough. As a result, during 
the period between 2008/09 and 2012/13 there was an average net delivery of only 302 dwellings per 
year, thus well below the RSS target and significantly below the recalculated target.  Following the 
submission of the Core Strategy for examination, the rate of housing completions across the Borough 
has been below that set out within the RSS with a total of net completions of 267 in 2013/14 and 313 for 
2014/15, thus below both the original RSS requirement and the recalculated requirement.  

The Core Strategy seeks to manage the supply of land between the period of 2013 until 2028 and now 



proposes a higher housing requirement to respond to more recent evidence of population growth and 
household formation rates.  As of 1st April 2015, it must be therefore recognised that, were the Inspector 
to accept that an appropriate annual housing target for the Borough is 460, the Council would already be 
facing a shortfall of 340 housing completions against this target for the first two years of the Core 
Strategy period.  It is therefore concluded that the 20% buffer as advocated within the NPPF and 
accepted by the Inspectors as being relevant for the Borough in 2013 at the Broad Lane and Keswick 
Street appeals would similarly apply at the present time.

Going forward, the Borough will face an ongoing and challenging pressure in terms of the delivery of 
new housing against any plan target given a significant number of dwellings are proposed to be 
demolished over the next few years as part of the continued regeneration of existing housing areas.  The 
demolitions would need to be offset by an increase in new housing completions in order to avoid a 
further shortfall in new housing delivery.  

To meet targets going forward will require a significant uplift in the current rate of delivery of new 
housing and a deliverable supply of housing sites attractive to the market will be needed to ensure 
acceleration in the rates of housing delivery can be maintained to ensure housing needs are met over the 
Core Strategy plan period.  The Inspector, in considering the soundness of the Core Strategy, may 
therefore instruct that unmet need is moved forward and dealt earlier in the plan period.     

Irrespective of the uncertainty surrounding the appropriate housing target, it is clear that the housing 
policies and targets within the adopted UDP are out-of-date. In such cases, paragraph 14 of the NPPF 
very clearly directs that the ‘presumption in favour of sustainable development’ means planning 
permission should be granted unless the adverse impact of doing so would significantly and 
demonstrably outweigh the benefits (emphasis added) when assessed against the Framework as a 
whole; or where specific policies indicate development should be restricted.  

The submitted Core Strategy includes policy G5, Managing Protected Open Land, which is relevant to 
the application site. This policy seeks to retain the general protection of land between the Defined Urban 
Area and the Green Belt.  However, section 3 of the policy acknowledges that if there is evidence 
development needs cannot be met elsewhere then the development of protected open land may be 
acceptable provided that all of the criteria within the section are satisfied.  This has been incorporated in 
order to provide flexibility and seeks to reflect the guidance within NPPF that recommends that policies 
included in Local Plans are sufficiently flexible and responsive to deal any changes to development 
needs over the plan period.  Again, at the current time it is not clear whether this policy will be carried 
forward without modification given the Core Strategy must meet objectively assessed housing need for 
the purpose of soundness.  

Whilst the Core Strategy has not yet been adopted and the policies within it carry limited weight at this 
time, it nevertheless sets out the approach to assessing applications for housing developments within 
such locations and accordingly reflects the approach within the NPPF in providing a more flexible and 
responsive approach to dealing with changes to development needs over the plan period.  However, the 
Core Strategy covers a period between 2013 up to 2028. As reported previously, consistent undersupply 
against the housing target in the Core Strategy, particularly in the early years of the plan period, would 
further exacerbate the undersupply of housing in the Borough and would prejudice the delivery of the 
Core Strategy in the plan period. It would also be contrary to the NPPF requirement to boost 
significantly the supply of housing. The Inspector may therefore instruct that unmet need is moved 
forward and dealt earlier in the plan period.     

Having regard to the above, the Council is clearly unable to demonstrate a five year supply of housing 
land.  In light of this, it is noted that paragraph 49 of the NPPF is clear that relevant policies for the 
supply of housing should not be considered up-to-date if the local planning authority cannot 
demonstrate a five-year supply of deliverable housing sites and housing applications should be 



considered in the context of the presumption in favour of sustainable development. The NPPF must be 
afforded significant weight in the determination of this application and the presumption in favour of 
sustainable development is engaged. 

With regards to the golden thread of sustainable development running through the NPPF, it is also noted 
that the site is located in close proximity to bus routes and is within walking and cycling distance of 
local shops and services. Having regard to the above, the application site is considered to be within a 
sustainable location for the purposes of the NPPF. 

It is noted that the number of dwellings proposed would make a significant and valuable contribution 
towards the supply of housing within the Borough.  In the context of the above, significant weight is 
afforded to the benefits of the proposal in respect of its contribution to the supply of housing in the 
Borough.  

Since part of the site is within a Greenspace Corridor, policy G8 of the UDP is also relevant to this 
application.  Part A of this policy sets out what are considered to be the unacceptable impacts of 
development on Greenspace Corridors.  This includes unacceptable narrowing or division of a corridor 
and impacts on linkages, access, amenity and nature conservation value.  Part B then adds that where 
development is considered acceptable within a corridor, the design, materials used, boundary treatment 
and landscaping should take account of the corridor to help retain or re-establish the overall character of 
the corridor and contribute to nature conservation.

The proposed development would all but sever the corridor in this location and on this basis the 
proposed development would be contrary to policy G/8.  However, in its current condition, the site has 
limited value in terms of biodiversity and informal recreation.  In addition, the corridor narrows 
significantly as it runs eastwards behind properties on Gerrard Street and is mainly wooded.  The overall 
value of the Greenspace Corridor in this location is therefore reduced and its loss is considered to be 
outweighed by the benefits of the development in terms of contributing to the supply of housing in the 
Borough.

Regeneration Benefits

Kirkholt has long been viewed as a key regeneration area within the borough and was a former Housing 
Market Renewal neighbourhood.  The estate has been subjected to detailed masterplanning work and 
has benefited from significant public and private investment.  This has included the demolition of low 
demand properties and the delivery of new private market housing.

The loss of public funding to deliver ongoing regeneration means that it is important to maximise 
private sector investment to deliver new housing and other environmental improvements.  This ongoing 
regeneration will help to improve the overall attractiveness of the area by diversifying the housing offer 
and improving the overall environment and perception of the area.  The proposed scheme provides a 
good mix of housing types which will boost the supply of housing in the area and provide a wider 
choice of properties.

An Economic Impact Report has been provided which sets out the further benefits of the proposed 
development to the local area.  The benefits can be summarised as follows:

 Help to sustain or create 388 full-time equivalent job/years during the 10 year construction 
phase;

 Gleeson are committed to offering priority of employment to those living within 2 miles of the 
site, and were the first housebuilder to sign-up to the National Living Wage;

 Help to sustain 1,036 indirect job/years in the wider community and supply chain;
 Approximately £20 million spend in the region, based on the total construction cost;
 Annual intake of apprentice training, with applications from the immediate vicinity of the site 



encouraged and viewed favourably;
 Longer term economic benefits for the area including greater economic activity from new 

residents in employment and with income to spend in the local economy;
 Land receipt to Rochdale Council in the sum of £944,000;
 Around £300,773 additional council tax revenue per annum;
 New Homes Bonus payment to the Council of £1,804,637 over a 6 year period;
 The provision of low-cost new homes for people who would otherwise be unable to afford to 

buy a new home, freeing-up capacity in the rental market (both private and social);
 Gleeson offers financial support packages to help potential purchasers;
 Gleeson Community Matters Programme which aims to involve the local community, including 

kit sponsorship for local sports teams, engagement with local schools, sales to owner occupiers 
rather than private landlords, setting up a neighbourhood watch scheme and offering free 
adaptions to homes for disabled occupants.

Viability

Paragraph 173 of the NPPF is clear that pursuing sustainable development requires careful attention to 
viability and costs in plan making and decision taking.  Therefore, development should not be subject to 
such a scale of obligations and policy burdens that their ability to be developed viably is threatened.  To 
ensure viability, the costs of any requirements applied to development, such as requirements for 
affordable housing, standards, infrastructure contributions or other requirements should, when taking 
account of the normal cost of development and mitigation, provide competitive returns to a willing land 
owner and a willing developer to enable the development to be deliverable.

In this case, a viability appraisal has been submitted to the Council which demonstrates that the 
proposed development has a negative value once the land cost and open space contribution are made.  
Notwithstanding this, a financial contribution is proposed to be secured through the land agreement to 
open space and outdoor sports provision.  However, any further contributions over and above that to be 
secured to open space provision would render the scheme completely unviable and would compromise 
the delivery of the development.  

It has therefore been accepted by the Council’s Quantity Surveyor that the provision of affordable 
housing or the payment of further financial contributions would not be affordable on this scheme. 
However, it should be noted that should net sales values exceed certain levels, an overage clause in the 
land agreement will require the payment of a proportion of the additional value to the Council at an 
agreed rate.  

Open Space, Sports and Recreation

The school playing fields forming part of the site have not been used for the last eight years and have 
reverted to natural grassland.  However, this land remains designated as recreational open space in the 
UDP.  Policy G/3 states that the development of public or private recreational open space will not be 
permitted unless one or more of four exceptions applies, including that equivalent alternative provision 
is made either on-site or in the local area.  Sport England has objected to the loss of the land that was 
last used as playing fields, albeit this is a non-statutory objection as the playing fields have not been is 
use for over five years.  It is however noted that Sport England make reference to contributions to 
mitigate the loss of the playing field and as noted above, a contribution towards open space and sports is 
proposed to be secured through the land agreement to mitigate the loss of the recreational open space.  
Officers have informed Sport England of this contribution and any further comments will be reported to 
members in the update.  



In addition to the off-site contribution to open space and outdoor sports, Policy H/6 of the UDP and the 
Recreational Open Space in New Housing Development SPD require that residential developments in 
excess of 100 bedrooms should make a contribution is towards the provision of on-site open space.  
 
The proposed scheme includes the provision of on-site open space, consisting of an east to west 
footpath route through the centre of the development, with adjacent areas of grassed and landscaped 
public open space of between 10 and 15 metres in width.  An additional footpath/cycleway and adjacent 
strip of open space is proposed in the northern part of the site running north to south as a continuation of 
Rudyard Grove.  At the request of the Rochdale Township Planning Sub Committee Members, 
proposed condition three is amended to specifically refer to the phased provision of public open space 
as appropriate to serve the new residents.  The on-site open space provision is considerably less than the 
amount being lost and therefore, in order to address this issue, a contribution towards the provision of 
open space off-site is proposed to be secured in the land sale agreement and this has been factored into 
the viability assessment.  On this basis, it is considered that mitigation would be secured to offset the 
loss of open space in accordance with Policy H/6. 

Education Provision

Paragraph 72 of the NPPF states:

“The Government attaches great importance to ensuring that a sufficient choice of school places is 
available to meet the needs of existing and new communities. Local planning authorities should take a 
proactive, positive and collaborative approach to meeting this requirement, and to development that will 
widen choice in education. They should:

• give great weight to the need to create, expand or alter schools; and
• work with schools promoters to identify and resolve key planning issues before 

applications are submitted.

Policies C7 and DM2 of the emerging Core Strategy require that residential developments provide for 
social infrastructure including education facilities to meet the demand for additional school places 
created by such developments.  Whilst the weight that can be afforded to the Core Strategy policies is 
limited, the proposed residential development would generate additional demand for primary and 
secondary school places within the local area.  In accordance with the NPPF, the impact of the 
development on education provision should be mitigated. 

Comments are awaited from the Council’s Schools Service in relation to the capacity of local schools to 
accommodate the additional pupils.  However, notwithstanding this, it should be noted that the 
developer has demonstrated that the provision of further financial contributions would render the 
development unviable.  An update will be provided to members at the committee.  

Affordable Housing

The Affordable Housing SPD states that development of more than 15 dwellings should contribute to 
affordable housing.  The proposal does not include any ‘traditional’ affordable housing when considered 
against the official definition of affordable housing set out in the NPPF.  However, the application has 
been accompanied by an Affordable Housing Statement, which sets out the general ‘affordability’ 
within the scheme and the fact that a number of properties can be made available through the national 
‘Help to Buy’ scheme or the developer’s own shared equity scheme.  

National policy guidance states that some flexibility within affordable housing provision can be justified 
if there is evidence that the delivery of affordable housing would impact on scheme viability.  The 
developer has demonstrated that the provision of on-site affordable housing or financial contributions 
would render the development unviable. On this basis, it is considered that the economic and 



regeneration benefits of the scheme outweigh the need for affordable housing provision in this instance. 
It is also recognised that the location of the development would be reflected in the subsequent sales 
values.  

Noise

UDP Policy EM/3 states that care should be taken to ensure that noise pollution is kept to an acceptable 
level.  One of the 12 core planning principles of the NPPF is to always seek to ensure a good standard of 
amenity for all existing and future occupants of land and buildings.  

The applicant has submitted a noise impact assessment with the application to assess the implications of 
noise on the proposed dwellings, primarily from traffic on the adjacent M62 motorway.  Based on the 
outcome of the report, the proposal includes the construction of a three metre high earth bund adjacent 
to the motorway boundary, with an additional three metre high timber fence along the top.  The bund 
and fence will form the rear boundary of the 39 no. dwellings proposed adjacent to the motorway (plots 
38 to 93) and continue along the east and west site boundaries as far as plots 35 on the east and 95 on 
the west.  The existing line of poplar trees will remain on the motorway side of the proposed bund.

As a result of the construction of the bund and fence, along with acoustic specifications for glazing to 
habitable rooms, it has been demonstrated that acceptable indoor noise levels can be achieved, and this 
has been accepted by the Council’s Environmental Health Officer.  Appropriate conditions are proposed 
to ensure that these internal noise levels are met.

However, noise levels in the garden areas of a large proportion of the dwellings will exceed the 
maximum levels set out in British Standard 8233:2014, which states that it is desirable that external 
noise levels do not exceed 50 dB LAeq,T, with an upper guideline value of 55 dB LAeq,T.

Some of the homes would have external noise levels of 8dB above the upper limit.  The Council’s 
Environmental Health Officer has advised that the level of motorway noise within these garden areas 
will be significant and may have an adverse impact on quality of life.

However, it should be noted that the British Standard recognises that “these guideline values are not 
achievable in all circumstances where development might be desirable. In higher noise areas, such as 
city centres or urban areas adjoining the strategic transport network, a compromise between elevated 
noise levels and other factors, such as the convenience of living in these locations or making efficient 
use of land resources to ensure development needs can be met, might be warranted. In such a situation, 
development should be designed to achieve the lowest practicable levels in these external amenity 
spaces, but should not be prohibited.”

It can clearly be argued that the location of the site adjacent to the motorway will have transport benefits 
for the potential occupiers, and this should be balanced against the impact of the high noise levels on the 
site.  The applicant has submitted updated information that states that the proposed bund/barrier 
achieves the ‘lowest practicable’ external noise levels and therefore accords with the guidance.  
However, in view of the Environmental Health Officer’s comments, the developer has been requested to 
provide further evidence to support the statement and demonstrate that all practicable options to reduce 
noise levels have been explored and to demonstrate that an alternative treatment to the boundary with 
the M62 could not deliver further noise reduction.  The recommendation reflects the further information 
requested in respect of noise levels.  
   
The wind turbine on the site also generates noise and this could cause disturbance to the residents of the 
new properties if the turbine remains operational once the houses are occupied.  A phasing condition is 
proposed, including appropriate requirements to require the de-commissioning and removal of the 
turbine at an appropriate phase in the development to prevent nuisance arising to future occupants in 



accordance with Policy EM/3 of the UDP and the NPPF.  

Air Quality

UDP Policy EM/2 states that care should be taken to ensure that air pollution is kept to an acceptable 
level.  The NPPF states that planning decisions should ensure that any new development in Air Quality 
Management Areas is consistent with the local air quality action plan.  

An Air Quality Assessment (AQA) has been submitted in support of this application.  This concludes 
that subject to the implementation of dust control measures throughout construction works at the site, 
there would be no significant adverse impact on air quality in the area during this phase.  In addition, no 
significant adverse impact would arise from vehicle emissions during the operational phase, and the 
implementation of a travel plan is proposed.

The Council’s Public Protection officers are satisfied that there will be no unacceptable impacts, subject 
to the recommendations of the assessment report and the travel plan being implemented.  The proposal 
therefore accords with Policy EM/2 of the UDP and the NPPF.  

Neighbour Amenity Implications and Relationship with Surrounding Uses

UDP policy H/3 (e) requires development proposals to be compatible with surrounding uses, both in 
terms of its impact upon those uses and the impact of surrounding uses upon the amenity of future 
residents.

Criterion (i) and (j) of UDP policy BE/2 require proposals to demonstrate good design by:
• Ensuring adequate provision for natural light is made both within and between buildings.
• Minimising their potential environmental impact, including noise, air and water pollution.

Criterion (a) of UDP policy EM/3 indicates that development will not be permitted where it would lead 
to unacceptable levels of noise nuisance to nearby existing or future occupants of buildings, or users of 
open space.

One of the 12 core planning principles of the NPPF is to seek to secure a good standard of amenity for 
all existing and future occupants of land and buildings.  

In addition, the spacing standards outlined in paragraph 5.2 of the Council’s SPG Note “Guidelines and 
Standards for Residential Development” recommend that a minimum separation distance of 21 metres 
should be retained between principal elevations of opposing dwellings, 14 metres between principal and 
secondary elevations, and rear gardens should be a minimum of 10.5 metres in length.

The proposed development accords with the above policy guidance in terms of separation distances and 
garden lengths, and further minor improvements to the relationship with existing properties have been 
achieved.

The submission of a Construction Method Statement will be required by condition and will include 
mitigation for noise or other disturbance during construction.  Subject to this it is considered that the 
construction of the development would not have unacceptable impact on the amenity of nearby residents 
in accordance with Policy BE/2 of the UDP and the NPPF.

Heritage and Listed Buildings

Section 66(1) of the Planning (Listed Building and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 states that in 
considering whether to grant planning permission for development which affects a listed building or its 



setting, the local planning authority shall have special regard to the desirability of preserving the 
building or its setting or any features of special architectural or historic interest which it possesses.  
Furthermore, the Court of Appeal has held that decision-makers should give considerable importance 
and weight to the desirability of preserving the setting of listed buildings when carrying out the 
balancing exercise.

Heritage assets (both designated and non-designated) are defined in Annex 2 of the NPPF. The first 
bullet point to paragraph 131 of the NPPF indicates that, in determining planning applications, local 
planning authorities should take account of the desirability of sustaining and enhancing the significance 
of heritage assets and putting them to viable uses consistent with their conservation.

Paragraph 132 of the NPPF states:

“When considering the impact of a proposed development on the significance of a designated heritage 
asset, great weight should be given to the asset’s conservation. The more important the asset, the 
greater the weight should be. Significance can be harmed or lost through alteration or destruction of 
the heritage asset or development within its setting. As heritage assets are irreplaceable, any harm or 
loss should require clear and convincing justification. Substantial harm to or loss of a grade II listed 
building, park or garden should be exceptional. Substantial harm to or loss of designated heritage 
assets of the highest significance, notably scheduled monuments, protected wreck sites, battlefields, 
grade I and II* listed buildings, grade I and II* registered parks and gardens, and World Heritage 
Sites, should be wholly exceptional”. 

In addition, UDP policy BE/15 relates to the impact of development on the setting of listed buildings 
and states that Development will not be permitted, where through its siting, scale, design or materials, 
would harm the setting of a listed building.

The Grade II Listed Sand Hole Farmhouse lies to the west of the site, at a distance of approximately 160 
metres from the boundary.  The farmhouse is a 17th Century Yeoman's house constructed of sandstone 
rubble, stone flags and Welsh slates, and was Listed at Grade II on 15/2/2011. The listing description is 
detailed and specifies the principal reasons for designation as follows: 

 Date: The form of the house, with a large, full-depth housebody with chamfered cross beams 
and fire-window for gable inglenook; smaller parlour and kitchen; and roof structure including 
original hewn collar beam truss with curved struts, indicate a C17 date;

 Regional Distinctiveness: this is a vernacular yeoman's house built of local sandstone rubble 
with a stone slate roof, and horizontal stone mullion windows with stone hood moulds with 
label-stops over.

The listing description also refers to the presence of other agricultural buildings that have been 
constructed over the course of the 20th Century.

The farmhouse occupies an elevated position in relation to the application site and is visible from across 
the site.  However, the farmhouse and associated later buildings are enclosed by a mature hedgerow 
which clearly defines the immediate setting of the listed building. Based on the reasons for designation 
of the farmhouse, it is not considered that the wider landscape, including the application site, makes any 
significant contribution to the setting of the farmhouse.  Given the distance from the site and the 
proximity of the farmhouse to other development including the motorway and the existing housing, it is 
considered that the proposed development will have no detrimental impact on its setting in accordance 
with the requirements of Policy BE/15 and the NPPF.

Impact on Character of Surrounding Area and Landscape

Section 11 of the NPPF sets a wide context to conserving and enhancing the natural environment and 



requires that valued landscapes are protected and enhanced and requires that the level of protection is 
commensurate with the status and importance of landscapes. 

Policy G/BE/1 of the UDP states that new development (both buildings and their settings) will be 
required to contribute to the provision of an attractive, safe and accessible built environment, and in 
particular contribute to the quality of the townscape and landscape, and accord with the best of its 
surroundings. Developments that engender local distinctiveness will be encouraged.

The proposed development will have a visual impact when viewed from the adjacent residential 
properties.  However in the context of the immediate setting, including the adjacent motorway and 
existing housing, the visual and landscape impact is considered to be acceptable and in accordance with 
Policy G/BE/1 of the UDP and NPPF.  

Highways and Traffic Implications

Paragraph 32 of the NPPF states that all developments that generate significant amounts of movement 
should be supported by a Transport Statement or Transport Assessment. Planning decisions should take 
account of whether:

• the opportunities for sustainable transport modes have been taken up depending on the nature 
and location of the site, to reduce the need for major transport infrastructure;

• safe and suitable access to the site can be achieved for all people; and
• improvements can be undertaken within the transport network that cost effectively limit the 

significant impacts of the development. Development should only be prevented or refused on 
transport grounds where the residual cumulative impacts of development are severe.

UDP policy A/11 states that the submission of Transport Assessments will be required alongside 
planning applications where:

• The development has the potential to lead to a material increase in the volume of road traffic or 
increased impact because of the type of traffic, and it is necessary to determine whether 
highway works or other measures are necessary; and

• The development is major, and thus may involve a number of individual elements or uses which 
involve major generators of travel demand, and it is appropriate to illustrate accessibility to the 
site by all modes and the likely model split of journeys to and from the site.

The policy indicates that the scope and detail of Transport Assessments should reflect the size of a 
development and the extent of the transport implications and should illustrate what highway works and 
other transport measures are necessary to improve access, manage parking demand, address the impact 
of the development on air and noise pollution levels, and improve accessibility by walking, cycling and 
public transport. Any necessary measures identified in the Transport Assessment must support and 
complement the Local Transport Strategy set out in the Local Transport Plan.

The application has been supported by a Transport Statement which has considered and reviewed the 
existing traffic conditions, the additional travel movements generated by such type of housing 
developments, and the implications on traffic and highway capacity during construction. The statement 
has been reviewed by the Local Highway Authority, Highways England, and TfGM who have raised no 
concerns regarding the information, assessments and conclusions contained within the assessment.

UDP policy A/9 stipulates that development proposals will be required to facilitate safe and convenient 
access for general traffic, which includes cars, motorcycles and commercial vehicles. Relative to the 
scale, type and location of development, proposals should ensure that:

a) Roads, junctions and access points to/from premises are safe, convenient and suitable for the 
volume and characteristics of traffic that will be required to use them; and

b) Access for emergency service vehicles and other service vehicles, such as waste collection 



vehicles, is provided.

In addition, UDP policy H/3 (e) states that proposals should be compatible with surrounding uses, 
including highways, both in terms of impact upon those uses and the impact of surrounding uses upon 
the amenity of future residents, and BE/2 (g) requires proposals to facilitate safe and convenient access 
and circulation.

The proposal includes the provision of two access roads into the site, at the point of existing accesses 
onto Hilltop Drive.  The Transport Statement demonstrates that the site is in an accessible location in 
terms of public transport services and opportunities for walking and cycling.

The Council as Highways Authority has raised no objections on the grounds of road safety or traffic 
generation.  The layout has been amended to include a new pathway between the new development and 
the existing path to the east of the site (linking adjacent to numbers 20/22 Everest Street).  This will 
provide a route through the site to the motorway footbridge and encourage residents to travel on foot 
and by bicycle. 

The site layout has also been amended to ensure the provision of pedestrian footways within the site and 
to allow for access for refuse collection.  The further comments of the Highways Authority are awaited 
and will be reported in the update.

Ecology

The NPPF requires that applications should conserve and enhance biodiversity, valued landscapes, 
minimise impacts and recognise the benefits of ecosystems. The impacts on nature conservation 
interests are also protected by separate legislation including the Natural Environment and Rural 
Communities Act, which requires Local Authorities to have regard to nature conservation and article 10 
of the Habitats Directive, which stresses the importance of natural networks of linked corridors to allow 
movement of species between suitable habitats, and promote the expansion of biodiversity.

UDP policy NE/2 stipulates that development proposals adversely affecting sites and areas of ecological 
and geological/geomorphological importance will not be permitted (the Council seeking to protect and 
enhance them). UDP policy NE/4 states that development proposals which would affect a species 
protected by National or European law or its habitat will not be permitted unless it can be demonstrated 
that:

• There is no adverse impact on the species concerned;
• Loss of, or damage to habitats supporting such species is minimal and, where required, 

adequate alternative habitats are provided to sustain at least the current levels of the population 
of the species; and

• Where a proposal affects a European Protected Species, it fulfils the appropriate criteria for 
development as set out in National and European legislation.

An Extended Phase 1 Habitat Survey report has been provided which concludes that the development 
will have no adverse impacts on ecology.  As requested by Natural England, further information on the 
design of the surface water management and attenuation measures has been provided.  On the basis of 
this, Natural England is satisfied that there are no potential risks to the Rochdale Canal Special Area of 
Conservation/Site of Special Scientific Interest.

In relation to comments from GMEU, the existing maple trees adjacent to the motorway will be retained 
and protected during construction.  Conditions are included relating to the protection of the existing 
trees to be retained, the submission of a detailed replacement planting scheme, the protection of nesting 
birds and the removal of Japanese Knotweed.



Subject to the conditions set out below it is considered that there should be no unacceptable ecological 
impacts and the development will comply with Policies NE/2 and NE/4 and the NPPF.  

Impact on Trees

UDP policy NE/8 (criteria a – c, g and h) indicates that development proposals on sites containing trees 
and woodlands should ensure:

• Suitable space and conditions for the successful retention of trees, woodland and hedgerows;
• That new tree planting is of an appropriate scale and species and that the impacts on the 

amenity of the development and surrounding area in the longer term e.g., root spread, stability, 
loss of daylight, leaf fall and personal safety have been fully considered;

• Suitable care and protection of trees and their environment during construction;
• Suitable arrangements for future maintenance and management of trees and woodland (which 

may need to be secured by means of a legal agreement); and
• Replacement planting of trees in the event of death or failure during a 5 year period.

A Tree Survey report has been submitted which details the existing trees on the site, and the site layout 
plan indicates the removal of the majority of the existing trees within the site to accommodate the 
proposed development, although the line of maple trees adjacent to the motorway boundary will be 
retained.  

The revised layout plan indicates the retention of 6 no. trees previously shown for removal (T12 to T16 
and T6 in tree survey).  These are namely 5 no. trees at the rear of numbers 206-212 Hill Top Drive 
(plots 13-17) and 1 tree at the rear of number 190 Hill Top Drive (plot 1).  However two trees 
previously shown for retention are now shown for removal, due to the level changes required to 
construct the site access (T50 and T51).  These are a Rowan and an Ash located in front of number 184 
Hill Top Drive. The neighbours closely affected by these amendments have been re-consulted and no 
comments have been received to date.  Replacement planting will be secured within the site to replace 
the trees removed to facilitate the development and a condition is recommended accordingly.

The Green Infrastructure Officer is pleased that there are now more existing trees being retained but 
remains of the opinion that the most important tree, the willow (T1) close to number 188 Hill Top Drive 
should be identified for retention.  It is important that the number of trees provided in the replacement 
planting scheme adequately compensates for the number of existing trees being removed, and this 
information should be required by condition, along with appropriate tree protection.

The development will involve the loss of several existing trees on the site.  However, subject to 
conditions relating to tree protection and replacement landscape planting it is considered that the impact 
on trees will not be unacceptable and replacement tree planting will be sought to compensate for the 
loss of the trees and ensure no net loss of biodiversity in accordance with Policy NE/8 and the NPPF.

Flood Risk and Drainage Implications

Paragraph 100 of the NPPF states that “inappropriate development in areas at risk of flooding [land 
within Flood Zones 2 and 3; or land within Flood Zone 1 which has critical drainage problems and 
which has been notified to the local planning authority by the Environment Agency] should be avoided 
by directing development away from areas at highest risk, but where development is necessary, making 
it safe without increasing flood risk elsewhere”.

Paragraph 101 of the NPPF refers to the sequential test for the location of development, which aims to 
steer new development to areas with the lowest probability of flooding.  Flood zone 1 is the lowest 
probability of flooding, with flood zone 3 the highest. 



The application site falls within flood zone 1 and is therefore at a low risk of flooding (less than 1 in 
1000 or 0.1% annual probability of river or sea flooding in any year). However, the application site does 
comprise a major residential development and accordingly the application has been supported by a 
Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) and outline drainage strategy. 

The submitted FRA considers the risk of flooding to the site from various sources including rivers, 
groundwater, artificial sources and surface water to be low. It notes that the site has not been subject to 
flooding from rivers, the sea, highways, sewers, reservoirs or canals. 

The Environment Agency and United Utilities have raised no objections to the proposed development 
subject to the imposition of conditions which have been included in the recommendation. Therefore, it 
is considered that in principle adequate measures can be put in place in order to ensure that the 
development poses no unacceptable risk in terms of flooding (either on the site itself or elsewhere) in 
accordance with the requirements of UDP policy EM/7 and the policies within the NPPF.

Land Contamination and Site Conditions

Paragraph 120 of the NPPF identifies that where a site is affected by contamination or land stability 
issues, responsibility for securing a safe development rests with the developer and/or landowner.

Paragraph 121 of the NPPF indicates that planning policies and decisions should ensure that:
• the site is suitable for its new use taking account of ground conditions and land instability, 

including from natural hazards or former activities such as mining, pollution arising from 
previous uses and any proposals for mitigation including land remediation or impacts on the 
natural environment arising from that remediation; 

• after remediation, as a minimum, land should not be capable of being determined as 
contaminated land under Part IIA of the Environmental Protection Act 1990; and

• adequate site investigation information, prepared by a competent person, is presented.

In addition, UDP policy EM/4 stipulates that where there are reasonable grounds to suspect that land 
which is the subject of a development proposal has the potential for contamination, the Council will 
require a detailed survey of ground conditions, details of any proposed remedial treatments and a 
completion report to establish that the work has been carried out in accordance with the agreed 
remediation scheme. In considering proposals for new development or change of use, the Council will 
take account of their potential for contamination of land and will seek to prevent further contamination 
by refusing proposals likely to give rise to significant contamination or by imposing stringent 
conditions.

A Ground Investigation Report has been submitted which concludes that the limited contamination 
sources identified represent a negligible or low risk to receptors associated with the proposed 
development, subject to further monitoring and mitigation measures. The Council’s Public Protection 
Officer has no objection subject to the imposition of a condition requiring further site investigations and 
appropriate remediation.  Subject to the imposition of this condition, as detailed below, it is considered 
that the development complies with Policy EM/4 of the UDP and the NPPF.  

Impact on Mineral and Coal Interests

With regards to mineral interests, policy 8 of the Greater Manchester Minerals Plan states that proposals 
for non-mineral development within the Mineral Safeguarding Areas that do not allow for the prior 
extraction of minerals will only be permitted where:

1. The need for the development outweighs the need to extract the mineral; or
2. It can be clearly demonstrated that it is not environmentally acceptable or economically viable 



to extract the mineral prior to non-mineral development taking place; or
3. It can be clearly demonstrated that the mineral is either not present or of no economic value or 

too deep to extract in relation to the proposed development; or;
4. The development is limited or temporary and would not prevent minerals extraction taking 

place in the future.

The application site forms part of an allocated Mineral Safeguarding Areas for Sand and Gravel, Coal 
and Brick Clay within the Greater Manchester (GM) Minerals Plan. The proposed development would 
not allow for the prior extraction of minerals from the site and as a result would sterilise any clay or 
brick reserves which may exist below the site. 

In the absence of an adopted Core Strategy and confirmed and tested housing land supply, it is noted 
that the residential development should be assessed with regard to the presumption in favour of 
sustainable development and the objective of boosting housing provision set out in the NPPF. As a 
result, it is considered that the need for the proposed development to form 269 houses would outweigh 
the need for mineral extraction. On this basis it is considered that an exception can be made to the 
requirements of Policy 8 of the Greater Manchester Minerals Plan in accordance with the policy.

Conclusions

Policies within the UDP relating to the management of housing land and protection of open land are out 
of date and can be afforded limited weight in the determination of this planning application. Taking 
account of the most recently tested housing target for the Borough, the recalculated RSS target, the 
Council would be unable to demonstrate a 5 year supply of housing land. The NPPF must therefore be 
afforded significant weight in the determination of this application and the presumption in favour of 
sustainable development is engaged.

Paragraph 14 of the NPPF very clearly directs that where policies are out-of-date, the ‘presumption in 
favour of sustainable development’ means planning permission should be granted unless the adverse 
impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits (emphasis added) when 
assessed against the policies in the NPPF as a whole; or where specific policies in the NPPF indicate 
development should be restricted.

In assessing the merits of the scheme, it is clear that there are no specific policies in the NPPF that 
would indicate the development should be restricted. It is also evident that previous appeals in the 
Borough concerning the release of Protected Open Land for housing have been allowed in the context of 
the need to boost significantly the supply of housing within the Borough for the reasons set out within 
the NPPF, and in recognition of the fact that such land was originally safeguarded to meet future 
development needs.

Since these appeals were allowed in 2013, the Rochdale Core Strategy has been submitted for 
examination and the most recent evidence prepared by the Council to support this suggests that a higher 
housing requirement is needed for the Borough above that originally identified within the RSS. 
 Furthermore, going forward the Borough will face an ongoing and challenging pressure in terms of the 
delivery of new housing against any planned target given the fact that a significant number of further 
dwellings are proposed to be demolished as part of the continued regeneration of existing housing areas. 
To ensure there is no ongoing deficit in supply, the total number of demolitions will need to be matched 
by an equivalent uplift above the annual target of housing completions.  The evidence demonstrates that 
significant weight must therefore be afforded to the benefits of the scheme in respect of its contribution 
to the supply of housing in the Borough.  

Based on the advice of the Environmental Health Officer, the noise levels within the external areas of 
the proposed development remain of concern and further information is required before this can be 



resolved, including evidence to demonstrate that the best practicable solution has been proposed.  
However, the principle of the release of the land for residential development could be supported.   
Further information is required to ensure appropriate replacement tree planting to mitigate for the loss 
of existing trees, and a condition is proposed requiring full details of the landscaping to be submitted 
and approved. 

In terms of benefits, the proposal would provide a significant number of new dwellings to meet housing 
needs adjacent to an existing urban area within an accessible and sustainable location.  Economic and 
social benefits would arise through direct capital investment; additional spending of household income 
on local services and facilities; and the creation of direct and indirect jobs throughout construction and 
through the longer term additional spend of households within the local area.

The developer has demonstrated that the provision of affordable housing or further financial 
contributions would render the development unviable.  Bearing in mind the NPPF guidance that 
development should not be subject to such a scale of obligations and policy burdens that their ability to 
be developed viably is threatened, it is considered that the economic and regeneration benefits of the 
scheme outweigh the need for developer contributions in this case.

It is accepted that the proposal would result in the loss of an area of Protected Open Land and 
Greenspace Corridor, which provides an open buffer on the urban fringe. However, in the context of 
this site, which lies between the urban area and the M62, the harm that would arise would not 
significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits of the proposal, which is the test of national 
policy. As such, there are no sustainable grounds to justify a refusal of planning permission on these 
grounds. 

Thus, in terms of the decision-making approach set out in paragraph 14 of the Framework, it is 
considered that the proposal comprises sustainable development and planning permission should be 
granted subject to outstanding issues relating to noise being resolved and the conditions recommended.  

RECOMMENDATION

It is recommended that Committee resolve that it is minded to grant planning permission subject to the 
outstanding issues relating to noise and layout being satisfactorily addressed and subject to the 
conditions set out below:

GRANT subject to the following conditions:-

1. The development must be begun not later than the expiration of three years beginning with the 
date of this permission.

Reason: To comply with the requirements of section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990 as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

2. This permission relates to the following plans:- 

Revised location plan received 30th July 2015;
Planning Layout plan ref. 321/5F received 27th August 2015;
Acoustic Fence details ref. 0282/HRD115 received 27th August 2015;
Acoustic Fence elevation ref. Acoustic/001 received 27th August 2015;
Topographical Survey Ref. 7057/01 Rev. A;
Existing tree survey Ref. 2560/1 Rev. A;
Street Elevations Ref. 321/6-A;
Twin Garage Ref. SD702;



Detached Single Garage Ref. SD701;
1200mm High Timber Fence Ref. 0282/SD-100 Rev. A;
Post and Wire Fence Ref. 0282/SD103;
201 Dwelling Type Ref. 201/1F;
201 Elevations (Rural 13) Ref. 13/201-8 Rev. C;
202 Dwelling Type Ref. 202/1F;
202 Elevations (Rural 13) Ref. 13/202-9 Rev. C;
301 Dwelling Type Ref. 301/1G;
301 Elevations (Rural 13) Ref. 13/301-8 Rev. D;
302 Dwelling Type Ref. 302/1G;
302 Elevations (Rural 13) Ref. 13/302-9 Rev. C;
303 Dwelling Type Ref. 303/1E;
303 Elevations (Rural 13) Ref. 13/303-9 Rev. C

and the development shall not be carried out other than in complete accordance with these 
drawings hereby approved.

Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure a satisfactory standard of development in 
accordance with the policies contained within the Rochdale Unitary Development Plan and the 
National Planning Policy Framework.

3. No development shall take place until a phasing plan, which shall include the access 
arrangements for each phase, the decommissioning and removal of the wind turbine and the 
laying out of public open space at an appropriate time to serve each phase, has been submitted 
to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The development shall be carried out 
in accordance with the approved phasing plan.  

Reason: To ensure that any phased development of the site takes place in an appropriate order 
and within an acceptable timescale, to ensure adequate provision of infrastructure to serve the 
dwellings and to ensure that occupiers will not experience unacceptable noise impacts from the 
wind turbine.

Reason for pre-commencement condition: In the interests of proper planning, the 
comprehensive development of the site and the prevention of unacceptable noise disturbance.

4. No development shall be commenced until full details of the noise attenuation bund and fencing 
on the southern site boundary, including construction level details, materials, measures to 
protect the existing trees and any additional planting have been submitted to and agreed in 
writing by the local planning authority. The bund and fence shall be completed in full 
accordance with the approved details and with the timescales set out in the Phasing Plan 
pursuant to condition no.3.

Reason: In order to ensure the implementation of appropriate noise attenuation measures for the 
proposed dwellings to ensure satisfactory conditions for future occupiers of the development in 
accordance with the requirements of Unitary Development Plan policies BE/2 and EM/3 and 
the National Planning Policy Framework.

Reason for pre-commencement condition: In the interests of proper planning, the 
comprehensive development of the site and the prevention of unacceptable noise disturbance.

5. The dwellings should be constructed in accordance with the recommendations in the approved 
Spectrum Acoustic Consultants Noise Impact Assessment Ref. MM193/15172 dated August 
2015 and designed to ensure that indoor noise levels do not exceed the stated levels. Prior to the 



first occupation of each dwelling hereby approved, a verification report shall have been first 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, confirming that the 
approved ventilation and acoustic measures set out in the Noise Impact Assessment have been 
implemented.

Reason: In order to ensure the implementation of appropriate noise attenuation measures for the 
proposed dwellings to ensure satisfactory living conditions for future occupiers of the 
development in accordance with the requirements of Unitary Development Plan policies BE/2 
and EM/3 and the National Planning Policy Framework.  

6. Notwithstanding the provisions of Schedule 2, Parts 1 and 2, of the Town and Country Planning 
(General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015, or any equivalent Order following the 
revocation and re-enactment thereof, the dwellings shall not be extended in any way, except 
with the prior written approval of the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: To ensure that acceptable standards of privacy and amenity are maintained, in 
accordance with UDP Policy BE/2 and the Guidelines and Standards for Residential 
Development SPG.

7. No development shall take place within a phase until details of the finished floor and 
external site levels within that phase relative to off-site datum have been submitted to 
and approved in writing by the local planning authority. Development shall be carried 
out in accordance with the approved details and retained thereafter.

Reason:  In the interests of visual amenity in accordance with the requirements of 
Unitary Development Plan policies BE/2, EM/7 and the National Planning Policy 
Framework.

Reason for pre-commencement condition: As the proposals require ground works and 
engineering works an understanding of site levels will therefore be necessary prior to 
commencement of any building or engineering works on site. Finished floor levels are 
intrinsically linked to site levels.

8. No development shall take place until full details of vehicular access on to Hill Top Drive, 
including construction level drawings showing the levels, drainage strategy, lighting and 
materials (as necessary) of the access roads shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. The vehicular access shall be completed in accordance with the 
approved details and the timescales set out in the Site Phasing Plan approved pursuant to 
condition no.3.

Reason: In order to provide safe, secure access to the development in the interests of public 
safety, and ensure continued function of the surrounding highway network, in accordance with 
UDP policy A/9 and the National Planning Policy Framework.

Reason for pre-commencement condition: In the interests of proper planning, the 
comprehensive development of the site and to ensure highway safety.

9. The measures to control the emission of dust during the construction phases of the development 
shall be implemented in full as set out in the approved Air Quality Assessment, SLR Project 
Ref No: 410.03044.00032 Former Hill Top School, Rochdale June 2015, the addendum letter 
from SLR dated 6th August 2015 and the Westgate Consulting Ltd Travel Plan dated June 
2015.



Reason: In order to ensure that appropriate measures are put in place to limit dust nuisance to 
the occupiers of neighbouring dwellings during the construction phases of the development in 
accordance with the requirements of Unitary Development Plan policies BE/2 and EM/2, and 
the National Planning Policy Framework.

10. No development shall take place until details of a scheme to dispose of foul and surface water 
from the site has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The 
surface water drainage scheme shall be based on sustainable drainage principles and shall 
incorporate adequate on site attenuation storage where necessary. The submitted scheme shall 
include:

(i) details of volumetric run-off control as per CIRIA SIDS manual C697 with the rate set 
at Qbar if no infiltration is provided

(ii) details of exceedence event of up to a 1 in 100 year including climate change allowance
(iii) a timetable for its implementation; and a management and maintenance plan for the 

lifetime of the development which shall include the arrangements for adoption by any 
public authority or statutory undertaker and any other arrangements to secure the 
operation of the scheme throughout its lifetime.

The approved drainage shall be fully implemented and subsequently retained in accordance 
with the management and maintenance plan.

Reason: To prevent an increased risk of flooding as a result of the development, to ensure that 
surface water discharge rates are limited to pre-development (greenfield) levels in accordance 
with the submitted Flood Risk Assessment and to ensure satisfactory disposal of surface and 
foul water from the site in accordance with the requirements of Unitary Development Plan 
policy EM/7 and the National Planning Policy Framework.

Reason for pre-commencement condition: As the proposals require ground works and 
engineering works and potential on site storage attenuation, these details are required prior to 
commencement of any building or engineering works on site.

11. No development shall take place until a Construction Method Statement (CMS) has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The CMS shall include 
details of the following: 

(i) hours for site preparation, delivery of materials and construction; 
(ii) the parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors; 

(iii) loading and unloading of plant and materials;
(iv) storage of plant and materials used in constructing the development;
(v) the erection and maintenance of security hoarding; 

(vi) wheel washing facilities; 
(vii) measures to control vehicle emissions during the construction and operational phases of 

the development as set out in the approved Air Quality  Assessment, SLR Project Ref 
No: 410.03044.00032 Former Hill Top School, Rochdale June 2015 and the addendum 
letter from SLR dated 6th August 2015.; and

(viii) a scheme for managing and the recycling/disposing of waste resulting from 
construction works.

The duly approved CMS shall be adhered to throughout the construction and operational period.

Reason: In order to ensure that appropriate measures are put in place to limit noise, nuisance 
and disturbance to the occupiers of neighbouring dwellings during the construction of the 
development in accordance with the requirements of Unitary Development Plan policies BE/2, 
EM/2 and EM/3 and the National Planning Policy Framework.



Reason for pre-commencement condition: As the proposals require ground works and 
engineering works an understanding will therefore be necessary of what measures will be put in 
place to protect the amenity of nearby residents prior to commencement of any building or 
engineering works on site.

12. Notwithstanding any description of materials in the application no above ground works shall 
take place until samples or full details of materials to be used externally on the building(s) have 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Such details shall 
include the type, colour and texture of the materials. Only the materials so approved shall be 
used, in accordance with any terms of such approval.

Reason: In order to ensure a satisfactory appearance in the interests of visual amenity in 
accordance with Policy BE/2 of the Council’s Unitary Development Plan.

13. No above ground works within any phase of the development hereby permitted shall take place 
until, a detailed lighting scheme for any external lighting to be installed within all highways, 
footpaths, public open spaces and landscape buffer zones on all boundaries of the site, within 
that phase has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  
Such details shall include its position and height on the building or site and its luminance, angle 
of installation and any hoods to be fixed to the lights.  Only lighting as approved shall be 
installed on the site in accordance with the terms of any such approval.

Reason: In order that the development does not prejudice the favourable conservation status of 
protected species and the operation of the highway network in accordance with the 
requirements of Unitary Development Plan policies A/9 and NE/4 and the National Planning 
Policy Framework. 

14. No clearance of trees and shrubs in preparation for or during the course of development shall 
take place during the bird nesting season (March – July inclusive) unless an ecological survey 
has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority which establishes 
that no part of the site is utilised for bird nesting. Should the survey reveal the presence of any 
nesting species, then no development including clearance of trees and shrubs shall take place 
until a methodology for protecting nest sites during the course of the development has been 
agreed in writing by the local planning authority. Nest site protection shall be provided in 
accordance with the approved methodology.

Reason: In order to prevent any habitat disturbance to nesting birds in accordance with Unitary 
Development Plan Policies NE/3 and NE/4 and the provisions of the Wildlife and Countryside 
Act 1981 (as amended).

15. No development shall take place until a detailed method statement for the removal or long-term 
management/eradication of Japanese Knotweed on the site has been submitted to and approved 
in writing by the local planning authority. Development shall be carried out in accordance with 
the approved method statement. The method statement shall include measures to prevent the 
spread of Japanese Knotweed during any operations such as mowing, strimming or soil 
movement, and measures to ensure that any soils brought to the site are free of the 
seeds/roots/stems of any invasive plant covered under the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981.

Reason: To ensure the satisfactory treatment and disposal of invasive plant species which, under 
the terms of the Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981 (as amended) it is an offence to be caused to 
be spread in the wild, in accordance with the objectives of Unitary Development Plan Policy 
NE/3.



Reason for pre-commencement condition: As there are invasive species on site a method 
statement setting out their disposal will therefore be necessary prior to commencement of any 
building or engineering works on site.

16. No above ground works shall take place until a landscaping scheme has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  Such a scheme shall include details of the 
type, species, siting, planting distances and the programme of planting of trees and shrubs.  The 
scheme of planting, as approved, shall be carried out during the first planting season after the 
development is substantially completed and the areas which are landscaped shall be retained as 
landscaped areas thereafter. Any trees or shrubs removed, dying, being severely damaged or 
becoming seriously diseased within three years of planting shall be replaced by trees or shrubs 
of similar size and species to those originally required to be planted.

Reason: In order to achieve a satisfactory level of landscaping in the interests of the amenities 
of the area in accordance with Policies BE/2 and BE/8 of the Council’s Unitary Development 
Plan.

17. No above ground works shall take place until details of the siting, design and materials to be 
used in the construction of walls or fences for boundaries, screens or retaining walls have been 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The approved walls/fences shall be 
erected before each dwelling hereby approved is first occupied and shall thereafter be retained 
unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.   

Reason: In the interests of the amenity of the occupiers of neighbouring residential properties 
and the general visual amenities of the vicinity in accordance with policies H/4/ H/11/and BE/2 
of the Rochdale Unitary Development Plan.

18. The recommendations contained in the approved Travel Plan (Westgate Consulting Ref: 37 
V3 dated June 2015) shall be implemented prior to the first occupation of the dwellings 
unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority and shall continue to be 
implemented thereafter.

Reason: To encourage people to use more sustainable modes of transport other than the motor 
car, in accordance with Policy A/11 of the Council’s Unitary Development Plan.

19. No development shall take place until an investigation and risk assessment (in addition to the 
Patrick Parsons report dated 24th February 2015) has been submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority. The assessment shall investigate the nature and extent of any 
contamination on the site (whether or not it originates on the site). The assessment shall be 
undertaken by competent persons and a written report of the findings submitted to and approved 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority before any development takes place. The submitted 
report shall include:

i)  a survey of the extent, scale and nature of contamination;
ii) an assessment of the potential risks to:

 human health,
 property (existing or proposed) including buildings, crops, livestock, pets, 

woodland, and service lines and pipes,
 adjoining land,
 groundwaters and surface waters,
 ecological systems,
 archaeological sites and ancient monuments;

iii) where unacceptable risks are identified, an appraisal of remedial options and proposal of the 



preferred option(s) to form a remediation strategy for the site.

The development shall thereafter be carried out in full accordance with the duly approved 
remediation strategy and a verification report submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority before any of the buildings hereby approved are first occupied. 

Reason: To prevent pollution of the water environment and to ensure the safe development of 
the site in the interests of the amenity of future occupiers in accordance with Unitary 
Development Plan policies EM/4, EM/8 and BE/2, and the National Planning Policy 
Framework.

Reason for pre-commencement condition: Further investigation will be necessary prior to 
commencement of any building or engineering works on site.

20. No trees identified for retention on the Planning Layout plan ref. 321/5F shall be removed 
without the approval of the local planning authority. No development shall take place until all 
trees that are to be retained have been enclosed with temporary protective fencing in accordance 
with BS:5837:2012 'Trees in relation to design, demolition and construction. 
Recommendations'. The fencing shall be retained during the period of construction and no 
work, excavation, tipping, or stacking/storage of materials shall take place within such 
protective fencing during the construction period.

Reason: In order to protect the existing trees on the site in the interests of the amenities of the 
area and in accordance with Policies BE/2, BE/8 and NE/8 of the adopted Rochdale Unitary 
Development Plan.

Reason for pre-commencement condition: The existing trees should be protected prior to any 
earthworks taking place.

Report Author Alison Truman



 

Subject: Fixed Odds Betting Terminals / 
request to support the introduction of a maximum 
stake

Status: For Publication

Report to: Planning and Licensing Committee

Cabinet Member: Cabinet Member for Public 
Health and Regulation

Date: Monday, 21 September 2015
 

Report of: Director of Economy & Environment
                  Director of Public Health

Author Email:    andy.glover@rochdale.gov.uk

Authors: Andy Glover
                    Helen Skidmore

Tel: Tel: 01706 924105
                  helen.skidmore@rochdale.gov.uk                                 Tel: 01706 927074

Comments from Statutory 
Officers:

Monitoring Officer:   Yes
Section 151 Officer: Yes 

Key Decision: No

1 Purpose of the report
1.1 The purpose of this report is to inform members of the Committee of a request by 

the Campaign for Fairer Gambling, which is seeking to lobby for the introduction of 
a £2 maximum stake on Fixed Odds Betting Terminals and has formally requested 
the support of Rochdale Council in this regard.  This report sets out details the 
background to this request and gives an assessment of the impact of Fixed Odds 
Betting Terminals across the Borough. 

2 Recommendations
Members of the Planning and Licensing Committee are requested to:

2.1  formally endorse the efforts of the Campaign for Fairer Gambling in their efforts to 
secure the introduction of a £2 maximum stake in the use of Fixed Odds Betting 
Terminals.  

3 Background
3.1  On 29 July 2015, the Leader of the Council received an e-mail from the Campaign 

for Fairer Gambling seeking the Council’s formal support for a proposal to 
introduce a maximum stake of £2 on Fixed Odds Betting Terminals. This would 
bring the maximum stake for Fixed Odds Betting Terminals into line with the 
maximum stake of £2 which applies to other gambling machines allowed in betting 
shops.  The Leader passed this e-mail to the Chief Public Protection Officer, and 
asked him to draft a response on behalf of the Council.  A copy of this response 
(sent out on 11 August 2015) is attached as Appendix 1.  As part of this response, 
it was confirmed that a report would be taken to a future meeting of the Planning 
and Licensing Committee; this was felt to be the most appropriate forum for a 



detailed discussion of this issue, with a view to the Council potentially giving its 
support for the introduction of a maximum stake.

4                What are Fixed Odds Betting Terminals? 

4.1 A comprehensive summary of Fixed Odds Betting Terminals (FOBTs) and the 
background to recent concern is set out in this extract from the House of 
Commons Briefing Paper SN06946: 

“Fixed odds betting terminals (FOBTs) are electronic machines, sited in betting 
shops, which contain a variety of games, including roulette. Each machine 
accepts bets for amounts up to a pre-set maximum and pays out according to 
fixed odds on the simulated outcomes of games.

The Gambling Act 2005 classified FOBTs as B2 gaming machines. Up to four 
machines can be sited on betting premises. The maximum stake on a single 
bet is £100, the maximum prize is £500.

B2 machines have proved controversial since they first appeared. Critics point 
out that it is possible to lose large amounts of money and that the machines 
have a causal role in problem gambling.

The gambling industry says there is no evidence of a causal link between B2s 
and problem gambling. It also claims that reducing the maximum stake to £2, 
as some critics are campaigning for, would put betting shops and jobs at risk.

The Responsible Gambling Strategy Board, a body advising the Gambling 
Commission, has said that the correlations and associations between gaming 
machines and gambling-related harm are “poorly understood”.

In December 2014, the Responsible Gambling Trust, a charity working to 
minimise gambling related harm, published a set of research reports on 
category B machines. A research oversight panel, made up independent 
academics, said the reports were “instrumental” in providing evidence that 
there were patterns of play that could be used to identify problem gambling. 
However the panel said that further “strategic” evaluative studies would be 
needed before policies could be devised that only targeted problem gamblers.”

4.2  Bookmakers have previously agreed that customers would not be able to insert a 
debit / credit card into FOBTs with money then being taken directly from a 
customer’s account.  However, according to the Campaign for Fairer Gambling’s 
“Stop the FOBTs” website, bookmakers are now taking cards at the counter and 
either (i) providing cash for use on FOBTs or (ii) are directly loading cash onto 
FOBTs for the customer to gamble.       



5                Are FOBTs a problem nationally?

5.1 It is understood that there are around 33,000 category B2 (casino games) 
machines in betting shops nationwide, the vast majority of which are FOBTs. 

            5.2 Previous research from the Campaign for Fairer Gambling has found that addiction 
to ‘casino-style’ gambling is particularly prevalent among socio-economically 
disadvantaged groups – those also most likely to be affected by the current 
welfare reforms and benefit cuts.  Problem gambling has been associated with a 
range of mental health problems:

 Depression; 
 Anxiety; 
 Other mood disorders; 
 Heavy alcohol use or drug problems; 
 Poor physical health (such as headaches and difficulty sleeping); and 
 Suicidality. 

            5.3 Problem gambling coincides with high rates of co-morbidity (the existence of other 
conditions such as alcohol and drug use and mental health issues, particularly 
depression) and cross addiction. There is also considerable evidence that people 
gamble to alleviate psychological problems.  A recent Australian study found that 
problem gamblers were at risk of depression at a rate of 71.4% and were likely to 
have an alcohol problem at a rate of 50%.

6                Are FOBTs a problem in Rochdale Borough?

            6.1 In Rochdale Borough, it is estimated that there are around 140 FOBTs spread 
across 35 licensed betting shops, at a maximum of 4 FOBTs per outlet.  

            6.2 The Council is aware of data previously compiled by the Campaign for Fairer 
Gambling, indicating that residents of the Borough gambled up to £152 million on 
FOBTs in 2013.  This equates to £721 for every man, woman and child in the 
Borough’s population of 211,000.  If we discount any residents under the age of 18 
(who are not legally entitled to gamble anyway), the amount wagered in FOBTs 
during 2013 becomes nearly £950 per adult resident.  

            6.3 In addition, the research seems to indicate that the problem locally is getting 
worse.  For instance, in 2012 an estimated £72 million was wagered in FOBTs 
across Rochdale Borough (including any winnings put back into the machine); this 
equates to c£340 for every resident of the Borough (including those under the age 
of 18).  Between 2012 and 2013, therefore, the amount spent per resident has 
increased by 112%.

            6.4 Furthermore, these figures show that the problem is at least comparable with the 
situation found in other Boroughs within Greater Manchester.  Comparative data 
relating to a number of local authorities across the region is set out below:



FOBT Gambling 2013

Local 
Authority

Total Amount 
Gambled

Population Aged 
18 and Over

Total Amount 
Gambled per 
Resident

Liverpool £635,993,104 377504 £1,684.73
Manchester £487,319,392 394975 £1,233.80
Salford £177,582,490 183237 £969.14
Rochdale £152,803,538 160927 £949.52
Oldham £156,933,363 168340 £932.24
Bolton £189,971,966 212227 £895.14

Source of Population Data: 
Census 2011

Source of Gambling Data: Campaign for Fairer 
Gambling 2013

           6.5 To give an indication of the scale of the problem from the personal perspective of a 
local resident, it is proposed to play a short video (entitled “Suab’s Story”) which 
was compiled by the Council’s Public Health team as part of its Get Moneysmart 
initiative (for which an international Nudge award for behaviour change was won in 
June 2015).  The video clip tells the story of a resident of the Borough who was 
personally affected by gambling on FOBTs.   

6.6 A range of local support is available for problem gamblers.  Sources of help 
include:
 Gamblers Anonymous (www.gamblersanonymous.org.uk, 0161 976 5000)
 Gamcare runs the National Gambling Helpline (0808 8020 133) and provides 

face to face counselling; and
 the National Problem Gambling Clinic (http://www.cnwl.nhs.uk/cnwl-national-

problem-gambling-clinic/) takes self-referrals from persons over the age of 16.

7              What is the current legal position?

        7.1 In early 2015, Newham Council led a national campaign (supported by over 90 
local authorities) under the Sustainable Communities Act, the purpose of which 
was to seek to reduce the maximum stake for FOBTs from £100 to £2.  On 16 July 
2015, it was revealed that Newham Council’s submission had been rejected by the 
Government.  However, under the terms of the Sustainable Communities Act, 
Newham Council’s proposal will be resubmitted by the Local Government 
Association (LGA) and there will be a period of six months set aside for 
negotiating a compromise.  The Campaign for Fairer Gambling is trying to work 
with local authorities and the LGA to keep up momentum during this period, and 
this led to the approach to the Leader of the Council on 29 July 2015.

http://www.gamblersanonymous.org.uk/
http://www.cnwl.nhs.uk/cnwl-national-problem-gambling-clinic/
http://www.cnwl.nhs.uk/cnwl-national-problem-gambling-clinic/


            7.2 Since Newham submitted its proposal, the Government has implemented new 
measures requiring those that stake more than £50 a spin – the equivalent of £150 
a minute – to identify themselves to staff or sign up to a loyalty card.  Therefore 
customers wishing to stake more than £50 on FOBTs will need to pay over the 
counter in cash or use account based play, which track and monitor play, but there 
will be no reduction in the current maximum £100 stake. 

7.3 Additionally, in June 2015, Lord Clement Jones introduced a Private Members’ Bill 
(the Gambling (Categorisation and Use of B2 Gaming Machines) Bill) that also 
sought to reduce the maximum stake for a single play on a B2 machine to £2. The 
Bill would allow for the maximum charge to be reviewed every three years and, if 
required, to be amended in line with inflation.   It is understood that this Bill came 
20th in a ballot in the Lords which determines the order of introduction of Private 
Members’ Bills and it is unlikely to gain parliamentary time.

          7.4   In terms of local licensing obligations, the Gambling Act 2005 (the Act) introduced 
a new system of governance for all types of gambling. The Act requires local 
licensing authorities to “aim to permit” gambling, subject to licences complying with 
the three licensing objectives: keeping crime out of gambling, making sure 
gambling is fair and open; and protecting children and vulnerable people.

7.5 Consequently, betting shops are required to obtain a licence from the local 
authority where they are located.  The use of FOBTs was previously restricted to 
highly-regulated casino environments but they are now permitted in betting shops.  
For this reason, the Licensing Section of Rochdale Council (and ultimately the 
Council’s Planning and Licensing Committee) has a role to play in terms of 
ensuring that all local betting shops comply with relevant legislation.  Similarly, the 
issue of problem gambling is of concern for colleagues in Public Health, who are 
familiar with the health problems which problem gambling can cause (see section 
5 above).

8                The AGMA dimension

            8.1 In an attempt to establish the AGMA view on FOBTs, all AGMA Licensing 
Managers have been contacted and asked whether their authority would support 
the proposed £2 maximum.  

             8.2 A response has been received from Wigan Council, confirming that on 15 January 
2014 the following motion was debated:

 “This Council Calls on the government to ban Fixed odds betting terminals 
(FOBT's) or grant councils the authority to reduce the stake and or prizes in 
relation to FOBT's”.

In passing the motion, members resolved to raise their concerns with locally 
licensed businesses which currently provide FOBTs within their licensed premises.  
Subsequently, the Council wrote to all betting shop operators in the Wigan area 
raising the council's concerns about the potential effects of excessive use of 
FOBTs by customers who may be least able to afford to lose cash, coupled with 
the speed and ease with which they can gamble compared to other forms of 
gambling. In the letter, the views of the industry were also sought.  A few 
responses were received, mainly from the national operators who generally stated 
that they followed the recognised industry codes of practices and social 
responsibility codes.  



            8.3 Wigan Council still remains concerned about the impact of FOBTs, so will support 
the campaign to restrict the stakes to a £2 maximum. 

            8.4 The issue was debated at the meeting of the AGMA Public Protection Partnership 
on 13 August 2015.  Colleagues agreed to go back to their authorities and 
establish the level of local political support for this proposal, with a view to a 
possible referral to the Combined Authority in due course.

9               Next steps

9.1 Should the Committee agree to endorse the proposed maximum stake, the 
Campaign for Fairer Gambling will be informed that this authority has formally 
agreed to endorse its campaign. 

Alternatives considered
Members may opt not to support the initiative of the Campaign for Fairer Gambling, 
and maintain the status quo in terms of enforcement (ie a primarily self-regulated 
approach).  However, this be considered to not go far enough in terms of providing a 
proactive response to a local problem.

10       Financial Implications

  10.1 There are no financial implications for the authority in supporting the initiative.

11        Legal Implications

11.1 There are no legal implications for the Council in supporting the initiative at this 
stage.  Should the proposal ultimately become law, the Council would be required 
to enforce  the legislative changes through inspections carried out by its Licensing 
Section.

12       Personnel Implications

12.1 There are no personnel implications arising from this report.

13       Corporate Priorities

13.1 The importance of People Including safeguarding adults and children from harm) 
is stressed in the Council’s Corporate Plan 2014/15.     

14       Risk Assessment Implications 

14.1 There are no risks in supporting the initiative proposed by the Campaign for Fairer 
Gambling, which has not yet become law.  Given the apparent scale of problem 
gambling in this Borough and in other authorities, it may be considered a greater 
risk not to support the proposal.  



15      Equalities Impacts

15.1 Workforce Equality Impacts Assessment

There are no (significant) workforce equality issues arising from this report.

9.2 Equality/Community Impact Assessments

     An EIA has been compiled which supports the view that gambling is a concern for 
Rochdale Borough, and that members may wish to support the proposed 
introduction of a £2 maximum stake for FOBTs in order to take a proactive 
approach to tackling this problem.   

Background Papers
Document Place of Inspection



Appendix 1

Dear Sirs 

Re: The Campaign for Fairer Gambling and Stop the FOBTs

I am writing in response to your e-mail dated 17 July 2015, in which you seek this Council’s 
formal support for the Campaign for Fairer Gambling’s efforts to restrict the maximum stake 
on a Fixed Odds Betting Terminals (FOBTs) to £2.   

It is understood that there are around 33,000 category B2 (casino games) machines in betting 
shops nationwide, the vast majority of which are FOBTs.   In Rochdale Borough, we estimate 
that we have around 140 FOBTs spread across 35 licensed betting shops, at a maximum of 4 
FOBTs per outlet.  

This Council has serious reservations about the use of FOBTs and the impact which they 
have across this Borough.  We are aware of data previously compiled by the Campaign for 
Fairer Gambling, which seems to indicate that the problem locally is serious and getting 
worse.  For instance, in 2012 an estimated £72 million was wagered in FOBTs across 
Rochdale Borough (including any winnings put back into the machine); with a population of 
c211,000, this equates to c£340 for every resident of the Borough.  In 2013 – the latest data 
available - it is estimated that the amount wagered rose to over £152 million at a cost per 
resident of over £721.  If we discount any residents under the age of 18 (who are not legally 
entitled to gamble anyway), the amount wagered in FOBTs during 2013 becomes nearly £950 
per adult resident.  

If correct, these figures represent a massive drain on a borough with significant challenges, 
and indicate that the problem is worse here than in other Boroughs within Greater Manchester 
– Bolton’s spend per resident was found to be £686 in 2013; Salford’s was £759; and 
Oldham’s was £697.

I am aware that the industry has sought to work with the trade and introduce a range of 
voluntary measures to protect gamblers.  For instance, in September 2013 the Association of 
British Bookmakers produced the Code for Responsible Gambling and Player Protection in 
Licensed Betting Offices in Great Britain.  This document includes measures such as 
gamblers being able to “self-exclude” themselves from betting premises, or introduce personal 
limits on the amount of money to be gambled during a single session. However, given the 
vulnerable nature of persons who tend to use FOBTs on a frequent basis, an approach which 
is more robust than self-regulation would be preferable.        

LEADER OF THE COUNCIL
COUNCILLOR RICHARD FARNELL
Number One Riverside
Smith Street
Rochdale
OL16 1XU

Mobile: 07812 238324
Email:           Richard.Farnell@rochdale.gov.uk

Reference:     RF/CH/216

Date:               11 August 2015

The Campaign for Fairer Gambling 

FAO Lucy Knighton 
lucy@bcsagency.com

mailto:%0Dlucy@bcsagency.com


I have canvassed opinion from colleagues in the Council’s Licensing and Public Health teams, 
both of whom are concerned about the current situation.  This view is shared by the Council’s 
Portfolio Holder for Public Health and Regulation.  I have also made enquiries with colleagues 
in other authorities across Greater Manchester, and am aware that in January 2014 Wigan 
Council passed a motion supporting the introduction of a £2 maximum stake for FOBTs.   

In view of the above, I have asked the Council’s Chief Public Protection Officer to take a 
report to the Planning and Licensing Committee in September 2015, seeking the Committee’s 
formal support for the campaign to introduce the £2 maximum stake for FOBTs.  I will be 
happy to update you on the outcome of this meeting in due course.  I have also asked officers 
to explore whether any debate across the Greater Manchester Combined Authority would be 
appropriate, with a view to establishing sub-regional support for this approach.    

Please do not hesitate to contact the Council if any further information is required.    

Yours sincerely

COUNCILLOR RICHARD FARNELL
 



1

 

What are you assessing?  Please tick the appropriate box below.

Function Strategy Policy Project Other, please specify below

Support for a proposal to introduce a £2 
maximum stake on Fixed Odds Betting Terminals

Services:

1) Economy and Environment

(Public Protection)

2) Public Health 

Section: 

1) Licensing

Responsible Officers:

A Glover

H Skidmore

Name of function/strategy/ policy/ project assessed:

 Support for a proposal to introduce a £2 maximum stake on Fixed 
Odds Betting Terminals 

Date of Assessment:

10.08.15

Officers Involved:

A Glover

H Skidmore

1.What is the purpose of the function/strategy/policy/project assessed?

(Briefly describe the aims, objectives and purpose of the function/strategy/policy/project)



2

The Council has been approached by the Campaign for Fairer Gambling with a view to supporting that body’s 
campaign for the national introduction of a £2 maximum stake on Fixed Odds Betting Terminals (FOBTs). At the 
moment, stakes of £100 are permissible and may be made every 20 seconds. 

2.Who are the key stakeholders?

Local licensed betting shops

Residents of the public who use FOBTs

Elected members

Staff in the Licensing and Public Health teams

3. What is the scope of this equality impact assessment? That is, what is included in this 
assessment.  

There is strong evidence to suggest that gambling is of concern across Rochdale Borough and that this problem is 
exacerbated by the use of FOBTs. The Council is aware of data previously compiled by the Campaign for Fairer 
Gambling, indicating that residents of the Borough gambled up to £152 million on FOBTs in 2013.  This equates to 
£721 for every man, woman and child in the Borough’s population of 211,000.  If we discount any residents under the 
age of 18 (who are not legally entitled to gamble anyway), the amount wagered in FOBTs during 2013 becomes nearly 
£950 per adult resident.  In addition, the research seems to indicate that the problem locally is getting worse.  For 
instance, in 2012 an estimated £72 million was wagered in FOBTs across Rochdale Borough (including any winnings 
put back into the machine); this equates to c£340 for every resident of the Borough (including those under the age of 
18).  Between 2012 and 2013, therefore, the amount spent per resident has increased by 112%.

4.Which needs is this function/strategy/ policy/ project designed to meet?

The needs of local residents who are or may become problem gamblers when exposed to FOBTs; the needs of local 
businesses to comply with licensing legislation; and the needs of licensing authorities for certainty in the law. 

5.Has a needs analysis been undertaken?

Yes.  In Rochdale Borough, it is estimated that there are around 140 FOBTs spread across 35 licensed betting shops, at 
a maximum of 4 FOBTs per outlet. There are real risks arising from the use of FOBTs, as evidenced by the figures in 3 
above.  

6.Who is affected by this function/strategy/ policy/ project?

Local residents are particularly affected.  Previous research from the Campaign for Fairer Gambling has found that 
addiction to ‘casino-style’ gambling is particularly prevalent among socio-economically disadvantaged groups – those 
also most likely to be affected by the current welfare reforms and benefit cuts.  Problem gambling has been 
associated with a range of mental health problems:

 Depression; 
 Anxiety; 
 Other mood disorders; 
 Heavy alcohol use or drug problems; 



3

 Poor physical health (such as headaches and difficulty sleeping); and 
 Suicidality. 

Problem gambling coincides with high rates of co-morbidity (the existence of other conditions such as alcohol and 
drug use and mental health issues, particularly depression) and cross addiction. There is also considerable evidence 
that people gamble to alleviate psychological problems.  A recent Australian study found that problem gamblers were 
at risk of depression at a rate of 71.4% and were likely to have an alcohol problem at a rate of 50%.

Local licensed betting shops will also be impacted by this proposal as the FOBTs in their shops will have to comply 
with relevant legal standards.  And it will fall to staff from Rochdale Council to police these across the Borough.

7.Who has been involved in the review or development of this function/strategy/ policy/ project and 
who has been consulted?  State your consultation/involvement methodology.

Portfolio Holder for Public Health and Regulation

Licensing staff

Campaign for Fairer Gambling 

8.What data have you considered for this assessment and have any gaps in the data been identified.  
What action will be taken to close any data gaps?

The data in sections 3-6 above confirms that a considerable amount of research has been undertaken on this topic.  

9.Are there any other documents or strategies which are linked to this assessment? If so, please 
include hyperlinks to these documents below, where available.

 http://www.stopthefobts.org/

10.What impact will this function/strategy/policy/project have on all the protected groups?  This 
includes both positive and potentially negative impacts.

Race Equality 

There is no evidence to suggest that problem gamblers come from any particular ethnic community.  However, we do 
have evidence that BME communities are affected by gambling – the Committee presentation will feature a video clip 
of a BME community member talking about his gambling addiction and how he overcame it.

Disabled People

There is no evidence to suggest that disabled people are more or less affected by problem gambling than other 
protected groups.  However, the rise in online gambling would overcome any issues of access and so the involvement 
of disabled groups cannot be excluded. 



4

Carers

There is no evidence to suggest that carers are more or less affected by problem gambling than other protected 
groups.  

Gender

There is no evidence to suggest that gender is an issue in problem gambling.  Many gambling websites are now 
specifically aimed at women and so their involvement in problem gambling cannot be excluded.

Age

There is no evidence to suggest that age is an issue in problem gambling.  Clearly there is legislation to prevent 
persons aged under 18 from participating, and the Licensing Section does undertake test purchases to prevent young 
people accessing betting shops.  

Armed Forces and Ex-Armed Forces Personnel

There is no evidence to suggest that military service is an issue in problem gambling.

Sexual Orientation

There is no evidence to suggest that sexual orientation is an issue in problem gambling.

Gender Reassignment

There is no evidence to suggest that gender reassignment is an issue in problem gambling.

Religion or Belief

There is no evidence to suggest that religion / belief is an issue in problem gambling.

Pregnant Women or Those on Maternity Leave

There is no evidence to suggest that pregnancy is an issue in problem gambling.

Marriage or Civil Partnership

There is no evidence to suggest that marital status is an issue in problem gambling.

11.What are your main conclusions from this analysis?

There is a great deal of evidence to suggest that levels of gambling are high across Rochdale Borough and some 
residents may be classed as “problem gamblers”.   

12.What are your recommendations?

That the Council supports the proposed introduction of a £2 maximum stake for FOBTs.

13.What actions are you going to take to address the findings of this assessment?  Please attach an 
action plan including details of designated officers responsible for completing these actions.



5

See below

Signed (Completing Officer):  A Glover Date:   14.8.15

Signed (Head of Service): ____________________ Date:_____________



6

Equality Impact Assessment Action Plan 2014/15

Action Outcome Target Date For 
Completion

Resource 
Implications

Lead Officer

With Public Health, present report 
to Planning and Licensing 
Committee in support of the £2 
maximum stake   

Monitor any changes to legislation 
and liaise with local licensed 
betting shops 

Support campaign in effort to 
change national legislation

Ensure compliance

Sept 2015

Ongoing

Staff only

Staff only

A Glover / H Skidmore

A Glover



1

Version2 Review Date March  2015

Equality Impact Analysis Guidance

Introduction

This guidance explains what an equality impact assessment is and what it 
involves.  It also provides background details about the general equality duty.  
The aim is to apply a proportionate, timely approach to assessing equality 
when developing policies and delivering services.

Equality Impact Assessment

An equality impact assessment is a tool which will help you to analyse your 
policies and practices to make sure they do not discriminate against or 
disadvantage  people.   It will also help you to improve and promote equality.

An equality impact assessment needs to be undertaken when you are 
developing a new service, policy, strategy or project.  You should also 
undertake an equality impact assessment if you propose to introduce 
significant changes to an existing function, policy, strategy or project.  This 
assessment needs to provide elected members with sufficient information to 
enable them to pay due regard to the general equality duty before they reach 
a decision about any changes proposed.  The time and effort involved in 
undertaking the equality impact assessment should be in proportion to the 
policy, strategy or project’s relevance to equality.

The General Equality Duty

The aim of the general equality duty, set out in S149 of the Equality Act 2010, 
is for public bodies to consider the needs of all individuals in their day to day 
work, in developing policy, in delivering services, and in relation to their own 
employees.  

In the exercise of their functions, public authorities must have due regard to 
the need to:

 Eliminate discrimination, harassment and victimisation or any other 
conduct prohibited by the Act in relation to the protected characteristics

 Advance equality of opportunity for all persons
 Foster good relations between groups of people who share a protected 

characteristic and those who do not

Advancing equality means:
 Removing or minimising disadvantages
 Equalising outcomes
 Meeting needs
 Encouraging participation where this is low and/or addressing under-

representation

Fostering good relations means:



2

Version2 Review Date March  2015

 Tackling prejudice
 Promoting understanding

Paying “Due Regard” to the General Equality Duty

The general equality duty is not prescriptive about the approach a public 
authority should take in ensuring that it is having due regard to the need to 
advance the equality aims.  However the judgement reached by Mr Justice 
Walker in the High Court in the case R (on the application of W) -v -
Birmingham City Council [2011] EWHC 1147 does explain that “due regard” is 
a 'substantial rigorous and open-minded approach'.  The “due regard” 
required is very high when a decision is being made which may affect large 
numbers of vulnerable people, many of whom may fall within one or more of 
the protected groups.  

Case law has developed the following principles which apply to the new 
general equality duty.  These principles include:

1. Decision makers must be fully aware of the implications of the 
duty when making decisions about their policies and practices

2. The duty is triggered whenever “an issue arises” or when a 
particular policy or proposal is being developed – so it runs right 
from the time the policy or proposal is being framed, while it is 
under consideration, and when the decision is reached.  A public 
authority cannot satisfy the duty by justifying a decision after it 
has been taken.

3. The duty must be exercised in a way that it influences the final 
decision.  For example, consideration of the need to advance 
equality should form an integral part of the decision-making 
process.  

4. The responsibility for discharging the duty rests with the public 
authority even if it has delegated any functions to a third party.  
Responsibility for discharging the duty cannot be delegated or 
subcontracted.  Any third parties exercising public functions on 
the public authority’s  behalf are required to comply with the duty  

5. Regard must be given to the need to advance equality whenever 
a policy is implemented or reviewed. 

The public sector equality duty protects people from discrimination on the 
basis of certain characteristics which are known as protected characteristics.  
There are 9 protected characteristics: age, disability, gender reassignment, 
marriage or civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, 
sex (gender), and sexual orientation.  Details of each of the protected 
characteristics are provided in Appendix 1. With regard to marriage or civil 
partnership, protection is provided in employment and vocational training only.

In addition to the 9 protected characteristics, Rochdale MBC also includes the 
following two categories: carers and Armed Forces and Ex -Armed Forces 
personnel, when undertaking an equality impact assessment.



3

Version2 Review Date March  2015

Undertaking an analysis of the impact that a proposed change to the 
way a service may have on equality

An impact assessment proforma needs to be completed when undertaking an 
analysis of the impact that a function, strategy, policy or project may have 
upon equality.  Please complete the RMBC template proforma.  The 
completed equality impact assessment should be attached to the Cabinet 
report.  

Undertaking an equality impact analysis involves:

 identifying who should be involved in the equality impact analysis.

 describing the purpose of the function/strategy/policy/project and the 
needs that it is designed to meet.

 identifying the key stakeholders.

 assessing the impact that the function/strategy/policy/project has on 
race equality, disabled people, carers, older and younger people, men 
and women, Armed Forces and Ex-
Armed Forces personnel, religion or belief, sexual orientation, 
transsexuals or transgender, people who have undergone gender 
reassignment in full, pregnant women and those on maternity leave 
and on married people or those in a civil partnership.  This includes 
both positive and negative impacts.

 stating the main conclusions from the analysis and list your 
recommendations.

 consulting your stakeholders on the main findings and conclusions of 
the equality impact analysis. The information and insights that can be 
gained from involvement and consultation are essential, and 
involvement and consultation should also usually be carried out as part 
of the main policy development process.

 producing an impact analysis action plan.  A template for this action 
plan is included in the RMBC template proforma.  Details of this action 
plan should be included in your service delivery plan.  This action plan 
should state what action you propose to take to eliminate or mitigate 
any potential adverse impacts which have been identified.

To conduct the analysis you will need to gather the existing information 
available to you, which will enable you to identify whether your proposed 



4

Version2 Review Date March  2015

changes may give rise to a discriminatory outcome or unmet need.   
Examples of some of this information  are:

 Demographic data (i.e. census information)
 The findings of Joint Strategic Needs Assessments (JSNAs), customer 

insight initiatives, service reviews and  recent inspections
 An equality profile of your customers, i.e. information on which groups 

use or receive your service and information on those who do not use or 
receive your service but may wish to do so etc.

 Consultation information, complaints data, feedback from customers, 
research information such as MORI poll and citizens’ panel information.

 Views of frontline and other staff, stakeholders and key partners
 Local, regional and national research
 Information on how the community is informed of the service, whether 

the service is targeted at a particular group/community, the different 
formats and languages in which this information is provided, how the 
users access the service and how the service take-up is evaluated.

 Service outcomes such as what they are, how they are measured, 
what is done with the information collected, how it is used in the service 
planning process, what evidence is there of service improvement.

During your analysis you need to state the relevant data which you have 
considered and state if you identified any gaps in the data and what 
mechanisms have been put in place to close the gaps.

To assess the impact that the function/strategy/policy/project has on equality 
for different groups or communities, you should consider the following 
questions:

 What positive impacts will this function/strategy/policy/project have 
upon the protected groups?

 Is there any evidence of, or potential for unequal outcomes or 
disadvantage?

 Are there, or could there be barriers to accessing the service?  E.g. 
language, physical access etc

 Is there any evidence of unmet needs, or potential that needs will 
not be met?

 Could the strategy/project encourage greater participation by a 
particular group or community where this is low?

 Could the strategy/project be developed to further foster good 
relations between different groups/communities?

Equality Impact Assessments should be proportionate, that is, the time and 
effort involved should be in proportion to the relevance of the policy or 
practices, being assessed, to equality.



5

Version2 Review Date March  2015

Consulting those affected by the proposals

When consulting on draft service savings proposals the Council is required to 
comply with the common law standard for consultation established by the 
courts.  A high court ruling R (on the application of W) -v -Birmingham City 
Council [2011] EWHC 1147 highlighted the following principles which should 
be adhered to:

 Provide consultees with sufficient reasons in support of particular 
proposals to allow an intelligent response to be made.

 Ensure that the consultation looks at the practical detail of what the 
proposal will entail.

 Ensure that consultees are provided with clear information and that they 
understand what they are being consulted on and what the changes mean.

 Ensure that all the documents being issued as part of the consultation are 
published together at the start of the consultation period.

 Ensuring that an easy read version of the consultation proposals are made 
available for those who need them.

 Ensure that consultation responses are taken into account when the 
ultimate decision is taken.

 It is important to ensure that the consultation process is accessible and 
that consultees are provided information in the most appropriate way and 
in the format which meets their specific needs.

Please note that the Council has:

 a separate equality impact assessment template to complete for 
savings proposals

 a corporate Consultation Strategy which it is currently being updated.  
For further details please contact Amy Foots or Joanne Brickell. 

Details of Useful Contacts

If you require any further advice relating to:

Undertaking an Equality Impact Assessment please contact Sally Atueyi.  
Telephone Ext. 5631 Email: sally.atueyi@rochdale.gov.uk

Consulting stakeholders please contact:
Amy Foots Telephone Ext. 5233 Email: amy.foots@rochdale .gov.uk or 
Joanne Brickell Telephone Ext. 5031 Email: joanne.brickell.gov.uk



6

Version2 Review Date March  2015

APPENDIX 1

The 9 Protected Characteristics

Protected Characteristic Comment
Age Protection is for over 18’s only.  Age can be 

defined in different ways e.g. it can refer to a 
person of a particular age, or belonging to an 
age group or age range.

Disability Defined as “a physical or mental impairment 
which has a substantial and long term 
adverse effect on the person’s ability to carry 
out normal day to day activities.”  It is now 
easier to meet the definition.

Gender reassignment Protection is provided when someone has 
proposed, started or completed a process to 
change their sex.  There is no requirement to 
be undergoing medical supervision.

Marriage or civil partnership Protection is provided in employment and 
vocational training only.  

Pregnancy and maternity For all areas covered by the Act a woman is 
protected from unfavourable treatment 
because of pregnancy or because she has 
given birth in the previous 26 weeks, or 
because she is on maternity leave.

Race Includes colour nationality, and ethnic or 
national origins. 

Religion or belief The religion can be any religion – it doesn’t 
have to be a mainstream religion.
Belief refers to any religious of philosophical 
belief and includes Humanism and Atheism.

Sex (gender)
Sexual orientation This refers to whether a person’s sexual 

attraction is towards their own sex, the 
opposite sex or both sexes.

Please note: In addition to the 9 protected characteristics, Rochdale MBC also 
includes the following two categories: carers and Armed Forces and Ex -
Armed Forces personnel, when undertaking an equality impact assessment.


	Agenda
	1 Declarations of Interest
	Summary OF interests

	2 Minutes
	Minutes
	Minutes Public Pack, 17/08/2015 Planning and Licensing Committee
	Minutes


	3 Submitted planning applications
	4 Fixed Odds Betting Terminals / request to support the introduction of a maximum stake
	Fixed Odds Betting Terminals / request to support the introduction of a maximum stake enc. 1
	Fixed Odds Betting Terminals / request to support the introduction of a maximum stake enc. 2


